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TO PRITPAL AND RAJ, ANITA AND RITU 
IN FOND REMEMBRANCE 

•............. Death 
whenever he call, 

must call too soon. 
WS. Gilbert 



APROPOS VOLUME II 

The friendly editor of a prestigious radical weekly published 
from Delhi, while handing over the first volume of this "Recon~ 
structioo"' to a reviewer, accompanied it with a word of caution. 
He told him that when reviewing the book he should bear in mind 
that the next volume might be a long time coming his way. His 
cautionary admonition was, of course, perfectly in order. Any~ 
body who has undertaken the task of grappling with so large and 
almost open·ended a theme as the rise and growth of the Indian 
~~tiol1al Congress. would know that all manner of difficulties, 
to say nothing of inward blocks, are apt to arise and frustrate 
the good intentions and resolve of writers far more disciplined 
and less given to the incurable habit of procrastination than 1 
can hope to be. However, in this case as it happened though the 
amiable editor could not have known it, by the time the review 
appeared in his journal, the second volume was all but complete. 
The delay of six months or more in its publication is mainly 
attributable to the fact that it had to take its turn in the publica­
tion schedule of the institution under whose auspices it is being 
published. 

Not thal there was any particular urgency in the matter. The 
response to the first volume has not been such as to flatter me to 
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think that avid readers are queuing up at bookshops. or even the 
Congress Party office$. impatient to lay their hands on the next 
in~talment of the story. Indeed. in spite of the prevalence of 
historians and "historiographers" of varying talents and per­
suasion" ill our times. the impression is hard to avoid that the 
lay public shares the view nicely and vehemently expressed by 
the la!e Henry Ford, the original begetter orthe famous T-model, 
that history is ·'bunk." And one can hardly blame it. So, if there 
has been any psychological goad prompting one to get on with 
the work in hand, it has been the thought of one's own appoint­
ment in Samara which none can tell when and where it bas to be 
kept. 

But there comes tbe rub. Contrary to the common belief, a 
writer I!> not entirely a free agent, but rather a prisoner-and 
in a dual sense: prh:oner. firstly. of the material which has to be 
worked upon and, secondly, of tbe method chosen to handle that 
materia1. It was stated in the argument for the first volume that 
in so ftlr as my aim has been to try to present the Congress story 
in its own terms mIller than titting it into some preconceived 
schematic and theoretical mould of one's own preference, the 
direct narrative form suggested il~elr as the most appropriate 
to the purpose. 

It also seemed the easiest line of approach, at least during 
the prc-Gandhian pha~e when the struggle to loosen the British 
imperialist slrang[c!loJr.] over Indian destiny was wagetl mostly 
on the con~litutjonal pi<mc. However. with the emergence-one 
is tempted to say, eruption-of Gamlhrs strange penmnality on 
the Indian poEtical scene and at the very apex of CongTCSs leader­
ship, the narrative method, inevitably, has its problems, including 
the problem of an embarrassment of riches. Even otherwise, as a 
friend. Victor Kiernan, himself an historian of no mean repute, 
pointed out to me after reading the previous volume, I was 
likely fo find the scenario as it unfolded itself getting more and 
more "crowded." So, indeed. it has turned out to be, The result 
is that while 1 had intended in the present volume \0 bring the 
story lip to the end or 1929, actually 1 have been able tocover 
only a period of five yeaN from the beginning of 1919 to the 
end of 1923. That must ~ce!ll exceedingly slow progress. 

BUl, perhaps, (ime alone is not an adequate measure to apply 
to the hil>(ory of an organisation, or rather movement, like the 
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Congress. At any rate, during the five~year span traced here the 
Congress, and with it the country, travcr~ed almost an epoch of 
evolution and the tide of political awakening-and expectancy­
reached a 11ew high watermark. For it is a period marked by 
fateful events. It witnessed Gandhi's attempt to set up the Satya· 
graha Sabha. or Sabhas, for a nation~wide agitation against the 
humiliating iniquity of the Rowlatt Act, the }allianwala Bagh 
massacre and the agony of the Punjab under the Martial Law 
and for some time even after it was technically lifted. Tt saw for 
the first time serious and. ;:.yslematic preparation by the Congress 
under Gandhi's supreme command for a movement of m<lss 
non~violent resistance to the Raj and its institutions. along a 
wide froOl and then the decj~ion by the Mahatma-probably 
one of the most controversial in his life-lo abort it even before 
il had properly taken off. aftcr the Chauri Chaura incident. This 
was followed by his arrest. trial and conviction-an episode 
which reminded some of his contemporaries, not altogether in 
a spasm of sentimental and fanciful piety, of the trial of Je5US of 
Nazareth nearly two thousand years earlier. 

Moreover, during this relalively brief period of high moral 
and political drama, the Congress movement not only reached 
its noontide, but also saw its lowest ebb once the Mahatma had 
withdrawn the challenge that he had tbrown to the Government 
and he himself was safely locked up in the Yeravda Central 
Jail. In the climate of disenchantment and even pervasive 
demoralisation that set in the Congress was to suffer its second 
split" between the "No-changers", or what would now be termed 
a,<; political fundamentali~ts, and the $warajists. or the revisioni;:.ts. 
1t was not so serious or prolonged as the one it had suffered a 
decade and a half earlier at Sural. The is~ue that divided the two 
faction.'> related mort! to the means than ends. But all the same it 
was serious enough for it not to be healed by the compromise 
formula worked out at the Delhi Special Congress session and 
ambiguously cndof$ed at Cocanada. 

No doubt one could dehydrate and compress all these poig~ 
nant and even tmunUIl\c developments and accommodate them 
in the proverbial nutshell. But that would be at the cost of consid­
erable distortion of reulily l.\S those who participated in or Jivoo 
through it experienced it. Cons.equently, there is no need 
to be Unduly <IpoJogctic about telling the :.1Ory at some length, 
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As in the previous volume, so in thb I have bas~d [his narrative 
largely on the Congress document:. and contemporary records 
rather than the elforts of latter-day scholarship on both 
sides of the hill. Above all. in the Coi!('('wl Works of Mahatma 
Gandhi (Publications Division, Government of india), edited 
with exquisite meticulousness and u rare self..eflacement by 
successive editors, I have found lhe richest quarry of prt.'Ciolls 
evidence and information bearing on much that happened during 
the period covered in Volume II. It would be rank ingratitude 
not to acknowledge my debt to them, 

Or. for that malter. to the staff of Nehru Memorial Museum 
and Library for their continued assistance and cooperation even 
though the term of my fellowship has expired. Unpaid debts:, 
in the nature of things, get compounded, especially when one 
goes on adding to one's indebtedness. I had already acknowledged 
how much I am beholden to Dr. N. Balakrishnan. Miss Deepa 
Bhatnagar, Miss Arndt Varsha Gandhi and Mr. Yog Raj Kapoor. 
But by an unforgivable lapse of memory, I had failed to thank 
Mr. A.K. Avasthi. Senior Reprography Officer, who ha. .. been 
infinitely helpful in the choice and preparation of photographs 
in this as in the previous volume and Mr. T.K. Venkateswaran. 
I hope they will forgive me for this belated acknowledgement. As 
always, it remains to add, Professor Ravinder Kumar. Director 
of the Nehru Memorial Museum and Library, bas given much 
encouragement and moral support in my work. As for Dr. 
Hart Dev Sharma, the Deputy Director, he could not have taken 
more trouble with the manuscript than if it had been his own. 
Thanks to him, many an error has been eliminated. Many that 
remain are my own responsibility. 

J 7 Western Court, 
New Delhi-l 10001 
August 1988 

[So 
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CHAPTER I 

THE CUP OF ASTONISHMENT 

In a nicely sanitized passage in her Gcmdhi',f Rise to Power,< 
Dr. Judith M. Brown sums up the perverse dualism of British 
policy in India during World War I-though by no means only 
during the war years. She speaks with characteristic nonchalance' 
of the Rowlatt Bills being "the postscript to the policy of balance 
between conciliation and repression which the British had evolved 
during the war." "Even while the rulers wooed collaborators 
with refolms," she goes on to add, "they feared the loss of 
'Coercive power against 'conspiracy and political outrage' when 
the Defence of India. Act lapsed after the war." 

To what CXtCl1t the threat of "COilS piracy and political outrage" 
had any real substance or was merely a projection of the over· 
heated imagination of the British Government and its instru~ 
mcnts in India engendered by their own subconscious sense of 
guilt and the gnawing apprehension of a retributive nemesis 
which often goes with it, must remain a maHer for guessing. 
But what is not in doubt is that the synchronism between the­
much~trumpeled declaration of policy all the constitutional future 
of India made on August 20, 1917, by Montagu and the almost 
sotta VOfe announcement by the Indian Government of the setting 
up of the Rowlatt Committee was not fortuitous. It was entirely 
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preLiiclabi<! and a part of the imperialist logic which demilnded 
thut while Jangling the carrot of reforms the authorities should 
equip themselves wiIh and brandish a stick t() remind Indians 
that they commanded other means of inLlucing compliancl.! with 
their wishe~ and plans. 

Strangely, however, political leadership in India-and for all 
pra!.:tlcal rurpo~cs that meatl! the leadership of the Congress, 
both mod!.!rate and mdical, Hnd the Muslim League leadership 
which WolS still marching ill Hep with the Congress-~ecmed to 
pay little heed to thi~ stern reminder. It was so excited over 
Montagu\dccJaratioll and his subsequent visit to India for consul~ 
tations with the Viceroy and the bureaucratic establishment and 
to listen to what the Indian politicians had to say for themselves. 
that the unheralded ('rrival of Sidney Rowlatt in Bombay in 
December 1917 was hardly notilXd and few gave any serious 
thought to the expeditious manner in which he. with his British 
and Indian colleagues, addre~sed themselves to the task assigned 
to them. 

It is true, as noted earlier, that at the Calcutta session of the 
Congress, in the comprehensive resolution on "[ntemmenb" the 
setting up oflhe Rowlatt Committee had been duly and formally 
··condemned" on the self~evident ground that "tile avowed 
object of the appoil1tment is not to give relief but to introduce 
fresh legislation arming the Executive with additional powers 
to deal with the alleged revolutionary con~pjracy in BengaL" 
But it seems clear from the text that the worry of the Congress 
over any further coercive measures which the Rowlatt Com~ 
mitlee in its wisdom might recommend was incidental to its 
concern over the way in which the repressive machinery already 
at the disposal of the authorities was being used, especially 
when i>upplemented with the Ddcncc of India Act brought in 
during the war and which, unlike the Dercm:e or the Realm 
Act operative in the United Kingdom, had no mitigating safe~ 
guard,;. to lessen its arbitrary rigours. 

At the Bombay special s.:ssion more notice was taken of 
the Rowlatt Committee which had completed its labours a few 
days ahead of the completion of the Montagu-Chelm~ford 

Report. As Mr. Ju.stice Rowluu's undertaking and the Montagu 
misslol1 hlld been conceived in the official mind U'i Siame~e 

twin~, the two reports were published within a few days of each 
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other in July 1918. But with a difference. Interestingly enough the 
Montagu~Chelmsrord Rcport was published simultaneously 
in Britain and India. Not so the Rowlatt Committee's. l1andiwork. 
It was. unveiled in India alone at first and the British public had 
to be content with :l cabled summary of it on July I~. When 
ques.tions were asked in Parliament about this discriminatory 
treatment, the Government spokesmen tried to explain away the 
omission on the technical ground tl1at the Rowlatt Committee 
had heen appointed by the Government of lndia, not the Home 
Government, which was under no o~bligatioll to publish its 
Report. 

This. was patently disingenuous and the disingenuousness 
was only compounded when the first copies made available in 
London were found to be incomplete, if nor Bowdlerised. This 
in turn was attributed to :,;ome mix~up at (he printers. Ultimately. 
under parliamentary pressure, the complete version had to be 
supplied as. Cd 9190 under the title Report 0/ Committee Appoin· 
ted fa Invest{gate Rel'o/lIlionary Conspiracies in India. The 
British Government's coyness in the matter might well have 
been due to two contradictory reasons. On the olle hand, it 
might have been uneasy that the British liberal conscience might 
be upset and possibly even kick up a fuss that giving an additional 
turn of the repressive screw was. no way to reward India's loyalty 
to the British cause and all the blood and treasure it had offered 
during the war. On the other hand. it was probably equally 
worried that Sidney Rowlatt and his four men, good and true, 
had, perhaps. painted the danger of "elaborate, persistent and 
ingenious" revolutionary conspiracies in [ndia- in too lurid a 
colour in order to justify the draconian coercive legislation 
which they had recommended: that this in turn might well 
provide diehard Tories like Sydenham and his coHcagues in the 
Indo-British Association with further ammunition in their 
campaign against the whole notion of constitutional reforms in 
India. 

As far as the Congrcs~ was concerned. however, it had had 
mOre than six weeks inwardly to dig.est the Rowlatt Committee 
RepMt before the special session in Bombay and conduded 
thtu it merited a separate resolution instead of being condemned 
in a general resolution dealing with common garden machinery 
of f<:pression. Even so it came very low on the agenda-number 
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fifteen which was the penultimate resolution. Moreover, its, 
wording was [".ttller mild if not perfunctory, condemning the 
Rowlatt Committee's recommendation because "if given effect 
to" they "will interfere with the fundamental rights of tile Indian 
people and impede the healthy growth of public opinion:' 
Presumably, it was preoccupied with analysing the virtues alld 
defects of the MontaguwChelffi'iford proposab and how and in 
what direction they could be improved in order to muke tllem 
more acceptable to Indian political opinion. 

Four months laler when the normal annual session of the 
Congress met at Delhi. the grdvity of the issue had begun to 
communicate !t-"elf to the Congress leaders. At least the resolu­
tion on the Row!att Committee for the first time viewed its. 
recommendations "with alarm" and, while repeating its previou~ 
critique of them, added [hat it would "also prejudicially affect 
the successful working of constitutional reforms," which required 
not only the removal from the StalUte Book of the Defence of 
India Act and all other similar "repressive measures curtailing 
the liberty of the subject." but a genera! amnesty for aU 
"detenus" and "political prisoners", But the resolution still 
seemed to suggest that the Congress considered the Rowlatt 
Committee package as a maHer of secondary concern and had 
not even noticed that, while the British Government was in no 
great hurry to declare its intentions regarding the Montagu~ 

Chelmsford Report. the Government of india was losing no time 
in drafting effective legislation along the lines recommended by 
the Rowlatt Committee. 

Nor was there any hint in the resolution of what the Congress 
proposed to do if. in spite of its repeated warnings and protests, 
the Government of India went ahead with its plans for fresh 
enactmenl which would not only continue the time-tested and 
war-time curb~ on "the liberty of the subject" such as it was, 
but clamp down fresh instruments of coercion on the Indian 
people. Evidently the Congress leadership had its mind and eyes 
focused on the brighter side of the prospect ahead and was 
sanguine that the high-powered delegation_ it was planning to 
send to Britain and the pressure of public opinion would succeed 
in persuading the British Government to improve upon the 
Montagu-Chelmsford proposals sufficiently for the Congress to 
go along with them. 
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AU the same early in the New Year public disc.uiet over 
what might be in store for ]ndia was beginning to mount as it 
became known that Bills. were already in the pipeline to give 
effect to the recommendations of the Rowlatt Committee. On 
February 2,1919, for instance. a meeting was held at Shantaram's 
Chaw!. Bombay. under the joint sponsorship of Bombay branches 
of the Home Rule League to protest a.gainst the 0 iminal Law 
Amendment Bill and the Criminal Law Emergency Powers Bill. 
the two progenies of the Rowlatt Report. The Congress President. 
Madan Mohan Malaviya. presided over the meeting at which 
]amnadas Dwarkadas read out a letter from Gandhi which the 
latter had addressed to his close associate, Shankerlal Banker, 
expressing his view on the Rowlatt Bills as they came to be known. 
In his letter Gandhi had said that there was "not the slightest 
warrant for the proposed Bills, and that it was their duty to 
educate public opinion to oppose the Bills with patience and 
firm determination." "If the Rowlatt Bills," he was quoted as 
having written, "were passed into law, the Reforms, whatever 
their value, would be absolutely worthless. [t was absurd to 
find on one side the enlargement of the powers of the public 
and, on the other, to put unbearable restraints on their powers." 

A few days earlier in a letter to O.S. Ghate, he had expressed 
him~elf in even stronger ierms on the subject of the Bills. He had 
described them !lS "damnable" and added that "no stone may be 
left unturned by us to kill the measure." However. he seemed to 
think that they would never be put on the Statute Book because 
of their "severity:' and also because "all the Indian members 
'Of the Imperial Council" will oppose them. At the same lime he 
saw no reason "for the counlry not taking IIp vigorous agitation." 
He said he was watching Ule situation and himself preparing to 
do his "humble share" in opposing the Rowlatt Bills. 

This must have ranked among the major political under­
statements of the year in the light of what Was to follow. From 
the start he had concluded lhat the Rowlatt Bills constituted an 
jn~ufferable enormity and he found it hard to believe that a man 
like Chelmsford would pronounce his blessings Oll them and allow 
their enactment. He had a curious.ly innocent. not to say naive, 
faith in Chelmsford's honesty and even goodness and trusted 
111m. He even dcluded himself into believing that this trust was 
reciprocated WhCl1, in fact, the consideration which Chelmstord 
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and his entourage showed Gandhi from time to time was mainly 
a tactical ploy because they considered him useful in mobilising 
support for the war, if not positively at least negatively by ncutra­
lising the influence of leaders like Tilak and even Annie Besant 
at a certa.in stage whom they regarded as at best ambivalent 
towards the Brhi~h cause. With the war won, the Viceroy and 
his underlings hat! little need of Gandhi and the whole balance 
of relationship between the two side~ was to suffer a rapid 
change. 

Gandhi, moreover, was in some difficulty in immediately 
setting about organising agitation against the Bills. To begin 
with, he was in IlO fit condition physically to undertake the etTorl 
required. His illness, as we know, had prevented his taking pan 
in the Thirty·third se:.~;ion of the Congress at Delhi. The illness 
had prolonged itself beyond that session, partly. it may be. 
because of varying modes of treatment to which he was submitted 
by his doctors who, knowing his fondness for "experiments wilh 
health." did not resist the temptation to treat him as a kind of 
guinea-pig for their medical theories. We know, for example, 
that a certain Dr. Kelkar, whom he nicknamed Dr. Ice becau~e 
of his faith in treatment by ice, made him take nothing but four 
pounds of "unboiled milk during the day" for almost a week 
which apparently availed little. At the end of January 1919, 
he was advised "to take fully three months rest outside India" 
which l1C told O.S. Ghatc he would "forgo" for the sake of the 
work in hand. Later there were other complications, like piles. 

But apart from physical incapacity. there was also a political 
problem. He was not the man who believed in starting a number 
of hares at the same time, but preferred to concentrate on what 
he regarded as the most important issue, and tne issue which 
for some time had been uppermost in his mimI had been to secure 
the release of Ali Brothers from their internment. He had been 
in correspondence with the Viceroy over the matter ever since 
the beginning of 1918 and possibly because of his pleading. 
although for other reasons of policy, too, the Government 
had appointed a Committee to investigate the cases of Ali 
Brothers. It had completed its work and, as he told Ghatc at 
the end of January, "nothing should be dOlle until the Report 
of that Committee has been presented to the Government", 
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and added that "if as a fl~!)ulL of the inquiry the Brother~ ,Ire not 
released. the time for action will have arrived." 

He wa~ so anxious, indeed, not to complicate his JeaJing~ 
with the authoritieS over the Ali Brothers iswe that in his letter 
to William Vincent. Home Member in the: Governor~General's 
Council, written on February J2, he made no reference h) the 
Rowlatt Bills in the drafting of which Vincent had pJayeJ his 
part and contented hill'lsdrwith wondering '·whether the Govern· 
ment have now arrived at any decision over this case." Even 
in his letter to Chelmsford's Private Secretary, written about a 
week later, he merely said: .. I feel tempted to write about Rowlatt 
Bills. but { am checking myself for the moment and awaiting 
the course of the BUb and the agitation about them in the country. 
[ wish to confine myself today to a matter that specially interests 
me-the case of the Brothers Ali." 

However, he wa~ watching the situation closely as the Bills 
were being debated in the Imperial Council at Delhi. He was 
even agitated about them, Thus on February 8 he wrote to 
Madan Mohan Maluviya who was a member of the Council: 

I read all the speeches on the Row!alt Bills today. I was much 
distressed. The Viceroy's speech is disappointing. Under tile 
circumstances I at any rale hope that aU the Indian members 
will leave the Select Committee or, if necessary, even the 
Council, and launch a countrywide agitation. You and 
other members havc said. that if the Rowlatt BHls are passed 
a massive agitation would be launched the like of which has 
not been seen in [ndin. Mr Lowndes [Law Member] :said 
that the Government were not afraid of the agitation tnat is 
going on. He is right. Even if you held a hun4red thousand 
meetings all over India what difference would it make '! I 
am not yet fully decided but [ feel th,lt when the Government 
bring in ttn obnoxious law the peopk will be entitled to defy 
tbeir other laws as well. If we do not now :show the htrength 
of the people, even the reforms we are to get will he useless. 
In my opinion you should all make it clear to the Government 
that so long as the Rowlatt Bills are there you will pay no 
taxes and will advise the people also not to pay them. I know 
that to give such advice is to assume a great responsibility. 
But unless we do something really big they will not feel any 
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respect for U5. And we cannot hope to get anything from 
people who do not respect us. 

The next day he wrote to V.S. Srinivasa Sustri congratulating 
him on his "forcible speech on the Rowlatt Bills." If anything. 
he expressed himself in even stronger terms on the subject than 
he had done in his letter to Malaviya. partly, it may be, because 
he knew Sa~tri, a very clever man hut a "Moderate" who had a 
congenital allergy to anything savouring of extra-constitutional 
conduct, would not "see eye to eye" with him in the position 
he wished to take up. as he put it towards the close of his letter. 
He therefore wanted to state his case against the repressive 
legislation as clearly and strongly as possible. He told Sastri 
1hat strong as his speech was, it was "none too strong". And 
lle went on: 

The Bills coupled with the Viceroy's, Sir William Vincent's 
and Sir George Lowndes' speeches have stirred me to the very 
depths; and though I have not left my bed still. I feel I can 
no longer watch the progress of the Bills lying in the bed. 
To me, the Bills are the aggravated symptoms of the deep­
~eated disease. They are a striking demonstration of the 
determination of the Civil Service to retain its grip of our 
necks. There is not the slightest desire to give up an iota of 
its unlimited powers and if the Civil Service is to retain it .. 
iron rule over us .... I feel that the Reforms wi11 not be worth 
having. 1 consider the Bills to be an open challenge to us. If 
we succumb we arc done for. [fwe may prove our word that 
the Government will see an agitation such as they have 
never witnessed before, we shall have proved our capacity 
for resistance to autocracy or tyrannical rule. When petitions 
[and] resolutions of gigantic mass meetings fail, there are 
but two courses open~the ordinary rough and ready course 
is an armed rebellion, and the second is civil disobedience to 
all the laws of the land or to a selection of them. If the Bills 
were but a stray example of lapse of righteousness and justice, 
I should not mind them but when they are clearly an evidence 
of a determined policy of repression, civil disobedience 
seems to be a duly imposed upon every lover of personal 
and public liberty. 
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He repeated his !>uggestion, already made to Malaviya, tha;: 
4'all the indian members Dr so many of them as would do so" 
should resign their position» 011 the Select Committee and even 
from the Council itsell: "If (think," he said, "their rc!>ignations 
will shake the GoVernment's confidence in its ability to disregard 
public sentiment. and will be an education of great value to the 
people." As rOT himself, he added. "if the BHls are to be pro-­
-ceeded with, I feel t can no longer render peaceful obedience to 
the laws of a power that IS. capable of such a piece of devilish 
legislation as thcse two Bills., and [ would not hesitate to invite 
tho»e who think with me to join me in the struggle." But he 
assured Sastri that he would do "nothing in haste" and "without 
giving a previous confidential warning couched in as gentle 
language as [ can command." 

Tn another letter written on the same day as the one to 
Srinivasa Sastri he told Pragji Khandubhai Desai, an old associate 
from the days of his South African Satyagraba campaign, how 
much the Rowlatt Bills were agitating him. "It seems," he 
added, "I shall have to fight the greatest battle of my life," Whether 
or not it turned out to be the gr~alest battle of his life. it certainly 
was a major turning point in his political life and a watershed 
,in the political stnlggie of the Indian people even though it may 
not seem so to the latter-day historians of the Raj who. like 
Dr. Judith Brown, have recorded their surprise, verging on 
lncredulity, that Gandhi worked himself up into such a state 
over the Rowlatt Bills. "The Rowlatt Report and the bills which 
incor:norated it" recommendations," she writes, "concerned 
governmental power to deal with sedition and conspiracy-an 
issue with very limited political appeal, which disturbed the 
politician but barely impinged on the lives of ordinary people. 
Few cases could have been further from those for which Gandhi 
had launched satyagraha in 1917 and 1918. and on the surface 
it seemed an improbable foundation on which to try to build a 
broadlY-based, continenlal leadership." 

That may well be true. However, Gandhi was not calculating 
to bUild "a broadly-based, continental leadership" for himself 
or anybody elSe When he decided to give the Government battle 
ifi! persisted in enacting the Rowlalt Bills and tried to mobilize 
popular resistance to them. He was moved to his decision because 
he regarded the Rowlatt legislation as an outrageous inequity 
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and attack on human rights just as he had regarded the racist 
legislation ill South Africa against whkh he had waged a struggle. 
After all. as Judith Brown acknow!cdg~s. "politicians ot all 
shades of opinion" felt the same way about them and she quotes. 
the Indian Social Reformer, an organ of distilled moderate 
opinions, as saying: "If constitutional reforms cannot be had but 
at such a price, We do not want them. What will it profit India 
if it haVe the beginnings of responsible government if the liberties 
of the Indian people arc carefully consigned beforehand to the 
keeping of the irresponsible part of the Executive?" 

What is more, Montagu himself was unhappy about them and 
sanctioned them, paruy because of his own weakness in the 
Cabinet, and partly because Chelmsford insisted on them. e~ed on 
by a reactionary cabalaI' bureaucratic hierarchs who surrounded 
him and who hated the whole idea of any devolution of power 
to Indian hands and were determined to sabotage even minimal 
constitutional reforms. He had written to Chelmsford as early 
as October 10. 1918, Lt!>king him whether the administration over 
which he presided could not manage to do without the draconian 
legislation recommended by the Rowlatt Committee which was 
virtually aU "most repugnant" to him: 

r do most awfully want to h·~lp you to stamp OUE rebellion anj 
revolution, but [ loathe the suggestion at first sight of preief­
ving the Defence of India Act in peace time to such an exte:1t 
as Rowlatt and his friends think necessary. Why cannot 
these things be done by normal, or even exceptiona.i processes 
of law'! ([ hate to give the Pentlands of this world or the 
O'Dwyers the chance of locking a man up without trial). 

He was, of course, unable to resist the pressure from Delhi 
to give his "reluctant sanction" to the Rowlatt Icgb,lation. But 
if Montagu recoiled in repugnance from it, it was scarcely sur· 
prising that Indinns-and not just Indian politicians as Judith 
Brown at onc point implies, but the common Indian humanity­
found the whole thing unjust and iniquitous. After all, they had 
to live with and 'SuITer it. Far from Gandhi's reaction I .. ) the 
Rowlatt Bills being in any sense atypical or cxagg!.lrated, jJ was 
an accurate measure of the general public sentiment. Howcva, 
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ulllike some others, he was unwilling to aC4uiesce in them 
passively while condemning them verbally. Although hardly able 
to stir from his sickbed, he lost little time in making preparations 
for and organising active resistance to what he felt to be an act of 
wanton arbitrariness and calculated provocation. 

Significantly, he seemed to be anxiou~ not to involve the 
Congress directly in the movement of resistance. There were 
probably many reasons for this, but at least it is not difficull to 
guess one which must have weighed considerably with him. 
Most of political India-not only the Congress leaders, both 
moderate and radical, but many others as well-were bitterly 
opposed to the Rowlatt Bills. This was shown dramatically 
when all the Indian non~officia! members of the lmperial Council 
voted against the legislation although the Government was able to 
steamroller it through because of its built~in official majority. 
As Dr. Brown acknowledges, "at least one Indian member. 
Pan.dit B.D. Shukul, representing landholders from c.p, [by 
no means a constituency renowned for its radical outlookl. 
resigned his scat in protest because he thought the Indian voice 
carried no weight in {theJ Council:' 

This W<k" put even more forcefully by another and better 
known member of the "Imperial Legislative Council" who 
resigned although Dr. Judith Brown, for some reason, makes 
no mention of it Jinnah in his letter of resigltation to the Viceroy 
written on March 28, 1919, protesting against the Government's 
enacting the Rowlatt legislation in spite of the virtuatly united 
opposition of the Indian members of the Council, accused the 
Go .... cmment of having "ruthlessly trampled upon the principles 
for which Great Britain avowedly fought the War." He saw 
in this act of arbitrary exercise of irresponsible power a clear 
demonstration that the Imperial Legislative Council wa~ a. 
Legislature but in name and observed: 

T feel that under the prevailing conditions r can be of 110 u~e to 
my people ill the Council, nor consistently with one':; seIf~ 
respect co-operation is possible with a Government that 
shows such uttcr disregard for the opinion of the representa~ 
tives of the people in the Council Chamber and for the 
feelings and sentiments. of the people outside. 



12 INDIAN NATIONAL CONGRESS 

However. Gandhi was aware that while there was nationwide 
opposition to the RowJatt Bills, there were even within the 
Congress differences on how best to oppose them. THak was in 
Britain. During the crucial months of January and February 1919 
by when it was manifest that the Government was determined to 
push through what had come [0 be known as the "'Black Bills" 
and enact them despite the advice to the contrary of their best 
Indian friends. he was fully preoccupied with the prosecution 
of his libel case against Valentine Chirol. It was to turn out to be 
a luckless and costly affair. It came up before Mr. Justice Darling 
and a special jury on January 29, Sir John Simon appearing for 
Tilak and Sir Edward Carson for Chirol. Predictably the jury 
threw out the case on February 21, after Darling's summing 
up which was hardly an example of a Daniel come to judgement. 

Tilak, therefore, had not been able to give much attention 
to political developments in India and what to do about the 
Rowlatt Bills. His close collaborator:> in India were divided. 
While N,C. Kelkar whom Judith Brown neatly categorises as 
"one of Tilnk's Chitpavan Brahmin lieutenants" supported 
the idea of passive resistance to the Bills. O.S. Khaparde had 
little use for satyagraha and even less for Gandhi. Much more 
important, Annie Besant, who had never quite seen eye to eye 
with Gandhi, was in the early months of 1919 in a distinctly 
refractory. if not negative, mood. She detested the new coercive 
legislation no less than most of her colleagues in the Congress, 
the Home Rule Leagues and the Muslim League. But she was 
not sure that by starting a civil disobedience movement Gandhi 
would not be providing the Government an excuse for coming 
down with a heavy hand on the Indian people----for answering 
"brickbats with bullets" as she was latcr to arg.ue. Under the 
circumstances, Gandhi may well have thought it unwise to urge 
upon the Congress itself to launch satyagraha against the Bills 
fearing that the initiative might prove divisive wben the Congress 
and tIle counlry need<!d unity. 

At any rate some such considerations must have entered into 
his decision to set up the SatY,igraha Sabha-a body of men 
and women pledged to conduct the struggle against the Black 
Bills by disobeying certain other similar laws just as he had 
done in South Afric<'l. Apparently the Pledge was drafted by him 
in Gujarati at a meetinghcldat Sabarmati Ashram, Ahmedabad, 
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on February 24, 1919, and signed by Gandhi himself, Vallabhbhai 
Patd, C.M. Desai, KM, Thakore and Anasuyabehn Sarabhai 
who was secretary of the Women's branch of the Home 
Rule League in Ahmedabad. Gandhi entrusted the task of Englitih 
translation of the Satyagraha Pledge to 8.G, Horniman who 
was to join the Sabha with lamnadas DWarkadas, Sarojini Naidu 
and VOlar Sobhani. The Pledge read; 

Being conscientiously of opinion that the BiUs known as the 
Indian Criminal Law (Amendment) 8m No. I of 1919 and the 
Criminal Law (Emergency Powers) Bill No. 11 of 1919 are 
unjust, subversive of the principle of liberty and justice. 
and destructive of the elementary rights of individuals on 
which the safety of the community as a whole and the State 
itself is based, we solemnly affirm that, in the event of these 
Bills becoming law and until they are witndrawn, we shall 
refuse civilly to obey these laws and such other laws as a 
Committee to be hereafter appointed may think fit and we 
further affirm that in this struggle we will 1'aithfu11y follow 
truth Ulld refrain from violence to life, person or property. 

Two days later fairly precise instructions, both "special" 
and "general", were issued to the satyagraha volunteers by the 
Committee of the Sabha to be followed strictly when securing 
signatures to the Pledge, though it appears that it was on March 
1. J919, that the original signatories of the Pledge met at Bombay 
and appointed an Executive Committee of the Satyagraha 
Sabhu, with Gandhi as its president. It was also only in the first 
week of March that the text of the Pledge was made public as 
Gandhj had assured Dins-haw Wacha and other Il1l1ucnti,l1 
poHticallcaders whose "blessings" for the satyagraha campaign 
he had sought even though he could not have been very s.anguine 
that such approbation would be forthcoming. 

The main reason for the delay in the signing of the PJedge and 
ill> pUblication was that he was waiting for a reply from the Vice­
roy to his despairing plea to Chelmsford to pull back flOm the 
brink even at that late hour. On the same day as the Pledge 
was signed, he had sent a telegram to J.F. Malfey, Chelmsford'$ 
Private Secretary. in which he told him how he had been 
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"comidering"' his position with Icgard to the RoV/!att Bills 
ever ~ince their publication, udding: 

IN MY OPINION BAD IN THEMSELVES BILLS ARE 
BUT SYMPTOM OF DEEP-SEATED DISEASE AMONG 
THE RULING CLASS. COMING AS THEY DO ON 
EVE [OFJ REFORMS BILLS AUGUR ILL FOR THEIR 
SUCCESS. THOSE WHO HAVE BEEN ASSOCIATED 
WITH ME IN PUBLIC WORK AND OTHER FRIENDS ... 
HAVE DECIDED TO OFFER SATYAGRAHA AND 
COMMIT CIYIL DISOBEDIENCE OF SUCH LAWS AS 
COMMITTEE TO BE FORMED FROM OURSELVES 
MAY DECIDE. AFTER SIR GEORGE LOWNDES' 
SPEECH IT IS NECESSARY TO DEMONSTRATE TO 
GOVERNMENT THAT EVEN A GOVERNMENT THE 
MOST AUTOCRATIC FINALLY OWES ITS POWER 
TO THE WILL OF THE GOVERNED. WITHOUT RE­
COGNITION OF THIS PRINCIPLE AND CONSE­
QUENTLY WITHDRAWAL [OFJ BILLS MANY OF US 
CONSIDER REFORMS VALUELESS. I WISH TO MAKE 
AN HUMBLE BUT STRONG APPEAL TO HIS EXCEL­
LENCY TO RECONSIDER GOVERNMENTS DECISION 
TO PROCEED WITH BILLS. AND RELUCTANTLY ADD 
THAT IN EVENT OF UNFAVOURABLE REPLY THE 
PLEDGE MUST BE PUBLISHED AND THE SIGNATO­
RIES MUST INVITE ADDITIONS. I AM AWARE OF 
THE SERIOUSNESS OF THE PROPOSED STEP. IT IS. 
HOWEVER. MUCH BETTER THAT PEOPLE SAY 
OPENLY WHAT THEY THINK IN THEIR HEARTS 
AND WITHOUT FEAR OF CONSEQUENCES ENFORCE 
THE DICTATES OF THEIR OWN CONSCIENCE .... 

This wa,<; not so much an ultimatum as an act of con~cience. 
He was anxious to avoid a confrontation and wanted to give 
Chelmsford an opportunity to pause and reflect and alter course 
at the eleventh hour. "God only knows," he wrote to C.F. 
Andrews. who was with Rabindranath Tagorc. "how 1 felt the 
need of your pre,;encc whilst the soul was in travail. r am now quite 
at peace with myself. The telegram to the Viceroy eased me 
considerably. He has the warning. He can stop what bids fare to 
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become a mighty conllagtation. If it come~, and. if the satyagrahis 
remnin truc to their Pledge, it can but purify the atmosphere 
and bring in real swaraj .... " 

In his telegram to Maffey he had re4Llestcd an "early reply" 
and it must have been vouchsafed him and cmlld not have been 
wholly discouraging. For although hardly convail!scent, he went 
to Delhi carly in March to ~ce the Viceroy. According to the 
··Chronology" furnished in volume 15 of his Collecf!'d lVorks, 
the interview with Chelmsford took place on March 6 (the date 
of the interview given by Judith Brown is March 5). He not 
Dilly met the Viceroy but also (he Home Secretary to the Gov· 
crnment of India, a certain James Du Boulay, though Ihls may 
well have been in connection with Ihe case of the Ali Brothers 
since he had earlier written to the Home Member, William 
Vincent. asking what the Governmcilt had decided regarding 
them. 

While in Delhi he was to have spoken at a public meeting 
on the Rowlatt Bills. but could not do so '''owing to weakness." 
Jiis speech had to be read out by Mahadev Desai. fn it he said 
that it was not necessary to say anything about the Black 8iHs. 
but that he would say something about the remedy of [he di.~ease 
of which lhey were the symptoms.. "The remedy," he said, "wc;.s 
the satyagraha movement already launched in Bombay" and he 
claimed that it was "a harmless, but unfailing remedy." though 
it "presupposed a superior sort of courage in those who adopted 
it." At all events, '·it was the only weapon with which India 
could be rid of the Bills." 

Despite this rairly categorical statement, however, he still 
entertained a lingering hope that the Government might still 
voluntarily withdraw the Bills or at least hold them in abeyance. 
This is clear from the telegram he scnt to Maffcy on March II 
on his way to Allahabad and he followed it up with a lettcr 
written "in the (rain" from Lucknow on tbe same day. TIt the 
telegram he poiJited out that "whether justified or not" there 
was strong public opinion against the Rowlatt Bills and that 
the Govcmment "by expressly bowing to public opinion" will 
risk nothing but rather "enhance real prestige." The letter to 
Chelmsford's Man Friday was in a more pcr~onat and even flatter· 
ing veia He recal/ed how during the Satyagraha in South Africa 
he had TOuted his exchanges. with Smuts "through his Private 



16 tNDIA)\; };ATIONAL CONGRESS, 

Secretary, Mr. Lane," and how "as the struggle developed}­
Mr. Lane veritably became the angel of peace between the Gov­
ernmellt as represented by Gen. Smuls and aliens as represented 
by mc," He devoutly hoped that Maffey could render him 
"similar services", "For as in South Africu, ~o in India. I shall 
ever have to worry YOll if the struggle is unfortun,tleJy prolonged, 
and I shall seize every occasion to bring Government and those 
I may represent, closer together," he wrote. 

However, MatTey was not particularly impressed by the 
complement Gandhi had paid him. Evidently he had no intention 
of pJaying the role of a veritable "Angel of peace" between 
Gandhi and the Government. His reply to Gandhi's letter and 
telegram was rather cold if not churlish. He asked the Mahatma 
"not to throw dust into people's eyes", though he also referred 
to his '"magnetic personality" and reminded him that as such 
"he had responsibility for the stability of the state." On the basis 
of intelligence reports they had been getting, Chelmsford and 
his coUeagues were sure that "Gandhi was not on firm grounds;' 
as Judith Brown echoes, and that he was just "bluffing". ChelmsM 

ford told Montagu as much on March 20: 1919: 

I think he is trying to frighten us, and I propose to call his 
'bluff'. In any case no other course is open to us. The fact 
is he has got passive resistance on the brain and cannot 
suppress it any longer. We can congratulate ourselves that 
he has not chosen his ground better. I am quile happy in 
defending my present position. 

That is pred~ely what he and the admini.,tra!lon over which 
he presided did, with results whk:h were disastrous in the short 
nm and carried with them the germ of even bigger disaster in 
~'ears to come. The "pos.tscript" to the poticy of ba.lance bctween 
conciliation and reprcssion, was to become a prelude to a new 
pbase of struggle between Lhe Indian National Congress and 
Britisl\ imperialism which were henceforth set on a course of 
progressive alienation leading to a whole series of increasingly 
sharper, if for the most part inconcl.usivc, collisions. For tltis 
display of arrogant unconCtrn and indifference to Indian opinion 
and sentiment by the British authorities was LO bring about a 
change in Gandhi's attitude to and understanding of the nature 
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of British rule in Illdia and lead to the first serious questioning 
on his part of ib legitimacy which, like most Indian political 
leaders of the moderate school and some eVen of the radical 
persuasion, whether within or o-utside the Congre~s fold, he had 
been inclined to accept almost as an artide of faith. And this in 
turn, whatever his relationship with the Congress at any given 
moment and irrespective of whether he was actually leading it 
in struggltl or seemingly standing aloM from its inner wranglcs 
and controversies. Was invariably to communicate itself to the 
outlook and policies of the Congress movemcnt. 

Not that the change came about all of a sudden and, as it 
Were, in a flash of lightning along his own distinctive political 
Road to Damascus. On the contrary, the seed of doubt as to the 
bona fides of the British Government was slow to take root 
and grOw in his mind to the point where he began to regard 
nearly aU its works as "Satanic," But it was the Rowlatt Bills. 
and the obstinate determination of the authorities to press 
ahead with them regardless of the protests and opposition even 
from their loyalists and well~wishers which fractured his trust 
in their good intentions and, though he always found it hard to 
mistrust people, the fracture never quite healed, 

The break was to cause him no small degree of pain, Thi~ j" 
reflected in most of his letters writlen between the last week 
of February 1919 and the end of March to thos(" who were 
opposed to the whole idea of civil disobedience 11k" Din~haw 
Wacha. Srinivasa Sastri, K. Natarajan and Stanley Reeu who,· 
was then Editor of the Times of India and who was regarued 
highly by him. and even his close friends, like C.F. AndJ'ew~ 
whom he had written asking to secure the Poet's benediction for 
the satyagraha but who seemed to be uncomprehending if not 
sceptical. It is no less evident in his speeches at public meeting:' 
anu statem.ents to the Press. Thus, in a letter to the Press­
enclosing the text of the Satyagraha Pledge, written on February 
26 he describes tbe step he had taken as "probably the most 
momentous in the history of india", and goes on to offer his a5SU~ 
rance that the step had "not been ha~tily taken." "Personally," 
he confesses publicly, "[ have passed many a sleepless night over 
it." There is no reason to doubt that he did~and not just Oil 

getting the wording of the Satyagraha Pledge right, but as he 
explains, weighing "rhe consequences of the act." 
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Some would have wis.hed that he had given equal time and 
thought to systematic preparation for sustaining the major 
dH\lknge that he was about to throw out io a well-entrenched 
imperialist power in a triumphalist mood and \vith an elaborate 
machinery of cD.:rcion at its command. But. .:haracteristically 
;lnd paradoxically. while he agonised a great deal over the 
o.:onsequences of the Satyagraha campaign he had decided to 
launch. neither he nor those closely associated with him in the 
~till skeletal Satyagrnha Sabha, with the most rudimentary 
organisational net\\ork in the country and hardly any chain 
of command. appear to have giwn much attention to working 
out practical and detailed tactical plans for the movement of 
resistance to the RowJatt Bills. or, what in the jorgon of our 
own day and season, would be caUed its logistics. 

This may have been. at least partly, due to Gandhi's (clue 
tance to believe that Chelmsford had made up his mind (oj 

press ahead with rhe "Black Bills". His meeting with him early 
in Marc,h had be;!n "extremely cordial and friendly," as he told 
his son, Devad'ls Gandhi; and though he admitted that "neither 
succeeded in convincing the other" and eVen added that "an 
Englh;hman will Mt be argued into yielding; he yields only under 
compUlsion of events," he still hoped against hope that the Viceroy 
at the last minute would withhold his assent to the Rowlntt 
legislation or at least delay it. He was vcr)' much mistaken in 
this. As we know from Chelmsfonl's communication to Montagu, 
the Viceroy was determincd to lay the gh"st or "passive rcsistance" 
which. according to him, Gandhi had "on his brain," once and 
for all by dealing toughly and appropriately with it. Andinthis 
determination he had the enthusiastic backing or much of the 
'·:.tcd*framc" and most of the provincial salraps some of whom 
were only waiting for an opportunity to teach Gandhi-and 
Indians in general-''-a lesson". 

There was also, perhaps, another psychologically inhibitive 
factor at work at the very centre of his resolve to resist the Row­
l;ltt Bills which were on the point of becoming the law of the land 
with only minor amendments and despite the opposition of 
\·inua!ly all the non-official members of the Imperial Legislative 
C0uocil. This was his failure to convince some of the leaders of 
Indian opinion \"hose judgement he highly valued across all the 
difft!fenccs that his decision to initiate satyagraha on the issue 
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was necessary and right. Not only had he been unable to con­
vince tbem, but several among them had publicly voiced their 
disapproval of what he was about to do. These included old 
Congress veterans, like Dinshaw Wacha and Surendranath 
Banerjea, and up·and~coming politicians like Srinivasa Sastri. 
Tcj Bahndur Sapru and Mahomed Shaft who had one foot ill the 
moderate nationalist camp and the other extended towards the 
lush pastures of loyalist polilics towards which they were being 
impelled by the logic of their ambitions and ta\l!nts. Enrly in March 
they had thought fit to sign and publi~h a "manifesto" stating their 
position on the Rowlatt Bills and Gandhi's :>atyagraha against 
them: 

While strongly condemning the Rowlatt Bills as drastic and 
unnecessary and while we think we must oppose them to tbe 
end, we disapprove of the passive resis.tance movement started 
as a protest against them and dissociate ourselves from it in 
the best illterests of the country, especially in view of the 
reforms proposals which are about to be laid before Parlia~ 

ment. 

Their act of public disapproval and dissociation had not 
changed Gandhi's mind or plans of satyagraha. As Sastri was 
to sigh audibly in a letter to S.G. Vaze a few weeks later. "Poor 
Gandhi!... He goes on his course unruffied-straight & 
single-eycd tho' circumspect & cool to a degree." However, it 
Would be idle to pretend that this len him unaffected. especially 
as he was finding that some of those whose support he had expect­
ed, and who were not aliergic to the idea of passive resistance. 
were unwilling to stand up and be counted-not because they 
lacked courage, but bad other commitments. This. for instance. 
was the case with S. Subranlarua lyer who had renounced hjs 
knighthood in protest against Annie Besant's detention and \!ven 
signed a pledge auvocating passive resistance against the rc,,", 
ressiv~ laws. Declining the vice~presidentship of the Satyagraha 
Sabha he wrote that Annie Besant looked upon the Sabha as a 
factional organisation working against her. "My longreJation with 
her," he W;1S at pains to explain to Gandhi, "makes it my duty 
not to array myself against her in what she takes to be a faction 
opposed to her." 
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This, indeed, was how she did see what Gandhi was trying to 
do. She Was in one of her Jess noble moods and the mild paranoia 
which some observers had detected earlier in some of her re,LC­
tions seemed to have returned. Certainly, her attitude to Gandhi 
and the Satyagraha Sabha reflected it. Beginning with the sus­
picion that Gandhi WaS trying to undermine her innuenee in 
the Congress and in her Home Rule League, it culminated in her 
open opposition to the Satyagraha movement against the Rowlatt 
Bills~and for reasons which were more personal than political. 
Gandhi took it all in good part and wilhout the least rancour. 
In his reply to Subramania Iyef'!; note declining to serve as vice­
president of the Sabha, he not only thanked hint for his candQur 
and said that he would respect his wishes, but asked him to "tell 
Mrs. Besant, this. movement is not a party movement and those 
who belong to particular parties. after joining the movement 
cease to be party men." He als.o agreed with Suhramnnia lyer 
that whntever their differences. with ber, "no indian can help 
feeling grateful to her for her wonderful services to India." 

He was obviously so anxious to avoid any misunderstanding 
of the Satyagraha movement and to win over its critics that,as he 
told Sastr, in a letter before leaving DeihL it was his desire >'to 
explain my position" fuHy to the sigL1atories of the "manifesto" 
by personally waiting on them had he been -'in a fit state," 
But he was noL And this only accentuated his difficulty in 
giving undivided attention to the preparations for the defiance of 
the Rowlatt Act which was on the anvil and undertaking a 
campaign of publicity and persuasion to build up mass support 
for the Satyagraha movement. Still, considering the state of his. 
health. it was remarkable what he was able to do in a few w..:eks. 
Apart from writing letters to the Press, on his way back from 
Delhi to Bombay, he addressed a public meeting-inevitably by 
proxy-at AlIaha.bad On March 11 and a.nother at Bombay three 
days later before undertaking a strenuous tour of the South. 
speaking (again, partly by proxy) (It a series of medingo; in 
Madras, Tanjore, Trichinopaly, Madura, Tuticorin, and Ncga­
patam before returning to Bombay via Secunderabad on April 3. 

For someone in his state of health and with a "weak heart", 
this was hardly an ideal mode of convalescence. The bU5incss of 
attending public meetings, at times more than one a day. even 
though most of his speeches were read out for him by his devoted 
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companion and secretary, Mahadev Desai, must have taxed 
his reserves of physical strength to the breaking point. Added 
to the effort of his public engagements there was the intolerable 
strain of constant trdvelling in the hot sea~on of the year. During 
a period of about three weeks he was to cover nearly five thou­
sand miles by rail, travelling, as was his cu:;tom, Third Class 
which in the good old days of tbe Raj was not equipped with 
electric fans and it was surprising that he was not completely 
prostrated by the effort. 

But, perhaps, he drew strength from the popular response 
at his meetings. This was heartening, despite Judith Brown's 
assertion to the contrary-not least among the Muslims. Accord­
ing to a report in the Hindu of March 26. 1919. for instance, 
after his speech at Tanjore two days earlier "about fifty signed 
the (Satyagraha) Pledge, the larger half of the signatorie~ being 
some of Ihe Mahomedans, merchants of Rajagiri." This was 
remarkable not merely because the Muslims constituted a very 
small proportion of the population of Tanjorc, but because in 
his speech-as, in fact, throughout lhis campaign~he had not 
raised any issue of specific interest to the Muslims, like the 
continued internment of the Ali Brothers over which he was 
negotiating with the authorities and had met James Du Boulay. 
Home Secretary, Government or [ndia, in Delhi. As he had written 
to O.S. Ghate from Trichinopoly, the campaign against the 
Rowlatt Bills "impliedly includes this que!>tion" and further 
that at a later stage of the struggle he proposed to refer to it, but 
for the time being he wanted to concentrate on the business in 
hand and did not want to confuse the issue. 

It was during his tour of the South. it seems, that his own 
ideas on what form the Satyagraha campaign was to take crystall· 
ised. His criti1..'S, induding Annie Besant. had been saying that 
"civil disobedience ... was bound to be artificial, because the Rowlatt 
Act did not touch the ordinary citizen." They were also asking 
Whether only the Rowlatt Act was to be resisted l1r other laws 
also to be broken. He was to answer these obstinate interrogu· 
tories in his message to a mass meeting held on March 
30 on the Triplicane Beach, Madras, under the chairmanship 
of K.V. Rangaswami Iyengar and the auspices of the Madras 
Satyagrnha Sabha which he was unabll! to attend hecause he 
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had to leave that evening for Bezwada "to keep my engagement 
with our Andhra friends" as he explained: 

Some rriend~ have said. "We understand your breach of the 
Rowlatt legislation, but as a satyagrahi there is nothing for 
yOll in it to break. How can you however break the other 
laws which you have hitherto obeyed, and which may also 
be good." So far as the good laws are concerned, Le .• laws 
\\\;ich lay down moral principles. the satyagrahi may not 
break them. and their breach is not contemplated under the 
Pledge. But the other Jaws arc neither good nOf bad, moral 
nor immoral. They may be useful, or may even be harmful. 
These laws one obeys for the supposed good government of 
the country. Such laws are laws framed for purposes of 
revenue, or political laws. creating statutory offences, These 
laws enable the Government to continue in power, When 
therefore a Government goes wrong to the extent of hurting 
the national fibre itself, as does the Rowlatt legislation, it 
becomes the right of the subject, indeed it is his duty, to 
withdraw his obedience to such Jaws. to the extent it may be 
required to bend the Go\'ernment to the national will. 

A week earlier in a letter to the Press on the Satyagraha 
movement, he had defined both its nature and how it should begin. 
He said it was "essentially a religious movement." u a process of 
purification and penance" that "seeks to secure reforms or redress 
or grievances by selr~suJfering.'· He thererore suggested that 
"the second Sunday after the publication of the Viceregal assent 
to BHl No.2 of 1919 (i,e., 6th April) may be observed as a 
day of humiliation and prayer." In keeping with his concep~ 

tion of the movement. he advised two things: first. "a twenty~ 
four hours' fast counting from the last mcal on the preced­
ing night .. , by all adults. unle~s prevented from so doing 
by con5ideration of religion or health"; and secondly, cessa­
tion of all work for the day, "cxcept such as may be neccs"ary 
in the public interest." The fa&t, he insisted, was not to be regar~ 
ded as '"hunger-strike ... to put any pressure upon the Govern· 
ment," but rather "as the necessary discipline to fit them [tnc 
Satyagrahis] for civil disobedience" and for others, "us some 
slight token of the intensity of their wounded Feelings." 
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The idea of a fast to be followed by a day's stoppage of all 
work and business. except what w.\" comidercd essential in public 
interest. a~ Gandhi was to tell C. Rajagopalachari who was Oil.:! 

of his close disciples and later was to ~ucceed Lord Mounlbatten 
a:-. the Governor~General of India after the transfer of power, 
hl1d come to him in tbe carly hours of the morning: "in that iwi~ 
light condition between sleep and consciousness" one day. But 
the impiration seems to have remained incomplete and did not 
extend to what was to follow the fast and the day's harIa! and he 
remained rather vague as to how the Satyagrnha movement 
must develop beyond the day~1. Notes taken by Mahadev Desai 
on tht:' back of a letter at a meeting held in Madras on March 23 
to discus'> future work ~uggest that he was contemplating, to 
begin with, defiance of ~.'crtain "political ~tatutes" by "printing 
and publishing of clean prohibited literaturc" and issuing of "a 
written newspaper without licence:' He is recorded as saying: 
,.! have deliberately askeQ the Bombay Commiuee (not) 10 put 
anything more than this before the public. [ don't think it is 
wise to put a complete programme, just yet, without knowing what 
turn eventl:> take. I have other laws U~ CR. Law, Salt Act and 
Revenue Law in my programme." 

Thus everything was tentative, depending on events. This 
applied no less to the organisational instrumentalities of the move· 
1"'r1ent. The best cour~c, hc thought, was for "each Province to have 
its separate independent organisation and for all those different 
organizations to co-operate:' But on one point jlC wal:> definite; 
all those who guided the people should be "the lirst to go" and 
offer Satyagraha·-in other words lead from the front. He-conceived 
tbe ~tyagruhis a~ an "army not of destruction but of construc­
tion or if necessary of self·deslruction and all the niles that apply 
to the army apply to our Sabba." 

But eVen an army of construction or self-destruction need" 
a system of communications that i;; reliable and effective. Judging 
from tbe way he was operating throughout the period lending up 
to launching of civil disobedience, he was content to rdy on the 
facilities provided by the postal services of the Indiall Govern­
ment whit.:h had ample powers to delay or even withhold any 
letter or telegram of instruction in transmhsion. {odet-oJ. nev;.'r 
in the political history of our times ha~ a movement of op..:n 
defiance of established and well-armed authority bc(:n laundwd 
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with so much moral premeditation-of which the signing of the 
Satyagraha Pledge by the participants was the visible token­
but so perfunctory an effort at mobilisation of resotITces and 
reserves or such inadequate attention to tactics and operational 
details. 

On the face of things, this was inviting failure or at least 
general confusion in the conduct of the campaign. And this 
became evident scan enough-indeed even before the appointed 
day for the cessation of work and business. There wa~ a mix~up 
or misunderstanding of instructions, assuming there had been 
any. Delhi oberved the harfal on Sunday March 30. a week 
before it was scheduled to take place. Even according to 
imelligence reports. the stoppage was quasi·totnl in the city. Later 
in the day there was a procession, led among others by Swami 
Shraddhunand. a respected religious leader who had been promi­
nent in the work of the Aryu Samaj but during this phase of his 
lire was drawn by Gandhi and his doctrine of satyagraha. 

The procession was largely peaceful, though the story, which 
Dr. Sitarllmayya repeats in his The History of tlte Indian National 
Congress, that the Swami bared his chest when the British soldiers 
threatened to shoot mayor may not be edifying apocrypha. 
However, at the Railway Station part of the crowd went into the 
,~tation premises and, according to the official version, tried to 
coerce the sweetmeat-sellers into closing their stalls. prevented 
people from boarding trains :md tram-cars, and threw brickbats. 
Some of them were arr.:sted. Thereupon the whole crowd broke 
into the Station demanding release of those arrested. The magis­
trate on dUlY ordered them to di~perse, but the crowd refused. The 
police and the army, who were heavily deployed. especially in 
strategic localities. were then ordered to fire. Ten people were 
kill.:d and many more wounded in the firing. 

This version of what had happened at Delhi reached Gandhi 
first. He read it while travelling from Secunderabad, wbere he 
had been delayed for a day because of a missed train connection. 
and it distressed him. But soon after Swami Shraddhanand's 
account reached him which put a very different complexion on 
the happening in Delhi and it carried conviction with Gandhi. 
Sufficiently, at any rate, for him to send the Swami a telegram 
saying that he felt proud of his "spirited statement" to the Press, 
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and adding: 

TENDER MY CONGRATULATIONS TO YOU AND 
PEOPLE OF DELHI FOR EXEMPLARY PATIENCE 
IN OPPOSING ROWLA IT LEGISLATION. WE ARE 
RESISTING SPIRIT OF TERRORISM LYING BEHlND. 
NO EASY TASK. WE MAY HAVE TO GIVE MUCH 
MORE SUCH INNOCENT BLOOD AS DELHI GAVE 
SUNDAY LAST FOR SATYAGRAHIS IT IS A FUR­
THER CALL TO SACRIFICE THEMSELVES TO THE 
UTTERMOST. PLEASE WIRE IF POSSIBLE EXACT 
NUMBER HINDU MOHAMMEDAN DEATHS TO 
DATE AND WOUNDED. IT WILL BE UNNECESSARY 
FOR DELHI TO FAST AGAIN NEXT SUNDAY. 

The telegram wa!o sent from Bombay on April 3, but it was 
not the only telegram he sent that day. There w<:re olhers, among 
them one to Srillivasa Sastri and another to Madan Mohan 
MaJaviya, the Congress President. The telegram to Sastri asked 
whether the "Delhi tragedy" did not make it incumbent upon 
him nnd "other friends" to '\,peak out [in} no uncertain terms." 
In any case. he wanted and hoped that "dlfference of opinion 
about Satyagraha" did not mean "difference of opinon on 
methods used by Delhi rolice." He reiterated that in opposing 
the Rowlatt legislatioli they Were "fighting spirit [of] terrorism 
lying behind:' 

The telegram to Malaviya was much in the same vein. but 
phrased somewhat differently. The Congress, as 110tOO, was not 
directly involVed in his Satyagraba campaign, but almost any 
Congressman or Congresswoman worth his or her salt was emow 
tionally with him whcther or not signatory of the Pledge. The 
Mahatma ~aid to Ma!aviya that "in view of what appears to be 
slaughter of inllol'cnts at Delhi, in my opinion you cannot 
remain silent on it whether yOll join the movement or not." 
He wanted the Congres.s President and all other leaders "to 
speak out what YOIl l'I!cl in no uncertain terms" and assured 
him that "the bh)Qd of the innocents" had laid "a heavy res­
ponsibility upon Satyagrahis" who. he had no doubt. "will 
give a good aCCOUllt ofthemseJves," He asked Malaviya to share 
the telegram with MotHal Nehru and other friends. 

As the fateful day, April 6 or the '"Black Sunday" as Gandhi 
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himself termed it in a notice announcing two meetings or dcmons~ 
trations in Bombay to mark the occasion, approached he seemed 
anxious to mobilize the maximum moral support for the Satya­
graha movement. He had already written to C.F. Andrews asking 
him for a message from Rabindranath Tagore. But c.P. Andrews. 
who was himself ~omething of a Doubting Thomas as reg'Jrds 
Gandhi's prospective Satyagraha against the RowJatt legislation. 
had not approached the Poet on the matter. possibly because 
he did not wish to bother him while he was in inditferent health, 
or had sensed that Tagore himself shared some of Andrews' 
doubts. On AprH 5 Gandhi, therefore, again wrote to Andrews 
hoping that he had got Ius previous Jetter in which he had ans­
wered some of his doubts, He also told him how for 24 hours 
he had been "sad beyond meas.ure" over the Delhi tragedy. 
But he was "happy beyo11d measure" now knowing that "the 
blood spilt at Delhi was innocent." He admitted that it was poss­
ible the satyagrahis in Delhi "made mistake~. But on the whole 
they have covered thems.elves with glory. There can be no redem­
ption without s.acrifice. And it fills me with a glow to find that full 
measure was given even on the first day and that too at the very 
seat of the power of Satan [this was probably the earliest use of 
tbe term Satan to describe the British Government in India by 
GandhiJ." He wanted Andrews to share his happiness. 

This was, perhaps, too much to expect. At aU events, Gandhi 
concluded by telling Andrews that he had "filed an appeal" 
against him and "here is a copy thereof. You can do what you 
like [with] it. But I mu:;l have Gurudev's opinion." The appeal 
was a letter written directly 10 the Poet. 1 ndeed, it is more than a 
Jetter. It is almost in the nature of a cri de coeur at a critical and 
decisive moment in his own political evolution and India's. As 
such it is a document of immense historical as well as human 
interest. The same applies to Tagorc's reply to him. The latter 
appears in an appendix to Gandhi's Co/le('(('d U'orks, Vol. 15. 
Since neither is well known, tltey merit full quotation. 

As alway:;, Gandhi addres"es. Tagore as "Dcar Gurudev" 
and goes on: 

This. is an appeal to you against our mutual friend. Charlie 
Andrews. I have been pleading with him for a me~sagc from 
you for publication in the lIation(d sfruggle [our italics] 
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which, though in form it is only directed against a single 
piece of legislation, is in reality a struggle for liberty worthy 
of a self·respecting nation. I have waited long and patien.tly. 
Charlie's description of your illness made me hesitate to 
write to you personally. Your health is a national treasure 
and Charlie's devotion to you is superh.uman. It is divine 
and I know that if he could help it he would not allow a single 
person, whether by writing or his presence, to disturb your 
quiet and rest, I have respected this lofty desire of his to protect 
you from all harm. But I find that you arc lecturing in Bena­
res.I have, therefore, in the light of this fact corrected Charlie's 
deSCription of your health which somewhat alarmed me and I 
venture to ask you for a message from you-a message of 
hope and inspiration for those who have to go through the 
fire. I do it because you were good enough to send me your 
blessings when I embarked upon the struggle. The forces 
arrayed against me are, as you know, enormous. 1 do not 
dread them, for I have .to unquenchable belief that they are 
supporting untruth and that if we have sufficient faith in truth 
{the original letter has "it"J it will enable us to overpower 
the former. But all forces work through human agency. 
I am therefore anxious to gather round this mighty struggle 
the ennobling assistance of those who approve it. I will not 
be happy until I have received your considered opinion on this 
endeavour to purify the political life of the country. If you 
have seen anything to alter your first opinion of it, I hope 

. ¥ou will not hesitate to make it known. I vulue even adverse 
opinions from friends, for though they may not make me 
change my course, they serve the purpose of so many Hght~ 
houses to give out warnings of dangers lying in the stormy 
paths of life. Charlie's friendship has been to me on this 
account an invaluable treasure, because he does not hesitate 
to share with me even his unconsidered notes of dissent. 
This I count a great privilege, May I ask you to extend at 
this critical moment the same privilege that Charlie has ~ 

I hope that you are keeping well and that you have thoM 
roughly recuperated after your fatiguing journey through the 
Madras Presidency. 

It was not the kind of letter that the Poet could ignore. He 
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replied a week later-on April 12, to be precise, since the date 
in this case is of some importance. The reply was philosophical and 
modulated on a critical note, though the critique of pure reason 
seems at point to verge on the pharisaical. The argument is ellipti~ 
cal, ambiguous. even circumlucatory ifnot evasive. It was not what 
Gandhi, perhaps, would have wishcd-"a message of hope and 
inspiration farthase who have to go through the fire." But it was 
redeemed by the inclusion in the letter of what Tagore called "a 
poefs contribution to your noble work"-two poems, the first 
one of which begins almost in identical words with the first line 
of the oft~quoted poem: "Where the head is held high and the 
mind is without fear": 

Dear Mahatmaji, 
Power in all its forms is irrational,-il is like the horse that 
drags the carriage blindfolded. Tile moral element in it is only 
represented in the man who drives the horse. Passive resistance 
is a force which is not necessarily moral in itself: it can 
be used against truth as well as for it. The danger inherent in 
all force grows stronger when it is likely to gain success, 
for then it becomes temptation. 

I know YOllr teaching is to fight against evil by the help 
of the good, But such a fight is for heroes and not for men 
led by impulses of the moment. Evil on one side naturally 
begets evil on tile other, injustice leading to violence and 
insult to vengefulness. Unfortunately such a force has already 
been started, and either through panic or through wrath 
our authorities have shown us the claws whose sure effect 
is to drive some of us into the secret path of resentment and 
others into utter demoralization. In this crisis you, as a 
great leader of men. have stood among us to proclaim your 
faith in the ideal which you know to be that of India, the ideal 
which is both against the cowardliness of hidden tevenge 
and the cowed submissivenes" of the terror-stricken. You 
have said, as Lord Buddha has done ilt his time and for all 
time to come,-

Akkol/lwna jim.' kodham. asadhum .~adlllma jine,­
"Conquerangcrbythc power of non-anger and evil by the 
power oj good:' 

Thi~ power of good must prove its truth and strength by its 
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fearlessness, by its refusal to accept any imposition Wllich 
depends for its success upon its power to produce frightfulness 
and is not ashamed to use its machines of destruction Lo ~crro­
rize a population completely disarmed. We must know that 
moral cOflquest does not consist in success, that failure docs 
not deprive it of its dignity and worth. Those who bellevc in 
spiritual life know that to stand against wrong which has 
overwhelming material power behind it is victory itself.-it 
is the victory of the active faith in the ideal in the teeth of 
evident defeat. 

1 have always fclt, and said accordingly, that the greal girt 
of freedom can never come to a people through charity. We 
must win it before we cun own it. And India's opportunity for 
winning it will come to her when she can prove th.."lt ~he is 
morally f>uperior to the people who rule her by their right of 
conquest. She must wiHingly accept her penance of suJTering­
the sufiering which is the crown of the great. Armed with 
her uttcr faith in goodness she must stand unabashed before 
the arrogance that scoffs at the power of the spirit. 

And you have come to your motherland in the time of her 
need to remind her of her missioll, to lead her in the true 
path of conque~t. to purge her present day politics of' its 
feebleness which imagines that it has gained its purpose when 
it struts in tht; borrowed fe..'lthers of diplomatic dishonesty. 

This is why 1 pray most fervently that nothing thnt tcnds 
to weaken our spiritual freedom may intrude into your march­
ing Hnc. that martyrdom for the cause of truth may neyer 

-degenerate into famtticism ror mere verbal forms, descending 
into the self-deception that hide.'> itself behind sacred names. 

With these few words for an introduction allow me to 
otTer the following as II pOel'~ contribution to your noble 
work ...• 

Much of this was profoundly true; throughout it was ex­
quisitely phr4sed; some of it was eyen magnificent. So were the 
two poetic offerings. especially the second one which in a few 
lines summed up what Gandhi was trying in his life and work to 

realise and came close to real.LiiiNS~SMe:~tl ~~t~ 

II? (,1,,::,1(' tr,jr.{,~:_ ~md Library 
~',(,- "- i ann 

\'"' .1\(.- I>l ............. _ ... _~ i 

l:t:a:..: . ...... -------- , 
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~omparable figure of our epoch: 

Give me the supreme courage of love, this is my prayer,-lhe 
courage to speak, to do, to suffer at thy will, to leave all things 
or be left alone. 

Give me the supreme faith of love, this is my prayer,~thc 
faith of the )jfe in death, of the victory in defeat, of the 
power hidden in the frailness of beauty, of the dignity of pain 
that accepts hUlt, but disdains to return it. 

However, the one brief word of assent and approval that 
would have communlcated heart·warming encouragement seemed 
somehow to be missing. There were too many implied reserva­
tion", justified no doubt; too many qualifying pluases meant to 
serve as "so many lighthouses to give out warnings of dangers 
lying ahead" which were real enough as events proved, But 
there is a time for everything and it was not the time for reserva­
tions and qualifying phrases. Gandhi must have looked in vain 
in Tagore's letter for that WOld of good cheer for those WllO 
were about "to go through the are" and for which he could hardly 
help wishing in his heart of hearts. Whether Tagore would have 
written quite in same vein if he had written his letter twenty· 
four hours or forty-eight hours later when he, together with 
the rest of India, had to partake of the same bitter cup of agony 
must remain a matter for everlasting conjecture .... 



CHAPTER II 

"THE BrG SHOW" 

By any rational and objective reckoning the popular response 
to Gandh.i's caU for non-violent resistance to and protest against 
the Rowlatt Act to which Chelmsford had hastened to give his 
assent was large enough to be considered nationwide and any 
leader of the Satyagraha movement would have had ample reason 
dl1ring the first week of April 1919 to feci gratified, even perhaps 
elated. by it. Admittedly, the jntcnsity of the response varied 
from province to province, It could hardly be expected to be 
unif6rm everywhere considering the continental proportions of 
undivided India, the vastness of its populalion, and the absence 
of any organised cadres to conduct the camraign. But barring 
a few regions, like the Centrd! Provinces, for instance, where for 
reasons not necessarily all political, the response had been re!a~ 
tivcly lukewarm. in most towns and cities of India. ra.nging 
from the North-West to the deep South. the hartal was Widely 
observed, very little moved and there were large public meetings, 
What the authorities regarded as singularly sinister were scenes 
of amity among all C()mmunitics, especially Hindus and Muslims. 

This was altogether a new phenomenon on the Indian scene~ 
and the more remarkable for two reasons, To begin with, it was 
the first occasion on which the people had been called upon 
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collectively to demonstrate their sentiment of rejection of an act 
of the Government which an editorial in the Bombay Chrollide, 
probably written by B.G. Horniman himself, had described as. 
"the Mark of Cain" on India's forehead which she "cannot and 
will not accept:' It is all very well for Ms. Judith M. Brown to 
cast around for every other explanation except the simple and 
straightforward one, and argue that all manner of tinder had 
accumulated during the war years because of economic and 
other grievances, and that those who responded to G.mdhi's 
call for Satyagraha knew very lillie, ifanYlhing, about the Row!att 
legislation. Even jf her argument were to be accepted--and one 
would have to hold common humanity in exceeding contempt 
to accept it-what she says could be said of al! historically 
known and recorded situations which have Jed to revolutionary 
upsurge. Indeed, the true significance of Gandhi'~ Satyagraha 
campaign in 19t9 lies precisely in the facl that it succeeded in 
bringing to II sharp focus the variOlls strands of discontent upon 
an issue which transcended all narrow. sectarian, sectional or 
regional concerns and egotisms, and directly connected with 
something infinitely bigger and more significant-the issue of 
national and human dignity and, as he was to tell Rabindranath 
Tagore, "a struggle for liberty worthy of a se!f-rt.specting 
nation." 

What made the dimension of response to his call even more 
impressive and important was that Gandhi had made no systemK 

atic preparation fot the campaign before giving the signal for 
Satyagraha which, it is true, was to be carried out only by the 
chosen few who had actually taken the solemn Pledge but which 
the people at large were urged to support by fasting, cessation of 
work for a day, and taking part jn processions arrd meetings to 
demonstrate their identiHcation with the opposition to the Rowlatl 
Act. All this, moreover, had been undertaken without any organ­
isational infrastructure beyond the still emhryonic Satyagraha 
Sabhas where they had been formed at a\! and through individuals 
whom Gandhi knew personally in various parts of the country 
and whom Dr. Judith Brown amiably chooses to describe. 
perhaps not entirely without a subtle intention to belittle if not 
denigrate, as Gandhi's "henchmen" and "'j,ub-contractors." 

Gandhi's own initial reaction to the way people had re:.~ 

ponded in their hundreds of thou:.and:., as we know from his-
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leHer to C.F. Andrews, was, indeed, one of happiness "beyond 
measure" after he had convinced himself on the basis of testi· 
mony on which he could putce some creden.ce that though the 
harIa! observed in Delhi had been premature, the crowds had on 
the whole conducted themselves in a disciplined non-violent way. 
Had he but known it, further to the North-West, in Amritsar, 
where through the same misunderstanding a hartal was observed 
prematurely on March 30, it had passed ofIwithout any untoward 
incident. Nor had he any reason to complain of the way ill which 
the citizens of Bombay observed the "Black Sunday"~Apri16-
and of which he had been an eye-witness and the chief protagonist. 
"Bombay," reported the Bombay Chronkle. "presented the 
sight of a city, in mourning on the occasion of the day of national 
humiliation, prayers and sorrow at the passing of the Rowlatt 
Bills." The report goes on: 

From an early hour in the morning, people bad come to 
Chowpatty to bathe in the sea .... It was a Black Sunday .... 
Mr. M.K. Gandhi was one of the first arrivals at Chowpany 
with several voiun.teers, and by 6.30 a.m., or earlier he had 
taken his scat on one of the l'tonc benches with about a 
hundred satyagrahis around him .... As the day advanced 
people kept pouring in on the seashore ... the crowd :>welled 
and swelled until it became one huge mass of people .... It 
was a splendid sight at this time, for the whole Sandhurst 
Bridge swarmed with people and there must have been appro­
ximately one·and·a·half iakhs of people .... All communities. 
were represented there-Mahomcdans. Hindus, Parsis, etc.,. 
and one Englishman .. , ,At exactly eighl o'dock, Mr. Gandhi 
made his speech., .. 

Gandhi actually did not speak. He was still too ill and weak 
for the effort. His &pt.'cch was feud out for him by Jamnudas 
Dwarkadas who, together with Sarojini Nnidu and Horniman 
(probably the sole "Englishman" mentioned in the Bombay 
Chronicle report) had accompanied him to Chowpatty. 
de&pitc Annie Besant's attempt to wean him away from Satya· 
graha. It was not a long speech and more than half of it was. 
devoted to giving an account of the events in Delhi the previous 
Sunday. He relaled that according to a telegram he bad received 
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from Swami Shraddhananad "four Mahomedan and five Hindu 
Corpses have up to now been traced ... and that about 20 are 
believed to be missing and 14 badly wounded .. ,," "No country," 
he said, "has ever risen, no nation has ever been made without 
sacrifice, and we are ttying an experiment ofbuilrlingup ourselves 
by self-sacrifice without resorting to violence in aoy shape or 
form." At the end of his speech he appealed for funds to help 
the famities of the bereaved in Delhi and said he WaS sure "the 
rich people of Bombay will not fail. " to put their hands into 
their pockets." 

At the meeting at ChowpaHy two resolutions Were passed. 
The first one congratulated the people of Delhi on their 
"exemplary self-restraint under the most trying circumstance!." 
and Swami Shraddhanand and Hakim Ajmal Khan "for their 
admirable leadership", and contained a message of condolence 
to the families of the innocent victims of firing by theauthorities. 
The second one urged the Secretary of State for fndia "to advise 
H. M. the King Emperor to veto the Anarchical and Revolutionary 
Crimes Act of 1919." It also requested the Viceroy to withdraw 
the Criminal Law Amendment Bill No.1 of 1919. 

Before the meeting ended Gandhi announced that they would 
"form a procession and go over to the Madhav Baugh Temple 
and offer their prayers there." Sarojini Naidu. however, was not 
well and he, apparently, wanted her to return home in a car. But 
she must have refused. For she is mentioned in the Bombay 
Chronicle report of the prayers at the temple at which she was 
present. The plan was for the crowd to disperse aftCI the prayers. 
But Jamnadas Dwarkadas announced at the temple that their 
Muslim "brethren were holding a meeting at Grant Road" and 
he wanted those present "to proceed there to show their friend~ 
ship towards their great sister community." The meeting was 
being held in an open space before the mosque and some five 
thousand Muslims were present. They got up "and cordially 
received their Hindu brethren ... Mahatma Gandhi, Mrs. 
Sarojini Naidu, Mr. Jamnadas Dwalkadas and other leaders 
were taken to the balcony of the Mosque and accommodated 
there amid scenes of utmost enthusiasm." Ga.ndhi addressed the 
meetmg. His theme, inevitably. wasHindu~Muslim unity and he 
urged the Muslims "to join the Satyagraha movement in large 
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numbers" and described Sntyagnlha as u a banyan tree, the roots 
and branches of which went deep into the ground .... ,. 

There was another meeting in the evening at China Baug 
near the French Bridge. But it was mean! for women, with Mrs. 
Jayaknr presiding. Gandhi. from the beginning of his political 
career in South Africa, had been determined that women should 
take part in the struggle equally with men. As early as February 
25 he had written to c.F. Andrews that he would not wonder 
"if I tell you that the women at the Ashram have all voluntarily 
signed the Pledge .... " Addressing the Women's meeting at China 
Baug briefly-he had to leave because there had been "some 
untoward incident" at the Crawford Market where the police 
had assaulted "some members" of a mixed Hindu-Muslim 
procession and they sustained injuries-he appealed to the 
Indian women "to co-operate with the men in the constituticnal 
fight which they Were waging against the Rowlatt legislation." 
"Indian body," he said. "would not be able to do its work 
properly if one half of it, namely, the women, remained 
inactive .... " 

Thus the "Black Sunday" had passed off peacefully in 
Bcmbay, The incident at the Crawford Market. as he wrote to 
Jbrahim Rahimtoola (a member of the Governor's Executive 
Council in Bombay) after investigating it, "Was ncthing serious" 
and I<nc one in the procession was at fault." Indeed. as Judith 
M. Brown writes, "the police admiued that the whole effect 
Was a strategic succe~s for Gandhi. even though fear of damage 
rather than adherence to satyagraha probably prompted some of 
the shopkeepers." Probably, or- probably not, though ODe would 
hardly expect professional writers of police reports not to qualify 
acknowledgement of any strategic success rcr Gandhi and not to 
insinuate that. after all, it may have been fe:lr for their property 
mther than any sense of solidarity with the Mahatma and s.atya~ 
grah.t that induced the owners of shop!> and businesses in Bombay 
to respond to his call for protest against the Rowlatt Act. 

However, it was not only in Bombay that the first day of the 
Satyagraha marked "a strategic ~uccess" for Gandhi. Shops and 
businesses bad closed and publie meetings and demonstcation 
Were held in mO!;t parts of India and they had bc ... n disciplined 
and peaceful. Even in the Punjab, where over forty towns and 
cities. observed the hartal, as we learn from the official Report 
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"no disorder had followed." This was no less true of Amritsar­
and in spile of the ostentatious and provocative display ofmusde 
by the police and military because their nerves were very much 
on edge. One incident of a minor clash was reported to Gandhi 
from Calcutta and he had immediately wired C.R. Oas: 

NEWSPAPERS REPORT SUNDAY DEMONSTRATORS 
AFTER SOME PROVOCATION RUSHED TOWARDS 
BRISTOL HOTEL THREW STONES SMASHED WIN­
DOWPANES, TOWARDS EVENING KOMTOOLA MOB 
RESCUED ORIY A ACCUSED FROM CUSTODY CON­
STABLES. SEVERELY ASSAULTED POLICE. PLEASE 
WIRE EXACT SITUATION. NEED HARDLY POINT 
OUT IN SATYAGRAHA THERE NEVER IS DANGER 
FROM OUTSIDE, DANGER ALWAYS FROM WITHIN. 
SATYAGRAHA ADMITS OF NO COMPROMISE 
WITH ITSELF. PRAY REPLY EXPRESS. 

To this C.R. Das had replied that newspaper reports were 
"misleading"; that Sunday's demonstration had passed off 
quietly and peacefully; that harral had been lotal and, after 
prayer and fasting. there was a public meeting in the Maidao 
which 200,000 people had attended; that processions were orderly 
and the crowds dispersed peacerully. As for the Bristol Hotel 
affair, it was grossly exaggerated, he said. What happened, in 
fact, was that when "a sankirtmt party" was returning home. 
some Europeans threw "refuse matters and brick pieces" and 
some people got "ClI.cited" but were restrained by others. Regar­
ding the incident about the rescue of an accused from police 
custody, Das maintained that it was "unauthenticated anu 
unconnected with our demonstration," 

The wire to Dus was sent on AprilS, The previous day Gandhi 
had spent happily attending to a variety of necessary chores 
connected with the SatY3graha campaign. He issued the first 
Satyagraha news~shect. It was priced onc pice. with instructions 
to prospective readers to "read, copy and circulate" lhe: paper. 
It did not contain much news. bUl the Editor':; name and address. 
were prominently printed: "Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi. 
Laburnum Road, Gamdevi, Bombay," A copy of the bulletin 
Was sent to F,e, Grifihh. Police Conunissioner. with a brief 
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note saying. "May [ send you a copy of the unregistered news­
paper i~sued today by me as its Editor?" This was meant to draw 
the Police Commissioner's attention to the fact that by issuing 
an unregistered newspaper he had violated the Press laws. 

Another statement issued by him as Pr~idcnt of the Satya­
graha Sabha related to Laws for Civil Disobedience. It was 
also signed by the Secretaries orthe Sabha~D.D. Sathye, Umar 
Sobhani, and Shankerlal Banker. Apparently, the Sa-bha con­
sidered that the laws relating to prohibited literature and un­
registered newspapers were the ones which "may be civilly 
disobeyed" for the time being. It also drew up a list of the 
prohibited works which should be disseminated to this end, 
The list makes interesting reading: 

I. Hind SWaraj by M.K. Gandhi 
2, Sarvodaya or Unil'cl'sal Dawn by M,K. Gandhi (being a 

paraphrase of Unto Th.is Last). 
3. The Story oj a Satyagrahi by M.K. Gandhi (being a 

paraphrase of the Defelice and Death of Socrates by 
Plato.) 

4. The Life and Address oj Muslala Kamal Pasha (printed 
at the International Printing Press). 

Other documents which he drafted on April 7 included 
Instructions to Stltyagrahis, The Vow oj Hindu-Muslim Ullity. 
and the Swadcshi Vow I and If. The later text read: "With 
God as my witness, I solemnly declare that from today I shall 
confine myself. for my personal requirements, to the use of 
cloth, manufactured in India from Indian cotton. silk and wool; 
and [ shaH altogether abstain from using foreign doth. and I 
s.hall destroy all foreign cloth in my possession." The final 
clause of this vow was latter to lead to a controversy between 
Gandhi and Tagore, the latter having protested against the 
destruction of foreign cloth. 

His own fulure programme, as he told C.R. Das in his tele­
gram, was nOl definite and was "dependent on external circums­
tances." But he was intending to leavc for Delhi by the Punjab 
Mail on April 8. This much is known from the telegrams he sent 
on April 7 and g to Dr. Satyapal (who, he thought for some reason, 
was in Delhi and not Amritsar). Prof. S.K. Rudra orst. Stephen's 
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College. Swami Shraddbanand and to Rajendra Prasad who 
was in Patna. Judging from the latter telegram he intended to 
make his further programme while in Delhi, though he had told 
C.R. Das that he would try to be in Calcutta on April 15. 

[n his telegram to Swami Shraddhanand he had begged that 
his arrival in Delhi on Wednesday evening should be kept strictly 
private because he could "bear no public demonstration." But 
unfortunately for him, while he could propose, it was the Govern­
ment that disposed. He seemed to have no premonition when he 
left Bombay for Delhi on that Tuesday of what they intended doing 
about him, if anything. As it happened they had decided that he 
was not going to arrive in Delhi at aU and his non-arrival could 
hardly be kept altogether private. On April 9, at a wayside station 
not far from Delhi, Kosi. the Punjab Mail made an unscheduled 
stop to enable a police officer to get into the train and serve 
Gandhi with an order not to enter the Punjab, not to enter Delhi 
and restrict himself to Bombay. The order was signed by a certain 
Ashgar Ali, "Additional Secretary", acting on behalf of "His 
Honour the Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab"-none other 
than that "pugnacious" U!sterman, Sir Michael O'Dwyer. The 
reason stated. in the order was that "there are reasonable 
grounds for believing that Mohandas Gandhi, son of. .. has 
acted in a manner prejudicial to the public safety .... " 

The whole operation was carried out with complete decorum 
as we learn from the report that appeared in the Leader of Allaha­
bad on April 12. based on what Mahadev Desai, Gandhi's Sec­
retary. had written: "The officer serving the order treated ltim 
most politely assuring him that it would be his painrul duty to 
arrest him if he elected to disobey, but that there would be no 
ill will between them. Mr. Gandhi smilingly said. he must elect 
to disobey as it was his duty {indeed, he wrote this on the back 
of the order with which he was servedl and that the officer ought 
also to do what was his duty.-· Gandhi then dictated a message to 
his "countrymen" in the few minutes that were left to him. In 
it he expressed his "satisfaction" at what had happened. adding: 

... 1 was bound in virtue of my pledge to disregard it {the 
orderJ which I have done and 1 shall presently Hnd myself 
a free man, my body being taken by them into their custody. 
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It was galling to me to remain free whitst the Rowlatt le£i:)~ 
lation disfigured the Slatutc~book. My arrest makes me free. 
It now remains for you to do your duty wrucb is clearly 
slaled in the Satyagraha Pledge. Follow it and you will find 
it will be your Kamadhenu [the mythical cow yielding what­
ever is wished for]. 

He hoped tllere would be no resentment at his arrest. He 
had received wh!tl he was sceking-"either withdrawal of the 
Rowlatt legislation or imprisonment." He wanted them not to 
uepart from truth a!ld IlOn-violence even "by a hajr's breadth". 
He stressed the need for Hindu-Mu~lim unity. "TherespollsibHity 
of the Hindus in the matter;' he insisted not for the first or la!-.t 
time. "is greater than lhaL of the Mahomedans, they being in 
minority .... " He paid what must have been considered rather 
a backhanded compliment to the English who, he said. "are 
a great nation, but the weaker also go to the wall if they come 
in contact with them .... There is a fundamental difference 
between their civiHution :.U\d ours. They believe in the doctrine 
of violence or brute force as the linul arbiter. My reading of our 
civilization is that we are expected to believe in soul-force or 
moral force as the linal arbiter and. this is satyagraha." The 
statement concluded with the hope that a.1l communities­
Hindus, Mahomedans, Sikhs, Par~ees, Christians, Jews who are 
born itl India or have made India their land of adoption-and 
especially wom.en "will fuHy participate" in satyagraha. 

The st,ttement, which uppeared in the Hindu the next day, 
was altogether magnificent. But it was too magnificent to connect 
with the reality of the situation. It was dearly reflective of the 
perfectionist mood in which he had launched his campaign. 
Possibly. hc was stilt far too much psychologically involved in 
his South African \!xpcricnce-as, itldced. he was to remain 
almost till the end of his days-fully 10 rcali,;e that it is OllC 

thing to Ct)ll(.iuct a satyagraha campaign with a small body of 
fairly disciplincd people drawn from a relatively small community 
and quitc another to conduct such a campaign amidst a vast 
population a substantial body of which was seething with discon­
tents that had been welling up for years. 

Til\! British were aware of this element of precarioU!mess, 
jf not flaw, in his strategic conception of a 24-carat non-violent 
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movement of civil disobedience and which must lead to its failure. 
Chelmsford mayor may not have had this in mind when he wrote 
to Montagu on the 9th day of April which was to tum out to. be 
the cruelcst month of aU in India for many a year; "Dear me, 
what a d .... d IlUi::>arlce these saintly fanatics are! Gandhi 
i~ in..::.apable of hurting a fly and is as honest as the day, blH h~ 

enters quite lightheartedly 0\1 a course of action which is the 
negation of alJ government and may lead to much hardship to 
peoplc who. are ignorant and eaSily led astray." But to any dis­
pas:;ionale observer of the ~ituatjon and the way the official 
mind wa" working. it must have been equally dear as the day 
that the bureaucratic cabals wllich ruled the roo~t in Delhi and 
many of the provindal capitals and right down the administrative 
ladder, were determined not to allow Gandhi to get away with 
it and wage his "soul·forcc'" campaign in the way which he fondly 
imagined he could. They had made up theiT mind to impose 
upon him their own terms alld weapons of combat. 

At least it is not easy to explain why not only the Government 
of India (to give it it5 courtesy title) sanctioned O'Dwyer's 
decision to ban Gandhi's entry into the Punjab. but improved 
upon it by ordering him not to enter Delhi either and to "reside 
within the limits of the Bombay Presidency". O'Dwyer was 
a man W[lO believed his own delirious fantasies. But few of those 
who constituted the Council of the Govenlor·General-least 
of all Ch.elmsford as tile passage quoted above proves-eould 
have believed that Gandh.i was an incendiary who was hcll·bent 
on setting India ablaze and enjoying the spectacle. They knew that 
if there wasa man whose presence anywhere in India could soothe 
the populace then that man was Mohandas Karamchalld Gandhi. 
And even if they did not know, the reports from Bombay ought 
to have persuaded them of this. 

However, a peaceful Satyagraha obviously did not suit 
whatever design they had worked out. That would have won 
Gandhi much sympathy in Britain itself and world at large. On 
the other hand, eruption of violence would provide them not Ollly 
justification for the Black Act Wllich they had been in such hurry 
to rush through the "legislature", but come down with a heavy 
hand on the s(ltyagrahis and to intimidate the population. And 
the best way of provoking violence was to "arrest" Gandhi, 
prevent him from going to D.:!thi Of the Punjab and s,!ud him 
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back under custody to Bombay. For that way they could not 
onl.y be sure that the news or his arrest would spread all over the 
country long before his own message reached the people in 
which he had urged them to remain calm and bear no ill wilt 
towards the authorities who had arrested him. They could also 
make certain that all manner of rumours, some of them planted 
by those dieux ex /1wchirw of all oppressive regimes down th~ 
ages, the agel1ts /WQ1'ocateurs, would be able to run wild. As B.G. 
Horniman, Edilor of the Bombay Chronicle who was himself 
soon to be unceremo!tiousty deported from India, wrote in his 
Amritsar and Out' Duty to India published in London in 1920, 
Gandhi's "disappearance in custody for a day" was bound to 
lead "the people to suppose that, like Dr. Satyapal and Dr. 
Kite-hlew, he had been taken away for internment." 

This was exactly what happened. While Gandhi was being 
brought back to Bombay "under arrest" and feeling, as he wrote 
to Esther Faering. who had visited hi~ Ashram in Sabarmati 
before going on to work with tilC Danish Missionary Society 
in South India. "perhaps the happiest man on earth today," 
the people's cup of bitterness. full already, was to overflow and 
there were protest demonstrations in many parts of India, some 
leading to dashes with the forces of «law and order". In Bombay 
itself the day he arrived back and was set free, April II, there 
was a complete closure of shops and businesses: public transport 
was disrupted; and cavalry was called in to charge the crowds 
to disperse them. 

But people ill Bombay. of course, could see that nothing 
ha'd happened to Gandhi. Soon arter his return to Bombay he 
had addressed a meeting on the Chowpatly beach. It was obvious 
that he was no longer the "happiest man on earth," but in con~ 
siderable distress. He said he could not "understand so much 
excitement and disturbance" followin.g his arrest. "It is not 
satyagraha. It t:-> worse than duragraha [opposite of satyagraha]," 
he lamented. He pleaded with them to remain non~violent and 
told them that the essence ofsatyagf'aha was capacity "to undergo 
intelligent suffering." He had nothing but words of praise for 
the Governor of Bombay and the police for refraining from use of 
firearm". He jS.~llcd instructions to the satyagrahis that they 
should not organise processions or demonstrations and should 
obey police ordcr~ implicitly. The public meetings, he insisted, 
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were not only to be orderly, but nobody was to applaud the 
speakers as a mark of approval or cry out "shame" to show 
disapproval. Ther!! were to be no cheers, no hand-clappings and 
complete stillness was to be observed. 

This code of discipline was not of the earth and certainly not 
India. It would appear that in the mood of unqualified perfec­
tionism in which he had embarked on his I1rst satyagraha cam­
paign all. a nationwide scale in India. he not only expected aU 
those who had taken the Satyagraha Pledge to conduct themselves 
as saints. but even tne lay supporters of the movement to act as 
saints when he should have known, none better, that even saints 
find it hard to be sainLly all the lime. This was a tragic if not 
"Himalayan" miscalculation, but it also accounted for that touch 
of the opera bOlrffe which the Times described a~ an inalienable 
feature of Indian politics while reporting that Gandhi had claimed 
(in the first issue of the Satyagrahi) that "owing to the ceaseless 
efforts of satyagrarus the mill~hands celebrated tile National Day 
[April 6] by working in their resp-:ctivc mjll~ as they were unable 
to get permission of their employers [to stop work J." 

Op(!ra boufft! or not, his presence in Bombay undoubtedly 
ensured tlUlt there were no serious incidents in Bombay proper. 
But obviously he could not be everywhere and when news of the 
eruption of violence in many towns and cities of India reached 
him, he was greatly dismayed C"peciaJly so because in tlle Bomb.lY 
Presidency some of the worst incidents had taken place in Nadiad, 
Viramgam and Ahmedabad on the outskirb of which Gandhi 
had his Sabarmati Ashram. The incidents at Ahmedabad were 
tile most serious though, living as we do in an age of violence 
when a football ground can become a field of carnage, they may 
seem relatively minor today. The authorities had resorted to 
Martial Law. Gandhi had been pondering over the ptOS and cons 
of tryin.g to go to Delhi in defiance of the prohibitory order. 
but events in Ahmedabad made him give up the idea and instead 
he decided to go to Ahmedabad with Anasuya Sarabhai, :;.ister 
of Ambalal Sarabhai, an extraordinary woman by any standard 
who had sided with the millworkers in their recent strike even 
though theoretical radical trade~unionists always remained 
suspicious of her approach to trade union work and her sympathy 
with the workers' cause. 

He arrived there on the morning of April 13 and i%ued 
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a "Message to People of Ahmedabad" soon after his arrjval. 
It was a brief message, partly intended to reassure the people 
lhat he had "suffered no kind of trouble" while he was under 
custody, though tbis was nOl strictly COrrect as his long letter to 
Stanley Reed of the Times ofilldia setting down the eXact version 
of his "arrest" and the way he was treated by the "sepoys" (not 
the English oftlcers), shows, Partly the message was meant to tell 
the people that until he heard of what had happened at Ahmeda­
bad which made him (and Anasuya Sarabhai) "exceedingly 
ashameo," he "was enjoying heavenly happiness". He laid them 
also that like them he wished the martial law to be lifted. But that, 
he said, "is in our own hands .... f want to show the key with 
which this can be done." To this end he would be holding a mass 
meeting at hig Ashram at four in the afternoon the next day and 
he instructed them how to get there and behave while in the 
As.hram. He ended by muking a claim which hostile critics could 
interpret as extremely disingenuous while friendly ones would 
regard as extraordinarily ingenuous. "I am so sure about satya~ 
graha," he said, "that. if the mistakes which have been committed 
here and at other places had not been committed. the Row!a.tt 
Bills would have been cancelled today." 

He probably believed this implicitly. But it bore little relation 
to political realities. He held the mass. meeting at Sabarmati 
Ashram duly the next afternoon and nJade what was for him 
a long speech in which he warned them against believing rumours. 
and again exhorted them about the need for strict non·violence. 
In some degree he sounded on the defensive. "It is alleged," he 
sa1d. "that f have, without proper consideration. persuaded thou­
sand" to join tbe movement. That allegation is. r admit. true to a 
certain extent. but to a Certain exent only. It is open to 
anybody to say that but for the satyagraha campaign, there would 
not have been this violence," He had already done "a penance" 
which to him was "unendurable"-postponcd his visit to Delhi 
"to seek re-arrest." But thi~ penance, and the imposing of cerrain 
rest.rictions on satyagraha, was not enough and he was going to 
fast for three days, adding, whether ironically or not is anybody's 
guess. that he believed "a seventy two hours' fast" was easier 
I' Of him "than a twenty four hours' fast for you," He asked 
all who had captured any weapons to surrender them and further 
that everybody should contribute "not less than eight annas. 
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towards- helping the families of those who have been kiUed by 
out {emphasis added] acts." 

The use of the word "our" in the context only underlines 
that he felt personally culpable. He had also decided that the 
families of any British person or persons who had been killed 
should receive some token payment from the fund to which 
he was asking people to contribute. This is clear from a letter 
he wrote to Chatfield. Collector of Ahmedabad, the next day 
requesting him for "the name and address of the serge.:.nt who 
was murdered during the tragic occurrenCes. "I understand," 
he wrote, "that there was only one English death. If there are any 
other English casualties, { should like to know them and the 
names and addresses of their families." 

It is not known whether G.E. Chatfield furnished Gandhi 
the information for which he had asked, Just then the British 
officials were not feeling particularly favourably disposed towards 
the Mahatma and he was aware ol'thls as may be judged from his 
letters to both Chatfield, and his superior, F.G, Pratt, Commis­
sioner of the Northern Division, Bombay Presidency, on April 
t 6. "Though the Government, if I understood Mr. Pratt rightly," 
he wrote to the Collector of Ahmedabad, "neither invite my 
sen'iCes IlOt desire it [sic.] even if rendered uninvited, as I said to 
Mr, Pratt, I must continue to render to the State what service 
I can according to my lights." 

During the five days he spent in Ahmedabad-he left fOr 
Bombay on April 17-he devotcd a good deal of his time to 
writing letters, two of them to Chelmsford's Private Secretary. 
Maffcy, One of them was a long one and the other a very brief 
note enclosing copies of his spceches in Bombay and Ahmeda­
bad, "both translations from the vernacular" either done by him 
or by others under his superviSIon. The longer lettcr to Malrey 
was written on the morrow of his arrival in Ahmedabad and 
reve'<lls how deeply he felt his own responsibility rcgarding the 
violent incidents ·which followed his "arrest", It strikes a note of 
contrition verging almost on masochistic self*inculpation. 

Gandhi begins by thanking Maffey for his letter Which, he 
says, "r have trcasured .. , as worthy of you and the friendship 
that J hope wiU ever exist between us," Presumably, Malley's 
tetter was the onc which Judith M_ Brown describes as '-friendly 
and at timcs teasing" because in a postscript to it he tdls Gandhi: 
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«Don't do too much fasting! You arc not strong enough yet and 
I am sure yours is an influence which we shall all want at full 
horse-power." This only served to heighten Gandhi's distress 
and unhappiness at what had happened in Ahmedabad. lie 
speak:; of it as "utter lawlessness bordering almost on Bol· 
shevism"-a description which suggest!. that the Mahatma had 
not remained unaffected by the anti~Sovict propaganda in the 
Western and Anglo·lndian Press which was already in fuJ] spate. 
But that apart, having pitched his expectations of a non-violent 
satyagraha campaign too high. he seemed excessively shocked­
or as he put it "humiliated"-to find that the satyagrahis were 
human, all too human, and failed to live up to the strict corle of 
discipline that he had laid down. His letter to Maffcy refleets 
his sense of dismay and anguish: 

[ see that lover-calculated the measure of permeation of 
satyagraha amongst the people. I underrated the power 
of hatred and ill will. My faith in satyagraha remains 
ul1diminished, but r am only a poor creature just as liable to 
err as any other, I ant correcting the error, 1 have s(lntewhat 
retraced my steps for the time being. Until I feel convinced 
that my co·workers can regulate and restrain crowds, and 
keep them peaceful. I promise to refrain from seeking to enter 
Delhi or the other parts of the Punjab. My satyagraha, therc~ 
fore, will. at the present moment. be directed against my own 
countrymen. 

This was an extraordinary statement to make and undertaking 
to give in the midst of a political struggle aimed at securing the 
withdrawal of the Rowlatt Act. But he combined it wilh taking 
the authorities to task for their "grievous blunder" to have 
prohibited him from going to Delhi and the Punjab. Surely. 
he tells Maffey, the Government of India knew him well enough 
to know that he was not OUt to "create any disturbance": 

I was going to DeihL Lahore and Amritsar-to the latter 
places, if certain conditions of mine had been fulfilled~rorthe 
purpose of insuring peat:e .... 1 feel sure that had 1 been able 
to proceed to these phtces, the awful occurrences could bave 
been avoided, and I think there would be perfect agreement 
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with me when I say that the mad incendiarism that has taken 
place in Ahmedabad would have never occurred, if the orders 
had not been served upon me. I venture to suggest therefore 
that the orders may be withdrawn. Rightly or wrongly. 
1 ~ecm to command, at the present moment, in an exccs.sive 
degree the respect and affection of the people all over India. 
The non~withdrawal of the orders would be resented by 
them. 

He was not being boastful, but telling the plain truth. To 
underline that he was most anxious to calm people down rather 
than excite their passions. he remarks. "[ have even refrained 
from describing them and the manner in which they [the orders] 
were served. I have even not corrected the inaccuracies that have 
appeared in the Press-inaccuracies which are designed to make 
light of my arrest." While about it. he look the opportunity to 
warn Maffey: 

The ferment among the Mahomedans is too great to be 
checked for ever. It may burst like a torrent at any moment 
and behind the present disturbances are to be tmced the' 
results of extreme dissatisfaction. It is not confined to classes. 
but it most decidedly permeates the masses. I venture to 
submit that it will be a most disastrous thing if the questions 
affecting Islam are not settled by the League of Nations in 
accordance with enlightened Mahomedan opinion. and I 
suggest that the Brothers Ali may be invited to give their 
opinion. You cannot do better than having the Brothers in 
London to give the Home Government the benefit of their 
advice. 

The chances of his suggestion being accepted by Delhi were 
about as real as the prospect of his appeal to Marrey to persuade 
the Government of "the desirability" of withdrawing the Rowl­
aU legislation being heeded. There seemed to be a curious air of 
unreality not only about the suggestions he put forward in his 
letter to Maffey. but even about the long letter which he wrote 
to Swami Shraddhanand before he left Ahmedabad for Bombay 
on April 17, and in which he set out to answer five questions 
about satyagraha and whether or O(lt its rules of discipline 
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applied also to "non¥~atyagrahis who join saLyagruha demonstftl­
tiO!15." How far at the time he knew in any detail the tragedy 
that was being enacted in the Land of Five Rivers'? 

The answer must be that Ite CQuld not have known it. Certainly. 
in Satyagruhi: n, dated April 14, there is a brief item headed 
"Punjab Deportations" and saying: "Serious disturbances 
have oc-curred at Lahore and Amritsar owing to the deportation 
of Drs. Kite-hlew and Satyapal." But there is nothing in this 
bald rcport even allowing for Gandhi's resolve to play the whole 
situation exceedingly cool, to suggest that he himself had any 
inkling of what was happening in the Punjab. Three days later. 
in his letter to Swami Shraddhull&nd, he returns to the theme 
or the Punjab but only to shrug off his own :.md the Satyagraha 
movement's responsibility for the event<;: 

I acquit ourselves of all blame so far as the happenings in 
the Punjab outside Delhi are concerned. They would have 
taken place without satyagraha. if Drs. Satya pal and Kitch­
lew had been arrested on any other occasion .... 

He admits, however, "that the events in the Punjab give 
us all indication as to our future course." He meant, of course, 
the abandonment of the campaign. at least temporarily, though 
he puts it in a rather round-about way which comes close to a 
somewhat Jesuitical mode of reasoning. While maintaining 
that "the movement can never be abandoned in the sense YOll 
have understood it," he declares in the next breath: "But our 
satyagraha may have to take. as it has already taken in Ahmeda­
bad, I;uch a turn that in popular language it will mean an aban­
donment'" Indeed, this is exactly what he announced the next 
morning all arrival in Bombay. Not only did he send a telegram 
to G.A. Nalesan in Madras teUing him that he had decided 
"w suspend civil disobedience temporarily," but issued a press 
statement to the same effect: 

It is not without sorrow that I feel compelled to advise the 
temporary suspension of civil disobedience. I give this advice 
not because 1 have less faith now in its efficacy, but because 
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I have, if possible. greater faith than before. It is my percep­
tion of the law of satyagraha which impel!> me to suggest 
suspension. I am sorry, when I embark(ld upon a mass move­
ment, r underrated the forces of evil and I must now pause and 
consider how best to meet the situation. 

But the "situation" he had in mind was the tragedy at 
Ahmedabad and Viramgam. not at Lahore. Amritsar. Kasu. 
or Gujranwala. For there is not eVen a passing reference to the 
agony or the Punjab. He must have been aware, no doubt, that 
Martial Law had been promulgated in lhe Punjab, but the only 
experience of Manial L'lw thal he had was of what he had seen 
being enforced in Ahmedabad which was a relatively mild affair 
compared to the reign of terror that bad been let loose in the 
Punjab even in anticipation of the official promulgation of the 
Martial Law as it happened. 

Gandhi could not have guessed. much less accurately known. 
the scenario for a Teal Iifc Grand Guignol that was unfolding in 
the Punjab. And for tbe good reason that an iron curtain had 
descended over the Province. and especially the neuralgic epicentre 
of turbulence, the Lahore Division, through which it wus impo!>sjM 
ble for any reliable news of what was happcning to percolate 
for several weeks. The order given by the Lt. Governor of 
the Punjab to tum back Gandhi at Kosi on April 9 was 
not just a whimsical decision of a man who had an allergy 
to nationalist leaders and did not want them poking their noses 
into the affairs of his jealously guarded pre!lerve. It was a calM 
culated act and part of a design to ensure that there was no relia­
ble witness anywhere near the scene of the crime whose testimony 
might carry some conviction with the world at hlrge. Whether 
or not Chelmsford was privy to the de~ign of the O'Dwyer 
regime, by agreeing lo keep Gandhi out of the Punjab and even 
Delhi wllere he Imd only lately visited him, and imposing the 
strictest censonhip of news, he certainly proclaimed ills com­
plicity in precipitating the gruesome tragedy and then prolong­
ing it. 

It is true that in London Edwin Montagu made some virtue 
of disingenuousness by passing on for publication the telegrams 
he was n!ceiving from the Viceroy daily. India publisbed them 
morc or less verbatim as also the despatches by Reuter and the 
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Timcs' man in Bombay, But aU these were careful!y doctored at the 
source; they were laconic in the extreme, and though they spoke of 
riots and casualties, nobody reading them could po~sibly gauge the 
horror which the terse and weasel phrases were meant to conceal 
rather than reveal. Indeed, after a few days they tended to become 
soporific, giving the impression tbat a[1 or nearly all was quiet 
on the Punjab front. Probably, the Secretary of State had access 
to fuller facts as has been suggested by some of the l<ttter-day 
writers on the subject. But if so he kept them to bimself and did 
not even share them with his parliamentary colleagues for 
reasons which mayor may not have all been honourable. At 
any rate. it was not until the first week of June 1919 that, 'IS 

Tagore was to put it in his letter to the Viceroy renouncing his 
knighthood as a gesture of protest, "the accounts of insults and 
sufferings undergone" by tbe people of the Punjab "have trickled 
through the gagged silence, reaching every corner of India." 

The news of how the Martial Law was being operated in the 
Punjab, of course, could not altogether be prevented from 
trickling through to the rest of India, despite the rigorotl<; 
censorship and restrictions on the movement of persons acros~ 
the border which had been clamped down in order to insulate 
the Province. As B,O. Horniman has related in his book AmrifSar 
and Ollr Duty IU India. the Bomhay Chronicle was able to publish 
an account of evellts in Lahore, written by "a highly respected 
citizen" of the capital of the Punjab who had managed 10 get to 
Bombay by way or Karachi within a few days. It was an act or 
deli.mee which probably finally decided George Lloyd, Governor 
of Bombay .• \ relatively ~obcr if dour mall as the provincial satraps 
of the day w(:nt, not only to arrest the writer of the account 
under the Defence of India Act, but also to serve a deportation 
order on Horniman himself and put him aboard the S.S. Takada 
at the cnd of April. 

However, Indian leaders-from Gandhi downwards-appear 
to have been inclined not merely to suspend judgtrnent on 
what the authorities were doing, but reluctant to believe the 
stories of horror that were being brought to them. Otherwise 
it is hard to understand why Gandhi went through the some· 
what fatuous ritual of sending a telegram to Chelmsford's Private 
Secretary on April 21, saying that he had just read an Associated 
Press report that "persons arrested for disobeying orders issued 
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under Martial Law were "bcing whipped in public streets" 
and hoping that there was "some explanation that would remove 
all cause for anxiety," and asking for assurance that the General 
Officer Commanding had not been given authority "to whip 
people publicly or privately." He could scarcely have expected 
a straightforward anSWer from Mutfey to this agonised pJea for 
assurance. 

For the Congress in any case the whole situation was both 
an embarrassment and a dh;traction. It had not wanted Gandhi 
to embark on his satyagraha adventure at all and was not officially 
prepared to shoulder the responsibility for it. At the same time, 
however. it could not close ils eyes and ears to the way the Martial 
Law authorities were running amok in the Punjab. The All~ 
India Congress Committee was, therefore, duty bound to take 
~ome cognizance of what was happening when it met in Bombay 
for two days on April 20-21. Gandhi was present aUhe meeting 
at which the political situation after the enactment of the Rowlatt 
legislation and. in particular, {he 11appenings in Delhi, Bombay 
and the Punjab were considered though the report of the General 
Secretaries is not Very forthcoming as to what part the Mahatma 
played in drafting the resolution or the work of the Sub-Com­
miuee which was appointed to prepare a statement in reply to 
the Communique issued by the Government of India a week 
earlier justifying the Black Act and condemning the agitation 
against it. The statement, as it had become customary by now, 
was duly cabled to the British Prime Minister, the Secretary of 
State for india, the Under~Secretary of State and wired to the 
Viceroy. 

Both the resolution, which protested against the passing 
of the Rowlatt Act "by official votes against unanimous protest 
of all non-official Indian members and in face of unparalleled 
opposition throughout the country," and the statement were 
ruther flaccidly worded. On the onc hand, they drew attention 
to certain acts of the authorities "which seemed obviously 
objectionable, such as the dropping of bombs from aeroplanes, 
usc of machine-gun and whipping": on the other hand, they 
condemned "the acts of violence against person and property 
committed at Amritsar and other places by excited mobs." 
They attr:buted these excesses, at least in part, to "the unwa~ 
rranted action taken against a man of such ~aintly character 
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as Mr. Gandhi" and wanted the Government of India "to wjth~ 
draw its own [order] and to ask the Punjab and Delhi authorities. 
to cancel their orders passed on Mr. Gandhi." 

This was an exercise in equidistance if not quite a judgement 
of Solomon. But the A.I.C.C.'s mind was as much on N.C. 
Kelkar's report regarding the progress made so far in selecting 
the members of the Deputation to be sent to England as on 
tbe massacre at Amrilsar or bombing of unarmed civilian popu­
lation in and around Gujranwala. For, according to the General 
Secretaries' report, "in view of tbe seriousness of the then political 
situation" some gentlemen, it was felt, "should be asked at once 
to proceed to England, whereupon onc of the General Secreta­
ries, the Hon'ble Mr. V.J. Patel and Mr. N.C. Kelkar olTered 
to sail by the next steamer." They actually did so on April 29, 
though the report is silent about the name of the boat. But appa­
rently it was not the S.S. Takada aboard which the distinguished 
Editor of the Bombay Chronicle had been offered a free if enforced 
passage to England. 

There seemed to be little sense of urgency among the Con­
.gress leadership except, perhaps, regarding the intentions. of the 
British Government concerning the Montagu-Chelmsford pro­
posals on constitutional reforms. The All-India Congress Com­
mittee did not meet for over six weeks after its meeting in 
Bombay. It met on June 8 at Anand Bbawan-the residence of 
MOlilal Nehru where 1;0 many historic meetings of the A.I.C.C. 
were to be held in the years to come-at Allahabad. Much 
water had flowed down the Ganga and the Yamuna since its 
preVious session. As the Congress General Secretaries' report 
rather dryly puts it: 

The promulgation of Martial Law in the Punjab, the ordi­
nance of the Governor-General, dated the 21st April, 
delegating powers to the Punjab Government Whereby any 
olTence committed on or after the 30th March could be 
transferred for trial to Martial Law Tribunals, the prohibi­
tory order against Mr. c.F. Andrew:>, the chosen representa­
tive of the Indian Press [the leading Indian owned news­
paper1i had appointed him as their special correspondent to 
report on the situation in the Punjab thinking that being a 
European the authotities may find it difficult to ban his entry 
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into the Province]. and the denial of the prisoners' right 
to choose their own counsel-these events necessitated ano­
ther meeting of the All-India Congress Committee .... 

This was rather an understatement. There were other 
compulsions at work for the A.LC.e. to meet and review the 
political situation in the country. By now it was in possession 
of fairly detailed information of what had happened and was 
happening under the Martial Law dispensation in the Punjab. 
The Martial Law Tribunals were dispensing rough and ready 
"justice" and liberally dishing out sentences of death and 
transportation for life, not just on humble and unknown per­
sons whom the security forces had rounded up, but some of the 
leading men in the political and social life of the Province. 
Added to the massacre of the innocents at lallianwala Bagh in 
AmrltsflT-exact number of casualties were stili not known, 
though everybody knew that within less than a quarter of an 
hour hundreds had been mown down-these further acts of 
insolent authority had moved Rabindranath Tagorc. who, as 
we know, had reservations concerning Gandhi's Satyagraha 
movement to address a letter to the Viceroy onlune 1,1919. 
asklng him to relieve him of his title of knighthood which had 
beell conferred on him by the King. In a language not only 
charged with dignified emotion, but which had upon it the 
stamp of "heroic truth", he had written: 

Knowing that our appeals have been in vain, and that the 
passion of vengeance is blinding the noble vision of states­
manship in our Government. .. the very least I can do for 
my country is to take all consequences \lpOn myself in giving 
voice to the protest of the millions of my countrymen, 
surprised into a dumb anguish of terror. The time has come 
when badges of honour make our shame glaring in the 
incongruous context of humiliation. and I for my part wish 
to stand shorn of all special distinctions. by the side of 
those of my countrymen who for their so caUed insigni­
ficance are liable to suffer a degradation not fit for human 
beings .... 

This was a gesture of dissociation from the Raj and all its 
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works, and the tawdry distinctions with which it bought loyalty, 
almost unique. There had been only one othercase--that of s. 
Subramania Iyer-of somebody renouncing Itis title of knight­
hood to register his political protest. But the impact of the 
Poet's renunciation was bound to be much greater and even 
reach beyond the shores of India. As the Manchester Guardian 
commented a month later when the tex.t of Tagore's letter rea­
ched it: 

It is a painful document, and, though it contains no details, 
it makes general statements so extreme and so disquieting as 
to the methods of repression recently adopted in India, that 
we can only hope they are exaggerated and are coloured by 
the deep and generous indignation of a man who feels that 
it is for him. as the most distinguished member of his race. 
to make their cause his own .. ,. To find him .. ,denouncing the 
measures of our Government in India with a vehemence 
obviously as sincere as it is wounding, is to be compelled to 
question our conscience and our conduct, or the conduct 
of those for whom this. country is responsible. Obviously. 
the matter cannot rest there. There must be an enquiry, and 
very independent and searching enquiry. 

The hope of the leader-writer of the Manchester Guardian 
that the Poet bad perhaps exaggerated was misplaced. Tagore 
had not exaggerated and by withholding details he had merely 
intended. like Gandhi, to avoid inflaming public anger while 
drawing the attention of the world to what Mr. Justice Rankin 
of the Calcutta High Court, who served on the Hunter Com­
mittee. while questioning one of the principal perpetrators of 
terror against unarmed civilians, was to describe as "resort to 
·frightfulne~s'." Coming on the eve of the A.I.c.e. meeting, 
Tagore's letter could not but place the Congress. leaders in some 
difficulty and even perhaps put them 011 their mettle. 

At all events the resolution~ the A.1.C.e. passed at its 
Allahabad meeting were more strongly worded than those at 
the Bombay sessio!1. Indeed, the refrain that ran through the 
main resolution-a long one whose clauses and sub-clauses ex­
hausted almost half of the letters of the alphabet, was one of 
protest and condemnation, with particular emphasis on the 
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acts of the Martial Law administration in the PUlljab. Only 
at one point did the Committee strike a note of approval. It 
said: 

The Committee note with satisfaction that the Viceroy and 
Mr. Montagu have recognised the necessity of an enquiry 
into the causes of unrest and into the complaints against the 
authorities of the use of exces~ive and unlawful force in 
relation to the recent occurrences in the Punjab; but in vieW 
of the fact that the policy of the Government of India and the 
GOvernment of the Punjab is illseparably connected with 
such unrest and complaint and must form the subject of 
investigation, the Committee earnestly request His Majesty's 
Government to constitute a Parliamentary Committee .... 

It abo wanted the enquiry to include in the scope of the 
enquiry "the policy of the Government of India and the Govern~ 
ment of the Punjab in dealing with the recent disturbances: 
Sir Michael O'Dwyer's regime jn the Punjab, with special re­
ference to the methods of recruitment for the Indian Army and 
the Labour Corps, the raising of the War Loan. the administra­
tion of Martial Law and the complaints of excessive and unlaw­
ful force by the authorities." It urged ill "the interests of justice 
and good government" that the enquiry should begin at an early 
date. While about it, it pressed for a number of other things­
the withdrawal of the Rowlatt Act, the deportation order on 
Horniman and the orders barring Gandhi's entry into Delhi 
and the Punjab. As usual. the President, Madan Mohan Mala­
viya, was authorise(l to cable these resolutions to the British 
Prime Minister, the Secretary and tlte Under-Secretary of 
State for India and also ask them to SUSPClld the "execution of 
all sentences passed by the Martial Law Commissioners pending 
the proposed enquiry" and transfer all cases of persons con­
victed by or under trial before Martial Law Commissions to 
ordinary courts. 

But by the time the A.I,e.C. met again-this time in Calcutta 
on July 19-20----primarily to decide on the venue of the next 
animal session of the Congress, it had not been vouchsafed 
sath,faction on any of the demands it had made. On the con­
trary, there was no indication that the Government was in a 
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hurry to announce its intentions as to the kind of enquiry it had 
in mind and who were to conduct it. Montagu had been deli­
berately vague and ambiguous. ir not devious, when, speakillg 
on the rndian Budget (for the sixth time, as he reminded the 
Commons, and devoutly hoping that it would be the last) 
on May 22. 1919, he had envisaged an enquiry into the distur­
ba.nces. He had remarked: "The Viceroy has always contem­
plated an enquiry, You cannot have disturbances of thi<:> kind 
and of this magnitude without an enquiry inlo the causes or and 
the measures taken to cope with these disturbances." 

But having whetted hope and expectancy, he was quick to 
administer a cold douche. '"But no announcement has been 
made of any enquiry up to this. moment;' he had added, "for 
this reason-let us talk of an enquiry when we have put the tire 
out. The only message which we send from this House today 
to India is a message of confidence in and sympathy with those 
upon whom the great responsibility hus fallen to rc~tore the 
situation. Then will come the time to hold an enquiry, not 
only to help us to remove the causes, but in order to dbpose 
once for all or some of the libellous charges which have beell 
made against British troops. and those upon whom the unplea­
sant duties in connection with these riots. have fallen." 

This was an ex.traordinary statement, the kind which even 
a Tory Secretary of State might have blushed to make. But by 
now Montagu was not only on the defensive, but hurrying on 
downhill even though Indian politicians, including Gandhi, 
were unable or unwilling to recognise lhis. The dilatoriness in 
announcing the enquiry, its scope and its personnel, was due, 
as soon became evident, to the anxiety of the administration 
over which he presided to protect the real fire-raisers, the 
O'Dwyers and the Dyers. when eventually the enormities they had 
perpetrated or had been responsible for b«:ame public know­
ledge. 

For it was not until September 3 that Chelmsford in a speech 
to the Imperial Legislative Council announced the appointment 
of a Commission or Committee of Enquiry into the Punjab 
troubles. But berore it was properly constituted on October 14. 
the bureaucratic cabal in Delhi h..d hastened to place on the 
statute book an Indemnity Act The Viceroy had given assent 
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to it on September 25, weI! ahead of the sittings of the Commi­
ttee of Enquiry under Lord Hunter. a former Solicitor~General 
of Scotland, To quote Judith M. Brown, "the Indemnity lcgi~­
l:ltian provided that nobody could sue an official fOf acts done 
under martial law, provided that the official had acted in good 
faith and with a reasonable belief that his actions were necessary 
for maintaining law and order: nor could anyone imprisoned 
under martial law sue for wrongful imprisonment or gain re­
lease by habeas corpus proceedings." 

Thi~ was very much like making Sllre of eating one's cake 
and having it, too. True, Gandhi was willing to suspend judge­
ment on the indemnity legislation for rather involved reasons. 
He might wet! have thought that truth about what had been 
done under the Martial Law was more likely to come out if the 
officials who had administered rough justice were assured they 
were not irlcriminating themselves by the evidence thcy gave. 
He certa.inly at the time had a touching faith in British justice 
or rather believed (as he said in an article in Young india of 
September lO, 1919) that "where Englishmen have not formed 
preconceived notions or where they have not gone. as aU of us 
sometimes do go, mad over some things:. they dispense fearle5~ 
justice and expose wrong even though the perpetrators may be 
their own people." But not many eVen of his friends took quite 
the same view. Indeed. even the Hberal and radical opinion in 
Britain thought the indemnity legislation a shabby trick and cer· 
tainly "un-British", As the Dai~11 News commented: "The 
Composition of the Commission [of Enquiry} taken together 
with the threatened Act of Indemnity, is the provision for a 
complete whitewashing of the official policy ill the Punjab. By 
!.uch British tactics lhe British name in India is besmirched." 
This surmise turned out to be largely true. 

The All-India Congress Committee meeting al Calcutta, 
the last to be held before the annual se~sion, had not taken up 
the matter of the Congre:.s venue but merely "expressed the 
hope that it would slill be possible to hold the next Congrclis at 
Amritsar:- At the end of July, this seemed rather a bold hope. 
For although the M<lrtial Law was withdrawn on June 10, ex­
cept for the railway property, conditions in the Punjab and es­
pecially in Amritsar seemed hardly propitious for holding a 
Congress session. For instance, orders banning Gandhi's entry 
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into the Punjab were still operative; most of the Ptmjab Con~ 
gress. leaders were still under lock and key, sentenced by the 
Martia! Law tribunals to transportation tor life-and some even 
to death; lhe Press was muzzJed and some of i1s distingubhed 
editors-Kalinath Roy of the Tribune who had made his paper 
a name to conjure with in Indian journalism, for one-were in 
prison. 

Gandhi himself had not attended either the A.J.C.C. meeting 
at Calcutta or the one held at Allahabad six weeks earlier. He 
was otherwise preoccupied althoug.h some of Il.is activities atld 

decisions throughout the summer months could not but have 
caused bewilderment to hls followers and provided much use­
ful ammunition to his critics and detractors, the principal among 
them being Annie Besant and some of Tilak's supporters like 
G.S. Khaparde, who felt that whatever his claims to saintliness 
he was too erratic to be (rusted with political leadership. Thus 
having suspended civil disobedience only a fortllight after laun~ 
ching it because it had led to aCh of violence. before people had 
time to digest the implication of this retreat, in the Sutyagraha 
Leaflet No. 15 published on May 5 he had decided that Sunday, 
May II. should be a day of hartal or cessation of work and 
business accompanied by 24 hours' fast and "private religious 
devotion in every home," This was intended to show people's 
feeling of grief at the deportation of B.G. Horniman. This deci~ 
sion at least was intelligible because it related to a specific 
act of gross inju~tice to an individual, the Editor of a leading 
journal. whose only sin was that he had identified himself 
'with the aspiration!; of the Indian people. 

But even before the calling of harra! as a gesture of protest 
against and solidarity with Homiman, in Satyagraha Lea­
flet No. 12. he had remarked that many had been asking him, 
"When is sUlyagralm going to be re!;umed?" He said he had 
two answer." to the question: "One is that Satyagraha has not 
at all ceased, As long as we practice truth, 311d ask others to do 
so, fI.() long satyugraha can never be said to have ceased." The 
second answer seemed almost ~uperelogatory and he merely 
said that "jf the Rowlatt legislation is not withdrawn in the 
meantime. we may resume civil disobedience by the beginning 
of July next." But July came and there was no indication that 
Civil Disobedience campaign was going to be resumed. On the 
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contrary on July 21 he wrote a Ictter to the Press saying, 
"The Government of India have given me, through His Excell­
ency the Governor of Bombay, grave warning that resumption 
of Civil Disobedience is likely to be attended with serious consc­
quene!:!s to the public security. This warning has been reinforced 
by His Excellency the Governor himself at interviews to which 
I was summoned. In response to this warning and (0 the urgent 
desire pubUcly expressed by Dewan Bahadhur Govinda Rag­
hava lyeT, Sir Narayan Chandavarkar and several editors, I 
have, after deep consideration, decided not to resume Civil Re­
sistance fOT the time being." 

On the face of it. this scarcely added up to a cogent and 
convincing argument for not resuming: the Satyagraha campaign 
over the Rowlatt Act. After all, before he had launched the 
campaigll lhere had been no deartb of warnings from the Go~ 
vernment as well as well~meanjng moderate politicians, jnclu~ 

ding some for whom Gandhi had the highes.t regard, about the 
threat to public security and peace which civil disobedience 
might pose. It is true. no doubt, that after the outbreak of vio­
lence in Ahmedabad. Delhi and the Punjab in the first few days 
of Satyagraha there was need for greater caution and heeding 
the warnings. But the outbreak of violence had been partly due 
to the provocative acts of the authorities to which the Viceroy 
had been a party, among them his "arrest"' and orders banning 
his enlry into Delhi and the Punjab. Indeed. he had himself 
implied as much in his letter to Malfey. Chelmsford's Private 
Secretary. 

What is more. when he had announced the possibility of re­
suming the Civil Disobedience campaign in the Satyagraha 
leaflet No. 12 early in May and indicated that it might be in 
July, he could not have been unaware of the altendant risks. 
But in spite of that as late as July 1, he had informed the Bom~ 
bay Police Commissioner that he would break the orders res~ 
training him within the Bombay Presidency unless the Govern~ 
ment gave some intimation of change in its stand on the Rowlatt 
legislation. n is hardly to be wondered that many satyagrahis 
could not understand wby he had chMged his mind and some 
two hundred of them met him in Bombay on July 26 and ques­
tioned him about his decision to abandon the idea of a second 
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Civil Disobedience campaign and were by no means wholly 
convinced by the explanations be gave them. 

However. puzzling though it was, the retreat from the Civil 
Disobedience campaign could at lea:o>t be justified on tactical 
and pragmatic grounds. What was even more puzzling was 
Gandhi's position~or lack of it-oo the atrocities that had bee[l 
committed in the Punjab. He was perfectly willing almost from 
{he word go to take up individual cases of those who. he felt. 
had been convicted and sentenced wrongly. He had begun to 
campaign against the sentence of two years' rigorous imprison­
ment passed under secHon 124A of the Indian Penal Code, 
which covers sedition, by the Martial Law Commission on 
KaHnath Roy, Editor of the Tribune. both through the two new 
papers he had acquired-Young india and Narajil'(l11 [New Ufel­
and also by organising petitions and memorials to the Viceroy and 
himself pleading with the authorities to have the sentence ~t 
aside or reduced, in which he was eventually successful as, indeed. 
the case of the Editor of Pratap, an Urdu daily of Lahore. 
Radha Krishna. 

Towards the end of July, he was obvious.ly upset by judge­
ments given by the Martial Law Tribunals at Lahore and Amrit­
sar involving some of the leading political Ilgures in the Punjab­
Harkishen Lal, Dunichand, Chaudhry Rambhuj Dutt (all 
lawyers) and Dr. Kitchlew (also a Barrister) and Dr. Satyapal 
(a medical practitioner) of Amritsar, not to mention less well 
known persons, like Allah Din. Mota Singh and Jagannath. 
They were charged under Section 121 and 121A of the Indian 
Penal Code which concerned the waging of war or attempting 
to wage war "against the Queen". All of them had been sen­
tenced to transportation for life and forfeiture of property. 
He felt So ~trongly about the s.entences that he actually publi­
shed the judgement given by the Martial Law Tribunal at Lallore. 
running to 27 foolscape pages, in the columns of Young india 
so that readers could read it and judge for themselves that the 
men had been wrongly sentenced and the judgement was poli­
tically biased. 

This made it even more surprising that while even Srinivasa 
Sastri had no hesitation in describing some of the things done 
under lhe Martial Law as "barbarous", Gandhi refused to com~ 
mont, on the gTound. as Judith Brown remarks rightly. "thut he 
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had inadequate evidence." Indeed. he seemed almost to take 
some pride in retraining to say anything about the happenings 
in the Punjab. As he wrote to Maffey on May 16, "I have said 
not a word about the events in the Punjab, not because I have 
up to now not thought or felt oVer them, but because [ have 
not known what to believe and what not to believe." It coul<1 
be that his restraint in this matter was actuated by the hope 
that the Government would be more willing to concede his 
pleas on specific cases of flagrant miscarriage of justice. 

If so, it was a delusive notion. The Government, especially 
Chelmsford and the Governor of Bombay, George Lloyd. 
while determined to deal firmly with him if he became too 
obstreperous, saw some advantage in keeping him in good 
humour if it could be done by small gestures of seemingly sincere 
courtesy towards him. This is dear from a letter MatTey wrote 
to him on May 7. 1919, after the outbreak of hostilities with 
Afghanistan: 

The Afghan news will surprise you, Excited by grossly 
exaggerated stories of disorders in India, the hot-headed, 
inexperienced Amanullah has decided that 'the Afghan 
sword shall shine in India', It is a new complication, Mili­
tarily it is not a serious proposition for us and we are doing 
our best to act with all restraint towards this young man in 
his midsummer madness., .. Can we look to you for help? 
I believe you could be of immense assistance in stabilizing 
Jndian opinion. 1 am writing this of my own initiative though 
I shall show it to the Viceroy ... , 

This was not the first time Maffey had written to Gandhi 
<>0 his "own initiative" but shown what he had written, to 
Chelmsford-an exceJlent way of conveying the approval of his 
chief without involving him in any responsibility. Anyhow 
Gandhi at this stage was always more than willing to help the 
Government in awkward situation. "I had before the receipt 
of your letter," he replied to MalTey. "already begun to move 
in my own way in the direction of securing a peaceful atmos­
phere within our own border ... ' I need hardly assure yOIl that 
the whole of my weight will be thrown absolutely on the ~ide of 
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preserving internal peace." But he pointed out. rather ingen­
uously. "But my weight will be absolutely nothing if I receive 
no support from the Government. The support I need is a 
satisfactory declaration on the Mahomedan question and with­
drawal of the Rowlatt legislation. If it is possible to give this 
support, I feel thut you could have without a shadow of a 
doubt a contented India, I hope, I do not irritate by mention­
ing these two matters," 

But the Viceroy was not interested in haVing a contented 
India at that price. It was Chelmsford, as we know, who had 
insisted on an unwilling Secretary of State for India giving the 
all clear to the Rowlatt legislation. As for Afghanistan. the 
trouble proved to be a passing cloud and tbe British were able to 
claim a military victory though. as IJtdia was to comment (the 
comment was written by Horniman), it was young AOlanuliah 
who was to claim that he had won the political laurels. [n re­
turn for waiving his claim to the subsidies that the British paid 
him. out of Indian revenue, to keep the tribals in order, he 
asserted his right to be his own master in Afghanistan's foreign 
relations-a right which he was soon to eXercil'e by signing a 
treaty with the young Soviet State and setting about modern· 
izing his kingdom, much to the chagrin and annoyance of the 
Britisb Government wbich had its revenge on him by encourag· 
jng a tribal revolt against him leading to his downfall some 
years later. 

Altogether Gandhi's !,ilence over the enormities which had 
been committed in the Punjab, whatever its logic or rationale 
ddiving. from his ethics of siltyagraha, !.:Quid not but baffle and 
even pain those who had been at the recci\'ing end of the Mar· 
lial law dispensation. His excess of caution in making: up his. 
mind over the res.ponsibility for the Punjab tragedy was reflee· 
ted in his somewhat eccentric reaction to Tagore's letter to the 
Viceroy asking to be relieved of his knighthood, Before launch­
ing the Satyagraha Campaign he had been very keen to get the 
Poet's blessing for it, but that, as we know, had not been forth­
coming; and one must assume that somewhere deep down in 
his heart Gandhi had felt a scnlie of disappointment, though 
he never admitted it-not eycn to hims.elf. One might have 
expected him to welcome Tagore's geslUre. But not so, or 
course, he published the text oj' the letter in Y (lung India of 
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June 7. But the only comment he made on it of which there is 
record is in hi:; Ictter to Srinivasa Sastri written a day earlier. 
"The Punjab horrors," he wrote "have produced a burning 
letter from the P-oet. r personally think it is premature. But he 
cannot be blamed for it." It must have been Tagorc's turn to be 
disappointed, though. again, there is nothing to suggest that he 
ever voiced it. 

Other examples of Gandhi Laodiceanism over the Punjab 
happenings during the summer months of 1919 can be recalled. 
But that is not the point. The point is that in accepting Gandhi's 
leadership--and he was the only leader who was to effect the 
transition from the politics of submission to the politics of active 
resistance-the people of India had to accept his apparent eccen­
tricities and learn to live with them as eventually they did. It 
was part of his strange way of functioning that while he was 
withholding comment on "the Punjab horrors", he was trying 
to persuade the Governor of Bombay. Chelmsford and, it seems, 
even Montagu to take the Swadeshi vows. What they rcally 
made of it is anybody's guess. 

However, there is Ii time for everything and lhe moment 
of truth on what had happened in the Punjab under the Martial 
law came in the autumn of 1919, though it was not till Decem­
ber that the veil was lifted for the British public, or at least that 
part of it which had attention to spare for the affairs of the 
Jewel in the Crown, to see what had been done in their name. 
On September 3, 1919, the Viceory announced that a Commis­
sion was being appointed to go into the question of the Pun­
jab troubles. The announcement did not evoke much enthu~ 
siasm either among the Indian members of the Imperial Legis­
lath'c Council where it was made or the country at large. Indian 
opinion, moderate or otherwise, had wanted either a Par!iamen~ 
tory Committee or a Royal Commission to enquire inlo theevenls 
in the Punjab and elsewhere. But the Hunter Committee was 
the creation of the Indian Government which was a party in the 
litigation. Indian leaders. whether moderates or "Extremists", 
wanted nobody connected with the Indian administration to sit 
on the investigating body. The names announced by the Vice~ 
roy included W.F. Rice, Additional Secretary to the Govern­
ment of Inuia, Home Department. as well as Sir George Barrow, 
Officer Commanding the Pl:!~hawar Division. Thus both the 
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Department of the Administration directly connected with 
authorising the imposition of Martia.l Law and the Army which 
implemented it would be acting as judges in a case in which 
they were also the party on trial. To make security doubly sec­
ure, an Indemnity Bill was rushed through before the Commit· 
tee or enquiry began its investigation. The composition of 
the Committee further made certain that it should divide on 
racial Hoes. It had five European members and three Indjan. 
This was all,o to ensure that it should be largely ,t wbitewas.hing 
as weI! as a toothless. body. 

The only Indian leader willing to givc .it the benefit of the 
doubt was the Mahatma. But even his indulgence seemed to be 
ex.hausted when he and the Congress President, Madan Mohan 
Maiaviya. pleaded in vain with the Lt. Governor of the Punjab­
Edward Maclagan had replaced O'Dwyer at lhe end of May, 
despite the O'Dwyer lobby's desperate attempt to have his 
term extended-to allow at least some of the Punjab leaders who 
had been sentenced to heavy tenns of imprisonment to attend 
and sit in the Committee room "even as prisoners under cus­
tody to a~sist and instruct Counsel in the same manner as the 
Government Counsel was instructed by the officials whose 
conduct was under investigation of the Disorders inquiry C<r 
mmittee." A similar req\lest to the chairman of the Commit­
tee, Lord Huntcr. by Madan Mohan Malaviya was also turned 
down. He, therefore. agreed that the Sub.Committee of the 
Congress set up at the A.I.C.C. meeting at Allahabad to which 
he had been co-opted should itself appoint a Committee to con­
duct its own investigation into lhe Punjab disorders and submit 
a Report. It was probably the first time that the Congress. had 
takcn it upon itself to carry out a parallel investigation on a 
maner of public importance having failed to get any s.atisfac­
tion from the Government. 

However, for all ils transparent limitations and packed 
though it was with men whom lhe Government considered safe 
and reliable enough to turn out an anodyne Report at the end 
of the day. the proceedings of the Hunter Committee developed 
a curious logic and momentum of their own as Galldhi had 
perhaps intuitively guessed they might. Enough dirty~jndeed 
bJood-soaked-Unen was to come out in the wash a.nd exposed 
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to tbe public view as to prove highly damaging to the Raj and its 
self·esteem. The shock of recognition of its Cali ban image was 
all the greater because of what looked like a systematic cons­
piracy of concealment in which both Delhi and Whitehall were 
involved in almost c4ual degree. India may have been exag~ 
gerating when it wrote on December 19: 

Great Britain has never been so ~tunned about the condi­
tion of India since the days of the Mutiny as she has been 
this week. At last the veil of official and parliamentary 
evasions has been rent and ghastly details of the massacres 
of reprisals are coming to the light of the day. it is difficult 
to find a parallel for it in history unless it be the massacres 
of St. Bartholomew or of Glencoe with which it will take a 
sinister place in history. 

It was all the same an exaggeration dose enough to trutb 10 be 
permissible. 

Surprising.ly, even afteT incriminating evidence began to 
come out at the public hearings by the Hunter Committee-and 
all but three of the witnesses were heard in public, the three 
excertions being Michael O'Dwyer. the Lt. Governor of the 
Punjab at the relevant time, General Havelock Hudson. the 
Adjutant~General of the Indian Army. and an ultra toyaH!>t of 
the Raj Umar Haynt Khan Tiwa.na, whose evidence was given 
ill camera--there was a naive attempt to soften the impact by 
doctoring the reports of the evidence heard by the Hunter Co­
mmittee, especially those meant for foreign consumption. This 
explains why it took nearly six weeks even after the Commit­
tee had begun its .... ork tor the shattering facts to hecome public 
property in Britain~-and that, too, only because one British 
newspaper, incredibly, the Daily Express, was able to publisb 
more or less verbatim the evidence given by the man whose 
name came to be associated directly with the responsibility for 
the Jallianwalla Bagh massacre-Brigadier-General R.E.H. Dyer. 

The responsibility, of course, was very widely shared though 
Dyer's wa:. the word of command which within ten minutes did 
to death-a pharse which he is reported to have used in his evi­
dence though his admiring biographers claim that he denied 
having ever descended to such "babil English"-at a conservative 
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estimate 379 persons and left another 1200 wounded. on the 
field of carnage. young and old, men and women and children 
alike. ta fend far themselves. But reconstruction of what hap­
pened in the Punjab and why during the first fine frenzy of the 
Martial Law rule does not come within the scope of this work. 
In any case, a considerable body of literature of various kinds­
academic, journalistic and apologetic-written both by [ndiUM 
and the British on the subject already e};lsts even though much 
of it leaves one with a sense of frustration because it fails singLL­
larly to evoke the human tragedy buried under tbe administra­
tive technicalities and statistical data. But thell to do that any 
writer on the theme would bave to possess something of the 
imaginative and narrative reach of a Tolstoy and the psycholo­
gical insights of a Dostoevsky which is a very tall order. 

For our present purpose it suffices to say that a rale, almost 
lethal conjuncture and combination of the psychopathologies 
of individuals in power at thc various levels and the built-in 
conceits and callOSIties of the system of government not only 
produced the catastrophe but magnified it. The Punjab was 
one of the last regions of india to be annexed by the British. 
It was, mOreover, seen as a sensitive border region which had to 
be specially guarded. The system of "bureaucratic despotism" 
in other parts of India mny have got mellowed in the course of 
time. But not so :n the Punjab. No liberal impulse was ever 
allowed to taint the sOMcalled Punjab tradition of paternalistic 
rule. Kipling, who did his journalistic stint in Lahore on the 
Cirit and Military Gazelle, was the literary hero of the Punjab 
Conwlission and his conception or the "native" as "half devil 
and half child" was believed implicitly by the British officiah of 
lhe Punjab cadre, with bUl rare exceptions. In the early months 
of [919 they were convinced "the devil" was about to run loose. 
thanks to the molly-coddling policies of liberal politicians at 
home. headed by that "crooked Jew", Edwin Montagu. The 
devil had to be exorcised and lhe Martial Law regime offered 
an excellent opportunity for doing so. 

The mh,fortune of the PWljab was compounded by the fortuiw 
tous presence in key positions-from the top downwards-of men 
who verged on being psychiatric cases. It was not just that 
O'Dwyer was "a pugnacious Uistcrnlan", as Montagu described 
him, though that expl:lincd something, but a man who bad never 
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entertained a generous thought about India and had contempt 
for the educated classes because they dm"cd ask for dClllocrati..: 
rights and institutions. As he told Montagu when he appeared 
hefore the Joint Select Committee of the two Houses of Parlia­
ment on October 7, he wanted "autocracy, pure and simple"' 
and "accepted the August 20. 1917. statement only as a Go­
vernment servant," Indeed. it would not be difficult to marshal 
incontrovertible evidence to prove that he and others or his kid­
ney had made up their minds to seize any opportunity that 
mme their way. or create olle, to sabotage the Montagu-Chel­
msford reforms trivial though they were. But at this distance in 
time that is hardly worth the effort. 

The team that he had working under him could not have 
been improved upon if the intention was to set the Punjab 
aflame. There was, for instance, Lt. Col. FrnnkJohnson, D,S.O .. 
who was put in charge of the Martial Law administration in 
Lahore where, as the official report embodied in the White 
Paper presented to Parliament in Britain acknowledged, the 
turning of the screw was "marc intensive" than elsewhere, He 
had some experience to help him do this. He had worked for 
some years in South Africa-in the protectorate of Bechuanaland 
to be exact-and applied Martial Law among the Africans, sjam4 

bok et (11. As he proudly told the Hunter Committee, he had 
"been longing fOr an opportunity to show the people of the 
Punjab the might of Martial Law." And he did. Even his entry 
into the city was characteristic of him, "at the head of a column 
of troops, with aeroplanes preceding it at low altitudes with 
orders to drop bombs on the unarmed civilian population the 
moment signal was given by the firing of the troops." But as it 
happened "no targets in the shape of meetings or crowds pre­
sented themselves." 

But at Gujranwala Col. O'Brien who was the Martial Law 
authority made good use of the aeroplanes which O'Dwyer 
had thoughtfully despatched as soon as he heard of troubles 
there. Major Carberry of the RAF, who was in charge of the 
operation, however, dropped bombs not on any rioters at Guj­
rl1nwala. He did so over a village outsiue the town on a largc 
party of pcople "believing" as the official report helpfully put 
it. that they were "rioters going or coming from the city." Not 
content with dropping two bombs, he opened up at them with the 
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machine-gun, firing 255 rounds as they were fleeing. He was 
ilying at a height of about 200 feet ~o that quite a few of the 
machine-gun bullets must have struck home. He added to the 
day's good deeds by dropping two bombs on another village, 
though. it seems, only one of them exploded. 

Ingenious forms of punishment were designed and inflicted 
on the innocent and the gUilty alike with exemplary impartiality. 
The man who dispensed Martial Law in the three districts of 
Gujnral, Gujranwala and Lyallpur issued an order "compelling 
schoolboys to parade three times a day to salute the flag. The 
order applied to the infant classes and children of five and six 
years of age were included." In some cases this drill included 
a curious exercise in perverted Coueism. The children were asked 
to repent even for sins they bad not committed. They were made 
to rC/'Iel1t, "I l41vC ('ommi/led 110 offence. 1 wil! not commit ally 
offence. 1 rcpellf, J repent, I repent." Little wonder that a certain 
Bosworth-Smith. a civilian officer in command, at Sheikhupura. 
thought that what was sauce for children in ethical con­
ditioning should be sauce rOr grown-ups, too. He admitted in 
his evidence that he had suggested that "a House or Repen­
tence" should be erected at Sangla (Hill). And doubtless it 
would have been erected ir Martial Law had lasted long enough. 

Even without the sadism released by the Martial Law. the 
Punjab administration prided itself on its toughness. Michael 
O'Dwyer had boasted that his fief had provided more than a 
third of the recruits during the war. He did not go into the 
amiable techniques of recruitment. Undoubtedly, many young 
PlJ,njabis hlld gone into the armed forces under economic com­
pulsions. Others were lured into military service by contractors 
in cannon·fodder who were duly rewarded for services rendered 
with grants of laml. and titles. But towards the close of the 
war methods indistinguishable from those of the press-gangs 
Were used. 

Martial Law had freed the administrators from any lingering 
inhibitions dictated by the human heart. This was not only 
revealed by the enormities committed in moments of panic. 
but in the generally cool and thoughtless reClcxive brutality of 
response. Thus J.E. KCQugb, an Extra Assistant Commissioner, 
who had been free with onlcrs of flogging in public, when 
asked by the Hunter Committee whether he haLl. ascertained from 
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those whom he had sentenced to whipping if they would prefer. 
the option of payingfincs, replied nonchalantly: "I was not out 
to see their preferences. r was carrying out my duty." 

"Duty", Wordsworth could bardly have imagined what 
crimes welC going to be pcrpctlated in the name of what he 
conceived to be "the stern daughter of the voice of God." For 
the word was readily to spring to the lips of the man who came 
to epitomize for fodia, and to some extent the \'w'ider world. 
what Mr. Justice Rankin. who served 011 the Hunter Commit­
tee ,Was, politely and almost apologetically, to suggest might be 
called "frightfulness."-Brigadier-General R.E.H. Dyer, or 
Rex as he wa" known to his intimates. In his day and season. 
and for some years after his death in the summer of 1927. Dyer 
was at the centre of an acute political controversy which divided 
British opinion. Liberal Britain saw in him and his deeds the 
embodiment of that "Prussianism" which the First World War 
was supposed to have been fought to extirpate once for all. This~ 
New SlatesnulII pointed out was too facile an alibi and salve 
for the liberal conscience. It wrote in mid·December 1919 when 
eight months after the event its full horror became known in 
Britain: 

Everybody, it appears. is inexpressibly shocked by the story 
of the Amritsar Massacre. To treat the incident as a unique 
outrage due to the accidental presence on the spot. and in 
temporarily superior authority, of a peculiarly brutal type 
of soldier, is to overlook its real significance. But what 
General Dyer did is probably no more than what nine 01fi~ 

cers out of ten would have done under the circumstances. 
provided they had his courage. 
We have set out the facts in this manner not in order to 
defend General Dyer's action or minimize the horror of the 
massacre, but rather as a protest against the idea that the 
British public can eScape its responsibility in the matter 
by de-nouncing the particular officer as cruel and demand· 
ing his punishment. Fundamentally, the Amritsar Massacre 
was the necessary corollary of the condition of British rule 
in Tndia. Tf General Dyer had not been there to fire upon 
the crowd. some other soldier would have done it. Another 
man might have been content to kill fewer people and might 
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have concerned himself with the subsequent care of the 
wounded, but almost certainly in the circumstances he would 
have shot and shot to kill. The truth which cannot and must 
not be ignored or evaded. is that we hold India by the sword 
and rule her by fear, Having admitted it-inevitably-as 
the foundation of our rule in India we cannot evade respon­
sibitity for the consequences by making scapegoat of General 
Dyer .... 

Not that every body in Britain was happy over making Dyer 
the scapegoat. On the contrary, the Right generally not merely 
its lunatic fringe, lionized Dyer and !':law in him the "saviour" 
not just of the Punjab. bUl the "Empire" in India. It raised 
twenty-six thousand pounds, quite a fortune at the time, by 
public subscription to compensate him for having been wrongly 
hounded out of the army prematurely and as token of apprecia­
tion of his good work. Nor has he lacked literary admirers and 
apologists among whom is to be found so unlikely a person as 
Edwatd Thompson, Tagore's friend and biographer, who in 
his A Urtt:r from Illdia worked hard to emit around and discover 
some extenuating reason or circumstance for his act. This is 
understandable. 

What is less understandable is that no Indian, to the best of 
the present writds knowledge. has taken the trouble to study 
in any depth the man who was ahle to mow down hundreds of 
unarmed men, women and even children within a few minutes 
and issued the infamous "crawling order" to anybody entering 
a' lane - Kuehn Kaurianwala-in Amritsar where a Miss Mar­
cell;:t Sherwood, the Superintendent of the City Mission School, 
had been brutally attacked by a "mob" two days before Dyer 
took over from the civilian authorities. Not that he personified 
evil in the humankind on a grand scale. Even Ian Colvin in 
his biography of the man could not quite succeed in blowing 
him up and his deeds to heroic proportions. Indeed, the terrible 
paradox is that but for this one episode in his career. Dyer would 
hardly have merited a footnote in small print in the history of 
India though no dOUbt he would have been remembered in the 
catalogue of the British Library by his solitary literary effort~ 
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The Raiders of the Sar/wd, But, unhappily, utterly banal, foot~ 
ling and even pathetic individuals can inflict, or be instrumental 
in intHeting sutTering beyond all measures on other human be­
ings as Dyer was able to during the few days in April 1919 when 
he was lord and master of Amritsar and its environs. 

It has been suggested by way of an explanation and atmost 
an excuse of '·his action at the latlianwala 8agh, and the con­
flicting reasons he gave for it"-actually they werenotconfljct­
iog at all but of a picce with his character~that he was already 
suffering fcom "arterial sclerosis" and Rupert Furneaux in his 
Massacre at Amrilsar invokes the case of R. v. Kemp. where Mr. 
Justice Devlin (now Lord Devlin) in 1957 ruled that the 
McNaughton Rules of diminished responsibility due to insanity 
applied to a man who suffered from arteriosclerosis. The 
McNaughton Rules probably did apply to Dyer, not so much 
because of his. medical history, as his psychological history and 
multiple layers of an inferiority complex which in moments of 
stress reached a paranoid intensity. 

Born and bred in India, youngest of the five sons in a large 
family of nine children. Dyer could not quite claim the pukka 
sahib background. His father, Edward, was in the brewery 
business and had "prospered catering for the raging thirsts of 
Hindustan" or at least of the British establishment. He was 
also. we learn, "a second generation Anglo Indian," in the 
old sense of the term which did not necessarily imply a mixed 
or mixed-up genealogy. Nor did Reginald Dyer enjoy the bene­
fit. if a benefit it was, of education in one of the public schools in 
England. This deficit rankled with him. For he felt that despite 
his capacity for hard work-a few months before the Indian 
National Congress was founded he had passed out of Sandhurst 
with "proficiency in Military Law and Tactics"-andhis apti­
tude for learning indian languages, he had made only slow pro­
gress up the military ladder when with the right social connec­
tions and help of the Old School Tie network he could have gone 
much further, much faster as he believed he desetved to. After 
all. he had been a contemporary of Douglas Haig and AlIenby 
at the Staff CQllege at Camberley and did not regard himself 
as inferior to them in any way. Rather the reverse. 

Then! was another psychological problem with him. In 
his boyhood he suffered from an impediment in his speech. 
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This, apparently, causeu "a mild amusement" among the Irish 
when, together with one of his brothers, he was sent to school 
at Middk:ton, County Cork, in Southern Ireland. Dyer was 
not amused. He was determined to overcome the impediment. 
"He spent tong hours alone in the woods," writes Arthur 
Swinson in Ilis Six Minutes To SLlllset, "doing special exercises" 
until no trace of the stutter remained. But his horror of being 
laughed at was not 1.0 easy to get rid of. It remained with him 
anu it is not fanciful to suggest played some part in the decision 
he took on that fateful afternoon of April 13 when he marcheu 
hi ... mixed force to the lallianwala Bagh, positioned them at the 
only possible entrance to and exit from the site, and without 
warning or onlcring the crowd 10 disperse, commanded the sol~ 
diers to open fire on Ihe meeting and go on shooting till their 
nmmunition was virtually exhausteu. 

This is abundantly clear from the evidence he was 10 give 
before the Hunter Committee ..... itha certain air of braggadocio. 
Questioned by Lord Hunter himself whether he had any reason 
"to suppose that if you had ordered the assembly to leave the 
Bagh, they would not have done so without the necessity of your 
firing, continued firing for a length of time," his answer was 
quite simple and straightforward. "Yes:" he said, "I think it 
quite possible that [ could have dispersed them even without 
firing." Lord H.mter persisted and a~ked him why he had not 
adopted that cour ... e. Dyer replied, "1 could not disperse them 
for some lime." But evidently economy in time was not his 
only or even main concern. For he went on to add: "Then they 
would all come back and laugh at me [our emphasis], and I con~ 
sidered 1 would be making myself a fool." 

That he could not bear. It had been bad enough to have 
been a figure of fun to the locals in Middleton, County Cork, 
who looked upon the young Dyer and his brother as "the Wild 
lndians." But to be laughed at when dressed up in the full uni­
form of a Brigadier-Gelteral and in the presence of the men he 
commanded and who looked up to him, was clearly a fate 
worse than death. In any case, he did not take much time to 
decide which option to take. As he told the HunterCommitlec, 
"I had made up my mind that J would do all men to death if they 
were going to continue the mecting"-a remark, writes Rupert 
Furneaux: ill Massacre at Amritsar, "that so astonished 
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General Sir George Barrow, a member of the Committee, that 
it remained in his memory and he recalled it in his Life ofGen~ 
eral Sir Charles MoJ//'o, 1931." 

To be fair to Dyer, he wa!> not responsible fOf creating the 
situation whic!t he was called upon to handle and which, it 
could have been predicted, he was temperamentally likely to 
turn into a tragic clttastrophe. It was the "men all the spoC 
who had created an avoidable mess, not least the head of the 
civilian authority in the district. Miles Irving, the Deputy 
Cornmis:)ioner of Amrit!>ur, Miles Irving was. onc of those know­
atls in which the Covenanted Service abounded who believed 
he knew everything lhere was to know about India and Indians. 
Everything had been peaceful in the city: not only the Iwrtal 
on. March 30. had been peaceful. but even the one on April 
6 had passed off without any incident. Indeed. as late as April 
9, the Hindu festival of Ram Naumi, nothing untoward had 
happened though Miles lrving and others tead very sinister 
meaning into the extraordinary scenes of fraternization between 
Hindus and Muslims which had been reportcd to them by their 
army of informers aad which. Irving had witnessed himself 
while watching "the procession unguarded from the verand:::.h 
of the Allahabad Bank." He was even surprised that "every 
car in the proce'lsion stopped in (ront of him and the accom~ 
panying band played God '-al'e fhe King," Hardly, a gesture of 
dcliance and rebellion even though it has been suggcstcd that 
the intention of the bands playing the British national attthem 
might have been subtle mockery which is rather unlikely. 

Not only was Amritsar calm up to April 9. but most of 
the Punjab was at peace, despite the provocative display of 
police and military musde by thc administration. But this did 
not suit the authorities. It was on the basis of a report which 
Miles frving had sellt to Lahore that the Provincial Government 
not only agreed to :;cnd more troops to Amritsur. but gave him 
the all clear for the act which lit the fuse-namely. the dcporta~ 
tion of two highly es:teemed and popular public figures in thc 
city, Dr. Satyapa[ and Dr. Saif·U!l~Din Kitchlew. They had 
already been muzzled one after !hc other and ordered not to 
address any public mceting. But they did not have to speak 
in public to exercise control over the population and keep it 
peaceful. 
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Miles Irving, however, was persuaded they were both dan­
gerous men, "Iocal agents of very much bigger men." In parti­
cular, he considered Kitch1ew to be a vcry sinistcr man and deep 
in the conspiracy to overthrow the Raj. One of the reasons for 
this notion was that Kitchlcw had studied in Germany and had 
a degree from the University of Munster, though as a know­
all Irving should have known that another alumnus of an even 
more famous German university. Munich, Mohammed Iqbal, 
still a persona /{raw with the Government and SOOlt to be knigh­
ted. had been asked by the Lieutenant·Governor, Michael 
O'Dwyer, to write all ode to the Allied victory and had obliged. 

Order had already been issued to deport the two men who could 
Jlave kept the peace in Amritsar. Not only to deport Dr. 
Kitchlew and Dr. Satya pal, but to carry out the operation in a 
<:Ioak and dagger manner so as to provoke the population and 
allow the wildest rumours to circulate. At a conference at 
his bungalow on the evening of April 9 attended by all the Bri­
tish officials-no Indians could be trusted-it was decided by 
Irving to "invite" Drs. Satya pal and Kitchlcw to the Deputy 
Commissioner's bungalow next morning at ten. anest them, 
and drive them away to their place of deportation~Dharmsala 
in Kangra district, then part of the Punjab but now in Himachal 
Pradesh. Whether the two men had any inkling of what Miles 
Irving had in store for them must be a matter for conjecture. 
Probably they had none. For, strangely enough, a beUef had 
grown up in India that the British officials, whatever other 
vices or defects they had, were all gentlemen and did not resort 
to dirty tricks. At any rate, both Dr. Satyapal and Dr. Kitch­
lew duly presented themselves at the Deputy Commissioner's 
residence around 10 a.m., accompanied by some of their friends 
and co-workers. 

They had to wait in a tent in the compound of the bungalow 
before being culled in. Apart from Miles Irving:. there were two 
other British officials in the roont into which they were taken­
Rehitl, the Superintendent of Police, and Beckett, the Assis­
tant Commissioner. They were immediately served with the 
orders issued by the Government under the Defence of India 
Act. The invitation had been an invitation to arrest and dep­
ortation. They were laken out by [he back entrance, put in se­
parate motor cars, and driven off "at high speed" to their place 
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of deportation, a military escort being provided part of the way. 
The friends and supporters who had come with them were allow~ 
cd to return to the city, but only about an hour later "to give 
the cortege a good start" as Rupert Furneaux tells us. 

The news of the arrest and deportation to s.ome secret place 
spread through the city like the proverbial bush fire. Shops 
closed; all business ceased; and a large crowd gathered in Hall 
Bazar. at the time the main shopping centre, and began to move 
towards the so-cailed Civil Lines. To do that they had to go 
over the HaJJ Gate Bridge over the raHway line. There they faced 
mounted soldiers, only a few, but they were backed by some 
British. infantry men armed with rifles who had placed them­
selves on the ironwork of the bridge. There arl'! conflicting ver­
sions of what followed this conf~ontation. The crowd wanted 
to see the Deputy Commissioner and ask him where the arrest­
ed leaders were and urge their release. This is what a reliable 
witness, Dr. Mohammed Abdullah Fauq, said in his evidence, 
adding that the people wanted to teU Irving that jf he would 
not release Drs. Satyapal and Kitchlew, he should "take them 
to the same place". 

This is a perfectly credible account. For at this stage the 
crowd though excited and protesting was not in a homicidal 
mood. For instance. it had seen a certain Jarman, the European 
Municipal Commissioner, while moving towards the bridge 
but had not molested him. It is at least a tenable hypothesis 
that had the crowd been allowed to go to the Deputy Commis­
sioner's house or office to make its protests. or alternatively if 
the authorities had allowed a representative deputation from 
the people to go instead and voice the general sense of outrage 
at the deportation of two highly respected citilens of Amritsar 
the whole sequence of bloody events that followed. not in 
Amritsar alone but in many parts of the Punjab. especiaUy in its 
sensitive LallOre division, might have been avoided. One can­
not prove this: Ilor can onc disprove it. But we do know to 
what the alternative course that was pursued led. 

The authorities, especially the British officials, seem to have 
been in something of a panic. Certainly. they did not display 
that sang froid which is traditionally associated with them. On 
the Hall Gate bridge. according to aU accounts. the confusion 
was incredible with some of the officers in charge galloping away 
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jn all directions and shouting for reinforcements to be sent. 
Indeed, it is not very clear if there was any explicit order given 
to firc at the crowd. According to Rupert Furneaux: 

Mr. F.A, Connor, an Extra Assistant Commissioner, rca­
ched the scene of the disturbance soon after 1 p.m., encoun­
tering a mounted picket which was trotting back from the 
bridge at a very fast pace, being stoned by a large and very 
dense crowd. Its commander, Lieutenant Dickie. $eeing 
Connor. caHed oul, "For God's sake send somc reinforce­
ments." Realising that Dickie and his men were in very 
seriOliS peril, Connor caBed oul that it was up to him to Ilre 
on the mob as it was his duty to protect the Civil Lines. 
Dickie, who said he was glad to have the order, dismounted 
two of his men who, taking cover behind some culverts, 
fired five or six shots which brought the crowd to a dead 
standstill. 

The firing did not just bring the crowd to a dead standstill. 
It also wounded several people and killed some, 1t was all very 
well for the Hunter Committee to rule that the firing was com­
pletely justified. But the first act of violence came, not from the 
crowd, but from the side of the British soldiers and the forces 
of law and order. All the acts of violence that followed that 
afternoon-the killing of the manager and the Assistant Manager 
of the National Bank. Stewart and Scott. and that of the Mana­
ger of the Alliance Bank, the ransacking of the banks and bur­
ning and looting-were the acts of a crowd whose cup of anger 
was already full and overJlowed when it saw several of those 
taking part in the protest demonstralion faU to the bullets. 

WIlile the cauldron was beginning to bubble over. thanks­
largely to the fire Ht under it by the "men on the spot", Dyer 
was not on the scene. He was fifty odd miles away from Amrit­
sar-at Jalandhar cantonment. The first inkling he had of some~ 
thing brewing at Amritsar was not until four in the afternoon of 
April 10 when he received a coded message that "troops, guns 
and an aeroplane were needed urgently" there. An hour or so 
later this was confirmed when the DiviSional Commander, 
General Sir William Beynon. asked him to send "a hundred 
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British and a hundred MII.flint {our emphasis1 troops {o Amrit~ 

sar", He complied by adding for good measure another hun­
dred Indian troops to the number requested by the Divisional 
Commander in Lahore. "The relief force," Rupert Furneaux 
tells us, "consisting of a hundred British soldiers of the 
I-25th London Regiment and two hundred Indians ... left Ju\­
andhar in a speciallrain at I a.m." The train must have crawled. 
For it did not reach Amritsar. a little over fifty miles away, till 
5 a.m. on the 11th. At two in the afternoon he was ordered by 
General Beynon to go himself to Amritsar. This 11C did, leaving 
JaJandhar around six in the evening, but not without making 
,arrangements for the protection of his family and telling hi!> 
son Capt. Dyer, who was also posted in Jalandhur. "There is 
,a big show coming." This was to prove prophetic. 

It took Dyer three hours to reach Amritsar by road. The 
,day had been peaceful though tense in the city. The dead in the 
previous day's firing had been buried and cremated in the 
,afternoon and there was much resentment that, because of the 
prohibitory orders, only small group!. were allowed to follow 
the bodies to "the burial and burning grounds." He found 
the Deputy Commissioner, ostensibly still in charge. at the end 
of his tether. There was still no Mania! Law. Indeed, it was 
not proclaimed till three days later--on April 14. But Miles 
Irving is said to llave told Dyer that things were beyond "civil 
control" and that he "should take matters in hand." Dyer 
interpreted this as meaning there was "ipso faCIO Martial Law" 
_and he had no need to consult "the civil authority of the dist· 
riet. " 

He quite relished the situation. As his biographer Ian Col­
vin nicely puts it, "To await events was not the General's way". 
He wanted to get at the rebels at once. But how? For. when 
after midnight, he marched at the head of a small force to the 
Kotwali, or the Police station, around which some of the ghastly 
scenes of arson, looting and killing had been enacted on the 
arternoon of April 10, he encountered no hostile "mob". 
The streets were de5crted and all was quiet though, it appears. 
"fires were still burning in several looted buildings." The next 
day was a\;;o without any incident. Indeed, an aircraft sent on 
a reconnaissance mission from Lahore thirty·two miles away 
reported no sign of any disturbance, much less preparations for 
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a rebellion. Dyer was able to spend the day doing his military 
sums, counting the forccs he could muster, making arrange~ 
ments for thcm to be deployed to advantage, and playing his 
little war games in his head and on the ground. 

Thus Oyer. presumably to impress and intimidate the popu~ 
lace, matched through the city with 125 British troops and 310 
Indian soldiers and two armoured cars. "Finding insolent 
crowd", who shouted slogans and spat on the ground," Rupert 
Furnenux has it, "assembled at the Suitanwind Gate:' he dis· 
perscd them with some difficulty. On his own evidence before 
the Hunter Committee. he had "considered the advisability 
of opening fire:' But he thought better of it because he had not 
yet made any proclamation personally forbidding public as);· 
emblies. Perhaps, he also thought the locale unsuitable for 
making an effective demonstration of his military muscle. 

The proclamation was duly issued through the police that 
"the inhabitants of Amritsar are hereby wamed that if they will 
cause damage to any property or will commit any acts of vio~ 
lence in the environments of Amritsar. it will be taken for 
granted that such acts have been committed in Amritsar 
City itself and the offenders will be punished according 
to military law. All meetings and gatherings are hereby 
prohibited and will be dispersed at once under military law." 
The next day. SUllday, April 13, wbich also began peacefully 
enough, two separate proclamations were read out in due and 
proper form. The tirst was largely a repetition orthe previous 
day's fiat. The second was, however, marc drastic. It prohi~ 
bitcd any inhabitant of Amritsar to Icu-ve the city without pre­
viously obtaining a pass rrom the authorities; it imposed a cur­
few from 8 p.m.; and it warned that any procession Of gathering 
"in any part of the city or at any place oub.ide the city ... wiU 
be considered illegal, and wit! be dealt with acC()rdingly, and. 
if necessary, will be dispersed by means of arms." 

Dyer staged a march through Amritsaf in which he himself 
took part, accompanied by the Deputy Commissionef and the 
Superintendent of Police, nnd led "by Inspector [of Police] 
Ashraf Khan, riding a while horse. who was followed by a 
bamboo carl in which sat the drummer and Malik Fateh Khan" 
whom Miles Irving described as "a SOft of unollicial public 
orator, a man who had greal natural charm of oratory, much in 
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demand on ceremonial occasions." Certainly it was a "cere~ 
monial occasion," or rather. prelude to one. At nineteen diff­
erent places in the city the prodamation, or rather its transla~ 

tion in Urdu. was read out by the "unofficial public orator" 
at the beat of the drum and its gist explained in Punjabi. It must 
have been an impressive sight, reminiscent of the Middle Ages. 

At the Hunter Committee hearings officials, including Dyer. 
were asked whether this ceremonial reading out of the proc­
lamation Was enough to alert a population of over 150,000 to 
the danger they ran in attending any public meeting, especially 
as it being the day of the harvest festival Baisakhi Day-many 
people from the countryside around. probably unaware of what 
was happening in Amritsar, were likely to come to the city. 
But the argument is irrelevant and trivial, The fact is that the 
politically aroused section of the public in Amritsar was as 
determined to hold a meeting of protest as General Dyer was 
to teach them~and the rest of the Punjab--a lesson as he made 
abundantly clear in his evidence. 

After the ceremonials connected with the proclamation were 
over, Dyer waited with some impatience. "He could not re­
main on the defensive," his biographer Ian Colvin tells us. At 
four in the afternoon he learnt that the meeting was definitely 
on and at the inquiry he was asked why he made no attempt 
to prevent people from gathering faT the meeting at Jallianwala 
Bagh. His answer wa~ that he had other matters to attend to 
and think of. But his biographer has another explanation, 
though it may be doubted whether Dyer thought of the "Crom~ 
well at Dunbar" paranel: 

But this unexpected gift of fortune, this unhoped for defi­
ance, this concentration of the rebels in an open space-it 
gave him such an opportunity as he could not have devised. 
It separated the guilty from the innocent [sicJ it placed them 
where he would have wished them to be within reach of his 
sword. The enemy Imd committed such another mistake as 
prompt\!d Cromwell to explain at Dunbar, 'the Lord hath 
delivered them into my bands'. 

So baving left "8 strong guard at his headquarters", he set 
out with 200 men-a hundred of whom be ~tationcd as pickets 
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along the route-for the laltianwala Bagh though the name 
"8agh", meaning garden, was at the time largely a courtesy 
title for what was just open space with only a few trees to pro­
vide shade Of cover. surrounded by houses and a brick wall 
about five feet high in between the houses. and a well situated 
on the left of the main and, indeed. almost the only negotiable 
entrance and exit. Dyer was not taking any chances and took 
two armoured cars with him. lIt one of them he rode himself 
with his staff-major Briggs. The other carried Rehitl, the Sup­
erintendent of Police, and his understudy. Plomer, pre~mm­
ably representing the civilian authority since there was as yet 
no de jJlre Martial Law. The Deputy Commissioner or a 
"First Class" magistrate should have accompanied the MiIi· 
tary. But Miles Irving, as he told the Hunter Committee, had 
"excused himself" and gone to the Fort instead which he "reg­
retted" as he had "no idea" of the action that was going to be 
taken and had assumed that the Military would disperse the 
meeting with the same "forbearance" as they had done pre· 
viously. 

Unfortunately, however, his assumptions had a way of be· 
jog often at a variance with reality. He had, for instance, as­
sumed that there would be no meeting at all, having been as­
sured of this by "the better people." But the trouble was that 
"the better people." or rather those whom the Britis.h so re­
garded, were either themselves out of touch with reality or just 
told their patrons what they thought would please them. In 
any case, the decisive factor in the equation was the way Dyer's 
mind was working and they could not po~sibly have known 
bow it was working. His "forbearance" the previous days had 
been dictated by tactical consideration. not humanity. Tms 
emerged during his hearing by the Hunter Committee at Lahore 
on November 19, 1919, and even belore. Thus in the despatch 
wbich he sent to his Divisional COJUmander, Beynon. on 
April 14, be wrote: 

1 entered the lnllianwala Bagh by a very narrow lane which 
necessitated my leaving my armoured cars behind. 
On entering 1 ~aw a dense crowd e~timatcd at about 5,000, 
a man all a raised platform addrcssing the audienco;: and 
making gCl;ticulations with his hands, 
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realized my force was small and to hesitate might induce 
attack. I immediately opened fire and dispersed the crowd. 
J estimate that between 200 and 300 of the crowd were kil­
Jed. My party fired 1,650 rounds. 

His estimate of fatal casualties was rather modest. The­
number of killed, according to a very careful and conservative 
count, was closer to four hundred and those wounded, most of 
them seriously, exceeded twelve hundred. This was hardly sur­
prising. Dyer had deployed his men inside the Bagh on a high 
ground close to the entrance-and exit. As he told the Hunter 
Committee, the nearest man in the crowd at the meeting was 
not more than nine yards away. He had himself directed the fire 
and seen to it that the soldiers did not fire OVer the heads of the 
crowd. There was no volley firing at all. He wanted his men to 
fire Well and fire to kill. In his youth he had shown keen amateur 
interest in mathematics-and optics. Indeed, we learn from hjs 
biographers that he bad actually designed an improved type 
of range-finder. though he and his men did not need any range­
finders to hit their human targets. For they commanded an 
excellent and uninterrupted field of fire. The people at the meet· 
ing could find no cover---except the well. Almost every bullet 
of the 1650 rounds that were fired homed in and there was no 
wastage. 

However. whether the dead numbered three hundred or 
four hundred is the kind ofnumher game which is hardly relevant 
in the ghastly context. By any standard, it was "the Big Show" 
Dyer expected and almost looked forward to when he len 
lalandhar two days earlier. It might have been even a bigger 
show had he been able to squeeze in his ,trmoured cars through 
the lane and the entrance into the lalHanwala Bagh. He could 
then have opened up on the meeting with machine-guns. This 
is not doing him an injustice. He himself told Lord Hunter 
and his colleagues that he would "probably" have used them. 
Even without them, it was not a bad performance. And having 
done his good deed of the day, he lost no time in marching bi:; 
men back to the cool shade of the Ram Bagh which was 
reaUy a garden and not just a more or less desolate enclosed 
space. He gave no thought to the dead or dying or the wounded. 
As he said in his evidence, "that was a medical question", though 
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he added. wryly, he would have helped "if 1hey had asked for 
help," 

Throughout his hearing by the Hunter Committee hc gave 
not the siighte!>t hint tbat he felt any regret, much less rcmone, 
at what he had done. Miles Irving toh1 Edward Thomp!>on 
later that he had no doubt that "Dyer was trailing his coat." 
That may well be true and a. high degree of bravado was consjs~ 
tent with his character. Nor was there any need for him to 
regret his action or feel any sense of remorse over it even if he 
had been temperamentally open to such feelings Or self-doubt. 
If be spent any sleepless nights after his Jallianwala Bagh exploit, 
as heis supposed to have told F.G. Puckle, anothel member of the 
Covenanted Service, the insomnia must have been largely cured 
by the approbation he received from his superiors on the very 
morrow of his act. On the basis of the report he had received 
from Dyer. the Divisional Commander, Beynon, decided to 
send him a message: "Your Action Correet." Indeed, more. 
Beynon rang up O'Dwyer to ask whether he could add the 
Lieutenant~Governor's approval. After momentary "hesitation", 
O'Owyer agreed to add: "Lieutenant-Governor Appr()ve~:' 

fo addition to these messages of approval, came the decision 
to appoint Dyer the Martial law administrator When Martial 
law Was proclaimed in due and proper form for Amritsar and 
the surrounding areas so Ihat he could continue the good 
work he had begun. This he did for the next three weeks or more 
till he Was calicd to the North~West Frontier on May &-and with 
relish. It was he who provided the inspiration to other Martial 
Llwadministrators. in so far as they needed any inspiration. by 
setting up triangles in rublic places to Rog people irrespective of 
whether they had been tried and convicted for any offences. 
Again. it was he who h;td the ingenuity to invent the refinement 
of punishment by issuing an order that anybody entering or 
leaving the lane where Marcella Sherwood had heen assaulted 
must do so only on all rours-the notMious "Crawling Onler" 
which even O'Dwyer. not exactly a squeamish ma.n, had to ask 
him to withdraw and which the Majority Report, in a masterly 
understatement. characterised tiS "highly improper". 

For the next several months Dyer was for the British 
establishment in India, both civilian and military, the "rkro 
of the Hour" to quote Rupert Furncaux, ""ho had "~avcd 
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Amritsur. the Punjab and all India." Ifthcre Were any Doubting 
Thornasc!'. among it they did not stand up and allow themselve: 
to be c-oun~cd. This could not but reinforce his inBated ego or 
as Rupert Furoeaux rather felicitou:.ly puts it, he saw himself 
occupying "a selr-created pedestal which as time went on became 
10 him firmer and loftier. A pedestal like a musical stool. which 
rose higher and higher as Dyer plunged himself deeper and deeper 
into the miasma of selr~delu$iol1··. This self~delusion accounted 
for his disregard of the advice of some of his friends who knew 
of his "eXcitability" and warned him '<to be careful in his stat¢'" 
mellts ... and not to start talking." Otherwise he might have 
been less jaunty in relating his version of what happened and 
how on that Black Sunday in the lallianwala Bagh before the 
Bunter Committee at Lahore on November 19, 1919. But, 
then, he was still fully per$uaded, as he was to tell the Daily 
Mail in an interview he gave six months later, that every EngJish~ 
man and Englishwoman, official or non~official, approved of hb 
ac£. That this triumphaIist mood persisted with him for many 
months after his famous exploit at Amritsar is confirmed by 
lawaharlal Nehru who, entirelY by chance, found himself in the 
same railway compartment as Dyer one nighllowards the end of 
1919. He recounts in his autobiography: 

Towards tIl(, end of that year (1919) I travelled from Amritsar 
to Delhi by the night train. The compartment I entered was 
almost fuJi and aU the berths, except one upper one, were 
occupied by sleeping passengers. 1 took the vacant upper 
berth. In the morning 1 discovered that all my fellow~passen~ 
gers were military officers. They conversed with eaeh oiher in 
loud voices which I could not help overhearing. One of them 
was holding forth in un aggressi",e and triumphant tone and 
500n I discuvered thal he waS Dyer. the hero of Jallianwala 
Bagh, and he was describing his Amritsar experiences. He 
pointed out how he had the whole town at his mercy and 
he hud felt like n:ducing the rebellious city to a heap of ashes, 
but he took pity on it ,md refrained. He was evidently coming 
back from Lahore after eiving his evidence before the Hunter 
Committee of Inqlliry. l~ was greatly shocked to hear his con~ 
versation and to observe his callous manner. He descended 
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at Delhi station in pyjamas with bright pink stripes and a 
dressing gown. 

Rupert Furneaux who quotes the passage in his Massacre at 
Amrifsur. remarks that "perhaps Mr. Nehru was a prejudiced 
observer:' Perhaps he was. but there is corroborative evidence 
that Dyer had bragged about plans to bombard Amritsar and 
reduce it to rubble. According to the statement made before the 
Congress Committee of Enquiry by a witness-Dr. Balmukund. 
Sub-Assistant Surgeon at the Amritsar Civil Hospital--Col. 
Smith, the Civil Surgeon, who was certainly privy to the talk 
that wellt on among the civilian and military top brass at Amritsar 
as well as to the contingency plans Dyer had worked out, had 
drawn diagrams and "showed how the city was to be shelled and 
how it would be razed to the ground in half·an·hour." It may 
all have been intimidatory braggadocio, but it seems consistent 
with Dyer's character. fndeed, Col. Smith took it seriously. 
For when the Sub-Assistant Surgeon ruefully told Col. Smith 
that he lived in the city and what was to become of him, the 
latter s.aid to him that the only thing for him to do WfI.S to make 
arrangements for him·-and pres.umably his family-to move 
out and live in the hospital. The idea of bombarding the city 
must, therefore, have been talked about at some stage. 



CHAPTER III 

BETWEEN FRIGHTFULNESS AND 
"REFORMS" 

In an interview be gave to India in June 1920, Commander 
Kenworthy, a rather unusual naval person and for a time Labour 
MP during the inter~war years who distinguished himself by 
his sympathetic interest in the Congress and our struggle for 
freedom, argued that General Dyer was being used by the British 
Government of the day as a convenient "scapegoat" and that~ 
in fact. he was just a "typical soldier" who represented "the 
opinion of the majority of the officers' messes in India and else­
where-that the only remedy for dissatisfaction is force." He 
for his part verY-fiuch feared that if this attitude persisted "India 
... will become Ireland with guerrilla warfare and passive re­
sistance making all government impossible." 

That, indeed. might well have been expected. But fortu~ 
nately for the British nothing remotely like that happened. The 
Indian reaction to the lallianwala Bagh massa,ere and other 
Martial Law atrocities in the Punjab~the setting up of human 
cages and concentration camps, the public floggings and other 
humilia.ting forms of punishrr1ent. the bombing and machine~ 
gunning from the air of villages around Gujranwala. acts of 
terror and intimidation-was singularly muted. There was no 
mass uprising or even large~scale and countrywide movement 
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-of protest. It is <t sobering and even humbling thought that the 
impact of the horrifying things done under the Martial Law 
di!>pcnsation, when the news at last reached Britain, on the 
British liberal opinion would seem to have been greater and morc 
intense than could be discerned among even radical political 
.circles in India. 

The Dyers and the O'Dwyers among the British civilian 
and military establishment in India naturally crowed that by 
dishing out a bit of what Mr. Justice Rankin, rather diffidently. 
dubbed as. "frightfulness". they had succeeded in bringing the 
rebellious spirit of the Punjab-and tndia~quickly to heel. 
This was a crude simplification and reflected the innate vulgarity 
elf the imperialist mind. But there was an element of truth in ir. 
After all, Tagore in his letter renouncing his knighthood had 
spoken of bis people being "surprised into the dumb anguish 
of terror." However. the reasons for the relative tameness of 
response to the Martial Law enormities were more complex. 

For one thing, as We know, the draconian censorship of the 
Press in the days when, such as it was, it Was the sole medium of 
mass communications and there was no other source of news, 
coupled with the most strict control of movement of persons 
into or out of the Punjab, had more or less effectively cut it off 
from the rest of India and practically turned it into a kind of 
political isolation ward. People in other parts of Indill, therefore, 
had only a hazy notion of the agony through which the Punjab 
was going. Indeed, even the people living outside the heartland 
of the Punjab-principally the Lahore division---only knew of 
What had happened at Amritsar, Lahore. Kasur, Shcikhupura 
and Gujranwala through rumours and hearsay and what they 
could guess from the demonstrative movement {)f troops and 
impedimenta intended to impress upon them, lo quote "The 
Physician" from Bechuanaland, Lt. Col. Frank Johnson, D.S.O .• 
"the might of Martial law" and no doubt also the Raj. 

However, want of accurate information Was not the only 
factor that inhibited the build-up of a nationwide movement of 
protest against the horrors of Martial Law in the Punjab. Perhaps 
an even more crucial factol' was the absence of any clear political 
lead from those from whom it might have been expected. The 
"Moderates", predictably,looked the other way. They had been 
opposed to any satyagraba against the Rowlatt legislation and 
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had warned that the slightest deviation from con"titutional 
agitation would attract instant and massive retaliation from the 
Government. Their attitude, understandably, was now one of 
"We told you so" even though few of them were so insensitive 
to the public mood as actually to say so. 

In the nature of things, people looked to the Congress as 
the tribune of the nation to say what should be done. However, 
despite the hysterical state of mind among the diehard bureau­
cratic circles in Delhi and a section of the Tory establishment 
in Britain which made them sec ill the Congress an "extremist"' 
organisation fomenting rcbellion, the trouble with the Congress 
was that it found it impossible to outgrow ib congenital cons­
titutional reflexes. It had never wanted Gandhi to embark on 
civil disobedience. That was one of the major considerations 
which bad led him to set up the Satyagraha Sabha to conduct 
his campaign. This might have fired Jawaharlal Nehru with 
enthusiasm as be tells us in his autobiography, adding, "1. .. 
wanted to join the Satyagraha Sabha immediately. [ hardly 
thought of the consequence::.-Iaw-brcaking, gaol-gojng, etc. 
and if I thought of them 1 did not care." 

However, his entllusiasm for satyagraha as "a way out of 
the tangle" and "a method of action which was straight and open 
and possibly effective," was not shared by the cider statesmen 
of the Congress as he soon discovered when he made known his 
intentions to his father. For he goes on to say; 

... Suddenly my ardour was damped and I realised that 
aU was not plain sailing. My father was dead against this 
new idea. He was not in the habit of being swept away by 
new proposals; he thought carefully of the consequences. 
before he took any fresh step. And the more he thought of 
the Satyagraba Sabha and its. programme, the less he liked it. 
What good would the gaol-going of a l1Umber of individuals 
do, what pressure could it bring on the Government? 
Apart from these general considerations. what really moved 
him was the personal issue. It seemed to him preposterous 
that I should go to prison .... 

Other veteran Congress and Home Rule League leaders may 
or may not have had such surpassing love for their sons as 
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Motilal Nehru had for Jawaharlal that they could not bear the 
thought of their going to prison even in a noble cause. But 
Motilal Nehru was by no means unique in entertaining seriouf. 
political reservations about the efficacy of satyagraha as a mode 
of action for advancing the cause of civil liberties and India's 
self~determination. This accounts largely for the extreme caution 
with which ihey moved in taking any decisive stand on the 
satyagraha issue and its direct or indirect consequences. It is true, 
no doubt, that when the AU-India Congress Committee had 
met at Bombay on April 20-21 and Galldhi waf. present, it did 
not have much precise information about the stale of terror III 
the Punjab under the Martial Law. III the circumstances, it could 
not but talk vaguely about "the grave and deplorable state or 
things" and had to content itself with demanding "a public 
enquiry into the events that had happened in Delhi, the Punjab, 
Bombay and Calcutta" and calling for the ci:lnccJlation of the 
orders served on Gandhi barring his enlry into Delhi and the 
Punjab. 

But by the time of the A.l.e.c. meeting at Allahabad early 
in June which Gandhi djd not attend, it was almost certainly 
in possession of enough inrormation about what had been done 
in the Punjab under what was called with bitter humour 
"Dyerarchy." Yet the resolutions, lllOUgh somewhat more 
!>pecific, went no further then registering "the country's sorrow 
and indignation at the repNssive policy pursued by the Govern­
ment and identifying certain crucial questions wlllch it wanted to 
be included within the scope of the enquiry" to be conducted by 
't'a Parliamentary Committee:' Yet having been more than a 
third of a century in HIe business of passing resolutions, it nnlst 
have known that paper resolutions however "earnestly" and 
persuasively worded, unless lhey were backed by a strong popu­
lar agit.1.tion on the ground, were unlikely to make any dent 
either on the British bureaucraLic mind in India or the Britbh 
Govern.ment at Westminster. 

About six weeks later when the A.I.C.C. met again at Calcuttll, 
the Martial Law had been technically lirted and ,I kind of nor· 
maley prevailed in the Punjab. The story of what had happened 
during the reign of government by terror was by now no secret 
to its members. Indeed, Dr, Pattabhi Sitaramayya tells us in 
his history of the Congress that at one of its meetings at the 
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Law Association chambers, they heard the details of ·'the Amrit~ 
sar tragedy, .. with bated breath and in whispering tones." 
But they chose not to broadcast them and they were instructed 
that what had been reported to them "should be kept strictly 
confidential.·· Under the circumstances the Congress could 
scarcely be expected to take the lead in building up a mass move­
ment of protest against the Punjab atrocities. 

The one man who could have done so and might reasonably 
have been expected to give a clarion call to this effect was Gandhi, 
But during these months he seems to have been going through a 
strange and acute mood of uncertainty, not to say Hamletian 
hesitancy, untypical or him. This was shown in his off'·on-olf 
announcements about thc satyagraha campaign which baffled his 
friends and irritated many people. He was still unwilling to 
admit Chelmsford's complicity in what had happened since 
the Rowlatt Ad was passed; he thought it just possible that he 
could be persuaded to withdraw it~ and he had tried to keep his 
lines of communication with him open to this end. As for the 
Punjab and its torments, he felt tbem, but remained in a rather 
ambivalent frame of mind about them though he took up indi­
vidual cases of what he regarded as injustice and iniquity. 

There were several reasons for the tame posture of the Cong­
ress over the Punjab tragedy. In part it was dictated by tactical 
prudence. The Congress leadership was amious not to encourage, 
much less lead, any protest campaign which might result in con­
frontation of a disarmed population with an empire. dizzy with 
its recent military triumph. and armed with the instruments of 
terror and repression which it had shown no hesitation in dep­
loying and using in the Punjab. But the prudence also connected 
with its own deep·rooted rel1excs which governed its. political 
approach and which it wai: always to find difficult wholly to 
outgrow almost till the very end. 

The bureaucratic hierarchy in Delhi and the provincial capi­
tals, to say nothing of the diehard Tory establishment in London, 
may have convinced themselves that the Congress had been 
hijacked by the "Extremists" though they had never had much 
use fIJr the "Moderates" either. But in this bcliefthey were victims 
of Iheir own propaganda. The trouble with the Congres", leader­
ship of the day was exactly the reverse: the trouble was that over 
the years through force of habit it had got so enmeshed in the 
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.toils of purely con~tilutional forms of agitation that even after 
their ineffectiveIlcss had become patent, it gave liule serious 
thoughl to arty alternative strategy or struggle and remained 
allergic to the idea of building up the pressure of a mass move­
ment behind jl~ demands. That was almost certainly the main 
reason why Gandhi had chosen to improvise his Satyagraha 
Sabha to carry out the first national civil disobedience campaign 
instead of trying to enlist the Congress organisation as a vehicle 
for the purpose. 

There was another major inhibiting factor inclining the 
Congress leaJer~ towards extreme restraint wh.ich verged on 
pusillanimity. The Moderates, who had felt uneasy ever since 
Ti1ak'~ triumphal return to the Congress fold at Lllcknow, had 
been looking for a tactically advantageous moment to part 
company with it and pitch their separate tent on politically 
comfortable ground of their own choosing. They were eager to 
represent the critical stand taken by the Congress on the Montagu~ 
Chelmsford Repon as outright rejection, But this was n calcula~ 
ted misrepresentation. The resolution adopted by the Congress 
at its special session at Bombay and reaffirmed at Delhi had 
undoubtedly expressed "disappointment" at the Montagu~ 

Chelms.ford proposals and described them as "unsatisfactory". 
But it had not said that it was rejecting them. On the cOlltrary, it 
had suggested "modifications" which would bring them suffi.~ 

cienlly dose to the Congress~League scheme to be acceptable to 
India. It was thu:. seeking accommodation and offering the 
ground for a compromise rather than closing any doors . 

.. This was an unenviable posture to maintain although the 
Congress in the years to come appeared often to manoeuvre 
itSt:lf into a similar preuicament and in consequence, managed to 
make the worst of every possible world. For one thing. its attitude 
of neither a clear-cut rejection nor whole. hearted acceptance of 
the Montagu-Che1msford proposals, although prefectly justified 
and consistent with any rational and critical assessment of their 
merits, not only reflected but accentuateu its ambivalence, if not 
schizophrenia. Combined with other considerations it account­
ed ror its hesitaflcy in going all out to muster a mass movement 
of protest against the Martial Law atrocities in the Punjab. For 
another, it diverted its attention and energies from the political 
tasks at home to what was happening in London where soon the 
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constitutional future of the country as envisaged by Montagu 
and Chelmsford was ,going to come up before the British Parlia­
ment. 

By falling morc or less unreservedly for the Montagu­
Chelmsford scheme the Moderates had dissociated themselves 
from the national political consensus embodied in. the Congress­
League proposals. Some of them were already ill London basking 
in the good opinion of the British Government which found 
them highly serviceable for tht:: purpose of discrediting the 
Congrc$s and scoring deba.Ling points against it. They had. 
moreover, unexpected accession of strength to their ranks-Annie 
Besant. Her wayward and imperious conduct had weakened her 
influence not only over the Congress but even in her own Home 
Rule League. What was more, :.hc was allergic to Gandhi and his 
idea of satyagraha which she was soon to d.:nounce in a publica­
tion she edited with an oversize title: Gantlhian Non-Cooperation; 
or Shall India Commit Suicide? A Vade Mecum against Non­
Coopemtioll for a/l Indian Patriots. When th.: Montagu-Chelms­
ford Report had been first published she had found it wanting 
in all respects. But she had evidently had a change of heart and 
begal1 soon to claim that it offered a substantial advance on the 
road to self-government. This dramatic volte f(lC'1! had not only 
endeared her to the Modcralc.. .. , but to the Indian Government 
so that WiUingdon. who had taken over from Pentland as Gover­
nor of the Madra:; Presidency, wrote to Chelmsford in the last 
week of April 1919 that she "seems to have become violently 
pro-Government and I shall (figuratively?) be soon taking her 
to my bosom.~' 

The Congress was anx.ious for its case not to go unrepresented 
in England especially at a time when vital decbions affecting the 
future of India were about to be tuken by the Brih$h Government 
and Parliament. How anxious was underlined at its Thirty-third 
session held at Delhi when the Congress not only reiterated the 
decision taken at jt~ special Bombay session to send a high­
powered deputution to London to press its demands on what it 
de-;,cribcd as "BriHsh Democracy," hut considerably enlarged the 
committee set up to select the team to be sent to Britain fol' the 
purpose and appointed N.C. Kelkar as th>! convener of the 
expanded committee. Even the intensifu:d rcpre~~ion throughout 
the country and promulgatio/l of Martial Law in the Punjab. 
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seemed not to discourage it from sending an advance party of 
the deputation, consisting: of onc of its general ~ecrelarie5, V.J. 
Patel, and N,C. Kelkar, to England bardy a fortnight after the 
JaJlianwala Bagh vespers when it might have been thought that 
they were morc needed nearer home. Over the next few months 
they were to be joined by a number of other prominent Congress 
leaders, among them Hasan Imam who had presided over the 
special se~sion at Bombay, and V.P, Madhva Rao, a former 
Dewan of the Mysore State. 

Tilak was already in London with his lieutenant Jo~eph 
Baptista in connection with the libel suit against the lImes 
Correspondent Extraordinary and distinguished pUblicist of 
British imperialism-Vnlentine Chiro!' The case. predictably, 
was lost at the cnd of February 1919. This was a severe psycholo~ 
giclil blow to Tilak, to say nothing of the 1innncial liability it 
cntailtd amounting to over £14,000 which was no small sum in 
those tlays. But with that stoicism which he had learnt to cultivate. 
Tilak had not allowed his private di~tress to obtrude on or be 
reflected in his public life. It in no way deflected him from his 
work for the Indian cause. Indeed. throughout the spring and 
summer of 1919 and until he left for [ndia in the fust week of 
No'Vember. despite his indifferent health. he presided over or 
took part in a whole series of meetings in London and in the 
Provinces to advance the argument for Indian self-government. 

This was not aU. With some help from Baptista, he prepared 
a memorandum on India's right to self-determination for the 
Peace Conference in Paris. He wanted to present it personally 
to Georges Clemenceau, Prime Minister of France and President 
of the Conference. However. the British Government was not 
going to allow any suc,h impertinence although Tilak, as a matter 
of courtesy, had scnt a copy of his memorandum to India Oflice 
which the latter returned to him. He was refused the passport 
endorsement to go to France. All the same, his representation. 
apparently, did reach Clemenceau. Edgar Wallace who. sur­
prisingly enough, was one of the few Fleet Street journalists 
to support TihlK at a lime when most of the British Press was 
engaged in a systematic campaign of viliHcation agaimt him. 
told him so when be returned from Paris. Inueed, Tilak had 
taken the precaution of sending a similar letter tt.) Prc~ident 
Wilson whose Secretary formally acknowledged it, unlike the 
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7fon-reC£'\'oir vouchsafed him by the India Office, even though 
the reply was non-committal and merely said that the issue of 
Indian self-determination would be taken up in due season and 
in the appropriate forum. 

The memorandum which Tilak and Baptista drafted is of some 
historical significance. It is the first document presented to an 
international conference stating dearly the case for India's right 
10 self-determination. Not only that, but it embodies. even if in a 
germinal form, India's perception of her peace-keeping role in 
international poIitk.'!> and which the Congress Jatcr was to develop 
as the basis of India's foreign policy, largely under Jawaharlal 
Nehru's guidance and inspiration. "India." it argues, "is self~ 
contained, harbours no design upon the integrity of other States 
and has no ambitions outside [India]. With her vast area. enor~ 

mous resources and pl'Odigious populations, she may well aspire 
to be a leading power in Asia, if not the world. She could there~ 
fore be a powerful steward of the League of Nations in the East for 
maintaining the peace of the world." Perhaps for tactical reasons 
and in an attempt to woo the British Government, Tilak offers 
India's services as the watch~dog of British imperial interests, 
maintaining "the stabHity of the British Empire against all 
aggressors and disturbers of peace, whether in Asia or elsewhere." 

However, the British Government was not impressed by 
this offer contained in THak's memorandum. On the contrary, 
having won over the Moderates, it felt it could be tough with the 
Congress as the Congress deputation in London wa!1 soon to dis.­
cover while trying to pre$ent India's case in Britain. The British 
Government, believing that it had won over the Moderates and 
thus succeeded in fracturing the national consensus which had 
crystallised around the Congress~League scheme, was in no 
mood to seek a compromise by modifying the Montagu­
Chelmsford proposals along the lines suggested by the Congress 
or even seriously to consider this. As for the British Press, with 
the exception of the still small voice of Liberal organs like the 
Manchesler Guardian and the even smaller voice of Labour 
journals like Lansbury's weekly Herald. it was congenilal!y hostile 
to the Congress. It not only kept up a sustained barrage of ridicule 
and denigration of the poHcics of the Congress, but on occasions 
even refused to carry publicity material put out by its deputa~ 
tion in England by way of paid adverlisement. 
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These handicaps and obstacles were formidable enough. But 
they had recently been funher compounded by another factor. 
The small journal of the British Committee of the [ndian National 
Congress-the weekly India-had for almost 1 hree dt,'Cades 
been something of a David battling against the Fleet Street 
Goliaths and had steadfastly and intelligently presented news 
of and comments on fndian affairs in Britain broadly from the 
Congress standpoint. Indeed, to this day it remains the best 
source of information on Indian developments and evolution 
of Indo-British relations during that period which no serious 
historian or chronicler can possibly ignore. However. after the 
death of William Wedderburn at the beginning of 1918 the 
British Committee was itself left rudderless and, with no mature 
organising intelligence to guide it. the editorial poHcy of India 
lost its sense of direction and finely balanced judgement. 

The process of disorientation was accelerated by political 
developments in India, The Moderates had broken away from 
the mainstream Congress over the attitude to be adopted towards 
the Montagu-Che!msford scheme. The British Committee of 
the Congress, largely drawn from the radical wing of the Liberal 
Party which itself had emerged badly mawl1.>U and demoralised 
from the "Khaki" election in December 1918, understandably 
found itself much more in tune with the moderate Indian leaders 
and was inclined to overestimate the weight they carried in 
Indian politics much as the India Oflice did or pretended. Edi­
torially, India tended to le~m increasingly on the side of the 
Moderat~ who had set up a separate organisation of their own 
and began h) show marked reluctance even to publish the full and 
unexpurgated texts of the resolutions passed by the Congress. 

This was a most unnatural situation. It could not but slrain 
t.he relations between the parent organisation in india and 
its offshoot in Britain and the weekly fI1dia which carried on its 
masthead the legend proclaiming itself to be the organ of the 
British Committee of the Congress. The situation was the more 
unacceptable beca.use it was the Congress which largely financed 
the activities of the British Committee and its weekly organ by 
earmarking half the delegation fee for the purpose while it 
seemed that t/1e Moderates, who had set up a separate organisa­
tion of their own, were still calling the tunc. Ever since 'filnk's 
re-entry into the Congress, there had been muted criticism of 
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the line being plugged by the British Committee of the Congress 
as being too timid. Tilak himself was rightly persuaded that this 
timidity was due to the preponderant influence of the British 
Liberal Party over the Committee. He was morc inclincd to pin 
his hope on the emergent Labour Party and the Trade Union 
movement, partly, it may be added, through the over-enthusiastic 
reports he had received while still in India from his lieutenant 
Joseph Baptista wha had discerned much stronger support for 
Indian right to self-government in the Labour movement than 
in the Liberal Party, which was not only hopelessly split between 
the Lloyd George and Asquith factions but already in decline. 

The Congress itself was a little less enthusiastic about the 
Labour Party's policy on India than Tilak-who was to make a 
financial contribution to it while in England-and Baptista. 
But. as already noted. it had invited a fraternal delegate from 
the Labour Party to the Congress session at Delhi but the invita­
tion had reached too late for the Labour Party Conference to 
take it up as We learn from tbe letter written by the Labour 
Party Secretary, John Scurr. to his Congress counterpart on July 
19, 1918. At its annual session in Delhi the Congress also passed 
a resolution-number 20 all the agenda-which was a mild 
rebuke to the British Committee. It said : 

Resolved (a) that in the opinion ofthi5 Congress, the Congress 
Constitution should be so amended as to bring the work of 
tIle Briti~h Congress Committee into co-ordination with that 
of the other component parts of the Congress organization. 
{b) That in the opinion of this Congress it is necessary to make 
tbe newspaper India more attractive and to associate an 
Indian or Indians in its editorial management. 
(c) That in the opinion of this Congress half the delegation 
fee which is now earmarked lor the British Congress Com­
mittee be set apart to be utilized generally for propagandist 
work in England. 
(0) That in the opinion of this Congress the deputation 
which will proceed to England in connection with Constitu­
tional Reforms be authorized to entcr into negotiations 
wi1h the authorities of the British Congress Committee to 
make the ne<;essary unangements on tbe lines suggested 
above. 
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This resolution did not remain a mere paper resolve. The 
Congress was in earnest about straightening up its relations Witll 
its British branch and making it clear to the British Committee 
that in policy malters the Congress must be the judge of what wa~ 
best for India and that the Committee could not put out publicity 
material which was not concordant with the Congress policies. 
This was underscored by the fact that immediately after his 
arrival in London, VJ. Patel, wrote to the Chairman of the 
British Congress Committee. Dr. G.B. Clark. from 10 Howley 
Place. Maida Vale. W.2, where, presumably, he was staying 
with N.C. Kelkar. asking for an early appointment so that both 
he and Kelkar could talk matters over with Dr. Clark and the 
other members of the Committee. 

Patel received a reply by return orpost from Helena Norman~ 
ton who was acting as Secretary of the British Committee inviting 
Lhe Congress deputation to meet Dr. Clark and the Committee 
the following Monday. June I, 1919. at four in the afternoon at 
the Committee's office at 14 Henrietta Street. Covent Garden. 
W.C.2.-by a strange coincidence the same address which in the 
J 930s housed the ontces of the firm of Victor Gollancz, the 
Publisher associated with the publication of Left Book Club 
scries. including Palme DuH's cias!:>ic India To(Jay. The meeting 
must have taken place, but seems to have been inconc!u"ive. 
Otherwise, it is hard to undL'rstand, why Vithalbhai Patel wrote 
another JeUer to Dr. Clark the very next day when the details 
could have been :;ettlcd at their meeting face to face. 

Patel's ktter seems rather cold and formal. After telling the 
Chairman of the British Committee something which he must 
have known-that the Indian National Congress had sent a 
Deputation to England the advance party of which was already 
In London-he wrote: 

The work in connection with the Reforms. must be commenced 
immediately as the Bill dealing with them wi!! be introduced 
into the Parliament next Thursday. As the agency organisa­
tion of the N:ttional Congress on the spot in London, the 
members of deputation wilt appreciate your assistance and 
co-operation to carry out tlte mandate of the Congress which 
is to advocate and pre)!) the demands of the Congress as 
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contained in the resolutions passed at its Delhi Session in 
December last. 

Patel went on to outline a seven-point programme which he 
and his colleagues considered necessary to carry out. This included 
preparation of a memo of evidence to be submitted to the Parlia­
mentary 10int Committee which, it was expected. would be set 
up for the purpose; drafting or amendments to lhe Bill; inter­
viewing the Secretary of State and other officials; interviewing 
Members of Parliament; holding pUblic meetings all oyer the 
country. if possible; and issuing literature on the subject matter 
of the Bill. He wanted to know "without delay" how and in what 
manner the Committee could and would help the deputation in 
carrying out its mission. He further asked for the use of the office 
of the Committee "for day to day work" of the deputation. 

Two days later, on June 4, 1919, Patel sent an article under 
his signature to be published in the next issue of India, adding in 
a brief note that an editorial endorsement of the piece contributed 
by him might be inserted. All these ~uggel>tions were perfectly 
reasonable. But, it seems, Lhe British Congress Committee, or at 
least some of its members, were reluctant to accept them. No 
reply was sent to either or V.I. Patel's letters nor was an editorial 
note supporting his article inserted ill India. Patel apparently 
again wrote to the Chairman of the British Committee on June 
22 raising the question of how far the Committee was willing to 
cooperate in the task the Congress Deputation had been entrusted 
with. It was not until July 5 that a reply was sent to him, not 
by the Chairman of the British Committee, Dr. Clark, but 
W. Douglas Hall. It did not refer to any of the issues raised by 
Patel in his various Jetters but merely informed him that the 
Committee had resolved at its meeting the day before "that 
each of the five Indian delegations now in this country should 
be asked to select one of their members, who might be invited 
to attend the ordinary meeting of this Committee as visiting 
members, without voting powers." Douglas Hall asked Patd 
to let him have the name of the member selected by the delega­
tion of which he was the leader. 

111is was an extraordinary demand coming from a body which 
purported to be a branch of the Indian National Congress in 
Britain alld depended on it for its finances. The most bizarre part 
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of it was the suggestion by Douglas Hall that the member whom 
the Congress. Deputation selected would have no voting right 
at the meeting of the British Committee and would be treated 
exactly as the "visiting members" selected by the four other 
Indian delegations which had come to England. [t was obviou,;ly 
resented by Patel, Kelkar and other members of the Congress 
Deputation and it was decided to s.end a strongly~worded letter 
to the Chairman of the British Committee caJling it to order. The 
letter, written by Patel on July 8, expressed surprise that the 
British Committee had "decided to recognise other depulations 
besides the Congress Deputation and to ask each one of them to 
return one member to sit on your Committee." After pointing 
out that those "Moderates" who had seceded from the Congress 
and actually formed a separate organisation of their own were 
"no [anger Congressmen" it said: 

The Deputation would therefore request the Commiuee 
to reconsider the question in that Ught and if the Committee 
could not see its way to accept this view, the deputation 
suggests that the dissenting members ought to form a separate 
and independent ASl>ociation entirely unconnected with the 
Congress and the remaining may continue as British CommiHee 
of the Indian National Congress. 

The letter went on to protest against the stipulation in the 
letter written by Douglas Hall tbat the member of their deputation 
whom they chose to take part in the meetings of the British 
Commiteewould not be entitled to vote. "The Deputation," 
wrote V.J. Patel. "says thatthe claim of aU the members of the 
Deputation to vote on the Congress Committee is obvious 
and regrets it cannot, therefore, see its way to return any member 
as desired by your committee." He asked the Chairman of the 
British Committee to "convene an urgent meeting ... to comider 
this letter" and let him know their dedsion at an early d'lte. 
Three days later. he followed up witlt another even firmer Jetter 
asking the Committee for a clear and "unambiguous" answer 
without further delay to the question whether it was "prepared to 
cooperate" with his deputation "in carrying out the mandate 
of the Congrc~s. which is to advocate and press the dcmailds 
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of the Congress as contained in the resolutions passed at its 
Delhi Session in December last." 

Patel and his colleagues on the Congrcs~ Deputation must 
have known that tile British Committee was itself split on much 
thesarne lines as the Congress and the Moderates in India. Indeed 
in his second letter-the one written on July IO-he referred to 
it quite explicitly_ "The Deputation" he wrote, "is. no doubt, 
aware that there arc difficulties in your way owing to the un~ 
fariunate split amongst your members in connection with. this 
question but at the same time it is strongly of opinion that no 
purpose would be served by any further delay which, instead of 
improvil1g matters in any way, merely goes to handicap us in our 
work." He, therefore, repeated the suggestion that he had made 
in his letter two days eartier: 

The Deputation feels that those members of your Committee 
who are not prepared to accept the position taken tip by the 
Congress should, in fairness to the Congress and in order 
to enable us to carry out the mandate of the Congress in 
cooperation with your Committee, sever their connection 
with Committee and organise, if they chose to do so, a separate 
committee with quite an independent programme entirely 
unconnected [with} the Congress. 

This was a perfectly reasonable suggestion and Patel the next 
day wrote a letter to the Chaitman of the Board of Directors of 
/tulia a copy of which was forwarded to the British Congress 
Committee. He again complained that India was still not advoca­
ting the policy of the Indian National Congress and added that 
to "avoid any further difficulty" they were "rcady and willing 
from now to take over and be responsible for the paper finan~ 
cially and olherwise." He asked for an immediate answer to 
this proposal. The r~ply came a week later offering to meet Patel 
and his colleagues and further saying that the Committee had 
adopted a resolution approving the decision taken by the Board or 
Directors of India almost a fortnight earlier and intimated to the 
Congress Deputation that "the Editor [of India} should be 
instructed to support ... the policy ot" the Congress held at Delhi 
last Christmas." 

There was clearly no option for the British Committee but 
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to fall in line with the suggestions made by the Congrcss Deputa­
tion, A few days later Patel wrote to its Chairman requesting him 
to appoint a sub-committee for the purpose of drawing up "the 
necessary constitution" for the Committee "in consultation with 
the Hon'ble Messrs. Khaparde and Patel" and to submit it to 
the Committee. This was duly done and a new constitution was 
adopted by the Committee which explicitly stated thal the object 
of thc Committee shall be to act as the Executive in the United 
Kingdom of the Indian National Congress and that its member­
ship, while unlimited, shall be open to only those "who accept 
the objects as defined in Article 1 of the Congress Constitution 
and the Resolutions passed by the Congress." The Executive 
Committee. to be elected annually, was to consist o[no morethan 
12 members of the General Committee; and Article 6 of the new 
constitution also laid down that "the President and Ex-Presidents 
of the Congress. who still cooperate with it, and are not in the 
Gm'£'rllment service [our emphasisJ, and all delegates scnt by the 
Congress to this country shall, Ex-Officio. be members of the 
ExecutiVe Committee." Of course, under Article 7 of the Con­
stitution the expenses or the Committee were to be "defrayed" by 
the Annual Session of the Congress itself. 

It is well to stress the importance of the seemingly parenthe­
tical clause "and are not in the Government Service" in Article 6, 
For il was a hint of the shape of things to come. Hitherto it had 
been perfectly permissible to be at once a part of the Government 
and hold high office in the Congress organisation, This was the 
first indication that it was no longer possible to have a foot in 
each camp and serve two masters, namely the alien establishment 
which governed lndia and the Indian National Congress which 
represented the Indian nation. Obviously, some sort of parting 
of the ways of which V.J. Patel had spoken at the Bombay 
special session seemed to be imminent. 

Thus the contretemps which had been bedevilling there!ations 
between the parent organisation and the British Committee and 
threatened to make the hlSk of the Congress Deputation in 
presenting india's case to "British democracy" even more 
difficult, was resolved. Inevitably, it led to some resignations 
of members who felt the Committee was becoming too radical. 
Tho$c who resigned included Lord C1ywdd and Mr, Swinney, 
But Drs. Rutherford and Clark stayed within the Committee-
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at any rate for a time. Could the split in the Committee have been 
avoided? Helena Normanton, a teacher of history who command­
ed a very virile pen and took over the editorship of India from 
H.S.L. Polak, apparently regarded as too moderate or at least 
ambivalent by the Congress Depu1ation, suggests as much 
in her preface to India in Errgland-a collection of her editorial 
and other writings in the weekly India. The change in the statute~ 
she writes. "turned out to be eventually more a matter 
of language than of substance," and. in her view, "effected 
nothing very memorable really," except "a much greater pre­
dominance upon the Committee of some of the Indians long 
resident in London." 

There is something in this view and it would undoubtedly 
have been highly desirabJe if the resignations of some of the 
mcmbers who had scrved on it ovcr the years and made valuable 
contribution to the [ndian cause according to their lights, could 
have been avoided, But, for the Congress, there was a real pro~ 
blem which had sooner or later to be faccd. Thc problem was 
that the British Congress Committee, or at least a section of 
it. had not been altogether able to keep pace with the evolution 
of opinion in the Congress in India and was inclined to attach 
excessive importance to the views of the Moderates who had 
parted company with the Congress over its critical attitude 
towards the Montagu~Chelmsrord scheme of reforms. 

What is more, it was an anomalous. if not absurd. situation 
that a committee which claimed to be a branch of the [ndian 
National Congtes~ in Britain was going on plugging a political 
line at variance with what the Congress had decided at ib annual 
session. The Congress could not be expected to allow this ano­
nmly to persist. Indeed. it is arguable 1hat the difficulty it had 
with the British Committee was eventually to influence the 
Congress leadership's thinking on the question of whether or 
not it should have branches outside India over which it could 
exercise no direct control and which might goolT at all kinds 01' 
political tangents. It was also probably onc of the considerations. 
which weighed with it when it decided soon after its Nagpur 
session in December 1920 to wind up the British Congress Com­
mittee and ceas·e publication of its weekly organ. il/dia, which 
for three decades had presented the Indian case with admirable 
clarity and loyalty. But we arc anticipating. 
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The immediate effl!ct of the departure of certain members of 
the British Committee who thought that the Congress policy had 
taken fur too radical a turn of which they could not approve-, 
was to reinvigorate it. This was partly because of the presence 
1n London of a number of dynamic Congress personalities-V.J. 
Patel. N.C. Kelkar. Sarojini Naidu to say nothing of Tilak who 
remained in LOlldon till the beginning of November 1919 and 
Horniman who had been deported from india and was continuing 
his work as a fearless publicist for Indian self~government. He 
contributed regularly 10 bf(Jia which also commanded the talents 
of N.C. Kelkar as a vbiting editor and, under Helena Norman­
ton's editorial direction (she had taken over from Polak in June 
1919 "in view of the change of policy" though her appointment 
was not confirmed until six months later), had undergone 
something of a sea change. From being a staid journal of record 
and patient persuasion on matters concerning India, it was to 
become for the brief life~span that remained an active campaign~ 
ing vehicle whose editorial comment and other articles struck 
a strident and even militant note and tended to he particularly 
harsh on Edwin Montagu. already under heavy fire from the Tory 
Right and very much on the defensive. 

The change was, perhaps. necessary and timely. For condi­
tions in India were not at aU propitious for any effective campaign~ 
ing. Although the Martial Law in the Punjab was lifted in June 
1919. the climate of repression had been only fractionally miti­
gated, jf at all. The authorities had a whole armoury of draconian 
laws and regulations accumulated over the years and used them 

• without compunction to intimidate and gag the nationalist Press 
and stifle public protest. The deportation of Horniman, Editor 
of the Bombay Chronicle. and the sentencing of Kalir'lath Roy, 
Editor of the Trib1l1le, to two years' rigorous imprisonment, 
latcr changed to simple imprisonment on grounds of his health, 
were meant to discourage others. 

True, as the full horror of the massacre of Arnritsar and the 
insensate brutalities committed in the Punjab became known 
throughout India, there was a wave of revultiion against the 
Government and its minions. But it was not easy to organise 
public agitation against the ambient repression, Public protest 
surlaced only in the form of dramatic gcstures of dissociation 
such as Tngore's rCllum:iation of his knighthood and, a few 
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days later, the resignation of Sir Sankaran Nair from his member­
ship of the Viceroy's Executive Council. There was also another 
reason for the relatively muted protest against Government mis­
deeds and policies. The Congress itself was passing through onc 
of its periodic phases of perplexity and indecision fonowing 
the withdrawal of Gandhi's Salyagraha and his decision not to 
revive it. The Congress, of course, was not directly involved in 
the Satyagraha venture and had not officially pronounced its 
benediction over it. However. already a peculiar relationship 
had grown up between Gandhi and the Congress and anything 
he did or failed to do tended to sct up pervasive ripples of elation 
or despondency and bewilderment throughout the movement. 

Under the circumstances, it was fortunate that there was a 
journal like India right in the very capital of the Empire which was 
not afraid of presenting the point of view of the Congress un· 
apologetically and at the same time provided a certain amount 
of accurate infonnatloD on what was happening in India when 
most of the British Press, not for the first nor the last time. was 
either virtually exercising a blackout of lndian news or merely 
contenting itself with purveying official disinformation as was 
revealed towards the end of 1919. But apart from its role as 
the interpreter of the viewpoint of the Indian National Congress. 
and as a source of undoctored information, India became a rallying 
point for all those, whether Indian or British, who supported 
India's claim to self·detcrmination. 

These by now included most of the progressive and radical 
body of opinion in Britain-Left·wing Labour and Trade Union 
groups, the pacifists, the women's liberation movement of the 
day and olhers. Indeed, in retrospect, its files of fading print 
lead Jike a long roll of honour, recording names which may 
not mean much to the younger generation of today but which 
ligbted many of our yesterdays. For India faithfuUy reported every 
meeting or demonstration Jlcld not only in London, but throughout 
the British Isles and which were addressed by leading Indian 
personalities who were in Britain in some strength during that 
crucial summer and autumn when the effort to put forward the 
Indian case reached an intensity which was not to be equalled till 
the late 193ili, when Jawaharlal Nehru's two visits to England 
gave a new impetus to the work of the India League and other 
organisations advocating Indian freedom, [t was a major lever 
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in building up that effort and, although it had only a relatively 
small circulation, its impact was [ar wider than its readership. 
What appeared in it was not only duly noted in Whitehall. but 
found echoes at the Palace of Westminster. 

This was important. For after administering a heavy dose of 
"frightfulness," the Government in London, partly to keep the 
good opinion of the American President, was going through the 
motions of applying the analgesic balm of hope of reforms. On 
May 29,1919, it had tabled the Indian Reforms Bm based on the 
Montagu~Che1msrord Report in the House of Commons, and by 
no less a person than Edwin Montagu. After its Second Reading 
it was agreed to set up a Joint Committee to hammer it into 
shape. The Bill was finatly passed by the Commons on December 
5, just in lime for the Upper House to consider it and give its 
seal of approval which it did without much ado. On Christmas 
Eve and three days before the opening of the Thjrty~fourth session 
of the Congress al Amritsar, the Bill was given the Royal assent. 
The whole legislative process, it seemed, Imd been accelerated 
in order that it should be completed before what Bonar Law was 
to describe as this "big meeting" which the Government was 
anxiow; to pacify. Pacify, however, without making any improve­
ments to make it more palatable to the Congress and without 
enlarging the area of democratic control and Indian responsibility 
a~ the Congress leadership and even some others were urging both 
in india and Britain. 

India was to hammer this point in a lapidary editorial on 
December ]2, probably written by Helena Normanton herself 
when the Bill, after the committee stage had been duly negotia­
ted, wa.'> given its Third Reading and sent to the House of Lords. 
"Unaltered by a single word, unimproved by a solitary conces­
sion in the direction of democracy," it wrote scathingly, "tbe 
Government of India Bill has now passed through the House 
of Commons. The manner of its passing has been the means of 
showing that parliamentary institutions as our freedom-loving 
forelathers under!'.tood them, are on their deatb~bed in this 
country." 

The editorial was particularly unsparing of and harsh and 
uncharitable on Montagu. At onc point he was compared to "a 
French monarch" ordering "the old Parliament of Paris" to 
register a Royal decree. He was said to have shown himself 
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"utterly foreign to the !;.pirit of Constitution in England." It 
went on to pour ridicule on him by saying; "For the moment we 
wilt leave Mr. Montagu to rejoice in his personal glory, a figure 
not unrcminiscenl of the immortal Tanarin de Tarascon who. 
after <lpostrophi:.ing himself thus; 'Tartar/n, COUl'rc (oj (Ie g/oire 
(T;Jftarin, cover yourself with glory)" remembered the dangers, 
and then adjusted him~elf. 'Tartarilt, l'OlH're wi de flunelIc' 
(Tartarin. cover yourself with flannel)." 

This wa~ unkind in the extreme. Yet there was a sufficient 
ekment of truth in this polemical judgement on Montagu who. 
as we know, wanted to do something "really big" by [ndia but 
somehow could not muster the courage to do it or die, politically 
speaking, in the attempt. India did not venture to "predict what 
the Congress may decide to do." But it was sure, fOT its part. 
that "the real patriots and democrats will, get on with the work, 
for India must be free, not in 15 years, not in 10 years, but 
rapidly. for her own sake and that of England's honour," 

This was fine and rousing rhetoric. It could even be argued 
that the stand taken by India on the Reforms Bill had validity 
in the long~term perspective of history. One must also assume 
that it was written with the tacit, if not explicit, approval of the 
leaders of the Congress deputation which was visiting England. 
N.C. Kelkar. who had been acting as honorary Editor of the 
journal, had left for home with Tilak and was back in India 
by the end of November . But V.1. Patel and scveral other Congress 
personalities had stayed behind for a time and must have been 
consulted before India pronounced its negative verdict 011 what 
had been described as "Mr. Montagu's changeling child." it had 
also other grounds for believing that it was truly interpreting 
the Congress mind on the subject in rejecting it. 

For throughout the summer and autumn of that year all 
the news indicated that the Congress found the Bill which Mon~ 
tagu was piloting. through the Commons unacceptable in all 
essentials and would not rise to the bait unless it was radically 
amcnded. Even Gandhi who had seemed to think that the re~ 
forms should not be lurned down summarily b.'ld begun to be 
more critical of them. As late as October 26----the New Year's 
day according to the Vikram Era~in a piece headed "Ring out 
the Old, Ring in the New" which appeared in two parts in his 
Nava/fl'all, he observed: "Here in India we are faced with despair 
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everywhere, It was confidently hoped that, at the close of the 
War, Inuia would get something substantial, but the hope turned 
out to be false, For aught we know the reforms may not come. 
Even if they do, they will be worthless. The Congress·League 
Scheme, then the Delhi Congress Scheme and subsequent schemes 
are now airy nothings",," 

Even the lifting of the Martial Law had failed to uplift his 
heart. It is true that he remained psychologically on the defensive 
because of what he called "an eclipse" of the sun in the Punjab 
and Ahmedabad, meaning the violence that for him had taken 
the shine out of "the SU11 of saryagralm," This was why while 
willing to take up individual cases of manifest injustice, he had 
been guarded in his statements on what was happening in the 
Punjab even after SiT Michael O'Dwyer had been replaced by a 
relatively milder man, Sir Edward MacJagan, and avoided any 
sweeping condemnation of the authorities in the Land of Five 
Rivers. However, he was oat deceived and wrote in Youllg India 
on August 6 that "though Sir Michael is no longer in India 
in body, he is certainly in our midst itt spirit, Witness th: many 
Punjab cases that have been dhocussed in these columns." 

Soon he was to see with his own eyes and hear with his own 
ears what the "O'Owyereao ~pirit" f'!ally meant in terms of 
human suffering. In mid-October th" order prohibiting his entry 
into the Punjab was at long last lifted and he lost no time in 
undertaking a visit to tlit- unhappy Province, He reached Lahore 
on October 24 and was accorded a tumultuous welcome so thatH 
took "40 minutes to go from the station to the car," Ht stayed 
"With Saruladevi Chaudhurani. wife of the Punjab Congress 
leader Pandit Rambhuj Dun who was still in prison, For tht: 
next ten weeks or more he was to remain in the Punjab, except 
for two brief trips to Delhi, one of them to preside over the 
Khilafat Conference towards the last week of November. For the 
Khilaf,tt issue by now had become a major preoccupation with 
him and was very much on the Congless agenda. 

The prolongation of his stay in the Punjab had been made 
necessary by a signHlca.nt development. The Congress as a 
body had taken a fat less complacent view lhan Gandhi himself 
about the nature and composition of the Committee under Lord 
Hunter appointed by the Government of India to inquire into 
the opelJ.tion of Martial Law in India generally but with its 
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main focus on the Punjab. It was particularly indignant that 
simultaneously with the announcement of the appointment of the 
Committee the Government decided to rush through legislation 
indemnifying officials., whether civilian or belonging to the army~ 
who had been culpable of excesses, Even so, possibly because 
of Gandhi's attitude and for tactical reasons, the Congless hud 
declared its willingness to cooperate with the Hunter Committee. 
but on certain conditions. These conditions were minimal. but 
the Government of India rejected them. The Congress Sub~ 
Committee on the Punjab then refused to cooperate with the 
Hunter Committee and decided to set up a Committee \0 con­
duct a parallel enquiry and engaged the services of Messrs 
Neville and Captain, Solicitors of London and Bombay respec~ 
lively, to assist with the work of the Committee. 

Gandhi, who had been co~opted on lhe Punjab Sub­
Committee of the Congress, was also chosen to serve on the 
Committee of enquiry. Other members were Motital Nehru,. 
C.R. Das, Fazlul Haq and Abbas. Tyabji, with K. Santanam 
as Secretary. However, Motilal Nehru had 10 resign when he was 
elected as President of the Congress session at Amritsar and hi& 
place was taken by M.R. Jayakar. Fazlul Hat,:. too, hardly 
served on the Committee before. he had to leave because of private 
and professional commitments. It was Gandhi, therefore, who 
did the lion's share of the work in recording evidence of the 
people who had borne the brunt of the Martial Law. He and his 
colleagues travelled extensively through the districts most affec­
ted, visiting not only Amritsar and Gujranwaia. but also Kasur. 
Wazirabad, Sheikhupurd. and even smaller towns and villages 
like Hafizabad, Sangla Hill, Chuharkana. AkaJgarh and Ram~ 
nagar. 

The tales of woe he had to hear were heartrending. He had 
been deeply perturbed by the stories t.hat had been brought 
to 11im before he could come to the Punjab. But what he saw and 
heard convinced him that a dreadful tragedy had been enacted 
in the Punjab. At the end of August he had written to Dr, Satyapal. 
"It is no joke for me to be outside the prison walls when so many 
Jeaders of the Punjab are suffering imprisonment for no fault 
save that of daring to serve their country to the best of their 
ability." By now he must have felt that against the backdrop of 
the enormities visited on the people of the Punjab, the reforms 
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offered by the British Government were something of a sick 
joke. 

Especially so because the Government had done little in the 
six months after the lifting of the Martial Law to assuage the 
hurt and create a favourable climatc for the Montagu-Chelms­
ford Reforms. On the contrary, Montagu had dug in his heels 
ov('r the Rowlatt Act even though events in the Punjab had 
proved that the authorities could do nicely without ha.ving 
recourse to this supererogatory instrument of repression. How~ 
eVer, or the Congress, least of all Gandhi. had not become re­
conciled 10 it. Indeed, in the last week of June, Gandhi had sent 
a personal cable to Montagu informing him that he intended to 
resume civil disobedience in early July "unless circumstances. 
alter J;ituation." The principal alteration he wanted wa~ the 
withdrawal of the Rowlatt Act. Montagu'J; reply was not only a 
categorical but insolent negative. A confidential cable conveyed 
to Gandhi by the Governor of Bombay warned him that "if it 
was a mistake for me to have embarked upon it {civil resistancel. 
it would be a crime to resume it." This pained him as he was to 
\vrite to Charles Roberts.', a former Under~Secretary of State 
for India, whom he had known for many year:.: 

What llOwever pained me most was Mr. Montagu's message 
that I must know that Rowlatt Act was not going to be 
repealed. I know nothing of this absoluteness about thenon~ 
repeal of the Act. I know that I shall give all I have towards 
securing its Tepeal.lt was conceived in unworthy distursl of 
the people; it was brought forth amid the universal opposition 
of Indian opinion and it was nurtured in repression. This is 
enough to condemn it, Does Mr. Montagu propose to in­
augurate reforms in the midst of a people whose pride has 
been deeply wounded, whose opinion Houted and many of 
whom have been wrongf!yJ tried and convicted'! Is. that a 
fit prelude to liberal reforms,? .. 1 would therefore like to 
paraphrase Mr. Montagu's warning and say that, if it 
was foUy to have passed the Rowlau Act in the face of 
Indian opposition, it is a crime to continue it, notwithstanding 
the persistence of such opposition ... 

It is true that he had not renewed satyag,.lha, but there 
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were other reasons besides Montagu's warning for that decision. 
10 the meanwhile the impasse, if anything, had become more 
impacted as it were because of a whole series of provocative acts 
by the authorities in India and Montagu's willingness, whatever 
his private thoughts, to pronoun(.,'e his benediction over them. 
india, therefore, could be forgiven for denouncing the Govern· 
ment of India Bill which the House of Commons had passed 
and thinking that it would find few buyers in India and certainly 
not in the Indian National Congress. However, this surmise 
was belied by events. Something happened in the interval 
between the writing of the editorial in India and the Congress 
session in the martyred city of Amritsar in the post-Christmas 
week of 1919 which seemed radically to alter the co·ordinates 
of the political situation in India. But what? 

The answer, perhaps~ is that simultaneously With the announ­
Cement of the Royal assent to the Reforms Bill a Royal Procla­
mation announced clemency for political prisoners in India, 
It was ambiguously worded and clemency was conditional on 
the prisoners not having been culpable of violent acts which 
left a large area of discretionary arbitrariness within executive 
decision. But it was nevertheless a contribution to the season 
of peace on earth and goodwill among men, Coming on the 
Christmas Eve, it was seen by the Congress as offering of an olive 
branch by the Government. At least it held out the hope of an 
early opening of the prison gates---even if selectively .... 



CHAPTER IV 

THE WATERSHED 

Bonar Law, anticipating a lillie, had called it this "big 
meeting", And big·it certainly was, at least in numbers. More 
than seven thousand-7,031 to be exact----<ielegates attended the 
Thirty-fourth session of the Indian National Congress held in 
the Aitchison Park oppositc the railway lines in Amritsar between 
December 27-30,1919. This was twice the number attending the 
previous session held at Calcutta. a metropolitan city which at 
the time had nearly ten times the population of Amritsar and 

'Could provide the facilities and amenities for such a big show. But 
then. it is well to recall. the Thirty-fourth session oCthe Congress 
was no ordinary session. It was the first plenary gathering of the 
Congress after the trauma of the Martial Law in the Punjab. 
Between it and all that had gone before there had flowed, in no 
mere metaphorical sense, what Gandhi described as "a river of 
blood, the holy blood of innocent pcoplc:' 

The dead, of course, had long since been buried or cremated, 
and eight months after the reign of terror the wounds of grief 
and humiliation of those who had lived through it and suffered. 
although by no means healed, were invisible. But some of the 
city's physical scars were slit! visible to the naked eye. In any 
case, for those who needed reminder. there was the Jallianwala 
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Bagh, the scene of the massacre of unarmed civilians by General 
Dyer and his men which India jn an editorial a week before the 
Congress. session had compared to "the massacre of St. Bar­
tholomew or of Glencoe"; which reminded the President of the 
Arnritsar Congress session of the atrocities committed by [he 
Kaiser's Reich against humanity during the First World War 
at "Louvain, Dinanl and Termondc"; but which, in hindsight, 
would seem to have foreshadowed things to come-Guernica. 
Lidke and Oradouf Sur Glane. 

Gandhi had visited the lallianwala 8agh a. few days before 
accompanied by Madan Mohan Malayjya and the London 
solicitor Neville. In a "Punjab Letter" for his readers in NOI'a­
jil'all he had evoked the scene in a. few simple, stark phrases. 
'The name Bagh [garden}." he had written, ·'isamisnomer.. . .It 
is not a garden but a rubbish dump. It is flanked on all sides 
by the backs of houses and people throw refuse on to it from 
their rear windows. It contains three tree:. and onesmaJl tomb .... " 
Hardly an appropriate setting for one of the most deadly episodes 
in the history of Indo-British encounter and one which. although 
few may have realised it, was to mark the beginning of the end 
of British rule in India for a number of complex and even con­
tradictory reasons operative on both sides of the litigation. 
But then the martyrdom of the humankind often has. a way of 
running its bitter course in the most unlikely and incongruous 
places as we know from Golgotha onwards. 

Given the poignant context of time and place and events the 
Thirty-fourth session of the Congress might rea.<;onably have been 
expected to live up to it. And to all appearances it did. The 
Reception Committee. expecting a massive influx. of delegates 
and visitors. had erected an oversize pamJat capable of accommo­
dating twelve thousand people. But they had underestimated and 
more than sixteen thousand people came, including a large 
number of women. The crush inside the paJlda/ was terrific and 
led to much confusion and it was announced that an overflow 
meeting would be held outside and addressed by many of the 
star turns at the session. including Gandhi, who, with Tilak, 
had arrived fairly early in the morning at the Aitchison Park 
though the session was scheduled to begin at one in the after­
noon. 
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The record turn out of delegates and visitors was not sur· 
prising, Most of the giants of Indian politics of the day were to 
be on the platform. Apart from Gandhi and Tilak they included 
Annie Besant, M,ldan Mohan Mala.viya, Bipin Chandra Pal, 
C.R Das. Hasan Imam. C. Vijiaraghavachariar, Dinshaw 
Petit, M.A, Jinnah, Raja of Mahmudabad. and even "Moderates" 
like Srinivasa Sastri and K, Natarajan. But the Royal Proclama­
tion of clemency for political prisoners had made it possible 
for the authorities to release most of the Punjab leaders-Drs. 
Kitchlew and SatyapaJ, Harkishen Lal and Rambhuj Dutt 
Chaudhry. Their arrival together was a signal for tumultuous 
scenes of jubilation, profuse garlanding and embraces, according 
to an eye-witness account. More: the real pi~ce de resistance 
was the dramatic entry of the Ali Brothers who had also been 
freed in time from their five years of detention at Chhindwara 
for them to come to Amritsar to attend the Congress session 
and also the session of the All-India Muslim League which, 
after some doubt and hesitation, it had been decided to hold at 
Amritsar in the post-Christmas week thus dispelling inspired 
rumours of an incipient rift in the Congress-League accord, 

There were some other unusual features about the Amritsar 
Congress session which illustrated the singular. if not unique. 
anatomy of the Congress movement. For ~the first time in its 
history, it had picked on as the Chairman of the Reception 
Committee, not a respectable andwell·to~do burgher or politician 
and profession<l.\ man who could persuade other men of property 
to loosen their purse strings and provide funds fOI hospitality 
tor the delegates and the distinguished visitors, hut a world 
renouncer, a s(l/Iyasi as he described himself. Swami Shraddha· 
nand, Born a year before the uprising of 1857, he had practised 
Law at Jalandhar in the Punjab and, like many members of the 
trading and professional Hindu middle class in the Punjab and 
Northern fndia generally, he had taken a keen interest in the Arya 
Samaj. a movement of highly combative Hindu revivalism often 
misleadingly equated with Hindu Reformation. He had founded 
the Gurukul at Hardwur in 1902, a seminary which rellected 
the revivalist orientation of the Arya Samaj. His real name, before 
he donned. the saffron robes, was Munshi Ram. 

He was aware of the paradox of 1:1. sdllyasi presiding over the 
Reception Committee formed to make arrangements for hosting 
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the annual session of India's foremost political organisation. 
As he was to explain in his address of welcome to the TIlirty­
fourth session of the Congress: 

In the history of the Congress this is perhaps the first occasion 
when a Sanyasi stands on its elevated platform. From the 
very day that I was selected as the Chairman of the Recep­
tion Committee the question is being asked "Can a saoyasi 
take part in political agitation consistently with his vow 1" 
My answer is quite simple. The day I entered this sacred 
stage of life I took the vow of looking upon this entire crea­
tion as my family and its entire wealth as one common store. 
r pledged myself to a life of service and social helpfulness . 
.. . It is not for political agitation but for something higher 
that 1 stand here. 

This was an edifying rationalisation and, in his case, close 
enough to truth as was demostrated by the leading part that he 
took in the procession in Delhi to protest against the Rowlatt 
Bill on March 30, 1919, and which he was able to keep largely 
peaceful, despite provocative postures taken up by the police 
and the military which resulted in several deaths. But soon he 
had ceased to take any interest in the Satyagraha movement 
and indeed bad disbanded the Satyagraha Sabha in Delhi without 
even prior consultation with or even informing Gandhi till the 
deed was done as we learn from a "Note vn the informal Private 
Satyagraha Conference" hd" in Bombay on May 28, 1919 •. 
where a letter from the Swami was read out. There could, there­
fore, have been no question of Swami Shraddhanand favouring 
the idea of a revival of civil disobedience. Whether or not Gandhi 
was upset by the withdrawal of the Swami from the Satyagraha 
movement, he took it stoically and seemed even to exult in this 
and other desertions. HI rejoice (almost) in the wreckage about 
me," he wrote to Polak in London on June 6, "Shraddhanandji 
gone. Mr. Jamnadas ha::; left. Some others may follow suit. These 
occurrences do not baffle me as does violence from the people. 
But I approach the 1st of July with confidence." ,Civil disob­
edience will be intensive, not extensive, this time," Actually, of 
course. as we know, there was no civil disobedience. intensive or 
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extensive, on july 1st. He had decided not to resume it in the 
circumstances. 

The Swami, for his part. despite his withdrawal from the 
Satyagraha mOVement. had agreed to serve on the Punjab Sub­
Committee set up by the Congress to which Gandhi had also 
been co-opted. Nor is there any doubt that Shraddhanand was 
indefatigable in bringing relief and solace to the people who 
had suffered bereavement or imprisonment during the Martial 
Law. It is even possible that the reason why he had dis50ciated 
himself from the Satyagraha movement was that he felt the 
authorities were less likely then to interfere with the humanitarian 
relief work he wanted to undertake in the Punjab. It was con~ 
sequently highly appropriate that he should have been chllscn 
to head the Reception Committee at the Amritsar session. 

In striking contrast to the Swami the man ele<:ted to preside 
over the Amritsar Congress session was no world renoun~eT, 
but very much a man of the world-and in the best sense of the 
term. Saffron robes were oat for him. Indeed. hc had been for 
most of his adult life lhe glass of fashion. and (is K. lsW'm.l Dutt 
in Congress Cyclopaedia: Volume I in a felicitously worded. 
and perceptive pcn+portrait of Matila! Nehru, puts it: "Those 
were days when Savlle Row was sartorially annexed to Anand 
Bhawan (the house in Allahabad where the Nehrus lived and 
which has since been gifted to lhe nation}". Largely a self· made 
patrician. he had built a lucrative practice at the Allahabad 
Bar and legends had grown about the rortune that he had built 
up and his life-style. Thcse were somewhat exaggerated as almost 
a'1! such stories tend to be, eftpecially in India. But there was no 
question that his was a baroque personality and a Certain 
baroque style of living went with it. [u his autobiography. 
lawaharlal Nehru describes his approach to life at that stage as 
It kind of vague eyrenaicism. This was probably truer of the 
father than the son. His house at Allahabad, Anand Bhawan. 
before the jail-going routine began. was the scene of much lavish 
entertainment and attracted a great deal that was brilliant and 
forward-looking in the intcilectualand socla\life ofIndiu. Indeed. 
upon it were to converge in time many currents of cultural and 
political enlightenment, both Eastern and Western. 

Politically, Motllal Nehru had been identified with the 
"Moderate" school of thought till well into his late fifties. He had 
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been present on the platform at Surat in 1907 when the infamolls 
shoe incident oc{:urred and. as already related, he was not at all 
amused by the attitude taken by his son. JawaharlaJ, who in 
far away Cambridge, seemed lightheartedly to align himself with 
the "Extremists", It was not until 1917 tbat he joined Annie 
Be~anf~ Home Rule League which for him was a step towards 
a mort! radical position. However, eVents transform men and 
women. The unsatisfactory character ofthc Montagu-Chelmsford 
scheme of reforms, but above all tbe massacre of the jallianwaln 
Bagb in April 1919 and the·overtones of racial conlempt for the 
Indians which surfaced among the British during the Martial 
Law and after, made a profound impact on Motilal Nehru's 
political thinking. We have confirmation of this from Jawaharlal 
Nehru who wrote in his autobiography: "The Punjab happen­
ings and the inquiry into them had a profound effect on father. 
His whole legal and constitutional foundations were shaken by 
them ~nd his mind was gradualJy prepared for that cbange 
which was to come a year later. He had already moved far from 
his old moderate position." 

But at the time he presided over the Amirtsar session. he 
was still going through a phase of transition, psychologically 
and politically. He had undoubtedly shed some of his liberal 
iJlm,ions and had come to the reluctant conclusion that constitu­
tional mode of agitation by itself was not going to persuade the 
British to give up their stmnglehold on Indian destiny. But he stiU 
seemed unsure whether Gandhian satyagraha and periodic prison 
pilgrimages would bring Indian freedom, And this sense of 
hovering between two attitudes. the one already manifestly irre-­
levant and the other not yet wholly crystallised, wmmunicated 
itself to what he said in his presidential address which was 
suppused to set the tone of debate at the Amritsar Congress 
session. It reflected a mind very much in a political transition 
and caught up in the perplexities inherent in sucb a process. If the 
people of the Punjab-and India-expected some clarion call for 
action or even spelling out of a strategic design for meeting the 
challenge of imperialj~t policies from the lribune of the nation 
they could not but have been disappointed, 

Not that those who had died and suffered were not rememb­
ered. Motilal Nehru spoke of it as the "saddest and most reveal­
ing ... tragedy," adding, "No [udian and no true Englislunan can 
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hear the story of the Khuni Bagh [Garden of Blood], as it is 
now aptly called, without a sickening feeling of horror:' And he 
quoted the verdict of an Englishman, C.F. Andrews, who had 
described it "as a cold and calculated massacre," and after 
going through "every single dctail with all the care and thor· 
oughne~$ that a pcrsonal investigation could command." pro· 
nounced it us "an unspeakable disgrace. indefensible. unpar­
donable. inexcusablc:' 

Speaker after speakcr was feelingly to refer to the 
tragedy which had been enacted hardly a mile away and 
sympathy for what the Punjab had been through during those 
few weeks when what was called Dyerarchy ruled the Province 
was not in short supply, either in prose or verse. Rabindranath 
Tagore. for instance. was not at Amritsar. But he had been deeply 
5tirred by the events in the Punjab and had begun to take 
keen interest in political affairs such as he had not shown since 
the early days after the Partition of Bengal. He had sent a poetic 
message entitled "Soul Ever Free". Its English rendering cannot 
evoke the consolatory immediacy of the original, but even so 
the concluding lines do connect somewhere deeply with the 
problem of reconciling ourselves to the problem of gratuitous. 
arbitrary and seemingly unavailing suffering which both indi­
viduals and collectivities have to face: 

ThereforeI still have hope, not that the wrecks will be mended, 
but that a new world will arise. 

~It is thy will to let us rush into the thick of conflicts.. hurts. 
Only give us Thy own weapon, my Master, the power to 

suffer and to trust. 
Honour us with difficult duties and pain that is hard to bear. 
Summon us to efforts whose fruit is not in success, and to 

ermnrl.<; which fail and yet find their price. 
And at the end of our task let us proudly bring before Thee 

our scars 
And Jay at Thy feet the Soul that is ever free and life that is 
deathless. 

Tagore's poem was read out on the second day. But there was 
,another poetic offering at the session on the fourth and the last 
day_ It was a poem by Sarojini Naidu. Where Tagore was implicit, 
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Sarojini Naidu wa'3 explicit. Her poem was simply entitled: 
'The Punjab 1919.' It began: 

How shall our love console thee. 
or assuage thy hapless woe, 

How shall our grief requite, 
The hearts that scourge thee 
And the bands that smHe 

Thy beauty with their rods'of bitter rage? 

And it ended: 

o mournful queen! 0 martyred Draupadi! 
Endure thou still 
Unconquered. undismayed. 
The Sacred river of thy stricken blood 
Shall fold the five~fold stream of Freedom's blood 
To guard the watch-towers of our Liberty. 

How. indeed, could the anguish of the Punjab be consoled 
and assuaged? Perhaps the fact that Tagore and Sarojini Naidu 
were moved to write poems to express their solidarity in its 
suffering did in some measure console and comfort. though 
even they must have realised that it is difficult, almost impossible. 
to relate to and identify with mass suffering even given their 
imaginative reach. But this could not be said of the rest of the 
business transacted at Amritsar. The session turned out to be 
a rather tame affair if not quite an anticlimax despite the 
presence of all that was noble and generous in the public life of 
the country. Somehow the priorities of concern appeared to be a 
little awry. 

This seemed clear from the word go. Swami Shraddhanand's 
address of welcome as Chairman of the Reception Committee 
had many edifying passages. It also claimed-and rightly-"The 
doses of Martial Law, which Lt. Col. Frank Johnson and General 
Dyer, administered to the Punjab have, instead of casting it 
50 years behind, stimulated its political activity so far that now 
having as if bridged over a number of years it stands abreast 
of the other more advanced provinces.." Not only that, he added: 
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Where tne idea of political unity and its privileges were­
known only to a handful among the educated, in that very 
soil of the Punjab even the remotest and the most unknown 
villages are now replete with a knowledge of the aims and 
strength of the National Assembly-nay even the ladies 
are evincing considerable interest in the movement. The 
letters that I have received from different villages during the 
las.t 15 days, and the remarkable change that 1 noticed in 
every sister and brother of the villages I Visited, convince 
me that the nation is now fully awake. 

Just now every string of the lute of this motherland is in tune. 
All of them sound the same note .... 

This was pitching it rather high, but it was essentially true. 
Equally pertinent was the question that he felt impelled to pose: 
"Is it not time til.en to stifle the discordant notes of political 
party spirit in this welcome harmony ofine followers of different 
faiths.? Moderates., Liberals and Extremists, Radicals, Home 
rulers of Maharashtra [Tilak's followers} as well as those of 
Adyar [Annie Besant's Hock] and tneir various sections all 
profess to work for the same goal .. , . Then why should they hate 
~ch other so much 1" Why indeed? For his part, he was 
"neutral". He was "neither a 'moderate', nor an 'extremist', 
nor again a 'home ruler'," "A Snayusi," he said in so many 
words, "has no concern with institutions whether religious or 
political." 
.. However, it became clear as he followed his rather intricate 
if not Jesuiticallille of reasoning that although he was "neutral", 
he was neutral on the side of those who were for the acceptance 
of the Montagu~Chclmsrord Reforms without any furLher ado. 
He was even able to quote Tilak to drive home his well~inten­
tiolled message: "Lokmanya Tilak Maharaj has pronounced his 
verdict saying, 'accept what has been given to you, and keep up 
a constitutional agitation for a full measure of Self~Government:' 
That for him settled the controversy. What is more, he was also 
for public express-ion of thanks to Edwin MOlltagu "who in spite 
of the hardest opposition could succe~sful1y win some measure 
of self·government for a nation that had go!\e down to the depthS 
of degradation." He appealed to his audience "in the name 
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of the ancient civilisation of India not to let this splendid oppor­
tunity slip from your hands. Take care that you do not get the 
stigma of ungratefulness impressed on you." 

This was magnificent, but in the context rather insensitive. 
Even Jesus of Nazareth had not suggested that after turning the 
other cheek the victim should also propose a vote of thanks 
to the buHy. Montagu. it is true, had had his private reservations 
about the Rowlatt Bills, He was also appalled-at least in private~ 
by what Dyer and O'Dwyer had done in the Punjab even before 
the Martial Law had been promulgated. "Our old friend, firm 
govemment, the idol of the Club smoking room." he had written 
to Chelmsford Oll May Day 1919, "ha~ produced its inevitable 
harvest." But in public he had continued to cover up for 
the very men who had perpetrated what were, by any standard. 
crimes against humanity. He could not be absolved of the 
responsibility for these acts. For he could have prevented the 
mischief by standing firm and refusing Chelmsford's demands 
or, alternatively, he could have resigned and honestly stated in 
Parliament the reasons for his resignation and his differences 
with what was, in all but name and its titular Plime Minister, a 
Tory Government. The Swami. howevet. did not quote the 
scriptures to Montagu to remind him that he who must have his 
political life must also be prepared to lose it-a~ he did before 
too long. 

Motilal Nehru's presidential address, of course, belonged to 
a very different universe of discourse. It was certainly long. 1t 
ran to thirty-eight foolscap pages in print. It had its longueurs, 
or would have had if. as Gandhi told his readers in Young India 
of January 7, 1920, fortunately, the President of th.c Congress 
had not "skipped over many pages whilst he was reading it." 
But it also had a certain sense of the prevailing mood, if not 
inside the panda!. at least outside it. "Fellow-delegates", he said 
at the very outset", you have assembled here in deep mourning 
over the cruel murder of hundreds of your brothers and in elect~ 
ing your president you have assigned to him the position of 
chief mourner. That position I accept in all reverence .... " 

He went on immediately to place the situation that had 
developed in India in its larger world per~pcctive. They had all 
been looking forward, "fuil of hope. to the great peace which 
would endure and which would bring the blessings of freedom 
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to aU nationalities," "Peace has now come, partially at least", 
he said, "but it has brought little comfort even to the victors. The 
pledges made by statesmcn have proved but cmpty words, the 
principles for which the war was fought have been forgotten and 
the famous fourteen points are dead an.d gone. Vue victis is still, 
as of old. the order of the day." 

Continuing his tour d' horizon of the international scene he 
referred to "Russia, hungering for peace," but being "allowed 
no respite" and "a number of little wars" that were being waged 
on the continent of Europe; to the fate of Turkey which was 
hanging in the balance and to Ireland and Egypt which were 
bcir'lg made to feel "the might of the British Empire" much like 
India wherc "the first fruits of the peace were the Rowlatt Bills 
and Martial Law." "Is it any wonder." he asked, "that the peace 
has aroused no enthusiasm and that the vas.t majority of the 
people of India have refused to participate in the peace celebra. 
tions'?" He noted the "concession" whicil had come "with 
coercion" as in Ireland. "Our rulers," he argued, "have failt:d to 
realize that repression and conciliation cannot go hand in hand." 
So much for the "policy of balance between conciliation and 
repression" which the new school of British historians of the Raj, 
like Dr. Judith Brown. seem almost to applaud. 

However, he saw "a ray of bright sunshine" amidst the 
encircling gloom--the Royal Proclamation of clemency "to be 
exercised by the Viceroy in the name and on behalf of His Majesty 
to all political offenders sufferillg imprisonment or restriction 
on their liberty" which had enabled "the great leaders of the 
Punjab who till yesterday ... in jail" to be witlt them. He 
seemed particularly touched not only by the language of the 
proclamation but the announcement at the same time that the 
Prince of Wales was to visit India the next winter as a gesture 
"of affectiOll and devotion" and said that it consoled them in their 
misfortunes. This tribute could hardly have failed to surprise 
any neutral observer at the Aitchison Park as, indeed, the por· 
traits of the King·Emperor and the Queen~Empress that were 
put up at both ends of the plmdal, and the fact that the very 
first resolution on the agenda was a vote of "respectful thanks to 
His Majesty the King-Emperor for His Gracious Proclamation" 
and as."urance of "a warm welcome" to the heir-apparent {the 
Unlucky Edward VIIT) during his forthcoming visit. But it was not 
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only Motilal Nehru who was passing through a political transi­
tion. So was Ga.ndlli as can be judged from the piece he wrote 
on the Royal Proclamalion for YOllng India of December 31, 
1919, jn which he speaks of it coupled with the Reforms Act as 
"an earnest of the intention of the British people to do justice [0 

India.·' 
In point of fact de:.pite ·'the river of blood" that bad flowed, 

the Amritsar session was to show that the Congress was still very 
mucll in transition even though the Moderates for the most paTt 
had by 110W distanced themselves decisively from it. Yet the point 
of no return had been reached even though the Congress leader­
ship was unable or reluctant to recognise this. At any rate it was 
to be the last Congress session which publicly paid homage to the 
British Royalty even though in fairness to the latter it must be 
admitted that often it was to show itself a little more mindful 
of Indian susceptibilitie:> than the political establishment which 
ruled the roost at Westminster or Delhi. 

The central part of the presidential address was, predictably, 
devoted to two themes-the Punjab and the Reforms Act. If 
anything, the Punjab look up the larger part of the address. It 
certainly was given priority of attention. "India", said MotHal 
Nellru, "has suffered much at the hands of an alien and re· 
aClionary bureaucracy, but the Punjab has in that re:>pect 
acquired a most unenviable notoriety." He quoted from Ramsay 
MacDonald's The Awakening of India the passage in which the 
future Labour Prime Minister describeS the Punjab Govern· 
ment as "the most incompetent", taking "its stand upon two 
foundation rocks, 'Prestige' and 'Sedition', the meaning of the 
former being that it can do what it likes and of the latter that if 
any Tndian questions its doings his house will be raided and he will 
b~ deported .... It has no notion of statesman-like handling, 
no idea of political methods," 

This was true. But Motilal Nehru's own analysis of the $0-

called 'Punjab tradition" wus superb and c.tn still be read with 
proi'tc and. perhaps, ought 10 be made compulsory reading rOT all 
those in Delhi who have to deal with the problems of what is 
now Punjab and not the Punjab that was. He saw that tradition, 
rightly, as "hallowed" by following "the: broad and ea~y 
path of piling repression on repression" and characterised the 
"O'Owyerian regime" as the very apOlheottis of that sti::rn tradition 
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of governance. He quoted chapter and verse of how, long before 
the Rowlatt legislation was conceived and hatched, O'Dwyer 
had utilized the Defence or India Act to intimidate the Press and 
the people of the Punjab by staging conspiracy trials by special 
tribunals. He dwelt on the methods of coercion used to maximise 
the re<:witment and coHection of war funds. The couotry wide 
agitation against the Rowlatt legislation-he called it "a terrible 
visjtatioo"-and "the convenient bogey of the frontier" gave 
Sir Michael O'Dwyer "the opportunity he sought" and he 
"prepared himself to deal the last effective blow." 

He dealt in some detail with what happened at Amritsar, 
Lahore. Gujranwala and Kasur before. during and after the 
Martial law and went on to say that "bes.ides the attempt to 
terrorise the people, the Punjab offkials aimed a blow at the 
most valuable asset of our political life, the union between 
Hindus and Mohammedans." Scenes of fraternisation, he added, 
"were treated by the Punjab officials as heinous crimes amounting 
to open rebellion and waging war against the King, and a new 
offence was created which was defined as 'fraternization of 
Hindus and Mohammedans against the Government by law 
established'. One of the most shameful acts of the Martial Law 
authorities was to ridicule the Hindu·Muslim entente publicly in 
various ways .. , . And an attempt was made under official inspira­
tion during the dosing days of Martial Law to found separate 
political associations or SaMas for Hindus, Mohammedans 
.and Sikhs," 

Before he conduded his account and analy!>is of the events 
·'in the Punjab, he underlined the lessons to be learnt from them 

both by the Indians and the British. "To us", he remarked, 
"they point t(l the path of steadfast endeavour, the path of 
-sm:rifke and patient ordeal. That is the only way to rC1)ch our 
goal. To Englh.hmcn they teach the oft~rcpeatcd truth that 
tyranny degrades those who excrcise it as. much as those who 
SUITer under it." While it wa~ for England to learn the lesson and 
"put an end to conditions which permit these occurrences," the 
moral for India was clear. "Ifou.r lives and honour," he argued, 
"are to remain at the men:y of an irresponsible executive and 
military, if the ordinary fights of human beings arc denied to us, 
then all talk of reform is a mockery. Con.,titutional reform 
without free citizenship is like rich attire on a body of a corpse." 
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This was well put. Logically the conclusion to be drawn from 
this ought to have been that acceptance of the Reforms which 
Montagu had laboured so hard to get through the British Parliaw 

ment could not be contemplated by the Congress as it would have 
involved abandoning all the positions it had held so far. But it 
was clear as soon as he began his scrutiny of the Reforms Act 
and which was to take up most of the rest of his address that 
Motilal Nehru was going to counsel the exact opposire. He said: 

The act is not based on the wishes of the people of India 
and its provisions faU short of the minimum demands made 
by the Congress. But let us not belittle the good that the Act 
does us. We must recognise that it gives Us some power and 
opens out new avenues of service for LIS which had hitherto 
been closed to Indians. I venture to think that our dear duty 
in these circurn&tances is to make the most of what we have 
got and at the same lime to continue to press for what is our 
due. 

To reinforce his argument he invoked the advice given by 
Ramsay MacDonald: 

Take advantage of whatever reforms are introduced into the 
Government of the country; lay down a fuller and a juster 
programme for the nation and let everyone concerned know 
that you consider yourselves bound by none of the provisions 
to which you have taken elleeption, and go on using your 
influence to get what you want. 

This was pragmatic wisdom, certainly, though no prophetic 
soul could have at that point in time foreseen that within a little 
morc than a decade MacDonald's pragmatism was to lead him 
to betray the party and the movement which had raised him to the 
Prime Ministershlp of Britain and earn him the enduring 
obloquy of the British Labour movement. MotHaI Nehru, of 
course, was a man of very different kidney. Unlike MacDonald 
he was to move towards increasingly more radical outlook as 
he grew older. Indeed, much of his speech, paradoxically, was 
devoted to pointing out the serious defect .. of the Reforms Act. 
It did not give the Indians "free citizenship" he lamented. adding: 
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«Our demand for a Declaration of Right!> was placed before the 
Parliamentary Joint Committee. It was ably prci>sed before them 
by our deputation, but the Committee did not give it even the 
courtesy of a brief notice in their report. We are thus left in the 
dark as to the reasons why this most natural demand bas not been 
acceded to." 

One would have thought the reasons would have been dear 
as daylight to all except anybody who was pretending not to sec. 
NOI that Molnal Nehru did not sce what was wrong with the 
package of ref onus offered by the British Governmellt 011 a take 
it or leave it ba~is. He saw it only too well, He spelt out clearly 
where they fell short of the minimum acceptable to the Congress, 
They vested "enormous reserved powers" in the hands of the 
Governors and the Governor~General in respect of legislation, 
including the Budget. The provisions relating to "fiscal autonomy" 
were so ambiguous as to be nugatory, The proposal to institute 
a parliamentllry inquiry every ten year as to whether funher 
subjects should be transferred to popular control in the proyinces 
was "wounding" to Indian self~rc:,pect. The reforms did not 
extend to doing 'justice 10 the political rights of Indian women." 
There was no enfranchisement of the masses and wage~eaming 
classes and the Joint Committee had "limited the total number 
of people enfranchised to about 1.5 per cent of the population." 
The President of the Congress seemed to be arguing against 
himself Yery incisively. 

Perhaps realising as much, he cut himself short when be 
came to consider the question of "India's right to enlist her youth 
,and manhood in the service of her army and navy [the air force 
apparently was still sucb slutT as dreams are made on, at least 
for India and Jndians. though it had been used against the defence­
less people ofthc Punjab], in the highest as in the lowest ranks," 
He merely contented himself with posing the question: Will 
Parliament then take immediate steps to [uUil this responsibility? 
He did not pause to answer, but passed on to other matters-like 
the Khilafat question, Swadeshi, and a plea tl,at B.G. Horniman 
be allowed to return to India-but all too briefly and concluded 
by holding out the bright hope that: 

. ,.when we get the power to mould our iO!,titutions, we 
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preliminary to legal proceedings being taken against him;' 
it merely placed 011 record its opinion that the Government of 
India and the Punjab Government be "held responsible for the 
inexcusable delay in placing all authoritative statement of the 
Massacre of the Jallianwala Bagh before the public and His 
Majsety's Government.'· The reference to His Majesty's Govcrn­
mCIH which had come to know of what had actually happened 
at a fairly early stage seemed strange in the comext. not to say a 
gratuitous ieHlff. 

The next resolution was firmer in demanding that in view of 
his "oppressive regime" and endorsement of General Dyer's 
massacre, Sir Michael O'Dwyer should be taken off the Army 
Commission which he was heading in India "as a preliminary 
to necessary legal action being taken against him." Resolution 
number seven was expression of gratitude for Sir Sankaran Nair's 
resignation from the Executive Council of the Governor-General 
as a protest against the Martial Law and all the repression and 
rough justice which were visited on the Punjab in the months 
that followed. The ninth resolution was in two parts. The first 
offered "respectful condolence" to tbe relatives of all those, 
whether "English ('If Indian", who had been killed and wounded 
during "the April disturbances", Part two of the resolution 
envisaged the setting up ofa trust in the names of Madan Mohan 
MaJaviya and MatHai Nehru to acquire the Jallianwala 8agh 
(which, according to Gandhi, was owned by about 40 individuals 
at the time of the massacre) for the Nation in order "to perpe~ 
tuate the memory of those wilo were killed or wounded on the 
13th day of April last." Another committee was appointed, 
consisting of Malaviya. Motila! Nehru, Gandhi, Swami Shrad­
dhanand, Girdhari Lal. Kitchlew and Harkishen Lal, with 
powers to co-opt others on the committee "to devise the best 
method of perpetuating the memory of the dead" and to collect 
funds for the memorial. 

The next three resolutions called for the repeal of the Rowlatt 
AI.;t. proteste<i against the passage of the Indemnity Bill, and 
urged that in conformity with "the letter and spirit of Royal 
Command" the general amnesty clause should apply to all 
detenus, deportees and political prisoners in Benga.J and other 
parts of rndia, including the Andamans, who had not tilt then been 
released. The thirteenth resolution demanded the recal1 of 
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Chelmsford who had "completely forfeited the confidence of {Ilc 
people of this country." This was rather a strange demand not 
because there was anylhing to be said in favour of Chelmsford, 
a weak. man who had allowed himself to be manipulated by the 
reactionary cahal of bureaucrat .. around him and browbeaten by 
O·Dwyer. but because what applied to himapplicd also to Montagu 
who was ultimately responsible for giving his sanction to the 
Rowlatt legislation. What was equally surprising was that 
Gandhi, who had shown a remarkably naive trust in Chelmsford. 
raised no strong objection to the altitude adopted by the Congress 
to Chelmsford. 

So resolution followed resolution covering all manner of 
things like Swadeshi, Labour Unions which the Provincial 
Congress Committees were called upon to premote, cancellation 
of the Indemnity Act, condemnation orthe unjust treatment meted 
out to the univcrsilY and school students in the Punjab. tho 
constitution of Delhi as "a Regulation Province" as also of 
Ajmer-Merwara which had found no mention in the Ref01ffis 
Act and the woes of third and intermediate class passengers on 
the Indian Railways. Evcn Burma was not overlooked and the 
thirty-fifth resolution saw IlO rcason for the ex.clusion of Burma 
from the operation of the new Government of India Act. 

All these issues were relevant and it was legitimate to raise 
them at the time of national stock-taking which the Congress 
sessions in those days uSL"(1 to be. But the sequence in which they 
were presented at Amritsar was so haphazard as almost to make 
no sense. Thus it was not until the tlurtcenth resolution that the 
draconian curbs on the Press in India were noted and "the 
immediate repeal of the Indian Press Act" was demanded though 
this linked well with the nex.t resolution which urged the immediate 
cancellation of the deportation order on RG. Horniman, the 
brilliant editor of the Bombay Chronicle. The Chairman of its 
Board of DireclOj~ at the time. incidentally. was none othc:r than 
M.A. Jinnah. 

If the arrangement of the agenda suggested a series of after­
thoughts occurring in no coherent order it was, perhaps, because 
the mind of the Congress leadership was focused on two main 
issues-the new Government of India Act and the fate of the 
Khilafat. There wus also the question of the latest curtailments 
of the rights of the Indian settlers ill South Africa. the resolution 
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on which was moved by Gandhi himself in a matter offact speech 
a good part of which consisted of quotation from C.F. Andrews' 
letter to the Congres5 from East Africa (the anti-Indian agitation 
by the Whites was going on in East Africa, tool. But this was a 
non-controversial resolution and its passing was a matter of 
formality. The same applied to the resolution number fifteen 
which protested against "the hostile attitude of some of the 
British Ministers toward5 the Turkish and Khilafat 4uestion" 
and urged the British Government to settle it "tn accordance 
with the just and legitimate sentiments of lndhtn Mussalmans and 
the solemn pledges of the Prime Minister:' But the crux of the 
session was in the debate on the fourteenth Icsolution which 
dealt with tlte reforms being offered in the Government of India 
Act. 

The battle order was clear rrom the line taken by MoWat 
Nehru in his presidential address. His advice was that the OPPOT­
tunities offered by the reforms should be accepted and utilized 
for the acbievement of full responsible Government. This was 
the pOl.'ition taken up not only by Madan Mohan Malaviya, 
Jinnah and even more fervently by Annie- Besant who had per­
formed something of a political volfe face since she had cbarac~ 
terised the whole package as "unworthy of England to otTer 
and India to accept" or words to that effect, but by Gandhi 
whose attitude was to prove decisive. In the Subjects Committee 
C.R. Das' dfaft had been approved. it did not explicitly reject the 
reforms, but it implied rejection: 

(I) That this Congress leite-rates its declaration of last year that 
India is fit for full Responsible Government and repudiates 
all assumptions and assertions to the contrary wherever made. 

(2) That this Congress adheres to the resolutions passed at the 
Delhi Congress regarding Constitutional Reforms and is. of 
opinion that the Reforms Act is inadequate, unsatisfactory 
and disappointing. 

(3) That this Congress further urges that Parliament should take 
early steps to establish full Responsible Government in India 
in accordance with the principle of Self-determination. 

However, Gandhi was not happy about Das' draft, He tabled 
an amendment to it which would have completely altered the 
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thrust of the resolution as approved by the Subjects Committee, 
This accepted the three clauses of the resolution as drafted by 
Das but omitted the word "disappointing" and added a fourth 
paragraph which read: 

(4) In the opinion of the Congress, whilst the RefOlms Act falls 
short of the requirements orthe situation in India and there~ 

fore inadequate and unsatisfactory. the Congress recognizes. 
it is a definite step towards Responsible Government and 
without prejudice to its full rights to agitate at the carliest 
opportunity for remedying the glaring omissions in the said 
Act. it calls upon the people to co~operate with the authorities 
in making the Ref alms a success and that this Congrc~s 
ex.presses its cordial thanks to the Right Hon'ble £.S. 
Montagu and Lord Sinha for their labours on behnlf of 
India in connection with the constitutional refonns, 

This was the text of the amendment as printed on the agenda. 
But by the time he rose to speak on his amendment on January 
1, 1920-the session had been extended to the New Year DllY~ 
he had changed the text and it read: 

Pending such introduction (of Responsible Government} 
this Congress begs loyally to respond to the sentiments in the 
Royal Proclamation, namely, 'Let it (lhe new era) begin with. 
a common detenninntion among my people and my officers; 
to work together for a common purpose' and trusts that both 
the authorities and the people will co-operate so to work the 
Reforms as to secure an early establishment of full responsi­
ble government and this Congress offers its warmest thanks 
to the Right Hon'ble E.S. Montagu for his labours in 
connection with them, 

Speaking in Hindi at first he said that it pained him to speak 
against a resolution which had been moved by Das and seconded 
by Tilak, especially becaus.e he agreed with them "to a great 
extent", But he was not prepared to chatacterize the Reforms as 
"disappointing." After moving his amendment in its revised 
version. he spoke in English and it was nothing: if not a puzzling 
speech. For he admitted that what was being given fell "far short 
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of the Congress ideal ,. and that at the carliest moment they should 
hay\! res.ponsible government. Nevertheless he argued that "the 
Indian cultule" demanded that they should "trust the OlaD who 
extends the hand of fellowship:' "The King-Emperor," be 
claimed, "has extended the hand of fellowship. (Hear, Hearl. 
1 suggest to yOll that Mr. Montagu has: extended the hand of 
fellowship, and if he has extended the hand of fellowship, do not 
reject his advances. Indian cohure demands trust and fuJ[ trust, 
and if we are sufficiently manly, we shall not be afraid of the 
future, but face the future in manly manner .... ., 

All thi~ was edifying, but hardly politically relevant. But 
nwre in the same vein was to come. He wanted them to say, 
"All right, Mr, Monragu, all right, all officials of the bureau­
cracy, we are going to trust you; we shall put you in a corner, 
and when you resist us, when you resist the advance of the 
country. you shall do so at your peril." That, he said, "is the 
manly attltude that I suggest to you:' At the end he even evoked 
the tcachings of Ole Bhagal'u,d Gita and addressing Tilak whom 
throughout his speech he called "Tilak Maharaj," he said: 
"Ir you accept your own civilization. I ask the author of Ille 
commentaries on BhClgol'ud Gila, if he accepts the teachings of 
lJ/wga\'ad Gira, then lct him extend the hand of fellowship to 
Mr, Montagu." 

He had. however, some valid points, As he pointed out, 
Tilab. stand was rather ambiguous. "Tilak Maharaj," he obser­
ved. "tells you that we are going to make usc of the Reforms Act, 
a'S he must, and as he has already told Mr. Montagu, as he has 
told the country, that we are going to take the fullest advantage 
of the Reforms, then I say be true to yourselves, be true to the 
counlry and tell the country you are going to do it." He wenl 
on to say, rightly, "that these tefanus enable you to advance 
further to your goal, if you believe that these reforms can be 
used as a stepping-stonc to full responsible governmcnt, then 1 
say, give Mr. Montagu hjs due and tell him, 'We thank you' _ ..... 
If, on the other hand, they did not thank him because they knew 
whitt his reforms were and what his intentions were, and intended 
to fru;;tr'.lte those intentions by obstructing him at every stage. 
then thq should also be frank about it and stale it clearly alld 
openly_ 

The argument was consistent with his notion of truth in 
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politics. But he was, perhaps. in a minority of one in thinking 
that. There was no obligation on the part of Congress leaders to 
reveal exactly what plans they had of using the Reforms Act as 
a leverage for advancing to fuU self~government. Revolutions, 
it has been said, are not made with rose water. Nor are national 
liberation struggles won by sticking to the truth and nothing but 
the truth, That was certainly Tilak's view and probably Das' 
lotS of many others. They could not have been convinced by his 
strange mode of reasoning either. But after some back and forth 
Gandhi won the substance of his point though not exactly his 
precise wording or the omission of the word "disappointing". 
In its final form, as Dr. Pattablti Sitaramayya has it, the resolution 
embodied "the original Resolution moved by Mr. Das with the 
replacement of Gandhi's extra paragraph by the following": 

Pending such introduction this Congress trusts that, so far 
as may be possible. the people will so work the Reforms as 
to secure an early establishment of full Responsible Govern~ 
ment. and this Congress offers its thanks to the Rt. Han.. 
E.S. Montagu for his labours in connection with. the 
Reforms. 

It was not a famous victory for Gandhi. He had to resOlt to 
the technique of exercising moral duress against the opposing 
side. He had threatened lhat if the intention of the Congress 
was to obstruct the Reforms Act, he would challenge that position 
by going across from one cnd of India to the other and say. "we 
shaH fail in our culture, we shall fall from our position if we do 
not do our duty that culture demands, if we do not respond to the 
hand that has been extended to us." Earlier, at the Amritsar 
session, he had applied the same kind of plessure during the 
discussion on another crucial resolution-number V-which 
referred to the events in the Punjab and Gujarat. The resolution 
bracketted the atrocities and acts of provocation commilted by 
the authorities with "a sudden outburst of mob frenzy," The 
Subjects Committee had rejected the resolution, apparently 
late at night. Gandhi was, however, insistent that the violence 
on the part of the people should be condemned. According to 
Dr. Sitaramayya. "He firmly, but politely and respectfully 
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ex.pressed his inability to be in the Congress if the Cougress 
could not see its way to accepting his view point." 

This moral pressure had worked. Again, according to Dr. 
Sitaramayya, "The next morning, amidst the whinings and 
whimperings of the bulk of delegates, Resolution V was app_ 
roved." But only after what the official historian of the Congress 
describes as a "superb" speech on the subject by Gandhi in which 
he said: 

There is no greater Resolution before this Congress than 
lhh; one. The whole key to success in the future lies in your 
hearty recognition of the truth underlying it. and acting up to 
it. To the extent we fail in recognising the Eternal truth 
that underlies it, to that extent we are bound to fail. 

He had gone on to insist that there had been violence "on 
our part" and he was prepm-ed to produce "abundant proof of 
it" from Ahmedabad, Viramgam and Bombay. though he also 
acknowledged that there was "grave provocation given by the 
Government in arresting Dr. Kitchlew and Dr. Satyapal and in 
arresting me'> who was bent on a mission of peace "at the invita~ 
tion of Dr. Salyapal and Swamiji [Shraddhanand]". His con~ 
clusion was simple. The Government, he said" "went mad at 
the time; we went mad also at the time. I say. do not return 
madness with madness, but return madness with sanity and the 
whole situation will be yours." 

£t almost sounded a paraphrase of the gospeL But what had 
it to do with the politics of a suppressed nation? It is hard to 
believe that either Tilak or C.R. Das or Has-rat Mohani 01 
Mohamed Ali who was on the platform having come from 
Chhindwala-but. as he added. "with a return ticket"-were 
persuaded that it made any sense in terms of realpolitik. Never­
theless Gandhi had his way, The resolution was duly passed. 
"There is no manner of doubt whatever that the whole Congress 
was a triumph for Gandhi," says Dr. Sitaramayya. So does 
Judith Brown working from the opposite side. though she­
puts it much more guardedly and speaks merely of "Gandhi's 
emergence and recognition as a potential all"India Jcader" in 
the period leading up to and at the Amritsar session. There is 
no doubt, at any rate, that at Amritsar he look a much more-
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active part than he had taken at th.e important Lucknow sess.ion 
in 1916 where the Congress~Leaguc concordat was concluded 
and ratified. Of course, hc had not attended either the Special 
Session at Bombay at the cnd of August 1918 or the Delhi Session 
in December, the latter due to his "poor health", At Amritsar. 
on the other hand, his was the decisive voice in determining 
vital policy decisions. Indeed. as he records in his My Experiments 
with Truth: 

I must record my participation in CongIcss proceedings at 
Amritsar as my real entrance into the Congress politics. My 
attendance at the previous Congresses was nothing more 
perhaps than an annual renewal of allegiance to the Congress, 
I never felt on these occasions, that I had any other work 
cut out for me except that of a mere private, nor did I desire 
more. 

Judith Brown is right in suggesting that he felt that "if he was 
to right 'wrongs' and show !tis country the way to Swaraj, he 
must playa larger part in them [Indian politics1 than he had so 
far:' But he could have done that without getting directly and 
intimately involved in Congre~s politics. The reason for that was 
related to his experience of the abortive Rowlatt Satyagraha. 
He probably reaJised that it was impossible to sustain a mass 
agitation to set right the wrongs merely through an ad hoc 
organisation like the Satyagraha Sabha that he had improvised. 
What was needed for such a nationwide movement was some 
stable organisation and instrument and only the Congress. 
rooted in India's needs and political and cultural traditions, 
whatever its defects, fitted the bill. This was a conviction which, 
whatever his relationship with the Indian National Congress 
from time to time and whether or not he was formally a four~ 
anna member ofH, was to remain with him till his dying day ... , 



CHAPTER V 

ON A COLLISION COURSE 

Paradoxical1y, a year which had been marked in India by a 
high tide of widespread political turbulence and witnessed an 
accentuation of alienation between the rulers and the ruled 
surpassing that experienced during the period following the 
Partition of Bengal, seemed to end on a note of a visitant calm, 
or what the French call soulagemtnf. Indeed. 1920 began in a 
climate of optimism and the New Year Day Was celebrated in a 
mood of rejoicing at the liberation, if not yet ortbe Indian people 
as a whole, at least for a small fraction of them who had been 
driven by poverty to seek livelihood by emigrating to Afrka, 
the Caribbean and the Pacific islands like Fiji to work as inden­
tured labourers under conditions which were tantamount to 
slavery in all but name. 

The system of indentured labour had grown up almost over a 
century as a kind of substi.ute for slavery. As a very large pro­
portion of those who were sucked into this system were Indians, 
it had become a sore polnt with the fndian public of all shades 
of opinion and none. irrespective of creed or confcs:-.ion. However, 
it was the Congress, thanks to Gandhi's initiative. which systema­
tically took up the issue as an essential part ,of its programme 
and kept up the pressure on the Government for its abolition. 
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It was an issue on which the lndian Government could not 
afford to be altogether unresponsive for fear of earning inter­
national opprobrium. 

The result was that the abolitionist argument had made 
some headway. though the success was slow and came piecemeal. 
The system of indentured labour in Natal ended because of the 
refusal ofthe Indian Government to permit further recruitment of 
labour for the purpose in India. It ended in Mauritius in 1911 
becasue there was no more demand for it. But in other parts of the 
colonial empire. like Fiji, British Guiana (as it was known at the 
time), Trinidad; Jamaica and Surinam the perniciou~ system 
persisted because it furnished cheap bonded labour for the owners 
of plantations and because the Colonial Office in London, for 
all its Platonic headshaking at the evils of the system, Was 

willing to look the other way. 
However, the Government in India was undel' increasing 

pressure from Indian opinion and during 1914-16 made enquiries 
among the governments in the Provinces which constituted the 
main reservoir of recruitment for indentured labour overseas. 
These enquiries established tbat not only was thOle considerable 
popular resentment at grassroot leyeI, but the system generated 
corruption. blackmail and many other abuses. Meanwhile, under 
Congress inspiration, C.F. Andrews and W.W. Pear.;oll. both 
closely associated with Gandhi and Rabindranath Tagore. had 
gone out to Fiji in 1915 to investigate how the system \vorked 
and report back. Their report revealed the appalling conditions 
under which the indentured labour had to work and live and 
Hardinge was persuaded to accept Malaviy.l.'s motion in the 
Imperial Legislative Council aimed at the abolition of indenture. 
However. he qualilied his I.lcceptance \vith the proviso that 
"some delay must be allowed while adjustments Were being 
made." This was to lead to a storm of indignation later when 
it became known that he had yielded to the pressure from 
the Colonial Office and agreed in private to allow recruiting for 
indenture to continue for five years. 

The Government of India was challenged by Andrews to 
come dean and had to admit the ex.istence of a secret undcrstan~ 
ding between the India Office and the Colonial Office to allow 
recruitment for feeding this system of slave labour. Gandhi 
who was by then beginning to be politically active in indin after 
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his year of political self-abnegation took up the issue and started 
an anti-ittdenture campaign. So did Annie Besant in Madlfts­
the Province Illost affected-in the spring of 1917. By the end 
of May that year Gandhi had threatened to launch a Satyagraha 
movement against further recruitment. This pressure worked and 
M April 12, 1917, it was announced that the Defcnceof India 
Act would be invoked to stop recruitment-incidentally the 
unique occasion on which this particular Act was used tu serve 
a good purpose. 

But the possibility that the system might be revived after the 
War when the Defence of India Act lapsed remained and the 
need for agitation to be kept IlP was realised by the Congress 
and especially Gandhi. Andrews, on Gandhi's advi(;e and with 
the full approval of Tagore, spent nearly a year in Fiji again 
to collect material to prove the evils inherent in the system. 
According to Dr. Sitaramayya. "He also greatly interested the 
women of Australia in the moral question involved. and gained 
strong support for the abolition of the indenture system. [n 
March. 1918, he met Mr. Montagu at Delhi and was able to 
put before him the facts he had jn his possession and to convince 
him that the system was altogether immoral." 

The upshot of this continuous build up of opinion in India. 
in Britain and other parts of the world against the system of 
indenture was that in ]919 an announcement was made by the 
Indian Government not only that there would be no further 
recruitment of labour for indenture, but that all indentured 
labourers who had not completed their five years' term should 
be set free on January 1, 1920. This was a relatively small mercy. 
But combined with the seductive offer of clemency under the 
Royal Proclamation a week earlier. it was enough to earn the 
gratitude of Indian political leadership. It probably helped 
Gandhi in winning support for his argument for the acceptance 
of the Reforms Act in a constructive spirit. It also ensured that 
although there was much impatience retlected in some of the 
speeches and the cry of "How Long, 0 Lord. How long?" was 
heard at the Aitchison Park: fram Jitcndralal Banerjee. not to 
mention calls for the impeachment of Chelmsford who had never 
bothered even to tour the Punjab after the shambles of the Martial 
Law, that tbe Amritsar session should cnd on a notc of mild 
hopefulness. 
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But the hopefulnc-lis proved to be shortRlived. Gandhi's 
success, such. as. it was, in persuading the Congress to adopt a 
positive approach to the Governmcnt of India Act Was to turn 
,out to be deceptive if not pyrrhic. The two crucial rcsolutions­
the onc on reform!> and the plea on the Turkish and Khilafat 
question-were going to be bypassed by events and bec-Ome 
virtually irrelcvant. There were two time~bombs ticking away 
which had not been noticed or. if noticed, were ignored. They 
were to go off marc or less simultaneously. The Amrit!iar Con­
gress had referred to tbe fact that "neither the Hunter Committee 
nor the Congres!i commission" had completed its "examination 
-of wjtnesses and issued its Report." The report of the Congress 
Sub-Ctommittee had been submitted to the Congress President 
as early as February 20. 1920. though it Was not published until 
March 25. It had thus stolen a march over the Hunter Committee 
Report which was not published until May 2& although it had 
been completed marc than two months earlier, possibly because 
the Government of India whose baby the Hunter Committee 
was. was more than a little embarrassed that the Committee had 
not been able to present a umtnimous report but had divided 
on racial lines and submitted a majority and a minority report. 

The divergence between the Majority and Minority reports 
of the Hunter Committee was not very wide, but it pivoted on 
a neuralgic issuc--the issue whether the Martial Law was ncces¥ 
sary at all and whether the manner in which it was administered 
and its duration could be considered justifiable. The British 
members of lhe Committee, nlthough critical of Dyer's deeds 
at Amritsar. jt1dged the Martial Law as Ilecessary and did not 
think thtH it was unduly prolonged. The three Indian members 
of the COO1mittee----Jagat Narayan, C.H. Setalvad and Sultan 
Ahmed-thought the exact opposite not only of what was done 
by Dyer to produce a "moral eifect". but the manner in which 
ail Over the Punjab there had been wholesale and indiscriminate 
arrests. floggings and.other ad hoc humiliating forms of punish­
ment. They felt that these acts merited much morc severe criticism 
than their Briti:.h colleagues were willing to countenance. 

In fadia. of course. the Congress Inquiry Committee's report 
had already been available for nearly two months. In the light 
of the evidence it had produced-it had heard nearly 1700 witnes­
ses and by going into rural arcas of the districts most ruthlessly 
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treated-even the sharper critical tone of the Minority Report 
seemed rather timid and inadequate. But in England the Times 
was worried for another reason. Whilst it did not want to hear of 
"Swords of Honour on onc side and of the Martyrs' Memorial 
on the other:' it lamented that the Committee could not have 
had the services of a Chairman better versed "in the art of com­
posing variations of opinion" who "might have ,;ueeceded in 
inducing his colleagues to present a unanimous report." 

This was a little unfair to Lord Hunter, but the worry of the 
Times leader-writer wa<; understandable. In its despatch accom­
panying the two reports the Government of India as well as the 
reply which Mentagu had scnt to the Governor-General there 
was a distinct impression of agreeing with [he Minority Report 
though in a much morc diluted language. For example, the Gov­
ernment of India's despatch admitted: "The administ-ration of 
Martial Law in the Punjab was marred in r~ar[icular instan~ 
by misuse of power, by irregularities and by injudicious and 
irresponsible acts." As for the Jallianwala 8agh episode, it 
acknOWledged that Dyer acted "beyond the necessity of the case, 
beyond what any reasonable man could have lhought it to be 
necessary, and that he did not act with as much humanity as 
the case demanded." 

In the conte)tt this did not seem to be severe censure of either 
Dyer or the Punjab administration, In Indin it was felt that both 
were being allowed to get offlighlly when the lea"'t that the British 
Government could do to a'Ssuage Indian feeling of hurt was to 
put both Dyer and O'Dwyer on trial. The latter in fact had been 
put on the Esher Committee to report on the future of the Indian 
Army. But a strong section of the Tory Party was up in arms 
against the enforced resignati{)n of Dyer ..... hom it regarded as. 
the saviour of the Empire in India. SwuklY Sportsman, reflecting 
the views of the very large body of rabid Tories, had written 
in vitriolic tefms and said that an honourable soldier had been 
"told off" pubHcly by a party of "mugs to the huge- delight of 
grinning niggers, whose great joy would be to murder every 
while man and rape every white woman, and who are only 
restrained from realising their pet ambition by a gentleman 
named Thomas Aitkin, who may be an absent-minded beggar, 
but is a pretty good fellow back of a Lewis-gun," This Tory 
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pressure had succeeded in some measure and the Army Council 
llad to reopen the case. 

It was in an atmosphere charged with partisanship that the 
Punjab disturbances were debated in Parliament in July 1920, 
ap)XlrentIy on a "supply" motion. Montagu made a speech 
which was rather like the proverbial Curate's Egg, good in parts, 
But as Maffey, wbo was in the House when the debate took place, 
wrote to Chelmsford, "from the moment he [Montagu] began 
to speak 1 could feel antipathy to him sweeping all over the 
House," After all, again to quote Maffey, was "a British General 
to be downed at the bidding ofa crooked Jew'?" What he said. 
however. was perfectly just. He described Dyer's approach as 
«the doctrine of terrorism (Kenworthy: ;Prussianism),' and 
went on to add: "Were they going to keep their hold on India 
by terrorism, racial humiliation, and subordina.tion and fright­
fulness, or were they going to rest it upon the goodwill and the 
growing goodwill of the people of the Indian Empire?" His­
whole argument tuwed on the question of the choice between 
two theories, one of subordination. the other of partnership, 
But this made little impact on the Tory ranks and, indeed, there 
were cries of "Bolshevism," 

Curiously, it was Churchill, Minister of War allhe time, who 
made the most telling speech which may well have won over some of 
the waverers to the Government side. "However they might dwell 
upon the difficulties of General Dyer during the Amrilsar riots," 
he said. in efiect, "one tremendous fact stood out-lhe slaughter 
of 400 persons and the wounding of probably three times as 
many at the jaUianwala 8agh on April 13--episode wit bout 
precedent in the modern history of the British Empire." He almost 
paraphrased what the Congress Inquiry Committee, choosing 
its words very calcfully, had said when it described Dyer's action 
as "a calculated piece of inhumanity ... unparalleled for its 
terror in the history of the Modern British Empire:' He pointed 
out that '"tbe chief cl1aracteristic of an army, surely, was that it 
was armed. That crowd was unarmed." What he meant by fright­
fulness, he argued, wa .. "the inflicting of a great slaughter or a 
massacre upOn a particular crowd of people with the intention 
of terrorising not merely the rest of the crowd but the whole 
country." He couJd not, he said, admit that doctrine : "Fright~ 
fulness was not remedy known to the British pharmacopoca:' 
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"He did not wish to conceal from the House his sincere opinion." 
he continued, ··that General Dyer's conduct deserved not only 
the loss of employment from which so many officers were suffering 
·at the present time, not only a measure of censure which the 
Government had pronounced. but also that it should have been 
marked bya distinctly disciplinary act~namely, his being placed 
compulsorily on the retired list." 

But even with this rather forceful speech by the Secretary 
of State for War who might have been expected to be indulgent 
towards a General, Dyer's supporters were able to muster an 
impressive tally~J31 against 232 for the Government. Most 
-of them, inevitably. were Tories~119 in aU which was seventeen 
more Tories than the Government whips were able to shepherd 
into the" Ayes" lobby when tbe House divided. Thus the majority 
-of the Unionists had voted far Dyer, though, it seems, seven 
coalition Liberals also did the same. So it was hardly surprising 
that the Government suffered a defeat when the matter was 
debated in the House of Lords later that month. The debate 
took place on July 19, 1910 on a motion in the name of Lord 
Finlay that "the House deplores the conduct of the case of General 
Dyer as unjust to that officer." Many of the peers from the back­
woods had turned up and Finlay's motion was passed by 129 
votes to 86. 

The strong current of support for Dyer which the debates 
in the Commons and the House of Lords revealed was not cal­
culated to accelerate the process of reconciliation between India 
and Britain which the Royal Proclamation was designed to pro~ 
mote. Coming after the fund raising to compensate Dyer for the 
loss of his employment and the singularly callous refusal by 
Mantagu in his reply to the Government of India's despatch on 
the Hunter Committee Report to condemn aerial bombardment 
.of civilian population in the Punjab and give assurances that it 
will not be repeated, it had seemed to Indians like rubbing salt into 
the wounds inflicted by the Martial Law atrocities. Simultane-­
.culy and parallel with these developments another neuralgic 
issue was coming to a head in the first half of 1920-tbe future 
of Turkey and the: Khilafat. 

On this question the Government of India was in great 
<lifficulty. It was aware of the strong feeling among the Indian 
Muslims about the Khilafat and the fate of their holy places of 
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which the ramshackle Ottomon Empire had been the custodian. 
It was also aware that Gandhi had been urging the Hindus and 
other communities to make common cause with their Mu:;lim 
compatriots on this issue and wa." succeeding up to a. point, 
despite some reluctance. if not opposition, of some Congress 
Ie-dders like Tilak, Hitherto the strongest card in the British 
hands to maintain their hold over India had been the Muslim 
card. This card had been partly trumped by the Congress-League 
concordat negotiated in J916. Now it was in danger of being 
made virtually useless. How useless had been demonstrated dur~ 
illg the days leading up to the Martial Law in the Punjab and 
after which were witnessed remarkable scenes of rralernisation 
between the two major communities in the Punjab~al1d India 
generally. 

But the indian Government knew perfectly well that it was 
not in a position to retrieve the situation and persuade the Gov~ 
ernmcnt in London to change its policy with regard to Turkey 
and the Khilafat. That policy was dictated by the great imperial 
design for the Near and the Middle East in the post-war period. 
That design included the establiShment of strong Western im­
perialist bridgeheads in the Levant, the control of the entrance 
to the Black Sea (as part of the policy of containment of Soviet 
RUSSia), the returning of Thrace \0 Greece, the hiving off of 
Egypt in order to strengthen British overlords hip over it, and the 
setting up of a series of tribal kingdoms in the Middle East 
dependent largely on Britain and at the tim!."!> almost its pensionels. 

The fear of an intensification of opposition to this design 
for the carve up of the Near and Middle East if the Ali Brothers. 
and other Muslim leaders, like Maulana Abul Kalam Azad~ 

were released, perhaps, was one of the reasons why thcirdctcntion 
had been prolonged even after the War was over and despite 
the almost continuous pT()dding by Gandhi. However, it was. 
impossible also to keep them under detention indefinitely 
without any excuse. For that, too, could lead to another set 
of difficulties for the Government, especially as it knew that the­
case for their detention even in war time had not been particularly 
convincing. Certainly, the Ali Brothers had vague Pan-Islamic 
sympathie:;. But they were very far from being naming: revolu­
tionaries and the notion of their waging war against the King­
Emperor W;J.S ludicrous. Mohamed Ali in an interview in LondoR 
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in March 1920 was to declare that "if Turkey were to attack 
India, indian Moslems will defend {lndiaJ," and revealed: 

1 myself was interned on the ground that I had sympathy wilh 
the King's enemies. As a matter of fact, the wire I sent to 
Talaat (Bey) was sent from Simla with Government money, 
and was written in the office of the head of C.l.D .... It 
read as follows: Please think a thousand times before YOIl 
enter the war and if you enter this war against England our 
position wi1l be extremely sad. The Government should have 
used us as ambassadors to Turkey to influence her. 

The Government's fear proved to be justified. After their 
release which was just in time to put in an appearance at the­
Amrilsar session of the Congress and the Muslim League, the 
Ali Brothers had lost no time ill taking up the Khitafat cause. 
They had arranged a conclave in Amritsar itselF and it was 
decided to take a deputation to lhe Viceroy next month as soon 
as it could be arranged. Gandhi had agreed to be on the deputa~ 
lion. It included many of the influential leaders of the two 
communities. Apart from Gandhi, they were Hakim Ajmai 
Khan, the two Ali Brothers, Dr. M.A. Ansari. Maulanas Abdul 
Bari and Abul Kalam Azad, Madan Mohan Malaviya, Motila1 
Nehru, Saifuddin Kitchlew. Hasrat Mohani, Swami Shraddha~ 
nand, Rambhuj Dutt Choudhry, Syed Hasan Imam, Syed Zahur 
Ahmed (Secretary, Muslim League), Fazlul Haq and M.A. 
Jjnnah. 

The deputation saw Chelmsford on January 19 and Dr. 
Ansari read out the address which Gandhi had not particularly 
liked because. as he wrote to MalTey on January IS, he considered 
the presentation of the Khilafat case in the address. "vague and 
in general terms. whereas at a critical moment like this. the 
statement should have been dignillcd. brief. precise. as unargu­
mentativc as possible. conllning: itself merely to bare facts and 
presenting the case from the highest platform and not froln 
the platform of diplomacy." Curiou~ly, however. Matfcy did 
not agree with Gandhi's criticism of the address (lnd wrote back 
that "it covers the ground very fully and I think they have exer­
cised a wise discretion in excluding a presentation of claims on 
such an occasion." 
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The deputation, however, got little change from the Viceroy 
beyond sympathy with the feelings of Indian Muslims. He was in 
any case in no position to offer lhem anything else, least of all 
hopes of a change in the policy of the Brithh Government. All 
he could say was that at the Paris Peace Conference "Montagu, 
two Indian representatives, Lord Sinha and the Maharaja uf 
Bikaner, and an Indian Muslim deputation" were pressing their 
clajms as he was dojn~ himself in London. But this wa~ cold 
comfort, especially as Chelmsford cautioned them that the 
Sultan and Turkey could not expect a differential treatment by the 
Peace Conference and that tho~e who had drawn "the sword in 
the cause of Germany could not wholly escape the consequences" 
of their action. In vain did the deputation remind him of the 
pledges given by both Asquith and Lloyd George during the 
War. 

The Khilafat :mpporters thought that the bc-st thing to do was 
to send a deputation to Europe to put their case. though whether 
Gandhi hoped any good to come out of their venture is doubtful. 
A deputation consisting of MolmOled Ali. Syud Hossain and 
Saiyed Sulaiman Nadvi, head of the Shibli Academy, left for 
Europe where they arrived early in March. It was not altogether 
an auspicious beginning. For they were held up by a railway 
strike while en route from Venice to Paris. But they were able 
to reach London just in time to attend a debate in the House of 
Commons on the fulure of Constantinople (now hlanbul). 
For the next two months or more the deputation, with the help of 
the British Committee of the (ndian National Congress and 
other radical organisations. were to carryon intensive publicity for 
the KhiJafat cause. They were received by Lloyd George, accom~ 
panied by H.A.L. Fisher. According to a British observer, 
the case made for the Khilafat "was very muddled ... and 
made more so by Mohamed Ali's rather bald presentation." 
One can weI! believe that, Mohamed Ali, though an earthy 
popular speaker. was not elCactly a Demoslhcncs ill debate. But 
Lloyd George, for all his Welsh rhetorical talent, was by no 
means exactly a well im.tructed and informed Prime Minister. 
Moreover, he was not willing to make any effort to understand 
what the Khilafat deputation wanted to say. Helrailedquiteafew 
red herrings across the discussion and asked the younger Ali, 
for instance. whether his support of tbe inviolability of the 
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Ottoman Empire meant that he (Mohamed Ali) was opposed to 
the independence of Arabia. This was a trick question and 
Mohamed Ali. rather ingenuously, answered, "Yes", but added 
that within the Ottoman Empire thefe would be "opportunities: 
of autonomous development." 

The Khilafat deputation did not confine its work of propa~ 
ganda and persuasion only to Britain, though its main effort was 
concentrated there. It also visited Rome and Paris.. It was in 
Paris on two occasions at least, first. early in May and then 
again in July. On the first occasion it tried to see Millerand but 
could not because Millerand WU'f. in San Remo, but was able to 
sec the head of the "Asiatic" Department at the Quai d'Orsuy. 
It also addressed a meeting at the Salle Hache organised by the 
Comilt! de Defense des Interests Francais ell Turquie at which a 
lormer French Finance Minister, Ju!es Roche. presided. It was a 
well attended meeting, with representatives of Turkey and count· 
ries of {he Maghreb present and even, apparently, Muslims from 
Egypt, China and Russia. in July again. when Mohamed Ali and 
Syud Hossain were in Paris. thc-y addressed a meeting at the Sa.lJe 
Wagram. 

However, by then it was already too late and the Ft'ench~ 

though they were discontented with the share- of the spoils in the 
Near and Middle East which they had been given, were not in a 
position to pull tbe Khilafat's chestnulS out of the fire even jfthey 
wanted to and there was no reason to believe that they wanted to 
beyond using the Muslim card to further their own interests 
and secure a larger share of the cake that was going round for the 
asking after the carve up of the Ottoman Empire, The terms of 
the peace treaty with Turkey-the Treaty ofScvre~were pubUsh­
ed Bnd thl:Y left the Sultan of Turkey with very little apart rrom 
Constantinople as the capital of a truncated and moth-eaten 
state. Even the Port of Constantinople was to be declared an 
"international" port together with several olhers, like Alexand­
retta, Smyrna and Trebizond, with a "free zone" around it. 
Eastern Thrace was ceded to Greece and Turkey was to renounce 
several islands in the Aegean. Syria, Mesopotamia and Palestine 
were to be nominally independent but in effect under the rule of 
Mandatory Powers. In case of Syria-and Cilicia-the mandate 
was given to France whose protectorate over Tunisia and Morocco 
Turkey was made to recognize dejrm? The mandate on Palestine~ 
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including Jerusalem, was assigned to Britain thus paving the way 
for the e\'cntual creation of the Zionist State of Israel. There 
Were other harsh terms embodied in the Treaty of Sevres, but 
symbolically most galling was that the Sultan was to cease to be 
the warden of the Muslim holy places, including Mecca and 
Medina which were to pa~s under the authority of the King of 
Hcdjaz (modt.'rn Saudi Arabia). Thus the Khilafat was for till 
practical purposes defunct 

It WitS a Draconian peace treaty imposed by the victors 011 

Turkey, The shock to the Indian Muslim opinion was all the 
greater because with a naivily beyond bc1id" they had entertained 
hopes that the Allies would Jet Turkey off lightly, Even as late- as. 
the end of April. a~ Gandhi was to lell his readers in Yowrg brdia, 
he had received a rather optimistic cable from Mohamed Alj 
saying that "unlike as in Englund his deputation is receiving 
much support from the French Government and the people." 
Indeed, hope of the Treaty being revifOed under public pressure 
remained alive in many an Indian Muslim's breast even after its 
terms had been published simply because Montagu had described 
it as "a monstrous peace." But he wa:; doing that partly to shrugg 
off his own rc)\ponsibility in the matter and to let the Indian 
Muslims know that he had done all he could to save what he 
could of the KhBafat at Paris Peace Conference and they had 
better not make too much russ about it. 

This was also made clear to them in the message by the 
Viceroy published in Gazette (If Jndia Extraordinary simultane­
ously with a summary of the Treaty or Sevres on May 14, It was 
a mealy-mouthed and rather hypocritical message, claiming that 
the decisions taken by the Supremc Council ortbe Allies in respect 
of the peace settlement with Turkey "arc in fuU accordance 
with the high principles which have been applied in the peaCe 
s.ettlement with all other powers lately at war with Britain 
and her Allies," As a sop to Muslim sentiment, however, he 
admitted that the Treaty included "terms which 1 fear must be 
painful to all Muslims" and added that in the "hour of their 
trial" he desired to send them "a message of e/leoumgcmenl 
and sympathy" which he trusted would uphold them. In other 
words. they were to grin and bear it. In fact, more. He was 
confident that "with the conclusion of this new treaty that friend­
ship will quickly take life again and a Turkey regenerate. fun 
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of hope and ~trength, will stand forth in the future as in the past. 
a pillar of hlamic faith." He trusted that this thought would 
"strengthen them to accept the peace tenns with resignation. 
courage and fortitude and to keep their loyalty towards the 
Crown bright and untl.lrni~hcd as it has been for so many genera­
tions," The message ended with the words: God save the King 
Emperor. 

Gandhi wa" as ot"1:ply up~e[ and shocked as the mo:.1 ardent 
supporters of KhBafnt in India or elsewhere. And. perhaps. for 
two reasons. His faith in the British sense of faime-ss and justice 
had been shaken badly by the conduct of the British Government 
in the previous two yc~lrS. but it sti!lltngered and he did not think 
that the pledges so solemnlY given by both Asquith and Lloyd 
George, as he hod interpreted their words. would be so wantonly 
broken. He seemed l'till to be hovering between tro:.t in Britain's 
promise;, and disenchantment. Secondly. he had identified himself 
completely with the Khilafat cause <1" practically everything he 
wrote in the six months between December 1919 and May 1920 
indicates. He knew that many of his Hindu friends, both within 
the Congress and out"jde it. were extremely doubtful of the 
wisdom of the stand he had taken on what was. according to them, 
a purely conf'~siol1al concern as indeed it seemed to be with most 
Indian Muslim~ who have never been f(1ftunate in their choice 
of cause!> to e,~pouse in our time'>. 

Certainly. a~ a profoundly rt'iigi(lU.'. man. and therefore 
sensitive to olher people'~ religious <;usceptibilities. he sympathised 
with the feelings of the Muslims on the Khilafat question and 
.even shared them. However. as he was again and again to stres..<; 
in his letters and articles on the subject. it was also a question of 
justice which he was convinced was on tlte side of the Muslims. 
'''On the Khilafat question" h~ wrote in YOllng llfdia of April 28, 
1920, "} refuse to be a party to a broken pledge," This stand 
wa~ atieast consistent with the code or conduct hchad set himself 
and which by and large he was to observe throughout his poll tical 
life even when it seemed liable to earn him great unpopularity. 

British historians of the period, whether belonging to the 
(ltd imperialiloll school or the contemporary neo<olonialist 
vintage, take a very different view of his commitment to the 
'Khilafat cause. They are inclined to see in it a wily stratagem on 
.his part to achieve two objocts at the same time: to establish 
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himself as an all-India leader whose constituency straddled botb 
the major communities and bring the Muslims into the main~ 
stream of Congress politics and thus vitiate the tacit alliance 
bl:twecn the Raj and the Muslims which had been the central 
dement in the British policy of dhith., ct impera ever since Clive. 

Such opportunism would, of course, be perfectly in order in 
terms of rNil politik. But the only flaw in this theory is that. on 
their OWIl showing, quite a number of Hindu Congress leaders­
and some among them men of great influence and power, like 
Tliak and Madan Mohan Malaviya-were very lukewarnl if not 
actually hoslile to Gandhi's fervent support of the Muslims on 
the Khilafat question which went to the extent of his arguing 
\hal it was a more important issue than the Reforms and must 
have priority over it. An even more bizarre theory explaining 
Gandhi's motivation during this critical period has been spun by 
Dr. Judith Brown with her characteristic ingeniousness. She 
suggests that Gandhi saw in the Punjab crisis "u counterpoise 
to the Khilafat." In June 1920 he launched it "as a well-timed 
Hindu counterpoise to Muslim concern for the Khitafat:' It is 
not very clear what she means or implies. But on the face of it, 
the intention seems to be to make out that Gandhi was engaged 
ill SOUle kind of a balancing manoeuvre between the Hindus and 
the Muslims-an argument which would command willing 
louspension of disbelief if it could be proved that Dyer's bullet..; 
only hit the Hindus and before the floggings were jnflieted on 
all and sundry the confessional identity of the victim was c5tab· 
Jh;.hed by some litmus tcst and thc Muslims were sparcd the 
treatment. 

However. these sophisticated defence mechanisms for not 
facing reality apart, it is arguable that the KhiJafat cause wa'> not 
tin historically and politically viable cause for Gandhi and the 
Congress to make their own; that the Indian Muslims and 
Muslims generally, not for the firSt or the last time, were betag 
moved by their confessional nostalgia into identifying themselves 
with an obsolescent institution which could not possibly survive 
as indeed was shown soon enough when Mustafa Kamal-who. 
incidentally, had been sentenced to death together with hi~ 
associates by an extraordinary court· martial on the very morrow 
of the publication of the teons ofthe "Peace" Treaty with Turkey_ 
gave it a coup dc gracc,and tried, and partially succeeded, in 
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(:onstructing a modern secular polity on the shubby ruins of the 
Ottoman Empire, and the Khilafat, or Caliphate. 

This. is a valid argument, bUl only up to a point and con$id~ 
ered in isolation from the wider context. For the fact is that the 
Supreme Council of the Allies in impos.ing a punitive peace 
settlement upon Turkey was not guided by the desire to hasten 
the death of a medieval and obscurantist state strllcture and 
release forces which could bring about the regeneration ofiurkcy 
and pull her by scruff of her neck into the mainstream of modern 
political life. This was not anything remotely in its mind any 
more than it was in the mind of II Duce who let loose his Iegion~ 
aries in Abyssinia in the 1930s and whose air force was to drop 
bombs upon the Ethiopian population so that it could witness 
the spectacle of human flc!i.h "opening up like a rose" (as Musso~ 
lini Junior was to describe the scene after a bombing sortie), 
though some Western radicals thought so at the time, including. 
unhappily, George Bernard Shaw, In fact, the allies were moti­
vated by wholly imperialistic. aims, the principal among them 
being the creation of a number of subservient reactionary feudaJi­
ties in a strategically and economically vital region to shore up 
and perpetuate their control over it. 

Gandhi was not unaware of this purpose. Indeed. he could 
not have remained unaware. For quite a number of his corres­
pondents--some of them British, including a few who had been 
associated with him during his South African struggle~wrote 
to him chiding him for standing up for a thoroughly reactionary 
regime in Turkey whose record of oppression and inequities 
against its subject nationalities they quoted with evident rclish_ 
The language of anti~impcrialism did not come automatically 
to him at the time and he formulated ills answers to their argu­
ments in his own somewhat confusing-language. But the essential 
thrust of his counter-arguments cannot be mistaken and connects 
Witll the anti-imperialist logic. An Englishman, for instance. 
wrote to him lhat "a temporal sovereignty which violated the 
principles of self-determination" could not be upheld and went 
on to say: 

The non-Turkish Mohammedan subjects of the Sultan in 
general wanted Lo get rid of his rule. It is the Indian Moham·· 
medans who have no experience of that rule who want to 
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impose it on others. As a matter of fact the idea of any res.to~ 
ration of Turki$h rule in Syria or Arabia seems so remote 
from at! possibilities that to discuss it seems like discussing 
a restoration of the Holy Romun Empire. I cannot conceive 
what series of events could bring it about. 

The point was well made within its own premise. But the 
premise seemed to Gandhi to be wrong. He published a long 
e~trnct from his English correspondent's letter in YOllng' India 
of May 12. J920-that is two days before the details of the Treaty 
were public property. He answered it at some length beginning 
with words of praise for his correspondent. "It is. a typical 
letter;' he said. "sober, honest. to the point, and put in such 
graceful Jallguage that whilst it challenges you, it commands your 
respect by its very gmcefulness." But the writer. he added. "has 
built up a convincing argument on imaginary data." 

He pointed out that ~he Mohammedans "have never asked 
for Turkish rule in Arabia .... On the contrary, they hav<! said 
that they have no intention of re~isting Arabian self·government. ... 
They wanl the Khalifa's control over the Holy places of blam. 
In other words they ask for nothing more than what was guaran­
teed by Mr. Lloyd George (in his speecll of January 5,1918. 
and on the stfCngth of which guarantee Mohammedan soldiers 
split their blood on behalf of tile Allied Power;;.. All the elaborate 
argument therefore and the cogent reasoning of the above extract 
fnll to pieces based as they are upon a case that has never existed. 
1 have thrown myself heart and sou! into this question because 
British pledges, abstract justice and religious sentiment coincide. 
I can conceive the possibility of a blind and fanatical rdigious 
sentiment cxi~ting in opposition to pure justice. I shouhl then 
resist the former and fight for the latLer." 

He w<\s certainty presenting the t::1SC for Khilafat better than 
its perfcrvid supporters were doing. or capable of doing, in India 
and d~ewhcre. He was able to do so pr\..'CiseJy bel,.';ausc he had 
given the matter much serious thought; indeed, he had become 
so preoccupied with it that it figured even ill his dr<!ams as we 
learn from his letter to SaraJadevi Choudhurani written on 
April 30 while he was still thinking of going to England to plead 
the Khilafat cause with the British authorities. (aswe know, he 
bad sotlght tht.: Viceroy's permission and Montagu's approval 
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of his trip) though the idea was eventually dropped and the 
passage to England cnntcHed. It was certainly not taken up in a 
fit of political opportunism as a convenient stick with whi ... h to 
belabour the British Government or as a facile trick for conjuring 
up Hindu-Muslim unity as his critics suggested .at the lime 
and as an influential body of British historia.ns orthe Raj continue 
in varying ways to insinuate. 

He may not have seen the many pitfalls which arc obvious in 
the hind::;.ight, but in the context of the time and season it was 
not so easy to detect them. What is more, some political lead had 
to be given ovcr a question which was agitating the minds and 
hearts ora substantial segment of Indian humanity and, intuitively. 
Gandhi sensed the need for standing up and being counted 
as a supporter of the Khilafat cause when so many other leaders 
were carefully weighing the pros and cons or being held back by 
other inhibitions. A generous impUlse underlay his decision., 
but the decision itself was reached after much deliberation and he 
was by no means carded away by an emotional spasm and was in 
fact much morc cautious in chalking out a course of action than 
be bad been before launching his satyagraha over the Rowlatt 
1egislation. 

It is pertinent to recall Ihat two days before the publication 
of the terOlS of the Treaty of "Peace" with Turkey at a meeting 
of the All-India Khilafat Committee held in Bombay. with 
Hajj Mian Mohamed Chotani as the President, il was unani~ 
mously decided "to adopt and work a full nonMcooperation 
programme as recommended by the sub-committee consisting 
of Messrs Chotani, Gandhi, Abul Kalam Azad and Shaukat AIL'· 
Even so the first press statement he issued aner the terms were 
published, while admitting that they were "a staggering blow to 
the Indian Mus,.,ulmans;· was the soul of caution and even 
some degree of Cou"ism. "J hope," he said, "that the Mohamme­
dans will not lose self-control nor give way to de~p:l.ir. Given an 
adequate measure of intelligent selfMsacrilice, I have no doubt 
that it is possible to secure justice. There is no sacred character 
about the peace terms. They are capable of being revised." 

They were certainly capabk of being revised, but in suggesting, 
even if by implication, that (hey might be revised, he was 
being oversanguine. But. presumably, he was anxious for the 
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Indian Muslims not to lake MY precipitate action that might 
lead to vjolenc.:!. "I am c,)[lvinced," he added "that non·co­
opl!r;ltion is the only cllective remedy both for avoiding violeJ1l.:e 
and I\)r helling the wound infljct~J on M\)hlmmedJ.n IndiJ:' He. 
therefore, wanted Ihe Kl1i1at~lt Committee to "call immediately 
a joint conference of Hindus and Mohammedans to consiuerthe 
steps to be taken with a view to conccrted action being ta!l:.en 
for securing a .revision of the terms in consistence with the pledged 
worJ of British ministers and the known religious sentiment of 
lndian Mussulmans:' This was the line which he- continued 10 
take over the ne.'!.t few weeks in everything he wrote or said on the 
Khilafat theme. 

Meanwhile. however, the other time-bomb that had been 
ticking away had gone off-th" publication of the Hunter Com· 
mittee report togetber with the Government of India"s despatch 
to the Secretary of State for India and the latter's reply to it. 
When the Committee had been appointed and even when the 
Government had rushed in with the Indemnity Bill, Gandhi 
had taken a complacent, even complaisant view. of the affair. 
However, the manner in which the Government and the Com­
mittee had refused to meet even the minimal conditions sel by 
the Congress for its cooperation in the enquiry into the Punjab 
'"Disturbances" had disillusioned him long ago. The disillusion­
ment was only dee~ned by the Majority Report of the Hunter 
Committee and the accompanying gloss by the Government 
of India and Montagu. While he described the Minority Report 
as "an oasis. in a desert" and congratulated tlle three Indian 
members wilD had the courage oflheir dissent, he was scathing 
about the Majority version, Under the heading "Political Free­
masonry," he wrote in Young India of June 9, 1920: 

Freemasonry is a secret brotherhood which h'~s, m:;)re by 
its secret and iron rules than by its service t~) hum3.nity. 
obtained a hold upon some of thc best minds. Similarly there 
seems to be some secr~t code of conduct governing the official 
class in India before whkh the flower of t!le great British 
Dation r.lIl prostrate and unconsciously become instruments 
of injustice which as private hldividuats they would be 
ashamed of perpetrating. In no other way is it possible for 
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one to understand the majority report or the Hunter Commit~ 
tee, the despatch of the Government of India and th{ rtpJy 
thereto of the Secretary of State for India. 

He was sharply critical of the way the Committee had gone 
about its ta:;k. After referring to "the special pleading introduced 
to defend General Dyer even agHinsl himsc-If" and "the vain 
glorification of Sir Michael O'Dwyer although it was his spirit 
that actuated every act of criminality on the part of the sub­
ordinates" and "the deliberate refusal to examine his wildcaTcer 
before Ihe events of April," he wrote: 

Instead of accepting everything that the officials had to say. 
lhe Commiltee's obvious duty was to tax. itself to find. out 
the real cause of the disorder'>. It alIght to have gone out 
of it!> way to search out the inwardness of the events. Instead 
of p<ltienliy going behind the hard crust of official documents. 
the Conunittec allowed itself to be guid~d w-ith criminal 
laziness by mere official evidence. The report and the 
despatches. in my humble opinion, constitute an attempt 
to condone official lI.!wlessness. 

For Gandhi this was harsh language to use. But he was really 
upset by what he called "the cautions and half-heartt..'d con­
demnation pronounced upon General Dyer's massacre and the 
noturious crawling order" and regarded the whole Majority 
verdict as "page after page of thinly disguised otficial Whitewash." 
How then. he asked, were they "to break down this secr~l-be 
tbe secrecy ever so unconsciou5-conspiracy to uphold otflcial 
iniquity?" For, he maintained, "a scandal of this magnitude 
cannor be tolerated by tht: nation. if it is to preserve it. ,;df~ 
respect ... : In my opinion the littlC has arrived when we must 
cease to rely upon mere pt:tiHons to Parliament for dT..::ctivc 
action. P!.!titions will haVe value, when the nation has. behind it 
the P('lWCf to enforce its will. What power then haVe We 1" 

He answered his own question by rulil1g Oul arm ... 'li rebclJioll. 
"'f do not believe in armed risings," h~ said. "They arc a 
remedy worse than the disease sought to be cured. They are a. 
token of the spirit of revenge arHl impatience and anger." And 
he cited the cxample of the Allied pl)\~..:r~ ..... ho. while w<.tging war 
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against the Germans, had become "like the Germans, as the latter 
have been uc.lpicted to us by them," We have a bencr method," 
he claimed. "This. method is to refuse to be party to the wrong .... 
[ndia has the choice before her now." And what Was the choke? 
"Appt!al to the Parliament by all means if necessary," he con~ 
eluded. "But if the Parliament fails us and if we ''l.re worthy to 
call ourselves a nation, we must refuse to uphold the Government 
by withdrawing co~openHion from il." 

[[this was how Gandhi felt about v.hat he consid .... red to be an 
exercise in thinly disguised whitewash. it is not ditlkulllo imagine 
how the rest of India fdl. Even the Moderates \Vere deeply 
disturbed, partly because the Hunter Committee Maj..>rity tcport 
seemed to cut the ground from under their feet. The Congress 
leadership was ince-nsed,judging from the reaction of the man who 
had presided over the Amritsar session and had thrown his 
weight on the !>ide of caution and a Pllsitive response to the 
new Government of (ndin Act-Moiilal Nehru. A man not easily 
given to being swept away by political emotion, as his son has 
testilied. he happened to be in Arrah in connectlon with !'ome case 
in which he was appearing-incidentally C.R. Dus, it seems, was 
appearing on the otller side-When the Report was published, 
He wrote to lawaharlal on the vt!ry morrow in a mood of 
anger. "( have carefully read the A.P, summary of the Hunter 
Committee Report and that of the GOVl. Resolutions," he said. 
"They arc most astounding documents, We must not allow the 
gra.l'S to grow under our fcet." He [old him that GamI.hiji would 
be arriving at Bcnaras for the AJ!·ILldia Congrc!is Commiuee 
meeting that had been called there on May 29; that Malaviya 
was already there; and that he had sellt out his "Whip in the 
shape of a press telegram to the principal papers calling upon all 
members to attend." 

After telling him that he had better stay with him at Mrs. 
Gyanendra's, he instructed him to "bring the whole lile of the 
Amritsar Conspiracy ellsc" though he was afraid that "the re!1I1· 
lution passed at the J~lllianwala Ib.gh meeting of the 13th April 
IS not there," He added: 

Please look for the file prepared for thc Privy Council which 
Was received by me at Lahore Crom the Legal Remembrancer. 
ihat file is likdy to contain ott least a complete list of the 
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papers on the file. I am wiring to S:;mtanam also in case the 
'Iile is with him. [f we cannot get hold of the resolutions we 
must cull upon Jagatnarnin [presumahly, one of the signa­
tories of the Minority Report} to make a public statement. 
This is not a matter to be treated as ptivatc. My blood is 
boili/lg ever since J read the summaries YOu IWI"f: St:Ut. rVe must 
hold a Spc("ial Congress nOlr alld raise a l'criwblc hefJ for the 
rascals [emphasis added]. 

Indeed, that was the main dcd~ion taken at the meeting 
of the ALC.C. held at Senams on Muy 29-30. It was only the 
second time since its foundation that the Congrc~s had felt 
the need of holding a "Special" CQngre~~ in between its successive 
annual scssion~. the first Special Congress having been held at 
Bombay at the end of August 1918. Gandhi wa5 present at the 
BenaTas meeting which decided tbat the venue of the Special 
Congress be Calcutta which already held the well~merited record 
of hosting the annual sessions seven times before. Most 
of the leading A,l.ee. membeT5 who took part nt its Benant$. 
gathering went !itraight from it to attend the joint Hindu·Muslim 
Conference held at Allahabad on June 1·2, followed by a 
meeting of the AU~India Central Khilafat Committee the next 
day. Gandhi adtlressed the meeting of the Khilafat Committee. 
It was a "solemn speech" and "was listened to in perfect silence" 
as the Amrila Bazar Patrika reported, 

It was al~o a cautiou.:; !i.pccch. In contrast to his rather hasty 
decision to launch the Sntyagralla movement against the Rowlatt 
legislation, he seemed to be anxious to hasten slowly and metho­
dically towards the !iccond non-violent ClImbat. According to 
the Amrita Bazar Patrika, he said "he knew full well that Muslims 
realized that non-eo-operation was Ihe only remedy now left to 
India" in a war which he saW as one "between ral~e Christianity 
and Islam." They wanted to win the War with "moml force. The 
course that the movcment of non-co~oreralion should pursue 
would be graduated in four .. tages, ... His Excellency the 
Viceroy should be approached and given notice of one month 
to sec that the Turkish peace terms Were revised ill conformity 
with Moslem d~mands, and, in case it was not done. to resign 
and join the movement of non-co-operation. After a montb 
he llrst stage would be put into operation:' 
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He did not favour boycott of British goods and instead sugges­
ted tl1(:y should adopt swadeshi. Above all he wanted thcm to 
avoid violence "in any shape or form." and hc proposed that 
"a committee consisting of members prepared to remain with 
him and invested with full powers be appointed to work out the 
scheme, whose decisions would be binding on all people." fn 
other words, he wanted nuhing to be left tv chance or ad hoc 
decisions. of local leadership as on the previous occasion, hut 
wanted a general stuff or decision-making and planning group 
to work out the strategy of his war to be waged, not with guns, 
hut "moral force:' 

Thus the two strong current of political di~eontent. one 
connecting with Britain's imperialist international policy and 
bearing on the post~war carve up of the Ncar nnd Middle East. 
the other directly rdated to the sYSlem of govewance of India. 
which had been running parallel during the cio:;ing phase of 
World War 1 and had tended to converge throughout 1919 
till, largely under G.mdhi's influence. the Congress officially 
adopted the Khilafal cau;;e at its Amritsar session, found their 
point of conflu.::nce at Allahabad where the waters of the Ganga 
and the Yamuna flow into each other. Whether those Who thought 
of holding the joint Hindu·Muslim Conference at Allahabad at 
the beginning of June 1920 had this symbolism in mind is hard 
to say. But it could not hI! missed even though, unlike the merging 
of the two great rivers of rndia. this confluence WitS to prove 
transitory. 

Much has been made of the reservatiom, implicit or expl­
icit. which some of the prominent Hindu leader:; of the Congress. 
like Tilak. had OVcr the Congress getting mixed up with the 
Khilafat question. Ms. Judilh Brown in her Gamihi's Rise to 
Power harps a great deal on these reservations as she doe~ on the 
differences among the Muslim leadership itself some ofwhorn were 
elttremely lukewam1 about a policy which might lead. the Muslim 
community into a disastrous confrontation with the Government 
and spell economic ruin for it. Undoubtedly, these rcservations 
werc op.:rative r1<; inhibitive factors. Wh~lt is more the Govern­
ment played on them as hard as it could and hicd to mobilize 
its allies, the big landlords. the businessmen. and the rulers of the 
princely Muslim states, as a cQuntcrvailing force, It is pertinent 
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in this connection to recall that on May 21, the Njlam of Hydcta· 
bad is~ued an ukase or firman prohibiting his subjects from 
participating in tbe Khilalat movement. 

It is also true that the MusJim Khilarat leaders had some 
difficulty in accepting Gandhi's creed of non~violence though. 
paradoxically, Ihe Indian Muslims throughout the period of the 
struggle for Indian independence were allergic to the cull of the 
bomb as a political weapon. Moreover, while they were wjJIingto 
abide by it as a matter of policy they were not quite on the same 
creedal wavelength as Gandhi except a few individuals. As 
Jawahadal Nehru has recorded in his autobiography: 

ihere were long talks with the Moulvies and the Ulemas. 
and non-violence and non·co·operation were discussed. 
especially non·violence. Gandhiji told them that he wa.<; 
theirs to command. but on the definite understanding that 
they accepted non·violence with all its implications. There 
was to be no weakening: on that, no temporizing. no mental 
reservations. Xl was not easy rul the Moulvies [Muslim 
clerics] to grasp this idea, but they agreed, making it dear 
that they did so as a policy only and fiat as. a creed, for their 
religion did not prohibit the use of violence in a righteous 
cause. 

But for the time being this basic difl',:rcnce of approach made 
littlc difference to the acceptance of" Gandhi's. guidance and 
command by the K.hilafat leadership. As an intelligence a.-;sess· 
ment made early in May 1920 bemoaned: 

The association of Gandhi with any movement j:; a great 
asset, because hi .. name is. one to conjure v.tth among the 
ignorant masses. HCllce Shaukat AU and his disciples clairn 
Gandhi as their gurll and profess to be guitlcd entirely by 
his adviee, .. , Using the glamour of Gandhi's nume and their 
own weapon of religious. fanaticism, the mo:)l ardent and 
revolutionary Pan·hlamist can work at this scheme, knowing 
that from pas."ive to active rl;)sistunce i .. bill a step. Gandhi, 
in order to lead, ha .. to follow; at most, he can but hope 
to be a brake on progress. 
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This Wa~ rather a neat formulation. But thl! Government 
was beginning to be really concerned. and the Concern increased 
as the lwo movements secmed to coale~ce, or at least become 
mutually sustaining. The concern wus a!J the greater bL'Cuuse the 
Government had assumed that lhe "loyalisl" condilioned reflexes 
of the Muslims had struck deep roots ov~r the Yean, and 
especially during the war years, Ils own reflexive reaction was to 
look to its arsenal of instruments of repression and get ready 
to usc them, Symptomatic of its jittcnncss was an cxtcrnment 
order which the police served au Jawahnrlul Nehru who had 
accompanied his mother, Kamala Nehru anu his two sisters to 
Mussoorie about the middle of May. Kamala Nehru was seriously 
iII and Mrs Swarup Rani Nehru was keeping indifferent health 
and the doctors had advised change of climate. They were putting 
up at the Savoy Hotel where, it so happened, an Afghan delcga~ 
tion was staying at the same time. The authorities saw in this 
coincidence some deep-laid plan by the young Nehru and the 
Congress, on the one hand. and the Afghans, on the other, to 
hatch a conspiracy to overthrow the indian Government. 
Jawaharlal Nehru was asked to give a "positive undertaking" not 
"to sec or have any communication with the Afghan delegates:' 

This he had refused to do. Not because he had any "intention 
whatever of seeing the Afghans or having any communication 
with them," but because, as he explained in a letter to a certain 
M.L. Oakes, Superintendent of Police, Dehra Dun, "I utterly 
dislike the idea of binding myself down to any COUrse of 
action at the instance of tbe Government, even though such 
action may not prove irksome." It was, he added, "really a 
question of prillciple or conscience." So, the next day-May 
16-he was duly served with the order to leave Mussoorie "and 
not to enter, reside or remain. in allY area within the limits of 
the district of Dehra Dun" because the Local GOvernment bad 
"reasonable grounds for believing that Jowahirlal Nehru (sic1 
is acting or about to act in a manner prejudicial to public safety," 

Eventually, after an exchange of letters between MotHai 
Nehru and the Lieutenant~Governor of the United Provinces. 
Sir Harcourt Butler, who had been on the most friendly terms 
with the Nehru family for thirty year;;, the order issued under 
the DefenceofTndi~t (Consolidation) Rule;;(1915), was withdrawn. 
But others were less lucky than Jawaharlal NehrU though his 
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"luck" was also soon to run out. 1n a piece entitled "[nsanity" 
in Young India of May 26, Gandhi had quoted reports of what 
wa..,<; happening in Sind. tben a part of the Bombay Presidency. 
He had written how "some respectable men connected with the 
Khilafat movement Were sent to jail" and "3 respectable 
Zcmindar (landholder) was whipped by the Deputy Commis~ 
sioner within closed doors ... without any cause whatsoever.'­
He ha.d described such acts as "the vcry height of midmmmer 
madness." 

However. there was evidence of divided councils within 
the Congress which could only encourage the authorities to believe 
that they would be able to cope with any challenge. TiJak, who 
had attended the Benatas A.I.c.e. meeting had, for instance, 
not taken part in the joint Hindu~Muslim Conference at Allaha~ 
bad though Shnukat Ali had personally appealed to him to 
attend it. According to Tilak's biographer Dhananjay Keer. be 
"told him that he would not aitend any meeting except that of the 
Congress to decide questiLlns of national policy" .1hat his idea 
was that Muslims themselves should lake the initiative in the 
rnatter, and it was for the Hindus to support them in whatever 
dedsiOlt they would arrive at." But lhis was rather disingenuous. 
The truth. perhaps, was that his heart was not in the Khilafat 
movement which appeared to him to be an off-beat, jf not dubious. 
cause, historically untenable. 

But theil, maybe. eyer since his return from England at the 
end of November 1919 his heart had not been really in anything 
at aU. The injustice of the dismissal of his libel suit against 
Valentine Chirol had hurt him deeply although, like the burden 
of other disappointments and frustrations in his public and 
private Hfe, he had suffered it courageously and almost un* 
comrlainingly. But coming at a time when his physical and 
psychological reserves were at a low ebb, it told more than 
he was willing to admit even to himself. It perhaps accounted For 
that nervous irritability that led him into gratuitous polemics in 
the spring and early summer of 1920 which could easily have been 
avoided because often the bitter arguments arose not because of 
anything Tilak had said or done, but were occasioned by tbe 
acts and words of some of his kss intelligent followers. This. for 
instance, was the case when Annie Besaot protested that 
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Khaparde. not renowned for a civil tongue or delicacy of expres· 
sion, had called her Putana. tne Rakshasi who cOllspired to 
murder Krishna. 

It would have been both chivalrous and politic for TUak 
noL to get involved in this kind of low and unseemly polemks. 
But he did nol resist the templalion to reply to Annie Besant 
and in terms which did nOl improv<'! the tone of the cx.char'ges. 
So much so that Gandh.i W,I.:) moved to complain to Tilak "for 
stigmatising Mrs. Bcsant as Putana and told him thai she was 
doing her work in her own way hOllCSlly." Tilak continued to 
stick to his guns and said that "Putuna also did it honestly in her 
way 1.0 kill Krishna"-which was fair enough as a debating 
point but not pll.rliculurly edifying in the contex.t. It is even 
possible to detect in his reaction to Gandhi's protes.t a sense of 
irritation with Gandhi who~e habit of mixing politics with mor­
ality and even "thcoloBY" jarred on him so that on a public 
occasion-at a meeting of the Provincial Congress Committee in 
Bombay where the votes were being counted and there had been 
complaints of irregularities. according to Kcer~he exclaimed: 
"What Ita::; morality got to do with politics?" 

Kcer in his L okmatlya Tilak suggests that during this phase of 
his lifoil "the shrewd politician in Tilak" had realised lbal "Ute 
needs of the society, the mood of the people, and the methods of 
the freedom struggle coming up with the emergence of Gandhi 
in Indian polilics, were changing fa!>t. So he told Khauilkar 
(K.P.) that he would not accept the presidentship of the Congress 
session at Calcutta., .. Tilak sometimes said that he w,lOled to 
hand over charge to someone .... ,. This wah probably true, but 
only up to a point. For he seemed to be in two minds and much 
of what he said during the last phase of his life tended to be 
characterised by a peculiar ambivalence. 

Thus he was fuHy aware that the Congres:> represented the 
mainstream of Indian politics and 110 party which wanted to be 
effective in India could sepamte itself from that majnstream~ 
much less run counter to it. At the ~ame time he always wanted 
a party of his own and, as it were. tailored to suit his own 
personality. Earlier he lutd founded his Home Rule League 
for this purpose, and on April 20. 1920, he published the Mani­
festo of the Congress Democratic Party which he intended to 
found. It is a remarkable document in many ways, embodying: 
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a comprehensive pOll tical, economic and social programme which 
partly foreshadows the Declaration adopted by the CongTCSl> 
eleven years later at its Karachi session. It is possible to discern in 
it the influence of his recent stay in England for more than a year 
and, in particular, the impression which the British Labour Party 
made on his mind. He conceived of it. however. as functioning 
within the Congress or as an auxiliary to it. not apart from it. 
At the very outset, the Manifesto declared: 

The Congrcss~Democr'dtic Party. as the name denotes. iit 
a party animated by feelings of unswerving loyalty to the 
Congress and faith in Democracy. It believes in the potency 
of democratic doctrines for the solution of Indian problems. 
and regards the extension of education and poli1.ical franchise 
as two of its best weapons. It advocates the removal of aft 
civic. secular, or social disabilities based on caste or cilstoms. 
It believes in religious toleration, the sacredness of one':; 
religion to oneself and the right and duty of the state to protect 
it against aggression. 

The Manifesto then went on to paraphrase. but in concrete 
terms, the broad policy aims of the Congress by declaring that 
the party "believes in the integration or federation of India in 
the British Commonwealth for the advancement of the cause 
of humanity and the brotherhood of mankind, but demands 
autonomy for India and equal status as a sistel~State with every 
partner in the British Commonwealth, including Great Britain." 
In other words, Tilak was anticipating the Statute of Westminster 
which came a few years later. and already claiming for India 
that theoretically plenary equality encapsulated in the phra<;e "in 
no way subordinate" which it conceded to the White Dominions.. 
His Manifesto made this dear beyond all doubt by asserting. 
"the fitness of India for Representative and Responsible Govern­
ment" and claiming "for the people of India, 011 the principle 
of self-determination. the exclusive right of fashioning the form 
of government and determining the most appropriate constitution 
for India." 

As for the stand of Tilak's pro5pective party on the Reforms. 
the Manifesto. like the resolutions passed at the Amritsar session 
of tbe Congress. found the Montagu~Chelmsrord Reforms (it 
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called them Montagu Reforms, dropping Chehl1$ford's name, 
possibly <1clib~ralcly) "jnadcqwllC, ulbutisfactory and disappoint~ 
illg." But novcrlhel~ss, like lhe Congress, the Parly~to-bc agreed 
to work tlwnl, adding that the pany would ""trive to f<!medy 
the defect by introducing, witb thl; aid of the member;; of the 
Labour Party and other ~ympathist::r~ ill the British Parliamcllt, 
at the c.Lrlic:\t opp"nuluty. a. new Reform Bill for e~tablishiLlg 
full rc~p(,)nsib!e Government in India, inr.:luding full military 
control, and full fiscal frl.!euom, anu an exhaustive d.:ciaration 
of Rights \\i[h con~titutiolla! g.uarantees." 

More. It promisl;d active inlcrrmHOll'll propaganda to press 
forward Indian claims. "To achieve this object," tllf.l ManiJ';,;sh) 
said, "it [lhat is, lh~ Congrcl'os~D<.!mocr.uti;; Party] contemplates 
'U1d recommends a f\),;otU!c and cnergdic campaign in India and 
in the countries rcprc~enteJ on the League of Nati~>ns. In this 
maLler til!; party's watchword will be '[ducal!!, Agitate and 
Organize." This fornllliatioll has a very modern ring and, indeed. 
Tilak Wils one of the Ihst lcadcLOi who recognised tite need for a 
systematic and organiscll publicity campaign for th.;: national 
demands, botb at home and abroad. Certainly, one of the reason:. 
why hi! wanted to set forth for England at the age of sixty~four. 
he told V.J. Patel, was to set up an Indian Information Bureau 
in London. And not only ill L<mdon, but abo eventually in Paris. 
New York and Tokyo. As his biographer. Keer, tell" us, he had 
also an idl!a of setting up an Inuian NeWS Agency for the dissemi­
nation of information about what was reany happening in India 
worldwide. Nobody had yet heard of or even coined the phra5e 
"New Information Order," but that did not mean that the need 
for breaking through the wall of disinfomlation built up by the 
Western news agencies, which were even more of propaganda 
instrumonls than they are today, was not felt by leaders of the 
freedom struggle of countries under imperialist domination. 
Tilak certainly felt it strongly and was seriotls!y planning to do 
something about it. 

But, unhappily. it was all too jate. Tilak had an abiJing 
interest in UIC stars in llleir cOlln.e.:.. After aU he had. at least to his 
own satisfaction, established the antiquity of the Vedas by a 
piece of astronomical detail conccrning the position of:l stellar 
body mentioned in one of the sacred texts. Indeed. early in 1920, 
'according to Keer. he was engag~d in work which he had started 
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years earlier-the reform of the Hindu Calendar. On February 
16, 1920, he had actually presided over the Astronomical Conte.­
rence held at Sangli. However, knowledge of Astronomy. or even 
Astrology, enables no man or woman either to detelmine with 
any precision the terminal point of his or her own life-span. 
Death comes alway,!;, a<; ~omething or an nmbu~cadc. Certainty. 
Tilak. on an earlier occasion as already related. had said thl=n 
l1e did not expect to live beyond the age of 63. But he had exceed­
ed that limit. For hI! 'wa" going to be sixty-four in July 1920. 

He was to celebrate, if that is the appropriate telm in the 
contcxt, his six1y-fourth birthday in bcd-ill-in Bombay. He 
Jud come there on July 12 to follow the dosing stages of one of 
those complicated adoption-cum-property cases which go on for 
years-the Tai Maharaj Case. It had gone on for almost two 
decades. and though THak was not directly a party involved in it. 
he was passionately committed to one of the parties-Jagannath 
Maharaj whom he regarded as his "third :>on." While in Bombay, 
waiting for the judgement to be given by the High Court, he 
met Gandhi and Shaukat Ali. The meeting must have been 
either on July 12 Of 13. For Gandhi \vas to leave fartlle Punjab 
(In the 13th and actually addressed a meeting at lalandbar on 
July 15. 

The main topic at their meeting mUst have been the Khilarat 
movement. Gandhi in the Remil1i,~{'ent't'S and Anealotes ahoul 
LokamanJ'o Ti{ok. Vol. r., giving his version of their talk, recalled; 

About Hindus and Mussalmans, he [Tilak1 said to tbe 
Maulan:!, "I will sign anything that Gandhi suggests, because 
I have full faith in him on the question." About non-co­
operation, he significantly repeated to me what he had said 
to me before. "~I like the programme well enough, but t 
have my doubts us to the country being with us in the self. 
denying ordinaltce which non-cQ-operation presents 10 the 
people. I will do nothing to hinder the progress of the move­
ment, I wish you every success, and if you gain the popular 
ear. you wi!( find in me an enthusiastic supporter." Tilak 
added that jf the Muslims boycotted the council he and his 
party would fellow suit. 

This can ~carccly be described as enthusiastic promise of 
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support. Keer in his book goes on to complete what Tilak said to 
Gandhi at their last talk. Apparently he also said: "I consider 
an armed revolt also corulitutional." Only he did not think that 
there was Un even four anna. in a rupee, ortwenty~five percent, 
chance of success of an armed revolt for which the country was 
not prepared. His ~upport of Gandhian non~violencc. which he 
traced to the Jain influence on Gandhi's thinking, was thus for 
want of any alternative practical strategy or, as it were, faUlt! 

de mieux. And he seems to have remained till the end evcn more 
sl.:eplicaJ about the Khilafat movement which he believed the 
Hindu leaders were supporting for opportunistic reasons-to 
secUIC Muslim backing for the national struggle. This. was more 
than a little unfair to Gandhi whatever ITh1.y be true ofsomc other 
Hilldu leaders. But Tilak had a valid point when he said; "Never 
seek to introduce theology into our politics," 

As far as h.e himself was concerned these differences on 
pIJlilical and social bsues had now only an academic meaning. 
On July 20 he went for a tong drive with Diwan Chaman Lall, at 
the time working as Assistant Editor of the Bombay Chronicle. 
and a man of much c11arm and considerable literary and political 
talent, and a brilliant speaker in English. When Tilak returned 
from the outing he was feverish and went to bed. At first the 
doctors-Dr. D.O. Sathye and Dr. Gopalrao Deshmukh­
thought it was recurrencc of Malaria., but later they diagnosed 
pneumonia. in those days a killer affliction. His sixty-fourth 
birthday found him in sickbed, seriously ill, with high fever. 
On July 28 there was a temporary remission and the temperature 
came down to l10rmal and his pulse was. regular. This raised 
hopes, including his own. For he is recorded as having told his 
nephew that he was "not going to die for another five years. be 
sure of that" and that "the critical period was over." Whether 
this was because he wanted to cheer up his nephew or an exercise 
in Coueism nobody can tell. Perhaps it was something of both. 

SadJy. however. the crisis was not over. On Thursday, July 29. 
his condition worsened again. He was delirious and became 

,comatose. His friends like Joseph Baptista, R.P. Paranjpye, 
M.R. Jayukar and even Gandhi who had returned from his 
Punjab tour came to see him. but he was already beyond com­
munication. The ne:<,t day there was a slight improvement in his 
condition, but it proved fleeting and deceptive. By Saturday 
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nj,£ht IllS heart began to fail and some forty minutes after the 
stroke of midnight the cnd came "in the presence of his two 
son~ and three daughters, and his colleagues Kelkar. Khadilkar. 
Dr. Sathye and Dr. Deshmukh." 

The news ofllis death spread like bushftre. not only in Bombay 
bllt all over the country. Crowds converged upon the Sarnar 
Griha where he had been staying anc! his biographer Kecr tells 
ns that "about eleven o'dock !Augm.t I] a huge mass of humanity 
spread down from Dhabi TaJao to the cnd of Carnac Road:' 
Train louds of people came from Poana to get a last glimpse of 
the man they loved. Indeed, Poona leaders ,,,anted his body 
to be taken to POana for the last rites, but the public in Bombay 
would not have it and insisted that cremation should take place 
in Bombay. And this was agreed. Gandhi was among those who 
shouldered the bier as it was taken out or the house; so did 
Shaukat Ali and Dr. Kitchlcw. much to the consternntion of 
some or Tilak's orthodox Brahmin friend., and relatioll!. who felt 
that only Brahmins should lift the bier. 

It was a mammoth funeral procession which wound its 
way through the streets of Bombay to the Chowpatty sands where 
on many an occasion he had addressed huge cro\vds. Among 
those who accompanied the procession was Iawaharlal Nehru. 
By a special di;:;pensation of the Government a sandalwood pyre 
was built up 011 the sands and hiS body placed on it, and the last 
rites performed before the pyre was Ht under an overcast sky and 
a fine dri1.zle. That was the journey's end for a man uf whom 
Gandhi wa~ to say that "patriotism was a passion with him". 
and add "he knew no religion but love of his country." 

Thh. was and remains true, despite all the controver~iesllnd 
polemics in which he figured and of which often he was the chief 
protagonist. To Gandhi's brief and simple but apt summing 
up of what was most central in Tilak's personality. however, jt 
is permissible. perhaps, to add two things. The fIrst is that during 
his rather fItful and at times turbulent association with the Con­
gress he brought to it a quality of combative audacity that it had 
not known before. This in turn, in a curiously paradoxical way. 
prepared the psycbological ground on which Gandhi could 
work and succeed, even if intermittently. in persuading the 
Congress to accept his philosophy of mass action, although THak 



ON A COLLISION COtIRSE 165 

till the end remained highl)' sceptical of the virtue of non-violent 
non-cooperation as an effective weapon in politics. 

The second point that may usefully be made has a crucial 
bearing on the ~ope of Tilak's contribution to the Indian struggle 
and India's progress in general. For all his impressive learning 
and scholarship which were acknowledged even by those who 
were by no means sure that he had deployed them in the right 
direction or for worthwhile ends. for ali the intensity of his 
commitment to {ndia, not to mention his ability to influence 
and move people, there seems to have been an irreducible deficit 
in his understanding of the time and age in which he lived which. 
perhaps. inhibited his realising his full stature. Consequently. 
there remains a certajn sense of inadequacy or incompleteness 
about his achievement as a great political leader. 

The grief felt by tbe Indian people at Tilak's death was for 
real and not ju~t formal or conventional ~hedding of tears. It was 
felt across frontiers of cnste and creed and confession; felt not 
only by those who admired Tilak, but even those who differed 
with him and considered many of his sodal ideas regresshte, It 
was also heightened because perceptive people Were aware of the 
tragic clement that rounded his public life and aU that he had 
suffered and sacrificed. The special session of the Congress that 
was held at Calcutta a liule marc than a month after his death­
September 4-9, 1920---met under a pall of gloom. Predictably, 
the very first resolution on the agenda was a resolution of condo­
lence at Tilak·s deatb. 11 read: 

This Congress places on record its sense of deep atld profoUlld 
sorrow at the death. of Lokmanya Ib.! Gangadhar Tilak. 
The stainie!is purity of his life, his :.crvices and sufferings 
in the cause of his country. his deep devotion to the 
welfare of the people, hb. urduou.'o endeavours in the figh.t 
for national autonomy-these wilt enshrine his memory in 
the grateful recollections of our peopJe, and will be a source 
of strength and inspiration to countless gellcmliolls of our 
countrymen. At this crisis in the history of the nation. the 
Congress will sorcly miss his \';ise, helpful and courageous 
le<1dcrship, the lofty inspiration of his radiant patriotism, 
and the healing bcnedi(.'tion of his counsel in diflieulty. 
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This moving encomium was no doubt drafted in all sincerity. 
In any case, it has always been easy to praise the dead in India 
than to recognise their virtues while they are alive. However. 
it is by no means certain that Tilak would have been aU light 
and sweetness if he bad lived long enough to attend the Special 
Session of the Congress at Calcutta. It is true there had heen a 
suggestion tllat he should preside over it. He thought that this 
was some 50ft of lIuhtte manoeuvre by his opponents, as he told 
Khadilkar, though why it is not quite dear. That was WllY he did 
not receive the suggestion favourably. He said he wanted to 
"avert the rift among the Congress leaders on the question of 
non-coopcration" at the Calcutta session, though, again it is 
not quite clear why he thought he was the best person to do so. 

He was on a very different wavelength to that on whicb 
Gandhi was operating. He had written rather sourly to V,J. 
Patel who had gone to England again to plead for the Congress 
cause at the cnd of April. He said in his letter to Patel of June 26, 
1920, that the Punjab issue could have been used by the Congre!is 
"to work up lhe British people for the reforms in the constitution 
of the country" and that he had tried to convey this to the Allw 
India Congress Committee at Benares, but found both Madan 
Mohan Malaviya and Gandhi unresponsive and that nothing 
could be done without tl1eir help because "Ihey are the men on 
the Punjab Committee who should have taken up the work in 
right earnest. Not only they would not do it but they do not much 
value f<lreign agitation .... " 

With his death, the choice of the Congress for presidency 
of the Calcutta SpeciaJ Session fell on Lajpat Rai. He har.! been 
in England when the war broke out and had eventually gone 
to the United States and had remained there throughout its 
duration and done systematic propaganda for the Indian cause 
which had made him even more of a persona nOlI grata with the 
British Government than before and many Tory MP!> were 
furious that he was allowed after the war to spend a few 
months in Britain. He had returned to [odia from his long 
self~jmposed exile only at the end of February 1920. One of the 
more gifted among the Punjab leaders, his stay abroad had 
tempered his mind and made him politically morc mature and 
certainly more conVersant with the intricacies of international 
politics. His name was on the short list of those being considered 
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for election as President of the Calcutta $I;S5iol1, pHrlly in recogni­
tion of his own "service and sacrillee" in the national cau'>e as 
his biographer. Fcroze Chand, claims, and partly as a gestun: to 
the Punjah as the wrong-; sutren.'1i by the Land of Five River~ 
were going to be a major item on the agendl:l. However, Tilak's 
name had precedence over his. 

Once it became clear that Tilak was unwiJ!ing to accept 
the honour, MatHai Nehru sent Lajpat Rai a telegram, saying: 
"Tilak definitely declined; none other marc suitable than yourself." 
This was on July 24, just a week before Tilak's death. Three da)'~ 
later another telegram arrived from the elder Nehru who wa:. 
evidently at Dumraon where be was appearing in a law suit with 
C.R. Das as thc opposing counsel. It said: "You are duly e1e-cted 
President Special Congress. Congratulations". But as PeroT. 
Chand te1b us, .' He still vacillated particularly because the election 
had revealed no unanimity, not even an absolute majority." 
His friends, including Kalinutb Roy, Editor or the Tribune. 
and A~utosh Chuudhuri, a former Judge or the Calcutta High 
Court who. after his retirement was takin,g active part in the 
Congress afrairs in Calcutta, and pressure from others made him 
overcome his hesitation and be agreed to preside over the Calcutta 
Con,gress. This was just as well. For the opportunity was not to 
come his way again. 

However, his hesitancy had been due not only to the fact 
that his election had not been by absolute majority; it was also 
beca\l~e he was in two minds over the central issue which W.1S to 
be debated at Calcutta-the is~ue of non-cooperation. His presi· 
dentinl address reflected this dichotomy. It was a very long 
addrcss-50,OOO words to be precise. But tilen he was a prolix. 
writer. Much of jt-threc-fourlhs in fact. a,cording to Feroz 
Chand-was devoted to the Punjab unu its lule of woe. He 
made the point which Motilal Nehru had made at Amritsar; 
that the torment of the Punjab nntedated the Marlial Law 
regime. O'Dwyer's rule throughout had been, he said, "a 
regime of terrorism and frightfulness:' But he was sure that 
"having passed through the fire of Martial Law, the P~tnjab is. 
to-day purer. stronger, more advanced. more determined, more 
patriotic and very much more united," 

This claim was largely true. The British had always boasted 
of the tradition of "loyalism" to the Raj they had created in the 
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Punjab. But for once Ihat tradition of loyalism. which in our own 
days would have been called Quisiingisl11. seemed to be in some 
dl;lnger ofbreakillg down. Common suffering and shared humilia~ 
tion had for the time being lorgcd an emotional idenlity among 
a very large body of the people of the Punjab which transcended 
confessional and sectarian divides and even the competing 
economic egotbms. But while Lajput Rill dwelt at great lcngtl'L 
on the inequilies suJrered by the Punjabi humanity, he seemed 
{uriellsiy evasive about laying down any clear line of action fOf 

!>ccuring redress beyond saying: 

OUf progrc% depends morc than anything eb..c upon the 
volume and vigour of oorown public opinion in this country. 
It will be wise to have this supplemented by the moral support 
of the great nations of the world. 

The two important hsues before the special session and 
tlpon which hinged the question of a programme of non-co~ 
operation. were the Reforms and the Ruks framed to work 
them and the Turkish Peace Treaty. He was scathing al){mt the 
Reforms and said that the "partial elation in 1918," sank into 
the <'deprl.,'"l>sion in 1919" and "despair"' of 1920. He was 
even more scathing about the Ruks that had been laid down 
which would render them in practice even more nugatory. He 
was, of course. wilHng to accept half a loaf if that half "was not 
selected hy the bureaucracy" which was "so adept in the art of 
mixing and cooking" that the half which they proposed to r0tain 
for themselves contained "all the nourishment of the whole 
Jeaving the other half worse than chaff." Worsc than chaff. 
especially becau,.e they had injected it with the "germ of 
diseasc"-further compartmentalisation of the electorate along 
confessional lines. He said: 

It will be a marvel of good fortune, if with all the distinction 
of Hindus, Mussalmans, Sikhs and Christians, of urban 
and ruml, of Brahmanas and non-Brahmanas, of reside-nt 
and non-residents, of British subjects. and those of Native 
States. of military and civil, made in the Rules and RegUla­
tions, We are still able to eVolvc a national spirit which will rise 
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above these differences and consolidate u,; into one people. 
with a will to live and prosper a'> a free nation. 

He was even more lucid in his critiqut' of the Turkish Peace 
Treaty. As [or the religious a"pcct of the issue, he thought it was 
"a matter for our Mohammedan countrymen to decide" and they 
bad decided it. He was abo in no doubt that the pledges given by 
the British Prime Minister "had been cast to the winds." But it 
was when he came to the political aspect or the Treaty that he 
developed the anti~imperialist argument against it whic!l Gandhi 
had tended rather to blur and whLeh the Central Khilafal Com­
mittee Was incarahle of bringing out because of its confessional 
preoccupations. He formuJated it in very firm and concrete 
terms: 

But there are in my judgment other issues also involved in 
the Turkit-h Peace Treaty which deserve consideration. I 
maintain that any further extension of the British Empire in 
Asia is detrimental Lo the interests of India and fatal to the 
liberties of the human race .... If the British Imperialist 
has no scruples in using Indian troops in Egypt. Persia. 
Arabia, Mesopotamia. Syria and Central Asia, why will he 
have any in using the troops he raises in these countries 
against us? The Hindu-Muslim problem will become ten 
times more troublesome and dangerous, if this turns out to 
be true. Then there is another aspect of the question. If the 
Muslim population of these countries continue to resist 
British attempts at occupation which they are likely to do for 
years, the Imiian Army will be in consLant requisition to fight 
their battles in those regions. which means. a constant and 
never-ending drain on our resources. both human and 
economic. 

This was undeniable. So was his. assessment of the League 
of Nations. which some of the Moderates still believed was going 
to usller in an era of just international peace and respect for the 
sovereignty of all nations and the right of self-determination of 
the people in bondage, "Gentlemen:' he warned his audience. 
··there is no such thing as a League of Nations. Great Britain 
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and France are the League." For the Indian people he thought 
it was time for decision: 

OUf success will be determined by the extent of our earnest­
ness, the spirit of self-sacrifice in the leaders, the spirit of 
self.·denial in the rank and file, the power to lead righteously 
and to be led by righteous men. The time has come when' 
We must decide between the freedom or body and soul and 
the life of convenience and comparative case., .. If 'We 
decide for the former., We must be prepared for the con­
sequenceS .... 

This WaS well put. But the paradox of the drift of his argu­
ment was that he would not say which way he had himself decided 
to turn. Even his sympathetic and good biographer. fcroz Chand. 
remarks that "he spoke very firmly of the Khilafut wrong and he 
spoke with all the vigour that he could command of the Punjab 
wrong; but ... he kept quiet over the cnrollary of these t\lo-the 
non~co~operation progr'dmme advocated by Mahatma Gandhi 
to get these wrongs redressed." The reason he guvefor his silence 
was rather legalistic and must have sounded dis-ingenuou..:;. 
"The President should not lry to anticipate the decision of the 
Congress on a question on which the COUlltry i:; so sh<!rply divided 
as it is on the question before us., .:' he said and went on to 
add. "1 have my personal opinion on the question involved in 
the programme of non·co~operation but during- the session of 
the Congress, I will conduct the proceedings without taking 
sides." This he did. As Feroz Chand puts it. "As President of a 
'special session'. it was easier for him to act uj') to this precept, 
for his tenure cnded with the session itself." 

There were only flYe resolutions on the agenda. the first two 
of lhem being condolences at lho.:: death of Tilak and Dr. Maben~ 
dranath Obdcdar. a member of the All-India Congress Committee 
from the United Provinces. who was dC-locribcd in the re~olution 
mourning his death as "a true patriot, a distinguished servant' 
of the counlry, and a courageous champion of the cause of the: 
people." The third resolution Was also non·controvcrsial. It­
commended the Punjab Enquiry Sub~Coml1littce appointed· 
by the COllgr.;:~s for the "great industry and judicial care\< with 
which it had coHee-ted the cvh.lcncc and written its report. It 
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passed an to eXpress its "deep and bitter disappointment at the 
drift, tone and tendency of the majority report of the Hunter 
Committee:' charging it wilh "bias and race prejudice" and 
whitewashing "the conduct of the Punjab GoVernment and the 
Government of {ndia," and declaring it to be "incomplete. 
one~sjdcd and biased by self.interest."ltfoum[the recommenda­
tions contained in it as falling "far short of the minimum h:giti­
mate requirements of the case:' and went on to ex.press the 
"deliberate opinion" of the Congress: 

That the action proposed to be taken in the review with 
reference to the ClJmluct of guilty officials. is grossly and 
utterly inadequate tothe gravity of the state of things disclo .. 
sed, and has dispelled all illusions about the rairness of British 
justice. 

The fourth resolution. too. was one which could be approved 
without any heated debate and with virtual urlJmimity. For it 
expressed the disappointment of the Congress. which was shared 
by the country at large, "at the Brillsh Cabinet's failure to take 
adequate action with reft:rence to the atrocities of Ihe Punjab. 
at their acquiescence in the recommendations of the Government 
of India, and their practical condonation of the misdeeds of the 
Punjab officials:' The Congress was not impressed by the "fine 
and lofty sentiments expressed in their despatch" by the British 
Cabinet and held tltat "by their failure to take adeqt!ate action," 
they had "forfeited the confidence of the people of India." 

So far it was morc or less plain sailing at the Calcutta session. 
The crunch and controversy came on the fifth and final resolu­
tion, Tt was a very long resolution. tn the first paragraph the 
Khilafat question was taken up a.nd the Indian and Imperial 
Governments and the Btithh Prime Minister were accused of 
breaking their pledges to and signally failing "in their duty 
towards the Mussalmans: of India." It called upon every non­
Muslim Indiall "in every legitim:nt:: manner to assist his Mussal­
man brother in his attempt to remove the religious caklmity that 
has overlaken him." The second paragraph dealt with the Punjab 
atrodties and accused hoth the Indian and Imperial Governments 
of failing "to protect the innocent people of the Punjab, and 
punish officers guilty of unsoldierly and barbarous behaviour 
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towards them," and exonerating "Sir Michael O'Dwyer who 
proved himself. directly or indirectly, responsible for mo~t of the 
official crimes." It found the debate in the House of Commons 
and specially in the House of Lords as betraying "a woefUl lack 
of sympathy with the pcople of India" and showing "virtual 
support of the systematic terrorism and frightfulness adopted in 
the Punjab." In view of "the latest Viceregal pronouncement" 
which was "proof of entire absence of repentance in tbe matter 
of the Khilafat and the Punjab," it said: 

This Congress is of opinion that there can be no contentment 
10 India without redress of the two aforementioned \Hongs 
and that the only effectual means to vindicate national honour 
and to prevent a repetition of similar wrongs in future is the 
establbhmcnt of Swarajya. This Congress is further of opinion 
that there is no course left open for the people of India but 
to approve of and adopt the policy of progressive, non­
violent Non-co-operation inaugurated by Mr. Gandhi until the 
said wrongs arc righted and Swarajya is established. 

It then laid down a seven-point programme or action which 
would involve "the minimum risk ... Ul1d to caU for the least 
sacrificc, compatible with the attainment of the desired object," 
but would nevertheless make the functioning of the Government 
apparatus difficult be~idc) undermining the in::;titutional basis of 
its legitimacy. The programme called for: 

(a) surrend~r of titles and honorary oflkes and resignation 
from nominateu ~ealS in 100::al bodies; 

(b) refusal to attend Government Levees, Durbars, and 
(Jther oillcial and ~ellli-omdal functions beld by Goveru~ 
ment officials or in their honour; 

(c) gradual withdra\val of children from scboo!s and colJ~ 
cges owned, aided or c()ntroJ!cd by Government. and in 
place of such schools and colleges. establi:.hmcnt of 
N:Llional schools and coUcges in the various provinces; 

(d) graduul boycott of British cOUrts by lawyers anu liti­
gants, and establishment of private arbitration courts 
by their aid. for the settlement of private disputc~; 
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(e) rcfuf>at on the part of the military, clerical and labouring 
classes to offer themselves as recruits for service in 
Mesopotamia; 

(f) withdraw:.tl bycandidates of their candidature for election 
to the Reformed councils, and rdu~al on the part of the 
voters to vote for any candidate who may, despite the 
Congress advice, oIT.:r himself for election; 

(g} bOYCOH of foreign goods. 

it furthcr said: 

And in as much as Non-co-operatiOn has been conceived as a 
meaSUre of di$Cipline and sclf-sactificc Wilhout which no 
nation can make real progress. and in as much as an oppor­
tunity should. be given in the very first stage of NOll-Co­
operation to evcry man, woman and child, for such discip­
line and seif-sL1.Crifice, this Congress advises adoption of 
Swadeshi in piece-goods ona vast scale. and in as much as the 
existing mills of India with indigenous cl\pital and control 
do not manufacture su1Iicient yarn and sufficient clolh for the 
requirements of the nation, and arc not likely to do so for a 
long time to come, this Congress advised immediate stimula­
tion of further manufacture on a large scale by means of 
reviving hand-spinning in every home and hand-weaving on 
the part of the millions of weavers who have abandoned their 
ancient and nonoutable calling for want of encouragemcnt. 

Although described a!:- minimum programme, it was dearly 
a remarkably revolutionary programmc, especially in the context 
of Ihe past record of the Congress----and revolutionary in more 
ways than onc. To begin with, it knitted together many of the 
active moues of resi:.tancc to British rule which had been toyed 
with and evell sporadically resorted to ever since the Partition 
of Bengal days though the Congress Itself had foug.ht shy of ever 
committing itself to the&e modes of struggle officially and whole­
heartedly. In so doing, it was meant to serve as a coherent strategy 
for challenging the authority of the Raj. In fact, however, it was 
intended to do even more. While the adoption of Swadeshi had 
for some years been part and parcel of the Congress thinking and 
seen as a legitimate economic weapon calculated to weaken the 
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stranglehold of British capitalism oYer the Indian economy, the 
call fOT surrender of titles and honorary offices was designed to 
undermine the cheap and shoddy s.ystem of patronage which the 
British had perfected for buying "loyalty". Finally. by proposing 
gradual withdru\\al of children from schools and colleges and 
gradual boycott of British courts by lawyers and litigants alike, 
it was meant to take the first step towards setting up an alternative 
system of governance almost. If accepted and implemented 
effectively, it would have vcry considerably undermined the 
strm:lure of the Raj and, what is more, made it look rather 
ridiculous~with courts having nothing to do and schools and 
colleges which nobody attended. 

But there came the rub. Could the programme as Gandhi 
conceived it win acceptance on a nationwide scale and could it 
be effectively implemented? That presented a formidable difficulty. 
For the first step towards building naHonal coo;,cnsU5 around 
it, was to get the Congress to accept and sanction it. This Was 
not easy. Since the Amritsar session of the Congress dramatic 
shirts in political positions taken up by the various Congress 
leaders, including Gandhi, had been witnessed. Gandhi, a~ 

alreadY noted, had been opposed to even expression of any sense 
of disappointment with the Reforms and favoured working them 
in a constructive spirit. He had imisted on the Congres~ thanking 
Montagu "for his labours in connection with the Reforms;' 
and was even prepared to go his separate way if the Congrcsl! 
turned down his suggestion, This had irritated THak and even 
Annie Besant "Don't be too generous." Tilak had said, "too 
kind, lao humane, to accept with a fulsome dose of thanks what 
little has been thrown to you now", 

On the question of the Reforms Act, there were others who 
had been even more dissatisfied than Tilak. CR. Das. for instance, 
whose draft had been approved by the Subjects Committee. 
and Hasrat Mohani and S. Satyamurti. The tatter, indeed. had 
cried out impatiently: "We, nationalists. are often accused of 
being impatient. We are not. We haVe waited long enough. One 
century and a half js a long period in the history of any nation. 
We are tired, we refuse to wait, and we are not going to be 
frightened by any," If they had eventually accepted Gandhi's 
addition to Oas' draft. it was because they recognised the 
importance of Gandhi and with ex.plicit reservations. As Dr. 
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Sitaramayya hus recorded, Dus' speech "made it clear that he 
reserved for the Nation the right of pursuing a policy of obstruc­
tion if necessary and co~operation if possible." 

But nine months later there was a reversal of roles. Gandhi 
by now had become wholly disenchanted with the Government 
whether in Delhi or London. He considered the Rcfool1s not 
only disaPPIlinting and unsatisfactory, but irrelevant. In an 
article in Young lmlia of July 28, he had explained the shift in 
bis position: 

When at Amrit&1.r last year I pleaded with all the earnestness 
( could command for co-operation with the Government and 
for response to the wishes expressed in the Royal Proclama­
tion. I did so because I hone~tIy believed lhat a new era was 
about to begin, and that the old spirit of fcae, distrust and 
consequent terrorism was about to give place to the neW spieit 
of respect, trust and goodwilL I sincerely believed that the 
Mussutman sentiment would be placated and that the officers 
that had misbehaved during the martial law regime in the 
Punjab would be at ic:'l:;t dismissed and the people would be 
otherwise made to feel that the Government that had always 
been found quick (and rightly) to punish popular excesses 
would not fail to punish its agents' misdeeds. But to my 
amazement and dismay, 1 have discovered that the present 
representatives of the Empire bave become dishonest and 
unscrupulow, They have no real regard for the wishes of the 
people of India and they count Indian honour as of little 
consequence.l can no longer retain affection for a Govern­
ment so evilly manned :150 it Co now-a~days. 

Indeed. when at Calcutta the Congress tinally approved the 
fifth resolution adopling the policy of "non-violent llon~coopcra· 
lion inaugurated by Gandhiji" the past tense u:;ed in the texl was 
not meant to be a literary device which the author of the Gila 
'cmploys in the very opening verses. Tbose who drewup the text 
were aware that in passing the resolution the Congress was 
retrospectively giving its sanction to a Jail accompli. As far ~ 
Gandhi was concerned, he had already inaugurated non-co­
operation without waiting for the Special Session of the Congress 
.and despite Madan Mohan Malaviya's appeal to him to wui~ 
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Thi!; was: on August I when he had rchlmed his Zulu and BON 
War medals as well as his Kuiser-i-Hind gold mcoal to the Viceroy 
though not "without a pang" as be told Chelmsford in his 
letter written on August 1. 1920. in which he lamented that His 
Excellency had treated official crime light.hcartedly, nnd added: 
"fn my humble opinion. the ordinary method of agit3ting: by way 
of petitions, deputation and the like, is no n~mcdy for moving: 
to repentance a Government. so horcle~51y imHlTercnt to the 
welfare or its charge as the Government of [odia has proved to 
be", Furthermore. 011 that day a country-wide hart<ll had bi:'efl 
observed as directed hy the Non-CoofJcn:tion Committee and the 
response had been sutIkiently positive for even Judith Brown to­
admit that "G:tndhi bad broken through at the: level of genuinl! 
all~India politics, whereas previously political organisation and 
propaganda had been the prc$crVe of dite groups in specilk 
localities." 

Ironically. however, while Gandhi had changed his stance 
from one of cooperation with the Government as far us possible to 
that of non~eoopcration, the radicals and militants l)f yc'>tcr-year 
had moved in the opposite direction since the Amritsar Congre'i.-'; 
session. This was not surprising in the case of followers ofTiiak.. 
Tilak had been a Laodiccan till the end over Gandhi's non­
cooperation programme and his lieutenants, like Baptista and 
Khaparde, had never been enamoured of Gandhian ways and 
ideas in politics. But it was surprising to find C.R. Das among 
those who led the opposition to Gandhi. 1n fact. the opposition 
to his proposition came both from what in modern parlance would 
be considered the Len and the Right. Men like linnah, Mala~iya 
and Jamnadas Dwarkadas found themselves on the same side of 
political barricades, so to speak, as the radicals like c.R, Das. 
Satyamurti and the old vcteran Bipin Chandra Pal. As Gandhi 
was to relate in his autobiography. "My plight was pitiable 
indeed. I was absolutely at sea as (0 who would support the 
resolution and who would oppose- it. ... I only saw an imposing 
phalanx- of vetemn warriors assembled for the fray." 

This was no exaggeration. Before the session began there 
Was a concerted attempt to bring together the various strands ot' 
opposition to Gandhi's programme. G,S. Khaparde. one of the 
late Lokmanya Tilak's close associates, joined hands with the 
Ucngalleadership, young and old. among them C.R. Das. Motilal 
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Ghase. Bipin Chandra Pal, B, Chakravarti, to bar the way to the 
adoption of Gandhi's ideas. Even Motilal Nehru, although 
he had been roused to a high pitch of indignation by the unfair4 

ness and Pecksniffian attitude and verdict of the Majority Report 
of the Hunler Committee, tried to persuade Jinnah, Das, Madan 
Mohan Malaviya and Annie Besant to combine forces to oppose 
Gandhi's proposal for the boycott of the councils. Yet. somehow. 
the band 4 wagon of Gandhi's opponents got stuck from the very 
start. This was dear from the result of eJections to the Subjects 
Committee which showed that Gandhi had the wind in his saik 

All the same, it was a close run lhing in the Subjcct.~ Com~ 
miltee. The debate in the Committee lasted three days~from 
September 5 to September 7. Gandhi stood his ground against 
all comers. On the last day, as a last ditch manoeuvre, Bipin 
Chandra Pal moved an amendment to Gandhi's resolution which. 
while accepting non-cooperation in principle, urged that "contru~ 
versial" points should be left for further consideration; that a 
committee be set up to draw up a programme appropriutc 
for the varjous provinces; and that a further mission be sent to 
England to demand Swaraj or self~government without further 
delay. It sounded reasonable enough. But Gandhi was not 
having it. TIle only modification he accepted, it seems suggested 
by MotHaI Nehru. who had apparently changed his position from 
onc of opposition to one of acceptance under persuasion by his 
son, was that the withdrawal of students rrom schools and colleges 
and lawyers from the courts might be gradual as a matter of prac~ 
tical politics. Gandl1j's proposals were carried by 148 votes to 
133, with a few abstentions. 

It was a very narrow majority and it could have been turned 
in the open session of the Congress. But the ground swell of 
opinion among the rank and file delegates was not with the 
opposition to non~coQperation. On the contrary. the tide was 
running strongly in favour of Gandhi. The voting did not take 
place till September 9 and it showed a two to one majority for 
non~cooperatjon-18S6 to 884 according to Ronaldshay, at 
tbe time Governor of Bengal and later to be Secretary 
of State for India as Lord Zetland, quoted by Dr. Judith 
Brown. Other sources give other figures. Gandhi's Young 
iI/diu. of September l5. for instance. gave the voting figure~ as 
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1,'655 for the resolution and 873 against, or rather for the amend~ 
111l,)J]t moved by Bipin Chandra Pal. But the variations are not 
materially important !>ince they do not change significantly 
the b.t!J.ncc of voting, \Vhat is more, the proYincewjsc breakdown 
Oft'Oling reported in YOllng India showed that Gandhi's resolu­
tion had substantial majority among delegates from every 
provincc, including Bengal (551 a.gainst 395), with the solitary 
exception of the Central Provinces and Berar whose delegates 
voted twO to one against Gandhi's resolution·~thir{y·five voting 
for and sixty·one against. 

Thcre were. of cour"e, altogether 5,S73 registered delegates 
whil.;h meant that moredclegatcs did not care to vote than actually 
voted. The opposition to Gandhi made much of this fact as, indeed, 
h,lve some of the British historians dealing with tha theme. But 
two things have to be borne in mind in considering this massive 
abstention rrom voting. The nrst is that there is no evidence that 
al! thosc who did not votc were necessarily opposed to Gandhi's 
programme or non-cooperation. Some of them. may have been 
and did not ~tand up to be counted because they did not want to 
be seen as ranged against him. The other thing to remember is 
that delegates to the Congress even in those good old days 
were not exactly models of disciplinc. Anybody who has ever 
attended a plenary se:'tsion of the Congress must know that the 
delegates tend to be fidgety and restive, and can rarely sit through 
long debates as the onc on non-cooperation undoubtedly was. 
So, probably. a considerable number of them were not in their 
phlce.':I ~lt the time of counting Votes on September 9. Some ofthcm 
may C\'cn have gone away since the Congress was originally 
supposed to end on September S. 

At all events the hue and cry raised by Gandhi's opponents 
after the baltle was lost by them suggests that they did not really 
que~ti()l1 that he had a majority. but claimed that he had won 
mujority by unfair, if not foul, means, though Ronaldshay is 
quoted by Judith Brown to bave cheered Montagu with the story 
that Gandhi h:l.d p:l.cked the house by men picked from the streets 
and [hat his supporters had mustered a majority by selling 
"deh:gates' bagdes ... at Rs. 10 to any who applied." The 
!Iindll, under Kasturi Iyengar's editorship, echoed this bazar 
gossip probably planted by the Government's disinformation 
scrvic..:s to discredit Gandhi. What was even more ~urprising 
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was that the Bellgalee. a mouthpiece of Surendr.tnath Banerjea 
who had drunk deeply of Western liberalism, stooped to atavistic 
illiberality if not xenophobia by suggesting that Gandhi had 
manipulated the Congress and conjurl!d up a majority with "the 
votes of Marwari and Hindustani communities. who are here 
[in Calcutta) on purposes of business:' In Bombay, according to 
a Government report quoted by Dr. Judith Brown, Khaparde 
antI Baptista Were "bitter against Gandhi and KhilaJalisls in 
outmanoeuvring them" and Baptista in an interview to a corres­
pondent of the Bombay Chrollicle-Jinnah, who was opposed 
to non-cooperation idea root and branch, was the Chairman of 
its Board of Directors-practically accused Gandhi "of handing 
over the Congress, a Hindu preserve, to the Muhammadans, not 
hesiti:lting to over-ride even thc constitution of the Congress in 
his determination to play in the full Mohammadan card." 

However, it is doubtful t1k'lt these stories prompted by dis­
appointment and malice found much credence even among tbe 
more sober opponents of G(-c.ndhi and non·coopcration. As 
Judith Brown points out, "Two of Gandhi's opponents who could 
have made capital out of such a charge-the 'Moderate' paper 
The Indian Sodal Reformer, and N.C. Kelkar--discounted it." 
After all, All-rndia Muslim League had also simultaneously with 
the Congress passed Gandhi's resolution on non-cooperation 
<icspite the opposition of Jinnah and his friends and the fact that 
there were no Mano,>ari businessmen on its rolls to swell the vote 
in his favour. The truth, of cOUrse, was simple and straightfor· 
ward, For once the two currents of discontent, one national and 
political and the other certainly a mixture of political and con­
fessional sentiment. were flowing together and the attempts to 
dam or at least divert them was not succeeding. 

On the contrary, in the months following the Calcutta Special 
Session of the Congress, the idea of non-cooperation gained 
momentum to the point where even some of those who had taken 
11 prominent part ill opposing Gandhi had to make angonizing 
reappraisal of their position. Quite a number of them were inclin­
ed to accept their defeat in good grace and fall in linc with the 
majority view. In an article in the BOn1aby Cilrol1ich:, while 
regnming the Way things had gone at Calcutta which he thought 
would deprive ·'the Nationalists, for at least three yoars more. of 
the use of all eO'cclive lever of constitutional agitation inside 
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constituted official bodies," N.C, Kelkar acknowledged that 
Gandhi had won and tbey "must loyally abide by the decision 
of the Congress." In Bengal whose Radicals were never to take 
to Gandhi and his ways, C.R. Dus, B. Chakravarti and others 
took the same vicw that the majority decision ought to be 
accepted. 

Others, however, were not so gracious. Srinivasa Sastri, for 
instance, whose place was really in the Indian Liberal Fedcrutjon 
which the Moderates had set up after their bleak with the Con­
gress, but who still kept a toe-hold in the Congress camp. 
continued to argue that the majority decision taken a1 the Special 
Congress was not binding on the minority. Lajpat Rai who had 
remained neutral and impartial at Calcutta thought the same. 
Consequently, the battle was reopened when the All-India 
Congress Committee met in Bombay on October 2, 1920, There 
were two main itentg on the agenda: the raising of two funds­
the Tilak Memorial Fund and the Swarajya Fund: and to­
discuss the report of the Sub~ommittee which the Congress had 
appointed at Calcutta to draft instructions fOf non-cooperation. 

The Sub-Committee. which consisted of Gandhi, MotHaI 
Nehru and V.J, Patel, had issued its report on draft instruction 
for the Congress organisation on September 22. That report was. 
the battleground and once again Gandhi prevailed over fierce 
(jpposition by both Baptista and Satyamurti, This was to lead to 
the resignation of two members of the A.t.C.C.-Jamnadas 
Dwarkadas and M,G. Seth-the former bemoaning tbat "want 
of discrimination und enthusiasm for a highly respected" leader 
had led the Congre~s into acceptance of non-cooperation who~e 
practice, he predicted, "will prove to them the unwisdom of their 
step." 

Curiously, Jinnab who attended the A.I.C.C meeting on 
October 2 but to( k no part in the discussion on the report did 
not follow Jamnadas Dwarkadas' example in resigning. He and 
nineteen others were to resign from the Swaraj Sabba-or 
Swarajya Sabha-as the All-India Home Rule League had been 
renamed and of which Gandhi had become the President at the 
end of April after Annie Besant's resignation from the organisa­
tion which she had founded. But that was in protest at its new 
Constitution at its meeting on the morrow of the A.LC.e. med­
jng in Bombay at which the instructions to the Congress 
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Qrganisation relating to non~cooperation had been approved. 
Jinnab and his friends had objected to the change on two 
grClunds--one procedural and the other political. They had argued 
that the change was made "contrary to the rules and regulations 
of the League" and further that the new constitution omitted 
reference to "British connection" and sanctioned "unconstitu­
tional and illegal activities." 

Gandhi in his letter to Jinnah written from Laburnum Road. 
Bombay, on October 25 dealt with hjs objection at some length. 
On the procedural plane Jinnah's point was that the decision was 
taken without a majority of three-fourths. Gandhi replied that it 
was a general meeting of the League and not a meeting of its 
Council. and he could find nothing in the constitution of the 
League wbich required that its decisions at general meetings to 
be operative had to be voted by a three~fourths majority. Gandhi 
was technically right, but Jinnah's point had some moral force. 
For the meeting had been very thinly attended, Only sixty-one 
members had turned up though the membership of the League 
in Bombay alone was 600 while countrywide membership was 
over 6,000. It is true that of those who were present more than 
two-thirds voted for the change-42 to 19-but it seemed hardly 
politic to rush through a substantive change of the constitution 
at a meeting so poorly attended. 

The second point made by Jinnah and others was less valid 
and Gandhi Was right in arguing: "So far as British connection 
is concerned I think you are clearly wrong. Because the meaning 
of the word 'swaraj' is deliberately limited by the neW constitution 
so as to keep the Sabha strictly loyal to the Congress creed." 
That creed had till then not abjured the British connection. 
though significantly Gandhi wrote: "[ am not opposed to that 
connection by itself but I do not wish to make a fetish or it. I 
will not keep India fora single minute under slaveryforthesake of 
that connection. But I and those who think with me have limited 
our ambition in order that we can carry the Congress with us and 
be thus enabled to remain affiliated to that body." 

As to the new constitution of the League authorising "un~ 
constitutional or illegal activities" Gandhi's argument was again 
rather legalistic. He was right in claiming that the Swarajya 
Sabha's new constitution "specifically eschewed" violence. But 
his own experience should by now bave convinced him [bat 
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it was perfectionist to believe that any large scale movement of 
non~cooperation could wholly avoid violence. Equally, however, 
Jinnah and his friends were trailing a red herring across the argu­
ment in order to find a plausible excuse for parting company with 
the erstwhile Home Rule League. Jinnah had never declared non­
cooperation itself to be unconstitutional and illegal. He had 
certainly not resigned eithcr rrom the Congres:i or the A.LCe. 
which had approved Gandhi's proposals on non-cooperation. 
though he was to do so later. Still more pertinent, he had not 
resigned from All-India Muslim League which also had passed 
Gandhi's resolution on non-cooperation. He could not have done 
so because that would have been tantamount to committing poli­
tical bara-kiri by isolating himself both from the mainstreams 
of N.'\tional and Muslim politics; and he was too shrewd and 
too ambitious a politician to do any such thing. What he wanted 
to do was publicly to take his distance from Gandhi whom he 
never quite understood and whose ways he reaH~ed were alien 
to bim-and to do this with no great political ri$k to himself. 

The whole argument, of course. in itself was of no con­
sequence. Membership of the Home Rule League was a matter 
of no g.reat importance. For the Snbha as the AIl·lndia Home Rule 
league was to be known in its new incarnation Was an organisa­
tion which proved to be without a tomorrow. Bm the argument 
was, on another level, big with consequence. (t was the first pole­
mical skirmish between Gandhi and Jinnah and as such portended 
that prolonged dialogue of the deaf which proved so faterul-some 
might say, fatal-and in which each $ide $corcd plenty of deba­
ting points against each other without communicating anything 
except, perhaps, their mutual temperamental incompatibility. 
There were otl1efli no doubt Who were eyen more critical uf 
Gandhi 3t the time and attacked him quite unfairl) and even 
with a certain want of ordinary courtesy which on hiS side he 
neYer denied his opponents-not only Khaparde. for instance, 
but the old and urbane stalwarl. Dinshaw Wacha, who in a letter 
to G.A. Natesan allowed hi$ irritation with Gandhi to run away 
with him and nearly exhausted the vocabulary of political 
invective in inveighing against "the perniciouli doctrine of non­
cooperation" and its Ruthor: 

The man is full of overweening conceit & personal ambitilon 
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and the vast unthinking multitude, let alone the so caHed 
"leaders" of the hour, and the lip "patriots", seem to be 
quite mad ... in following like a flock of sheep, this unsufe 
shepherd who is bringing the country on the very brink of 
chaos & anarchy. And your people [meaning MadrasJ were 
for a time so emhused & worshipped him as if he were a 
mortal god on earth. Time, time, time, will be the avcnger of 
the wrongs this madman is now inflicting on the poor country 
in his mad & arrogant career. 

But these angry words and ridicule availed a~ little as the 
legendary King Canute's sword in holding back the tide wh.ich 
was flowing strongly in the direction in which Gandhi wanted 
to take the Indian people, Even Dr. Judith Brown while tracing 
in her book the developments in Indian politics during the four 
months between the Calcutta Special Session of the Congress 
and the NagpUl" plenary session, while leaving no contrary eddy 
uncounted, acknowledges that "in the oldest Presidency [that 
is, BengalI non-cooperation was taking root among group~ who 
had been untouched by Madralok pioneers of nationalist politics" 
and that even the Muslims "were also deeply stirred"; that in 
Gujarat "notorious for its political lethargy" it "caught on and 
penetrated deeply into society"; that the c.p, "once so politically 
backward, presented the spectacle of new groups entering nationa­
list politics for the first time, ousting any of the western educated 
who refused to follow Gandhi's plans"; that in the Punjab 
elections "only 8.5% of urban voters, bod) Hindu and Muslim, 
Went to the polls" though "the rural poll was heavier" (she 
does not say that it was largely the urban voters who figured 
on the electoral roUs because of the property and educational 
qualifications); and much the same pattern emerged in voting 
in other provinces. 

Thus it seemed that, for good or ill, neithertbe Government 
propaganda nor the opposition of the moderate school of Indian 
politicians had been able to check the progress of the idea of 
non~cooperation which looked like becoming the wave of to­
morrow-and certainly the day~arter" .. 



CHAPTER VI 

A POINT OF HONOUR 

Nagpur had been rather unlucky. Very early on-in 1891-it 
had the honour of hosting a Congress session, with P. Ananda 
Charlu, the first Indian from South of the Vindhyas, presiding. 
However, it had not since then been given an opportunity to 
repeat the hospitality. It felt particularly sore about this because 
there was a feeling among its citizens that by accident or design 
it had been cheated of the honour on morc than onc occasion. 
The Twenty-second session of the Congress held at Calcutta in 
1906 over which Dadabhai Naoroji had presided, for instance. 
had resolved "that the next Congress assemble at Nagpur:' But 
that was not to be. 

The tussle between the Moderates and the "Extremists" 
as their opponents and critics called them and "Nationalists" as 
they liked to think of themselves. had already begun and the 
latter. in fact, as related in the earlier volume, had wanted to 
prcs~ Bal Gangadhar Tilak's claims to preside over the Calcutta 
Congre~s but bad been outmanoeuvred by the Moderates putting 
up the name of the Grand Old Man ofIndian politics to take the 
wheel-a proposal the Radicals dared not oppose. But they 
had hoped that the following year Nagpur Congress would 
install Tilak rather than the amiable Dr. Rash Behari Ghose 
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as the President. But again they were outmanoeuvred. The 
Congress "Patriarchs"-in those days tIle term "Bosses" had 
not come into currency-especially Pherozeshah Mehta, taking 
advantage of the factional tensions between the Moderates and 
the Radicals in Na!!-pur. were able to secure a change of venue 
to Surat. a city associated with the cotton trade, which the Lion of 
Bombay thought could be safer because of his business connec~ 
tions with it. 

But the change of venue did not help. Surat was an unmitigated 
disaster and the Congress session there in December 1907 was 
to dissolve into chaos leaving deep wounds behind. Tilak and 
his men saw to il that it never took off. There had been talk 
among the Radicals that in 1908 "a regular session of the Con~ 
geess on old Hnes .. ,keeping: it open as usual to members of all 
parties so as to keep its continuity" be held at Nagpur, But the 
Government had intervened. first by arresting Tilak, sentencing 
him to six years' imprisonment and sending him away to Manda­
lay, Burma, and then "about {he mkldle of December 1908" 
promulgating an order under the notorious Section 144 of the 
Criminal Procedure Code-which, incidentally, is still very mw:h 
with us-prohibiting any assembly of more than four persons. 
This put paid to the idea of holding a Congress session at Nagpur 
which the "Nationalists" had been contemplating. For although 
they were dubbed as "Extremists", their extremism had 1\ot yet 
reached the &tage of running the gauntlet of the might and 
majesty of the Government's prohibitory orders or seeking 
confrontation with its agencies of Law and Order. 

So Nagpur had to wait for another twelve years to achieve 
its ambition of playing bost to the Congress session a second time. 
At the end of 1919 Tilak had returned from England in time to 
attend the Amritsar Congress, His admirers and supporters in 
Nagpur bad his ble~~ing in canvassing the claims of the 
city as [he venue for the next Congress session, As this 
propo~al had the backing of both the Hindi and Marathjvspeaking 
areas of the Central Provinces, it proved irresistible. But, soon 
,according to the anonymous writer of the Preface to the transac­
lwns of the Nagpur Congress session, "as if it were to test the 
st~mina and patriotism of the organisers of the invited Congress, 
,[mpedimenls afler impediments were thrown in their way." 
A controversy broke out on whether the Congress be held at 
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Nagpur, capital of the c.P .. which was in the Marathi·speaking 
part of the Province or at JabaJpur which was the centre of the 
Hind-speaking region. The controversy, we learn. "assumed u 
racial appearance of Mahara"htrians versus Non-Maharasht~ 
rians and thus a good deal of bitterness was imported into it. 
The first half of the year was spent in this way in such fruitle:>l\ 
and disintegrating discussions and nothing morc than framing a 
paper constitution of the Reception Committee could be so long 
achieved." 

The matter was eventually reterred to the AII-fndin Congress 
Committee and it decided in favour of Nagpur which did not 
please the Hindi-speaking region and the anonymous writer 
speaks of "n. general atmosphere of some alienation ... between the 
two portions of the Province." Until well into July 1920 "not a 
single pic could be raised and the treasury of the Reception 
Committee was absolutely empty." But, apparently. judging from 
the lamentations of the two General Secretaries of the Congress. 
Dr. M.A,Ansari and YJ. Patel over the refu>.al-or neglect­
of the Provincial Congress Committees to fulfil their pledged 
financial obligations towards the A.I,C.C, in their annllal report 
to the Congress. even the central organisation's "treasury"' 
tended to be chronically empty and it had to resort to despC'rate 
shifts to meet its expenses. It was to give some financial stability 
to the Congress that the A.Lee. had d1.'Cided at its meeting 
earty in October to- set up two funds: and the Provincial Congress 
Committee with the help of District and other organisations. 
were urged "to make every endeavour to collect funds and 
submit monthly reports of receipts and expenditure to the All~ 
India Congress Committee." But. as its two distinguished General 
Secretaries TUcfuUy put it, "these resolutions have so far remained 
a dead Jetter. The Congress ha~ no permanent funds and if we 
are to make any headway towards securing Swarajya, huge 
National funds are essential and the sooner we realise this f,,-ct 
the better." 

Never a truer word was said. But because Congress organisa­
tions at every level were. $0 to speak. congenitally improvident~ 
they had developed over the years a reflexive talent for Jast 
minute improvisation. So. we Jearn, through interest free loans 
from a few leading Nationalists in Nagpur. "1\ sum of about 
Rs. 10,000 was deposited in cash in the treasury of the Reception 
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Committee in the month of July .... " But just when it looked 
ns if things were beginning to move at last "in right earnest," 
not only did the monsoon set in "impeding" all work. but (10 
quote the language of piety and resignation of the preracc~ 
writer) "the Almighty and ;]\J~wise God, in His Merdful V;ic} 
will, decided to curtail the span of existence in this world, of 
the Great Lokmanya .... The suddenness of the neWs [of 
Tilak's death, that is} ... fell like a thunderbolt on us and 
thoroughly dumb~founded us for a time." 

But the living have no option except to bury or burn their 
dead and go on with their appointed earthly tasks; and so did the 
members oflhe Reception Committee at Nagpur.lt is an ill wind 
t11at blows nobody any good and Tilak's death, for a timc, 
stilled a1l controversies. including the (,'ontroversy between the 
Congre~s organisations of the c.P. and its Siamese twin, Eerar. 
In a moment of shared sorrOw the Berar Congress, the Prefuee 
records, cast in "its lot with ours" and joined hands "in holding 
a Joint Session of the Congress for the Combined Province of 
c.P, and Bcrar." This, it seems, was "a timely encouragement. 
Which eventually proved to be or substantial help as well." 
For onCe "the controversy was laid at rest;' the Hindi and 
Maratlli regions or the Province "vied with each other in friendly 
rivalry to do their bcst in making the session a sUCcess," With a 
leading Marwari businessman. Seth Jamnalal Bajaj, as the Chuir­
man of the Reception Committee. the initial financial difficulties 
were soon overcome. 

Holding the second Congress session at Nagpur had evidently 
been "peculiarly a point o1'bonou," with the Nationalists in the 
city and that honour was upheld. They saw to it that i.t should 
be a Congress session to remember. "The special feature of the 
arrangement for the lodging of the delegates made by the Recep­
tion Committee." it is recorded, was the setting up of a tempo­
fary township "afterwards popularly and lovingly known as 
Congress Nagar," or Congre!)s City; and this was an example 
which subs~.9uenlly WaS to be followed by other elties and townS 
which hosted the Congress session. It was no easy task either. 
Nagpur session was the biggest in terms of the number.of 
delegateS which attended it~t4.582. This was more than tWIce 

the numbcrwhiehattend.cd the session at Amritsar. itself a record, 
Tbe problem ofJodging and feeding and providing for the creature-
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-comforts, like hot and cold baths- to say nothing of other sanitary 
arrangements, waS obviously not easy tD tackle. But it appears 
that it was well tackled. 

The second Nagpur Congress Session was not only the biggest 
in terms of the muStcr of the delegates since the Indian National 

-Congress was founded thirty-five years earlier. It was also, and 
in a very real sense. the most momentous in termS of the decisions 
it was called upon to take. It is true, of course, that a watershed 
had been rea,.ched in its outlook and methodology of struggle with 
the paSsing of the Rowlatt Act and the traumatic events which 
it triggered off. But it was not until the special session of the 
Congress at Calcutta in September 1920 that the logical con­
clusions were drawn from these events and a programme of 
effectively meeting the challenge was agreed upon. But even after 
tbeacceptance by the Congress at Calc'llia of Gandhi's pro· 
gramme of non-cooperation attempts had continued to build 
up pressure on and within the Congress to ensure a reversal of 
the decisions taken at Calcutta. What is more, and because of 
the very nature of the limitations underwbich the special session 
laboured, the necessary consequential changes regarding the 
-constitution and organisational framework and instruments of 
the Congress had not been considered much less any decisions 
taken on what needed being done. Predictably, therefore, these 
questions and the reaffirmation and ampHcation of the resolu­
tion slating the argument for and a programme of non-coopera­
tion figured at the top of the agenda at Nagpur. 

The session began on December 26 in the afternoon at 1.30. 
1t opened with the singing of Bonde Mataram by Pandit Vishnu 
Digambar Paluskar of the Gandharva Mahavidyalaya, Bombay. 
which was followed by more patriotic songs by a choir of young 
girls front two local schools, Jamnatal Bajaj. Chairman of the 
Reception Committee. who was for many years to be Honorary 
Treasurer of the Congress and contributed a hundred thousand 
rupeeS to the Swaraj Fund "specially earmarked for financial 
heir to lawyers who gave up practice and participated in the 
Civll Disobedience movement" besides courling imprisonment 
gave his address of welcome in Hindi. It was not a profound 
or politically rousing speech. But it had a ring of sincerity and 
made a point of appealing to the youth of the country 
that if they wanted to know their responsibility towards 
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their own national movement. they should study the histories. of 
other countries when they were in the throes of similar national 
upheavals. "India in her present non~violent campaign:' he said. 
"'expects such ... sacrifices from her youth as were made by the 
youths of Russia. Ireland. Egypt and China, in the revolutionary 
periods of their history." Coming from the lips of man \vho by 
the standards of the day commanded enormous wealth. it must 
have sounded rather strange and paradoxical. 

Earlier in his speech he had been eVen more paradoxicaL 
He had chided his fellow businessmen "who 50 far have remained 
rather listless towards the political life and the national needs of 
lheir country." He reminded them thut they. too, had "certain 
grave responsibilities towards the land of their birth" which they 
should realise "at a time of such a national crisis!' He went 
on: 

Let them refh..-ct with calm sincerity that though they mny 
have successfully amassed wealth under the British rule. it 
was not done by making the country happy. Their prosperity 
has been purchased at the cost of the ever growing poverty 
and impoverishment of their people. In theil moment-.; of 
elation at the thought of their income of lacs and crOfes 
drawn from foreign trade and speculation they should remt!m~ 
ber that as a result of its ever increasing poverty there are. in 
lodia. at least thirty millions, men, women and children who 
bless their stars if in course of the whole day and night they 
happen to secure one fuJi meal. 

He referred to what he called "the prescnt extraordinary 
awakening of the [ndinn mass mind" and added. almost by way 
of a stern rebuke and warning: "I have suspicions that most 
of us have not yet fully realised the extent of this awakening and 
therefore with the utmost humility [wish to warn the leaders ofthe 
Indian educated community that if they do not fully utilise this 
great awakening and fail to give proof of their earnestltess and 
self~sacrjlice by leading the present movement for national 
uplift whether the movement succeeds or fails, they would for 
ever lose the confidence of their people." He was sure that the 
common Indian humanity would never be found wanting in the 
spirit. of sclr~sacrifice. "It will be arrogant on my part to say 
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anytbing to the masses of India," he said, "because it is they who 
are {he greatest sufferers for our sins and from our present 
national degeneration. So far they have never lugged behind 
the educated community in any political sacrifice nor will they 
ever do so in future." 

This was not what in our contemporary terminology would be 
de::.cribcd as a Lcfti!>t. but a member of the haute bourgeoisie 
speaking. Before concluding he also referred to another issue 
which had been largely out of bounds in all Congress dehates. 
True. at one time Dadabhai Naoroji had toyed with the idea of 
bringing the Princely States into the ambit of Congress politics. 
But he lutd been thinking primarily oflhe ruling princes some of 
whom, especially in tho!->e early day"', shared the political seuti· 
ments or the Congress. But he did not pursue the idea beyond 
mentioning it to some or hb friends in his letters. Presumably. 
JlOwever, it was thought best to com:entrate the political mind 
exclusively on the problems of what was then known as British 
lnuia lest by enlarging the scope of Congress' concern to thl!: 
Indian States they might introduce a divisive issue in their discus~ 
sion and raise further controversy when they had enough 
already. 

However, the tuboo was broken at Nagpur-by the Chairman 
or tbe Reception Committee himself. He had good reason for 
doing so. He reminded his. audience that he had been born in a 
Princely State----Jaipur. He had. therefore. some qualification to 
raise the issue. particularly because they were about "to introduce 
new changes" in the Congress constitution. And he argued: 

l and those who are of my views wish lhat you should not 
keep the Native states a.nd their people outside the neW 
Congress constitution. The residents of the Native states arc 
also ao important limb of the Indian Nation. and I assure 
you that the cordial sympathy of rn.any of the princes of the 
Niltive states is also with you. And even if some of the 
princes uo not sympathise with our cause you should have no 
uoubt about the sympathy of their subjects. And therefore 
the real inlerest~ of the princes will also lie in joining hands 
with you. It is for the:,/! reasons that r and many others strongly 
feci that in your neW constitution a place should be given to 
the Native princes and their subjects. 
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This made politkal ;,ense even though he- wa~ being over­
sanguine regarding the possibility of winning over the Indian 
Princes to the Congress cause. Indeed, with the Cong.ress entering 
on a neW more milimnt phase of defiance of the Raj, and over­
whelming majority of the Princes were ahO'ut to di:>tancc them­
selves even further from the Congre% than they had ill the 
past when some of theln, if not actually friendly to it, had been 
inclined to adopt a posture of bcnevolcnt neutrality towards 
it. Nor did the Congress leadership accept Jamnalal Bujaj's 
suggestion of extending its constitutioll to embrace the princely 
states though it found a way of drawing the people of the States 
into the struggle for democratic rights and liberties through a 
separate but kindred organisation-the Indian States' Peoples 
Conference. 

For the time being the Congress contented itself with making 
a symbolic gesture which was calculated to convey to the people 
of the princely India thc message that the Congress was not 
indifi·crent to their aspirations. but without (so it imagined) 
giving undue offence to the Princes who ruled them even though 
under the often obtrusive overlordship of the Paramount Power~ 
Britain. h had a resolution on its agendll~number twelve­
which said "this Congress earnestly requests all the sovereign 
Princes of India to take immediate steps to establish full res­
ponsible Government in their States." But most of the "Sovereign 
Princes of fndia" whose pretence to sovereignty was soon to be 
brutally pricked by a lapidary pronouncement by Chelmsford's 
SUCccssor as Viceroy addressed to the tal\e~t. metaphorically 
speaking, among the Princely Order in India and who meekly 
accepted it without as much as a murmur of protest. 

However. as far as the Congress was concerned, it was to 
respond positively to thc argument advanced by the Chairman 
of the Reception Commitlec at the Nagpur ses!>too. At its first 
meeting on January I, 1921. which lasted three days, the new 
Working Coomuttec of the All-India Congress Committee took 
the first tentative step towards assuming responsibility for the 
struggle of the people of India's princely states for their democra~ 
tic anu human rights. The very first resolution it passed said: 
"Every Congress province will have assigned to it aU r.:ontiguous 
radian State areas wherein the prevailing lunguage is that of 
the Congress province." The resolution went on to give "an 
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illustrative list" of how the various princely states were to be­
assigned to the different Congress provinces. Thus at Nagpur 
yet another Rubicon was crossed. 

lamnalal Bajaj's speech was simple and straightforward. 
[t was delivered in Hindi, or ralher, Hindustani, a language which 
both Gandhi and he championed as the lingua franca of the 
country and which a majority of Indians understood.. Its radical 
accent could also not be mistaken. The President's address which 
followed was a striking contrast in every sense. It was, of course. 
in English. It was heavy with learning. It hardly left any quotation 
from the sacred texts of Western liberal thoughl unturned. It 
harked back to Pericles' Athens and to Dcmonsthencs "who 
endeavoured, with divine eloquence. to rally the Alhenians to 
resist Philip of Macedon." it invoked Burke, inevitably. Butit 
did not leave out latter-day Irish patriots and Home Rulers., 
like Henry Grattan and Issac Butt. 1t referred to Dicey on 
the question of political sovereignty. It recalled the charters 
of King John and King Henry the third, naturally. But it also 
crossed 1 he Channel to back up the pet idea of a declaration of 
fundamental rights the credit for which i1 gave to the French 
political philosophers and told the Congress that a contemplJr.rry 
French politician, Poincare, had aptly called the Declaration of 
Rights the "Law of Laws". 

Whether or not the delegates at the Congress Nagar at Nagpur 
were able to foUlJW all these recondite allusions and references~ 
some of them must have known that lhey would have to digest 
them when they had chosen President for the session the first 
Hero of Salem, a victor in many a legal cause celebre including: 
two involving his personal vindication and innocence-Chakra~ 
varti Vijiaragbavachariar. it Was not only that his name exhausted 
almost half of the letters ot English alphabet. His career 
as public figure was remarkable for many things, but not least 
for its longevity. Born five years before the uprising of 1851, he 
not only helped in drafting the constitutional provisions of the 
Nehru (the elder) Report but lived to see the passing of the Quit 
India Resolution by the Congress at Bombay and died jusl 
three years before the Transfer of Power, 

He could not claim. like Burke, that "he was bred to the law:'· 
In fact, he began his adult career as a schoolmaster before 
qualifying himself as "a first class pleader" to set up practice at 
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Salem. But. perhaps, there is something of a lawyer and law-giver 
struggling to get out in every South Indian Brahmin: something 
aho of a pedagogue; and so when he entered politics in 1887 
by joining the Congress. his speeches tenued to be a cross between 
a lawyer's brief and a school teacher's notes. Incidentally. it was 
he who at the Calcutta Congress in 1906 moved the resolutJon 
caUing for "a definite limitation of the State demand on land--­
in other words a Permanent Settlement--arguing that "land in 
India had never belonged to the King: the sages had said that 
the world belonged to those who were born in it; private property 
was gained by cultivation and the King, who was ordained for 
protection, received a share from the cultivators for hi:=. servke~. 
The idea that land belonged to the King was Western a!1tl 
feudal. not Jndian." 

He was by then already a prominent figure in COl1gres-.; 
politics in the Madras Presidency. having become a member of 
the Madras Lcgh.lative Council in 1896. However, it was 110t until 
his translation to the Imperial Legislalive Council in 1913 under 
Hardingc's Viccroyalty that he established hls reputation as a 
pariiamenUlrian of national stature and distinguished bim~df.:I:­
Iswara Dutt in his admirably succinct pen-portrait oftheman put,. 
it. by "his knowlt.'<.Igc of public questions and of Parliamentary 
procedure. his resourcefulness in debate and readiness in repartee. 
his vigilance and forthrightness .... Sir Guy Fleetwood Wil~ol\ 
[Finance Member in Hardiage's Executive Council]., .made the 
frank admission that when Vijiaraghavaehariar wa~ in the H0u,e, 
Government members could not afford to sk-ep!" 

However. aftcr the Sura! split he had been only a sleeping 
member of the Congress at least until 1916 when the breach 
between the Moderates and the Nationalists had at la<;t been 
publicly healed. Surprisingly, according to Dr. Sitaram.lyya. 
"the Moderate Congress did not appeal to his judg¢m~nt." 
Surprisingly. because his presidential address was modulated on a 
note which would have sounded sweet music in Moderate cars. 
True. he waxed eloquent over bis pel notion of a Declaration of 
Fundamental Rights. He was also fiot unduly modest in comman­
ding to the Congress "a draft statute of constitution for the 
Dominion of British India" which he had painstakingly prepared, 
complete with a Declilration of Rights the first clause of which 
proclaimed British India to be "one and indivi:>ible" and in which 
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"all political power is inl1erent in the people, .. to the same 
extent as in any other people or nation of the British Empire:' 
He annc:o:.cd it to his address though what became of its is not 
quite dear. Presumably, it was pigeon-holed in the Congress 
archives. to be taken out and dusted and read when the time came 
for the next constitutional exercis.e. 

But the immediate issue before the Congress was the question 
of 1l00Hooperation and how to build up sufficient mass sanction 
behind the movement. On this he was not so hol. He could not. 
of course, take a wholly negative attitude to it. After all, the Special 
Ses~ion of the Congress had already accepteo it and what Nagpur 
~ession was expected to do was to work out ways and means of 
implementing it. Moreover, he was aware that his elevation to 
pre~jdency of the Congress had been decided upon only after 
Tilak's death \\ho would have been the first choice of the Con~ 
gre"s even though he had declined to preside over the Special 
Congress. He made a feeling reference to it in lbe opening para· 
graph of his address when he said: "And on this occasion and in 
this presence it is impossible for me to resist the very natural 
temptation to say how deeply I lament the fact that if that great 
son of India whose manhood was a life of selfless suffering in our 
country's cause in a spirit of dedication rarely surpassed in the 
annals of national struggles for freedom. Lokamanya Tilak, had 
been spared, the confidence you have reposed in me to-day had 
been of very superior right, his, and would have been, happily, 
not mine," 

OlTIciating. as it were, for the great Lokamanya who was no 
more, he could not but try to impart to his keynote address some­
thing of the fire and passion that THak would have done had he 
been :.pared to preside over the Nagpur session, And undoubtedly, 
Vijiaraghavachariar tried his best, especially in the passages in 
which he drlated on the struggle for human rights down the 
ugc~ and especially spoke of France and the French revolution 
when the people of France "fought and bled foc humantiy." 
But having spent all passion in evoking the glorious memories of 
the buules for civil liberties of all our yesterdays. he seemed to 
become rather muted, or at least Delphic, and, what is more, 
10 go off at all manner of tangents Wilhout ever coming to the 
point. His digressions on various edifying themes, as, for instance. 
nation~building activities which he advocated, were listened 
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to with respect, but what the delegates were anxious to have was 
a lead on the main and urgent issue. This he avoided giving. Thus 
very near the end of his address he managed to send the ball in 
the delegates' court by saying: 

I would make an eamest appeal to you and beg of you to 
realiSe that. for the past two years, we have been in an increas­
ingly critical state of our life, political and economical. 
I believe that the crisis has now reached its worst and the 
NagpuT session of the Congress may be rightly deemed to be 
the Thermopylae in the history of India, certainly in the 
history of the Indian National Congress. I believe that it has 
been allotted to this great presence so to think, so to aim, 
and so to act as to reap the glory of the nation-making and 
history-making of our beloved Motherland. Tn one aspect 
the work before us consists of two essential parts, onc positive 
and the other negative. 1 venturc to think that our fate just 
now lies chiefly in the hands of two men: the Right Hon'ble 
Mr. Montagu and Mahatma Gandhi. Two messages have 
to be presently framed, onc to each. You wi11 frame the 
message to Mr. Montagu and by virtucoftbe confidence you 
have reposed in me I shall frame the message to Mahatmaji. 
You will tell Mr. Montagu : "Pray do" and I will tell the 
Mahatmaji "Pray do not" and in the welcome response to 
each message lies the salvation of our country in the main 
just now ...• 

What the delegates to the Nagpur session or the Mahatma 
himself made of the President's cryptic instructions to them is 
hard to guess at this distance in time. They may not have found 
his counsel easicr to decipher than to follow, though they did not 
fail to applaud him before getting on with the business on the 
agenda. This was heavy though the resolutions were less than half 
those at Amritsar-only twenty~rour. Some were repeats, like 
the resolutIOns on education. the struggle of indian settlers in 
Africa and Fiji, protest at forcible acquisition of Jand by the 
Government under the Land Acquisition Act, and the call for 
promoting indigenous systems of medicine. But quite a number 
of new and topical matters were covered by the resolutions on 
.the agenda-the unprecedented rise in indian Sterling Exchange; 
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ratc, solidarity with the Trade Unions in their struggle ror ~ecuring 
their legitimate rights and ca!1ing upon the AIl·lndia Congrc1)!; 
Committee to appoint a Committee to take effective steps to 
prevent the exploitation of Indian Labour and Indian resources 
by foreign agencies. 

There was also a resolution thunking the Muslim associations 
for their resolution against cow slaughter and, while about it, 
the resolution affirmed the Congress' recognition of "the great 
economic necessity for the protection of caulc" and urging 
"upon the people of Inuia to do their best to achieve this object, 
particularly by refusing to sell catlle or hides for export trade," 
Another reso(ution~number twenty-condemned the Govern­
ment "for its callous disregard of the immediate needs of the 
Indian people in reference to its -policy as regards the exportation 
of food-stuffs in spite of famine conditions prevailing" and it 
advised "the traders not to export foodstuffs" and the public 
not to sell such food-stuffs (particularly rice and wheat) "to 
exporting lraders and agencies or help in any way the export of 
these stuffs." 

The report of the Committee appointed by the Secretary 
of State for India in 1919 under the chairmanship of Lord E"her 
to enquire into the administration and organisation of the Army 
had been submitted tQ.the Government in May 1920 and published 
a few months later. It was so retrograde in its orientation and 
niggardly in meeting the claims which Indians of all shades of 
opinion had been making that eVen the well-wishers of the Raj 
advised the Government to take no action on its recommenda­
tions, Particularly unacceptable Was its underlying doctrine 
that the Army in rndia was not solely for the defence of [odia 
but must be fitted into the larger design for the defence of the 
Empire. In india it was attacked even by the Moderates and the 
Congress naturally condemned it in the strongest possible 
terms and found in it a "strong additional ground for Non· 
co-operation, and for showing how dangerous it is to pOf.tpon(} 
the immediate establishment of Swaraj." 

Some of the resolutions on the agenda were of long-term 
imporlance. The resolution "earnestly" requesting the Princes to 
democratize their administration has already been mentioned. 
Another new derarture was meant to reassure the Sikhl>, an 
historically important minority in the Punjab, who had hithertO' 
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remained largely indifferent to the Congress for a number of 
(;'ompiex reasons, not least of which was the character and 
composition of the Congress in the Land of Five Rivers. The 
nineteenth resolution at Nagpur declared that "in view of the [;.'Ict 
that misunderstandings exist among the Sikhs as to the position 
or 1heir community in the future polity of India. this Congress 
assures the Sikhs that their interests will receive the same pro~ 
tection in any scheme of Swaraj for India as is provided for 
Mohammedan and other minorities in provinces other than the 
Punjab," This assurance came at a time when a situation was 
already developing in the Punjab directly involving the Sikh 
community at the grassroot level in a confrontation with the 
British authoritic& and it served to draw the Sikhs closer to the 
Congress at least over the next decade and a half. 

The struggle of the Irish people against British imperialism 
had always inspired those engaged in the struggle for Indian 
freedom. Indeed, it can be said that even before the Congress 
Was founded and an organised movement for Indian self·govern­
mcnt began, Indian intelligentsia had felt a sense of affinity to 
the Irish nationalists and no less a person than Rammohun Roy 
in the early decades of the 19th century had championed the cause 
of Catholic enfrancbisement. This affinity had only deepened 
during the movement against the Partition of Bengal. Naturally, 
therefore. the hungef"strike of MacSwiney, theycuthful Mayor of 
Cork. had been followed in India with the keenest and even 
agonising sympathy. The Nagpur Congress remembered his 
martyrdom and in its fourth resolution paid its homage to his 
"sacred memory" and sent "its message of sYlnpathy to the Irish 
people in their struggle for Independence." 

Another Irishman was also gratefully remembered at Nagpur. 
The fifteenth resolution placed "on record its feelings of gra.te~ 
fulness to B.G. Horniman whose arduous labours and courage­
ous championship of the cause of India have made the Indian 
Case widely known to the people outSide India" and the Govern~ 
ment WaS condemned for not allowing him to return to india. 
An earlier resolution-number three-recognised thnt it was 
"necessary in the interests of India to disseminate corre<:t 
information about India and Indian que~tions in foreign 
countries. But it went on, with curious if not inverted logic. 
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to declare: 

(a) That the publication of newspaper India a!> an organ 
of the Congress be discontinued forthwith and the 
contracts of the present staff be terminated; 

(b) That. subject to the existing liabilities in connection with 
the British Congress Committee ana newspaper India 
no further financial assistllnCe from the Congress fund 
be supplied for these purPoses; and 

(c) That a Committee consisting of Ben Spoor, Mr. Parikh. 
Mr. Holford Knight. Dr. Vakil, Mr. M.H. Kidwai and 
Mr. Dube be appointed for winding up the affairs of the 
British Congress Committee and newspaper India. 

This was an unkind cut, to put it mildly; and the reasons for 
it were mixed in the sense fhat Ihey were both financial and 
political. Financially, the upkeep of the British Congress Con'l~ 
mitee and its organ Indin was cosling the AJI~tndia Congress 
Committee dear at a time when. judging from the annual reporl 
of its two General Secretaries (the third General SecretalY, 
Gokaran Nath Misra, had resigned in September rather suddenly), 
were at very low ebb; and, as they complained bitterly. they had 
been unable 10 remit to V.J. Patel who had gone [0 England to 
present the Congress ,use on tlle Draft Rtllcs and Regulations to 
the Joint Select Committee and Parliament, the funds that had 
been promised. "Not a single Provincial Congress Commiuee," 
they had bemoaned. "has contributed a single pie in carrying: 
on the work of the Congress deputation." 

The Provjncial Congress Committees had throughout been 
equally unwilling to carry out their financial obligations under­
taken to sustain lhe work of the British Congress Committee and 
its pubH,aLion the weekly India. And even in those days the 
running of a weekly journal cost a pretty penny. As we leatn 
from an editorial note in Young india of October 20. 1920, it 
cost £3,300 annually to run India, of whIch £ 1.800 went in salaries 
alone-Syud Hossain as editor-secretary got £550, Fenner Brock~ 
way another £550, G,P. Blizzard as secretary received £400. and 
£150 cach was paid to the typist and thc clerk respectively. The 
income of the paper wa.'i derisory-under five pounds for the year 
and its circulation was only 500. of which 220 sold in Great 
Britain and the rest ,arne to India. 
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But there were also political reasom for this rather drastic 
decision by the Congress. Ever since the death of Wedderburn, 
neither the British Committee nor its journal India had found a 
point of stable equipoise, political1y speaking. The breakaway 
of the Moderates from the Congress had created an almost 
insuperable difficulty for both the British Congress- Committee 
and India. They were both reflexively sympathetic to the moderate 
line and found the new radical accent of the Congress hani to 
assimilate. Almost the 11tst thing which V.I. Patel did on 
his arrival in England with N.C. Kelkar at the end of May 
1919 was to put the British Congress Committee as then Con­
stituted and lndia under notice to chmlge their ways und bring 
themselves into line with the policies orthe COllgress which funded 
them. As already related, with some reluctance the Committee 
had complied and accepted the new Constitution which V.J. Patel 
and Kelkar had drawn up for it and which made it obligiltory 
for the Committee to accept the object a:,; defined in Article r 
of the parent organisation, the Indian National Congress. This 
had led to some though not many res.ignations from the Britis.h 
Congress Committee. 

However, the Congress was. not satisfied that the British 
Congress Committee was really functioning in the way it should. 
As for inaia, under Helena Normanton's editorial care it had 
tended 10 veer towards the radical extreme whereas under her 
predecessors it had been ralher excessively moderate. At all 
events, Gandhi had by now come to the conclusion that both 
the Committee and it~ weekly were serving no useful putpo:.e 
as far as India was concerned. Himself a very effective propagan­
dist in the best sense of the term for the causes which he made 
his own, he had very little faith in professionat propaganda in 
foreign parts. In any case, any such propaganda, he felt, should 
be carried out by the natives of the country themselves if they 
sympathised with the Indian cause. He explained his views on 
the matter very frankly in the piece written after Helena Nor­
manton had written to him setting down her ideas on Indian 
publicity in Britain, in Young Inaia of October 20: 

I entirely associate myself with her remark that a British 
Committee, to be lrue to name, should be composed exclu­
sively of the British people and financed by them. It is then 
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more likely to exert influence on British public opinion than 
not. In any case we would then have a real index of the British 
interest in Indian affairs. I endorse Miss Normanton's views 
about the new~paper India also. The paper costs much more 
than it is worth. Its influence on English opinion is practicaHy 
nothing and it is an indifferent vehicle of English opinion for 
India's enlightenment. Its only value therefore consisls in 
ils parliamentary reports which can be received and distri­
buted by the All-India Congress Committee with very little 
cost. ... And now th;u we have embarked on non-co-operation 
and are determined to become self-reliant, it would be more 
consistent for us to disestablish the British Committee and 
stop /lulia. It would s.ave a needl~~ waste of public money and 
turn Our attention morc toward~ ourtielves. 

Gandhi seemed equally unreceptive to another suggestion by 
Helena Normanton-thatJnd;a "should have a kind afan advj~ 
sory committee or adviser resident in London to help the proposed 
British Committee with suggestions." He wrote: 

1 would rather concentrate alt our attention and all our best 
worken. on work in India. The harvest is truly riclt and the 
labourers are few. We can ill spare a single worker for foreign 
work. It will be time for us to consider the propriety of 
sending representative abroad after we have created a perma· 
nent impression in India itsclfby substantial and solid work. 

On this point he was largely right, though no~ for the reasons 
he gave. Tn normal times a British Committee interested in Indian 
affairs and sympathetic to the Indian cause would not have 
needed the services of nn Indian adviser or advisory committee; 
and in times of any acute crisi~ in Indo-British relations, no matter 
how sympathetic the British Committee might be to India, it 
would be unlikely to be influenced in its judgement by any 
adviser or advisers who truty reflected the nationalist views and 
sentiments in India as sub~equent experience was to show and 
a, Helena Normallt(}ll. it must be said to her credit, hersdf 
admitted in one of her editorial piccc~ in Indill. 

But Gandhi's jud£cmcnt on the work of the British Congress 
Committee and the rolc of Inditl in influencing public opinion in 
Britain was not only severe and wanting in charity. It was also 
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less than just. With all its. limitations, the British Congress Com· 
mittec until Wedderburn's death had been reasonably effective 
in interpreting and presenting the Indian viewpoint to the 
opinion-forming sections of the intelligentsia in Britain, both 
inside the British Parliament and outside. As for its journal 
Illdia, its intlucncc and elTectivcness could 110t be judged only 
in terms of the copics it sold. Jts very existence was some check 
on the disinformation ahout India and the Congress by the 
organs of, or close lo, the British imperialist establishment. What 
is more. anybody looking through its fLies cannot but be impressed 
by how much light it throws on the developments in the three 
decades during which it was published and how indispensable it 
is to anybody who wishes to reconstruct the political history of 
the period. 1t certainly was the best periodical devoted to India 
published abroad either during the pre-independence period OT 

since. And the present writer includes in this most of the Indian 
journalistic ventures in the West which he has known OT been 
associated with over the past half a century or more. 

Gandhi, of course, had a highly puritanical attitude to the usc 
of public money; and it was on the whole a right and proper 
attitude. But he carried it too far. A saving of Rs. 45,000 was 
undoubtedly achieved by dosing down Indi'l, but at a cost which 
cannot be quantified only in terms of money, India was a reliable 
journal of record on Indian affairs and its files that remain in 
a few libraries constitute an invaluable reservoir of information 
on political as well as social and economic developments in 
India for upward of thirty years that it was published. By killing 
it when it was going to be most needed Gandhi threw away a 
weapon which would have been of use to him in dhseminating 
information about the non-coopemtion movement. For there is 
little doubt that his voice was decisive during the discussion on 
foreign propaganda at Nagpur, In his speech on the resolution 
he not only repeated what he had said in his article in Young 
India, but added: 

We shall hurt our cause, rather than heir aurcause. lfweare 
doing anything here, no propaganda will be necessary, I 
want foreign countries to understand me. They understand 
only bus.iness, they understand only work. Whilst you have 
given currency to one solid fact our detractors have tried to 
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contradict it by various. devices. You will put the British 
nation on their honour, so that they will understand your 
act of self-denial in withholding information through agency. 

This was true but it was not the whole truth. 

The decision to wind up the British Congress Committee and 
india, however. was relatively a minor one against the background 
of the momentous decisions taken on three other related matters­
the fixing orlhe goal nfthe Indian National Congress, the commit­
ment to a comprehensive programme of non-cooperation and 
the adoption of a constitution for tile Congress consonant with 
its aim. The objective resolution wa:. listed at the top of the 
agenda under the heading "Change of Creed". It declared that 
"the object of the Indian Nationnl Congress is the attainment of 
Swarajya by the people of India by all legitimate and peaceful 
means." As this wa. ... to form Article I of the Congress. Constitution, 
the reorganisation of the structure of the Congress was taken 
up together with the redefinition of the creed and objective of 
the Congress. GandW himself moved the first resolution soon 
after the plenary session of the Congress begall at noon on 
December 28. having already moved it in the Subjects Committee 
that morning. He first spoke in Hindi and then, more briefly. 
in English because, he explained. he did not "propose to detain" 
them "for any lenglh of time". He said that. as far as he could 
understand. there were "only two objections" to the resolution. 
One objection was that the change of ereed meant "dissolving 
the British connection." His answer was. that it would be "dero-­
gatory to national dignity" if they came to look upon the "per· 
manencc of British Connection" as the paramount criterion 
overriding all other considerations in their scheme of nationaJ 
objectives. Tile paramount consiueraLion must be to secure 
"elementary justice" for India from the British people. He wanted 
them to make it plain to the whole world-and India-that 
they may "pos.sibly" have to do without British connection if the 
British denied them justice. 

However, he said, "I do not for onc moment suggest that we 
wanl to end the British connection at all costs unconditionally. 
if the British connection is for the advancement of India we do 
not want to destroy it. But if it is. inconsistent with our national 
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self-respect, then it is our bounded duty to destroy it." He did 
not take the view which, it seems, ms friend, CF. Andrews. 
took and which he descfibed as "extreme," that "all hope for 
Tndia is gone fOf keeping the British connection," and who 
wanted "complete severance, complete independence." His view 
was and it was the view taken in the resolution that "there is 
room in this resolution for both, those who believe that by 
retaining the British connection we can purify ourselves and 
purify the British people and those who have no such belief .... 
Therefore, this creed is elastic enough to take in both shade~ of 
opinion. and the British people will have to beware that, if they 
do not want to do justice it will be the bounden duty of every 
Tndian to destroy (hat Empire." 

It should be dear from this that even during that pha~ of 
Gandhi's political evolution when his mind was still in the process 
of transition from acceptance of the legitimacy of the British. 
Empire and his eventual repudiation of that legitimacy, his posi· 
tion on the question was far more agnostic and pragmatic than 
his critics, especially on the Left, credited him with then and 
until but recently. A degree of pragmatism also informed his. 
argument against those who objected to or were sceptical about 
the means envisaged in the resolution for the attainment of the 
goal set in the new creed--Swarajya, It is not, however. very 
clear what the differences or the doubts were. Presumably, the 
differences and doubts were regarding what was the precise mean· 
ing of the phrase "all legitimate and peaceful means," Gandhi 
in his speech dwelt at some length on the divergencies among the 
Bengal contingent. "There was," he said. "a little bit 01 skir~ 

mish, a little bit of squabble and a little bit of difference in the 
Bengal camp as. there will always be dHferences s.o long as the 
world lasts." This was something of a philosophic understate· 
ment. At any rate, Dr. Sitaramayya in his account of the episode 
says: 

Mr. c.R. Das brought a contingent of about 250 delegates 
from East Bengal and Assam, bore their eKpet'lses to and 
fro, nnd spent Rs. 36,000 from his pocket to undo what was 
done in Calcutta. There was even a small fight bctwc<!n 
his men and those of Jitcndralal Banerjee. his opponent. 
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Luckily, however, no great harm was done and no bones 
Wcrc broken thou.gh it shows that the Congress session~ even 
in those good old days were not altogether :.ugar and spice, and 
all the fhings that are nice. The particular fracas in the Bengal 
Camp, it appents, was settled for the time being by Gandhi's 
own intervention, though he did not claim that the ditrcrcnccs 
were altogether resolved: 

1 do not say they have settled their differences. I hope they 
have. But 1 do know thut they undertook to forget the differ­
ences. They undertook not to worry the President. they 
undertook not to make any demonstration here or in the 
subjects committee. and all honour to those who listened to 
that advice .... 

While for Gandhi the question of means being peaceful 
was a matter of morality in the widest sense of the term and a 
(;ategorical imperative. be also stressed that the practical exigen­
cies of the situation in which they were placed made it necessary 
fOT them to employ means fOT achieving Swarajya which were 
"'legitimate ... honourable ... non-violent'· and peaceful. "You 
bave resolved upon this thing." he said. "that, so far as we can 
see today, we cannot give battle to this Government by means of 
steel bUl we can give battle by exercising what r have so often 
.called soul force and soul force is not the prerogative of one 
man or a Sannyasi or even of a so~callcd saint. Soul force is 
the prerogative of every human being. female or male ...... 

At the Special Session at Calcutta Lajpat Rai who had becn 
the presiding deity over its deliberations, had chosen to remain 
all. deSI/S de melee both in word and deed although, a~ his biogra~ 
pher. Feroz Chand, maintnins, probably rightly, that he had his 
doubts about the whole Gandhian programme- and \'.'hether the 
time was "ripe" for it. But in the fOUl months since tben some of 
his doubts had been dissipated-sufficiently at least for him to 
second the resolution on tbe change of creed and constitution 
of the Congress at Nagpur. In so doing, he did not mix the 
ethical and, as it were, didactic aspc\.'t of the question with the 
political. He said straightaway that he considered the resolution 
~'to be of the greatest imporrance not only at the present juncture 
but also for Ihe futUre of my country". 

Lajpat Rai then went on to trace the history of the Congress 
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Creed since the abortive Sural Congress in 1907, and referred to his 
own part in the controversy when he had saved the dny for the 
Moderates and how, later at Allahabad. he had not agreed with 
those very Moderates because they wanted to take certain decisions 
which would "exclude from the deliberations of this Congress 
anybody who pitched his ideal so high as the complete indepen­
dence of his molher country." "And I teU you," he observed, 
"that one chief point for consideration before me was tliat no 
assembly in India could be called National which precluded by 
virtue of this creed (that is, 'responsible Government \vithin 
the British Empire') a man of the purity and or the ~i.bility and 
of the absolute disinterestedness and higb patriotism ... of 
Aurobindo. " 

That. however, was twelve or lhirteen years ago. And \\ hi!e 
Lajpat Rai was: not prepared 10 say that they would or could 
go at once for complete iJldependence. or that they would not 
relUain "wilhin the British Commonwealth, if that were possible." 
he wanted them to take "the opportunity of pointing out that we 
shall be lacking in frankness. We shall be lacking in honesty 
and truth. if we are not to announce in the dear.::st possible 
terms the change of mentality that has come over this coul1try.'~ 
He was quite witty in speaking of the pledges given by British 
statesmen. "We may place every faith in the words of an English 
gentleman." he remarked, "but we can no longer place':lllY failh 
ill the words of British S41.tcSlUall." Passing in review members. 
of the British Cabinct-Lloyd George. Curzon. Winston 
Churchill, Milner and Montagu-Ferol Chand quotes Lajp3t 
Rai as saying: "Point out to me a single member of the present 
British Cabinet whose words carry greater weight than those of a 
grocer." This was good clean fun, but perhaps a little unfair 
to grocers. Lcvity aside, when deating with the question of 
«means" by which Sw:trajya was to be attained. he said: 

J am one of those who believe that every nation has, when the 
occasion arises, the inherent right of armed rebellion agaillst 
a repressive autocratic government but r do not believe 
we have either the means or even the will for such an armed 
rebellion at the present time. I wi!! not discuss Ihc future 
possibilities but r want that my eounlrymen should not have 
any misconception or misgiving about the fact that the leader;, 
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of the Natiunal Congress do not want them to resort to 
violence for the attainment of any of the objects which have 
been laid before them. 

This intertwining of realism and radicalism in his argument 
enabled him to keep aU his options open. A heated discussion 
followed on the resolution, according to the Congress report, 
and the session adjourned leaving it "10 the President to decide 
after taking votes of each province." Even greater heat was 
generated by the second resolution on the agenda-on {he prog· 
ramnle for non·cooperatlon which was the operative crux of the 
matter. It was a long resolution running to more than eight 
hundred words. The text began by declaring that hin the opinion 
of the Congress. the existing Government of [ndia has forfeited 
the confidence of the country," and since the Indian people 
were "determined to establish Swarai" and all methods adopted 
befot.:: the last Special Session had failed "to seCUre due recogni~ 
tion of their rights and liberties and the redress of their many 
and grievous wrongs, more specially in reference to the Khilafat 
and the Punjab." It went on: 

Now thi::; Congress while reaffirming the resolution on Non· 
violent Non~co·operation passed at the Special Session of the 
Congress at Calcutta declares that the entire or any part or 
parts of the scheme of Non-violent No~c().-operation, with 
the renunciation of voluntary association with the present 
Government at one end and the refusal to pay taxes at the other. 
should be put in force at a time to be determined by either 
the Indian National Congress or the All~India Congress Com­
mittee and that in the meanwhile. to prepare the country 
for it. effective steps should continue to be taken in that 
behalf. 

The resolution then listed these steps-withdrawal of children 
from schools and students from colleges: nationalisation of 
Government affiliated and aided schools and municipalities and 
local boards to help in the process; gradual boycott of foreign 
trade relations by the trading community and encouragement of 
hand~spinning and hand~wellving; the setting up of organising 
committees in each village or group of villages with a provincial 
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central organisation at their apex for the purpose of accelerating 
the progress of non~cooperation; organising of a cadre of workers 
for national service to be called the Indian National Service; 
effective steps to raise a National Fund to be called All-India 
TiJak Memorial Swarajya Fund for the purpose of finandng 
the National Service and the Non-cooperation movement in 
general. 

The text went on to congratulate "the nation upon the progress 
made so far in working the progmmme of non-co-operation," 
specialiy with regard 10 the boycott oj' Councils by the voters. 
'The congratulations were welJ deserved. The percentage of 
voters' boycott varied from province to province and as between 
rural and urban areas in the November elections. but it was 
nevertheless substantial enough to reflect considerable succes--; 
for the Non-Cooperation movement. The Government, of course, 
claimed a success and made much of the fact that in only a few of 
the 637 "constituencies" no candidate presented himself fOT 

election to the "reformed" Councils. But' in the Punjab. for 
instance. only 8.5 Voters in urban areas went to the polls and in 
Lahore, the capital of the Punjab, voting was no more than five 
per cent. 

True. the picture in the rural areas was different. though even 
there less than forty per cent of the voters troubled to cast their 
Votes. As. Dr. Judith Brown puts it, "In Bengal the Governor 
was surprised at the strength of non-cooperation in the Presi~ 

dency"-and this despite the fact thata strong faction orthe Con~ 
gress leadership in Bengal was opposed to Gandhi's programme 
of non-cooperation and especially to the boycott of the Councils. 
The officials were even more surprised by the "widespread 
hold" of non-cooperation in the Central Provinces, according 
to the same source. In Bombay only eight percent of the electoralc 
turned up to vote and even tbe aggregate figure of 31.5 per cent 
for the Presidency as a whole was not exactly a vote of confidence 
in the Reforms. considering that only a small fraction of tile aduH 
male population was entitled to vote at all because of the 
property and other qualifications nceded for therigbtto vote. 

The resolution even made bold to recognise "the growing 
friendliness between the Police and the Soldiery and the people," 
and hoped "that the former wilt refuse to subordinate their 
creed andoountry to the fulfilment of orders of their officers, and, 
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by courteous and considerate behaviour towards the people ... 
will remove the reproach hitherto levelled against them that they 
are devoid of any regard for the feelings and sentiments of their 
own people." This was sailing very ncar the wind of sedition. 
So was its appeal "to all people in Government employment. 
pending the caU of the nation for resignation of their service, to 
help the national cause"-and not only "by importing greater 
kindness and stricter honesty in their dealings with their people" 
but also by "fearlessly and openly" attending all "popular 
gatherings:' though "refraining from laking any active P'Mt 
therein." The Government servants were also askedopcnly to 
render financial assistance to the national movement. But it 
covered itself by laying "special emphasis on Non-violence" 
as the "integral part of the Noo-co-operation resolution" and 
inviting the people's attention "to the fact that Non-violence in 
word and deed is as essential between people themselves, as in 
respect of the Government.·' 

In its final pam the resolution called for the promotion of 
non-violence and non-cooperation with the Government by all the 
public bodies. "whether aftlliated to the Congress or otherwise" 
and appealed to them "to advance Hindu-Muslim unity"' as also 
unity among the Hindus themselves·-"between BrahmiJls and 
Non-Brahmins"-and at the same time "to make a special effort 
to rid Hinduism of the reproach of untouchability." 

These cxhortations. of course, Were the stock-in-trade of all 
reformist organisations, They could be accepted by the delegates 
to the Congress without turning a hair. The real rub came on 
the operative programme of non-cooperation and even there on 
certain points of detail like the withdrawal of students from 
educational institutions run by the Government or sustained by 
it in greater or lesser degree and boycott of the Law Courts. 
But quite apart from the fact that those who opposed these items 
in the nine-point programme were aware that ever since the 
Calcutta Special Session political opinion had moved still more 
decisively in favour of Gandhi and non-cooperation, they were 
somewhat inhibited in their opposition by the thought that their 
motives were likely to be misunderstood and interpreted ,15 

defence of their "vested interests." It was 110t quite so simple 
a!'. that and there was something in their contention that "the Law 
Courts cannot be completely boycotted at present," and a 
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boycott, therefore, would not be very effect!v!! and might even 
turn out to bl! a fiasco. 

All the same they fought a tough rearguard :tetion in the 
Subjects Committel! meeting: which began on December 29 and 
went on till after midrtight. C.R. D:ls and hi5 suppO,lcrs found 
allies ill the fraternal delegates I"r,)111 Britain of whom thcrl! were 
five-Josiah WcdgwLlod, his wii"l!, Holford Knight, Ben Spoor. 
anu B. Dube. Josiah Wedgw,",od, a rmlical Lahour MP in tho~e 
early Ihys who was to fvlluw the usual tmjecto,y or ending up 
very much on the Right, \V,IS pte"ent in the Subjects Committee 
with Ben SpLlor and Holford Knight. He even took p:.lrt in the 
debate on the resolution On nOIl-cooperatio!l and warned the 
committee that by opting for non-c00per;1tion the Congress 
woulll be i~ola.ling ihelf from progressive opinion in England­
a line which Annie Bcsant had been taking: 

You will ma.ke it difHeult for your fricnd~ in England to 
ta.ke up your cause. You will be hampered in your work. 
The p..,lice will be after you. The lilwYers sign a pledge that they 
would be loyal to the Crown and cannot therefore work for 
Non·co~opcration. YQu ar(: going into the wilderness. You 
must pursue a constructive programme. 

Wcdgwood obviously W:lS sincere and he meant well. It 
was ncy(:rtheicss a rather tactless intervention which tcnded to 
put the indian backs. up. According to Dr. Sitaramayya. "Hardly 
hal.! he [Wcdgwoodl resumed his seat when up rosc a voice 
in rcply, unJ. in Hvc minutes lWc(Igwood had spoken for fifteen 
minute:.]. answered his objections:' The interrupt>!r said: 

We havo no friend~ outside India; let there be no mistake 
about that. Our salvation lie$ in our own hands. We must 
make or mar our ruture. We have realised that. and taken to 
this prugru0101e. The Policc arc not a neW element in Indian 
politics. [f we have op.:.ncd a small school, every rupee we 
havccollccted, we have guthcrcd only undcr the shadow of the 
red turbat\ [that is. the Police] during the past liJtt.o.en years. 
Yes, the lawyers have to sign an undertaking to be loyal, so 
it is that they are asked to tear up their "sanads·. We are 
going into the wilderness We know, because the way to the 
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"land flowing with milk and honey. the land of Canaan," from 
the land of our bondage, lies only through a wild~rness. And 
we trust to the leadership of a Moses or an Aaron to lead us 
from untruth to truth, from darkness to light. from death 
[0 lite. 

This sounded pure apocalypse, That, however, was lhe 
ambient mood at Nagpur. Gandhi's notion that if(hc programme 
of llon-ccopcmtion were carried out in lhe letter and the spirit. 
Swarajya. could be uchicved in "one year" had seemed to CtlrTY 
conviction except for a ~mall number of the ~ceptics and the 
worldly-wise. Jo~hth Wedgwood\ I,;ounsd of prudence. far 
frQm helping the opponent~ of l1<.)n-cooperalion, proved to 
be coumer-productive. The main concession which. Dus and 
others won by their oppositional effort was tha.t the word "gra· 
dual" lit relation to the boycott of schools and law courts was 
rdained which Gandhi's draft did nol contain. In return, Das 
himself agrc\::d to move the resolution on non*coopl.1ration at 
the plenary session the next day. The intl.1rest wus so keen that 
delegates began t.o arrive from the curly hour:; of the morning of 
December 30. 

In his speech, Das dismissed the suggestion that the resolution 
he wa~ moving was weakel" than the one passed at Calcutta. 
On the contmry, hedaimcd, it was "sironger" and "ruller." For it 
stated itt no uncertain tenus that th;,:: Congrcl>s had "resolved 
to put in force the entire scheme of Non*co~operation down to 
the non~paymcnt of taxes," He called 011 them to pas~ it "with~ 
out onc single dissentient voice." It wa~ by no means onc of his 
more memorable speeches. Inueed, there \vas something laboured 
about it, He was follOWed by Gandhi who secondcd the rcsolu~ 
tion in Hindi. But the speech which evoked most cheers, i! seems, 
was that of the old stalwart Bipin Chandra Pal. 

The cheers lor him might havc been partly ironical. At the 
Calcutta Special Session he had fathered an amendment to the 
non~coopcration resolution. Supporting what Das claimed to be 
a stronger and fuller resolution four months later was rather 
like Pal's conversion on the road, not to Damascus, but Nagpur, 
But he was nor the man to adopt an apologetic posture. Rather 
the reverse. He said that he had never been "against the principle 
and policy of Non~co-operation" and had "preacbed it from the 
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Press and from the Platform" as the "only remedy nnd Our last 
chance." He admittedtbat they had their "little differences in 
regard to the details of the progra.mmc" but they were things of the 
past, and "when the country is determined to work along one 
single line wilh a view to achieve the object which ewry one of us 
has in view these little differences must be merged in the unity of 
the country." 

There WaS a. prolonged debate. but when the resolution 
Was put to vote it was carried with virtual unanimity. only two 
delegates voting against it. Surprisingly. however, the first 
resolution concerning the change ill the creed of the Congress 
was put to vote after the vote on the resolution on non-cooperation 
progr:unme. Apparently. the President, Vijiaraghavachariar.lcft 
after the vote 011 the second resolution was taken and Motital 
Nehru took the chair. There were two amendments which had 
been moved to the resolution on the new Congress Creed-one 
by Vcnb.lJrama Aiyar which was lost and the other by Satya­
mUfti which wa,," withdrawn. However. just before the resolution 
itsdf was put to vote a delegate raised a procedural point of 
order. The vote on change of creed, he maintained. should be 
taken provincewise. MatiIal Nehru pointed out that he was 
willing to do that if there were any dissentient voices. 

The dcleg:tte who wanted provincewise voting pel sisted and 
said that there WJ!re speakers who had spoken a.gainst the resolu­
tion. in particular 1innah. Jinnah, of course, was not preseut 
at the time of voting, but had certainly spoken against the resolu. 
tion and objected t(1 it on two grounds: 

First of all, f object to this creed because as I read it, it 
means nothingclse but a declaration for complete indepen­
dence. The word "Swarajya" is not qualified and the word 
means nothing else but our complete fndependence. It docs 
not at all provid.e for any kind of [BritishJ connection which 
mayor may not be retained .... My second objection is that 
Non-cooperation on peaceful methods, legitimate. but peace-­
ful methods. may be an cxce1hmt weapon for the purpose of 
bringing presSUN upon the Government. But let me tell you 
once more that the weapon will not succeed in destroying the 
British Empire. 
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They were valid. but rather legalistic objections. However, 
in the light of subsequent evolution of Jinnah's relations with 
the Congress. they were portentous. For although he did not 
stay to vote against the resolution on the change of creed. his 
absence itself was a kind of informal notice that for him the 
parting of the ways with the Cong.ress had almost be.:n reached. 
The resolution fixing "Swarajyu" as the goal to he attained, as he 
well knew and as Gandhi had stressed, was sufticiently ambig~ 
uously phrnsed for both the upholders of the British connection 
and its opponents to interpret it in the sense in which they wished. 
But Jinnah seemed allergic to the way in which the Congress was 
deVeloping under Gandhi's leadership. That allergy was the real 
cause of the break which was eventually to come; tbe resolution 
on the new Congress creed was no more than a justificatory 
excuse. 

To leave no room for later objections. Motilal Ncluu after 
putting the resolution to a voice vote, had the vot~ taken province 
by province. There were only two votes cast against it-ooe from 
Sind and one from the United Provinces. Before declaring the 
motion as carried the acting President. however, allowed "two 
minutes" for anyone other thatl the two dissenters. who was 
against the proposition to come forward and cast his vote 
against the resolution. None came. ft was clear that t\lere was an 
overwhelming consensus behind both the resolutions on the neW 
creed and on the non-cooperation programme. Yet another 
Rubicon had been crossed, and although there Were to be 
backslidings and desertions by individuals and groups and even 
tactical retreats. there was to be no going back for the Congress 
movement as a whole .... 



CHAPTER VII 

AGE OF ATTRITION-THE FIRST PHASE 

The curtain did not come down on the Nagpur Session of 
the Congress with the adoption of the new creed and non-c(}o 
operation programme. The session continued the next day, tbo 
last day of the dying year. Much of the business conducted 
on December 31. 1920. was of a routine nature. The 
outgoing General Secretaries Were duly thanked for the services 
rendered. New General Secretark'S had. to be appointed and they 
were duly appointed. They were: Dr. M.A. Ansari who had 
already done a year's stint as General Secretary. C. Rajagopala~ 
chari and MotHai Nehru. Presumably, Motilal Nehru was to be 
the "working" General Secretary because the resolution appoint. 
ing the General Secretaries stated that "the Head-Quarters 
orthe AII~Ind[l1 Congress Committee be located at Allahabad." 
It had become an established convention that thc AJ.C.C. 
headquartcrs for the year were located where the "working" 
General Secretary had his fixed abode. jhis was not a very 
satisFactory practice. Indeed, the outgoing General Secretaries. 
Dr. M.A. Ansari and V.J, Patel, had lamented the fact and said 
in their report for 1920; 

We would.,. urge upon the attention of the AU-India 
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Congress Committee and the Congress the fixing of per· 
mancnt headquarters for the office of the All-India Congress 
Committee. The dislocation ortbe business of tile office which 
follows the annual change. in some cases mOfC frequent, as 
when the Working Secretary tenders his resignation in the 
middle of the year, [this had happened in J 9201 of the hcad~ 
quarters isa serious obstacle ill the way of the smooth working 
of the Committee office. It takes long, indeed, to restore the 
ollice to its normal condition and by the time this is done. it 
unfortunately happens, that the Congress apPoints a neW 
Working Secretary, with the result that the \\holc <l.rran£,e· 
ment is entirely disturbed. That being so. the ofTice has not 
been able to preserve proper record, not even the ro:ports of 
the past Congress, much les~ a library. This is, to say the least, 
highly deplorable. 

It undoubtedly was highly deplorable and it was perhaps 
fortunate that at the end of 1920 MatHai Nehru. having been 
appointed General Secretary though not named as a "working 
one:' the Congress headquarters was shifted to his re~idence 
at Allahabad. As Motilal Nehru was to continue to be tbe 
General Secretary the following year, the headquarters of the 
All-India Congress Committee did not have to be shifted from 
Allahabad in 1922 either and in 1924 the Congrcs.s decided that 
the A.I.C.C. headquarters should remain permanently at Anand 
Bhawan, Allahabad. And so they remainedt iJ1 independence was 
achieved. But that is anticipating. 

The most important business transacted on the last day of the 
Congress session at Nagrur, apart from fixing Ahmedabad as 
the venue of the T.hirty~sjxth Congress, was the adoption of itii 
new Constitution. Early in January 1920 the A.LeC. had set 
up a Committee to draft amendments to the Congress Constitu~ 
tion and RuleS and to prescnt its report "on or before the 30th 
June last (1920)." But as we know from the letter addressed by 
the Committee to the Chairman, A.I.e.c., on September 25. 
1920, the new draft Constitution was not submitted till then 
"owing to unfof\,"Seen circumstances." The members of the 
Committee, included Gandhi. N.C. Kelkar and l.Bo Sen. They 
apparently Were not "able to meet at any place for mutual dis­
cussion" and had been "obliged to confer with onc another only 
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by correspondence." This, indeed, waS the complaint made 
by A. Rn.ngaswamy Iyengar who said that it was largely the 
handiwork of Gandhi and did not accurately reflect the collective 
views of the Cammitt.:e. 

This wa.s a littk exaggerated. There is noihing on record 
to show that other menlbcrs of the Committe\: felt the same way 
a:. Rangaswamy Iyengar. They wert! present at the Nagpur 
Congress anu could Imvc objected when lhe new ConstitutIon 
was diseusseu. Again, there is nothing 011 record to imlicate that 
they complained of their \'iews having been ignored by Gandhi 
in framing the amenuments to the Constitution. Nor doe" 
there Seem much substunce in Rang,lswamy fyengar's criticism 
that Ganuhi merely Illaue "a bundle of draft alterations" 
to the existing constitu.ion. Even the rank:; or Tuscany, in 
the person of Judith BroWll who traced Iyengar's "minute of 
dissent" in Annie Besanl's papers, acknowledges the Constitution 
<'was a landmark in the direction, composition and structure of 
institutional politics." 

It certainly was the most coherent and wellwcon~trueted 
constitution that the Congress had to date. As related in the 
earlier 'Volume, for many years after its foundation the Congress 
had function.cd in an au hoc manner without any effective con· 
stitutiona.1 framework. It was not until the Fourteenth and the 
Fifteenth Congress lhat a con!:otitutlon and a set of rutes. were 
put into lohape. Then came the Surat fiasco followed by the 
Convention which appointed a Committee to define the Con~ 
gress. Creed and lay down some sort of criteria for membership 
qualificatiou to keep out the wilder spirits or the militants, 
as they woult! be calk-d today. Over the next dec;:lde or more from 
time to time piecemeal change$ in the constitution were made to 
m.eet certain contingencies, and developments. but nothing 
in the nature of a comprehensive review and revision were unuer~ 
takcn. It was, therefore, high lime that the l,.>Qnstitution and the 
rules g,wcrning it were brought up to date, especially a~ the 
Congress waS now cummitteu to throw a challenge, albeit a 
non·violent and peaceful one, to a well-entrenChed Empire still 
in a triumphalist frame of mind. 

This was wh:!.t Gandhi and his colle.agues tried to do, and 
looking at the constitutional framework they produced in 
retrospect, they did it not too badly. It consisted of thirty~onc 
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articles in all (see Appendix I), beginning with the definition of 
the object of the Indian National Congress. It established its 
structure by listing its cOmpOI1\:"l1t parts from the apex, reprcscn~ 
tcd by the plenary Congress. to the base consisting of "Sub­
Divisional. Taluqa, or Tahsil. Firka or other local Congress 
Committees." It accepted the linguistic principle as the basis for 
setting up Provincial Congress Committees each with its own 
headquarters. though, it seemS, that in tbe case of Andhra. 
Sind and Utkal (Orissa) the headquancrs town or city was left 
blank. Altogdher there were twenty~one Provincial Congress 
Committees listed, including one for Burma at Rangoon and the 
City of Bombay had the distinction of being entitled to a biHn· 
gual P C C. in it::; own right. 

Membership of the Congress was made open to all above lhe 
age of 21, male or female, who accepted in writing "the object 
and the methods as laid down in Article I" of the Constitution. 
membership fec being set at four annas annually. The P.c.c.s 
were to conSistof representatives "elected annually by the members 
of the District and other Commiltees." A recognisable chain of 
com manu was envisaged, from th~ Pre~idenl of the Congress 
who was. to be tbe Chairman of the A.LC.e. for thl! year follow~ 
jng his e!cction, downwards. A new departure was the creation 
of a Working Committee to be appoimcd by the A.Lee. at its 
first meeting"consisting of the President, the General Secretaries' 
the Treasurers and 9 <'Jther members." The Working Committee 
was to "perform such func\ioll'i as may be delegated to it from 
time to lime by the AH-rndh CongrcssCommittec." 

The neW Constitution seemed dca.\'Jy designed for a modem 
political party, but a party whose constituency wa:. not just a. 
country but almost a continent and with a POPUi<llion which 
aIJc,!dy numbered over three hundred million. Gandhi was 
credited with huving been largely responsibk for dral"ling it. 
This was rather surprising:. Surprising, because at the lime his 
conception of what the Congress should be was akin [0 that of 
Humc and other Founding Fathers of the Indian National 
Congress. For:is late as April2S. 1920. in an Aniel.;: heall.::J "To 
the Members of All-India Home Rule League"' in Young Indid, 
h~ had written: 

... r do not eonsidcrthe Congress as a party organization, 
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even as the British Parliament, though it contains all parties 
and has one party or other dominating it from time to time. 
is not a party organization. r shall venture to hope that aU 
parties will cherish the Congress as a national organization 
provilling a platform for all parties to appeal to the nation 
with a view to moulding its policy .... 

Presumably, as the sun moved from the vernal to the autumn­
al equinox and the political tempemturc mounted in the country 
and outside, Gandhi had come to feci the need for a party with 
a clear definition of the cntIs towards which it was working 
and the requi~ite means to achieve those cnd~, and aframework 
coherent enough to he an effective instrument for the tasks 
that lay immeubtely ahead, namely the struggle for Swarajya 
and to get justice on the Khilafat issue which was in fact morc 
than the Khilafat issue and connected with the struggle of the 
peoples of West Asia against Western domination even though 
excessive preoccupation with confessional matters by some of 
the Khilafat movement leaders distorted their perception of it in 
varying degrees. 

The struggle. indeed, had already begun. Then~ wl.~re three 
rcsolutions passed at Nagpur which showed that the Congress was 
awarc orlhi::;. One ofthcscw;J.s listed' fairly high on the agenda­
number six. It callcd upon "the peoplc of rndian to "refrain from 
taking any part in runctjon~ or fvstivilics in honour of H.R.H. 
the Duke or Connaught during his forthcoming visit to India:' 
OriginallY. of course, it was lht: intention of the British Govern~ 
ment to send the heir to the Throne-the future and unlucky 
£dwaru VJrr~to p!'cside ovcr the cercmoniill inauguration of the 
era of what came to be know(\ as the Montfurd Reforms. The 
intentil)l1, R. Pahne Dutl put" it jU'i.lly if not tt)O ch~ritabty in 
his India Today, was "to test out the f..:ding of the popu!..l.tion in 
relation to this royal image understood hy every Anglo-Saxon 
expert of the mysterious East to represent the deepest object of 
Veneration and a.doration of the Oriental heart." But as political 
tension mounted itt the second hair of 1920, there was a change 
of plans and it was deckh:d that the old Duke should go out 
first as a kind of pilot engine to draw any fire and also to pour 
oil over the troubled waters to make il possible for the Prince 
of Wales to have a smoother passage through India at thcend 
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of 1921. This. t.l-tc Duke of Connaught tried to do with his kind 
words and striking a rather humble if not penitent posture in 
his speeches when he landed in India early in January 1921. 
In one of them he said: 

[haverCilchcd a time oflif~ when r most desire to heal wound~ 
and reunite those who have been disunited. An old friend 
of India. I appeal to you all-British and Indians-to bury 
along with the dead past the- mistakes and misunderstandings 
of the past to forgive where yOll have to forgive and to join 
hands and to work togl':ther to realise the hopes that ari::.e 
from to-day_ 

But "wlmling words" could "conquer willing hearts", ill\. 

Milton had it and as a British satrap of Bombay had quoted him 
more than a decade and half earlier, only if the words had some 
correspondence with deeds. But once again the carrot was over­
shadowed by the stick. or as lattl!r-day historians of the Raj 
would have it. the balance was beginning to tilt from conciliation 
to repression. to put it mildly during the second haIr of 1920 
onwards, The Nagpur Congress session had this very much in 
mind wben it pa<;scd two resolutiOils~numbcr tell and thirteen, 
The former expressed the sympathy of the Congress "with those 
political workers who have been arrested and imprisoned with 
or without regular specification of charge and open trial, and who 
arc still detained in prison, or whose freedom of movement 
and association are still restricted by executive order," It saW 
this as yet another argument for "the early attainment of Swaraj" 
which alone could "render these :tcts of injustice impossible:~ 
The thirteenth resolution was more specific and said: 

This. Congress notes the resumption, in spite of declarations 
of the Governmentoflndf<l to the contrary, ofrepre')sion in thl} 
Punjab, Delhi and elsewhere, and invites those concerned to 
bear their sufferings with fortitude and. whilst respecting aU 
lawful orders, to prosecute Non-violent Non--co-operation 
with redoubled vigour. 

However. while those whom Judith Brown describes as 
"Gandhi's subcontractors", meaning the local leauers and the 
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tank and file workers of the Congress and the- Khilafat movement~ 
were being rounded up in substantial numbers, Ga.ndhi himself 
and other top leaders orthe two kindred and overlapping CtlrfClllS 

of political agitation were being al10weJ long rope and left alone. 
Ail the same during the autumn and winter of 1920, deba.te was 
going on both in Delhi and London behind closed dlh.Jrs. how 
long this policy ofjudulgellco towards the larger fish while giving 
no quarter to the smaller fry could be continued. OIl111ion, 
obviously, was. divided among the British estabUshrnent b,)tn in 
India and Whirchall. Judith Brown quotes Chelmsford In a Ictter 
to J.L. MniTey written on September 9,1920, as saying: "It is the 
small people who spea.k in the villages who do the mischier, and 
they have no wish to be made martyrs. They value their comfort 
too highly, and if we can only by 0ur action convince the~e 
people that they are on the wrong side. I think we are in a fair 
way to combat the movement. ,. 

On the other hand. some of the Provincial Governors were 
persuaded that this discriminatory approach would never work, 
including WilHngdon who was now installed in Madras and had 
built up a spurious reputation for being "liberal" when he 
wns the Governor of Bombay. According to Judith Brown, 
administration was for "stamping on Gandhi, and asked the 
Government of India, for permission to extern him during 
his projected tour of the Presidency." She goes on to quote 
what WiUingdon wrote to Montagu as early as August S, 
1920, right at the very start of Gandhi's n()n~coopcration 
exercise: "As the Governor, Lord Willingdon, said, 'The: G. of 
I. think they arc going 10 kill this agitatio[l by kindness. They 
won't. ] know Gandhi well and h.we hitherto looked upon him 
as II selfless. and high-minded man, with all his peculiarities a 
loyal citizen. But I can't think so any longer. He is. out for our 
blood:' 

Montagu, as often, was in two minds. In private and effectively 
he took the same view as Chelmsford, and was for [lOl touching 
Gandhi. According to judith Brown. he fca.ret! "most of all that 
if the government acted against Gandhi himself he would 'hunger 
strike and die ill prison', .. "And thea," he wrote to Cttelmsford 
on September 9, 1920, "I don'! know where we should be," His 
apprehension did credit to his good sense and prudence. But 
in public partly no doubt in deference to the diehard Tories who 
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regarded him as a weakMkneed and gutless Liberal who was being 
soft on Gandhi and the Congress, he struck more muscular 
postures and issued warnings that Gandhi could not count on 
his leniency as in the past. Answering questions in the House of 
Commons, he had, for instance, declared in JuJy. "tf Mr. Gandhi 
persisted in 'non-co*operatioo', it would be absolutely im· 
possible to take the same view of his action as was taken last 
yeaT," 

Gandhi himself had not only taken a charitable view of 
Mantagu's barely veiled threats and even of Montagu's under­
study saying that the Mahatma "had lost his head". In his 
writings in his papcrs- Young India and Navajivon-he asked his 
followers not to get angry and '·go mad" if he were arrested as 
they had done when Dr. Kilchlcw and Dr. Satyapal had been 
spirited away the previous year in Amritsar. In a.n article in 
Narajil'Ofi of August I, 1920, headed "Mr Montagu·$. Threat", 
he dealt with the matter, not entirely in a didactic vein which 
sometimes t,ailed off into whimsicality and even pure whimsy~ 
but more in political terms. Telling his readers not "to get excited 
over the threat which Mr. Montagu held out while replying to 
a question about the Khllafat," he said that the Government 
could have one of the three <lims in arresting him: 

1. To frighten me jnto changing my views. 
2. To separate mc from the people and thus weaken public 

opinion. 
3. By removing mc from thcir midst. to test the people and 

see whether they are really agilated over the injustices. 

He did not think that the Government had the object or 
frightening him. It probably did want to weaken public opinion, 
"hut it is morc reasonable to believe that it wants 10 test the 
people." He added: "'lL has a right 10 do so. If the people, 
however, stand the test and show their mettle, that very day they 
will win. We cannot complain against being tested in this way .. ,_ 
The very nature of OUT fight requires us 10 be always ready 
for jail." He did not, at all events, want them to be angry. On the 
contrary, he said : 

If I do things which invite imprisonment and then run away 
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from if, or if the people feel aggrieved over my arres.t, then 
the fault lies not with the Government but with us, In an 
oppre~sive and unjust State, a. pris.on is the only place where 
a subject is really free. 

Thus echoing the refmin which has echoed down the corridors 
of time- and inspired the humankind in its struggle for freedom, 
Gandhi hoped that the peop!e would "go ahead with Ilon~co· 
operation with stit! greater vigour" if he were arrested and 
show "the Government that it cannot rule the people without 
their consent." He seemed puzzled why "Mr. Montagu should 
be doubly guilty by taking the wrong road of reprc;;sion over 
people." And for once an unwonted nole of bitterness articulated 
itself in his comment on Montagu's conduct: 

He has already one crime to his crdit, of being a P:lrty to the 
injustice (done to India]. Repression of the pe0pJc in orJer to 
perpetuate that injustice would now be the second crime, 
The right course would be, seeing that the people are rcady 
to go to the length of adopting non·cooper"uion. to b.lW to 
public opinion and. by undgoin the injustice, remove the 
root·cause of non·cooperation. 

However, neither the Government of India nor the Secretary 
of State had a.ny intention to follow his advice and be logical and 
remove the root cause of non·cooperation. On the other hand. for 
reasons of their own, both Montagu and Chelmsford throughout 
the autumn and winter of 1920·21 had been willing to aUow him 
long rope while being far less indulgent towards local Khilafat 
and Congress leaders. These reasons were political as well as 
personal. Politically, they did not want to queer the pitch for the 
Moderates. As Judith Brown rather neatly puts it, as the elections 
in November 1920 approached, "MontagLl and Chelmsford 
Were convinced that the only s.table foundation for British rule in 
Jndia was a working alliance between the Raj and a substantial 
proportion of Indian public men on the lines laid down in their 
reform scheme. and ... they were determined to save their brain· 
child from Gandhi's attack. By a policy of tactful restraint they 
hoped to salvage a remnant of collaboration from public men 
who disliked non~cooperation and would be prepared to W.)rk 
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the reforms.'" And she quotes Chelmsford writing to Montagu 
on October 6, 1920, that is after the Special Session of the Con­
gress at Calcutta; 

I cannot myself see that we are a penny the worse for all the 
talking and the voting on this question of non-cooperation. 
It is true that people take t\ gloomy view of the situation. but 
I cannot get myself to a stale of mind in wbich 1 can conceive 
that non-co-operation is a practical policy_ On the other hand, 
there is no doubt that the policy of G<lndhi & Co. is consoli­
dating the moderate party, the leaders of which have come 
out quite rapidly and denounced il. As it seems to me, we 
have 10 sit still and take care that we do not make any mistake 
through which we shall drive the moderates away from us and 
into the arms of the extremists. 

In addition to these political calculations which were partly 
a~~curate alleast on a short~term view, in Chelmsford's cu.s:e there 
was almost certainly another and personal reason for his. di$indin­
atian 10 act against Gandhi and olher top Congress leaders 
though his Home Member. William Vincent, was willing to 
"prosecute" Khilafat leaders like the Ali Brotbers if they beca.me 
too unruly. Chelmsford's proconsular term was drawing to its 
close and he was due to lea.ve the shores of Indja early in 192t 
to be succeeded by the first and last Jewish Viceroy-Rufus 
Daniel Isaacs, 1st Marquess ()f Reading. He was, thercf!Jre, 
anxious, if he could possibly help it, not to stir up a political 
hornets' nest by arresting Gandhi and complicating the situation 
for his SUi;cessor. Besides, there had grown up a peculiar relation­
ship between him and the Mahatma, and although their relations 
had soured somewhat in the tragic aftermath of the Rowlatt Act, 
he still rather hankered after Gandhi's good opinion of him and 
did not wish to do anything to accentuate the sense of estrange­
ment between them. He did not state this as one of his reasons for 
sitting still in so far as Gandhi Wa'l concerned. but it almos.t 
certainly was a consideration at the back of his mind. 

Not that the C ongrcss leadership-or for that matter Gandhi­
were straining at the leash to engage in battle with the Government 
on a wide front. Valentine Chirol, it is true, had telegraphed 
to the Times whose Correspondent Extraordinary on InJia he: 
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was, on January 7. 1921 : "The old Indian National Congress, 
which. with all its shortcomings, claimed to be thoroughly loyal 
and constitutional. is dead, At Nagpur the new Congress has 
proclaimed loyalty to be optional and constitutional methods a 
matter of expediency." This as~cs..'\.mcnt was largely accurate 
in a long~term perspective. The Congress that was reborn at 
Nagpur. with Gandhi acting as the midwife, was undOUbtedly 
going to be a poliLical animal of j. very dilferent kidney 
to the old Congress. It was Dot going to be contenl merely with 
pleading its cause with the Raj through carefully phrased supplica­
tions accompanied by appropriate verbal genufiexions. It was 
tu challenge its power and authority witi! open defiance of its 
laws. non-payment of Caesar's tax.e~, boycott of the whole 
inslitutiollal apparatus of the Empire. But the change from the 
old to the ncw could noi come about overnight by a waving of 
the magic wand. If the old Adam continues to survive in the new, 
so, too. the new Congress was to continue carrying in its psycholo~ 
bieal and political makc·up many of the renexes of the old Con~ 
gress and, perhaps. was. never quite to outgrow [hem. 

At all events it seemed tu be hastening but slowly to the barri­
cades. metaphorically-and nol only metaphorically-speaking. 
Thus when the AlI~lndia Cungress Committee me! on January 
I. 1921, after the Nag-pur session. with {'nly seventy~two of its. 
morc than two hundred and fifty members prescnt, it undoubtedly 
implemented the decisions taken or flowing from the resolutions 
which the Congress had passed. But these concerned organisa~ 
tional instruments. For instance, it elected members of the new 
Working Committee which was to be the executive org.tn of the 
A.I.C.C. The elected members were Gandhi. N,C. Kelkar, 
C.R. Das. Lajpat Ru;. Hakim Ajmal Khan. Maulana Mohamed 
Ali. K. Venkatappaya, B.S. Moonjc, and Shankerlal Banker, 

It set up two other committees: a twelve-man committee to 
carry out the resolutiuo of the Congress about the boycott (by 
businessmen) of contracts and a committee consisting of ten 
men and one woman to implement the Congress resolution 
relating to Labour ufganisation-the woman on the panel being 
Anasuya Sarabhai who was a pioneer of trade union work in 
Ahmedabad. It also took the rather surprising decision not only 
"to authorise the expenditure of a sum not ex.ceeding £3.000" for 
the purpose of dissemination of news in the United Kingdom. 
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but to sanction a sum of 3,000 dollars as a contribution to the 
India Home Rule League of America to be spCnl under the 
direction of N.C. Kelkar Alld Lajpat Rai. This was surprISing. 
considering that the plenary session of the Congress had dechled 
to wind up the British Congress Committee and its weekly 
journal india. However. the implementation of the polilical 
resolutions on non-coQperati.m did nol seem to have been con~ 
sidered. 

The attendance at the next meeting of the A.Lc'e. on Marcil 
31 and April 1, 1921, at Bez.:wacla with Vijiamghavach'1.ri:lr in the 
Chair, was C\icn kss. Only forty-eighL members were present. But 
this was not because the enthusiasm for the Congress or its. 
policy of non-cooperation was on the wane. If anything, in the 
three months that had pa.<>sed since its last meeting at N:tgpur. 
the country had become much more politically alive, largely 
because the Mahatma and Khilafat leaders like lhe Ali Brothers 
had undertaken extensive joint tours to muster support for the 
non~coopera1ion movement. But it was also partly due to the fact 
that some of the Government's gimmicks to work up support 
for the Montford Reforms had proved counter~produclive. Even 
the royal magic OttO not worked. Although the authorities were 
able to drum up the "Ioy!dists" to aUcnd official processions and 
ceremonial receptions arranged for the Duke of Connaught. 
who had arrived in India early in January 1921. the tour was 
generally a flop and failed 10 arouse public enthusiasm. 

This was not because there was any ill-feeling towards the 
Royal family or the old Duke himself. As Gandhi was to explain 
in his "Letter to Duke of Connaught," eventually published in 
Youllg India as well as other newspapers earty in February, 
"For me it is no joy and plea"ure to be actively associated in the 
boycott of Your Royal Highness's visit. [ have tendered loyal. 
voluntary assistance to the Government for an unbroken period 
of neatly 30 years in the full belier that through that lay the path 
or freedom for my country. It was, therefore, no slight thing 
for me to suggest to my countrymen that we should take no part 
jn welcoming Your Royal Highness." He went on : 

We are not at war with individual Englishmen. We seek not 
to destroy English life. We do desire to destroy the system 
that bas emasculated our country in body, mind and soul. 
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We are determined to battle with an our might against that 
in English nature which has made O'Dwycrism and Dyerism 
possible in the Punjab and has resulted in a wanton affront 
upon Islam, a faith professed by seven crores of our country­
men, We consider it inconsistent with our self-respect any 
longer to brook the spirit of superiority and dominance whi,ell. 
has systematically igllored and disregarded the sentiments 
of thirty crores of innocent people of India on many a vital 
matter .... Your Royal Highness has come, nol to end Ihe 
system I described, bUl to sustain it byupholdingits prestige .... 
Hence this non-violent non-cooperation .... l ask Your Royal 
Highness as an Englishman to study this movemenl and hs 
possibilities for the Empire and the world. We are at war­
with nothing that is good in the world .... 

What His Royal Highness made of Gandhi's letter to him is 
not known. But the authorities were not imprcsi>ed or even 
amused. They did not yet want to lay hands on him or the other 
leading figures in the Congress and Khilafat movement, though 
their patience was nearing its end. But in their irri[ation they 
intensified repression against their rank and file followers,judging 
from the fourth resolution passed by the A.I.C.C. at Bezwada. 
What is more, a. .. far as the Punjab was concerned, Gandhi wn" 
not exaggerating when he had spoken of the spirit of O'Dwyer 
continuing to rule the roost in the luckless Province. Under 
his lluccessor, Edward Madagan, who was by no means a ··pug­
nacious Uhterman," it is true, the administration wa .. trying to 
avoid sins of commission. But sins of omission were a different 
malter, and the Punjab on lhe morning of February 20, 1911, 
was to witness an atrocity which equalled in horror lhe massacre 
at the JaUianwala Bagh by Dyer and his men two years earlier 
even though the number of dead wa!\ less-hundred and sixty, 

The Government, of course, was not responsible directly 
for the killings which happened at Nankana Sahib then in L:l.hore 
district and the site of one of the holiest of Sikh shrines-the 
Janam Asthall gurdlVara-th.e birthplace of Guru Nanak. It was 
perpetrated by the Praetorian guard hired by the Udasi Mah:lOt. 
or priest, NaTain Das, a man of excelling immorality and lieen· 
1iousness even among the Mahants who were notorious for their 
(:oITuption and venality and treated the Sikh shrines as their 
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privale property. For some years the Akalis had been agitating 
for the reform of the management of their shrines and the previous 
autumn had succeeded in taking possession on behalf of 
the Sikh community of the Golden Temple. But the Government 
of the Punjab-and in Delhi-had remained passive, or at best 
neutral on the side of the Mahants who had effective possession 
of the shrines. On that fateful day in February when an Akali 
jatha or contingent tried to enter the shrine the Mahant's hired 
ki1!ers opened fire on them and those who tried to take sheller in 
the shrine were '·hacked to pieces." 

The massacre shocked many others besides the Sikh commu~ 
fiity and marked a turning point in its political evolution in our 
times although it is well to recall that much of the upper crust 
of the Sikh community, including the landed gentry and the 
rulers of the Sikh States, with rare exceptions, were either ambi­
valent or indifferent to the sufferings of the Akalis in their 
attempts to reform the management of Sikh shrines. by restoring 
them to the control of the community as a whole. So, too, was 
the Punjab Congress because of its distinctive anatomy in which 
the interests of the urban professional and mercantile classes. and 
a certain confessional bias associated with these classes were 
strongly articulated. This. however, did not apply to national 
leadership of the Congress-and certainly Ilot Gandhi or the 
Nehrus. Indeed. Gandhi with Shaukat Ali were the first two 
AU-India leaders to hasten to the scene of the tragedy. [n hi~ 
speech at Nankana Sahib on March 3, 1921, Gandhi said 
movingly: 

[ have come as a pilgrim to tender you my sympathy .... I 
could not make this pilgrimage earlier as I was bound to 
keep important appointments at Amritsar and Lucknow. 
Meantime 1 have heard much about the immolation. 
I need hardly give you my assurance that your grief is mine. 
I am so constituted that the sufferings of others make me 
miserable. And were it not for the futility of suicide to end 
grief. I should long ere this have done away with my life by 
suicide. And so when I heard of the tragedy of Nankana ] 
fell like wanting to be among the victims. As it is I can but 
show my sympathy to those that are left behind. 
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He went on to confess that he had not "come to any final 
judgement as to what actually happened." He found it "almost 
unbelievable that not a man died at the hands of the Akali 
party. Did not the brave men who were armed with kirpans 
·and battle-axes retaliate even in self-defence? If they did not, 
it is un event that must electrify the whole world." In fact, that 
claim of the Akalis was substantially true and Gandhi was later 
to become convinced of its truth even though he was to remain 
critical of the Akatis in trying to take "possession" of the shrines 
by a show of force, even jf non-violent force. But that isa separate 
!:otory within the larger saga. lis relevance to our purpose is that 
the Akali movement brought the Sikh peasantry in the Punjab 
closer to the mainstream of the Congress movement from which 
it had tended to remain aloof for a number of psychological 
and polilical reasons until the end of the First World War. 
The Akali struggle for the democralic control of the Sikh 
shrines, of course, was not at that stage-or even later-quite on 
the same political wa.velength as the Congress non-cooperation 
movement. But there is little doubt that its immediate impact in 
the Punjab was indirectly to help create atmospheric conditions 
favourable to the growth of the Congress movement in thecountry­
side whilst until then it had been mainly confined to the 
urban areas. 

Quantitatively, it could not be claimed that the items on the 
non-cooperation programme which were being implemented­
like boycott of schools and courts, resignation from honorary 
posts and local bodies, surrender of tilles-were making a 
spectacular heudway. But Gandhi was partly right in claiming 
that it was not the statistical data of how many students had 
left the schools and colleges, or the number of lawyers who had 
given up practice, or those who had surrendered their titles which 
mattered. What mattered was that for the first time the people 
had shown that they attached no importance or legitimacy to 
the institutions of the Raj. 

One might have thought that this was an argument for 
extending the area of non-cooperation to other items in tile 
programme. But Gandhi speaking on the second resolution at the 
AU.India Congress Committee meeting at Bezwada was quite 
explicit in stating that the Committee "should not recommend 
civil disobedience suggested in the form which was understood 
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by those who advocated it" nor in the form in which "he had 
practised in South Africa." Tbis was in striking contrast to what 
he had done at the time of launching his first nationwide satya­
graha campaign against the Rowlatt Bills two years earlier. Why 
this extraordinary caution? Witnesses to the era whose testimony 
must command respect, especiaJly because they were not only 
witnesses but active participants in the events, have suggested 
that the Mahatma was rather vague in his mind about what 
to do. Jawaharlal Nehru in his autobiography speaks of Gandhi's 
"delightful vagueness," Subhas Bose in his Indian Struggle is 
more blunt: 

What his real expectation was, I was unable to understand. 
Either he did not want to give out all his secrets prematurely 
or he did not have a clear conception of the taCtics. whereby the 
hands of the Government could be forced. 

R. Palme Dull who never quite understood Gandhi and saw 
his weaknesses much better than he saw his reserves of strength, 
adds his own wry comment to that of lawaharlal Nehru and 
Subhas Bose. '"Gandhi's plan of campaign," he remarks in 
india Today. "was less clear than the date of victory [Swaraj by 
the year's end]". But it could be that the trouble was not that 
Gandhi was not clear in his conception of the tactics he wanted 
to employ, but that he was only too clear of what they should 
be. Experience of the shambles in Ahmedabad to say nothing of 
the catastrophe in the Punjab had made him inordinately wary. 
He was still perfectionist in his demands on his followers regard­
ing non-violence as he was to remain for another two decades. 
In his speech on the second resolution at Bezwada he had 
explained why he did not want the A.l.C.C. to recommend civil 
disobedience jusl yet; 

If the country was organized and restrained so thoroughly 
as he desired it would then be time to put it into operation. As 
it was he considered that notwithstanding the great progress 
of non-violence among the people, there was stit! an element 
of what he would, for want of a better term, can mob law, 
not in the wrong sense but in the idea that the people had 
not yet liD thoroughly disciplined themselves to the restraint 
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that. was needed when their dearest wishes were violated or 
when their great leaders were snatched away to prison under 
most provocative circumstances. Until, therefore, they were 
able to exercise self·control perfectly, they should not initiate 
civil disobedience. 

But apart from his own perfectionism, there was another 
factor inhibiting the escalation of the non-cooperation campaign 
to the point of civil disobedience-the change of Viceroyalty. 
Chelmsford had departed and Reading landed in Bombay, 
surprisingly, on April 1, 1921. A change at the top always rekind· 
led hopes in Indian political breasts. especial1y those of the 
Liberals and the Moderates; and there were always to remain 
many of them in the Congress ranks even after the schism. 
Gandhi himself was not particularly sanguine that things wete 
going to improve under Reading. Not that he had anything 
against the new Proconsul. On the contrary, he thought well of 
him and in his "Notes" in Yowrg India of January 19. 1921. 
had written: 

The long expected announcement about the new Viceroy 
has come. But two yean. ago, the name of the Lord Chief 
Justice a~ the Viccroy·designate would have excited wonder 
and even admiration. Today the public is rightly indHTerent. 
A military dictator might have answered just as well if not 
better. At the same time the appointment of Lord Reading 
probably is a silent recognition of the fact that ours is a 
non-violent battle and that therefore a diplomat with a 
judicial training is the best representative of the Sovereign. 
Lord Reading has dedared his. intention to do the right. I 
have no doubt that he means it. But the system which he is 
going to administer Willllot permit him to do what is right. 
That is Inditt"s experience. If he succeeds in doing the right, 1 
promise he will also succeed in destroying the system or 
radically reformillg it. Either he will swallow the system or 
the system will swallow him. 

This could not have been put better. All the same it was 
kinder to Reading than he perhaps deserved as subsequent 
events were to prove. The new Viceroy had not the slightest 
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intention to destroy or even radically reform the system. Like 
Montagu he was an outsider to the British establishment. But 
unlike Montagu he was alien to any radical impulses and was 
keen to prove his unquestioning loyalty to the establishment 
which had so well rewarded him by being plus Royalist que Ie Roi, 
or varying the expression to suit the context, more imperialistic 
than the most diehard Tory. This was demonstrated amply soon 
after his installation in the proconsular seat when the authorities 
began to be even more liberal with orders of restraint and pro~ 
hibition of political meetings and tentatively extended these 
orders to the Congress and Khilafat leaders of All-India stature 
like C.R. Oas. Lajpat Raj, Rajendra Prasad, and MazhafMul·Haq. 
Chelmsford in the twilight phase of his Viceroyalty had 
deliberately refrained from taking any action except against 
the local leaders. 

However, there were veteran Congress leaders who thought 
that the opportunity of a change of Viceroy should not be allowed 
to be misscd without an attempt to initiate a dialogue between 
the Congress and the new Viceroy. There were many wellMmeaning 
persons willing to act as gOMbetween, but the most distinguished 
and indefatigable among them was Madan Mohan Malaviya. 
He arranged a rendezvous between Reading and Gandhi in 
midMMay seven thousand feet above mean sea level-at Simla. 
Gandhi arrived in Simla on May 12, 1921, and sent Reading a 
letter asking for an interview. This was a mere formality and 
the Viceroy who had indicated to Malaviya that he would 
like to see him (Gandhi), met him the next day-May 13, There 
was another meeting on May 14, Addressing a public meeting 
in Simla the next day, Gandhi did not tell his audience what had 
passed between the two men but merely said that he had met the 
Viceroy "with a view to put the case of the non-cooperation 
party before him." He said that Reading had given him "a 
long, patient and kind heuring." What he did not tell them was. 
that Reading in his turn had complained of the violent drift 
of the speeches of the Ali Brothers, who had a style of their 
own, especillily Mohamed Ali, the younger of the two, or that 
he had agreed to look at the speeches, as he did and pers.uaded 
the two Khilafat leaders to issue a disclaimer that they intended 
any incitement to violence. 

In his speech at the ldgah ground in Simla he described hi.s 
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meetings with the Viceroy as "both ... successful and unsuccess· 
ful." As he was to explain in his "Noles" in NavajivQIJ of May 
22. 1921. the result of their encounter was that they "came to 
understand each other to some extent," but that it was not in the 
Vicewy's hands to give India what it wanted. Certainly, Gandhi 
had impressed Reading as, indeed, he rarely failed to impress 
the representative of the Raj at the higher echelons. While in his 
telegram to the Secretary of State for India on May 14 he said 
that he had not gathered much from Gandhi beyond vague 
generalisations and claims that Indians would have attained 
Swamj when they had regained self·respect ,md carried out a 
policy of non.cooperation. five days later he painted what 
Judith Brown describes as "a striking picture of the non·violent 
revolutionary" to Montagu; 

There is nothing striking about his appearance. He came 
to visit me in a white dhoti and cap. woven on a spinning 
wheel, with bare feet and legs, and my first impression on 
seeing him ushered into my room was that there was nothing 
to arrest attention in his appearance, and that I should have 
passed him by in the street without a second look at him. 
When he talks the impression is different. He is direct and 
expresses himself well in excellent English with a fine appre­
ciation of the value of the words he uses. There is no hesita· 
lion about him and there is a ring of sincerity in all that he 
utters. save when discussing some political questions. His 
religious views arc. I believe. genuinely held and he is convin· 
ced to a point almost bordering on fanaticism that non~ 
violence and love will give India its independence and enable 
it to withstand the British Government. His religious and 
moral views are admirable ... but ( confess that I find it 
difficult to understand his practice of them in politics. 

That was not the only difficulty for the first Marquess of 
Reading. He was in India as the supreme executive of imperial 
authority much as Pontius Pilate was in Jerusalem as the Roman 
Procurator in Judaea. He could no more allow himself to be 
infiuenced by his favourable impression of the "non·violent 
revolutionary" into changing his administration's policy of 
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containing and ultimately defeating the non-cooperation move­
ment led by Gandhi than Pilate could Jet his private feelings 
about the young Galilean dissident who had outraged the priests 
and patriarchs of the Jewish community by his heretical words 
and deeds, go scott free. If anything even less, because Pontius 
Pilate was an insider while Reading, for all the laurels he had 
won through his high legal acumen and docility. was some­
thing of an outsider in a ruling establishment with a strong 
strain of anti-semitism. He had, therefore, to be even more 
wary than his predecessors and show himself to be ultra-loyal 
to the ruling raCe as he had, indeed, by turning up for the service 
on Sunday soon after his arrival in Simla in the Church on the 
Ridge as the representative of the Defender of the Faith. 

Tile policy of selective repression was not only continued 
under Reading, but pursued even more vigorously, especially in 
some of the Provinces, like the V.P., the Punjab and North West 
Frontier Province. Between April and the end of July when the 
A.LC,C. met again at Bombay fOf three days from July 28 to 
30 to be rollowed by a meeting of the Working Committee 
lasting from July 31 to August 2, thousands of people were 
arrested with or without charge and there was frequent resort to 
firing by the police as, for example, at Dharwar, which led to 
the appointment of a Committee of Enquiry by the Congress 
Working Committee, constituting of Bhawani Shanker Niyogi, 
Abbas Tyabji and S.S. Setlur. 

The resolutions passed at the Bombay meeting of the AJ.c'C. 
reflected satisfaction at the response to its Bezwada resolution 
relating to the collection of one crore of rupees for the All-India 
Tilak Memorial Swaraj Fund; urged the intensification of the 
boycott of foreign cloth and sale of "intoxicating liquors or 
dTugs"; deplored "the excesses committed by crowds" in one 
or two places, including the city of Aligarh: extended '·sympathy 
and congratulations to the families of those who have lost their 
lives by the unprovoked fire opened upon them by the local 
authorities at several places, and ... all those brave and innocent 
citizens who have been wounded or are suffering imprisonment"': 
saw the widespread repression "as a sign of the near approach of 
freedom"; and noted "the reasonable desire of workers in the 
United Provinces and other parts to take up civil disobedience 
in answer to the repre'lsive measures of local Governments." 
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Paradoxically, however, in its main resolution~number four-the 
A.I.CC. did not draw the logical conclusion of sanctioning civil 
disobedience. 

On the contrary, it shied away from any such conclusion. It 
said; 

.' . but with a view to ensure greater stability of non·violent 
atmosphere throughout India, and in order to test the measure 
of influence attained by the Congress over Ihe people. and 
further in order to retain on the part of the nation an atmos­
phere free from ferment necessary for the proper and swift 
prosecution of Swadeshi, the All-India Congress Committee 
is of opinion that civil disobedience should be postponed 
till after the completion of the programme referred to in the 
resolution all Swadeshi. after which the committee will not 
hesitate. if necessary, to recommend a course of civil dis­
obedience even though it might have to be adopted by a 
special se!tsion of the Congress. 

This must have seemed an extraordinary decision to take 
to those who were expecting that the moment had arrived for 
the implementation of the next phase of the programme laid 
down by the Nagpur Congress. It was not only to give a 
semblance of plausibility to the latter-day Left-wing critics of 
Gandhi-like R. Palme Dult, who were to claim that Gandhi had 
no intention of pressing his non-cooperation movement to 
the point of "I he final struggle," but under cover of his "petty­
bourgeois moralising speculations and reformist pacifism, which 
found its chos.en expression in the innocent-seeming term "1l0n­
violent'" was trying to thwart even <'the immediate struggle by 
the attempt to conciliate the interests of the masses with the big 
bourgeois and landlord interests which were inevitably opposed 
to any decisive mass struggle." But more serious, because truer, 
it was to be interpreted by the Governmcntas a sign of dithering 
and hesitancy at the very centre or decision and confirm it in its 
delusive belief that it had only to persist in its tactics of the 
judicious and discriminating use of the carrot and the stick. The 
carrot, of course, was meant for the Moderates, some of them 
erstwhile Congress stalwarts, who, after a lifetime in the wilder~ 
ness, like Surendranath Banerjea, were wiUing to be tempted 
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into the lush pastures of collaborationist politics by tbe prospect 
of portfolios under the Montford Reforms which they themselves 
had acknowledged contained little of substance. The stick was 
used against the Congress with progressive severity to exorcise 
what was seen from the heights of Simla and across the seas, from 
Whitehall, looked an evil spirit-the spirit of non-cooperation. 



CHAPTER VIII 

A DIGRESSION 

At this point it is, perhaps, permissible to digress a little from 
the main theme to take note of and consider two developments 
which occurred just as the first phase of the battle of attrition 
between the Congress and the Raj was beginning to be joined. 
One of these developments was demonstrably positive and 
underlined the new spirit of self·assertion and self-reliance which 
was gradually permeating the Congress movement. Indeed, it 
was a kind of spin·off from not only the acceptance of Swarajya 
as the immediate goal of the Congress but setting by Gandhi of 
a deadline for reaching that goat-by the end of 1921. It was all 
very well for Palme Dutt in India Today to poke fun at 
Gandhi by saying: 

Gandhi freely declared as a firm and certain prophecy (which. 
despite its naive character, was confidently believed by bis 
followers in the flush of enthusiasm of those days) the rash 
promise that Swarajwould be achieved within twelve months .... 
He even went so far as to declare, at a conrerence in 
September 1921, "that 11e was so sure of geniuS Swaruj 
before the end of the year that he could not conceive of himself 
as Jiving beyond December 31 without having won Swaraj .... " 
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However, he had still many years of political activity before 
him, though not yet the fortune of seeing the realisation of 
Swaraj. 

But Palme DUlt with his immense erudition could equally well 
have recalled many an example of Marxist revolutionary leaders 
and even himself prophesying the achievement of certain goals 
by deadlines which could not be kept and which nonetheless 
inspired people to deeds of heroism. At any rate, one consequence 
of Jaying down Swarajya as the objective of the Congress was 
to make Congressmen and women enlarge their areas of concern 
to maHers which had hitherto been given perfunctory attention 
jf at all. One or these fields of concern was India's foreign policy. 
It is true that t]1e Congress had been taking some interest ill 
international affairs since its early days and certainly since the 
closing decade of the 19th century. Beginning with resolutions 
defending the rights of Indian settlers or indentured labourers 
in the Brilish colonies, especially South Africa. and embodying 
critique of the Indian Government's "forward policy," which in 
effect meant use of Indian treasure and man-power fOT the 
extension of British hegemony and imperialist interests in the 
Middle East, South East Asia and what was then dubbed as the 
Far East, by the closing years of the First World War some of 
the Congress leaders. like Tilak and Lajpat Rai. had begun 
tentatively to define an international role for India. Tilak, in 
particular, during his slay in England for more than a year 
between the Fall of 1918 and 1919, as already noted, had drawn 
up a memorandum for the Peace Conference in Paris staking 
India's claim as a peacekeeping agent in Asia and, rather less 
wisely. even as defender of the British imperialist interests in the 
region. 

However, these sporadic sorties into the arena of international 
politics represented individual initiatives even if by highly 
jnlluentialleadcrs of Indian opinion. They were, moreover, under­
taken mainly to reinforce India's claim to self-determination and 
not as part ofa coherent framework, of a foreign policy for an in~ 
-dependent India. However, at the Bombay session of the A.I.C.C. 
at the end of July 1921 for the first time the Congress look up 
the question of foreign policy seriously_ Curiously. however, it 
-was prompted to lhis somewhat belated effort by a resolution 
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passed at a public meeting "of the citizens of Bombay held on the 
26th April. 1921, under the aus.pices of the Central Khilafat 
Committee," The resolution read: 

In view of the fact that the destiny of the people of India is 
inevitably linked with that of the neighbouring Asiatic 
Nations and Powers, this public meeting of the Mussulmans 
of Bombay request the AJlwIndia Congress Committee to 
promote feelings of amity and concord with neighbouring 
States. and with a view to establish mutual goodwwill and 
sympathy, to formulate a clear and definite foreign policy 
for India. 

The A.l.C,C, could hardly ignore this request from the Central 
Khilafat Committee Wilh which it was working in close co­
operation. It decided to record the resolution, It did more. 
It resolved "that the grateful acknowledgements of the All· 
lndia Congress Committee be communicated to Mr. Pickthall 
[a sympathetic writer on Islam and a translator of the QII'ran into 
Englishl. the chairman for the said meeting, and to the Central 
Khilafat Committee of India for inviting the attention of the 
AII·lndia Congress Committee to a mutter of such importance~ 
and that the Working Committee be asked to frame a statement 
of such policy for preseming the same at the next meeting of the 
AIl~lndia Congress Comminee for its consideration." 

The Working Committee could hardly be expected to take 
up the maHer at its meeting in Bombay on July 31 and August 2 
which followed tbe A.I.C.C. meeting. When it met at Patna-and 
throughout 1921 itwas meeting practically every month in view of 
the accelerating tempo of political developments in the country~ 
on August 16, it passed a resolution-number five on the agenda­
"that the question of formulating a clear and definite foreign 
policy for India be adjourned for special consideration at the 
next meeting of the Working Committee and in the meanwhile 
Mahatma Gandhi be requested to prepare a note on the subject 
for the consideration of tbe Working Committee," Gandhi 
duly produced a note wben the Working Committee met at 
148 Russa Road. Calcutta, for four days. in the first and second 
week of September. It discussed the note fairly early in its pro­
ceedings and decided that the note which the Mahatma had 
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placed before the meeting "be recast in the light of the discussion 
by the members, and be circulated among the members of the 
Working Committee, and submitted for approval at tbe next 
meeting of the Working Committee." 

The next meeting of the Working Committee took place on 
October 5 at Bombay at the house in Laburnum Road where 
Gandhi was staying. The fifth resolution on tbe agenda dealt 
with the foreign policy questions. But it could hardly be described 
as providing a detailed blueprint for independent India's foreign 
relations. It was more an act of dissociation from the policies 
being pursued by the British Government and its instrumentality 
in India rather than a positive and comprehensive affirmation of 
india's objectives as a sovereign and independent member of the 
international community. The categorical negatives, however, 
were necessary. And for the good reason that an inspired cam~ 
paign of disinformation was being conducted by the British 
intelJigence service to make out that an independent-and 
predominantly Hindu India-would constitute a threat to the 
independence and territorial integrity of the neighbouring Mus· 
lim states while at the same time rumours were being spread 
in India that Afghanistan was about to invade lndia and Hindu 
virginities were under imminent threat from the marauding 
Afghans. the purpose being to drive a wedge between the Con­
gress and Khilafat movements and work on the historical 
psychopathology of the relation between the two major com­
ponents ofIndia's body·social in order to kindle mutual suspi· 
cions, mistrust and hostility. 

The Working Committee in its resolution urged the Congress 
to "let it be known to the- neighbouring and other states"-

(I) that the Government of India in no way represent Indian 
opinion and that their policy has been traditionally guided 
by considerations more of holding India under subjection 
than of protecting her borders; 

(2) that India as a self·governing country can have nothing 
to fear from the neighbouring states or any state as her 
people- have- no designs upon any of them and hence no 
intention of establishing any trade relations hostile to or 
not desired by the peoples of such states; 

(3) and that the people of India regard most treaties entered 
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into with the Imperial Government by neighbouring 
states as mainly designed by the latter to perpetuate the 
exploitation of India by tbe imperial power, !lnd would 
therefore urge the states, having no ill-wi!! against the 
people of India and baving no desire to it1jure her interests, 
to refrain from entering into any treaty with the imperial 
power. 

The resolution, however, did not end there. It went on "to 
assure the Mussulman states that when lndia has attained seJf­
government, her foreign policy will naturally be always guided 
so as. to respect the religions obligations imposed upon Mussul­
mans by Islam." But the Working Committee seemed to be 
aware that these negative formulations were not enough and, 
therefore, did not want the A.I.C.C. to be committed to them. 
It wanted its draft not to "go forth as the opinion orthe All-India 
Congress Committee without its being fully discussed by the 
public and adopted at a meeting of the latter." What is more, it 
wanted to initiate a wide national debate on the subject and to 
this end authorised "the Secretary to circulate the opinion [of 
the Committee1 a.<; a draft prepared for public criticism and for 
submission to the AU-India Congress Committee for adoption." 

It is not known how much public debate took place between 
the meeting of the Working Committee in Bombay early in 
October and the meeting of the A.I.CC. at Delhi on November 
4-5. 1921, when it adopted the resolution proposed by the Work­
ing Committee word for word. Strangely, however. nothing 
more was heard about the foreign policy resolution adopted by 
the A.l.ee. at the plenary session of tile Congress at Ahmedabad 
on December 27~28 and it seemed that the resolution and the 
ideas embodied in it were without a tomorrow. But it was not so 
and the seed had by no means fallcn on stony ground. Rather 
the reverse: even if the plenary session of the Congress at Ahmed~ 
abad did not take up the foreign policy resolution of the A,I.C.C., 
partly because it had more urgent matters on its plate, before 
long lndia's concerns in the field of foreign affairs were to become 
an integral part of the Congress agenda, not only at its annual 
sessions but in between the sessions.. In declaring Swarajya as 
its immediate objective it had, as it were, recognised India's 
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international responsibilities which went with independence and 
proclaimed to the world its acceptance of them. 

The other developm.ent, however, was not so happy. During 
the summer of 1921 an argument, verging almost on controversy. 
developed between Gandhi and Rabindranath Tagore over 
certain aspects of the non-cooperation programme in the process 
of its implementation which Tugore regarded as negative. As we 
know, Gandhi, eight years younger than the Poct, admired him 
greatly; admired him greatly not only as the authentic voice of 
India's cultural renaissance and for his literary contribution, but 
even more as an unfailing watchman-he was to call him the 
Great Sentinel-guarding those humanistic and spiritual values 
which are apt to be overlooked in the heat of the baHle for 
political freedom so that nationalism is too often prone todegene­
rate into narrow-minded chauvinism and xenophobic philistin­
ism. Soon after his return from South Africa, he had made it 
a point to visit Santiniketan and these visits were to be repeated 
at frequent intervals. partly because he needed to get away from 
his normal preoccupations and recharge his batteries, so to. 
speak. through communion with a man who lived and moved 
and had his being in the realm of imagination and yet shared his 
total commitment to India and its heritage. 

As related earlier, Gandhi before launching his movement of 
satyagraha against the Rowlatt legislation had been desperately 
anxious to secure Tagore's bleSSings. However, it was clear from 
Tagore's lettcr in rcply that he had serious reservations on the 
subject and believed, with some justice. that passive resistance 
was "not necessarily moral in itselr' and could be "used against 
truth as well as for it." Tagore's reservations regarding the 
non~cooperation movement had only been strengthened two years 
later as the movement gained momentum and he was particularly 
critical of certain items in the programme, Hke boycott of schools 
and foreign cloth. As excitement over the campaign for Swadeshi 
mounted, there was not only picketing of shops selling foreign 
clotb, but people lit bonfires of it and clothes made of it. Thi~ 
was fair game as a means of providing an added impetus to the 
campaign. but Tagore considered it to be wasteful and irrational. 
He also felt worried over a certain intolerance, if not a mild 
hysteria, whic11 the campaign of non·cooperation generated an 
example of which had been reported to him from London where 
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certain Indian students heckled his friend and a~sociate, W. W. 
Pearson, will) had taught at Santiniketan, and made it impossible 
for him to speak. He was specially critical of lhe Mahatma, 
probably on<) of the most chaste writer" in Engli:.h in our times. 
over his rather excessive emphasis on the discarding of English 
learning and the use of the English language. On a deeper philos­
ophic plane the Poet had grave doubts about the Mahatma's 
perfcrvid puritanism and asceticism. In his Lellers to a Frh'nr/. 
he wrote on March 5, 1921; 

The idea of non.co·opzration is political asceticism. Our 
students are bringing their olTering of sacrifices to what" 
Not to a fulter education but to non-education, It h;ls at its 
back a fierce joy of annihilation which at its best is asceticism, 
and at its worst is that orgy of frightfulness in which the 
human nature, losing faith in the basic reality of normal 
life, finds a disintercsteJ delight in an unmellning devastation, 
as has been shown in the late War and on other occasions 
which came nearer to us. No in its passive moral form is 
asceticism and in its active moral form is violence, The: desert 
is as much a form of himsa (negligence) as is the raging sea 
ill storm; they both are against life. 
1 remember the day. during the swadcshi movement in Bengal. 
when a crowd of young students came to see me in the first 
floor halt of our Vichitra house. They said to me that if I 
would order them to leave their schools and colleges they 
would instantly oblige. 1 was emphatic in my refusal to do so, 
al1tllhey went away angry. doubting the sincerity of my love 
for my motherla.nd. And yet long before this pop~llar ebullition 
of excitement I myself had given a thousand rupees, when 
1 had not five rupees to call my own, to open a swadeshi 
store and courted banter and b:tnkruptcy. The reason or my 
refu,~ing to advise those students to leave their schools was 
be::ause the anarchy of a mere emptiness never tempts me, 
even when it is resorted to as it temporary measure, I am 
frightened of an abstraction which is ready to ignore living 
reality .... You know that 1 do not believe in the material 
civilization of the Weslju'St as I do not believe in the physical 
body to be the highest truth in man. But I still less believe in 
the destruction of the physical body, and the ignoring of the 
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material necessities of life. What is needed is establishment of 
harmony between the physical and spiritual nature of man, 
maintaining of balance between the foundation and super~ 
Mructure. L believe in the true meeting of the East and the 
West. Love is the ultimate trutb of souL We should do all we 
can not to outrage that truth. to carry its banner against 
all opposition. The idea of non·co-opemtion unnecessarily 
hurts that truth. It is nOI our hearth fire, but the fire that burns 
out our hearth and home. 

There was much truth in Tagore·s critique of non-cooperation, 
or at least some of the forms it took as the movement developed. 
though the critique suffered from an intellectualism if not 
aestheticism which seemed hardly to connect with the harsh 
realities of India's predicament in the struggle to overthrow 
the stranglehold of a well·armcd Empire. But quite apart from 
the fllct that Tagore while highlighting the dangers inherent in 
non-cooperation did not indicate any alternative strategy for the 
winning of independence. he, too, seemed to be labouring under 
the spell of a perfectionism although of a different variety 10 
that of Gandl1i. 

Gandhi did not seem to be keen to cnter inlo controversy 
with the Poct. but he could not avoid it altogether either. Con­
sequently, he joined issue with him in the pages of Young India 
of June I. 1921. His an!>wer to Tagore's criticism of non~co~ 
operation came in two different plnces in the same issue: first 
in his"Notes" and then in anarlicle entitled "The Poet'o; Anxiety," 
In the "Note,,'- he dealt with the inddcnt in london in which 
Pearson had not been allowed to speak by certain student heck­
lers. He descrihed Pearson whom he knew well as "tlle truest of 
Englishmen" but wished that Tagore 

had not imputed Ihe rudeness of thc students to non-co­
{lperation, and had remembered that non-cooperators wor.~hip 
Andrews, honour Stokes, and gave a most respectful hearing 
10 Messrs Wedgwood, Ben Spoor and Holford Knight at 
Nagflur. that Maulana Mahomed Ali i'lL"cepted the invitation 
to tea of an English offidal when he invited him as a friend. 
that Hakim Ajmal Khan, a staunch nOll-cooperator had the 
portraits or Lord and Lady Hardinge unveiled in his Tibbia 
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College and had invited his many English friellds to witness 
the ceremony. How much. better it would have been if he had 
rcfu~ed to allow the demon [of] doubt to pos~ess him for one 
moment, as to the real and religious character of tht: present 
movement. and had believed that the movement was altering 
{he meaning of old terms, nationalism and patriotism, and 
extending their scope. 

He [hen turned to the question of Englis.h learning, especially 
by women and was s.addened that Tagore had not seen 
"with a poet's imagination" that he (O'andhi) was "incapable 
of wishing to cramp the mind of the Indian woman, and ... could 
not objecl to English learning as such" and throughout his lire 
<·'had fought for the fullest liberty for women." If Tagore had 
done lhat, he added, he would ha.ve been saved the injustice he 
had done to Gandhi. He went on: 

The Poet does not know perhaps that English is today s.tudied 
because of its commercial and so-called political value. Our 
boys think, and rightly in the present circulll5tances, that 
without English they cannot get Government service. Girls 
are taught English as a passport to marriage. I know several 
instances of women wanting to learn English so that they 
mny be able to talk to Englishmen in English. I know hus­
bands who are sorry that their wives cannot talk to them and 
tbeir friends in English, I know families in which English is 
being made the mother~tongue. Hundreds of youth believe 
that without a knowledge of English, freedom for India is 
practically impossible. The canker has. so eaten into the 
s.ociety that, in many cases, the only meaning of education is 
a knowledge of English. All these are for me signs of our 
slavery and degradatioll. It is unbearable to me that the 
vernaculars should becrushcdand starved asthcy ha.ve bee:t .. ,. 

This was true at the time it was written as it remains true still 
by and laTge nearly forty year:. after independence. Even so 
there was a certain strain of exaggeration in Gandhi's argument. 
However. he was not exaggerating when he claimed that he was 
"as great a believer in free air as the great poet" and defined 
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Ilis position on cultural nationalism as he conceived it in ad~ 
mirably restrained and finely phrased language: 

I do not want my house to be walled in on all sides and my 
windows to be stuffed. { want the cultures of aU the lands to 
be blown aboul my house as freely as possible. But I refuse 
to be blown off my feet by any. I refuse to live in other 
people's houses as an interloper, a beggar or a slave. I refuse 
to put the unnecessary strain of learning English upon my 
sisters for the sake offalse pride or questionablcsocial advant~ 
age. J would have our young men and young women with 
literary tastes to learn as much of English and other world 
languages as they like, and then expect them to give the benefits. 
of their learning to India and to the world. like a Bose. a 
Roy or the Poet himself. But I would not have a single Indian 
to forget, neglect or be asha.med of his mother·tongue. or to 
feel that he or she cannot think or express the best thoughts 
in his or her own vernacular. Mine is not a religion of the 
prison~house. It has room for the Ie-ast among God's creation. 
But it is proof against insolence, pride of race, religion or 
colour. I am extremely sorry for the Poet's misreading of (his 
great movement of reformation, purification and patriotism 
speJt humanity. If he will be patient, he will find no cause for 
sorrow or shame for tlis countrymen, I respeclfuUy wa.rn him 
again!'.t mistaking its excrescences for the movement itself. 
It is as wrong to judge non~cooperation by the students' 
misconduct in London or Malegaon's in India. as it would 
be to judge Englishmen by the Dyers or the O'Dwyers. 

All the points Gandhi mnde in his "Notes" were f'lir amI 
well made, without any descent into peevishness or raneour. 
But in the article headed "The Poet's Anxiety" in the same issue 
of Young India at some points an undertone of an incipient 
exasperation at being misunderstood by one from whom he 
expected understanding and who, he thought, would not judge a 
movement by its weaknesses, could be discerned. At the very 
start there was some ambiguity in the words of praise he had 
for Ta,gore. "The Poet of Asia,. as Lord Hardinge called Dr. 
Tagore," he wrote, "is f~ .. t becoming. if he has not already 
become, the Poet of the world. Increasing prestige has brought to 
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him increasing responsibility. His greatest service to India must 
be his poetic interpretation of India's messa.ge to the world. 
The Poet is therefore sincerely anxious that India should deliver 
no false or feeble message in her name. He is naturally jeJlou~ 
of his country's reputation. He says he has striven hard to find 
himself in tune with the present movement He confesses that 
he is baffled. He can find nothing for his lyre in the din and the 
bustle of non-cooperation." He then referred to his "three 
forceful lellers" to a friend in which Tagore had tried to give 
"expression to his misgivings" and his view "that non-co .. 
operation is not dignified enough for the India of his vision. 
that it is a doctrine of negation and despair ... 3. doctrine of 
$eparation, exclusiveness, narrowness and negation." 

Was Gandhi implying that Tagorc in trying to live up to his 
"resptmsibiHties"-and reputation-as "the P .. lct of the w0dd" 
was being ultra-perfectionist and too critical of his countrymen 
because they did not conduct themselves in a maimer "dignified 
enoug.h for the India. of his vision 1" If so, then he was treading 
a ground on which he himself was all too vulnerable. For tho 
standards of conduct he expected of his satyagranis. or non­
cooperators, were so impo~ibly high as to be: not of this earth. 
But he could not have intended any such implicatkm. At least 
he welcomed "the Poet's exquisite jealousy of India's honour" 
and thought it was good that "he sltouJd have sent to us his 
misgivings in language at once beautiful and clear:' He was at 
pains to s.et Tagore's "fears" on non-cooperation-which he saw 
as the only choice for India apart from the path of violence-and 
its conception. It was not, he assured Tagore, "intended to crect 
a Chinese Wall between India and the West. On the contra.ry. 
non-cooperation is intended 10 pave the way to real, nonourable 
tmd voluntary co"operation based on mutual respect and trust. 
The present struggle is being waged against compulsory co­
operation, against one-sided combination, against the armed 
imposition of modern mc-thods of ex:plllitation ma'iqucra.Jing 
under the name of civilization. Non-cooperation is a protest 
against an unwitting and unwilling participation in evil." 

This argument could not be fa.ulted. As for ··the Poet's 
conccrn ... about the students" and their education. he pointed 
out that it was no use making a fetish of"lilerary training" which 
"by itself adds not an inch to olle's moral height." The schools 
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had made Indians "clerks and interpreters." Nor did he 
think that it a sound argument against his programme of boycolt 
of schools to say that "the vast majority of the students went 
back [to schools] after the .first flush of enthusiasm. Their re­
cantation is proof rather of the extent of our degradation than 
of the wrongness of the step." But, he added, "the Poet's protest 
against the calling out of the boys is really a corolJary to his 
objection to the very doctrine of non-cooperation. He has a 
horror of everything negative. His Whole soul seems to rebel 
against the negative commandments of religion." 

His argument at this point trailed off into metaphysics and he 
maintained that negation has its philosophic uses. "Neti," he 
remarked "was the best description the authors of the Upam'shads 
were able to find for Brahman." The analogy wa. .. a little laboured. 
But what followed was. wholly pertinent and politically cogent: 
Indians, he argued, "had lost the power of saying 'no'" which had 
become "disloyal, almost sacrilegious." Non~cooperation was to 
b-im "like the necessary weeding process that a cultivator bas to' 
resort to before he sows." And he concluded: 

And if India is ever to attain the swaraj of the Poet's dream, 
she will do so only by non~violent non~cooperation. Let 
him deliver his message of peace to the world, and feel con~ 
fiden! that India through her non~cooperation, if she remain 
true to her pledge, will have exemplified his message. Non· 
cooperation is intended to give the very meaning to patriotism 
that the Poet is yearning after. An India prostrate at the 
feet of Europe can give no hope to humanity. An India 
awakened and free has a message of peace and good·will ttl 
a groaning world .... 

This in a strange sort of way Wa.,> true and remains true. But 
Tagore could not be convinced. At least he could not see any 
virtue in the burning of foreign cloth or even see in the charkha 
or the spinning·wbeel India's economic salvation as Gandhi 
seemed to believe and preached. Their mulual friend C.F. 
Andrews was also at variance with Gandhi on these items in his 
non--cooperation programme. He wrote a series of articles in 
The Modern Review and sent them to Gandhi with a letter in 
which he said. that the picture of Gandhi "lighting that great 
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pile, including beautiful fabrics," had shocked him intensely_ 
So much so that~ he added, ., Do you know I almost fear now to 
wear the khaddar that you have given mc, lest I should appear 
to be judging other people a .. a Pharisee WQUi3, saying~ '{ am 
holier than thou!' I never felt like this before.... Do tell me 
what you mean. What you said in Young India about burning did 
not convince me a bit." 

Gandhi published the Jeller from Andrews in Yaung India 
ofSeptembcr I, 1921, under the heading "Ethics of O>!struction." 
He described it as a "pathetic and beautiful teuer." He answered 
itio his own way which did not induce either in Tagoreor Andrews 
a willing sU!.pension of disbelief. Five days after the publication 
Gandhi met the Poet in Catcutta. The meeting W,lS in p,·ivate 
and meant to sorl out their differences, However, versions of 
what p..'tssed between the Mahatma and the Poet which appeared, 
especially the report io The Slal!'Sman of September to, were not 
calculated to promote an understanding of what the argument 
between the two men was all about much less the logic of non­
cooperation movement. Interviewed by a press representative. 
the AmrilQ Bazar Palrika reported on September 11 : 

Mr, Gandhi. .. declined to make any statement whatsoever 
saying that though there was. nothing secrel about the inter­
view. he questioned the right of the public 10 know all that 
happened at interviews between two public men. He declined 
to make any statement also because he said that an attempt 
was made in all the imaginary reports to discredit him and 
his cause, but he knew that both the cause and himself were 
absolutely safe in the hands of the poet, the reports notwith­
standing, 

But it is clear from a postscript to Ganllhi's lelter to Andrews 
written "On the Way to Madras" on September 14, that he 
believed someone close to Tagore had been the source of the 
leak to The Statesman which had naturally given the information 
its own anti-Gandhi slant. "I felt," he wrote, "that no relative 
of the Poet could have written such an untruth [as the report 
in The Statesman wall based on]. No relative was present at th~ 
interview, and I took no notice of it. But evidently there is a 
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rc1a.tive at the back. Or the Bengalee would not have taken 
it s.eriously. Will 110t the Poet read it and if it is an untruth wHl 
he not contradict it '? Even you can [Andrews was prescnt at the 
interview, it seems]. Bul please commit the Poet and do what 
you can." 

It is not known whether Tagore or Andrews contradicted 
the reports that had appeared. However, it could not be said that 
the differences between them had been rcwlved. This is obvious 
from the fact that in the October (1921) issue of The Modern 
Rcr£ew Tagore wrote what Gandhi described as "a brilliant 
essay on the prescnt movement", Under the heading "The 
Great Semincl" he said that tbe gravamen of Tagore's argument 
in the article entitled "Tl:e Call of Truth," was that we should 
"reject anything and everything that does not appeal to our 
reason or heart," Gandhi agreed with this and said, "The Poet 
deserves the thanks of his countrymen for standing up for truth 
and reason. There is no doubt that our last stute will be worse 
than our first, if we surrender our reason into somebody's 
keeping .... 1 am quite conscious of the fact that blind surrender 
to It)ve 1s often more mischievous than a forced surrender to the 
lush of the tyrant.. .. His essay serves as a warning to us all 
who in our impatience arc betrayed into intolerance or even 
"iolence against those who differ from us. I regard the Poet as a 
sentinel warning us against the approach of enemies caned 
bigotry, lethargy, intolerance, ignorance, inertia and other 
members ('If thaI brood." 

But whil:-.t he agreed with Tagore "as to the necessity of 
watchflllne~:> lest We cca~e 10 think," he did not want his readers 
to think thal he endorsed "the proposition that there is any such 
blind obedience 011 a large scale in the country today." As 
for the dwrklw, it was only "after laborious thinking, after 
great hesitation" that the country had come to believe- in it "as 
the giver of plenty" and even 50 the "educated india" had not 
"assimilated the truth underlying the dwrkh«." On the question 
of burning of foreign doth, he sounded not only unrcpcntent, 
but deeply emotional. "Tn buming my foreign clothes," he said, 
"r burn my s.hame. 1 must refuse to insulL the naked by giving them 
clothes they do not need, in5tcad of giving them work which they 
sorely need." He also denied that non~cooperation wai "an 
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ilxclusive doctrine." "Our non-cooperation," he argued, "is 
neither with the English nor with the West, Our non-cooperation 
h with the system the English have established. with the material 
civilization and it$ attendant greed and exploitation of the weak," 
And he concluded with some vcr<;cs from the third chapter of the 
Bhl1ga~'ad Gila, Of ralher its English translation by Ed\vin Arnold, 
TM SO/lg Celestial, which verge on didactic bathos. 

So the argument between the Mahatma and the Poet con­
tinued sporadically and later extended to other matters such as, 
for instance. Gandhi's underestimation or Ramnlohun Roy's 
contribution to the movement of fndian reformation and regene­
ration, panly becau\C he had not really given enough time to the 
study of his work. There were bu~y~bodies and mischief-mongers 
who. as Gandhi himself lamented, wanted to divide them though 
he was sure that they could not succeed because "{he Poet is. 
too great to be touched. . .. There are differences of opinion 
between us. They do nol allcct my regard for the Poet in any 
way whatsoever. The Poet is as good a lOVer of India as I claim 
to be, and that love is an all·sufficing bond between us." 

This was abund~nt.ly true. Nevertheless, the argument, as it 
developed and touched other areas of mutual interest, could 
not fail to leave behind a residual sediment of mutual incompre· 
hension which tended to make their exchanges on various issues 
at times very much like a dialogue of the deaf. This was a pity 
because both Gandhi and Tagorc were right, each within his own 
premise and on the parlkuJar plane on which each lived and 
moved and bad his being. What is more, the two planes were not 
only complementary, but absolutely necessary to each other and 
to India-jirst for its liberation and then the opening up of the 
possibility of its development as a humane polity and civilisation. 
Any diJferences between them which might have divided them, 
therefore, could not but have cast an adverse shadow on the 
d~tiny oflndia and its people. 

Fortunately, however, that did not happen because of what 
Gandhi :lptiy described as "an all-~ufficing bond" between him 
and Tagore-their love of India. Fortunately, too, that bond 
was soon to be reinforced by the emergence on the Indian politi­
cal and intellectual scene of a much younger man who combined 
in himself the political passion and commitment of Gandhi 
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and Tagore's urbane aesthetics of living and who could serve as 
a living nexus between the two men because he loved them both 
and was fully sensible of the paramount importance of their two­
personalities for India's present-and future. 



CHAPTER (X 

"SOUL FORCE" ON TRIAL 

After Nagpur the supreme authority for decision rested d(' 
locto with Gandhi even though the de jure inve~titure had to wait 
till the Thirty~sjx.th session of the Congress at Ahmedabad at the 
end of December 1921. Even for the Mahatma this was a most 
daunting burden of responsibility to carry. For the path of 
struggle for swaraj which Jay ahead was through virtually unch· 
arted territory and entailed an effort at organisation on a scale 
for which his previous pilot experiment in South Africa and the 
abortive satyagraha against the Rowlatt legislation did not 
provide a safe guide. The burden was certainly not lightened by 
the scepticism hOI dering on incomprehension which he was 
encountering regarding his non-cooperation and swadeshi 
movement and especially the boycott of foreign doth and advo· 
cacy of the spinning·wheel as the vehicle of Tndia's economic 
salvation. It was not only that "Moderate" letlders, like the 
Editor of the Indian Social Reformer and Srinivasa Sastri, were 
voicing their opposition to his programme, but even those whose 
opinion mattered much more to him, like Rabilldranath Tagore 
and C.F. Andrews. had publicly joined issue with him. 

However, as the sun moved from the summer solstice to the 
autumn equinox, he had plenty of other things to worry about-
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besides his differences with Tagorc and Andrews over non~co-­
operation nnd the "ethics of destruction" of foreign cloth. 
The Government was not only busy gearing up its macllinery of 
repression, but was giving it a trial run in certain selected areas 
to intimidate the people and pre-empt the build up of popular 
and graSSToot support for Gandhi, particularly among the 
peasantry. This is (:lear from a note-one of his earliest exercise:;. 
in political reporting-which Jawaharlal Nehru prepared on 
"Repression in U.P." and which was published in ruung India 
of August 18, 1921. 

"Repression in the U.P. has on the whole," he wrote, "not 
been of the flashy type-the arrest of prominent leaders, etc.-hut 
it has been very thorough and there are few who have not felt 
the force of it:' He clas~jfied it under three heads: first, its 
relation to the kisan or -peasant movement; secondly. the trial 
and conviction of young wOlkers: and thirdly. the usc of security 
sections of the Criminal Procedure Code. like section 144, to 
nip any movement of protc$t in the bud. He added that "a very 
determined and persistent effort, "to kill this mo\,cmenf' had 
been mounted and "a considerable number of Congress and 
Khilafat workers have been proceeded against and sentenced," 
There was hardly any prominent worker. he recorded. who had 
not been served an order under section 144 of the Criminal. 
Procedure Code, 

Chelmsford had favoured a policy of dealing toughly with 
local men and the rank and file Congress and Khilafat workers. 
particularly in rural areas, white turning a blind eye to political 
transgressions of national teaders. This kind of self-denial went 
very much against the grain of the bureaucratic hierarchy and 
~pecially the provincial authorities, Under Reading they soon 
abandoned it although for intricate ami subtle reasons it was 
still considered politic not to touch Gandhi himself. The two Ali 
Brothers had been very much of thorns in the flesh of the Govern~ 
ment, partly because of their popularity wj~h the Muslim masses. 
They were the- first All-India leaders to be- rounded up. Curiously, 
the younger Ali, Mohameu Ali, was lravening with Gandhi to 
Madras when he was aucsted at Waitair. "a beauty spot" as 
Gandhi described it, in Andhra. We hu,,'c GandLu's own report 
of Mohamed Ali's arrest on September 14, 1921. which appeared 
in Young llUiia of September 22, 
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The much talked of arrest of Maulana Mahomcd Ali took 
place at Waltair, whilst we were on our way to Madra~. 
I am writing this in the train .... The: train halted at Waltair 
for over twenty-fivc minutes. Maulana Mahomed Ali and 
J were going outside the Station to address a meeting. Hardly 
had we gone a few paces from th.e entrance, when I heard 
the Maulana shouting to me and rcading the notice given to 
him. I was a few paces in front of him. Two white men and 
half a dozen Indian police composed the party of arrcst The 
officer ill. charge would not let the Maulana finish rcadin.g 
the notice. but gra<;pcd 1115 arm and took the Maulana away. 
With a smile on his lips he waved good bye. I understood thc 
meaning. I was to keep the flag flying .... r continued my 
journey to the meeting place. I asked the people to remain 
calm. and fulfil the Congress programme. 1 then retraced my 
steps, and wcnt where the Maulana was being dctained. I 
asked the officer ill charge whether I could see the Maulana. 
He said he had Qrders to let his wife and secretary only meet 
l1im. I saw Begum Mahomed Ali and secretary Mr. Hayat 
coming out of the detention room. 

Gandhi interpreted Mohamed Ali's arrest as "a good omen" 
and predicted that what had "bappened to the younger is bound 
to happen to the elder brother"~a predielion which proved to 
be correct-and added that in arresting Maulana Mohamed Ali, 
the Government had "imprisoned the KhiJafat." This also 
turned out to be the case. But he was wrong in thinking that the 
autborities intended to keep Mobamed Ali for long in that 
"beauty spot" and "sanitorium" of Andhra albeit in the local 
jail as His Majesty's guest so that he could have "a few days 
rest and complete his accounts of l~ deputation." The Maulana 
was immediately whisked away from Waltair on the coast or 
Coromandcl to the city between the desert and the Arabian Sea 
more than firteen hundred mites away-Karachi. There he was 
united with his elder brother, Sitaukat Ali. who was already 
lodged in the jail with several other Khilafat and Congress 
leaders., including Dr. Kitchlew of the M,lrlial Law fame and a 
full-fledged Hindu Shankracharya, to stand collective trial. The 
committal proceedings began before a rather feckless magistrate 
on September 26, 1921, and inevitably degenerated into some-
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thing of "a farce" as Mohamed Ali described them in n letter to 
the Mahatma written from Karaclll jail on October l8 which 
appeared in Young India nine days later without "a single word" 
being expunged by the Editor. 

If Mohamed Ali's arrest W<lS seen by Gandhi as a good omen 
heralding the dawn of Swaraj for which he had set a deadline 
at the end of 1921, then during the next few months he was 
vouchsafed many more similar happy omens, especiaUy after 
mid-November when the Prince of Wales landed in Bombay to 
begin his "good will " tour of India. For despite the official 
jamborees of "loyalists" which the Government stl\ged for him. 
everywhere he went he was greeted with protest demonstrations 
and harlals, not because there was any animus on the part of 
the Indian people against the Prince personally or the Royal family, 
but because he was coming, as Gandhi ,~aid at a meeting in Lahore 
a week before tbe Prince's arrival. "to strengthen the present 
Government." 

The dcmon.;;trations and hartals against the Prince of Wale::.' 
visit were a signal for the authorities not only to resort to mas); 
arrests of the rank and file Congress and Khilafat workers, but 
wholesale rounding up of even top leaders throughout India. 
On OL'Cember 2, for instance. lajpat Rai, K. Santanam. La! 
Khan, Gopichand Bhalgava and many others were arrC$ted at 
LatlOre under the Prevention of Seditious Meetings Act. Four 
days later followed the arrest of the two Nehrus, father and son. 
In}tis An AutQbiography lawahadal Nehru has recorded how it 
aU happened: 

1 was sitting rather late one day in the Congress office at 
Allahabad trying to clear up arrearli of work. An excited clerk 
told me thut the police had come with a search warrant and 
were sUITounding the office building. I was, of course. a little 
excited abo, for it war> my fir.>t experience of the kind, but the 
desire to show off was strong, the Wish to appear perfectly cool 
and collected, unaffected by the comings and goings of the 
police. So I asked a clerk to accompany the police officer in 
his search round the office rooms, and insisted on the TCSl 
of the staff carrying on their usual work and ignoring the 
police ...• Soon news came of other arrests in the city. 1 
decided at !ru;t to go home and see what was happening there. 
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( found the inevitable police searching part of the large house 
and learnt that they had come to arre!>t both father and me. 

Indeed, he teUs us that the "U.P. Provincial Congress Com~ 
minee Wali arrested en bloc (55 members) as they were actually 
holding a committee meeting." It seems that the charge against 
bim was "distributing notices for a harla/" which was "no offence 
under the law thell." But nevertheless he was sentenced though 
aner three months in jail he was let off because "some revising 
authority" had come to the conclusion that he had been "wrongly 
sentenced." No such clemency was shown to Motiial Nehru 
whose crime wa.s more serious and recognised as such-being a 
member of an illegal organisation. to wit the Congress Volunt~ 
eers. To prove thls, JawaharJal Nehru writes: 

... a form with his signature ill Hindi was produced. The 
signature was certainly his. hut. as i1 happened. he had bard~ 
Iy ever signed in Hindi before, and very few persons could 
recognise his Hindi signature. A taHered gentleman was 
then produced who swore to the signature. The man was 
quite illiterate, 'and he held the signature upside down 
when he examined it. My daughter. aged four at the time, had 
her first experience of the dock during father's trial. as be 
held her in bis arms throughollt. 

The Punjab and the United Provinces wefC not singled out 
for the round up of Congress and Khilafa.t leaders. Much lhe same 
was happening in other Provinces. At the end of November. 
Congress volunteers in Bengal had been declared illegal. "} feel 
the hlUtdcuffs on my wrists and the weight of iron chains on my 
body," C.R. Das had declared at the time, "the whole of India 
is a vast prison." Within a few days he was to experience the 
weight of handcuffs on his wrists in a more than metaphorical 
sense. On December 7 his wife, Basanti Devi. and sister were 
arrested, though this turned out to bo a mistake and they were 
freed even before Gandhi's congratulatory telegram reached 
lhem. On December 10, Dn.s himself was arrested. While Ganuhi 
himself was left alone by the authorities, many other Congress 
leaders in Gujarat were taken into custody. His eldest son. 
BarHal Gandhi. too was arrested in Calcutta. 



256 lND)A!>< NATIONAL COSGRES,.<; 

C,R. Oas' arre$l was at once a highly provocative as well 
as an unkind act. It was provocative because he was the President­
elect of the Congress session 10 be held at Ahmedab:1.d only a 
fortnight later. He had been elected as long ago as mid-September 
and to put him in jail on the eve of the session was bound to be 
seen by the Congress and the Indian people in general as an 
insolent throwing down of the gauntlet. It was also an unkind. 
not to say a highly impolitic act. For although D~shabandhu 
Das, as he was popularly called, was a radical and a militant. 
who was prepared to go further than Gandhi, curiously he wa:. 
:\ reluctant non-cooperator, particularly in so f.u as the boycott 
of the new councils was concerned. As a disciplined Congressman 
he had thrown himself heart and soul into the movement after 
the Nagpur session, but a residual ambivalence rema.ined and tbe 
Government knew it. They tried to exploil it-and with some 
degree of succes.s-even after he had been a.rrested as lawaharlal 
Nehru has related in his autobiography: 

An attempt was made by the Government in December 1921, 
soon after the mass arrests at the beginning of the month, to 
come to an understanding with the Congress, This was 
especially in view of the Prince's forthcoming visit to Calcutta. 
There were some informal talks between representatives of 
the Bengal Government and Deshbandhu Dus, who was in 
gaol then. A proposal seems to have been made, that a smaU 
round table conference might take place between the Govern· 
ment and the Congress. This proposal appears to have fallen 
through because Gandhiji insisted that Maulana Moha.mad 
Ali, who was then in prison in Karachi, should be present at 
this conference. Government would not agree to this. 

T.his was to become a sore point with Da'i. "Mr. C.R. DJ.s"~ 
writes lawaharlal Nehru, "did not approve of Gandhiji's 
attitude in this. matter and, when he came out of prison la/cr. he 
publicly criticised him and said that he had blundered." BU1, 
again, we afC anticipating. 

For much of the time during the months leading up to the 
Congress session at Ahmedabad Gandhi lived in a strange trance 
of euphofia. The Government's policy of mass arrests, a'> Nehru 
argues, fitted well with the Congress programme and every new 
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arrest, Gandhi believed, brought lile day of Swaraj nearer. 
Some thirty thousand people-including a fairly high propor­
tioll of women-were behind the bars which may not seem 
much in a populalion of 300 million. but nothing [ike that 
had happened before and Lord Reading publicly expressed hi~ 
anxiety, or at leas.t perplexity ns well he might. For as Nehru has 
recorded: 

Many people, who had so far taken no part in any Congress 
or political activity, were carried away by the wave of enthu­
sjasm and illsisted on being arl'es.!ed. There were cases of 
Government clerks, returning from their offu.::es in the evening, 
being swept away by this current and landing in gaol instead 
of their homes. Young men and boys would crowd inside the 
police lorries and refuse to come ouL Every evening we could 
hear rrom inside the gaol, lorry after lorry arriving outside 
heralded by our s.logans and shouts. The gaols were crowded 
and the gaol officials were at their wits' end at this extraordi~ 
nary phenomenon. It happened sometimes that a police lorry 
would bring, according to the warrant accompanying it, a 
certain number or prisoners-no names were or could be 
mentioned. Actually, a larger number than that mentioned 
would emerge rrom the lorry and the gaol officials did not 
know how to meet this novel situation. There WItS nothing in 
the Jail Manual about it. 

The mood of euphoria was not confined to Gandhi. It was 
shared by many <>thcrs in the Congress. They may not have 
belicyed as Gandhi seemed to believe, that just by filling the jails. 
by peaceful civil disobedicncc the stranglehold or British imper­
rialism could be loosened and they would wake up on the New 
Year Day of 1922 to Swarnj or self·rulc. But as one or the most 
authentic witnesses to the era who was also alrea.dy one of the 
leading participants in the movement, jawaharlal Nehru, tctl'! 
us, "there was a strange mixture of nationalism and politics and 
religion and mysticism and fanaticism." He writes in his autobin­
graphy: 

Many of us who worked for the Congress programme lived in 
a kind of intoxication during t!tc year 1921. We were full of 
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excitement anu optImIsm and a buoyant enthusiasm. We 
sensed the happiness of a person crusading for a cause. We 
were not troubled with doubts or hesitation: our path seemed 
{o lie clear in front of us and we marched ahead, lifted up by 
the enthusiasm of others, and helping to push on others ...• 
Above all. we had a sense of freedom and a pride in that 
freedom. The llld feeling of oppression a.nd frustration was 
compit·teiy gone. There was no more whispering, no round­
about legal phraseology to avoid get ling into trouble with Ihe 
authorities. We said what we felt and shouted it out from the 
house-tops. What did we carc for the consequences? Prison '? 
We looked forward to it; that would help our cause still 
further. The innumerable spies and st..'Cret-servlce men who 
used to surround us and follow us about became rather 
pitiable individuals as there was nothing secret for them to 
diSCover. All our cards were ulways on the table. 
We had not only a feeling of S1.tisfaction at doing effective 
political work which was changing Ihe face of lndia before 
our eyes and, as we believed. bringing Indian freedom very 
near, but also an agreeable sense of moral superiority o\'er our 
opponents, both in regard to our goal and our methods. , .. 

The Government had been indined at first to be sceptical 
about public response to Gandhi's. can 10 the people to non­
c(loperation. Gulled by the soothing assurances of loyal 
support hy the substantial body of Quislings and hangers-on 
of the Raj and I'heir own propaganda, the authorities believed 
that the civil disobedience would never take-off the ground or at 
the worst would prove to be a nine~days' wonder. They ought 
to have been warned by the success of the boycott of the elections 
to the new councils in the November of 1920 which had impressed 
even their own independent informants like Valentine Chirol who 
Ilad vi!)ited a number of rural areas around AlJahab~d on the 
election day and found the polling booths deserted. But the 
bureaucrats had their own comforting explanation for this 
phenomenon. They interpreted it as the Indian voters' lack of 
interest in the paraphernalia of democracy and their preference 
for the smack of tirm paternalistic rule which the British offered. 

However, as the non~coopcration movement seemed to be 
gathering momentum and the local jails were beginning to get 
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vvercrowded, there was some rethinking at least at lhe higher 
echelons of officialdom. Jawaharlal Nehru was not exaggerating 
when he wrote retrospectively in his autobiography; 

As our maral grew. that of the Government wenL down, They 
did n01 understand what was happening; it seemed that the 
old world they knew ill India was toppling dowu. There was 
a new aggressive spirit abroad and self~reljance and fea.r~ 
less ness. and the great prop of British rule in India-prestige­
was visibly willing .... Was the Iudian Army reliable? 
Would the police C<1.rry out orders? As Lord Reading, the 
Viceroy, said in December 1921, they were "pu7..zled and 
perplexed". 

Their apprehensions about the reliability of the army proved 
10 be unfounded and by and large the police carried out 
orders. The manifesto issued by the Congress and Khilafat 
1caders on Oclober 4 after the prosecution of the Ali Brothers 
and olhen> calling upon soldiers and civilians to sever connection 
with the Government did not evoke any significant response. Nor 
did the resolution passed by the All-India Congress Committee 
at Delhi to the same effect a month later produce dramatic 
reSignations rrom the army or the civil service. But the bureau~ 
eratic establi.')hment was still worried. Not only worried but in 
coniiiderable perplexity and embarrassment because the Prince 
of Wales' tOUt, instead of producing any spectacular demonstra­
tion of loyalist sentiment. was providing grist to the mills of 
Congress movement in the shape of harla/s and prolests all 
alnng hi~ routt', though of varying intensity in different provinces. 

The embarrassment was the more acute because. although the 
newS. of India which was allowed to reach the outside world was 
'strictly doctored both directly through official manipulation and 
indirectly through the British agency-Router-which enjoyed 
virtual monopoly of its international distribution, the visit of the 
Prince of Wales was bound to attract media attention not only 
in Britain and its Dominions. but to a lesser extent also in Europe 
and the United States. Adverse Indian reaction to the Royal 
tour could not be altogether blacked out as the lallianwa1a 8agh 
tmgedy had been [or many months; and this, in turn, could not 
but spoil the image of a contented India and ea!t doubt on the 
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legitimacy of British rule in India. At any rate, the British esta· 
blishment both in London and Delhi was sufficiently amdous 
on this count to mount a systematic propaganda campaign to 
alrset any adverse publicity that boycott of the Prince's visit 
by the Indian people might engender. 

One of its many familiar ploys was to enlist the services 0'­

plausible Indians among the Moderates who in the past had b(..'C1l 
associated with the Congress but had severed their connection 
with it after it changed its creed and detined the attainment oj 
Swaraj as its immediate goal at the Nagpur session, The ploy 
certainly worked but only up to a point. For as Nehru rightly 
points out even the "Liberals [and Moderates] were far rrom 
happy" because "it is not a pleasant experience to be cut off frlJm 
one's own people, to sense hostility even thougb one may nol 
see it or hear it." 

But Gandhi was not worried over the criticism of the Non~ 
cooperation movement from eminent Moderates even though 
they included men like Srinivasa Sastri who had assumed the 
mantle of Gokhale and whom the Mahatma held in considerable 
esteem, As for the British propaganda against the Congres.s 
abroad, he had convinced himself that it could make little dilTerence 
to the struggle which had been joined in Tndia where alone it could 
be lost or won; and judging from the number of people who were 
willing to court imprisonment in implementing the programme of 
non.cooperation, he seemed reasonably satisfied that the struggle 
was going on well. Tf any shadow intersected his optimistic 
frame of mind during the months leading up to the Congress 
session at Ahmedabad it was the sporadic eruptions of violence 
here and there. 

The mo~t serious outbreak of violence had occurred in August 
1921 in Malabar which in British times was a di5trict of Madra$ 
Presidency but now forms part of Kerala State. Tt involved the 
Moplah community-a generic name given to the Muslims of the 
region most of whom were and still are, landless peasants and as 
such had long been subject to ruthless exploitation by the land~ 
lords, for the mo~t part drawn from the higher caste Hindus, 
like the Nambudiris and Nairs, who moreover, could count on 
the complaisance of the officials in return for services rendered 
'to the Raj. The intensity of exploitation, inevitably, bred dis~ 
content which at times overflowed into ineffectual acts of violence , 
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Indeed, a certain degree of tension between the landed gentry 
and the ryots had become endemic. Furthermore, the fact that 
the divide between the haves and havc~nots was articulated along 
the confessional divide tended to give the conflict a communal 
twist. It is no part of thh undertaking to go into the history and 
psychopathologIcal analysis of the Moplah turbulence. For our 
pre~nt purpose it is suJficient to recall that during the summer of 
1921 the unrest among lhem had reached a very high pitch. "The 
political situation in Malabar," wrote the Acting Chief Secretary 
to the Government of Madras to the Secretary of Home Depart~ 
ment of Ihe Government of India on August 18. 1921. "is at 
preseut causing grave anxiety to tbis Government .... The whole­
of South Malabar is . " in a state of grave ferment." 

It was-and for a number of general as well as particular 
reasons. To begin with a vague but acutely felt sense of millenary 
expectancy wus shared by the Mopill.h community. This had been 
heightened by Gandhi's conditional promise of Swaraj by the cnd 
of 1921. The fervent revivalistic rhetoric of the Khilafatleaders 
had still further served to whet apocalyptic anticipation of a 
sea change in their condition. Added to this were the rumours, 
.. Imost certainly inspired by the British intelligence and propa~ 
ganda services, of un imminent invasion of India by the Amir of 
Afghanistan--the young Amanullah who entertained dreams 
of modernizing hi~ mountainous kingdom. The ()stensible pur~ 
po:.c of giving currency to such rumours was to stir up atavistic 
fears among the Hindus of a Muslim reconquest of the country 
and so drive a wedge between the Congress and the Khiiafat 
movement. There is no reason to doubt that in some degree the 
ploy succeeded. especially among tbe more gullible sections of 
the Hindu community in the North-West. But, paradoxically,~ 
in so far as the Moplahs were concerned the propaganda had 
the effecl of boo,>Ung hopes of an early end to British rule and 
the landlords' oppression. 

What triggered off a chain reaction of rebelliousness among 
the Moplahs was a commonplace enough incident-the forcible 
eviction of a tenant by the landlord and the arrest of a local 
Khilafat leader on .tl charge of stealing a gun at Pookottoor. The 
people were angry and clashed with the police which was quite 
unable to cope with the situation. Clashes spread throughout the 
district and evel' l')evond 10 the estates owned by European 
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planters onc of whom was kiHed. The civil administration virtually 
collapsed in the region. In some sub-district headquarters courts 
were burnt down; official records deslroycd; government treasu­
ries looted. So were the houses of many Hindu landlords. not 
necessarily because they were Hindus, but because they wen! 
landlords and exploiters, and their wcnlth constituted the symbol 
and reality of their inequity. There were stories of forcible con­
versions to Islam, though these were highly exaggerated and. 
according to the Congress sources, there had been only three 
cases of forced conversion. Other sources put the figure much 
higher. But there was no impartial enquiry and nobody attempted 
to find out how far such conversions were instigated by agl!nt3 
proVocateurs who were bent on turning what wa~ in it!> origin an 
agrarian uprising into a communal mayhem and how far they 
were manifestations of Moplah confessional fanaticism which 
was certainly there, but only as a secondary undercurrent. 

The late K.P.S. Menon in a Foreword to Sukhbir Choudhary's 
Moplah Uprising (l921~23), drawing a parallel with events in 
Hungary in 1956, suggests that "in the Moplah uprising, too, 
there were revolutionary as well as counter-revolutionary 
elements." But the parallel is a little misleading. Unlike what 
bappened in Hungary, the Moptah insurgency was a :.pontaneous 
peasant revolt which had no external inspiration. much less 
underpinning and support. Nor had it any centralised direction 
and leadership or even a clearly defined objective beyond a vague 
notion of "extorting Swamj from the While men" and ending 
landlord oppression. It could not have succeeded. although the 
popular support it had among the wretched of Malabar ensured 
that the authorities took months rather than weeks to put it 
down and then only by calling in the army, with a strong Bri(i:.h 
component. which resorted to what in another context was 
described as "frightfulness'". 

If some of the acts committed by the Moplah~ were brutal. 
they were more than outmatched by the: ferocious repression 
with which the army and police suppressed the revoir. By the 
end of December 1921, 1,826 Moplahs and others were killed: 
another 1,500wounded; and thearresls ran into several thousands. 
Indeed, in the three years up to July 1923, the toll was nearly 
nine thousand killed and tive thousand wounded; those arrested 
numbered more than ten thousand. Some of the latter were let off 
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lightly; others received heavy scntencl!s and some were deported to 
the And:tman blancls, then a penal colony and not a tourist resort, 
and notorious for it~ cellular jail. There were cases of incredible 
inhum;lnity as, for instance, the train tragedy which shocked the 
whole of India. Recalling the incident more than n detade laler 
in his autobiography, Jawaharlal Nehru was to comment.: 
"What a horrible thing was the baking to death \If the Moplah 
prisoners in the closed railway vans," 

It undoubtedly was horrible, On November 19,1921. or two 
days after the Prince- of Wales had landed in Bomba} on his 
goodwill tour of India. 127 pri:;oners, not all or them Moplah~. 
were packo;:J inlo a luggage wagon "IS fr. by 9 ft. und sc\'cn and 
a h:lif ft. high" at Tirur. The doors of the van were ~ca1ed, the 
windows shut. Six hours later, when the train reached Podanur. 
it was found that fifty-six of the men were dead. The rCH of them 
were in a state of acute distress ,\Od prostration and eight of them 
were to die later. Reports of the tragedy were ~o harrowing that 
there was an uproar in the Legislative Assembly in Delhi and 
resolutioll3 were moved by noo-official IndiCin members calling 
for a thorough enquiry inti} the alrocity and puni~hment 01' tho~e 
responsible for it. The Government side resisted the demand at 
first But it came under pressure from London where there was 
some embarrassment as the news took the shine otT the stories 
of the "welcome" being accorded to the heir to the throne. On 
November 22, Mont,1gu cabled to Reading that he was "shocked 
at the terrible consequences of what seems ... to be culpabl~ 
negligence." He wanted "urgent investigation by the local 
Government." Delhi. consequently, leaned on the Madras 
Govcroment~over which, incidentally, WiUingdol1 presided·­
and eventually it put on trial a British sergeant. Andrews, and a 
number 01' constables. 

However, the ca~c cam;; to nothing, In so far as any blam.: 
was considered justifiable. it wm, placed on a railway trame 
inspector who, conveniently for the authorities. had died in the 
mc:t.nwhile, Andrews and olhers charged with him were found 
not guilty. This led a writer in The Modem Review. edited by 
Ramananda Chatterjee and one of the Illost int1ucntial and 
respected monthlies in pre-independence India, to compare the 
Moplah train tragedy with "lhe Black Hole tragedy (supposing 
it to be historically true in its entirety),' and suggest with biller 
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sarcasm that since neither Sergeant Andrews nor his men had any 
responsibility with the death of more than sixty prisoners, the 
luggage v.tn itself must be considered as the feal culprit and ought 
w be hanged, drawn and quartered. 

The Moplah insurgency continued fitfully for two years, but 
it is arguable that the situation could have been brought under 
control much earlier if the authorities had alJowed Indian Icadl.:cs 
to go to the area and pacify the people. But, as two years cartier 
in the Punjab, the authorities would not allow such thing. 
Indeed, Maulana Mohamed Ali was on his way to Malabar 
when he was arresled and. after a brief cat and mouse game of 
being released and promptly re-arrested, wl1isked away to Karachi 
Jail to stand trial with others on a charge of sedition. Thus he 
was thwarted in undertaking wbat was to have been a pacifying 
mission among the Moplahs. For although both he and his 
elder brother had been inclined to resort to fiery rhetoric earlier 
that year, just then they were in a chastened frame of mind. 
Gandhi had remonstrated with Ulem after hi!. meeting with 
Reading in May at which the new Viceroy had compl<tined of 
the incendiary tenor of the speeches of Ali Brothers: and the 
Mahatma had not only persuaded them to express regrct, but 
even to furnish "public assurance and promise to aU who may 
require it" that they had no intention of inciting anyone to 
violence. 

This had annoyed Motital Nehru as we know from a long 
letter he wrote to Gandhi at the beginning of June 1921 and 
which Jawaharlal Nehru included among his A Bunch of Old 
Letters. The elder Nehru considered it tantamount to upology 
which )Jeemed to him unworthy of them at a lime when thousand 
of their followers were joyfully courting arrest and going to jail. 
He was even sore with Gandhi and wroll.' to him: ··The Viceroy's 
speech has now made this perfectly clear and we have the indis­
putable fact that the leader of the N.C.O. movemcnt hn<; been 
in treaty with the Government of India and has sccurcd Ihl.' 
suspension of the prosecution of the Ali Brothers by inducin!! 
them to give a public apolog.y nnd an undertaking." 

This was an obvious misreading or Gandhi's-alld Ali 
Brothers·-motives. At all events Motilal Nehru had not long 
to wait for the Ali Brothers'-and his own-prosecution. Gandhi 
certainly saw nothing wrong about their cKpression or regret 
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and repudiation of any intent to incite people to violent acts, 
On the other hand, he did not think Ihat the s.peech at Karachi 
at the Khilafat Conference and the resolution that the conference 
had passcd which were among the incriminating cvideo<:e on 
which their prosecution was based, was iu any sense an invitat.ion 
to violent acts. He himselr was to repeat the substance of that 
speech at Trichinopoly at a public meeting as Dr. Sitaramayya 
tells us, adding that he "felt !>o strongly on the matter as to call 
upon the Nation to repeat the resolution [passed at Karachi} 
-on the subjecL..by a resolution of the Working Committee" 
.of the Congress. 

As for the MopIah turbulence, the authoritie!> undoubtedly 
found it to be a lluisancc rather Iutrd to extirpate. But the British 
bureaucratic establishment would not have been British if, with 
iIleir ingrained pragmatism, they had nOI seen in the Moplah 
insurgency. if not exactly a godsend, at least something that 
could be turned La the advantage of the Raj at a time when it was 
having a spot of bother with Gandhi's Congress and the Khilafat 
movement. Quite apart from the fact that the operations against 
the Moplah rebels offered the army and the security forces 
training and practice in combating guerrilla type of insurgency­
and Wilh live targets and live ammunjtion~which might serve 
them in good stead in other circumstances, there was the divisive 
potential of the Moplah violence. For its victims were mostly 
Hindu moneylenders and land~owners-there were a few casual· 
ties. among the European planters. but these were Ilcgligiblc­
and the atrocity stories could be exploited for propaganda against 
the COJlgrcs~ and, what is more, to drive a wedg,c between the 
Congress :!nd Khilafat movemellls which, th.lnks to G:\udhi's 
whoJe~hcarted support fur the Khilafat cause, had beClt acting 
in unison. 

The Gm'ernmcnt, therefore, did not mind the prolongation 
of the Moplah troubles even if the milit,lrY operatil1ns cost 
!o(Irnething and embarrassed london on the eve of the Prince of 
Wales' visit. h cem.inly did not want Mohamed Ali and Gandhi 
10 poke their noses into Malabar to resture peace as they wanted 
to. The f0rmer had been arrested anu while- Gandhi continued 
to Madras and other places in the South, he was not allowed to 
go anywhere near the troubled districts. He could no doubt 
bave ignored the prohibitory warnings and courted arrest by 
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defying them. But that would not have helped him in p:tcifying 
the Moplah!!. Moreover, he was concentrating on the prim:\rY 
task before him-that of mobilizing support for the non--co­
operation movement which was supposed to bring Swaraj before 
the end of the year and did not wish to be sidetracked from the 
main to a peripheral issue. [t seems strange, indeed. tlut Annie 
Besant, in a fit of peevishness quite unworthy of her great past. 
chose that moment to attack Gandhi in her d::lily New India 
and wrote: "It would he well if Mr. Gandhi could be taken jnln 
Malabar to see with his own eyes the ghastly harmrs which have 
been created by the preaching of himf.clf and his 'loved brothers' 
Muhammad and Shauknt Ali." Th'll is precisely what he wanted 
to do. but the Government, as in the case of the Punjab two 
years earlier, did not allow him. 

Curiously-and signifiC'd.ntly--Gandhi displayed a remarkable 
sang froid over the MopIah rcbellion even though he was under 
some compUlsion from a section of tlte Hindu opinion even 
within the Congress to lose his head over it. He naturally condem­
ned the acts of violence and atrocities by some of the Moplah~ 
and in no uncertain terms. But he kept a sense of proportion 
about them. He did not over-react or get excessively exercised 
over them a<; he had done earlier in the year over the M'llegaon 
incident in which a police sub-inspector and four policemen 
were killed or over the violence that erupted in Bombay at the 
time of the Prince of Wales' arrival in mid-November 1921 which 
led to a fast by him as a kind of atonement. He W3.S to sum up. 
his reaction to the M(lplah rcvolf in his &peech at Trichinopo!y 
on September 19, The speech was in English. but it was translated 
into Ta.mil "sentence by'Scntenee" by Dr. T.S.S. Rajan. Towards 
the end of it he said: 

J know that what has happened in Ma.labar h:J.s been preying 
upon all of us. who have understood anything about tlle 
situation there. My heart bleeds to think that our Moplah 
brethren have gone mad. J am grieved to find that they have 
killed officers. I am grieved to think that they have looted 
Hindu houses leaving many hundreds of men and women 
homeless and foodless. I am grieved to think that they have 
endeavoured forcibly to convcrt Hindus to Islam and by all 
tJlesc acts they have done an injury. " but all the salOl! let us 
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have a due sense of proportion. Their acts arc not the acts of 
an the Muslims of India everl, nor, thank God, of all tlte 
Moplahs .... 

He did not play it cool because, as Francis Watson suggests 
in his The Trial of Mr. Gandhi, he WtL'i anxious ··to maintain some 
influence and control over his Khihtfat allies." He called "the 
Moplahs brave but misguided men" becau5c he believed it to be 
true and. what is more, had some understanding oftbe c.:)nditions 
of harsh exploitation under which they had lived and which had 
goaded them into a hopeless revolt which could n<,t possihly 
succeed. He certainly held the Government respoll,>iblc fM it 
even at the cost of courting disfavour of some of his friends in 
the Servants of India Society to which he referred in a piece 
headed "Moplah Tru£edy" in Young India of December 8, 
1921-

Despite the Moplah tragedy and sporadic outhursts ofviolencc 
which were a gnawing concern and which the opponents of the 
non·cooperation programme were highlighting a..;. evidence 
against the Congress movement, at the approaches to the Thirty. 
si~th scs~ion. Gandhi seemed to be in a fairly optimistic. if not 
euphorious. frame of mind. The non·cooperation movement had 
not only malU'tgcd to take off the ground, but. was gathering a 
degree of momentum. The people had cast off their fear anu were 
cheerfully prepared to go to jail if not in hundreds of thousands. 
at least in thousand~, including a very substantial number of 
women. If proof were needed of its relative success, it was pro· 
vided by the authorities themselves. They paid H the highest 
compliment by arresting some of the tallest Congress leaders. 
including the Ali Brothers, the two Nehrus. Lajpat Rai and then, 
on the very eve of the Ahmedabad session, the President-elect­
CR. Das. 

Gandhi was cheered up by these developments. However. 
what perhaps buoyed him up the most W:lS the positive re~ponse 
of the people to certain items of social reform in the Congress 
programme--especiaJly the eradication of untouchability. This 
can be judgeu fwm a speech he made at Bardall-a taluka 
which was SOOll to earn a high place in the ron af honour of the 
non·cooperation saga-on December 3 ami to which he referred 
in NUl"Ojil'ufI a week later. In his speech he paid a high tribute 
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to the people of the area above all for baving "gone such a long 
way in removing the bar of unwuchabi lity from their minds ...... 

Meanwhile, notwithstanding its preoccupation with the day 
to day exigencies of the non~cooperation movement. the Con­
gress in Ahmedabad had gone on in a very business·like fashion 
with the preparations for hosling the annu.t[ session. It was the 
second time that it had been chosen as the venue for the Congress 
session. But the last time Ahmedabad had the honour was nine­
teen years ago-in 1902. Much water had flowed down the 
Ganga and the Yamuna, the Cauvery and the Krishna since 
thcn. Many of the old stalwarts were no longer alive. Ochers 
had been unable to keep pace with it and some had deliberately 
taken their distance from if, including the m:J.n who had pre"ided 
over its deliberations-Surendranath Bancrjea-J.lld delighted 
the small number of delegates which attended it (471 to be exact) 
with his oratory of which H.W, Nevinson was to write: "It was 
oratory such as,l suppose, Cicero loved to practise, and Pitt and 
Brougham-such oratory as few living Englishmen dare venture,. 
out of fear of drowning in the gulfs of bathos. But Surendranath 
loved it, as Cicero might. To him it was evidently the sincerest 
pleasure of life to listen to the beat of marching phrases ...... 

Surendranath was. still indulging in the pleasure of listening 
to the beat of marching phrases, not least his own, but from the 
other side of a widening political divide. He had broken with the 
mainstream Congress and was now haWing a ministerial port~ 
folio in the Bengal Government, but it was a portfolio stuffed 
wilh odds and ends if not straw, and within two years he was­
even 10 lose that with his electoral debacle-a rather unheroic 
culmination 10 a political career that at one time held heroic 
promise. As for the Congress. it had moved on. It had, in fact, 
undergone a metamorphosis and almost been reincarnated. 
Nobody could taunt it any longer witll just being il superior 
debating society, For it was fa.'>l becoming an effective vl!hicle O()t 

merely for challenging the might ora powerful empire, but social 
transformation of lndkt. This had happened under the lC:ldership. 
of a man-Gandhi-who in 1902 was still conducting his pilot 
project of non-violent struggle in SO'Jthcrn Africa, and though. 
a name to conjure wi[h and admire in Congress circle'), was 
largely an outsider far away from the levers of deci~ion. But at 
Nagpur he bad virtually moved on to the bridge. 
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That Ahmedabad had been clwsen as venue for its annuru 
session was itself significant. For soon after his return from South 
Africa he had decided to site his Ashram on the outskirts of the 
city on Ihe banks orthe Sabarmati, not as a retreat from the world 
where he could contemplate his own navel, but to make it a 
workshop, almost a kind of GHQ, where the strategy and tactics 
of his novel form of revolution could b ... planned. The Gujarat 
Congress, despite its preoccupation with the non-coopcr.llion 
movement and ils part in it, was therefore determined that 
the session should be a memorable one. It had decided to set up 
the Reception Committee at the end of March 1921 and its 
office-bearers were picked early in May, though the linal choice 
wa.'1 not made till middle of August The Chairman of the Recep­
tion Commiuce was to be a man who had already proved his 
extraordinary talent for political organisation and who was ten 
years Jaler to preside over the Karachi Session and make an 
historic contribution to the consolidation of [ndian polity during 
the barely forty months that were left to him after the attainment 
of independence. 

The practice of holding annual sessions of the Congress in 
structures of brick and mortar like conference halls and auditoria 
had been given up years ago. So. too, the habit of arranging 
accommodation for the delegates in hostelries of various grades 
and private houses. Instead, the sessions were held in the open 
under an appropriately large marquee, Of Palldal. and the dele­
gates were for the most part accommodated under canvas. 
Indeed, as the gatherings grew Ia.rger and huger, it was found 
convenient to erect a whole templ,rary township of tents for the 
occasion in some open public ground for the Congress to conduct 
its business and for the delegates to live and move and have 
their politicai being in it for the duration. The tradition was 
mailHained at Ahmedtl.bad-but with some signiftcant innova­
tions. 

An area of roughly hundred acres on the right bank of the 
Sabarmati about two. hundred yards from the Ellis Bridge that 
connects it with the city of Ahmedabad on the left bank was 
chosen as the site of the Congrcss Pam/ai, the delegates' camp 
and other structures, and an elaborate system of sanitation. 
watcr supply, conservancy services and communications was 
set up. The Congress Pandal, we learn from official report of the 
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Congress. was erected in a spacious enclosure covering about 
15 acres. The Pandal, covering about 8,000 sq.yds. was. reached 
through an outer gate named "Lokrnanya Darwaja" which 
itself was "a facsimile of the famou;; historical Three Gates of 
Ahmedabad" over which flew the national tricolour flag. The 
entrance to the Pandal which could nccQmmodate 15,000 persons 
was about eighty-five yards away through "a beautifully laid 
out garden with an oval-shaped fountain in the middle." It 
was called the SlI'araj Dvar-or the Swaraj Gale. The Delegates' 
Camp was. siled four hundred yards away from the Pandai and 
covered an area of sixty acres. It was called the Khadi Nagar--or 
Khadi Town-and right in the middle was a special block where 
Gandhi was to take up his residence well before the inaugura­
tion dale'-oll December 22, 1921, as we know from his letter 
to Mathuradas Trikumdas. "a social worker and author" who 
had been a co-worker of Gandhi and wa!> to be the Secretary of 
the Bomba.y Congress Committee in 1922-23. 

The Delegates' Camp had been named Khadi Naga.r, or 
Khudi Town.And for good rea.son. It was not only that acharkha. 
or spinning-wheel, had been placed under the Tricolour which 
Hew over the Lokamanya Gate, but everything inside the Panda/ 
as well as the Delegates' Camp wa .. covered with true khaddar 
so dear to the Mahatma's heart becau~e for him it represented 
Ihe cure to India's economic ills. What is more. the Reception 
Committee had taken great pains to mount an ambitious exhibi­
tion in a llearby bungalow, complete with a demonstra.tion 
section, a museum section, a competition section and a. sales 
section devoted largely to the encouragement of khaddar manu­
facture which was intended to be the piec/J de resistwU't'. as it 
were, of the many sideshows which usually accompanied the 
Congress session. It opened on Xmas eve and went on till January 
2. 1922. 

Indeed, any unwary vi"itor to the Swara! Dvar. the Delegates' 
Camp and the Exhibition might have been forgiven if he or 
she formed the impression that the Whole show was a high 
pre.'i~ure khaddar promotion exercise rather than the annual 
deliberations of India's national Iibl!ration movement at a most 
crilical juncture when it was already engaged in a major battle 
with the British power even if it was being fought by non~vjolent 

meuo£. The bewilderment of the hypothetical visitor would have 
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been further compounded by the thought that the khadi promo~ 
(ion campaign was being launched from a cily renowned as one 
of the main centres of the Indian textjle industry many of whose 
inhabitants owed their prosperity and Ihelihood to machine 
made texlile~. 

Another innovation al Ahmedabad wus less paradoxical 
and more underst:l!1dable. 1t concerned the seating arrangement 
for the 4,728 delegates who attended the session. No chairs were 
provided in the Ponda/ as had been customary since the advent 
of the Congo!ss. This was an economy measure. Hiring of 
thousands of chairs was a costly item added to which was the 
charge for breakages which ran into thousands of rupees at a time 
when the rupee wa~ still worth something. There was, perhaps, 
another advantage in dispensing with chairs and the delegates 
baving to squat on the fioor, Indian fashion although the 
Ihough! probably never cros_~ed the mind of the organisers. It 
obviated the riitk of chairs coming in handy in the heat of con~ 
troversy and argument as an effective critique of weapon as had 
happe-ned at the abortive SessiOil at Surat. it was an innovation 
t hut came to st:w. 

Within hailing dist,\l1ce of the Congre<;s Pandal and Khadi 
Nagar. another temporary canvas township had sprung up 
simultaneously. It was on a more mouest scale and was call.::d 
Muslim Nagllf where the Mu:<:lim League and the Khilafat 
Conference were to hold their deliberations. The siuing of the 
IW!) camps and Pandal.,' so clolie to each other was intended to 
make it easy for delegatc,> and visilors to move from one gather­
ing to another since a number of them were particip;.uing in both. 
For it wa<; still the high noon of fraternisation and polilical unity 
between the two main communities of India. Strangely, for once, 
the G\lVernmen( unwittingly ensured not only that the unity 
should continue and be strengthened, but that it should be seen 
to continuc. By arrc:;ting the President-elect, C.R. Das. on tbe 
ev,: of the session, it had given the Congress an opportunity 
to fill the presidential chair with a distinguished Muslim-Hakim 
Ajmal Khan, a renowned physician who practised the Unani 
(Greek) system of medicine in Delhi. He had already been the 
Chairman of the Reception Committee at the first session of the 
Congress to be held in Delhi~in 1918-within six weeks of the 
ending; of the First World War. 



ISD1AN NAnONAL CONGRfS<; 

The session began at 3.30 P.M. on Tuesday. December 27; 
and it was denr from the start that it was not going to be a wordy 
session, partly because it had barely a day and a half in which to 
get through ii's business and partly because many of those who 
might have provided the rhetorical afflatus were locked up 
behind prison bars. The Chairman of the Reception Committee. 
Sardar (though this title became associated with him later) 
Vallabhbhai Patel. a man of action rarher than words. himself 
set the fashion in brevity in his address of welcome delivered 
ill Hindi. It was the shortest speech from the Chairman of the 
Reception Committee ever heard at a Congress session before­
hardly a thousand words in length. He wanted the delegates to 
judge their hosts not by the inadequacy of the arrangements for 
their comforts and entertainment which the Reception Committee 
had been able to make. but rather by Gujarat's "'response to the 
Creative Programme of non--cooperation with its life.giving and 
central fact of non·violence': 

He made no tall claims of what the Congress in Gujarat 
had been able to accomplish. He admitted that as far as "the 
renunciation of titles and practice by lawyers" was concerned. 
they could "show nothing of which we can feel proud." He 
was even humble enough to acknowledge that they had "not 
passed through the fire of suffering that Bengal, Punjab, United 
Provinces and the other provinces are passing through." But 
their record, he said, on educat.ion was creditable. Not only had 
"some of the best schools and high schools" had "given up their 
connection with the Government and are none the worse for it," 
but they had "a National College and a National University" to 
which institutions were affliated, the number of boys and girls 
Hin the affiliated and other national schools" receiving: instruction 
being 31,000. EqllaHy, whereas two years earlier "there was 
hardly a spinning-wheel" working in Gujaral, in the period 
under review something like "1,10,000 spinning-wheels" had 
come into operation and they had produced "no less than two 
lacs of pounds" of khnddar and spent five lacs "in organising 
Swadf!,~lIi rpresumably he meant the Exhibition and other 
activities in connection with the rromotion of khadi)." 

On two other counts. he suggested Gujarat had lived up to 
what Wtts expected of it. Hindu.Muslim unity, for example. 
"Whereas hitherto," he said, "we have di .. trusted and considered 
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ourselves as natural enemies, we have begun to love each other 
anulivc-in p.:ri"ect friendliness." He proudly infonucd the delegale~ 
that the relations between the two communities and with other 
communities. like the Parsis, tho Christians and 01h.:rs, had been 
not mcrely negatively fricndly but positively so in that they had 
been aU "actively working together for the advancement of the 
national c.lUse," which may sound incredible in the light of 
prcsent~Jay conditions in Guj:lrat but was true althe time. 

H¢ was also proud of Gujarat's achievement in another vital 
field or the Congress progmmme. Non-violence-not originating 
in "helplessness" but as a "self-impo:;ed restraint"-had been 
observed both in the letter and the spirit. They had even main­
tained friendly relations with those "who have differed from 
us," recognising that "toleration is the essence of non-violence!' 
They were making "elaborate preparations ... for mass Civil 
Disobedience" at least in two tahsils or sub~districts-BardoIi 
and Anand. But he also assured the delegates that they would 
"do nothing reckless, nothing thaL.as peaceful and peace­
JOYing human beings" they may not do "for the preservation 
of the national self-respect or safeguarding of national rights." 

Having reported soberly on the state of tbe movement and 
its prospects in Gujarat. Valiabhbhai Patel lost no time in 
asking the Acting Pre:;ident to take the chair. He described 
Hakim Ajmal Khan as "one of the greatest and noblest of our 
countrymen" and "an embodiment of Hindu-Muslim unity" 
who "commands the confidence and the affection of Hindus 
and others equally with our Musalman brothers." Coming from 
him this was, indeed, high praise and wholly well-merited. It 
was certainly in part due to the ambient climate of sentimental 
frolternisatioll in the country at the time that even an overtly 
sectarian body like the Hindu Mahasabha at its conterencc in 
Delhi. as Dr. Pattabhi Silaramayya tells us, had elected the 
Hakim as President. But it was also because of the reputation he 
enjoyed as a man of grelll catholicity of the mind and spirit. 

His presidential address reflected it. It was one of the shortest 
speeches from the chair-perhaps the shortest-ever to be heard 
from a Congress President before or .after. Il ran to under 
fifteen hundred words and was delivered in Urdu and read 
out also in its English rendering by Shuaib QureShi. A man 
of genuine modesty, he was aware that he was only "the locum 
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tenens of the Deshbandhu," as. Dr. Sitaramayya puts it. But 
while admitting that and thanking the Congress. for the trust 
it had reposed in him. he assured the delegates that he would 
not be found wanting, when the time comes, "to make, for my 
country and my God, the S<lcrifice that it has been lhe good 
fortune of many of our noble brethren to make:' 

He gave another reason why he was not going to give a long 
speech. Apart from the fact that the time at his disposal was 
short, he said, he felt that "the time for long speeches is gone. 
We all are called upon to solve the most serious problem in the 
hi'ilOry of our country and the present is thetilllc for decision and 
action." But the brevity ot' his speech did not mean that it was 
tll:n in content. On the contrary, while he refrained from offering 
"a detailed survey of the progress of the non-cooperation 
movement" in the twelve months sincl': the Nagpur session, 
he brought out <Ill a~pect of the impact of the movement which 
few Congress leaders had noted, or even if they had noticed it, 
had cared to stress. This was the impact which Gandhi's non­
cooperation movement was having on international opinion. 
and e~pecially on other subject or semi-subject nations. He, of 
course, claimed thal "the spirit of the Non-eo-operation pervades 
throughout the country", but went on to add: 

It has. received the highest tribute that a nation could pay to 
another from our s.ister nalions across the Indian Ocean. 
Our Egyptian brethren have adopted it to fight their own 
political battle. It should be a matter of pride to all of us that 
India is showing the way to other sister countries, Non­
violent non-cooperation has ceased to bean Indian movement. 
It is fast becoming an Asiatic movement and the day is not 
distant when the conscience of the world will adopt non­
violent non-cooperation as the world-weapon against univer­
sal injustice and untruth.... Not only the conscience of 
Asia and Africa is awake and active but there are signs, 
feeble no doubt, yet full of hope and promise, that the coo­
science of Europe too is at last rousing itself from its long 
slumber. 

This was, perhaps, seeing things through rose-tinted glasses, 
but the Hakim was right in assessing tbe anti-imperialist potential 
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of the [ndian upsurge and the eventual repercussions which 
the Indian struggle was to have on other countries of Asia and 
Africa trying to overthrow the yoke of colonial bondage. Allow~ 
ing for some rhetorical exaggeration. he was also not far wrong 
in his assessment of the growing momentum of the non~co~ 
operation movement; 

Who can deny the success of the spirit of the non.co-operation 
movement in India after witnessing the cheerful spirit with 
which our workers have made and are making willing sacri­
fices for the cause oftbelr country and are going to jail in ever 
increasing numbers with a smile on their lips? What is still 
morc is that not even this intense repression has provoked 
violence .... A ceaseless pilgrimage to the jail is kept up in 
vindication of the primary rights of citizenship in all the 
northern parts of India as also in Maharashtra and Andhra. 
The nation to·day realizes the grimne!Ss and gravity of the 
great struggle it is engaged in and is behaving with the cool 
determination worthy of heroes fighting for a noble cause. 

That this was in essence a true picture of the state of the 
non·cooperation movement at the end of 1921 is acknowledged 
even by the ranks of Tuscany. Thus Dr. Judith Brown in the 
penultimate chapter in her Gandhi'S Ri.~e to Power remarks 
that "his vision (non·cooperation as a way of involving the 
whole spectrum of Indian society in a political movement) was 
achieved on a scale far beyond that of the Rowlatt satyagraha.·· 
but adds, characteristically, "because for the first time he made 
contact with groups of subcontractors who found in the techui· 
ques he offered ways of defending or promoting their local 
interests." It is well to remember that she is referring to the 
Nehrus, to C.R. Das, to Rajagopalaehari, to Lajpat Rai £1 hoc 
genu.; omne. But whatever the undertones of condescension if not 
contempt implicit in the term "subcontractors", the admission 
of the success of the non-cooperation remains significant. 

Hakim Ajmal Khan's claims regarding "the success of the 
spirit of the non·cooperation movement" carried conviction with 
the delegates at Ahmedabad because he did not tum a blind eye to 
its Shortfalls. "Our critics say," he observed, "that the noo·co· 
operation movement bas failed and in support of that statement 
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point to the Government educational institution~. the ranks of 
the title-holders. the members of the new Legislative Council~ 
and the Bars of the various High Courts." He referred his audi­
ence to what the Vice-Chancellor of the Calcutta University had 
said about tbe effect of non-cooperation movement on Govern­
ment-run educational institutions. As to the title-holders and the 
members of the Legislative Councils, he said: 

Where is their prestige to-day? It has. fallen lower than 
Czarist fuble[sie] .•.. As to the lawyers, it is true that with 
some nohle exceptions they have not as a class, rCl>ponded to 
our appeal as they ought to have done. But as we develop 
our Panchayat system, a work to which we have not been able 
to devote much of our time and energy, the legal practitioners 
would soon fall in with public opinion. 

This was obviously being oversanguine. But right at the 
end of his speech he dealt with an issue which he was aware was 
causing a great deal of unense-and among some Hindu Con­
gress leaders from Maharashtra and the Hindi belt the unease 
bordered on bitter resentment-namely, stories of the atrocities 
perpetrated by the Moplahs upon the Hindus in Malabar. His 
view of "the tragic events .. .in Malabar" was almost identical 
with that of Gandhi. Like Gandhi, he saw the question in its 
two aspects: "one with reference to the Government in the 
country and the other with reference to the treatment by the 
Moplahs of their Hindu brethren." As for the first aspect, like 
Gandhi, he placed "the responsibility of provoking these dis· 
turbances ... entirely on the shoulders of the Government." 
As for the second aspect, again almost paraphrasing Gandhi. 
he fully sympathi~ed with the Hindus who had suffered but 
maintained that "these deplorable incidents" were "the acts of a 
few misguided individuals" and there would be "no Muslim 
worthy of the name" who would not condemn tllem as "entirely 
un·lslamic in the strongest possible terms." As forthc "lcrrible 
convulsions" tbe country was experiencing, he saw in them 
"the birth~pangs of young India," 

The delegates to the Thirty~sixth session of the Congress. 
meanwhile. experienced something which nobody connected with 
the Indian National Congress had experienced before-or since. 
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They were treated lo two presidential addresses; one from the 
Acting President and the other by proxy written by the President­
elect, C.R. Das. who since December 10. \921, had been lodged 
in onc of India's most famous, one might almost say live-star. 
prisol1s~A!ipore Jail at Calcutta. C.R. Das had evidently sent 
it to Gandhi "in fragmentary condition with instructions to 
revise it and put it in shape" as Gandhi told readers of Young 
Illdia of January 12, 1922, in a prefatory note to the text which 
he published virtually unaltered but for "restoring one sentence 
which had been ruled out and adding one to complete a thought 
and ... tight verbal immaterial alterations .... " 

Predictably, C.R. Dns' address was much longer-more than 
thrice the wordage of the Acting President's address. It was also 
much more argumentative, at times arguing the obvious. It posed 
a series of rhetorical question a1\, for instance, When it asked the 
question: What is our aim? Where are we going'? It posed 
an even more fundamental if largely supererogatory question: 
What then is freedom? He did not pause to answer, or rather 
said that it was impossible to define the term, and then went 
on immediately to define it "as that state, that condition, which 
makes it possible for a nation to realise its own individuality 
and to evolve its own destiny:' Whether the delegates at Ahmcda~ 
bad were any the wiser for listening to c.R. Das in abse1llia, they 
had the rare treat of listening to Sarojini Naidu who. Dr. Sita­
ramaryya records. read out the speecil "with. all the eloquence 
which the speech itseif possessed. in language and sentiment:' 
But the address, in retrospect, is interesting more as an historical 
oddity rather than for its intrinsic intellectual merit or any 
political perspicacity or ins.ight that it communicated. Ina way 
the Government by arresting C.R, Das a fortnight before the 
session when he had probably already drafted his speech, had made 
sure that events should bypass what he was going to say. But 
he was to catch up with them a year later, when on his rdease, 
he was again elected President and delivered a more weighty. 
certainly more memorable and even moving address at the 
Thirty·seventh ~ession of the Congress held at Gaya-a place 
even richer in historical associations than Ahmedabad. 

An incident during the Ahmedabnd session must have raised 
some eyebrows. Certainly. it provided Palme Dutt in his india 
Today yet one more proof of Gandhi's bourgeois doven hoof 
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behind the cloak of saintliness. "Gandhi," he wrote, "introduced 
an English clergyman at the opening of the proceedings to deliver 
a religious message to the Congress, who took the opportunity 
to deliver a homily against the bumingofforeign doth." Nobody 
reading this wouldsuspcrt that Dutt was referring to the appearance 
of C.F. Andrews, a 1ire~long friend and comrade of Tagore 
and Gandhi-and the Indian people. He was no stranger to 
the Congress platform. However, hitherto he had appeared in 
Indian dress made of khaddar. At Ahmedabad he came dressed 
in EUfopen clothes. As we know, he disagreed with Gandhi on 
the question of burning of foreign doth and. when Gandhi 
asked him to attcnd the Ahmedabad session "to give a religious 
message," he had agreed but on condition that he wanted to 
make his dissent to this aspect of non-cooperation very clear. 
Any fair-minded person would have interpreted Gandhi's 
insistence on Andrew~ appearance, despite his disagreement 
with him. as evidence of his and Congress' tolerance of dissent. 
For as Dr. Sitaramayya tells us, Andrews was "received with 
the utmost re.spect and affection by the audience." Among other 
things, Andrews told them that the Mahatma had asked him to 
leave that very night by train for Malabar on a peace mission 
among the Moplahs----a subject on which there was a resolution 
on the agenda. 

For the rest, Gandhi wanted it to be a bUl>iness-like session 
and business-like it turned out to be. The time at their disposal 
was short, but the resolutions listed for debate were also fewer­
thirteen in all. or these the last three concerned organisational 
matters like changes in the Congress constitution, the most 
important among which was the lowering of the quaUfying age 
for membership from twenty·one to eighteen: the appointment, 
or rather rc.:1.ppointment, of Motilal Nehru. Dr. Ansari, and C. 
Rajagopalachari as General Secretaries. and since two of them 
were jn jail. appointment of V.J_ Patel and Dr. Rajan to act for 
them: the reappointment of Iamnalal Bajaj and Seth Chhotani 
as Treasurers. Ironically enough. at a time when the Congress 
was wholc·hearted1y committed to the Khilafat cause, it passed 
a resolution-number eight on the agenda-congratuiating 
Ghazi Mustafa Kamal Pasha, the rising star on the Anatolian 
horizon and, of course, the Turks, 011 their "successes" and 
assuring them "of India's sympathy and support" in their-
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struggle for preserving their nationhood and indcpendence. 
The irony was that the Ataturk's success was to spell the complete 
and final extinction of the whole concept of Caliphate and the 
emergence of Turkey as a nation-state with a secular framework 
of polity which, however, dented by subsequent periods of retro­
gression and reaction, has remained essentially intact to this 
day. 

There were two other congratulatory resolutions. Resolution 
number five congratulated "all those patriots" who were "under­
going imprisonmcnt ft)r thc sake of their conscience or country" 
which had "hastened the advent of Swara,i:' The tenth resolu­
tion congratulated not only Baba Gurdit Singh of the /(omagara 
MartI fame who had managed to evade arrest for seven years 
ancr landing in Calcutta and had recently voluntarily surrendrcd 
to the authorities "as a sacrifice for the nation," but also "the 
other Sikh leaders who have preferred imprisonment to the 
restriction of their religious rights and liberty"-and, in fact, 
to the Sikh community as a whole-"on their non-violent spirit 
at the time of the Babaji's arrest and on other occasions in spite 
of great provocation by the police and the military," This was 
obviou:l.ly a reference to the Akali movement for wresting the 
control of Sikh shrines from the corrupt mahanls and bringing 
them under democratIc control of the Sikh community as a whole 
which had already begun and in which the AkaHs were to display 
remarkable self-control and non-violence against the combmed 
forces of the mahants and the Raj as C.F. Andrews was later to 
testify. 

There were also two condemnatory resolutions. In the ninth 
resolution the Congress deplored "the occurrences that took 
place in Bombay on the 17th November last" when the demonstra~ 
tions in Bombay against the Prince of Wales' visit had 
degeneratctl in some inshmces into acts of violence and arson 
against those who were considered to have collaborated with the 
authorities in welcoming the Prince, nOL.1.bly a section of the 
Parsi community_ The resolution assured "aU parties and com­
munities that it has been and is the desirl,l and detennination of 
the Congress to guard their rights to the fullest extent:' 

In the seventh resolution the Congress deplored "the acts 
done by Cllrtain Moplah'" by way of forcible conversions and 
destruction of life and property," BUl this condemnation was 
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framed in a comprehensive resolution which began by r.pudia­
ling the rropagandist stories {hat Moplah disturbances were 
"due to the Non-coopcration or the Khilafat movement:' It 
pointed out that "Non-cooperators and the Khilafat preachers 
were denied opportunity of carrying on elfective propaganda of 
non-violence in the affected parts by the district authorities for 
six months before the disturbance" which therefore must be 
"due to causes wholly unconnected with the two movements." 
Indeed, it claimed that the outbreak "would not have occurred had 
the message of non-violence been allowed to reach them." And 
it conduded by maintailling that the prolongation of the trouble 
could have been prevented if the Government h.ld accepted th.e 
services of Maul ana Yakuh Hassan-a noted non-coopcrator-or 
allowed Gandhi to go 10 Malabar. It described the treatment of 
the Moplah prisoners as evidenced by the "asphyxiation" trageJy 
as "an act of inhumanity unheard of in modern times and un­
worthy af a Government that caUs itself civilised." 

The sixth resolution was an appeal to those who were not 
wholly with the non-cooperation movement and even those who 
did not believe in the principle of non-coapemtian. but regarded 
it as necessary "far the sake of national ~e\f-respect to demand 
and insist upon the redress of the Khi!afat and the Pun.jab wrongs, 
and for Lhe liake of full national self-expression, to insist upon 
the immediate establishment of Swaraj." They were asked to 
promote unity between the various rdigious communities, to 
support the khadi programme as a cottage industry and as an 
economic measure to improve the livelihood of the agriculturists 
"living on the brink of starvation," and if they were Hindus, 
to help in the removal of untouchability-in other words, help 
in the implementation of the non-political aspects -of the pro· 
gramme even if they objected to the directly political items. 

However, the focus of interest at Ahm~dabad was on the tirst 
resolution on the agcnda~and the fourth. The second and third 
resolutions were either corollaries oj" the /irst resolutioll or 
consequential upon it. Little wonder then that Dr. Pattabhi 
5itaramayya treats them as part of the first resolution, or the 
main resolution as he ,·ails it, and adds: "The main resolution 
was really a thesis on Non-coorcration, its phHo~ophy and 
programme alike, so much so that Gandhi pointed out in 
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moving it that it had taken him 35 minutes minutely to read it 
in English and Hindustaru. _ .. " 

As usual a.ll the resululiuns were debated twice-first in the 
Subjects Committee and then in the plenary session of the Con· 
gress, The Subjects Comminee was only the Alt-fndia Cungress 
Committee functioning under another name to prepa.re and sift 
tbe agenda [0 be discussed by the Congrc:is. It met on December 
24th. 25th. 27th and again, until 11 a.m. on the 28th, There 
were also two meetings of the Congress Working Committee 
before the inaugural session of the Congress. onc 011 December 
23rd and another on the 26th. According to the Encyclopaedia of 
tile Indian NaTional Congress edited by A.M. and S.O. Zaidi, 
at its meeting on December 23rd. the Working Committee 
"discussed and finally seHled the res.olutions that were to be 
placed on its behalf before the meeting of the Subjects Committee 
Qn the 24th December." Ms. Judith Brown, basing herself on 
the diary of M.R. Jayakar and the. 80 mbay Police Abstract, 
1922, speaks of "Kelkar's bitter attack in the Working C011l4 

mittee ... again:iil the proposal to invest Gandhi with virtually 
dictatorial powers." How bitter was the attack which N.C. Kelkar 
mounted against the fourth resolution Oil the agenda cannot be 
said for certain. M.R. Jayakar was not a member of the Working 
Committee at the relevant time and was not present at its meeting 
on December 23rd; and police informers, especially in India and 
even in British times, tended to exaggerate to earn their keep. 
The only referellce to Kelkar in the Entyc/opoedia of the Imlion 
National Congress (Volume 8 :1921·24) is that he ofTered to settle 
a minor financiuJ dispute between the Bombay Provincial Con­
gress Committee and the Maharash tra Provincial Committee. 

It is, however, true tint a section of thc Mahara'>hlrian 
leadership. Ketkar am)ng the:n. wa~ never quite on the same 
wavelength as O.l.!ldhi th.}ugh O.tn'lili W:lS to go out of his way 
to woo them at [he Subjc:.:ts C)m'nineec meeting on December 
25 when he was reported by the IIindu (Dec. 26) to h:.\.ve said: 
~I am pcrrcclly sure that whcr\ the time comes for s:tcrifice. 
Maharashlru will not be behind .Bengal, or rather it is- likely 
to come a.t the top." This and other compliments he paid to "the 
admirable spirit" of "toleratitm" of the Mahara"htraparlywere 
not meant to be fi:l.ttery, bu t were intended to create tbe maximunl 
Poss.ible unity within and outside the Congress at a lime when 
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the Congress was about to engage in a. decisive phase or the non· 
cooperation movement which he still belleveu might clinch the.­
issue, At all events, even Judith Brown admits. that "Gandhi did 
not need to fear the Mahara.<!htrians in Congress even if they 
united with men from Bengal a.nd Madras. This was the first 
Congress held under the new constitution, and consequently vot· 
ing power was spread throughout the subcontinent, giving weight 
to areas like Bihar, V.P .• Andhra and the Punjab, which were 
unlikely to dr<LJ~ their heels!' 

A significant challenge did develop to Gandhi's policy and 
strategy and tactics as approved at Nagpur. but it did not come 
from those whom Judifh Brown calls "Tilak's heirs" and 
some of whom were gradually to drift away from the Con· 
gress into the twilight zone of acrid sectarian politics. The chal­
lenge eame from Maulana Hasrat Mohani, for the most part 
of his life a Nationalist Muslim poet, politician and journalist 
who had founded Urdll~e-M()alfa in 1903, and had sided with the· 
"extremists" at Sumt but was to part company with the Congress 
in the late 19205 over the Nehru Report. Jt came on a matter of 
principle rather than tactics when the A.I.C.C. met as the Subjects· 
Committee on the Christmas Day for the whole day to discuss 
the main resolution-that is, the first four resolutions whlen 
Gandhi presented as a composite resolution. 

According to the Hindu, the President. Hakim Ajmal Khan 
"was flooded with amendments from all sides," but it was Hasnl.t 
Mohan!, the President.etecl of the All-India Mulsim League. 
who "persistently led the opposition demanding the deletion 
of those phrases in the resolution which excluded the possibility 
of resort to violence, or even the thought of it, so long as tbe 
pledge was in forcc ... on the ground that his religion allowed 
him to take to violence in case non.violence failed. The debate 
revealed differences of opinion on this point among Mahommedan 
memben; themselves. Some expressed the opinion that the adop~ 
tion of Maulana HasraCs amendments would be a change in the 
Congress creed itself. ..... 

This vicw was shared not only by Gandhi but the President 
of the Congress. For when the Subjects Committee met on­
December 27th in the morning for four hours. at the very outset. 
Hakim Ajmal Khan, according to the Hindu, "announced that 
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he had received notices of amendments to Mr. Gandhi's resolu­
tion, which in their real meaning came into conllier with the 
C{lUgress Creed itself. He, thercfvfe. ruled them out of order. 
but suggested that if the movers so desired they couid bring 
them forward as substantive propositions. As the position looked 
somewhat confused, Mr. Gandhi made a short speech in course 
of which he analysed the contendmg issues and plac~d them 
clearly before the House .... The speech over, Mr. Gandhi's 
resolution was put to vote and carried amidst acclamation, only 
10 voting against." 

But it was not the end of the affair. Hasrat Mohani did not 
give up. He duly moved his first amendment to the Creed, 
"proposing the attainment of swaraj by all possible :lnd proper 
means in place of peaceful and legitimate means," But the Maulana 
could find few buyers for the change he wanted and withdrew 
his amendment. He then brought forward another amendment. 
declaring swaraj outside the British Empire as. the goal of the 
Congress and India. This was a more serious proposition. II 
was an idea which was. beginning to take roots in many Indian 
minds. induding perhaps that of Gandhi himself. For, as the 
Hindu reponed the next day, in a sharI speech he said that "he 
wanted to make it clear that today his hope of getting redre~s 
of Punjab and KhiJafat through the Bdtish Governmenl was 
ever so much greater than It was at any time 15 months ago" 
which seemed rather incredible, but added something which was 
partly credible-that "within the Congress Creed there was still 
a chance for two panics who wanted swaraj within or without 
the British Empire, but there could be no room for those who 
wanted to resort to violence, becaul;e the moment anyone joined' 
the Congress, he must sign a pledge of non-violence in terms of the 
Creed," The Hilldu report continued: "Mr. Gandhi emphasized 
that the attainment of swarnj would by itself break imperialism. 
India even then w(luld be certainly free." 

This wa.<; true and has been proved to be true. His opposition 
to declaring swaraj outside the British Empire, or complete' 
independence, as the objective was clearly qualified and dictated 
by the need he fell of carrying the Moderates with him. The Hindll 
reported: "Concluding, he warned all ag.ainst estrlLnging from 
them tbe Moderates and others who were sympathizing with 
them. by taking steps which make the present ea.sy task one of 
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great difficulty." This was a fond hope as the Mahatma 
was $oon to discover. Hasrat Mohani's motion was defeated 
by 200 votes to 52 (altogether 269 persons were listed as A.l.e.c. 
members. but Ilot ali were present at Ahmedabad and a few must 
have abstained). Complete independence was an idea whose 
time had not yet come, though it was to come soon enough and 
the Maulana must be given the credit for projecting the future 
shape of things. 

The next day the Subjects Committee met again at eight in 
the morning before the plenary session, Hakim Ajmal Khan was 
unable to come to preside over the Commiuee's deliberations 
and in bis absence Gandhi was voted to the chair. There were 
apparently two propositions before the Committee as Gandhi, 
according to a report in the Leader of Allahabad two days tater~ 
informed the members: 

The Madras members including Messrs Vijayaraghavachariar, 
Kasturi Ranga Iyengar and Satyamurti had been pressing 
upon him the desirability of the passing of a resolution in reply 
to the Viceroy's Calculta speech, emphaticaUy pronouncing 
on the part of the Congress that the destinies. of India were 
not in the hands of the British Parliament but in the hands 
of the Congress and thal the British Parliament could merely 
ratify the wishes of the people of India. On the other hand. 
he said Pandit Malaviya and Mr. Jinnah [Jinnah was not on 
the Committee and had. in fact. virtually dissociated himself 
from the Congress, bul must have come Lo Ahmedabad to 
attend the session of the AII·india Muslim League] were 
pressing that the Congress should definitely state its position 
with regard to the suggestion for a round table conference. 

Gandhi. said the Leader despatch. "'eft it to the committee 
to adopt motions. on the lines. suggested by the two parties 
for he had not himself been able to draft resolutions which 
could meet their wishes:' He explained to the committee the 
background to the Round Table Conference idea; how "telegrams 
had passed between him, Pandit Malaviya. Mr, Das [C.R.). 
MaulanaAbul Kulam [AzadJ and Mr. Shyam SunderChakravarty 
on the subject of a round table conference;"' and while "he 
had agreed with Messrs D'\5 and Chakravarty to waive the hartal 
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on the 24th of this month [the Prince of Wales was scheduled to 
arrive in Calcutta on that day] provided Ihe notiilcations. rega.rding 
the disbandment of volufl(cers [that is, Congress volunicersJ 
and the prohibition of public mecLings were withdrawn and the 
prisoners. undergoing imprisonment as a rcs,ult of these nlJtific:l.~ 

lions released," he wllnted other dem'lnds to be added to these. 
He wanted, for instance, the Karachi prisoners (among them the 
Ali Brothers) also to be releaseJ "because it was from the time 
of Ihe Karachi trial that Government went maJ." 

Making his own position quite clear, the Leader quoted 
Gandhi as having said: 

Personally, I have not attached the slightest importance to 
the question of a conference. I think that it will be inconsis­
tent with the dignity of the Congress to pass a resolution 
about the conference when there is nothing in tile Viceregal 
pronouncement to show that the Congress is called upon to 
make any response. On the other hand there is nothing in the 
main resolutiorL.. which bangs the door in the face of lhe 
Viceroy or anybody who wants a round table conference, but 
there is in that resolution something which is elttremely 
dignifying. namely, that if they want a round table con~ 
ference that can only be had if we have certain indications 
of a change of heart. ... It wiU go hard with us if we go to a 
conference and come away from it with absolutely empty 
hands .... 1 say it is not for the Congress to make any such 
declaration upon the flim5Y ground and upon the mere hope 
of catching a straw, And who catches a straw except u man 
who is about to be drowned? But not the Congress which 
is pulsating with life today. (Prolonged applause). 

Having made his own position clear beyond any possibility of 
dOUbt, he asked Malaviya whom he described as "lhe noblest 
Indian" to slate his point of view. This he. did. Bllt the Subjects 
Committee was in no mood to be persuaded that Congress should 
declare "its desire for n. round table conference on rea.sonable 
terms" and to expunge from the resolution passed the previous 
day "that clause which advised aggressive civil disobedience." 
It rejected Malaviya's proposition by an overwhelming majority. 

The arguments were to be repeated at the plenary session on 
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the last day of the Congress at Ahmedabad. Gandhi himself 
moved the main resolution which combined the first four resolu~ 
tions on the agenda (see Appendix [I). The President had allowed 
him half an hour. but he explained amidst laughter that this 
was exclusive of the time it would take him to read the resolution 
in Hindi and English. He hoped he would "keep within the limit 
prescribed," as in fact he did, if anything, completing his speech 
(delivered first in English and then the substance of it in Hindi) 
even before the thirty minutes he was given were over. 

It was not a speech calculated to set the dry Sabarmati on fire. 
The Hindi version of the speech was overlaid with a certain banal 
religiosity and didacticism. But the English version, partly 
because, as he himself said, it did not dilate "over the religious 
SUbtleties" of the pledge that the volunteers have to take, wa.'> 
altogether more lucid and in parts even memorable. "This 
resolution," he said. "whilst it shows the indomitable courage 
and the determination of the nation to vindicate its rights and 
to be able to stare the world in the face, also says in all humility 
to the Government: 'No matter what you do, no matter how 
you repress us, we shall one day wring reluctant repentance 
from you; and we ask you to think betimes, and take care 
what you are doing and see that you do not make }OO millions of 
India your eternal enemie<>'." 

Gandhi had spoken more memorable and moving words 
before. but there was here an accent of militancy, almost defiance 
which he had generally tended to avoid. But, as he had said 
earlier in his speech, the resolution was meant to intimate to the 
world that India had "outgrown the stage of helplessness and 
dependence upon anybody." Having made that dear, he went 
on to s.ay that "jf the Government sincerely wants an open 
door," the resolution "leaves the door open for it.. ,.If this 
Government is sincerely anxious to do justice, ir Lord Reading 
has really come to India to do justice and nothing less-and we 
want nothing more-then I jnform him from this platform, with 
God as my witness, with all the earnestness that I can com· 
mand, that he has got an open door in this resolution if he means 
well. but the door is dosed in his face if he means ill, no matter 
how many people go to their graves. no matter what wild career 
this repression is to go through." 

There was, he said, every chance for Reading to hold a round 
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table conference. But, he insisted. "it must be a real conference ... 
where onty equals are to sit and where there is not to be single 
beggar." The resolution was "not an arrogant chaUenge to 
anybody but it is a challenge to authority that is enthroned on 
arrogance. it is a challenge to the authority which disregards the 
{':onsidcred opinion of millions of thinking human beings. It is a 
humble and an irrevocable challenge to authority which in order 
to save itself wants to crush freedom of opinionaltdfreedom of 
association.... God only knows, if I could possibly have 
advised you before to go to the Round Table Conference, if I 
could possibly have advised you not to undertake this re,~olution 
of civil disobedience, I would have done s.o." He would have 
done so because, he said; 

I am a man of peace. [believe in peace. But I do not want 
peace at any price. I do not want the peace that you find in 
stone; 1 do not want the peace that you find in the grave; but 
I do want that peace which you find embedded in tile human 
breast. ... 

The only other matter that general<!d some excitement if 
not heal on the last day of the Ahmedabad session was Hasrat 
Mohani's proposition that the Congress should re-define its goal. 
He did not accept the defeat in the Subjects Committee as final 
and tried his luck in the plenary session. His motion read: 

The object of the 1 ndian National Congress is the attainment 
of swaraj or complete independence. free from aU foreign 
control, by the people of indi.l, by all legitimate and peaceful 
means. 

Gandhi opposed the resolulion, first speaking in Hindi and 
then in English. Both speeches were more in sorrow than in angel'. 
though the Hindi version of his argument seems to have a sharper 
edge of asperity than the English version. but this could be 
because the English version had been levised by him before its 
pUblication in Young india of January 19, 1922. He said that 
"the levity with which that proposition [Hasrat Mohaw's 
.resolution} has been taken" had grieved him "because it shows 
a lack of responsibility." "As responsible men and women," 
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he observed, "we lihould go back to the days of Nagpur- and 
Calcutta and we should remember what we did only an hour 
ago .... Are you going to rub the whole or that position from your 
mind by raising a false issue and by throwing a bombshell in the 
midst of the Indian atmosphere?" He hoped that those who had 
voted for the previous resolution "will think fifty times before 
taking up this resolution and voting for it:' Ha~rat Mohani's 
resolution, he argued, would land them "into depths unfathom~ 
able." "Let us," he counselled, "first of all gather up our strength: 
let us first of all sound our own depths. Let us not go into watea 
whose depths we do not know." 

All thl:; sounded eminently reasonable and he catricd the day. 
Mohani's motion was rejected in the plenary session as it had been 
in the Subjects Committee and as, indeed, it was rejected by the 
Muslim League two days later, both in the Subjects Committee 
or the League (by 36 votes to 23) and in the open se~sion, although 
he was the President of the Muslim League session and had 
substantial support from the Muslim divines and clerics. But 
the question remains why Gandhi was so keen to defeat Mohani's 
proposition? Even Dr. Sitarumayya is somewhat puzzled and 
writes: "At this distance of time [circa 1935]. one is apt to loolt 
upon it [the Maulana's resolution] as the most natural sequence 
of all that had happened, and may even wonder why it should 
have been resisted at all by the Congress or by Gandhi .... 
The Jan£;uage employed by Gandhi may strike us now, as we 
read it, as strong, but strong it was meant to be. Was it also too 
strong, is the question." 

That undoubtedly is the question, Dr. Sitaramayya answers 
it in his own rather amiably circuitous way, "Galldhi", he says, 
"had evolved a new movement, ~haped a new creed and planned 
a new attack. 1t was a perfect campaign in which Lhe objective 
and the strategy were aU clearly defined. The troops were in the 
midst of skirmishes and engagements. A huge battle was about 
to take place. Just then tor a soldier to come up to the General 
and the 31 my and say that the objective should be rcdelined wa.,., 
to dislLirb the forces arranged for battle. Tilere was no doubt 
tlmt the time chosen was utterly inopportune and the spirit dis· 
played unhelpful. " He also adds thal Gandhi, unlike the Mllulana. 
and his supporters, was aware of the limitations of the forces 
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he commanded. After all. though it was the high tide of national 
unity. he was aware that the unity was brittle if not fragile. 

All this is true. But even so Dr. Sitaramayya is compelled to· 
admit that "some of the arguments employed by Gandhi on this 
occasion sound very much. it was pointed out at the time, ml/f(1(i.\· 

mutandis like the arguments of the opponents of the existing 
creed at the time of its evolution lit Nagpur." But, strangely. he 
does not mention another factor which entered inlo and determin­
ed Gandhi's thinking and which probably clinched the issue. He 
opposed a hard and fast definition of the term swaraj not only 
because he wanted to carry aU those who were not against the 
non-cooperation idea but had reservations about it. and some 
even of those who were opposed to it, with him, but because he 
was utterly serious when he said in his speech moving the resolu­
tion that if the Government sincerely wanted an open door, the 
door was left "wide open for it." He still hoped to parley and all 
the mustering of forces, or anning himself with the supreme 
power of decision, and even the decision explicitly embodied 
in the resolution to suspend "aU other Congress activities ... 
whenever and wherever ... found necessary" in order "to 
concentrAte attention upon civil disobedience. whether mass or 
individual, whether of an offensive or defensive character, under 
proper safeguards," were intended to bring about parleys a$ 
between "equals" if at all possible. This is clear from what 
followed immedi..1.tely after the Ahmedabad session. 



CHAPTER X 

THE GREAT RETREAT 

The signal from the Ahmedabad Congress, and especially 
what Gandhi said and did during the days following the session, 
at any rate, were rather Delphic if not equivocal. They could be 
interpreted either way-as signifying that he had foredosed his 
options or that he was keeping all his options open. A new 
Working Committee was elected on December 28. It met on the 
two succeeding days. But the business it transacted was fOf the 
most part what had been lcft over by it:; predecessor and concern­
ed organisational matters such as enquiries about the Tilak 
Swaraj Fund [ornaments] or applications for increased represen­
tation on the AJl-lndi~l Congress Committee. There wa:> also 
the question of the winding up orthe British Congress Committee 
and the weekly /110;0 which had cea. .. cd pUblication in January 
1921, but evidently the winding up had proved more complicated 
than had been imagined. 

For in~tance, the late Fenner Brockway (later Lord Brockway) 
in his youthful enthusiasm on his own initiative had set up 
an Information Bureau on behalf of the A.LC.e. "in con~ 
travention of specific instructions. given to Mr. Ben Spoor;" 
and the Working Committee at its meeting on May 10. 1921. 
had decided to inform him and Mr. Ben Spoor firmly but 
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regretfully that "it cannot sanction the establishment of the 
said Bureau or the payment of any expense that Mr. Brockway 
might have incurn .. '<1." But even that was not the end of 
the matter. It seems that a representative of the winding-up 
committee was in India. Tills was none other than Dr. C.B. Vakil, 
a colourful figure among the Indian community in London, 
who remaixlcd active well into the 19305 in expatdate Indian 
politics in Britain which. in effect, was. a microcosm of politics 
in India-at least till 1947. N.C. Kelkar who during his stay in 
London with Vithalbhai Patel had editorially supervised India 
for a few months to bring it into closer alignment with Congress 
policy was asked to meet Dr, Vakil for the "final disposal" of 
the affairs. 

However. certain consequential matters relating to, or arising 
from. the fateful resolution which the Thirty-sixth session of 
the Congress had passed were attended to. This included instruc­
tion to the Working Secretary to issue fortnightly reports of the 
Congress work in the country; to the Provincial Congress 
Committees to replace the previous volunteers' pledge with the 
one adopted at Ahmedabad and to get the new text translated 
into the language of the provinces for which they were lcsponsible; 
and most important of all, for them to proceed without delay 
with the further enrolment of all available men and women 
within their respective provinces of the required age and qualifica­
tion~." However, they were advised "that care should be 
taken to confine enlistment only to men and women of proved 
character" and "that pending enlistment ofvoluntcers throughout 
the different provinces. offensive civil disobedience should not 
be taken up and in no case before the 15th day of January next 
fl922]." OJIensivc civil disobedience was defined by th! Working 
Committee as: 

... deliberate and wilful breach or the State-made non·ntoral 
laws. that is laws the breach of which does not involv:; moral 
turpilude. not for the purpose of securing the repeal of or 
relief from hardships arising from obedience to such laws but 
for the purpose of diminishing the authority of or overthrowing; 
the State. For example. picketing of liquor shops or shops 
for the sale of intoxicating drugs, although prohibited, has. 
not for its object the overthrow of the State and therefore, 
does not fall within this definition. 
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The Working Committee further wanted the Provincial 
Congress Committees "to send from time to time, and at least 
once a week, a report of progrCi>S made in enlistmenl to the 
Working Secretary of the All-India Congress Committee" and 
also publish the names of enlisted volunteers from time to time 
in the press. 

The meetings of the Working Committee after the session 
concluded were part of the normal routine. However, a significant 
departure from the routine was the meetings which Gandhi had 
with several provincial delegations. "The delegates," Dr. Pattabhi 
Sitaramayya tells us, "were not willing to disperse soon 
after the conclusion of the sittings. Gandhi walked up to each 
camp and explained the technique of Civil Disobedience." 
Obviously, they were not very clear in their minds about certain 
details of the programme and what was expected of them and only 
the Mahatma could clarify the position for them. After all. he 
had been invested by the Congress with "the sole executtve 
authority of the Congress" and "the full powers of the AU-India 
Congress Committee including the power to convene a special 
session of the Congress or of the All·India Congress Committee 
or the Working Committee ... and also with the power to appoint 
a successor in emergency," although it must be noted that, with 
its instinctive, almost AngJo~Saxon, caution it took care to 
circumscribe the executive authority with which it was investing 
the Mahatma and any successor whom he was empowered to 
appoint in an emergency. 10 a revealing rider to the resolution 
the Congress had clearly stipulated: 

... that nothing in this resolution shall be deemed to autho­
rise Mahatma Gandhi or any of the aforesaid successors to 
conclude any terms of peace with the Government of India 
or the British Government wilhout the previous sanction of 
the All-India Congress Committee to be finally ratified by 
the Congress specially convened for the purpose, and pro­
vided also that the first article of the Congress constitution 
shall in no case be altered by Mahatma Gandhi or his succes­
sors except with the leave of the Congress first obtained. 

For his part the Mahatma seems also to have been anxious 
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to curb rather than fuel the enthusiasm of the delegates for plung. 
ing headlong into the civil disobedience movement on all fronts 
and without careful preparation. He apparently wanted the 
movement to develop gradually and step by step. This j~ clear 
from the instructions hc issued to the delegates from Andhra. Dr. 
Pattabhi Sitaramayya, already a member of the A.l.C.C. from 
Andhra, records: "In the Andhra camp, he took pains to point 
out how, in aoy area where a No-tax campaign was contemplated. 
volunteers must go about the villages and take the signatures of 
the ryots agreeing to the campaign. This was of course to be 
done in addition to the enforcement of the conditions of mass 
and individual Civil Disobedience." 

This must have been because he was aware that the Andhra 
Congress had shown signs of straining at the leash as we learn 
from Dr. Sitaramayya who write!'. that the Executive Committee 
of the Andhra Pradesh Congress Commiuee "had passed a 
resolution a fortnight before the Congress, on 15-12~'21. at 
Guntur calling upon the Andhrades-a to withhold the payment 
of taxes. This step was taken in advance oCthe Congress decision. 
but in anticiptttion of it." Indeed, despite his cautionary talk 
with the Andhra delegates. Guntur was to jump the guns and 
"declared a No-tax. campaign outright on the 12th January, 
1922," This. in turn, was to lead to a rather stern letter by 
Gandhi to the President of the A.P.C.C. and a back and forth 
"between Gandhi and friends in Gunlur" followed, But while 
other districts in Andhra U11der instructions from Gandhi paid 
up the taxes, in Guntur the No-tax campaign was continued 
and "pressing requests for permission" from Congress workers 
in the District at last elicited from Gandhi a telegram saying: 

If the conditions of mass Civil Disobedience are satisfied. 
and if you think that Guntur ha~ reasonable chances of 
success, then all that I car.. say is I do not wish to stand in 
your way, God help you. 

This conditional acceptance of aldi! accompli was ambiguous 
enough. but, according to Dr. Sitaramayya, it was "interpreted 
into [sic] assent incorrectly," A committee was, however. set up 
"(0 tour the District and investigate how l'artheDelhiconditions 
were fulfilled and to report. on the advisability of continuing 
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the campaign," which "took the form or withholding the payment 
of revenue taxes in the plains. and of grazing fees in the (orc1>t 
arcas." The Government, for its part, was not at all so cautiou!I 
in applying the instruments of repressioll and intimidation to 
dissuade people from joining the no-tax and non-cooperation 
campaign. "The Military," adds Dr. Sitaramayya. "quartered 
themselves in Guntu! (town) and the Governor's cavalry 
(bodyguard) visited villages where the men were gathered outside 
the village and taxes were attempted to be collceted. though in 
vain. under threat of distraint and arrest.-' 

Among other provincial delegates whom Gandhi met were 
those from the United Provinces, All the top leaders were, of 
course, behind the prison bars, including Matilal and lawaharlaL 
But the women had stepped into the breach and both Jawaharlal's 
mother, Swarup Rani, and wife, Kamala, had attended the 
Ahmedabad session, Indeed, they did not leave Ahmedabad 
till January 4. 1922, as we learn from Gandhi's Jetter to his son, 
Devadas. in which he wrote, rather proudly, "Today members 
of the Nehru family left for lucknow, all ofihem in third class." 
fn his interview with the V.P, delegates Gandhi said thnt it was 
not necessary for them to start civil disobedience "just yet." 
Instead. he wanted them to concentrate on enrolling volunteers. 
He also did not favour the idea of setting up of "a national 
Kotwali," literally police station, but meaning in the context a 
national headquarters. Perhaps it smacked of setting up a parallel 
administration to him and which probably seemed to him 
adventurist at that stage. But since the V.P, Congress leader~ 
had begun work on setting up a national KatwaH, he thought 
it right that it should be continued. 

His longest interview was, predictably enough, with the 
delegates from Bengal. As the Amrifa Bazar Palrika, which 
reported the "interview" on January 14, 1922, stated, Gandhi 
spent two hours with the Bengal camp. He lold them at the 
outset that they could ask bim anything they liked and they took 
him at his word, The questions ranged over practical and pro-­
ceduTal matters as well as political and abstract issues. For 
instance, one of the interlocutors, Ananga Mohan Ghose, 
wanted to know whether "sacrifices alone" would suffice as the 
qualification for leadership or whether intelligence was also 
needed. To this the Mahatma's answer was that he could not 
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"possibly imagine" that a man capable of sacrifice and honesty 
would not also be "intelligent enough to lead." 

Gandhi's own worry, however, was nol about the lack of 
intelligence in Bengal. His worry was that there might not be 
enougb charity of judgement in dealing with the opponents of 
the movement He, therefore, spent some time stressing the 
need for tolerance of opposition. He said: 

In Bengal today I know that there is a great deal of impatience 
and, therefore, intolerance. and lei me also leU you, you 
won't. I am sure, misunderstand me when 1 tell you that of 
aU the places throughout India, 1 have not seen so much 
bitterness amongst ourselves as I have seen in Bengal. and 
therefore, so much intolerance. 

He cired the case or Madras where there were "two schools", 
moderate school of non~cooperators being led by Kasturi Ranga 
Iyengar and the more radical group being represented by Dr. 
T.S.S. Rajan. Yet, he pointed out. that the relations between 
the two were "sweet". That was not the case in Bengal. "1 had 
occasion." he said,"to remark that in Barisa!. ... We in our 
impatience have believed that we ourselves are paragons of per­
fection and that those who differ from us are not only not 
well-wishers of the country, but its enemies:' He referred parti­
cularly to Surendranath Banerjea and said: "Have I not seen 
what is written in the papers about him and what I have heard 
in private conversation-we seem to think, that he is an enemy 
of the country." And he went on to warn them. "If you are to be 
true to your non-cooperation and non-violence, not to be so 
uncharitable and not to think so ill of our own countrymen." 
Why? Because. he added: 

Non-cooperation is not a doctrine of despair ... it is a 
doctrine or love .... L.want you to stretch your charity 
to your own countrymen-whether they arc Moderates. 
whether they are in Government employ, in the police or 
in the C.LD.-whatever they are, 1 ask you to be charitable 
towords them. 

In times to come he was to have other difficulties with Bengal 
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thanju$t wanl of charity of judgement among the Bengali political 
elitc, whether moderate or radical. Meanwhile he seemed to be 
well satisfied at the way things had gone at the Ahmedabad 
session of the Congress. He wrote in a report headed ''The 
Congress ILnd Arter" in Young India of January 5, 1922: 

The Congress week was a week of joy and celebration. None 
thought that swamj was. not attained. Every onc seemed to 
be conscious of the growing national strength. There was 
confidence and hope written in every face. The Reception 
Committee had provided for admitting onc hundred thousand 
visitors to the Congress pandal. But the lowest calculation 
puts down the figure at two lacs .... And this phenomenal 
attendance would have been still larger if all kind;; of false 
rumours had not been started to scare away people. The 
imprisonment of leaders and workers and their courage 
has filled the people with a new hope and a new joy. There 
was a feeling in the air that the people had found in suffering 
the surest remedy for the attainment of rreedom and breaking 
down the mightiest force that might be pitted against it. 

All the same, despite thi~ singularly optimistic assessment 
of the mood or the people. Gandhi was still hesitant about 
giving his army of volunteers pledged to non-violence order to 
go over the top, so to speak. Some inhibition still seemed to be at 
work within him and he was not in a hurry to go over to the 
more intensive rorms of civil disobedience. Part oCthe reason for 
this. hesitation probably was that some or his moderate friends, 
like M.R. Jayaknr. and even a Congressman like Madan Mohan 
Mataviya. who had been active before the Congress session to 
bring about a "Round Table Conference" of sorts at which a 
settlement could be reached between the Government and the 
Congress, were still persevering with their effort to avert a con~ 
rrontation and were hopeful that a compromise formula could 
be worked out acceptable to both sides. 

So hopeful. in fact, that they called a conference of leaders of 
ali parties in Bombay on January 14 to hammer out proposttls 
which could be presented from the Indian side to the Government 
as the basis for discussion at a Round Table Conference, The 
Congress did not participate in the conference, but the Mahatma 
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"expressed his readiness. to attend the Conference" because. i;lS 

he explained in an interview with a representative of the Bombay 
CltroJlic/t!, he wanted to sec ··if he could bring round his Moderate 
friends o!\ the narrow issue ... 01' freeuom of speech and freedom 
of association ... to see eye to eye with the Congress on that 
issue." At the same time he stated ··that there was no budging 
from the position that had been taken up by the Congress regard­
ing the Round Table Conference and the conditions that he had 
defined in the Congress Subjects Cornmittee as precedent to any 
lIUch conference must be satisfied by Government before the 
Congress could be expected to fall in with the idea." 

The Conference was opened duly on Janunry 14 by Madan 
Mohan Malaviya who had been the principal sponsor of the 
illea of a Round Table Conference and had been negotiating 
with the Viceroy. He asked Sir Sankaran Nair to take the 
chair who. in turn, called upon Jinnah who. despite hisdilferences 
with Gandhi over the question of swaraj and Non-cooperation 
was continuing to runction well within the national consensus, 
to place the draft proposals on behalf of the conveners before 
the Conference for discussion in which later S.R. Bomanji, 
J.A. Wadia, J.B. Petil, S. Srinivasa Iyengar, Sheshagtri lyeI', 
Satyamurti. H.N. KUnzru. !:lnd Gokaran Nath Misra were to 
tuke part. 

But inevitably it was Gandhi's reaction to the draft proposals 
which was crucial. Sankaran Nair had asked him to opon the 
discussion immediately after Jinnah had spoken. And there 
came the rub. Sankaran Nair had never seen eye to eye with 
the Mahatma and he seemed to be irritated with the argument 
which Gandhi uevelopeu. So irritated, in fact. that he was un­
willing to continue to chair the Conference and, instead. M. 
Visvesvaraya. former Dewan of My sore State, took over. Sankari.1u 
Nair was not content with retiring from the chair and lhe Con­
ference; he wrote a leUer to the Times of India in which he gave 
his own anu rather ~Ianted version of the reasons why. as he put 
it, he couid not "associate with Mr. G,mdhi and his followers in 
asking for a conference [that is, the Round Table Conference] 
or in any otht:;r respc-ct" and he atso differed from the All Party 
Conference "on these vital questions, on which the Conference 
agrees with Mr. Gandhi." 

His version of what haJ led to his break with the All Party 
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Conference was questioned by other participants in the dis.­
cussion, including Jayakar. Jinnan and K. Natarajan. Editor 
of the Indian Social Reformer. Sanknran Nair. in the mood he 
was at the time, seemed to find most of the demands by Gandhi 
unacceptable and unreasonable. But, in particular, he considered 
the Mahatma's support for the Khilarat cause and his insistence 
on the release of the Khilafat prisoners, among them the Ali 
Brothers, untenable and to which the British Government could 
not possibly agree. For a South Indian, he appeared to display a 
singular want of sympathy with his Muslim fellow countrymen 
in their tribulations and almost justified the Government repres­
sion against them on grounds which were both laboured and 
legalistic as is clear from his letter to the Times of Illdia. After 
saying that "with reference to the Khilafat malter, Mr. Gandhi 
said that the French must leave Syria---of course an impo!>sible 
condition" and adding that "they [meaning the Khilafat leaders1 
want England to leave Egypt," he went on: 

All regards Me~srs Mahomed Ali and Shaukat Ali and others 
in that category the Government's position is stronger. It 1S 
within the knowledge of Mr. Gandhi and many of us that they 
do not accept the principle of non-violent agitation. In view 
of the promise of Mr. Gandhi that he would obtain swaraj 
within a year ifhis method or non-violent agitation is followed. 
they did nol press for violence. That year has elapsed, and 
the Mussulmans feel that the pact with Mr. Gandhi is o ... er .... 
The Mussulmans are not under the restraint of the self~ 

imposed obligations of Mr. Gandhi ... they will not hesitate 
to re~ort to violence not only against Government but also 
against others who may not join them in their agitation. 
Recent occurrences also support thill. 

That was obviously what was exercising Sankaran Nair. A 
native of Malabar, he had been upset by the Moplah rebellion 
and the violence as!lociated with it. But to infer from this that the 
Ali Brothers immediately on their release would incite ... iolent 
agitation all along the line as he did in order to justify their 
continued incarceration was irrational and ab<;urd. Even more 
absurd was Sankaran Nair's "additional reason" for not support­
ing Gandhi's demand for unconditional release of the Khilafat 
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and other prisoners. This was his contention that "Mr. Gandhi 
and his friends and the accused themselves welcome the arrest 
and convictions." At all events, Gandhi could not possibly 
have abandoned his support for the Khilafat cause nor left 
the Ali Brothers in the lurch in prison even though as he told 
the ali party conclave, they and other prisoners had never 
complained and borne the suffering "voluntarily and cheerrully" 
and even profited by it. like Maulsoa Shaukat Ali "who had lost 
~O Ibs in weight during his incarceration" as, indeed, "he had 
wanted to .... " 

Such a thing would have been impolitic in the extreme. For 
the Government, which had been straining every nerve to break 
the Congress-Muslim League compact. would have turned round 
and spread stories of the Congress.~and Hindu-perfidy. Quite 
apart from being impolitic. it would have been mostdishonourable 
to forget the Khilafat prisoners and to agree to participate in a 
Round Table Conference with the Government from which the 
Ali Brothers were excluded. Gandhi in his political career was to 
make many mistakes. some of them of "Himalayan" propor­
tions as he himself admitted. but even his most severe critics 
would find it hard to identify anything in his public or private 
conduct at any time which could be considered dishonourable. 

He was, understandably, pained by Sankaran Nair's distorted 
version of \Vhat he had said at the conference and especially his 
wholly unwarranted attack on the Ali Brothers. In an interview 
to the Bombay Chronicfe of January 18, he said: "I have read 
Sir Sankaran Nair's letter to The Times of India with deep pain. 
It bears in itself traces of hurried draftsmanship and anger. I 
propose, therefore. not to answer seriatim the many misrepresen­
tations it contains, but to give only broad facts." 

This he did at some length, starting with the bold and justified 
claim that betwecn him and thc Conference "there was perfect 
harmony in spite of differences or opinion." He said that he had 
yielded on "matters that were not of vital importance" without 
hesitation. Ir he was adamant on asking the Government to be 
penitent, it was "not in order to humiliate it, but in order to set 
it right with the peop/e." For, he added: 

... there will. certainly. be no peace in the land and no settle­
ment until the Government acknowledges its mistakes and 
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retraces its steps. The resolutions fof tbe All Party Conference. 
that isI arc calculated to enable the Government to do so 
gracefully. Nobody questions the right of the Government 
to put down violence .... I could conceive even the existence 
of justifiable martial law, when it is introduced to prolect 
people and has the endorsement ofpubUc opinion. The present 
proceedings of the Gove-rnment, which bear all the character­
istics of martial law. without the odium ortbe name, are inten­
ded neither to protect the people, nor have any pubJicbacking 
whatsoeVtlr. They are intended 10 consolidate the power of an 
utterly irresponsible bureaucracy. 

This was broadly true, He was quite candid about his support 
for the Khilafat demands. Yes. he said, these included the 
"evacuation of Syria by the French." But Sankaran Nair had 
clearly put a wrong construction on what he wanted the Britbh 
Government to do, "I declared in the clearest possible language," 
he said, "that t would be satisfied if Great Britain sincerely 
supported the Mussulman claim regarding Syria. I said that the 
Mussulman», and 1, in common with them, thoroughly distrusted 
Great Britain's intentions regarding the aspiration of Turkish 
Nationalists and the just claims of Indian Mussulmans. It i.<; 
open in a round table conference to the Government to demon­
strate to the satisfaction of non~cooperators that Great Britain 
is ready to do all in her power to satisfy the Mussulman claim:' 
By a strange historical irony. almost a quarter of a century later, 
after the hecatomb$ orthe Second World War, the British them~ 
selves were 10 be instrumental in ensuring the unceremonious 
expulsion of the French from the Levant and the Fertile Crescent, 
including Syria, 

On the question of Egypt, again, he corrected Sankaraa 
Nair's misrepresentation and in so doing laid down the basic line 
of the Indian National Congress~and lndja~regarding Egypt 
and the West Asian region generally: 

Sir Sankaran Nair hardly doe:'> justice to himself, or to me, 
when he reports me as having said that I wanted the evacuation 
of Egypt. as a term of peace. In answerto an ejaculation about 
Egypt I remarked that although the Khllafat demand did 
not, and would not include the evacuation of Egypt, when 
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India had full swaraj she could certainly not permit a single 
Indian soldier to leave India in order to coerce the brave 
Egyptians into submission to a foreign yoke. 

In others words. he was dissociatillg India categorically and 
wholly from imperialist policies of Britain in the Near and Middle 
East. He was particularly sha.rp with Sanka.(an Nair on the 
latter's "attack upon the Ali Brothers" which. he said, was 
~'hardly worthy of him. The Ali Brothers do believe in the possi~ 
bHity and necessity of the use of violence tor the vindkation of 
religious or national rights. But. I know that they are a.bsolutely 
at one with the Congress programme and that they are more 
than ever convinced that as India is circumstanced, non-Violence 
is the only remedy open to her for the attainment of her freedom." 
He concluded his interview by stressing what ought to have 
been self-evident to Sankaran Nair: 

It surprises me to notice that Sir Sankaran Nair imagines that 
a round table conference is possible without the pre;,ence of 
the Ali Brothers. That the Government might not see its way 
to release such formidable opponents as the Ali Brothers I 
can well understand, and they will relca.<;e them only if Gov­
ernment desires to placate Indian opinion and substitute the 
force of public opinion for the force of arms. 

The point was well made, though it is curious that he did not 
suggest the possibility that the motive underlying the Govern­
ment's discriminatory treatment of the Ali Brothers and the 
Khilafat prisoners and unwiltingne;,;, to release them could have 
been to drive a wedge between the Congress and the Khilafat 
movement-and Hindus and Muslims generally. It is hard to 
believe that he was not aware of this possibility. But it could be 
that with his usual generosity of the spirit he did not wish to 
impute any unworthy motives to his opponent, at least not unless 
he had foolproof evidence of jt~and perhaps not even then. 

Gandhi in his report in Young India of January 19 entitled 
"The Malaviya Conference" (that is how he designated the AU 
Party Confl!rcn~) wrote: 

The Conference was both a success and a failure. It was a 
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success in that it showed an earnest desire on the part of those 
who attended to secure a peaceful solution of the present 
trouble, and in that it brought under one roof people possess­
ing divergent views. 1t was a failure in that, though certain 
resolutions have been adopted, the Conference did not leave 
on my mind the impression that those who assembled together 
as a whole realised the gravity of the real issue. The mind of 
the Conference seemed to be centred mote on a roulld table 
conference than upon asserting the popular right of free 
speech. frce association and free Press which are more than a 
round table conference. Thad cJtpected on the part of the 
Independents to declare their firm attitude that no matter 
how much they might differ regarding the method on non­
cooperation, the freedom of the people was a common 
heritage and that the assertion of that right was three-fourths 
of swaraj: that, therefore, they would defend that right even 
wilh civil disobedience, if need be. 

This was a rather naive expectation. He was right, of course, 
in de~cribing the Malaviya Conference as both a ::>llccess and a 
failure. And this was true in another and less amiable sense, too, 
than the one in which he understood success and failure. It was a 
success for the Government and a failure for the Congress: 
success for the Government because it gave it more time to take 
up its dispositions to meet the challenge of the civil disobedience 
movement and prepare its plans for disrupting and sidetracking 
it; and a failure for the Congress because at and after Ahmedabad 
it was fully keyed up for the launching of a new phase of civil 
disobedience movement and postponement of the "D~Day". so 
to speak. could not but build up nervous tension and a sense of 
impatience among its ranks carrying within it the seeds or 
indiscipline. 

In his piece in YOUllg Jndia he explained that his position was 
that he would "attend any conference as an individual. withoul 
any condition," adding that he agreed, too, "to advise the Work­
ing Committee to postpone general mass civil disobedience 
contemplated by the Congress to the 31st instant [January, 1922} 
in order to enable the Committee and the Conference to enter 
into negotiations wilh the Government." He felt this was essential 
to show their bona fides because they, the Congress. that is, 
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"could not take up new offensives whilst negotiations for a 
conference were being conducted by responsible men," Accor~ 
dingly. when the Working Committee met in Bombay on January 
J7,itpasse<ia resolution-number fOUT on the agenda among 
the eighteen, most of them concerned with organisational and 
financial matters-which deferrcd "the offcnsive civil dis­
cbedience ... till the 31st day or January 1922 or pending the 
re~lUlt of the negotiations undertaken by the Committee of the 

. Malaviya Conference for a Round Table Conference whichever 
may be the first date." 

The negotiations or the Committee of the Malaviya Con­
ference with the Government were infructuous. As Dr. Pattabhi 
Sitaramayya puts it, uThe attempts of well-meaning intermediaries 
failed, The Viceroy summarily rejt..'Cted the tenus offered by the 
Conrerencc." He makes the point that Reading had held out the 
bail of a Round Table Conference because the "Government 
were anxious to see that the sojourn of the Prince fof Wales] was 
not disturbed by the hostile demonstration of Non-cooperators." 
There i:i something in this argumcnt, though the Prince of Wale,,' 
vi:>jl wa" by no means over by the end of January and he was due 
to arrive in Delhi in the middle of February. 

The reasons for dangling this particular bait wcre, perhaps, 
more subtle and complex. One of these almost certainly was to 
gain time in which differences on the Indian side would grow­
.as, indeed. they did. But Lhere were divided counsels on Lhe 
Government side, too; and, for once, the roles were reversed 
and the Man on the Spot, Reading, was dragging his feet while 
being pushed by the British Government, including Montagu 
Who by the end of 1921 was almost on the way out, to act firmly 
against the Congress, including Gandhi, and show India. who 
was the master. 

However that may be, January 31, the deadline for the expiry 
of the period set by the Working Committee for launching the 
~'offen~ive," came without any further concessions by the Gov­
ernment. The country's attention, says Dr. Sitaramayya, ··was. 
really rivetted on the campaign of no-tax, which Gandhi had 
<iecided (0 organize in the Bardoli Taluka in Gujarat." Gandh.i 
had chosen Bardoli for tillS bonour because. Dr. Sitaramayya 
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rightly observes : 

He was anxious to make the fin,! experiment in mass Civil 
Disobedience under his own direct supervision. In that 
Taluka there were many South-Africa returned emigrants. 
who were familiar with the ways of Gandhi, and il was. 
Gandhi's earnest wish that the rest of India should watch his 
experiment and infuse strength and spirit into mm. He was 
anxiOlls that nothing should be done to distract or disturb 
his attention or endeavours .... 

This certainly explains the rather curious resolution-number 
eleven on the agenda (there were altogether only twelve resolu­
tions)-whlch the Working Committee passed when it met at 
Surat on January 31,1922. It read: 

The Working Committee having considered the resolution of 
the Bardoli Taluqa Conference regarding mass civil disobed· 
ience desires to congratulate the people of that taluqa upon 
their self~sacrificing resolve to offer mass civil disobedience 
and wishes them every success in their patriotic effort. The 
Working Committee ad ..... ises all other parts of India to CO~ 
operate with the people of BardoH Taluqa by refraining from 
mass Of individual civil disobedience of an aggressive charac· 
tel' except upon the express consent of Mahatma Gandhi pre­
viously obtained. Provided that, in no case shall there be any 
relaxation in the conditions laid down therefore either by 
the All India Congress Committee at Delhi or by the Congress 
at Ahmedabad. Provided further. that this resolution shall 
in no way be interpreted so as to interfere with the present 
defensive civil disobedience going on in the country whether 
in respect of notifications under the Criminal Law Amendment 
Act, or orders under the ordinary law of the country 
restricting the liberty of the citizens. 
The Working Committee advisell the people throughout the 
provinces to pay up the tax due by them to the Govermllent 
whether directly or indirectly through Zcmindars or Taluq· 
dars except in such cases of direct payment to the Govern­
ment where previous consent has been obtained from Mahatma. 
Gandhi for suspension of payment preparatory to mass civil 
disobedience. 
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One says "curious" bccau~e normally onc would have expected 
Ihe no-cooperaton to engage the Govcrnm.::nt on a countrywide 
scale, or at lca~t in a number or carefully selected areas, to maxi­
mize the pressure upon it and to make it diJficult for il to cope 
with the movi,.'TIlcnl of civil disobedience. aut Gandhi scemed 
dc!iberlltclyto mllke the task of the- Government easier by order­
ing the suspension or mass or individual civil disohedience of an 
aggre%iw character. like non-payment of taxes throughout 
the country, thu<; making the ~uecess or failure of the movemcnt 
hinge entirdy on the outcome of the aurJoli campaigll. It wal; 
almo!>t liS if he was adopting the strategy of the old Indian epics 
where the outcome of struggle is ultimately decided, not by 
dash of arms between massed forces on each side, but individual 
combat') between leading protagonists of the parties in conflict. 

However that may be, the reason given by Dr. Sitaramayya. 
that Gandhi was anxious for the cruci::tl Bardoli campaign to be 
<:onducted under his own supervision. while certainly operative 
in his mind docs not by itself suffice to explain his decision which 
was embodied in the Working Committee resolution. He was 
undoubtedly present on January 29 at Bardoli where be addressed 
the Bardoll Taluka Conference and moved the resolution on 
civil disobedience the text of which was: pubJjshed in Navajivan 
of February 2. But he was- not there on the crucial day, Junuary 
31. On that day he was at Sural where he attended the Working 
Committee meeting which plonounced iLs benediction on the 
decision of Bardoli 10 take tile plunge. He described the decision 
not only as "momentous''. but "final and irrevocable." But was 
it as "flIla! and irrevocable" as he had made it out to be? 

There is some reason to doubt this. He wrote a piece on 
January 30 after attending the Bardoli Taluka Conference which 
was published in Young India on February 2. It was written in 
a congratulatory vein. He complimented the G0vernment for 
acting "in ~l mOfot exemplary mJ.nncr" by not prohib:ting the 
Bardoll eonrcrence the previous day though they could have 
done it. He also complimented the people of B.trdoli for taking 
a decision in full awareness of what the decision might entail 
for them in terms of sacrifice and suffering-and even m-Jrc, 
giving up of their old habi1s and prejudices. "B~'th siJes," he 
wrote, "have up to tne time of writing behaved in a mJ.nner 
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worthy of chivalrous warriors of old. In this battle of peace, 
it ought not to be otherwise." 

But then came the revealing concluding paragraph which 
indicated that the green signal to the No~tax. campa.ign in Bar· 
doH was not yet given. The Government was to be given yet 
one more o!,portunity to settle the maHer without a non·viol­
cnt challenge. "The Viceroy," he said, "has: still choice and 
will have yet another choice given to him. No charge of hurry, 
want of preparation or thought, no charge of discourtesy will 
it be possible to bring against the people of Bardoli." Therefore. 
he added: 

Lead kindly Light, amid the encircling gloom, 
Lead Thou me on; 
The night is dark, and I am far from home; 
Lead Thou me on. 

The one more chance that he wa.~ prepared to give Reading 
was speJt out in a letter he wrote to him. It was dated February 
}, but from Gandhi's letter to Jayakar we know that it was 
writlen the very night [:Lpparently Tuesday} of January 31 on 
which the Working Committee passed its resolution seemingly 
giving all clear signal to Bardoli. He told Jayakar that he 
would "delay publication" {of the letter] till February 4-the 
fatal day, as it was 10 turn out. "That," he wrote to Jayakar, 
"meet.s your requirement also. I do not think I could do more .... 
11 gives the Viceroy more than he could possibly require. He 
need not eall a round table conference. The more I think of it, 
the morc clear it is to me that he cannot ca.1l the conference 
but he can easily adopt my suggestion. if he wishes so." 

The letter. dated February 1. 1922. copies of which he had 
sent to Jayakar and Madan Mohan Malaviya Who, with Jinnah. 
were the prin<;iPal go-betweens working to bring about a recon­
ciliation betwe~n the Congress and the Government, wa.<; a 
long one-more than a thousand words. Gandhi stated at the 
very outset that as he was perhaps "chiefly responsible for Bar­
doli's decision [to embark on a non-payment of tax campaign}" 
he owed it to "your Excellency and the public to explain the 
situation" under which the decision had been taken. He recal­
led that it was as early as November 1921 that the- All-India 
Congress Committee at Delhi had passed a resolution laying 
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down the conditions under which mass. civil disobedience was 
to be launched-conditions which Bardoli had fulfilled; and it 
was only because of the "regrettable rioting on the 17th Novem~ 
ber last in Bombay," that the step contemplated by Bardoli 
was. postponed. Meanwhile, the letter went on to say, "repres~ 
sian of a virulent type has taken place with the concurrence of 
the Government of India in Bengal, Assam, the United Provin­
ces, the Punjab, the Province of Delhi and, in a way, in Bihar 
al1d Orissa and elsewhere". 

The Viceroy had objected to the u,;e of the word "repression" 
til describe what the authorities had been doing. But Gandhi 
maintained that "action taken which is in excess of the re­
quirements of a situation" amply qualified to be judged as 
repression. "This official lawlessness," he argued, "cannot 
he described by any other term but lawless repression. Intimi. 
dation by non~cooperators or their sympathizers to a certain 
extent in connection with bartals and picketing may be ad­
mitted but in no case can it be held to justify the wholesale 
suppression of peaceful volunteering or equally peaceful public 
meetings under a distorted use of an extraordinary law .... " He. 
lherefore, felt thal the "immediate task before the country .. .is 
to rescue from paralysis freedom of speech, freedom of associa­
tion and freedom of the Press." 

He said that though "non-cooperators were unwiUing to 
have anything to do with the Malaviya Conference," he was 
anxious to avoid aU avoidable suffering. Consequently, he 
"had no hesitalion in advising the Working Committee of the 
Congress to accept the recommendations of that Conference," 
aut, he added, "You have summarily rejected the proposal" 
although in his (Gandhi's opinion), the terms were quite in 
keeping with "your own requirements" as indicated "through 
your Calculta speech." "In the circumstances," Gandhi wrote 
more in sorrow than in anger, "there is nothing before the 
1,!ountry but to adopt some non~violent method for the enforce· 
ment of its demands including the elementary rights of free 
speech, free association and free Pres.." ... this lawless repression 
(in a way unparalleled in the history of this unfortunate country) 
has made the immediate adoption of mass civil disobedience 
an imperative duty." Even so the Working Committee of the 
Congress, he added, "has restricted it to only certain areas" 
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to be selected by him from time to lime and at present "con­
fined only to Bardoli.·' 

What is more, he continued, before even the people of 
Bardoli "commence mass civiJ disobedience," he was. giving 
the Viceroy yet onc more chance to change course and ··set 
free all the non-eo-operating prisoners who arc convicted or 
under trial for non-violent activities and to declare in clear 
1crms a policy of non-interference with all noo-viol,mt activities 
in the country whether they be regarding the redress of the 
Khilaf;tt or the Punjab wrongs or swamj or any other purpose 
and even though they fall under the repressive sections of the 
Penal Code or the Criminal Procedure Code or other fcpressive 
laws j;ubjcct always to the condition of non-violence:' [f a 
declaration to this effect was forthcoming from the Govern­
menl "within seven days of the dale of publication of this 
manifesto [meaning, presumably, his letter}" he (Gandhi) was 
"prepared to advise postponement of civil disobedience of an 
aggressive character, till the imprisoned workers have. after 
their discharge. reviewed the whole situation a.nd considered the 
position de nOI'O.·' 

The letter was nol exactly a model of Gandhian drafts­
manship, normally economical and carefully precise in use of 
words. It was not only long but somewhat long-winded; its 
construction was hardly logical; and its reasoning gave many a 
hostages to Gandhi's critics. Not least, the Viceroy and his 
entourage in Delhi. They lost no time in replying to Gandhi. not 
in a letter written directly to him, but in the form of a "commu­
nique" purporting to refute the charges made in his leuer of 
February L The "communique" was as long-indeed longer­
than the letter. Within its own terms, it was reasonably weH­
constructed, even logical, though it savoured of a kind of narrow­
minded legalism rather than anything remotely connecting 
with statesmanship or even sensible statecraft. 

The communique began by charging Gandhi with perpetra­
ting "a series of misstatements" in his "Manifesto issued". 
on !he 41h February" in order to justify "his determination to 
resort to mass civil disobedience" and said that the Government 
of India could not "allow them to pass unchaliengeJ." It then 
sct out 10 deal with thcm in detail. To begin with-or, as it put 
it in a rather recherche Latin lag, in limine-it pointed out that 
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the decision "to adopt a programme of civil disobedience" W'lS 

taken "on the 4th November before the recent notifications rei· 
ating either to the Seditious Meetings Act or the Crimina.l 
Law Amendment Act to which Mr. Gandhi ullmistakably 
refers, were issued." What is more, "since the inauguration af 
lhe nan-cooperation mavement the O()vernment of India. ... 
have restricted their actions in relation therdo to such mo:u· 
ures as were necessary for the maintenance of law and order 
and the preservation of public tra.nquillity." So much so that 
"na steps, save in Delhi last year, were taken a.gainst the Volun­
teer Associations" up to November when ··the Government 
were confronted with a new and dangerous situatian." And it 
invoked the case of Bombay troubles which Gj,ndhi himself 
bad mentioned in his letter and which the communique claimed 
led to 53 persons losing their lives and "approxim:Uely 400'" 
being injured. 

As regards lhe Ali Brothers, it rubbed it in that at the time 
of their "apology" the communique had explicitly stressed 
that although the Government were refraining "from institu­
ting criminal proceedings" against them, "it must not be inferred 
that promoting disaffection of a less violent cll:uacler is not an 
offence against the law" and that they must make it "plain that 
they will enforce the law relating to offences against the State 
as and when they may think fit against any persons who have 
committed breaches of it"-a point which lent substance to 
Matllal Nehru's critique of both Gandhi atld the Ali Brothers 
at the time, that is at the end of May 1921. when Gandhi bad 
met Reading. 

The communique further challenged Gandhi's contention 
that while the Congress had accepted the terms of the proposal 
formulated by the Conference at Bombay. the Viceroy had sum­
marily rejected it even though these terms were in conformity 
with the latter's speech at Calcutta. This, it said. was far from 
the case: 

His Excellency in that speech insisted on the imperative 
necessity as a fundamental condition precedent to the dis-­
cussion of any question by a conference, of the discontinu~ 
ance of the unlawful activities of the non-cooperation party. 
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No assurance on this point wa!>, however. contained in the 
proposals advanced by the Conference .... Furlher Mr. Gan­
dhi also made it apparent that the proposed Round Table 
Conference would be called merely to register his decrees. 
It is idle to suggest that terms of this character fulfilled in 
any way the essentials laid down by his Excellency or can 
reasonably be. described as having been made in response to 
the sentiments expressed by him. 

Finally, after declaring the Government's confidence "that 
aJl right thinking citizens will recognize that this manifesto con· 
stitules no response whatever to the speech of His Excellency at 
Calcutta and the demands made are such as no Government 
trould discuss much less accept," it sounded a lapidary warning: 

The issue is no longer between this or that programme of 
political advance but between lawlessness with aU its 
dangerous consequences on the one hand, and on the other. 
the maintenance of those principles which lie at the root 
of aU civilized governments. Mass civil disobedience is 
fraught with such dangers to the State that it must be met 
with sternness and severity, The Government entertain no 
doubt that in any measures which they have to take for its 
iuppression they can count on the support and assistance of 
a11 law-abiding and loyal citizens of His Majesty. 

This was a taU claim. It could have had some substance if 
the Government of India over which Reading presided had any 
representative character, But that, if one may quote a phrase 
in the communique, was "far from being the case." Neverthe­
less, it has to be admitted, that the arguments developed in it 
had a certain air of plausibility. That, judged by strictly lega­
listic criteria, could not have been said about Gandhi's letter, 
or "manifesto" as the Government's communique described it 
or "ultimatum" as it was being referred to, rather imprudently 
in Gandhi's entourage at Bardoti, although the Ma.hatma 
(as Krishandas records in his Seven Months With Mahatma 
Gandhi, Vol. /J) seems to have considered the draft "faultless" 
and Raid that it had come to him "in Ihis form automatically," 

At all events it should have been clear that there was very 
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Jitlle meeling ground between the Government and Gandhi, 
a situation which was to repeat itself time and again in the 
years to come and at critical moments in the history of Indo-
8ritish political litigation and conflict. VirtuaUy every attempt 
to establish a dialogue between the representatives of the imp­
erial authority and the Congress-which almost to the end, in 
effect, meant Ga.ndhi~tended to degenerate into a dialogue of 
the deaf. In the nature of things, lhis could not but accentw 
uate the impasse. But Gandhi was never quite prepared to admit 
even to himself that his moml suasions were largely wasted 00' 

the British Government and jls agency in lodia. That is why 
evro io face of the categorical rejectioo of the argument he had 
developed in his "manifesto"-his lettcr to the Vlceroy~by the­
Government of lndia, as soon as he read its "communique," 
be began to draft a reply or "rejoinder." 

Apparently. the Government had released lhe communique 
to the Press and he first Tead it in the papers on the morning of 
February 7 at Bardoli where he was at the time, Its firm negative 
tone, it seems, surprised everyone around him, though it is hard 
to see why anybody was surprised, As Krishnadas in his 
Sevelf MOllths wilh Mahatma Gal1dbi (Vol. /I) puts it: "Mllhat· 
maji immedia.tely began to dictate the rejoinder to the Governw 

ment which was wired to the As~ociated Press at DeihL One 
copy was sent to the Bombay C/trollide for publication and Mr, 
.somanji who left for Bombay ... took another copy with him," 

The dictation must have taken an bour or more. For the 
rejoinder to the Government's communique was mllch longer 
than his orJginal letter to Reading. Fortunately, he had the 
services of a qualified steno-typist available to him. For his friend 
Bomanji had three days earlier not only placed a car at the 
Mahatma's disposal but also provided a stenographer for his. 
usc--a man named Golikerc. This made it ea.~ier for him to cope 
with his vast amount of daily correspondence. journalistic 
writings ,1Od political and other work. 

He began his reply by saying that he was "totally unpre· 
pared for such an evasion of the re."ilities of the ca~c as the reply 
[the Government's communique} betrays." He wenl on 10 
underline how accommodating he had been by indefinitely 
postponing "the contemplated mass civil disobedience ... on 
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account of the regrettable events of the 17!h November in Bom­
bay." But {here was no let up in repression on the Govern­
ment's part. He listed a number of repressive mca'iures which it 
bad taken and named several eminent non-cooperators-C.R. 
Das. MotHa! Nehru, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, and Lajpa,t 
Raj-who were am~,~ted at a time when the ma.~" civil disobedi­
ence was in abeyance. He justified his charge that the Govern­
ment had embarked "on a policy of lawless repression" by 
citing nine items as sample of many "infallible proofs" of 
"official lawlessness and barbarism" and claimed that he had 
mentioned "not e .... en a tithe of what is happening all over the 
country .... " He charitably added. "For the sake of dignity of 
human nature I trust that Lord Reading and his. draughtsmen 
do not know the facts that I htwe adduced or, being carried 
away by their bclicf in the infallibility {If their employees, re­
fuse to believe in the Statements which the public regard as 
God's truth." 

He seemed to be particularly pained at the asserlion that 
he wanted the Round Table Conference just to rubber stamp 
his demands. "The Government communique," he comp­
lained, "does me a cruel wrong by imputing to me a desire that 
(he proposed Round Table Conference should be called 'merely 
to register' my 'decrees'." He had only stated the Congress 
demands as he was duty bound to do. Neither he nor any Con­
gressman was "impervious to reason and argument." "It is 
~'pcn to anybody to convince me," he ob!'tcrved, "that the 
demands of the Congress regarding the Khilafat, the Punjab 
and swaraj are wrong or unreasonable, and I would cerhdnly 
retrace my steps and so far as '1 am concerned rectify the wrong." 
In f<\.Ct. he pointed out, in his "Manifesto" he had not "asked 
for a round table conference at alL" What he regarded afi the 
first priority "for the people" WitS "to secure a reversal of this 
mad repression and then to concentrate upon more complete 
organization and more construction .... " 

He denied that the aHernative berore the people was, as the 
communiqLte had it, "between lawlessness with the disas­
trous consequences. on the one hand and on the other the 
maintena.nce of those principles whicb lie at the rool of all civil-
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ized Governments". For him, he concluded: 

The choice before the people is between mass civil disobed­
ience with all its undoubted dangers anu lawless repression 
of lawful activities of the people. I hold tha.t it is impossible 
for any body of self-respecting men, for lear of unknown 
dangers. Lo sit slil! and do nothing etIective whilst looting of 
property and assaulting of innocent men arc going on aU 
over the country in the name of law and order. 

However, this rather involved if not laboured exercise in 
vindication of the stand which Gandhi and the Congress had 
been compelled to take has in retrospect interest only as a wist­
ful historical curiosity. And not only in retrospect. For the fact 
is that the Maha.tma's rejoinder to the communique of the Go­
\'ernmenl, painstakingly marshalling the reasons why he believ­
ed that he had no other option but to launch a mass civil dis­
obedience movement though, admittedly, confined in the first 
instance to Bardoli and under his own direction, had become 
out of date within twenty-four hours of its drafting. It was, of 
course, widely carried by the national Press the next day and 
even the Anglo-Indian Press published extensive extracts 
from it. But before the printer's ink was quite dry on these 
reports. it had been bypassed by events, or rather, one parti­
cular incident which happened in a remote minor township. in 
fact more a large village than a township though having the 
dubious honour of being blessed with a local police station or 
duma, in Gorakbpur district of the U.P .• namely Chauri Omura. 



CHAPTER XI 

QUESTION-MARKS OVER CHAURI 
CHAURA-AND AFTER 

Strange to rclate that Gandhi almost missed the news of the­
Chauti Chaura incident when it first broke upon his sight: 
Strange. because it was to lead to one of the most controversial 
political decisions he took in his life; one, indeed, which was 
not only to throw the whole Congress movement into great 
confusion and disarray that, fOT quite a while, immobilized, if 
not paralysed. it, but had the most deleterious efreet on' 
Indian polity from which it took years to recover-and even then' 
hut partially. Certainly, it was to make 11im the target of bitter 
criticism from all sides--Ieft, right and centre-and not only from 
those who had little use for his style of political leadership and 
his faith in satyagraha as a mode of political struggle, but even 
many of those in the Congress who were devoted to him and 
had thrown themselves heart and soul into the civil disobedience 
campaign and had actually been jailed for it. 

We have the testimony of someone who was with him at 
Bardoli on that fateful day-February 8, 1922. Fateful bocause 
it was only 72 hours away from the day which he had set as the 
ueadline for giving the go ahead to the people of Bardoli to 
start their "aggressive" civil disobedience if no satisfactory 
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declaration was forthcoming from the Viceroy along the lines 
which he had s.uggested in his tetler to Reading written on Feb· 
ruary t with the drafting of which he seemed rather pleased with 
himself as we learn from Krishnadas' Seven Months ~j/iill 

Mahatma Gatldili, The previous day he "had hurled defiance 
at the Government in his rejoinder to Lord Reading's commu­
nique," writes Krisbnadas and adds: 

When the newspapers of the day arrived at about 10 in the 
morning, the r.:.port about the gruesome incident at Chauri 
Chaura at fir.it escaped Mahatmaji's notice. But subse­
quently, perhaps in the course of a conversation with Mr. 
V.J. Patel, his attention was drawn to it. Then. he sent for 
the papers again, and read the brief telegraphic report of an 
excited mob attacking the police station at Chauri Chaura. 
setting fire to it. and burning to death a body of about 
twenty~one policemen. Mahatmaji was very much agitated 
when he read the news .... 

One can well understand Gandhi's distress at the news. 
Equally, it is not at aU surprising why he did not notice it when 
be first read the newspapers tbat morning. Those were the days 
before banner headHnes became fashionable. What is more, at 
least in so far as the English language newspapers were concer­
ned, whether owned and edited by Indians or controlled and 
edited by the British and serving largely as propaganda and 
publicity arm of the Raj, They were not generally in the habit 
of publishing lhe news of the day on their front page which. for 
the most part, carried a wide range of diverting announcements 
and advertisements. But the interesting, perhaps the significant, 
thing about the Chauri Chaura bappening was that it was not 
considered sufficiently important by the news editors to merit 
being carried as the lead story of the day on one of the main 
news pages. This can be judged from the treatment which it 
received in the Bombay Chronicle which was probably among 
the Bombay newspapers which reached Gandhi at Bardoli on 
the morning of February 8, since there was no air mail delivery 
and papers from Lucknow and Allahabad could not have rea~ 
ched him until a day or two later. It relegated the news of the 
incident to page JO-and that, too, not to the top of the page, 
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but way down in column three, under the relatively unexciting 
headline: "Chaur! elmura Affair" which gave but a dim idea 
of the seriousness of what had happened and was to cast its 
long shadow on the Course of Indian politics in the months and 
years ahead. 

The story was about a quarter of a column in length. It was 
datelined Lucknow, February 7. and bylincd Associated Press­
the Indian filial of Reuter which enjoyed virtual monopoly in 
the field of news gathering and news-dissemination within 
India. The report quoted verbatim a press communique issued 
by the authorities which. in tum, was based on a telegram sent 
by the Commissioner of Gorakhpur. though the despatch did 
not indicate when exactly he had sent his telegram. It referred 
at tbe start to some trouble that had erupted on the "previous 
Wednesday," that is February I. when some persons had tried to 
picket "a bazar" where drugs and liquor-and fish-were sold. 
But on that occasion the police had intervened succes~fully and 
prevented any interference with the sale of narcotics. and 
liquor. 

The next "bazar day" apparently, was three days later-on 
Saturday, February 4. This time "the Volunteers"-and tbro~ 
ughout the first report, and subsequent despatches there was 
emphasis on the term "Volunteers" for a reason which is not 
hard to understand-made a more determined attempt to SlOp 

the sale of drugs and liquor the licence for which was held by a 
"loyal zamindar", The Commissioner estimated the strengtb 
of the volunteers and their supporters at between fifteen hundred 
to two thousand. Later estimates. and especially the testimony 
furnished by the one surviving constable, Sadiq Ahmed, put 
the figure much higher-at three to four thousand. However. 
the figure given in the Commissioner's telegram seems nearer 
the truth. His telegram went on to say: 

The volunteers proceeded to the bazar through lhe police 
station grounds. They attacked the police station witb 
kunkars [stones] and bricks. Eventually the police fired in 
the air [The surviving policeman said they were ordered to 
fire a "blank volley", which is scarcely credible in the con· 
text}, The attack was renewed with greater forces. The 
mob rushed the police and they fled, some into the fields 
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and some into the buildings. A few police must have fired 
on the mob ... but whether it was before the rush or oot I 
cannot say. Bujldjng~ were set on firc .... 

However, the story widely circulated at the time-and be~ 
Jieved even in the Congress circles, including Dr. Sitaramayya­
that the policemen were bumt alive was an exaggerated embroi· 
dery by overheated imagination of those who "isited the scene 
several days after the tragedy. The Commissioner in his tele· 
gram did not suggest any such thing though the details he gave 
were ghastly enough. He spoke of the police and their retinue 
being "brutally beaten to death and then burnt," and put the 
number of dead at 21, police personnel and chowkidars, and 
"a little boy servant of the Sub-Inspector" who was also mur­
derej. Only one police constable and chowkidar escaped, he 
claimed, and added: 

Resistance to the mob, I fear was badly organised, Then 
the mob tore up two rails on the line. cut telegraph wires 
and scattered .... J have just returned from Chauri Cbaura. 
It is impossible to give more details at present. The military 
has arrived and the pollee force of the district has been 
strengthened. There is nervousness in other thanas [police 
stations] and requests for reinforcements have been received. 
Investigation is proceeding. 

During the nex.t few days further details ofwbat had happened 
at Chauri Chama on the afternoon of February 4 were published 
by the newspapers, including a two-column report in thePiOJlRt!1' of 
the account given by the sale sUfvivingpoliceman. There were also 
statements issued by several local leaders-among them a barrister 
Ajudhya Das, and Syed Mohammed Suhhan Ullah. President 
of the District Congress Commiltee, not to mention Devadas 
Gandhi, the Mahatma"s son who was at the time at Allahabad 
and had been helping Mnhadev Desai in the task of bringing out 
a manuscript or written edition of MatHai Nehru's paper, Inde· 
pendenf, and trying to carry it on after Mahadev's arrest and 
conviction on Christmas Eve, 1921. under the Criminal Law 
Amendment Act against which the Congress had been agitating. 
They had visited Cha.uri Chaura but nearly a week after the 
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event and had been appalJed beyond words by the tales of 
horror they had heard and implicitly believed without much 
verification, 

However, the curious-and in some sense intriguing and 
even puzzling thing-about what the Pioneer, the mouthpiece uf 
Ang[o~India and bureaucracy, blandly headlined as "Chaud 
Chaura riots" in its first brief report which appeared on page 
seven on February 8, was the slowness with which the news of 
the terrible incident reached the public at large. Admittedly. 
Chauri Chaura was a small Kasbah and thana, hut it was not 
the back of the beyond or even a frightfully isolated part of the 
United Provinces. It was connected by railway with the rest 
of .India. The killings and arson had taken place early in the 
afternoon OIl Saturday, February 4. It seems that before the 
crowd made its murderous assault on the police a sub~inspector 
bad attempted to. wire a message of alarm to the headquarters; 
that, indeed, part of the message had actually been transmitted 
wben, for some inexplicable reason. he decided to cancel it. It 
may have been because of that throttled message that the milit~ 
-ary and police reinforcements which the Commissioner men~ 
tions in his telegram, had arrived at Chaud Chaura. It is not 
quite clear when the Commissioner reached the scene of the 
crime. But presumably it was the next day which was a Sunday 
or at the latest on Monday. Yet the earliest report of the inci M 

dent to appear in any newspaper in India was four days later­
on February 8. 

Of course, those were not the days of instant "investigative" 
journalism. All the same, it is surprising that the Associated 
Press did not send a correspondent to Chami Chaura to report 
first hal1d and instead chose the lazy alternative of quoting the 
press communique based on the Commissioner's telegram on 
February 7. What is even odder is that the Pioneer could not 
spare a reporter to send to Chauri Chaura tho'ugh it was the 
kind of news which was very much up its street and over which 
it could normal1y have been expected to go to town. It did not 
even consider the episode worth a direct editorial comment 
though it did. over the next few days, not only publish further 
details of the scenario as it had unfolded on that Saturday afterM 
noon at Chaud Chaura, but used it as a convenient illustration 
of the "criminal" nature of tbe civil disobedience campaign 
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whicb Gandhi was leading in its editorial observations on the 
subject. Partiy, thi~ may have been because its anxiety was 
divided between the "riols" at Chauri Chaura and the troubles 
at Bareilly at the same time ill which the Collector. a man called 
Stubbs, had received serious injuries-a fractured upper jaw 
and a ruptured vein on the left side. It even found space for a 
message of sympathy from the highest authority in the Pro~ 
vince to Stubbs which :aid: I'No officer in the Province has 
enjoyed more fully the confidence of the people and of the Govern­
ment, and 1 deplore that you should have been the victim of a 
movement which is as bad as it is mad"-a phrase whkh has the 
true Butlerian family ring. Ir any such comforting message was 
sent by the Governor--Sir Harcourt Butler-to the families of 
the armed and civil police victims of lhe mob fury at Chauri 
Chaura, the Pioneer did not think fit to record it for 
the posterity. 

What is even stranger is thal Delhi was as much in the dark­
or at least a kind of penumbra-about what had happened at 
Chauri Chaura. At any ratc it pretended so to be. The Legis­
lative Assembly was having its usual winter session at the time 
and on February 10 the Home Member, Sir William Vincent, 
~as tackled by a white knight of British Commerce, Sir Frank 
Carter. whether by prior arrangement or on spontaneous im­
pulse it is hard to say. But Vincent could not vouchsafe much 
enlightenment to Carter on the maltcr. In fact he said the Govern~ 
ment had no information beyond what members of the Assem­
bly had seen in that day's Pioneer. A telegram, he added, had 
been sent lor furtber parliculars. The incident had come as a 
great surprise to the Government and reports received had 
suggested that the activities of the Congress Volunteers had 
been "technically peaceful" ex.cept in one or two places where 
the police had to intervene. He did not have any news of dis~ 
turbances in other places in tbe U.P. and assured the Assembly 
that supplementary police had been sanctioned. 

AU this sounded rather sporofic and certainly there was 
no disposition in the Government circles to make too much of 
the Chauri Chaura affair by unduly publicizing it or creating 
the impression that the law and order situation in the United 
Provinces was grave. True, Lord Ronaldshay (later Zetland). 
Governor of Bengal, speaking at tbe Trade's Dinner at Calcutta 
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on February 10 raised the bogey of "orgies of violence" in 
a lengthy passage and referred to Chauri Chaura. But for the 
mos.t part it was not only business, but plea~ures of life as 
usual for the British community-and that not only in Delhi, 
Calcutta. Lucknow or Allahabad, but even in the morussil. 
In Gorakhpur. not a thousand miles away from Chauri Chaura. 
for instance, according to the Pioneer, Spring Gymkhana Race 
Meetings advertised for February 15 and 17 were duly held. 

This may have been partly the proverbial British sallg froid. 
Bul there were probably other reasons for the authorities to 
avoid giving the impression that they were in any way ruffled 
by these little local difficulties and that there was any crisis. 
One of these, inevitably, was that the Prince of Wales was to 
arrive in the capital of India on February 14 for what was to 
be the high point of his "good-will" visit to India. The Govern~ 
ment did not want alarmist reports to appear in the Press in 
Britain which might cause anxiety among the Island Race 
about the safety of the heir to the TIlrone. But there was, per~ 
haps, another and subtler rea!;on for taking the Chauri Chaura 
incident in their stride and not encouraging suspicion and 
apprehension of its being the tip of some larger conspiratorial 
iceberg. In any case, it was probably considered impolitic to 
suggest that there was more to Chauri Chaura than met the eye 
and thus raise inconvenient questions. 

The relative sobriety of Government's reaction to Chauri 
Chaura stood in sharp contrast to the over~reaction on the 
Indian side. Not only the Moderates. but the Congress leader­
ship registered a shock that almost knocked it off balance. 
Maulana Azad Sobhani. Chandrakant Malaviya. Jagjivan 
Lal, Kcshav Dev and Dcvadas Gandhi, according to a report 
in the Bombay Chronicle on February 9, had arrived at Gornkh­
pur; and Devadas Gandhi on his return from Chauri Chaura 
was quoted as having stated. "The facts as stated in the Go­
vernment [press] communique though mainly correct, are mis­
leading in some respects. Making sufficient allowance of the 
peculiar circumstances, doubtless the Nankana tragedy is repea­
ted, frustrnting the highest hopes. We owe our safety to timely 
help" and the support of police and Deputy Magistrate. 

The "Nan kana tragedy" parallel which Devadas Gandhi 
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invoked mny not have seemed very apt to dispas~ionatc ob~cr· 
vers at the time and seems even more inappropriate in retros­
pect, especially as he could not have had much time to investi­
gate what led up to the confrontation between the vohmt(:crs 
and the police. It is true that he was to conduct an unofficial 
inquiry into the Chauri Chaura incident on the instructions 
of his 1;lther a.nd submitted a four-page rcport on it. But 
that was to come later. The statement issued after his first 
hurried visit to Chauri Chaura was somewhat onesided and did 
not take into account the fact that there had been some provo­
cation on the part of the police. Even U1e otl'icial accounts or 
the sequence of events admitted that the police had fired into 
the crowd and killed one or two per5on~~a story reminiscent 
of what had happened at the Hall Bazar Gate at Amritsar almost 
three years carJier. 

However, Dcvadas Gandhi's statement was a model of 
circumsp(..'Ction compared to the statements made by some other 
local Congress leaders. prompted more by their hearts than by 
tbeir heads. A special Corres-pondcnt of the Leader, for ins­
tancc, quoted at some length tbe statement issued by Ajudhya 
Das. Bar-at-Law, and Syed Mohammed Subhan Ullah, Presi· 
dent of the District Congress Committee. [t said: 

We cannot help observing these acts of violence, brutal 
and fiendish murders and roasting to death of living human 
beings can on no account be justified and are the results. of 
carrying on a propaganda among inOammabtc mass.es with 
the avowed object of destroying respect for law and authority 
by persons posing as apostles of non~vioience. The incident 
lihould open the eyes of all if they have not already opened 
to the grave danger with which the country is confronted. 

No government propagandist could have put it more 
strongly. Indeed. Ajudhya Oas, it appears. wrote to A.P. Collett. 
Conector of Gorakhpur, that he had arranged photographs 
of the outrage to be taken to publis.h them in order that the eycs 
of the thinking: portion of his countrymen and countrywomen 
be opened and suggested (he opening of a fund for the family of 
the victims to which he offered to "contribute his mite." Syed 
SUbhan Dllall, who was very "visibly moved" according to the 
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Correspondent, hastened to send wires to Gandhi ,lnd the Con· 
gress President Hakim Ajma! Khan "not to start lhe campaign 
of civil disobedience. at least not in the District (meaning 
Gorakhpur) if not in the Province." He was by no means 
alone among the local Congre!ls notabilities who felt that Gan­
dhi should abandon all plans for mass civil resistance. Another 
"leading non-cooperator:' Mushir Hussain Kidwai, lost no 
time in wiring to the Mahatma warning him that either he mllst 
pO!ltpone civil disobedience or be prepared for outbreaks of 
violence. 

And it was not only the lesser fry among the Congress lead­
ers who were for calling off the planned campaign of civil dis­
obedience. Some of the AIl-lndia Congress leaders. who had 
serious reservations about the wisdom of Gandhi's satyagraha 
movement, saw in the Chaud Chaura incident an excellent peg 
on which to hang their essays in dissuasion. Madan Mohan 
Maklviya sent an urgent message to Gandhi immediately to 
convene a meeting of the Congress Working Committee to rc~ 
examine the whole situation in the light of "the excesses commit· 
tcd at Chaud Chaura." Clearly. for the Government and the 
~till sizeable body of Moderates within the Congre~s, not to men· 
tion those outside it, Chaud Chaura was the kind of incident 
which, if it had not happened, would need to have been inven· 
ted or engineered. 

But how far was the incident a spontaneous eruption or mass 
violence against the police at Chauri Chama and how far was 
it instigated or engineered by some agents provocateurs? That 
is one of the great unresolved question·marks of the Cong.res:; 
history during its Gandhian phase-and one, moreover, which. 
paradoxically enough, has been the most neglected by iL~ his~ 

torians, though lately some peripheral research into the episode 
ha~ been undertaken. This is not the place to probe into this 
tantalizing mystery. But only the naive would rule out the 
pos~ibility of some Indian equivalent of Father Gapon having: 
had a hand in the Chauri Chaura affair. 

The telegraph office at Bardoli must have been kept busy 
on February 8 with telegrams pouring in for Gandhi to draw 
buck from the brink and hold his hand over his plans for sat­
yagraha. Not that he needed any frantic efforts at dissuasion by 
the Congress leaders who had always been sceptical about his 
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political method and honestly believed that it would lead to 
disaster. We know or his reaction to the news when he first read 
the news of what had happened at Chauri Chaura. According 
to Krishnadas who WU:i close to him at the time. the Mahatma 
"immediately decided that he should have to suspend all acti­
vities towards civil disobedience going on along the length and 
breadth of the country." This was evidently even before be 
received a telegram from Madan Mohan Malaviya in Bombay 
urging Gandhi to convene a meeting of the Congress Working 
Committee to reconsider the position although Malaviya then 
was not himself a member of the Committee. Il is important to 
J'itress this because it was said at the time and later that it was 
Mal<lviya who per.;uaded the Mahatma to abandon all thought 
of salyagraha. Gandhi denied this publicly in his "Notes" 
publish.ed in YoulIg Jndhl of February 23 and wrote: 

1 assure the publk that Pandit Maiaviyaji had absolutely 
no hand il1 shaping my decision. I have often yielded to 
Panditji. and it is always a pleasure for me to yield to him 
whenever J can and always painful to differ from on..:: who 
has an unrivalled record of public service and who is sacri~ 
ike personified. But so far as the decision of suspension is 
concerned, 1 arrived at it all my own reading of the detailed 
reporl [.~k] of the Chauri Chaura tragedy in the Chronicle, 
Il was in BaruoH that telegrams were sent convening the 
Working Committee meeting and it wa:. il1 Bardoli that I sent 
a letter to the members of {he Working Committee advising 
them of my desire to suspend civil disobedience. 

Tilis is confirmed by Krishnadas who records that before 
leaving for Bombay the sg,me evening-that is February S-by 
tr;.lin to consult Malaviya and olhers, he wrote to the members 
of the Working Committee telling: them hm\' he felt on the whole 
question and summoning them to a mel!ting to be held at Bilr­
doli on February II to considl!r it. The letler was marked "Con~ 
f1demial (not for publication)" and Kri~lmi1das tells us that 
Gandhi did not reveal his mind except 10 one or two per:;om, 
induding, it seems, Krishnadas. The confitlenlial letter to 
the Working Committee members began by saying that this was 
lhe third time he had received "a rude shock" when he hurl been 
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"on the eve of embarking upon mass civil disobedience;' the 
first being in April 1919 (meaning the outbreak of violence in 
the Punjab) and then again the previous November when there 
was violence in Bombay soon after the arrival of the Prince of 
Wales. He spoke of his "violent" agitation over the events near 
Gorakhpur and at BareiUy and Saharan pur "where volunteers 
have been attempting to take possession of Town Halls." This 
had shaken him. He went on: 

The Civil disobedience of Bardoli can make no impression 
upon the country when disobedience of a criminal character 
goes on in other parts of the country. both for the same 
end. The whole conception of civil disobedience is based 
upon the assumption that it works in and through its 
completely non-violent character. 1 may be a bad student 
of human nature to believe that such an allno~phere can 
ever be brought about in a vast country like India. but 
that would be an argument for condemning my capacity 
for sound judgment, not for continuing a movement which 
is in that case bound to be unsuccessful. I personally can 
never be a party to a movement half violent and half non­
violent, even though it may result in the attainment of 
so-called swaraj, for it will not be real swaraj as I have con­
ceived it. 

After informing them of the date and venue of the meeting 
of the Working Committee, he said that the main item on the 
agenda would be: 

... fin.t whether mass civil disobedience should not be suspen­
ded for the time being; and secondly, whether if it is sus­
pended it should not be discontinued for a definite and suffi­
ciently long period to enable the country to do organizing 
con~tructivc work and to establish an indisputably non· 
violent atmosphere. I want to have the guidance of aU the 
friends I can. I would Uke you to send me your opinion 
even though you may not be able to attend, either by letter. 
if it reaches in time, or by wire. 
I am sending this letter only to the members of the Working 
Committee, but I would like you to consult aU the frien<.b. 
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you meet and if any of them wishes to come to take part in 
the deliberations please bring or send him or them. 

This leuer was written on the spur of the moment and wItHe 
the immediate shock of the news he had read was at its most 
acute. Nevertheless, it was by far the most coherently reasoned 
and succinct statement of the argument and rationale, as he saw 
it, for his seemingly instant decision to suspend the civil dis­
obedience campaign which, on the face of it. could hardly be 
considered politic. much less rational. however magnificent a.<; 
a moral gesture dictated by his ethical scrupulousness. For 
although during the days ahead, and indeed for a long time to 
come. in the controvCI'sy that raged over the decision. he was to 
return again and again to it and explain why he had made it. 
his explanations and arguments never appeared consistent and 
logical enough to induce a willing suspension of disbelief and at 
times even savoured of rather Jesuitical exercises in self-justi­
fication against aU comers, And there were to be plenty of them 
in the days ahead. 

This is true even of the long article headed "The Crime of 
Chauri Chaura" which he wrote in Young India of February 16 
and which, somewhat surprisingly, won applause even from 
Maulana Mohamed Ali with whom non-violence was not an 
article of faith but a matter of political tactics, and another, at 
once more characteristic and idiosyncratic, entitled "Divine 
Warning" which appeared three days later in his Gujarati weekly 
Nawljivan. In both of them Gandhi was at pain to expand and 
elaborate the argument he had developed briefly but with some 
effect in his letter to the members of the Congress Working 
Committee. But the elaboration of his argument had not ncces­
ioatily made it more compelling even though the piece in 
N({V(ljhan was illuminated at points by touching Gandhian 
syllogism!'! which belonged to a universe of discourse that is 
beyond Logic. He wrote, for instance: 

Atonement should not be advertised. But I have publicized 
mine, and there is a reason. My fast is atonement for me bUl. 

for the people of Chauri Chaura., it is a punishment. The 
punishment inflicted by love is always of this nature. When 
a lover is hurt. he does nol punish the loved one, but 
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suffers himself: he bears the pangs of hunger anu hits hi" 
own head. He is unconcerned whether or not hi:;. loved ones 
undcr~tand his suffering. 

The "atonement" he was referring to wa" the five days' [ast 
which he began on February 13 on the day after the Working 
Committee meeting. What his readers made of the explanation 
of his self-chastisement we do not know although Freudian 
psycho-analysis would have something to say ahout this classic 
instance of turning inwards of aggrc%ion. Not that lhc psycho­
analytical cxplnnation would leave U~ much wiser on the strange 
ways in which Gandhi's mind worked. 

Gandhi spent only one day in Bombay. He returned to 
Bardolj by the morning train on February 10. Bomanji. Valla­
bhbhai Patel, and Mathuradas Trikumdas traveUed with him by 
the same train. Malaviya. K. Natarajan and Jayakar, whom 
he had invited to take part in the meeting of the Working Co~ 
mmittee, came tater as abo lamnalal Bajaj who was in Wardha. 
Kelkar also came the next day. According to Krishnadas, a 
messenger from Gorakhpur had arrived "with detailed infor­
mation about Chauri Chaura and described the whole incident 
to Mahatmaji." Shuaib Qureshi was asked to take down the 
statement of the man who had come from Gorakhpur. Armed 
with these details. some of them horrific. Gandhi called a 
meeting of his co~workers in BardoH in. his room that afternoon. 
These. it seems, included not only veteran Congressmen like 
V.I. Patel. Dayalji. S.R. Romanji. but aha two young boys 
who, writes Krishnadas, "had come into the room perhaps out 
of c11ildish curiosity, but they were also asked by Mahatmaji 
to express their views" on whether or not to begin the civil 
disobedience campaign "in the face of the terrible happening at 
Chauri Chaura." 

An overwhelming majority of those present thought that 
the point of no return had been reached: "that it was unthink­
able to suspend the fight at that stage: that if Mahatmaji retrea~ 
ted after throwing out a challenge to Lord Reading in the 
manner he had done by his rejoinder to the government com~ 
munique, the whole country would be disgraced before Ihe worhl.·' 
Apparently, oIlly three persons dissented with this majority 
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view und said that to start mass satyagraha in the prevailing: con· 
ditions would be to court "catastrophe", Gandhi. says Krishna­
daSc who was almost certainly with the dissenter~. "gave a very 
patiem hearing to all the views and opinions brought forw~lrd 
before the meeting:' But he was not impressed by the majority 
view. Ruther the reverse. For he said: 

J regard those who have assembled here as some of the bc~t 
workers in the country. In fact J can see tbe condition 
of J ndin at the present time truly refledcd by this smnU 
assembly. What 1 have heard now conHrms me in the belief 
that mo:>.t of those who are present here have failed to under­
stand the mcssage of non-violence. This convinces me thilt 
country al large has not at all accepted the teaching: of non­
violence, 1 mu~t. therefore, immediately ~top the movement 
for civil disobedience. 

He was obviously upset by the views expressed by those 
who were close to him and Krishlladas remarks: "As soon as 
he finished this observation, Mahatmaji adopted a grave. and 
somewhat stern attitude, which made the workers quietly leave 
his room, one by one." But his co·workers were no less upset 
by wbat seemed to them a volte far.:e on the part of the Mahatma. 
One case or indiscipline, no matter. how grave, to them 
hardly justified calling off the whole campaign. Convinced that 
Gandhi had made up his mind and that nothing would alter it, 
Krishnadas writes: "They began to feel that their hopes and 
dreams bad been shattered to pieces. The ~hock had been so 
great that it seemed to have temporarily unhinged one -promi­
nem gCl'l.tieman. Who began to mow .lbout the whole camp. 
shouting: at the lOp of his voice. 'Why should violence be so 
much deprecated', '\vhaL harm if there was a litHe ju~tinable 
violence, here and there'. These were the words consumtly on 
his lips. and he stopped. evcry one, who happcned to come ncar 
him. to arj!uc the point with him. Seth Jamnalal Baja.). who 
had arrived by the evening train, found lht:: whole camp in a 
state of confusion and disorder .... ,. 

This one can wdl believe. Gandhi him~cJf was in ;t state or 
anguhh which worried tho~c who \vere close to him. "Whis­
pers," says Krishnadas, "were going round the c:lmp that he had 
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been contemplating a two weeks' fast in expiation of the crime 
of Chauri Chaura. This frightened us comidcrably, as we did 
not know ",hether his frail body was capable of sustaining the 
effects of such a prolonged fast." Indeed. Mathuradas Trikumdas 
asked the Mahatma "whether he was seriously thinking of 
giving up his body" to which Gandhi's reply was: "No; I 
imagine God has yet some purpose to serve with this body. [ 
h:lve no desire to give up the body immediately." 

Such was the almost incredible atmosphere of soulfulnes., 
combined with an ambient neurasthenic tension. if not mild 
hy~teria. at the Supreme Command Headquarters of lhe Con· 
gress on the eve of a momentous decisions being taken by its 
leadership which was to affect the politics of India for several 
years to come. One can well appreciate the difficullY which 
Western historians of whatever school. must experience in 
comprehending this peculiar Gandhian context and fitting it 
into the categories of understanding known to them and in 
which they think. Even some of his close associates found 
Gandhi's frame of mind at the time hard to understand. 

Kri.;.hnadas, for example, records that' the first thing Mahat~ 
maji did in the morning [of February 11] was to draft a reso· 
lution suspending the projected civil disobedience at Bardoll, 
and all other aggressive activities going on throughout the 
country. He then asked me to give the draft to Me Shuaib 
[Qureshi] for his opinion. A little while later! saw Mr. Shuaib 
coming to Mahatmaji"s room very much alarmed and agitated. 
Meeting me on the way he said that he knew it was impossible 
to dislodge Gandhiji from a position once he ... had made up 
his. mind; but still he must try, He, indeed, tried his best to 
persuade Mnhatmaji to tone down the terms of the resolution, 
but without any effect." So did olhers, including Mian Maho­
med Haji Jan Mahomed Chhotani, Moa7,.Zam Ali, Zahur Ahmed 
and some others who represented the Central Khilafat Commit­
tee and had arrived by the morning train on February II to 
take part in the deliberations. "Some of them," Krishnadas 
who was present at the general informal meeting which preceded 
the Working Committee meeting, writes, "tried (0 induce 
Mahntmaji 110t t() suspend civil disobedience in a hurry. But 
Mahatmaji waS adamant." 

Of course, Gandhi had SUPP0T( from Malaviya and 
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Jayakar for lhe stubborn stand he had taken. They even flancred 
him. Malaviya. for instance. said (according to Krishnadas) 
that by this "one act of his, Mahatmaji had established his 
title to greatness for all time. and would be remembered as a 
great benefactor of Jndia." Jayakar spoke in similar adulatory 
eVen hyperbolic terms and said that "it was his firm belief that 
except Mahatmaji there was no one else in this world who coutd 
have ventured to suspend civil disobedience in that situation." 
All this may have been true. But true or false, it was not quite 
germane and relevant to the issue. The issue was simply whe­
ther the eruption of violence in Chauri Chaura a week earlier 
justified indefinite suspension of the planned campaign of mass 
satyagraha in Bardoli which was to be conducted under strict 
supervision by the Mahatma and his trusted lieutenants and the 
consequences for the country as a whole of such a negative 
deci.~ion. 

Doubtless those who were opposed to the suspension of 
civil disobedience argued their case in this sense. We do not 
know. For the Working Committee meeting was held in camera, 
presumabJy to allow fuller and franker discussion. At all 
events, the really powerful voices against the suspension were 
not and could not be raised at BardoH-and for the good 
reason thal they were under lock and key in far away prisons. 
The only Working Committee members who were present at 
the Bardoli meeting were Chhotani. Jamnalal Bajaj, Vithalbhai 
J. Patel (Sardar's brother). N.C. Kelkar-and Gandhi who 
presided. Madan Mohan Malaviya, M.R. Jayakllr and K. 
Nalardjan. according to the official report of the Working Com­
mittee proceedings. gave the Committee the benefit of their 
views. After hearing them. il adds. the Committee deliberated 
for about three hours-which suggests that the discussion was 
fairly full. At the cnd of the day, however, the resolution drafted 
by the Mahatma. was adopted. It was a lengthy rcsolution. but 
its. kcy operative pari was in paragraph three which read: 

In view of Nature's repeated warnings every time mass civil 
disobedience has been imminent some popular violent out­
burst has taken place indicating that the atmosphere in the 
country is not non~violelll enough for mass civil disobed­
ience. the latest instance being the tragic and terrible events 
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at Chauri C!mura near Gorakhpur, the Working Cl)mmittee 
or the Congress resolves that mass civil Jisobedience con­
templated at Bardoli and elsewhere be suspended and 
instructs the local Congress Committees forthwith to advise 
the cultivators to pay the land revenue and other taxe" due 
to the Government tlTld whose pltyment might have been 
suspended ill anticipation of mass civil Jisobedience. and 
instructs them to suspend every othc-r preparatory activity 
of an offensive nature. 
The suspension of mass civil uisobedience shall be continued 
ti!! the aln1()spilerc is so non-violent as to ensure the 11on­
repetition of popular atrocities such as at Gomkhpur or 
hooliganism such as at Bombay and Madras respectively 
on the 17th November 1921 and 131h January last. 

There was more to the resolution than just the decision to 
suspend the civil disobedience on a mass scale which Was 10 
have begun within seven days of the publication of his letter to 
the Viceroy-or what Gandhi called "this manifesto" and the 
Piolle'er editorially described as "impudent ultimatum." People 
in various parts of the country, understandably, were interpret­
ing the civil disobedience movement in their own way and stret­
ching its scope to encompass purposes dictated by their parli~ 
cular needs. Any other political leader would. within limits. 
have taken a latitudinarian view of their tra.nsgressions and 
even made a virtue of necessity in turning a blind eye to them. 
But not so Gandhi as he then was. The res(')iutiun severely ad~ 
monished those who wantcd to enlarge the purpose of the mass 
civil disobedience beyond what he had laid down. It also shar~ 
ply pulled up those who were being very lax in the selection of 
volunteers, and enjoined strict adherence to "the full Congress 
cons!it ution." 

However. it is indicative of the rigorous democratic norms 
which the Congress- scrupulously observed in those days that 
although Gandhi had been vested with virtually dictatorial 
powers at the Ahmedabad session of the C()ngr~"s, the Working 
Commil'tec·s resolution was to be etTeclive "only pending the 
meeting to be specially conveneu of the All India Congres'> 
Committee and thereafter subject to confirmation by it, the 
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secretary 10 call such meeting as early a<;. p<Jssible after consulta­
tion with Hakim Ajmal Khan," the President of the Congress 
who, for some reason, did not attend the Working Committee 
meeting at Bttrdoli. Thai seems to have been the only business. 
conducted by the Working Committee on that day, 

However. according to Krishnadas, Gandhi's friend, Shan· 
kcrlal Banker, that evening brought to his notice a problem 
which the Mahatma had not considered. Shankcrlal may ~lr 

may not have invoked the parallel of the f.J.ffiOUS Duke or Yvrk 
who marched his men up the hill and then marched thef!l dowil 
again, but he did suggest ·'to Mahatmaji that all aggres';he 
activities having: been :;uspended. the people might feel that 
they had been left s.uspended in mid~air and that there mU$t be 
some programme which would harness Iheir energies and direct 
them towards s.ome COll$tructive effnrt." The suggestion did not 
fall on stony ground and Gandhi agreed to think over the pro­
blem. Next morning he drafted a constructive programme and 
the Working Committee readily adopted it (see Appendix Ill} 
before adjourning after agreeing to meet again "on the day on 
which the forthcoming ses.sion of [he An~lndia Congrcs~ 

Committee meets." 
"The excessive strain of the last three days has greatly told 

upon Mahatrnaji's health," we read in Krishnadas' Sew?1i Mon(hs 
With Mahatma Gandlti. This was hardly surprising. Apart from 
his inward anguish over the brutal Chauri Chaura killings, he 
could hardly remain unaffected by the sense of gloom and dep­
ression around him. Everybody had been keyed up to engage 
in the non~violent struggle and at the last minute almost they 
had been told by their leader that there was not going to be any 
struggle and they had been asked to disperse in their various 
directions. EVen N.C. Kelkar was "much depressed," Krish­
nadas tells us, and in vain did Gandhi try to cheer him up that 
moming when he came to lake leave of him before taking the 
train to Bombay. 

However. Gandhi was nothing if not an "athlete of the 
spirit," as. the Giw felicitously phrases it. His remedy for dep­
ression orten was to take upon himself a penitential bur,jen 
that would (est his s.trength 10 the limits of endurance-and e\en 
beyond those limits. The next day-February l3~w'L~ his weekly 
"day of siJence"-a discipline which he strictly adhered to th'JUgh 
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few of the Congress leaders in his time or since. including those 
who claimed to be Gandhian, ever followed his example and 
even though it is a discipline much to be recommended, especi­
ally to politicians in India. or elsewhere. But the previous even­
ing he had given Krishnadas who seems to have been acting as 
his Man Friday at the time. "instruction in writing that as a 
penance for the Chauri Chaunt. disaster" he had that evening­
February 12-begun a five-day fast. Krishnadas touchingly 
adds that, because he was fearful that the Mahatma might 
decide to fast as an act of atonement, "for the last two 6ays I 
had been asking people who generally surrounded him, not to 
discuss anything about fast or penance, hoping that the ques­
tion might thereby receive burial. But it was, as events proved, 
an idle hope:' The Mahatma's inner voice, or refiexes, were 
nOI so easily to be bypassed. 

However despite the fragile I)tate of his health, Gandhi not 
-only survived the fast, but was able during those five days to 
attend to a vast amount of his journalistic chores for Young 
India and NavQjil'QII and all his correspondence as weH, thougb, 
as Krishnadas has recorded. by the last day, February 17, when 
at five in the afternoon he broke his fast in the presence of 
Rajendra Prasasd, Jamnatal Bajaj and Anasuya Sarabhai by tak­
ing "a small quantity of milk, a few grapes and a cup of orange 
juice" from Krishnadas, he was close to a stale of "exhaustion 
and prostration." But as usual he had enormous reserves of 
resilience and the next day. when a train carrying Maulana 
Mohamed Ali and Dr. Kitchlew from Karachi Jail to the jails 
at Bijapur and Dhulia to which they bad been transferred, hal­
ted at Bardoli, and they expressed a strong wish to see Gandhi, 
he did not disappoint them. Krishnadas writes: 

The train ... was detained for a while and, Dayaljibhai ran 
post-haste, and engaged a horse carriage to bring Mahat­
maji quickly to the station. Mahatmaji arrived. He walked 
the platform with slow Rnd tired steps, leaning on the staff 
in his hand. The sight that ensued when he approached the 
compartment occupied by the Maulana and the Doctor, is 
beyond my power to describe. 
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Indeed, four days la.ter-on February 22-Gandhi was able 
to start for Delhi to attend the meeting of the All-India Con­
gress Committee which had been tix.ed there for February 24-25. 
And not only to attend the meeting, but face the music. For 
Gandhi's fast had by no means disarmed the crilics of his deci­
sion. In the ten to twelve days between the meeting urthe Work­
ing CommitLee at Bardoli and the ALCC. meeting at Delhi, 
the storm of criticism had been gathering strength and letters of 
protest, even personal abuse, were pouring in by every post in 
the days immediately fonowing the announcement of the deci­
sion to suspend mass civil disobedience movement at Bardoli 
on February 12. This can be judged from his journalistic writ­
ings during the period in YOllng India and NaJ'ojil'Clfl a great 
part of which was devoted to answering his critics, whether 
polite or rude, who werc exceedingly angry with him over the 
decision that the Working Committee had endorsed. It was 
clear Ihat it was. not going to be smootll sailing for him at the 
A.LCe. meeting at Delhi. 

In fact, there was. some objection to having the meeting at 
DeIhL Mrs. C.R. Oas, whose husband was still in jail, accor­
ding to Krishnadas. pressed the Mahatma to change the venue 
to Calcutta. But this was not possible at such short notice, but 
Gandhi offered to go to Calcutta after the meeting if she so 
desired. He was not afraid of facing his. critics in BengaL Dr. 
Mahmud had been to Calcutta a.nd he had wired to Gandhi from 
Patnn that "the leaders of Bengal were very much displeased 
with the Bardoli decision. and that they were even contempla­
ting open defiance of that decision." But Bengal ,"as not the 
only plOvince which was opposed to the decision to call off the 
mass civil disobedience. So was the Punjab-a.nd not only the 
Punjab. Most of the leaders in the U.P. were unhappy about 
it and in Maharashtra, those claiming to be the devotees of 
Tilak, who had never been wholly reconciled to Gandhi's leader­
ship. found in lhe Bardoli resolution solid ground for mounting 
a. critical fusillade against him. 

He arrived in Delhi on February 23 where, Krishnadas 
writes, he "had to pass through a veritable ordeal of fire." He 
stayed with Dr. Ansari at his house in Daryaganj, which in 
those days was a most agreeable residential area under the 
shadow of the Red Fort and within sight of the great Jama 



334 INDIAN NATIONAL CO~GRESS 

Ma~jid. The excitement was at high pilch and u"1parently, Kri~ 

shnadas records, a Delhi friend "jokingly remarkcd ... that the 
Bengal people would come and break our heads with their 
lalhis." Bengali people are not experts at wielding the luthi, but 
it was no joking matter either and the representatives from 
Bengal argued furiously with him for two hours and did not 
depart till midnight. He did not convince them. nor was he 
prepared to yield and "make any compromise on the funda­
mental issue of non-violence," After the Bengali representa­
tives had departed, Gandhi was handed by a messenger "a 
very long letter from a distinguished Indian leader, who was 
also in gaol at the time, and who was equally with the others 
-disgusted with Mahatmaji on account of the Bardoli decision, 
and criticised the latter in terms of bitter reproach." Gandhi 
\,'a$ evidently affected by the letter. For although Krishnadas 
does not reveal the identity of the writer, he records that "Mahat­
maji kept reading that letter far into the night, even after we 
had retired:" 

The next morning a meeting of the Congrc!\s Working Co­
mmittee was held at eleven. It was not only attended by the 
members of the Committee but a.lso "on invitation by represen­
tatives of the provinces," The Congress President, Hakim 
Ajmal Khan. presided and it wa.s clear from the start that it was 
going to be somewhat different from the Working Committee 
meeting at Bardell which had adopted Gandhi's resolution 
without much ado. The President at the outset read out "an 
important communication from another te<~der of ~tll-India 
n:pute, who also criticised the Bardoli decision as. sounding 
the death-knell of non-cooperatioLl," Gandhi followed with 
pl".cing before the Committee several other letters he luui re­
l'civcd from "<'.riau:'> per:>ons all over India.. There were some 
from people in jail" for their part ill the Non-coopentlion move­
ment. Mo~1 of them were in a critic:l.! vein, alld even those 
whi(;h accepted the ca\ling ofT of mass. civil disobedience, saw 
no reason why all other items ill the satyagraha c3.mpaign 
should be abandoned, 

But the Mahatma. ~cemed to be in all unyielding mood, at 
least on the ~urface. He rejected the arguments of his critics. 
particularly those in prisons on the rather feeble almost legalistic 
and quibbling: ground that, as Krishnadas. puts it, "jt was no 
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business of those who were undergoing imprisonment to exprCS5 
Iheir opinion on thlOgS happening outsiJe, and thai i>imila.rly 
il was no part of the duty of those who were outside to pay any 
heed to those opinions." Later he was even dogmatically to 
maintain that those behind the prison bars were "civilly dead." 
This was not only an irrational argument. but like rubbing salt 
into the wounds of those who had gone to jail in pursuance of a 
programme which Gandhi and the Congress had drawn up. 
It was, of course, permissible to argue that those in jail were 
not in possession of full facts of the situation outside and there­
fore their assessment of the situation outside the prison walls 
was bound to be in some degree defective. But to decree that 
lheir opinion could be "summarily rejecled" was manifestly 
unfair and bound to cause deep offence to those who were not 
exactly having a picnic in their places of incarceration and. 
according to his own version in his ankles in his two weekly 
journals and his letters to the Viceroy, were being subjected to 
all forms of Severe and even humiliating punishments. It i1i 
surprising that the Mahatma was unaware thaI in declaring: them 
as "civilly dead" he was culpable of an enormity of unfairness 
and injustice. But, then. saints can at times be even more inscn· 
sillve to other people's feelings than most sinners would dare 
to be. 

However, he was on much firmer gn.1und when he argued 
that he c0ulll not agree with those who were paying lip service 
to non·violence. but had no conviction about it and were 
"following the programme of non-cooperatioll ... while all the 
time working for a violent revolution in India under cover of 
non-violence." In facl, he told them, Kri~hnada!> writes. that 
'·if after a full and fair discusskm of the subject, the Congress 
adopted a programme baseJ on the theory of violence, be would 
welcome it. It would be. iuuccd. a source of happiness to him 
if he was defeated at the meeting of the All-India Congress 
C ommiUee on the definite issue of llon-violence I'l'rSUS violence." 
In that c..1.se he would g() his own way "with a band of small 
but select and sincere body of workers. untrammelled by any 
artificial majority such as that dogged him at every step." 

This was a perfectly fair point to m:lke and it seems that 
Gandhi made !he p<)inl "with such deliberation and cool com~ 
posure, weighing every word as he uttered it, that they 
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produced an immediate effect upon the audience." What he was 
saying, in effect, was thal he wa.,> willing to step down from 
leadership of the Congress but that jf they wanted him to lead it 
then that could only be on his terms and they must lea.rn to 
tuke the rough with the smooth. Faced with this choice. the 
opposition to him melted away, and even Swami Shraddhanand 
who had mounted the assault all Gandhi from the Right, ad­
mitted that in the conditions in wbich the struggle had to be 
waged there was no option but to accept the guidance of the 
Mahatma. Others also fell into line, although some insisted 
that while they were prepared to abandon mass civil disobedi­
ence, they could not forego the right of picketing liquor and 
foreign doth shops and "defensive civil disobedicnee ... in 
respect of the Punitive Police Tax, \vherevcr such tax ha.d been 
imposed upon the people" and other acts of Government high­
handedness. 

However, having won his main point and one which was 
a Malter of principle with him, Gandhi was willing to soften 
his apparently intransi~ent stand and give the 0pp0:-iite ~ide 
some satisfaction. Indeed, if Krishnadas is to be believed~ 

and his testimony most of the time has a ring of truth~relates 
that the Mahatma "had already guessed the mentality of those 
who were opposing the Bardoli decision, and what would satisfy 
the Non·cooperators generally under the situation. He had on 
his way from Bardoli to Delhi, prepared a draft resolution res­
toring the very rights for which the representatives [from the 
provincesJ pressed in the course of their discussion with mem­
bers of the Working: Committee. namely, the right of defensive 
civil disobedience and the right of picketing foreign cloth. This 
draft Mahatmaji placed before a second sitting of tllC Working 
Committee held in his room at two in the afternoon:' The 
Committee adopted it and authorised him "to place this reso· 
lution before the AII·lndia Congress Committce as the main 
resolution on behalf of the Working Committee:' 

The battle in the AU-India Congress Committee was going 
to be considerably tougllcr. It was to have met at two in the 
afternoon. But because the Working Committee was unable to 
complete its business in the morning and had to have a second 
session in the afternoon, the A.I.C.C. did not begin ih session 
tiJI 7 P.M. There was a problem even before the proceedings 
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properly began. There was. objection by some mem bers to the 
pre::>cncc of reporters at the meeting. Dr. B.S. Moonjc. who 
had made up his mind to oppose Gandhi and the Working 
Committee resolution, argL1ed, perfectly reasonably, that since 
they were going to discuss "matters of life and death to the 
nation" and it was vilal that they should "speak out their minds 
withOlll any reservation," the presence of outsiders wa" not 
desirable. The President, Hakim Ajmal Khan, wanted "to 
know the sense of the House." However, hefore he could put 
the issue to vote, representatives of the Indian Press who. with 
but rare exception in those days did not see their role as a sche­
matically "adversarial" one, "voluntarily withdrew from the 
meeting:' Members could, therefore. give expression to their 
feelings and views without any inhibition. 

After the minutes of the last meeting of the A.Lee. had 
been duly read and approved, Gandhi moved the resolution 
which the Working Committee had adopted. As the official 
summary of the proceedings of the meeting of the Committee, 
from which the Press had been excluded, has ie 

He began by giving the genesis of the Bardoli resolution~ 
and made it clear that Pandit Malaviyaji had no hand what­
ever in those resolutions. He asked the members to bear in 
mind that if they accepted non-violence whether as a creed or 
a policy, they must also be prepared to accept certain corol­
laries that followed from it. fn the same connection he 
said that so long as they claimed to be non-violent and so 
long as they claimed to have the country with them, it was 
impossible fOT them to disown responsibility for a.cts of 
violence committed out of sympathy for them in any part 
of India such as those committed in Gorakhpur or al Bam· 
bay, He also added that it was open to them to give up non· 
violence if they considered it unworkable or incff'ective. He 
explained that by the resolution it was not intended t" go 
back upon the Nagrur Non-cooperation resolution in any 
way. He urged the members to be clear on the point of prin· 
cjplc and not overeoneerued with details. 

This is a fair summary of his argument which he pre~en(ed 
more SUCcinctly and coherently than he had done in the Working 
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Committee and without trailing any red herrings about the 
opinion of non-cooperators who were in jails being ilIff(! I'irt','), 

a~ it were. According to Krishnadas he repeated what he had 
told the Working Committee: thut he was "prepared to renounce 
hjs leadership;" that he wanted them "to ponder seriously 
whether they should continue to follow him as its [Congress'] 
leader;" but that if they still accepted his leadership, then they 
must put up with "other and greater occasions of insult and 
suffering" which they might have to undergo because of his 
decisions. He described himself as "incorrjgible," and if they 
choslO to follow him "whencverthc circumstances demanded it, 
tiley ~hould have to beat a retreat even when they were in sight 
of the desired goaL" He also made it clear that although "the 
proposed resolution had restored [0 the Provincial Congress 
Committees the right of picketing, they must be very cautious 
in the exercise of that right" and not resort to tactics which 
involved "a form of violence," 

All this must have sounded ralher egocentric and tant­
amount to placing his own judgement over and above the col~ 
iecllvc wisdom of the Congress and its decision-making organs. 
But al least he could nOl be accused of deceiving the Congress 
and trying to secure its leadership under fabe pretences, If 
anything. the contract under which he was prepared to lead it 
was not only spelt out by him in clear but rather harsh terms, 
Ir had the option to reject its tcrms and find another leader. 
But as Vithalbhai Palel, who seconded the Mahatma's motion 
in a speech which was distinctly pedestrian and even lackadai­
sical, "aid, "The strategy of mass civil disobedience was known 
only to Mabatmaji" and he alone was qualified to conduct it 
"with any chance of success." 

There followed a procedural wrangle. Dr. B.S. Moonje stood 
up and argued, with some justice, that if the resolution was passed 
by the A.l.Ce., then it would rule out the possibility of taking 
into consideration his censure motion against Gandhi (there was 
al!>o !lnother censure motion in the name of J.M. Sen-Gupta, 
CR. Das' lieutenant), But, as the rules of procedure stood, the 
Working Committee's resolutions had precedence over those 
of other members of the A.I.C.C. It was characteristic of Gandhi 
that he recognised the legitimacy of the point made by Dr. 
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Moonje and withdrew his resolution so that Moonje's vote of 
censure could be laken up. 

And so it was. Moonje wanted a Committee of Enquiry to 
ussess the harm which had been inflicted on the country by "the 
policy and programme of non...cooperation:' He accused the 
Congress leaders-and he meant Gandhi above all--of "playing 
ducks and drakes with the honour and prestige of the country, 
and the Bardoli resolution had brought them to the lowest 
depth of degradation." The country, he declared, should not 
allow its own representatives to heap insults upon it. His motion 
was supported by Swami Salyadeva, M.V. Abhyankar and 
Maulana Hasrat Mohani. They were no less bitter against the 
Mahatma, but they formulated their criticism in less crude 
and more reasoned terms. As Krishnadas records, they demunded 
·'n clear definition of nOIl~violence; they demanded to know the 
exact line of demarcation between non-violence and violence." 
They wanted to know where precisely non-violence ended and 
violence began. 

All this wa~ fair polemical game. BUl it proved 100 much 
for Hakim Ajmal Khan who was rather unwell. He decided to 
'-·scate the chair and Gandhi look lhe prc'iidential seat. Krishna~ 
Jas has it that this "worked a miracle .... The atmosphere of the 
meeting had become highly tense and somewhat poisonous due 
to the violence of the attack [on Gandhi], and had gathered 
volume and force from the opposition to it from some of 
Mahatmaji's supporters." The key to the miracle that he worked 
was simplicity itself. He ruled from thC' chair that only those 
who supported Dr, Moonjc's Illation of censure would be allowed 
to sp(Jak. His own supporters naturally protested, but whenever 
anyone among them interrupted Dr. Moonje's men Gandhi 
sternly asked lhe interrupter "to sit down and kecp his peace." 
.. It was," writes Krisbnadas, "an object-lesson in tolerance, 
patience, humility as weB as love and respectful consideration 
for the feelings of the adversary .... " Certainly, by the end 
even Moonje. a most combative and even aggressive personality, 
wa~ sufficiently moHified as to get up and say lh~t he wanted 
"to hear the arguments on Mllh~tmaji';; side." But on this Gandhi 
did not ohlige him. He refused to defend himself. 

At all events, Dr. Moonje and his contingent, for all their 
sound and fury, were in a minority. The motion of censure was 



340 I:->DIAN NATION,\L CONGRESS 

defeated by an overwhelming majority. So, too, the other vote 
of censure moved by 1.M. Sen-Gupta which, although somewhat 
differently phrased, had the same essential thrust. The A.LC.C. 
then adjourned. But despite the defeat of lhe two censure motion!>. 
Gandhi was not happy over the way things had gOlle. Unlike 
latter-day Gandhians, arithmetic and head-counting meant little 
to him. He was aware, as Krishnadas has recorded, that many 
of those who had voted the censure motions down had done so 
because of their personal regard for him, not out of conviction. 
Also, perhaps. he was unimpressed by the argument that the 
Congress had no option but to accept his leadership because 
there was no\:lody else who could lead them success[ully and effec­
tively in any campaign of non.cooperation. They were supponing 
him. as it were, Jaule de mieux-for want of somebody better. 
Krishnadas records: 

He passed the whole night without any sleep, and tossed about 
his bed in a slate of restless agitation. Finding us somewhat 
alarmed on his account in the morning, he only heaved a deep 
sigh. and in a voice choked with emotion exc1aimcd-"What 
am I todo? I do not dearly see my way." 

Thls was probably true even in a deeper sense than he was 
willing lO admit to himself. Immediately, however, he had to face 
his critics again the next morning-February 25·-when the 
A.l.e.c. met to consider and scrutinize the Bardoli resolution. 
The Maharashtra contingent which, like the one from Bengal. 
had never quite taken to Gandhi and his ways and perhaps. 
never did, were allergic to the idea of dragging God into politics. 
and excessive use of theological and didactic phraseology in 
political resolutions. Gandhi expressed his willingness to delete 
the references to God and Truth from the resolution. But, on the 
other hand, according to Krishnadas. there were others. 
induding Sri Prakasa of Benaras, who w.mted the Mahatma to 
stand firm on the original resolution adopted by the Working 
Commiltee at Bardoli and even reject the modifications which 
the Working Committee 11ad accepted at its Delhi meeting. 
Thi,~, it seems, is what he did and the undiluted Bardoli resolution, 
tbat is minus the clauses which permitted defensive civil di~­

obedience, was passed by the A.I.C.C. with a decisive majority. 
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However. this- called rorth a very sharp protest from Dr. M.A. 
Ansari. "At this stage," writes Krishnadas. ·'Dr. Ansari got up and 
delivered a speech criticising the last decision of the Committee 
and described it as a most unfortunate decision. For. by that 
decision, he believed that the Committee had put its signature 
to the doom of the present national movement. and also of other 
national activities in India ror some lime to come:' Gandhi 
held Dr. Ansari in high e-otcem, but even more, as Krishnadas 
puts it, "the pathos and grief which the spef...'Ch revealed exposed 
to Mahatmaji's view the real state of feelings of the country's 
best and trusted leaders. As soon, therefore, as the speech was 
over, Mahatmaji made a short statement in which he explained 
that he had no idea that the opposition to the Bardoli proposals 
was 50 very strong even amongst those whom he regarded as the 
true custodian or the country's interests. He did not want to 
carry the proposition in the teeth of opposition of those without 
whose co-operation he could not hope to carryon work in the 
country." He, therefore. asked leave to withdraw his previous 
motion. Instead, the members were asked to VOle on the amended 
resolution which the Working Committee had adopted and which 
restored the right or individual civi( disobedience and picketing 
to the Provincial Committees. "This," says Krishnadas. "was 
also adopted by an equally large majority, and the meeting 
dispersed at about 9 P.M." 

The work or the A.r.ee. was over and it was not to meet 
again till the first week of June in very different circumstances 
and minus Gandhi. However, the Working Committee did meet 
the next day to discuss diverse matters. like propaganda for the 
Congress cause in foreign parts and modalities for implementing 
the new constructive programme on the initiative of Jamnalal 
Bajaj who actually suggested the creation of "porlfolios" by 
setting up "departments- for carrying on the different items" 
of the Congress work in the difficult period ahead. Gandhi, it 
seems, liked Jamnalal's suggestions and asked him to take charge 
of the department ror the promotion of khaddar. He also wanted 
Dr. Pattabhi Sitaramayya, the future historian of the Congress. 
who was not a member of the Working Committee but had 
attended its meeting as a visitor, to be ready to take over "the 
duties of Director of National Education throughout India." 
For Gandhi and his generation of Congress leaders seemed 
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passionately to believe in education, but an education oriented 
to the needs of the nation and attuned to its genius. 

However, important as these organisational proposals and 
plans for strengthening the Congress were, they were relalively 
minor footnotes to the historic decision which the AJ.C.C. had 
endorsed, entirely on the Mahatma's advice, to suspend the 
mass civil disobedience movement sine die, Long ago, in India's 
legendary past, "on the holy field of Kurukshetra," Krishna 
had managed to persuade a reluctant Arjuna to go into battle 
against his own kith and kin. Gandhi, on the other hand, had 
persuaded the Congress movement aU ready to engage an alien 
Government and. indeed. eager to do so, to accept his order of a 
general and voluntary retreat even before the battle had been 
really joined. It must remain an everlasting question whether it 
would not have been better for India if the two great dramas of 
our destiny had been enacted the other way round .... 



CHAPTER XII 

FROM THE JAWS OF DEFEAT 

Krishnadas was not exaggerating when he spoke of "the 
pathos and grief" which Dr. Ansari's speech at the AII-Tndia 
Congress Committee meeting at Deihl, as it were in a flash, 
revealed to Gandhi's view as characterising the true state of 
feelings into which his decision to abandon the plans for 
mass civil disobedience had plunged "the country's best and 
trusted leaders." The pathos and grief were certainly there. 
But there was more to it than that. There was a sense of being let 
down if not betrayal. Even those closest to him who believed 
in him almost without ever questioning accepted bis decision 
with what the French call mort dans rame-death in the heart. 

There was also something else-anger and resentment. Not 
just the anger and resentment which Dr. Moonje had voiced 
in his rather truculent vote of censure. That could be shrugged 
off relatively easily. After all, Moonje had never been~and was 
never to be-on the same wavelength on which Gandhi operated. 
That could be said even of C.R. Oas who had been II reluctant 
convert to certain aspects of the civil disobedience programme, 
especially boycott of the councils. He had good reason for being 
angry with the Mahatma, And he was. As Subhas Chandra Bose 
records in his The Indian Struggle. "1 was with the Deshhandhu 
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at the time [in jail] and I could sec that he was beside himself 
with anger and sorrow .... " But anger and sorrow were fell 
no less acutely by Jawaharlal Nehru who was still in jail although 
he was soon to be released because some mysterious revising 
authority discovered that the crime for which he had been 
convicted was no crime under the law as it then stood. 

He had seen in Gandhi and Gandhi's satyagraha idea the 
way out of his doubts and despair at the state of Indian politics. 
Retrospectively. he was to describe his feeling about Gandhi in 
An Autobiography: 

Gandhiji had pleaded fOf the adoption of the way of non~ 
violence, of peaceful non..cooperation _ ... His language 
had been simple and unadorned, his voice and appearance 
cool and clear and devoid of all emotion. but behind that 
outward covering of ice there was the heat of a blazing fire 
and concentrated passion, and the words he uttered winged 
their way to the innermost recesses of our minds and hearts, 
and created a strange ferment there. The way he pointed 
out was hard and difficult, but it was a brave path, and it 
seemed to lead to the promised land of freedolll. Because 
oftbal promise we pledged our faith and marched ahead. 

And now, just when a decisive stage in that march seemed 
upon them, he had ordered a retreat orat least an indefinite halt­
and for a reason which did not appear to them at all self~evident 
and convincing. There was "amazement and consternation" 
at his decision to stop ·'the aggressive aspects of our struggle .. , 
at a time when we seemed to be consolidating our position and 
advancing on aU fronts." Writing several years later in the relative 
tranquillity of his cell (probably in its own way magnificent 
Naini Central Jail not far away from the confluence of the Ganga 
and the Yamuna), Jawaharlal Nehru was exquisitely to sum up 
his thoughts and feelings and which were widely shared in the 
Congress-and even outside il; 

The sudden suspension of our movement after the Chauri 
Chama incident was resented, I think, by almost all the 
prominent Congress leaders-other than Gandhiji of course, 
My father (who was in gaol at the time) was much upset by 
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it. The younger people were naturally even more agitated. 
Our mounting hopes tumbled to the ground, and this 
mental reaction was to be expected .... Chauri Chaura may 
have been and was a t1cplorable occurrence and wholly 
opposed to the ~pirit of the non-violent movement; but 
were a remote village and a mob of excited peasants in an 
out~or-thc-way place going to put an end, for some time at 
least. to our national struggle for freedom? lf this was the 
inevitable consequence of a sporadic act of violence, then 
surely there was something lacking in the philosophy and 
technique of a non-violent struggle. 

Nehru was to go on to raise a very pertinent issue which. 
surprisingly. has tended to be almost ignored in discussions of 
4'the Chauri Chaura affair" as the Pioneer headlined the incident: 

For it seemed to us to be impossible to guarantee against the 
occurrence of some such untoward incident. Must we train 
the three hundred J:wd odd miHions of India in the theory 
and practice of non-violent aclion before we could go for­
ward? And, even so, how many of us could say that under 
extreme provocation from the police we would be able to 
remain perfectly peaceful? But even if we succeeded. what 
of the numerous (1gellfs provocaleurs, stool pigeons, and 
the like who crept into our movement and indulged in violence 
themselves or induced others to do? If this was the sole 
-condition ofits function. then non-violent method of res is lance 
would always fail. 
We had accepted that method, lhe Congress had made that 
method its own, because of a belief in its effectiveness .... In 
spite of its negative llame it was a dynamic method. the very 
.opposite of a meek submission to a tyrant's will. Jt was not a 
coward's refuge from action. but the brave man's defiance of 
.evil and national subjectil)o. But what was the use of the 
bravest and the strongest if a few odd person-may be even 
our opponents in the guise of friends~had the power to upset 
or end our movement by their rash behaviour'? 

This was a very valid point and it must have been something 
nlong these lines that Jawaharlal and his comrades in Lucknow 



346 INmAN NAT/O'<AL CO:-<GRESS 

Jail had written to the Mahatma as ~oon as they came to know 
of the Congress Working Committee's decision taken at BardolL 
i!ldefinitcly to suspend the mass civil disobedience movement. 
It must have impressed Gandhi and even may be slight!y upset 
him at a time when he was already in ~()me anguish. For h<! ~at 

down to write at length tolawaharlal on February !9. that is two 
days ancr he had broken his fast and {hrei,: days before leaving 
for Delhi to take part in the A.I.Ce. meeting. 

Gandhi sent the letter Lo jawaharlal through lawaharlal's 
sisler Sarup (Mrs. Vijaya Lakshmi Pandil) and III his covering 
letter to her wrote: "Ir you think that the above can give the 
prisoners in Lucknow any solacc. please read it to Jawaharlal 
when you see him next. Do tell me othcrwi~e how things are 
sbaping there. Some one of you is [ hope coruing to Delhi. Ranjit 
[Mrs. Pandit's husband} sent me one of father'" [MatHaI's] 
letters to you to read:' Apparently, as her post wa!> being delayed 
because of its having to pass through the ~crutiny of the intelligence­
service. he added a postscript to the letter saying (hat he was 
sending the letter through Durga. 

The letter to Jawaharlal is distinctly on the defensive and 
begins almost on a note of mild asperity: 

I see that all of you are terribly cut up over the resolutions of 
the Working Committee. 1 sympathize with you, and my 
heart goes out to Father. I can picture to myself lhe agony 
through which he must have passed but I also feel that this. 
letter]s unnecessary becaul.C I know that the first .. hock 
must have been followed by a true under~tanding of the 
situation. Let us not be ob$e$sed by Devdas's youthful indis~ 
cretions. It is quite possible that the poor boy has been swept 
otT his feet and that he has lost his balance, but the brutal 
murder of the constables by an infuriated crowd which was 
in sympathy with non-cooperation cannot be denied. Nor 
can it be denied that it was a politically-minded crowd, It 
would hav\! been criminal not to have heeded such a clear 
warning. 

His rererence to Dcvadas is interesting-and significant. 
Presumably, Devadas' tirst statement after visiting Chaur! CI1<,lura 
must have rather irritated lawaharlal and his r,,!low-prisoners 
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in Lucknow ja.il. For there was undoubtedly a slight touch of 
byslcria aheUl it, though later he was to produce il brief, but more 
balanced report to be found in Gandhi's Papers. Gandhi went 
on to add what most people must have guessed~lhat Chauri 
Chaura was the culminating incident in a chain of acts of violence 
which finally persuaded him, for good or ill, that the country 
was not ready for the kind of non·violent movement which he 
wanted to lead and which at the time was an absolute article of 
faith with him. As he puts it: 

I must tell you that this. was the last straw. My letter to the 
Viceroy was not sent without misgivings as its language must 
make it clear to anyone, I was much disturbed by the Madras 
doings. but I drowned the warning voice. I received letters 
both from Hindus and Mohammedans from Calcutta, 
Allahabad and the Punjab, aU these before the Gorakhpur 
incident. telling me that the wrong was not all on the Govern~ 
ment side, that our people were becoming aggressive, defiant 
and threatening, that they were getting out of hand and were 
not non-violent in demeanour. 

He listed other cases of violence and hooliganism by the 
volunteers though he did not use the word "hooliganism." How­
ever, he also admitted excesses on the part of the authorities, 
like [he shooting at Ferozepur lirka at the end of December 1921. 
He described it as "discreditable to the Government:' But he 
was more worried over the lapses on the Congress side and wrote 
about the complaint he had heard from the Congress President 
himself about Bareilly. He mentioned what had happened at 
Jajjar and Shahjahanpur~at the latter place there was an attempt 
to take possession of the Town Hall forcibly which, though not 
exactly a mortal sin. did not form part of his idea of a non·violent 
satyagraha campaign. To convince Jawaharlal that he had not 
been ~wayed by a single atrocity on the part of the Congress 
volunteers. but by the widespread indiscipline and unruliness 
among them. he piled instance upon instance of where they had 
trun;;gresscd; 

From Kanouj too the Congress $crretary himself telegraphed 
sayil1g that the volunteer boys had become unruly and were 



348 INDIAN NATION,\L CONGRESS 

picketing a High School and preventing youngster~ under ! 6 
from going to the school. 30,000 volunteers. were enlisted 
in Gorakhpur. not 100 of whom conformed to the Congres!. 
pledge. In Calcutta Jamnaialji tell~ me there is utter 
disorganization, the volunteers wearing roreign doth and 
certainly not pledged to non~violence. With all this news 
in my possession and much more rrom the South, the (,hauri 
Chaura news came like a powerful match to ignite the gun­
powder, and there was a blaze. I assure you that if the thing 
had not been ~uspended we would have been leading not a 
non~violent struggle hut essentially a violent struggle. 

At this point he turned back in his tracks and admitted that 
this was only one side of the picture and that "non~violence is 

·.spreading like the scent of the oUo of roses throughout the length 
and breadth of the land, but the roetid smell of violence is stilt 
powerful, and it would be unwise to ignore or underrate it:' 
There was no danger of his underrating it. Rather the contrary. 
Krishnadas relates a very significant incident which occurred on 
the day he broke his five-day fast-February 17. Just before 
he had partaken of some milk. fruit and fruit juice, he called 
Mathuradas Trikumdas to his side "and asked him to read the 
twelfth chapter of the Gita, himself sitting up on his bed with 
dosed eyes and clasped hands, and hearing the recitation with 
great devotion and attention. A few tear drops escaped his eyes 
at the time." 

Krishnadas asks rather in naive bewilderment: "What is 
it th"lt Chauri Chaura has done, that he the very embodiment uf 
'self*restraint should today thus lose his balance'?" The answer 
should have been obvious, In his letter to JawaharlaJ he speaks 
tellinglyof Chauri Chaura news having come to him "like a 
powerful match to ignite the gunpowder." Those who know 
their Gila would know that in Chapter eleven Krishna vouchsafes 
Arjuna with a vision of his true "mystic" and "in exhaustible 
form" for which Arjuna had himself asked, indeed craved. 
And lhat form was one of a !;osmic reality of terror without pity 
and without end. of a universe really red in tooth and claw. By 
contra:.t. Chapter twelve of the Gil0 is almost an anticlimax, bUl a 
soothing one after the apocalypse that Arjuna had witnessed and 
which was to terrorise his mind into submission to Krishna's 
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will. For Gandhi, too, Chauri Chaura had been something in the 
nature of a terrifying apocalypse-or the bitter foretaste of it. 
He had seen the nightmare vision ofIndiadissolving into violence, 
not necessarily because of the counter-violence and retaliation 
of the British Raj as had happened three years earlier in the 
Punjab, although, naturally, as the supreme leader of the civil 
disobedience movement, he could not ignore that pos~jbility 
and tbe responsibility that rested on him. What worried him 
most, however, was what Indians might do to each other once 
the inhibitive discipline of non-violence was lifted or broke down. 
This was certainly an over-reaction on his part. Indeed, there 
was an element of hallucination about it. But that did not 
mean thaI it was less real to him. Rather the reverse. Imagined 
nightmares tcnd to be more, not Jc~s, terrifying than the real 
oncs. That is why he must have experienced what the French call 
a ~ense of soulagement which brought tears to his eyes when he 
heard the comforting verses of Chapter twelve of the Bhagawu! 
Gila, 

Gandhi was desperately anxious that JawaharJal should see 
the reason why he had acted as he had and sounded tbe call 
to retreat, or at least to mark time till they could conduct a truly 
disciplined satyagraha campaign. He told the young Nehru 
that "the cause will prosper by this retreat" and therefore not 
to be unduly upset by it: "We have come back to our mooring<' 
he wrote, "and we can again go straight ahead." And then he 
rehearsed an argument that he was to develop at the Working 
Committee meeting at Delhi. But in putting it across to lawahurlal 
he was mild and almost ingratiating while at Delhi he was to be 
har~h if not brutal in formulating it. After telling Nehru that he 
(Jawaharlal) was in a "disadvantageous" position compared 10 
him (that is Gandhi) for "judging events in their due proportion" 
being in jail, he added: 

May f give you my own experience of South Africa? We had 
all kinds of news brought to us in South Africa in our jails. 
For two or three days during my first expcricnce I was glad 
enough to receive tit~bits. but I immediately realized the 
uttcr futility of interesting myself in this illegal gratification. 
I could do nothing, I could send no message profitably. and 
I simply .... exed my soul usdes~ly. I fclt that it was impossihle 
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for me to guide the movement from the jail. 1 therefore simply 
waited till 1 could meet those who were outside and talk to them 
freely, utld then too I want you to believe me when I tell you 
that I took only an academic interest because [ felt it was 
not my province to juJgc anything, and I saw how unerringly 
right I was. I well remember how the thoughts I had up to the 
time of my discharge from the jail on every occasion were 
modified immediately after discharge and after getting first· 
hand information myself. Somehow orother the jail atmosphere 
does not allow you to have all the bearings in your mind. 

Up to this point there was much that was valid in his argument 
that people in jail could not form an accurate assessment of 
what was going on outside the prison walls and, therefore, should 
be very much on their guard against pronouncing dogmatic 
judgement on matters of policy to be pursued by the freedom 
movement But, in the mood in which he was, he was inclined 
to stretch his arguments beyond the point to which they could 
reasonably be stretched without losing their efficacy. He did 
so in the letter by telling lawaharlal, "[ would therefore like you 
to dismiss the outer world frOm your view altogether and ignore 
its existence." This was asking too much and sounded even a 
trifle ridiculous. He must have realised this. For he went on 
immediately to add: 

J know this is a most difficult task, but if you take up some 
serious study and some serious manual work you can do it. 
Above all, whatever you do. don't you be disgusted with the 
spinning-wheel. You and I might have reason to get disgusted 
with our5elves for having done many things and having 
believed many things, but we shall never have the sHghtest 
cause for regret that we have pinned our faitI1 to the spinning­
wheel or that we have spun so much good yarn per day in 
the name of the motherland. 

This again may sound rather bewildering ir not downright 
ridiculous to political observers and scholars of revolutionary 
movements as must the f>ugge.stion that followed. "You bave," 
he wrote "Song Celestia! with you. I cannot give you the 
inimitable translation of Edwin Arnold, but this is the rendering 
of the Sanskrit text: There is no waste of energy, there is no 
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destruction in thi~. Even a little of this dharma saves one from 
many a pitfall. 'This dharma' in the original refers to Karma 
Yoga. and the Karma Yoga of our age is the spinning·whecl." 

lawaharlal, of course, did not need any invocation by the 
Mahatma of the Song Celestial to be persuaded of the political 
and economic importance of the spinning·wheel or even its value 
as a psychological and spiritual discipline in the context of the 
Indian stru~gle fOf freedom. But what he made of the rest of 
Gandhi's rather forced arguments justifying his decision to abort 
the whole civil disobedience campaign because of the atrocity 
perpetrated by the crowds at Chauri Chaura and some relatively 
minor acts of indiscipline at other places must remain a matter 
for speculation. They could hardly have disarmed his disbelief 
and he probably shared his father's view who had written to 
Gandhi from his prison cell and asked why a town at the foot of 
the Himalayas be penalized because of the failure of a village at 
Cape Comorin to observe non-violence? Isolate Chauri Chama 
and Gomkhpur, he had urged, but go on with civil disobedience 
individual and ma1\s. 

But while lawaharlal Nehru may have found Gandhi's argu­
ments for abandoning his civil disobedience plan altogether 
because of sporadk: outbreak of violence in some places less than 
convincing he could not have remained untouched by the last 
sentence in Gandhi.'s letter. "1 want a cheering letter from you," 
he had written. '·after the freezing dose you have sent me through 
Pyarc!al [presumably, Jawaharlal had used Pyarelal as the 
courier for 1he IcHer which he and his fellow·pri.soners had sent 
Gandhi from Lucknow Jail}." Its seeming playfulness barely 
concealed the strong undertow of pathos in it which almost 
made it s(und like 11 cri de coeur. For here was an older man­
and one. mcreovcr. who had already won major laurels in a 
novel ft- rffi of struggle against fhe racist regime in Pretoria­
askitlg a man tv.cuty yellrs his. junior to send him words of good 
cheer. But then already a deep and complex relationship was 
developing between Gandhi and Nehru. 

Certainly. the M'lhntma recognised in Nehru a sincerity and 
purity of purpose which was rart: even in those days. But it was 
not that altme; and it is by no means fanciful to suggest that 
Gandhi saw Nehru as the bridge to the younger generation-and 
the future. Censure of men like Moonje, or even criticism by 
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CR. Da5 nod Matila.1 Nehru, did not upset him as muchai'i the 
"freezing dose" which Jawahadal had administered to him. 
Hence his moving plea to the young Nehru to Iry to understand 
the reasons which had led him to call on' the mass civil dis.~ 

obedience movement almost on the vcry day thut it was 10 have 
been launched at Bardoli. 

It is clear from the chapter in Nehru's autobiogra.phy entitled 
«Non-Violence and the Doctrine of the Sword"' that while 
he was willing to give the Mahatma the benefit of the doubt­
though, in the context, it would be more appropriate toean it 
the bencHt of the faith he had in Gandhi-he was not wholly 
convinced by the arguments which Gandhi advanced to justify 
his decision. Nehru seemed even willing to concede that probably 
the decision itself was right under the circumstances. As he­
wrote; 

The people generally were not strong enough to carryon the 
struggle for long and, in spite of almost universal discontent 
with foreign rule and sympathy with the Congress, there was 
not enough backbone or organisation. They could not last. 
Even the crowds that went 10 prison did so on the spur of 
the moment, expecting the whole thing to be over very 
soon. It may be, therefore. that the decision to suspend civil 
resistance in 1922 was a right one, though the manner of 
doing it left much to be desired and brought about a certain 
demoralisation. 

But this was quite a different argument based on purely prag~ 
matic considerations and not on allY moral categorical impera­
tives. Nehru admired Gandhian doctrine of non~violence Which, 
he said, "was not a coward's refuge from <lction, but the brave 
man's defiance of evil and national subjection:' But he was also 
quite positive that for him "and for the National Congress as a 
whole the oon·violcnt method was oot, and could not be, a 
reliflion or an unchallengeable creed or dogma. It could only be 
a policy and a method promising certain results, and by those 
results it would have to be finally judged. IndividunJs might make 
of it a religion or incontrovertible creed. But no political orgunisa­
tion. so long as it remained political, could do so." This. precisely 
was the ground on which critics of Gandhi's decision, men like 
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Motila] Nehru, c.R. Das, and Lajpat Rai took their stand and 
questioned it. 

Yet, perhaps, the important question is not whether Gandhi 
was able to convince men like Iawaharlal Nehru and others of the 
validity of the reasons which persuaded Gandhi to suspend his 
Satyagraha campaign when all was set for its launching,. Tbe 
really important questlofi-.-.--and one which has rarely been debateu­
is whether Gandhi himself wa" wholly con\'inced that he had 
done the right thing. Outwardly, lhis question might seem super­
fluous and irrelevant if not frivolous. The vehemence ,vjth which 
he defended his decision not only against critics whose judgment 
he did not particularly value but even those whose opinion 
carried much weight with him. the forceful way in which he 
argued against his opponents in the Working Committee and the 
A.l.Ce. mighl be regardt..>d as evidence of his strong com'iction 
that he had acted rightly in withdrawing the mass civil disobe­
dience. But the very vehemence which led him at poinls to over­
statement of his case a.nd resort to forced arguments wholly 
uncharacteristic of him suggested, perhaps, that a fierce argu­
ment was going on within him and that he wa,." trying to grapple 
with his own inward doubt whether he had done the right thing. 

This is nol to suggest that there were not strong reasons 
for c..'llling off the civil resistance campaign. Jawaharl .. ,l Nehru 
stated some of them very lucidly in his autobiography. Quite 
apart from the sporadic acts of violence culminating in the ghastly 
tragedy of Chauri Chaura. there was evidence that in several 
areas local leaders were w\'ing their own twist to the movement 
and stretching it's scope to include activities which were not 
sanctioned by the Congress. Krishnadas has related that about 
the same time as he heard the news of Chauri Chaura, he had 
received several letters from small and big landholders in U.P., 
Bengal and other parts of India that their tenants were withhold­
ing payments of their dues and even "threatening them witb 
Violence:' 

There was nothing surprising about stich local excesse~ alld it 
was, perhaps, unr<::alistic of the Mahatma that he expected !'.trict 
observance of the letter and the spirit of his instructions. 
It was natural that the participants in the civil disobedience 
campaign should bring to the movemcnt their own immediate 
preoccupations. Professor Ravinder Kumar in his infrvduction 
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to the second volume of A Cert1l!llary History (If The Indian 
Nafional Congress (1885-1985) has quoted the views of a worker 
in Bombay Textile Industry about what the movement meant 
to him. He said: 

At that time we workers understood the meaning of this 
demand for swaraj to be only this; that Qllr indebtedness 
would disappear, the oppression of the moneylender would 
stt')p, our wages would increase, and the oppression of the 
owner on the worker, the kicks and blows. with which they 
belabour us, would stop by legislation, and that as a result 
of it. the persecutiLlo of us workers would come 10 an end. 
These and otber thoughts came into the minds of us workers. 
and a good many workers from among us, and I myself, 
ed:~ted ourselves as volunteers in the non-cooperation move­
ment. 

This is a revealing~even touching---extract from the statement 
which A,A. Alwe, President of the Girni Kamgar Union, made 
at the mass trial at Meerut of the leading members of the working 
class movement, mostly Communists but including a rew radical 
Ct1ngress and Khilat'at leaders, who were arrested by the Govern­
ment in a countrywide sweep in March 1929. It serves lO underline 
that pamllax effect which seems ineluctable in any progressive 
political movement which makes those participating in it wish­
fully to read more into ils scope and possibilities than its (Jbj~ctive 
limiHllions aHow. This was to happen time and again during 
the Indhn freedom struggle, the more so, perhaps, bt!c.tuse 
of the Messianic ex.pectancy which Gandhi tcnded to impart 
to it. Those who volunteered ror the satyagraha in 1921~22 

could not help putting a subjective gloss upon it dictated by 
their 0\"0 heartfelt economic ami political desires and preoccupa~ 
tious which were clearly no par! of the aims which il was intended 
to achieve. Nor can they be criticised f()r so doing and Gandhi 
Was being less than Gandhian when at times he dealt severely 
with those who naively imagined that he waS about to 
launch 11 full-scale agrarian revolution, like the young man from 
the D.P, who, according to Krishnadas, asked the Mahatma. at 
Bardoli on February 10 : "Sir, when will you order lhe lands 
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<.Iwncd and controlled by the Zemindars to be distributed among 
the tenants 7'", only to earn a sharp rebuke from him. 

However, this does not necessarily justify the critique which 
the Marxist Left alone time directed against Gandhi and echoes 
of which are still to be picked up in Marxist historiography. For 
it seems the height of inequity to accuse the Mabatmaofhaving 
betrayed the peasantry and the working class movement because 
he was stubbornly unwilling to go along with their wishes and 
insisted on conducting the civil disobedience movement within 
the limits which he~and the Congress-had set and striclly in 
accordance with the method which he had evolved and the Can· 
!,.lTess had accepted. The Ahmedabad Congress had defined 
his mandate and that mandate did not include a general call 
and sanction for a mass uprising of the workers and peasants in 
India even if he had been so minded. But he was not so minded. 
Nor was the Congress or it would have chosen someone else to 
lead it and, perhaps, would have bad to be quite a different 
Congress, 

Nor is there any reason to suppose that the conditions were 
ripe at the time for a revolutionary uprising of that kind, R. Palme 
Dult writing eighteen years later in his India Today cites the 
example of Guntur and asserts, not entirely without a touch of 
dogma.tism, that at "u word of command from the Congress" 
there wOHld have been "a universal refusal of land revenue and 
rent" throughout the country, Leaving nothing to chance, he 
goes on to quote extensively from the resolution adopted at 
BardoH by the Congress Working Committee on February 12, 
\922. taking care to add his own emphasis to certain clauses., 
presumably to identify the cloven hoof of the class Devil in the 
anatomy of the Congress leadership and especially Gandhi. The 
-clauses he chases to italicize read as fo!Jows: 

Clause 6. The Working Committee advises Congress workers 
and organisations to inform the ryots (peasants) 
that withholding of rent payment to the Zemindars 
(landlords) is cO!1trary to the Congress resolutions 
and injurious to the best interest of the country, 

Clause 7 The Working Committee assures the Zemindars 
that the Congress movement is no way intendd to 
attack their legal rights, and that even where the 
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ryots have grievances. the Committee desires that 
redress be sought by mutual consulta.tion and 
arbitration. 

Thus the case for the prosecution would seem to Dutt a~ 
perfect as. could be and the Congress-and Gandhi-sto0d 
accused by their own acts of admission. As he puts it: 

The resolution shows that it was not an abstract question of 
non~violence which actuated the movers .... The dominant 
leadership of the Congress associated with Gandhi called ofr 
the movement because they were afraid of the awakening 
mass aClivity; and they were afraid of the mass activity 
because it was beginning to threaten those propertied class 
interests with which they themselves were still in fact closely 
linked. Not the question of 'violence' or 'non-violence', but 
the question of class interest in opposition to the mass 
movement, was the breaking-point of the national struggle 
in 1922 .. " This was the real meaning of 'Non-Violence: 

Blit was it? Not quite. There is such a thing as a case for the 
prosecution which is too perfect and cut and dned to be true: 
and that applies to the case which Palme Dutl builds. The 
clauses which he italidses were but statement of fads as they 
then existed. The non-payment of rents to the landlords was not 
part of the Congress Programme. Perhaps it ought to have been, 
but the truth is that it was not. Nearly a decade was to pass 
before the Congress very gingerly moved towards mooting the 
idea of modest land reforms and nothing a~ drastic as expropria­
tion of the landlords. Nor is it by any means certain that the politi­
cal climate was ripe for such a radical solution. A Guntur here 
and a Guntur there could not have been reasonably interpreted 
by any adult observer as presaging a summer of agrarian rcv{)U­
tionary upsurge on a subcontinental scale. After all, in years to 
come parties and groups in India swearing by Marx, Lenin and 
even Mao were to be deluded into issuing calls to the peasants 
and workers to overthrow at one go imperialism, capitalism and 
feudalism without achieving any brilliant results and often ending 
in fiascos and demoralisation all along the Hne. 

At all events the Ahmedabad Congress had 110t authorised 
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G<lndhi to undertake any quixotic effon at storming heaven. 
Nor was Gandhi willing to do so. The mass civil disobedience 
which he had promised was to be a struggle on a limited front 
and in that struggle, as has been noted. he was anxious to carry 
even the Moderates with him who did not approve of satyagraha 
but were exercised over the increasing curtailment of ~uch civil 
liberties as existed. He certainly did not consider it good political 
generalship to enlarge the number of his adversarie~ by launching 
Qut an attack, albeit tl non~violent one, in what the French call 
lOU/ a::Jmuls. He had intended to concentrate on the main issues 
and on the main a<.iversary and had opposed those who had 
wanted to enlarge the scope of the struggle. 

The critique ofGandhi·s conduct in 1922 developed with much 
force and even intellectual incisiveness by Palme Dutt, therefore. 
would seem to be not only unfair but irrelevant as was the censure 
he earned from men of the sectarian Right like Dr. Moonje. 
It is even doubtful whether it connected with any serious Marxist 
analysis of the possibilities of the situation in India in 1922 and 
savoured rather of urdent adventism verging on adventurist 
fantasies. This cannot be said, however, of the criticism of Gandhi 
by the middlc~or-the~road Congress leaders like Motilal Nehru, 
Lajpat Rai and C.R. Das. They had fallen in line with Gandhi 
over the issue of ciyil disobedience despite their own misgivings 
as to whether it was the right moment and the right method; and 
they felt annoyed with him and let down at his unconditional 
withdrawal of the movement without consulting their views 
simply because they were in jail. Jawaharlal Nehru, of course, 
retrospectively tried to justify Gandhi's decision which at the 
time he had regarded as arbitrary and unacceptable. He writes 
in his autobiography: 

As a matter of fact even the suspension of civil resistance 
in February 1922 was certainly not due to Chauri Chaura 
alone, although most people imagined so. That was only the 
last straw. Gandhiji has often acted almost by instinct 
hy long ,md close association with the masses he appears to 
have developed. as great popular leaders often do. a new 
sense which tells him how the mass feels. what it does and 
what it can do. He reacts to this instinctive feeling and fashions 
his actions accordingly, and later, for the benefit of his 
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surprised and resentful colleagues. tries to clothe his decision 
with reasons. This covering is often very inadequate. as it 
seemed after Chauri Chaura. At that time our movement. 
in spite of its apparent power and the widespread enthusiasm, 
was going to pieces, All organisation and discipline was 
disappearing:: almost aB our good men were in prison, and 
the masses had so far received little training to carry on 
by themselves. Any unknown man who wanted to do so could 
take charge of a Congress commiuee and. as a matter of 
fact. large numbers of undesirable men, inCluding agents 
provocateurs, came to the front and even controlled 'Some 
local Congrcs::. and Khilafat organisations. There was no way 
of checking them. 

There is something in Jawaharlal Nehru's argument. However, 
it still seems to be largely a case of special pleading. on behalf of 
Gandhi, prompted by Nehru's feeling that it was better to be 
wrong with the Mahatma than be right with most others. It was 
<.:ertain[y not how he felt when he administered Gandhi that 
·'freezing dose" in his letter from Lucknow prison. Palme Dutt 
was undoubtedly on firmer ground when he wrote, "It may be 
askcd in What sense the movement was 'going to pieces'." There 
is no reason to think that the British Government and those who 
presided over the affairs of India for it considered that the civil 
disobedience movement was "going to pieces" or was running 
out ofsteum at the beginning of February 1922. On the contrary. 
Palme Dutt pertinently quoted a telegram which. Reading had 
sent to the Secretary or State for India (Edwin Montagu) on the 
morrow of the Chauri Chaura incident (February 9) which 
presented a rather alarmist assessment of the situation in lodi,'!.: 

The lower clai>i.cs in thc towns have been seriously a!rected 
by the non·coopcration movemenL.. In certain areas 
the peasantry have been affected, particularly in parts or 
the Assam Valley, United Provinces. Bihar and Orissa and 
Bengal. As regards the Punjab. the Akali agitation ... h~lS 
penetrated to the rural Sikhs. A large proportion of the 
Mohammedan population throughout the country arc 
embittered and sullen ... grave possibilities ... The Govern· 
Ellent of India are prepared ror disorder of a more formidable 
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nature than has in the past occurred, and do not seck to 
mmimlse in any way the fact that great anxiety is caused 
by the situation. 

This as~essmcnt of the situation in the country could not be 
dismissed as that of an overwrought administration reached in a 
fit of anxiety or moment of panic, George Lloyd (later Lord 
Lloyd,) a hard~line imperialist but not a man devoid of inlc!ligcnce 
and even some undcr~tal1(.ling. who was at the time Govcrn~x 
of Bombay and who would have had to face the music if G:l11dhi 
had gone ahead with hi~ plans for civil disobedience at Bardoli, 
recollecting the events in a measure of tranquillity a year ood a 
halfiater was in no doubt that the Government faced a very 
gmvc challenge and were at their wits' cnd how to tackle it. In 
an interview with the we!l~known Amcrkan ..:olurnnist. Drew 
Pearson. he admitted the success of Gandhi's boycott of 1',chools 
and court:>. and even candidly acknowJeJged that his campaign 
of the boycott of Prince of Wales' visit was effective enough for 
"the streeLs down which his procession passed" to be "almost 
empty." More: he told Drew Pearson (see Appendix IV): 

He [Gandhi] gave US'l scare, Hi;,. programme filled our gaols, 
You can't go on arresting people for ewr, you know-not 
when there are 319.000,000 {population of British India at the 
time1 of them. And if they had taken his next step and refused 
to pay taxes, God knows where ~1ll1uld we have been! 
Gandhi's was the mo,;t colo~sal experiment in world's l1i:,101'Y, 
and it I.:amc within all inch of slll.:cec(ling, But he couldn't 
control men's passions, They became \liolent, and he called 
off his programme, You know the rest. .. , 

It is de:!r from the evillence of the man on the $pt>t that, 
whether or not the Chauri Omura affair was engineered by some 
agent provocateur-and the Indian Governmentand its intelligence 
Were rully aware of his sensitivity on the question of violence·­
the authorities both in London and Delhi must havc hc:wcd ;j 

sigh of relief when he reacted in the way he did, What would 
have been the rCS\llt if he had gone on with his programme of 
progressively escalating civil disobedience as was planned 111U<;t 

remain a matter of speculation-and ralher idle speculation. 
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The movement might still h;;J.ve fizzled out without achieving its 
main endt). But. equally, it cannot be claimed with absolute 
certainty that it would have failed. The only possible verdict on 
the decision he took must be an open one. 

lawaharlal Nehru was probably right in saying that. like all 
popular leaders. Gandhi had a special instinctive sense of what the 
masses were going to do and were capable of doing, But, unlike 
most popular leaders, he rarely yielded to the temptation of 
pandering to populist demands, In fact, he often swam against 
the tide of popular opinion and took decisions which his critics 
regarded as cussed and which even puzzled his most devoted 
colleagues. The decision to cancel the civil disobedience in 
February 1922 was one of the most unpopular decisions he had 
taken since he entered the arena of Indian politics in right earnest. 
Jt brought on his head attacks from all sides-Right, Left and 
Centre. Nor did the authorities, though they were immensely 
relieved, thank him for this relief. On the contrary, at a time 
when it was being bruited about with malice aforethought that 
he had been instrumental in sending thousands of his followers 
behind the bars while himself continuing to bask in freedolll. they 
responded to his unpopular moral gesture by intensifying 
repression. 

Al Delhi, while attending the Working Committee and the 
AlI~Jndia Congress Committee meetings. he had plenty of 
opportunities of listening from the representatives of the various 
provinces harrowing stories of the police atrocities. A young 
representative of Assam had described to him the reign of terror 
let loose by the Government in parts of the Province. He was 
told in no uncertain terms by representlHives of Bengal that, 
lls Dr. Sitaramayya quotes them, "Bengal is not going to pay 
the Chowkidari tax [a punitive police tax which was a popular 
form of punishment with Ihe authorities}. say what you will." 
He returned to his Ashram ncar Ahmedabad on March 1st or 
2nd only to find a letter from Jang Bahadur Singh. a noted 
political worker and journalist, written on February 28 from 
Allahabad which Gandhi published in Young India of March 9. 
Jang Bahadur Singh had been deputed with five others by 
the Gorakhpur Congress Committee to help the village in Huta 
Tahsil or sub-district "in the vidnity of Chauri Chaura" in 
resuming their normal life. He detailed instances of torture of 
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villagers and cases of looting and flogging and s.aid : "If the 
Government cares to contradict the reports, I will take it upon 
myself to prove the substa[\cc of lhcallegations I have made." 

The endor1ement of his Bardoli decision by the A.l.Ce. had 
given him no particular pleasure. With that love of paradox that 
he often displayed, he had written in his Gujarati weekly NaJ'ojivan 
"1 am not a quick despairer. ... But I must say [he meeting of the 
All-India Congress Committee this time disappointed me .... 
Tbe All-India Congress Committee gave me a majority, but I 
could see that very few really liked the Bardoli resolutions. I got 
the votes because I was Gandhi and not because people were 
~onvinced. How can we put any value on them? ... A duel 
was going on between the heart and the head of the majority. 
The heart would incline lOwards me, while the head would run 
miles away from mc. I felt, and still feel, unhappy at this. " 

This was a largely true and perceptive judgment. That was 
why he not only fclt unhappy, but confessed that jf he saw "light 
even where there is pitch darkness," it was because he forced 
himself to do so. That was also probably the reason why he did 
not accept the suggestion, as Krishnadas tells us, that he should 
"take-up another tour to various important cities of Northern 
India to assure the general mass of the people that the policy of 
non-cooperation had not been abandoned by the Bardoli deci­
sion, and also to propagate the message of non-violence with 
greater in:;istencc. It was in this mood of despondency com­
pounded by a sense of helplessness that he wrote an anguished 
aod bitter piece in Young India entitled "The Death Dance". 
He thought it to be rather well written. Krishnadas has recorded 
that he called him by name as soon as he had finished writing 
the article, exclaiming "in raptures", "Krishnadas, see what a 
beautiful article I have written! It is indeed, a piece of beauty; 
see how I have described the condition of present-day India." 

The article certainly has fine literary pllrasing. but it reflects 
a mood. quite unusual with the Mahatma. or anger with the 
exploited as well as the exploiters. Apparently, a doubling of the 
salt tax was being contemplated by the Government and there 
was an uproar about this added burden on the poor. But Gandhi 
was not impressed by the vehement disapproval of the measure 
by the political elite. oot only the Moderates but even some of 
the "loyalists." "Why is there this chorus of condemnation of 
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the doubling of the sail tax and other taxes on the necessaries of 
Jile?" he asked and went on to add; "Wonder is expressed 
that now there is no apology even offered for thl! terrific military 
charges of sixty-two crores. The facl is, it is impossibk to oller 
apology for the inevitable." The military were needed. he said~ 
not for the defence of India but "for the forcible imposilioll 
of the English exploiters upon India. That b, the naked truth. 
Mr. Montagu hus bluntly hut honestly stated it. The retiring 
President of the Bcngal Chamber of Commerce has said it and 
so has the Governor of Bombay:' 

He described the whole paraphernalia of "Reforms", the 
Councils and the like. as "the kid glove" and said: "We must 
pay for the glove, , ,. They cover a multitude of defects indud­
ing the blood-sucking salt tax," He went on in the ~ame embittered 
vein even to argue that it would be "a thousand times better" 
for India "to be ruled by a military dictulOr than to have the 
dictatorship concealed under sham councils and assemblies. 
They prolong the agony and increase the expenditure. II' we are 
so anxious to live. jt would be more honourable to face the truth 
and submit to unnhashed dictation than to pretend that we are 
slowly becoming free. There is no such thing: as slow freedom. 
Freedom is like a birth. Till we are fully free, we are slave:>:' 

These were seductive phrases even if they could not stand the 
test of connecting with political reality. So was the penultimate 
paragraph in which the phrase "The Death Dance", which gave 
the arlicle its title, was used to some effect : 

The councillors want their farcs and e.\tra~. the ministers. 
their salaries. the lawyers their fees. the suitors their decrees. 
the parents such education for their boys [not yet girls, it 
seemsJ as would give them status in the present life, the miJIiol1-
naires want facilities for multipJying their millions and the 
rest their unmanly peace. The whole revolve;, beautifully 
round the central corporation. It is a giddy dance from which 
no one cares to free himself and so, as the speed increases, 
the exhilaration is the greater. But it is a death dunce and the 
exhilanltion is induced by the rapid heart beat of a palient 
who is ubout to expire. 

For one who was often accused of being against sOcllilism, 
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this came remarkably close to a socbUst critique of capitalist 
society of his day and our own. But that is not the point. The 
point is that this article was written on the Ilh1rning of March 8 
by Gandhi '"returning to his room from the prayer ground" at his 
Snbannati A~hram. But it was not the 01lly article that he wrote 
that day. Indeed, before it he wrote another piece which was 
headed "If 1 Am Arrested." it was somewhat longer and both 
appeared the next day in Young India when he was himseJf ~t 
Ajmcr where he had gone overnight to attcnd a Conference of 
Uil'IIIGS or Muslim clerics. He e.xplaincd at the very OUhet 

that "the rumour has been revived" that his arrest was imminent 
and even added that he could not himself "sec how the Govern~ 
ment can avoid arresting him if they want a permanent abandon­
ment of civil disobedience, whether individual or mass." He aho 
referred to the reports that "lhe Government arc compassing the 
destruction of the three weeklies" which he was conducting, 
viz .. Young India, Gujarati NUl'(ljillon and Hindi NaJ'ajinm. 
Characteristically, he hoped that the rum our about his three 
journals. was "without foundation" s.ince they were "insistently 
preaching nothing but peace and goodwill." One might have 
thought that this was rather a naive hope since insistent preaching 
of peace and goodwitl by journals or individuals have never 
assured them immunity against closure and prosecution. least 
of aU in British India. 

Surprisingly, despite his bitter comment in the article "The 
Death Dance" on the repressive policies of the Government, he 
reiterated that he had "advised the Working Committec to 
suspend mass civil disobedience" and added that he was "now 
advising aU provincial workers to suspend even individual civil 
disobedience" because he knew that "any disobedience at the 
present st:lge" would be "not civil but criminaL" The turning 
of the other cheek could hardly have gone further. But the main 
purpose of the article "If I am Arrested" was to instruct fhe 
Congress workers and organisations what to do and nOl to do in 
the event of his arrest. This camc in the penultimate raragraph ; 

There should therefore be 110 hartals, no noisy demonstrations. 
no procc<;sions. I would regard the observance of perfect 
['lea~e on my arrest as. a mark of high bonour paid to me by 
my countrymen. What I would love to see, however, is the 
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con!'.tructivc work of the Congress going on with clockwork 
rc:gularity and the speed of the Punjab Express {apparently 
the fastest tr;lin in those days]. I would love 10 see people 
who have hitherto kept back. voluntarily discarding all their 
foreign cloth and making a bonfire of it. Let them fulfil the 
whole of the constructive programme framed at Bardoli, and 
they wjl! not only release me and other prisoners, but they 
will also inaugurate swaraj and secure redress of the Khilafat 
and the Punjab wrongs. 

He reminded his readers of "'he four pillars of swaraj : 
non-violence. Hindu-Muslim-Sikh-Parsi-Christian-Jew unity, total 
removal of untouchability and manufacture of hand-spun 
and hand-woven khaddar completely displacing foreign cloth," 
He added that his removal from their midst might be of benefit 
to the people because it would not only destroy "the superstition 
about the possession of supernatural powers" by him. but de· 
molish the belief that it was only because of his influence that 
the people have accepted the non.cooperation programme." 
He concluded by adding, again characteristically, that he had 
a selfish reason for welcoming his arrest: "It will give me a 
quiet and physical rest. which perhaps [ deserve." 

He was nol to be disappointed-at least in securing a fairly 
prolonged period of rest for himself even though it was not quite 
as quiet as he would have wished it to be. It was, of course, not 
the first time that he had referred to the rumours of his imminent 
arrest. Such rumours had periodically surfaced during the previous 
six months or more. NOT were they just idle gossip. If the Govern­
ment had their intelligence men and informants in the Congress 
camp, the Congress. too. had its sources of information within 
the bureaucratic structures. It may be that at times these sources 
dished out disinformation. Nevertheless the Congress leaderShip 
was. often well posted on what the Government was up to. 

At any rate among the documents brought to light during 
Gulzari Lal Nanda"s stewardship of the Home Ministry there 
is a note prepared by William Vincent, the Government of 
India's Home Member during. Chelmsford's and part of Reading's 
viceroyalty dated October 10. 1921, in whic-h the pros and cons 
-or arresting and prosecuting Gandhi wcre carefully set out. As 
Francis Watson has recounted in his The Trial of Mr. Gamlhi, 
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"There were half~a~doz,en items under each head. But rhe quc~tion 
was so intricate, and the evidence from provincial sources so 
curious and conflicting, that most of the arguments could be 
read both ways." Some thought that Gandhi was already "losing 
influence" and, therefore, it was best to give him long enough 
rope. Others felt that it was time to grasp this most prickly of 
political nettles and lock him up immediately. One thought which, 
it seems, weighed heavily with the authorities was the then 
forthcoming lour of the Prince of Wales who had been receiving 
"wildly popular reception on tours through the rest of the 
Empire." They were anxious not lo foul the political climate 
which Gandhi's arrest might have done. Vincent advised post­
ponement of any action against Gandhi. 

That was not the end of the matter. Francis Watson has 
told the story of the whole back and forth over the question so 
welt in his book that it seems supererogatory to tell it aga.in. But 
one interesting and significant point has to be noted, This was 
the reversal of the role of the Government in London and its 
agency in Delhi. Hitherto, the Home Government, which had 
the parliamentary opposition to think ot: was mostly inclined to 
counsel caution and restraint and it was the Government of India 
and especially some of its provincial satraps. who strained at the 
leash. But this time, for complex. reasons. it was to be the other 
way round. Unlike Vincent-and Reading-Lloyd George and 
his Cabinet, Fmncis Watson says, "were inclined to treat the 
arrest of Gandhi as of prior importance. and the question of the 
Prince's visit as secondary. At a meeting on 12 October. with the 
Prime Minister in the chait and Curzon, Montagu and Churchill 
among others in attendance, the Secretary of State was instructed 
to tell the Viceroy thal there should be no delay in taking aelion 
to vindicate the Government of India's authority. As between 
deporting Gandhi and bringing him to trial, Ihe latter would 
be preferable." But London wanted above all speed in despat­
ching the affair. About the Prince's visit, the Cabinet wanted 
the Government of India to go ahead with the arrangements, 
unless they "lhmlght that a decision to arrest Gandhi would 
make a revision of the project desirable. in which case·' they were 
asked to let their views be known to the Home Government. 

Reading resocted to the techllique of passive resistance. He 
ruled out immediate arrest of the Mahatma. Montagu was then 
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asked to send him "a reasoned telegram" that they had not 
chunged their views on arresting being best. and this was to be 
reinforced by a personal message from the Prime Minister who 
with his usual flair, duly drafted one 10 the satisfaction of the 
Cabinet meeting on October 21. It did not succeed in moving the 
Viceroy who, to please No. 10 Downing Street and the lndia 
Office, redoubled arrests of Gandhi's followers and early in 
November declared the Congress Volunteers "an iJlegal organisa~ 
tion." This policy of Reading-strong action against all others 
but the Mahatma---continucd after the Prince of Wales' arrival 
in India and the Moderates, led by Maiaviya, only helped Reading 
in hi'> resistance to instructions from London by floating the 
idea of a "Round Table" get together to prevent the launching 
of mass civil disobedience at Banloli. 

Curzon, who presided at the Foreign Omce. was furioUS. He 
had the backing of Churchill. They thought that Reading 
"appeared to be ready to compromise the whole Indian policy 
of the Government and endanger British rule in India to purchase 
the ephemeral advantage of a good reception for the Prince 
of Wales." The Cabinet told Reading that if he wanted to receive 
any Indian politician he was free to do so. but "that it would be 
most improper to make a conference conditional on a welcome 
for the Prince." Similar truculence Was reflectcd in messages 
from some Governors, including Lloyd in Bombay who informed 
the Viceroy, Watson writes. th;lt in his own Prcf,idency he could 
not take responsibility for "'further restraining the due processes 
-of jU5tice"-a coded message that the arr~t of Gandhi had 
become a nMt1er of urgency. 

Gandhi's lettcr to the Viceroy sent on February I seemed the 
last straw. Reading saw in it an "insolent ultimatum" as he duly 
informed London. Montagu, close to his political end and having 
exhausted any credil he ever had with India that mattered, 
replied in It vein of "I told you so." He sent a telegram to the 
Viceroy, writes Francis Watson. saying "how regreuable had 
been the delay in arresting its audlor, whose whole organisation 
it might now be advisabk to suppress .... In London. the Home 
Government, ful!y aroused, met in ministerial confercncc.s on 9 
and 10 February .... Winston Churchill told his colleagues. 
an idea was prevalent among many people that 'we were fighting 
a rearguard nction in India. that the British Raj wns doomed 
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and that India would gradually be banded over to Indians'!' 
Lloyd GlJorgc, who~c finest hour lay well behind him assuming 
that there was one, blew even hotter. He wanted the notion 
abroad among British official and commercial communities in 
lndia thal "His Majesty's Government intended ultimately 
to withdraw from India" to be scotched firmly. "There must be 
a mastcr in India," he insistcd, "or it would relapse into chaos, 
We were now masters, and should let it be understood that we 
meant to remain SO," 

This. was the climate of opinion among those who ruled India 
whether rrom afar or near just about a week after Chauri ehaura 
though the Raj hud taken the affair in its stride and without tur~ 
ning a hair. Lloyd, according to Watsoll, was told by the Viceroy 
on february I J that he could go ahead with Gandhi's arrest. 
February 14 was set as the deadline for the deed. But on that 
very day-February II-the Working Committee haJ met at 
Bardo\i and had adopted Gandhi's resolution recommending to 
the A.1.e.e. to wspend mass civil dis.obetiience. This made 
Delhi think again, The Governor of Bombay received a me5sagc 
from Delhi early in the morning on February 14 that he had 
bener postpone the arrest. Fmncis Watson observes. "L1oyd's 
normally steady head was beginning to spin," The more so because 
he had succeeded in "slX':uring the assent of two Indian members 
of his Executive Council and three elected [ndian Ministers" 
and they might have second thoughts if given time to reflect. 

Lloyd himselr, of course, was aware (hat Gandhi might 
cancel the whole civil disobedience movement. In fact, he was 
pretty SUfe of it. For the Mahatma had seen him, probably on 
Febrmlry 9 when he hud visited Bombay for the day after hearing 
·)f the Chaud ChaUnI killings. Lloyd wus later to tell Drew 
Pearson that Gandhi was very shaken by the event and penitent. 
Lloyd chided him and ~aid : "I told you what would happen. 
You are responsible." Gandhi, Lloyd loW Drew Pearson, 
covered his face with his hands and said, "1 know it". Giving 
further details or his meeting wilh the Mahatma after the Chauri 
Chaura incident Lloyd said he i.ldmonished Gandhi. "You know 
it!" be said, "Well, can your knowing it bring back to lire the 
men and women whose heads were ground in10 dust by the heels 
of your Indian mob?" To [his Gandhi replied, "Put me in 
gaol. Your Excellency," "Yes", Lloyd said, "1 will put you in 
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gaol, but not until I get good and ready. Do you think I wanl tOo 
put a crown of thorns on your head?" 

Lloyd was being a little disingenuous. He had been holding his 
hand not because he did not want to make a martyr or Gandhi­
and his use of tbe phrase "crown of thorns" twice in tIle course 
of his interview with Drew Pearson would seem to be interesting 
and significanl~but because Delhi had nOl made up its mind 
whether or not to arrest Gandhi immediulciy even as late as­
February 9. The Viceroy gave the green signal 10 Lloyd only on 
February 11 and then only to flash the red light again in the early 
hours of February 14. At an events it \'fal> nol within the com· 
petenee of Lloyd to place or not to place a crown of thorn!> on 
Gandhi's head. As far as that was concerned. Gandhi's own 
people were perfectly capable of fa::.hioning a crown of thorns 
and even prepare a proper Calvary for him u<, the humankind 
have often done for those to whom their debt is far tOo great 
to be paid in any other currency except infliction of unmerited 
suffering. 

But that apart, and undoubtedly, part or the reai>on for the 
go~stop conduct of the Viceroy was the complication created by 
Gandhi's sudden cancellation of the Bardo!i civil disobedience 
plan. But. perhaps. there was also another and almost subliminal 
reason. Reading was a far subtler man than his predecessor. 
Chelmsford. or at least more intricate in hb calculations and laking 
his dispositions. He may well have thought it necessary to start a 
round about process of detaching the KhUafat movement from 
the Congress before arresting Gandhi. To be effective it had not 
to be obviously divisive and even capable of being interpreted as a 
move to appease bolh the Congress and the Khilafat movement. 
After all. Gandhi himself had asked the Government ··to make 
common cause with the people of india" over the Khilafat issue. 

The idea must have had a long period of gestation. But the 
brain child of Reading was secretly delivered on March 1. "Early 
in the morning," Watson wriles, Montagu recei ... ·ed from "Reading 
a telegram proposing that Britain should recommend the formal 
revision of the Sevres Treaty, so as to secure the evacuation of 
Constantinople, the restoration of the Sultan's suzerainty over 
the Holy Places, and tbe return ofThrace and Smyrna to Turkey:' 
This was a seemingly tempting idea likely to appeal to the Indian 
Muslims and a feeler thrown out to the Muslim political elite that 
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the British Raj was fully prepared to restore the fllvourite wife to 
the old status with ful! restitution of all conjugal rights. The 
olTer, of course, was no more than a promi::.sory nOle which might 
never have to be redeemed because other partic:'> were involved 
and they might not be agreeable to the revision or the Treaty to 
help the British in renewed wooing or the Indian Muslim opinion. 

But precisely because of its purely hypothetical-not to say 
hypocritical-nature it was likely to appeal to Montagu. He was 
willing to be the godfather without consulting the Prime Minister 
and his Cabinet colleagues. As Watson puts it: 

By w;titing until Friday to order the copying of this inflarnll1a~ 
tory docuiUcnt and its circulation to the Cabinet, the Sccretary 
of State reached the blessed refuge of the English political 
week~cnJ, for the task was not completed until Saturday 
afternoon. But on that day there reached him in his country 
retreat a second viceregal telegram !>eeking agreement for the 
imm:!diate publication of the proposals in India. And to this. 
Montagu wired his private assent, adding that he would 
confirm it officially on Monday. 

One can well understand why Reading was in a hurry to 
publish the details of the revision of the Treaty of Sevres which 
the Briti"h Government wanted, on his persuasion, to suggest to 
their partners in the Tleaty. Both Lloyd and Willingdon­
Governor of Madras-had been called to Delhi for consultations, 
presumably on the issue of Gandhi's arrest and other matters. 
So had been the Governor of Bengal. It had been finally decided 
to cross the Rubicon and lock the Mahatma up. A date was 
fixed-March 10. But Reading obviously wanted the news of the 
arrest to be muffied by other headlines-the Government's 
concession to the Indian Muslims and the Congress which had 
made the Khilafat cause its own-on the Turkish question. 

But it was not only Montagu's political crcdll in India which 
had run out and which he hoped would he in some measure 
restored by his having persuaded the British Cabinet to adopt 
Reading's thesis on the Treaty of Sevres. But things went 
hopelessly awry for him. His enemies in the Cabinet were not 
going to let him get away with it. When it met on Monday, March 
6, "with Austcn Chamberlain in the chair, Lloyd George bcing 
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ill," CUrzon took strong exception to "any publication of Read~ 
ing's telegram:' Watson writes: 

Montagu told him (CurzonJ he had already authorised the 
Viceroy to do ju"t that. It could stilt have been stopped, but 
nothing was done. It was published in India on Wednesday, in 
time to provide (a". may have been thought) di~arming cover 
for the step to be taken against Gandhi. The 8ritl;:;h Press 
carried it next day, and a storm of protest as well. In the 
Commons, to loud cheers from the Tory benches. Chamber­
lain spoke of the collective rc\ponsibility of cabinets and the 
duties of all govcrnmcnh or the Empire. and announced 
that the resignation of the Secretary of State for India bad 
been tendered and accepted. 

By a strange coincidence his famous speech which had set 
many an Indian political heart anutter in July 1917 had also 
been made on a Thursday. Now his political eclipse~and more 
than just a political eclipse---was being made public on another 
Thursday. He was deeply hurt and although in a speech in his 
Cambridge constituency he de"cribed Lloyd George, as Watson 
relates. "'a great if eccentric genius" who had demanded and 
been paid his price: "the total, complete and absolute disappea­
rance of collective responsibility ever since he formed the Gov­
ernment." Lloyd George evidently was not willing even to $pare 
an ambiguous compliment for hi" colleague whom he had found 
rather serviceable at one stage. In a letter to Frances Stevenson 
Oater his second wife and Countess) he did not mince his words 
and called Montagu ""a swine and a sneak." 

Thus, remarks Wat;;on. "Lhe political career that was ended ... 
was not Gandhi's. It was Montagtl's." He :1dds: "But the tragedy 
for Edwin Montagu was that for him India was very much more 
than a political job. His. life was over." This i~ perfectly true, 
though, perhap,:, it could be said that like most clever politicians~ 
and not only clever politicians~he was his own executioner. He 
never had a chance in hell to carry out some orthe good intentions 
he had at the beginning. He had hardly any political base or 
fol1owjng-~e)(cept curiollsly in India. including Gandhi who 
insisted at the Amritsar Congress that there should be no word 
of censure or him. He should have resigned long before and 
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not bt..--en made to quit over the "bizarre" episode of the publica. 
tion of Reading's telegram ostensibly offering a sop to the 
Khilafatists in India. 

As for Gandhi, he was politically indestructible. Possibly. if 
the Government bad left the Mahatma alone to face the mounting 
storm of criticism both within and without the Congress and 
allowed him to get tied up in illogical knots in justifying his 
dcdsion, his influence might have been irretrievably eroded. 
But there were men in the administration, rrom Montagu down­
wards, who in their irritation with "the Saint," wanted to be 
brought home to Gandhi that his saintliness conferred no immu­
nit yon him. So the knock at the door or his room at the Sabar­
mati Ashram for which he had been waiting and almost longing 
duly came. It did not come at the midnight hour or at the first 
crowing or the cock as it was to come twenty years Inter, but at 
half past tcn on the evening of March 10. 

But. perhaps, it is incorrect to say that there was any knock at 
the dOo.)r in a literal sense. Gandhi had returned to Ahmedabad 
and the Sabarmati Ashram from Ajmer that afternoon. He had 
got down at Saharmati station and "quite a number of people 
from Ahmedabad and neighbouring places had arrived at Sabar~ 
mati, and been anxiously waiting for bis return:' This was 
because rumour had spread that he had already been arrested 
and, as Krishnadas tells us, telegrams had come from many 
people, induding one from Jawaharlal Nehru, "asking for the 
verification of the widespread rumour." Hegoes on to relate a 
curious incident that took place at Sabarmati station which bears 
quotation: 

As the train stopped at the Sabarmati station he got down 
from it with a face radiant with smiles, and was about to leave 
the precincts of the station escorted by a large crowd of people. 
At that moment a British soldier. who had been watching 
Mahalmaji from the train with wide and curious eyes, stretched 
out his hand as Mahatmaji was about to pass him. and said, 
"Mr. Gandhi, I must shake hands with you." Mahatmaji 
also stretched his hand which was immediately grasped by 
the soldier, who in the futiness of his heart stammered out 
~ome feeling words which, however, we could not catch. 
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After resting for a whjle at the Ashram, according to 
Krishnadas. he sent a cryptic message to the Congress office 
at Bombay: "Weather permitting going Bardoli Sunday­
Gandhi." He attended the evening prayer meeting and Krisll1ladus 
tells us that "he was in an e.ltceptionally happy and hilarious 
mood." After the prayers he went to his room and dictated 
several1etters, including one to Paul Richard asking him to come 
to Bardoli on Sunday and telliJlg him that he was publishing his 
statement (in Young India of March 16), and another to M.R. 
Jayakar in which among other things, he wrote: "I should bt: 
sorry if anything I have written bas led you to infer that [ have 
in any shape or form altered my view about the efficacy of 
imprisonment for our salvation." 

His own salvation through imprisonment at least came within 
an hour or so of dictating these words. It came in the person of 
Daniel Healy. Superintendent of Police. Ahmedabad. Healy could 
not have carried out his stern duty more courteously, He 
would not even enter the Ashram to arrest the Mahatma, but 
waited for him on the public highway in his car, "allowing 
Mahatmaji," Krishnads writes. "as much time as he desired to 
prepare himselfforthe surrender." Gandhi was delighted when he 
was informed that Healy was waiting outside to take him to Sabat~ 
mati Jail conveniently located not far from the Ashram. According 
to Gandhi's Boswell during this critical period, he kept mutter· 
ingashc got ready: "Oh! the happy day; the best thing has 
happened; the best thing indeed has happened:' 

In a sense it had-for him. Patme Dutt rather scathingly 
remarks in India Today: "After the movement had been thus 
paralysed and demoralised from within, the Government struck 
with confidence. On March 10 Gandhi was arrested.... Not 
a ripple fanowed in the mass movement.,., The crisis was 
over." It wasn't and the ract that Dutt thought so only shows 
that erudite Marxists can be superficial in their judgements on 
events and often tend to be imemitive to their long-term moral 
and p'>yehological dimensions. If it is permi~sible to think 
that the calling off by Gandhi of the civil disobedience movement 
in February 1922 was an Himalayan blunder as some argued 
at the time and continue to argue to this day, it is equally 
permissible to suggest that his arrest by the Government a montb 
laler was a blunder of no lesser m3gnitude. 
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At any rate, its immediate effect was to silence his vociferous 
critics within the Congress and even those outside it-at least for 
a time. lawaharlal Nehru, who had been released from Lucknow 
Jail a few days before Gandhi's arrest and had decided to go at 
once to Ahmedabad, arrived only to be able to interview him in 
Sabarmati prison and, of course, attended the trial. "I was 
present at his trial," he writes in his autobiography, "it was a 
memorable occasion, and those of us who were present are not 
likely ever to forget it." Memorable it undoubtedly was-and 
remains. For it became not so much a trial of Gandhi. but of the 
Empire which he had challenged even though he had withdrawn 
the challenge at the last minute. The manner in which he conduc~ 
ted himself at the trial enabled him jf not exactly to snatch victory 
from the jaws of defeat (to quote a Churchillian phrase), at least 
to turn what seemed to many on the face of things as worse than 
political defeat, indeed almost a great fiasco, into a moral vindica­
tion not so much for him personally as for the cause which hI! 
had made his own. 



CHAPTER Xlii 

THE TRIAL 

Old men often forgel and Pontius Pilate. apparently, kept no 
diary-not even an engagement~book. That, at any rate, is the 
implication in Anatole Francc's compelling short story, The 
Procurator ()f Judaea. For some years after he had retil'cd and was 
taking the waters at Baiae, an ancient watering place in Campania. 
Italy, he had no recollection of the man who had been hauled 
up before him when he was posted at Jerusalem and but for whose 
trial by him Pontius would hardly have earned even a microscopic 
footnote in the history of the humankind. At Baiae he had a 
chance encounter by the roadside with bis old friend Lamia 
whom be had sheltered and offered hospitality when he spent 
some time in Jerusalem during his flfteen years of exile by Tiberiu$ 
on a charge of baving had illicit relations with the wife of Quirinus, 
a man of consular status, At and after dinner to which Pontius 
had invited Lamia the next evening, they reminisced a great 
deal about their time in Judaea. At one point in their conversa~ 
tion, moved by an intimate memory, Lamia wondered whether 
Pontius recalled a young Galilean thaumaturgist with a small 
following of men and women, "His name;' said Lamia, "was 
Jesus; he came from Nazareth, and be was arraigned for some 
crimes, I don't know what," "Pontius," he asked his friend, 
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"do you remember anything about the man?" Tne story concludes 
Wilh Pontius Pilate's unforgettable reply: 

Pontius Pilate contracted his brows, and his hand rose to his 
forehead in the attitude of one who probes the deeps of 
memory. Then after a silence of some seconds: ·'lelOlls". 
he murmured. "Jesus of Nazareth. L cannot ca1l him to mind." 

Fact or fiction, that happened, if it happened. a long time 
ago. In our own time and within living memory, Robert 
Broomfield, LC.S .. who was serving as the District and Sessions 
Judge at Ahmedabad, then in the Bombay Presidency. in March 
1922, had taken some precaution against the default and vagaries 
of human memory. In his rather perceptive hook. The Trial of 
Mr Gandhi. Francis Watson writes that many years afterwards 
Broomfield had showed him his engagement-diary for 1922 and 
that tlle pencilled entries for 18 March read thus: 

Golf before breakfast 
Try Gandhi. 

Not that Judge Broomfield was aware of any historical paraUel 
between the criminal trial over which he was to preside in thenormal 
call of duty in the spring of A.D. 1922 and the one which Pontius 
Pilate presided over in the judgement hall at Jerusalem in the 
spring of A.D. 33; and although he was not unmindful of the 
poUtical importance of Gandhi. just then trials of eminent Indian 
poiitici;:ms were no novelty and he intended to take it in 
his stride after a round of golf and breakfast. However, the 
similitude suggested itself to the minds of many Oleo and women 
of diverse ex.perience and backgrounds. both Indian and British, 
and across political divides. 

George Lloyd, as noted earlier, wanted to make sure thal 
Gandhi, if he was hauled up before the law. should be denied 
"the crown of thorns." Krishlladas, at the time very close to 
him, who helped Gandhi to [he bathing place in S:tbarmati JaiJ 
on the day of the trial (apparently Maiuviya had suggested it) 
writes that they all felt "as if we were anointing the Master before 
his crucHhion." That may sound sentimental and even a trifle 
melodramatic, but, after it was all over, Sarojini N(l.idu wa'i to 
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write in the Bomba)' Chroni!'le: "My thoughts sped across the 
ccnluric!> to a difrerent land and a differem age. when a similar 
urama was cnacted and another divine and gentle tea(;hcr was 
crucified. for ~reaking a kindred gospel with a kindred courage:' 
And, again, when later that year C.R. Das. wa.'> released and was. 
elected 10 preside over the Thirty-seventh Session of the Congress 
at Gaya, despite his diITercnces with Gandhi and even a certain 
irritation he began his presidential address by evoking \\hat Francis 
Watson calls "the inexact but obsessive analogy" anJ quoted the 
relevant lines from the Gospel according to St. Matthew. 

The trial itself was in two stages. There Were first the commit­
tal proceedings. For the charge against Gandhi-and his c-o­
accused colleague, Shankerlal Banker, who was the printer and 
publisher of the English weekly Young India and had been a.rresred 
with him-was no minor one. It came under the purview of 
Section 124-A of the Indian Penal Code: that of "bringing or 
attempting to bring into hatred or contempt or exciting or attemp­
ting to excite disaffection towards Hh; Majesty's Government 
established by law in British India," The committal proceedings. 
were held before the Additional District Magistrate, a man 
named Allan Brown. at the Divisional Commissioner's Office 
and ,"ere conducted for the prosecution by a local legal "loyalist" 
Rao Bahadur Girdharilal, the Public Prosecutor of Ahmedabad. 

But on this occasion he did not have to work hard to earn his. 
keep. The proceedings before the ADM were a matter of for­
mality-and for the good reason that neither of the accused contes­
led the charges against them. On the contra.ry. Gandhi in his 
"Statement of the Accused," describing himself as a "farmer and 
weaver," made it plain thal at "the propenime" he would "plead 
'guilty' so far as disaffection towards Go\-ernment" was concerned. 
He not only admitted having written the four articles on which 
the charges against him rested, but added for good measure 
that the proprietors and publishers of Young India allowed him 
"to control the whole of policy of the paper" thus taking upon 
himself the total responsibility for anything appearing in it. 
Nevertheless the Ie-gill technicalities were carefully gone through. 
Witnesses for the prosecution were duly produced and their 
evidence recorded. They were the Superintendent of Police~ 
Ahmedabad, the Registrar of the Appellate side of the Bombay 
High Court, a ma.n named Gharda, and lhe District M'l.gistratc of 
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Ahmedabad, G.E. Chatfield, besides two "formal police witnesses." 
The Superintendent of Police named the offending articles the 
first of which had appeared as early as June 15. i921, entitled 
~'Disaffection a Virtue" and the last, published under the heading 
"Shaking tIle Manes", as. late as February 23. 1922-that is, 
after the Congress Working Committee had already suspended 
mass civil disobedience, The other two articles were "Tampering 
with Loyalty" and "The Puzzle and its Solution" which appeared 
on September 29 and December 15, 1921, respectively, The 
"accused" did not cross~examjne any of the witnesses and were 
duly committed for trial at the Sessions Court. 

This was on the very morrow of Gandhi's arrest-Saturday, 
March 11. The substantive trial did not take place tit! exactly a 
week later. As neither Gandhi nor Shankerlal Banker had applied 
for bail, they remained in Sabarmati prison. But for all practical 
purposes they might have been at the Ashram. No restrictions 
were pJaced on their visitors. These included Madan Mohan 
Malaviya, Jawaltarlal Nehru, Jamnalal Bajaj, Chhaganlal 
Gandhi. Shuaib Qureshi, and among women Ka~turba. Gandhi 
and Anasuya Sacabhai. As Krishnadas, who was himself almost 
in constant attendance on Gandhi during the period between the 
two trials, remarks: "The gaol was transformed into a sort of 
a royal Dacbar." But all that was to change after the trial by tbe 
District and Sessions Judge and the sentencing on March 18. 

The case number 45 of 1922 was listed as Imperator Vs (0 
Mr~M.K. Gandhi and (2) Mr. S.O, Banker, But it was not heard 
at tbe Court of the District and Sessions Judge situated in the 
city. InMead" a courtroom was improvised for Judge Broomfield 
at the Circuit House in the fashionable part of Ahmedabad 
known as Shahibag-or King's Garden-which Frands Watson 
describes as. "u wcll~appointed residence buill for the temporary 
use of judges. and other official visitors," Sixty-five years later 
it stiIt stands and serves as a "well-appointed" hostelry for 
official and political VIPs or their guests though there is a plaque 
to remind guests and visitors that for a day it had served the "enue 
for the historic tria] of Gandhi and his printer and publisher, 

The reason for sllifting the venue of the trial from the Law 
Courts to the Circuit House was almost certainly security. In 
April 1919 at the time of the Rowlatt Act agitation the Law 
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Courts had suffered some damage at the hands of crowds protes~ 
(ing against Gandhi's arrest while on the way to the Punjab. 
Probably a rcpeal performance by crowds was expected. That 
was why it was considered safer to hold the trial at the Circuit 
House where police and security forces could be deployed more 
effectively as they Were. Not that alone. Francis Watson writes 
that "across the road. in the ample compound of the Commis­
sioner's house [incidentally part of its dating back to the Mogul 
times which was for several years used as the Governor's residence 
after the creation of a separate State of Gujarat and where Tagore 
is said to have wrilten his rather spooky story The Hungry SIO"e~"1, 
a battalion of Indian infantry was held in rc~crve." But their 
services were never needed. lndeed, one of the things which 
had mnde the Mahatma happy beyond words wa. .. that there 
were no significant disturbances anywhere in India after his 
arrest. But the Government were not taking any chances. 

Nor, it seems, on the legal front. Conviction of Gandhi Wil.-'{ 

a foregone conclusion under the drcumstanCe-5. But they wanted a 
sufficiently heavy sentence. The presentation of the case for the 
prosecution was, therefore, not left to Girdharilal, Public Pro­
secutor of Ahmedabad. The services of a Britisher. Sir Thomas 
Strangman, Advocate-General of the Bombay Presidency. were 
secured to act as Special Public Prosecutor for the occasion. 
He arrived on the morning of March 18 from Bombay. travelling 
apparently by the same train which brought Sarojini Naidu who 
attended the trial with Kasturba Gandhi, Anasuya Sarabhai 
and several other prominent Indians. including JawaharlaI Nehru, 
and was to evoke the scene at the Circuit House in a classic piece 
of reportage. 

Gandhi entered the improvised court room about midday. 
Sarojini Naidu writes: 

A convict and a criminal in the eyes of the Law; nevertheless 
the entire court rose in an act of spontaneous homage when 
Mahatma Gandhi entered,-a frail, serene, indomitable figure 
in a coarse and scanty loin cloth. accompanied by his devoted 
disciple and fellow-prisoner. Shankcrlal Banker .... "So you are 
seated near me to give me your support incase I break down," 
he jested with that Jmppy laugh of his which seems to hold 
the undimmed radiance of the world's childhood in its depths. 
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And looking found at the hosts of familial' faces of men and 
women who bad travelled far to offer him a token of their love, 
he added, "This is like a family gathering and not a law-court." 

Judge Broomfield took his seat at l2 noon precisely. There 
was evidently a correction to be made in the charge-sheeC At the 
committal hearing Gundhi and Shankerlal Banker had been 
charged on four counts under Section 124-A. These were 
reduced to three. Apparently, the article headed "Disaffection 
a Virtue" which appeared in Young Ifldia on June 15, 1921, wa.s 
found to be inoffensive on second thoughts. But three counts 
were good enough and Broomfield said that the law required 
that the charges should not only be read out, but explained. Nol, 
he added. that it was necessary in this case to say much by way 
of explanation, since he said the words "haIred and contempt" 
were words the meaning of which was sufficiently obvious. As 
word "disaffection" as defined under the Section. it included 
disloyalty and feelings of enmity. What is more, invoking a 
ruling of the High Court of Bombay in a previous case, it meanl 
also "political alienation or discontent, a spirit of disloyalty to 
Government or existing authority:' 

Having done his duty, he asked Gandhi whether he pleaded 
guilty or claimed to be tried. To this Gandhi replied: "I plead 
guilty on each count of the charge. I merely observe that the 
King's name is omitted from the charge-sheet and. in my opinion, 
very properly." The question was repeated to Shank.erJat Banker 
who. too, pleaded guilty. Theoretic.'l.lly, therefore. there was 
little more for Judge Broomfield to do but senieoce the accused. 
But the Advocatc~General who had come all the way from 
Bombay and no doubt had prepared J1is brief with care hoping 
to display his legal skill in a triul which he knew would pass into 
history. wantcd the Judge to try the case fully. "The charges," 
he urged, "should be investigated as fully as possible and also 
that thc Court will be in a better pOFilion to pass sentence if it 
has the whole of the fuets,'-

The Judge, however, thought otherwise. He said that "from 
the time he knew he was going to try the case, he had thought 
over the question of sentence and he was prepared to hear any­
thing that the Counsel might have to say, or Mr. Gandhi wished 
to say, on the sentence. He honestly did not believe that the 
mere recordillg or evidence in the trial which Counsel had called 
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for would make any difference to them, one way or the other." 
He accepted the picas of the accused which called forth a smile 
from Gandhi but did not please Strangman who, in any case, 
was somewhat irritated that "Ahmedabad officialdom had been 
magnetically affected by the charm of Gandhi's personality;' 
as Francis Watson remarks. 

Judge Broomfield said that nothing further remained but fOf 

him to pass the sentence. However. he was prepared to listen 
anything Sir Thomas Strangman might have to say so long as 
his "general remarks" were based "on lhe charges against the 
accused and on their pleas." The Advocate~General did not seem 
to think this was good enough. He pointed out his difficulty and 
insisted that the Court should consider the whole matter 
properly. "If 1 stated," he argued, "what has bappened before 
the Committing Magistrate, then I can show that there are many 
things which arc material to the question of the sentencc." The 
first point he made was that the charges "formed a part of the 
campaign to spread disaffection openly and systematically to 
render Government impossible and to overthrow it." He harped 
back to an article in Young India as early as May 25, 1921, which 
s.aid that it was the duty of a non~cooperator to create disaffec~ 
tion towards the Government. He read out parts of article.,: 
written by the Mahatma in Young India which were not in fact 
mentioned in the charge-sheet. 

The Judge nevertheless muint.tined that he could accept 
plea "on the materials on which the sentence had to be based." 
Strangman agreed that the question of sentence was entirely 
for the Court to decide but he wanted to show that the articles 
on which the charges were based were by no means isolated. 
They formed part of "an organised campaign," He then read 
out extracts from several articles which he claimed were aimed 
at spreading ··disaffection'· towards the Government "by law 
established." One of them which appeared in Young India or 
July 28, 1911, went so far as to say that "we have to destroy 
the system:' He paid a compliment to Gandhi by remarking 
that "the accused was a man of high educational qualifications 
and evidently, from his writings, a recognized leader." But 
this was not so much to praise the Mahatma as to e~tab1i~h that 
"they were the writings of an educated man, and not the writings 
of an obscure man" and, therefore, "the Court must con.,id,!r 
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to what the result of a campaign of the nature disclosed in the 
writings must inevitably lead," He :,pelt out what the campaign 
had led to in spite of Gandhi's inshtence on non~violel1ce-"to 
the occurrences in Bombay last November and Chauri Chaura." 
He wanted the Court to take these incidents "into account 
in sentencing the accused." 

However, in the circumstances of the case his eloquent 
deployment of the arguments for the prosecution were largely 
un t:xt;rcise in superfluity a~ much as the holding in reserve of a 
battalion of troops across the road to make sure that Gandhi 
did not escape from custody. The accused had already pleaded 
guilty and there was nothing to suggest that he would beg the 
Court to take any extenuating factors into account while passing 
a sentence on him. Rather the reverse. Dr. Silaramayya nicely 
describes the piquant situation in which the authorities found 
themselves while building their case against Gandhi: 

When you go to a big textile shop or ajewellery mart for your 
dress and diamonds, your puzzle is what to buy with your 
limited purse. Even so might the Law officers of the Crown 
have been "puzzled and perplexed" as to the choice of 
G:IO:;Hti's articles published from week to week for their indicl~ 
ment against him. Which was not sedilious? Gandhi always 
held that it was his duty to propagate sedition, and if his 
articles were not sufficiently seditious, it meant his pen was 
weak .•.. 

After hearing the Advocate*Geoeral of Bombay dwell on the 
gravity of Gandhi's transgressions, Broomfield asked Gandhi 
whether he wished to say anything on the question of sentence. 
To this the Mahatma replied that he would like to read out a 
written statement. The Judge had 00 objection but wanted the 
written statement to be banded to him in order that he could put 
it on record. Long afterwards.. Broomfield told Francis Watson 
that he knew that Gandhi's statement was. likely to be political 
propagllnda, without much bearing on the only issue, which was 
the amount of sentence. "However," he added. "f saw no objec~ 
tion to his reading it, and J alJowed him to do so .. ,.1 think that 
was one reason why he wa<; plcased with his trial. I let him have 
bis say." 
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As for his :;tipulalion that Gandhi should let him have a copy 
for bis record so that he should "001 have the trouble of writing 
it," the Mahatma, it seems, had nocapy. He had only the hand­
written manuscript, but said that he would let him have the 
original as soon as he had flnil.hed reading it. But before reading 
the text, he wished to make some preliminary obscrvatiollS 
which were not by way of eXCUlpation but rather a frank mea 
£'u/pa. For he !>ald: 

... 1 would like to state that I entirely endorse the learned 
Advocate-General\; remarks in connection with my humble 
.';dC I think that he was entirely fair to me in all the statements 
that he has made. because it is very true and I have no desire 
whatsoever to conceal from this Court the fact that to preach 
disaffection towards the existing system of Government has 
become a1mo};t a passion with me; and the learned Advocate­
General is also entirely in the right when he says that my 
preaching of disaffection did not commence with my connec­
lion with Young India. but that it commenced much earlier 
and in the s.tatemcnt that I am about to read, it will be my 
painful duty to admit before this Court that it commenced 
much earlier than the period stated by the Advocate-General. 
It is the most painful duty with me, but I have to discharge 
that duly knowing the responsibility that rests upon me 
and I wish to endorse all the blame that the learned Advocate~ 
General has thrown on my shoulders in connection with the 
Bombay, the Madras and the Chauri Chaura occurrences. 
Thinking over these deeply and sleeping over them night 
after night it is impossible to dissociate myself from the 
diabolical crimes of Chauri Chaura or the mad outrages in 
Bombay and Madras. He is quite right when he says that, 
as a man of responsibility. a man having received a (air 
share of education, having had a fair share of experience of 
this. world. J should know the consequences of every one of 
my acts. I knew that I was playing with fire. I ran the risk 
and, if I was set free 1 would stilt do the same. I know that I 
was feeling it so every day and I have felt it also this morning 
that r would have failed in my duty if I did not say what I 
said here just now. J wanted to avoid violence. I want to 
avoid violence. Non-violen.ce is the first article of my faith. 
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h is also the last article of my creed. BUll had to make my 
choicc. I had either to submit to a system which I considered 
had done an irreparable harm to my country, or incur the 
rh;k of the mad fury of my people bur!>ting forth when they 
understood the trulh from my lips. I know that my people 
have sometimes gone mud. 1 am deeply sorry for it, I am 
therefore here to submit not to a light penalty but to the 
lligilest penally. I do not ask for mercy. I do not ask for 
any extenuating act of clemency. I am here to invite and 
cheerfully submit to the highest penalty that can be inflicted 
upon me for what in law is a deJiberate crime and what appears 
to me to be the highest duty ofa citizen. The only course open 
to you, the Judgc, is as I am just going to s:ty in my statement, 
either to resign your post, or inflict on me the severe;,t pen­
alty. if you believe that the syo;tem and the law you are assis­
ting to administer are good for the people of this country. , .. 
I do not exped that kind of convcrsion but by the lime I 
have finished with my statement you will. perhaps, have a 
glimpse of what is raging within my breas.t to run this maddest 
risk that a sane man can run. 

Having said thi$ by way or a preamblc-perhaps onc should 
!.ay overture. for what followed was largely an elaboration of the 
strands or argument put out in his introductory remarks-he read 
out his statement. It was long. but not too long-in fact, less 
than two thousand words. He said th~lt he had a duty "to the 
Indi<tn public and to the public in England. to placate whil.:h 
this prosecution is mainly taken up," to explain "why, from a 
staunch [oyaHst and co-operator, I have become an uncompro~ 
mising disaffection!st and non~cooperutor. To the Court. too. 
I should say why [plead guilty to the charge of promoting 
disaffection towards the Government established by law in 
India. " 

He recalled how his public life had begun in 1893 in South 
Arrica "in troubled weather." From his very first contact with the 
British authorities there, which was "not of a happy character," 
he had discovered that "as a man" and "an Indiau" he had no 
rights. "More correctly," he said. "I discovered that I had no 
rights as a man. because I was an Indian." Why. then, did he 
not immediately raise the banner of revolt. indeed, was not even 
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"baffled", Because, he went on "I thought that this treatment of 
Indians was an excrescence upon a system that was intrinsically 
and mainly good. 1 gave the Government my voluntary and 
hearty co-operation. criticizing it freely where I felt it was faulty. 
but never wishing its destruction." 

Not only did he not wish its destruction. he continued, he 
offered his services to it when the Empire faced the Boer challenge 
in 1899, raised a volunteer ambulance corps and served at sevcldl 
actions during the relief of Ladysmith. More: he raised a stretcher­
bearer party during the Zulu revolt in 1906 and served till the 
end of the rebellion. He was mentioned in despatches and awarded 
medals in recognition of his services. This was crowned with the 
award of a Kaisar-i-Hind Gold Medal by Lord Hardinge for his 
work in South Africa.. Again when the war broke out between 
England and Germany in 1914, he raised a volunteer ambulance 
corps in London from the Indian residents there, chiefly students. 
His work was duly acknowledged. As late as 1918, in responr.c 
to a special appeal at the War Conference in Delhi by Lord 
Chelmsford, he struggled at the cost of his health to raise a corps 
in Kheda and only ceased his recruiting campaign when it was 
announced that no more recruits were needed. He did all this 
because he was persuaded that "it was possible by such services 
to gain a status of fuji equality 1n the Empire for my country­
men." 

What then made him change this complaisant view of the 
British Raj? The first shock came, he said, with the pass:.\ge of 
the Rowlatt Act, a law designed to rob the people of all real 
freedom. He was duty bound to lead an intensive agitation 
against it. The Punjab horrors, beginning with the JatJianwata 
Bagh and culminating in crawling orders, public floggings and 
other indescriba.ble humiliations, followed. There was also the 
breach of the plighted word to the Indian Muslimsovcr the integrity 
of Turkey and the holy places of Islam. Even so he hoped 
against hope that the Punjab and Khi!afat wnmgs would be 
redressed. That is why, in spite of the forebodings and lhe grave 
warnings of friends, at the Amritsar Congress in 1919 he had 
fought for cooperation and tbe working of the Montagu~ 
Chelmsford reforms. 

But his hopes were shattered. The Khilafat promise was not 
redeemed. The Punjab crime was whitewashed and many of 
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those responsible for the crimes went not only unpunished, but 
continued to draw their salaries and pensions from the Indian 
revenue and some were even rcwardcd. He realised that the 
reforms were only a device to drain India of her wealth still 
furt11er. And so, reluctantly, he came to the conclusion that the 
British connection had made India more helpless than she ever 
was before, politically and economically. Hc also referred to the 
economic spoliation of India, the destruction of her cottage 
industries by incredibly "heartless and inhuman processes as 
described by English witnesses." 

But the British exploiters of India were not the sole target of 
his accusations. He was equally unsparing of their Indian accom­
plices. whether active or passive. In parlicular, he was severe on 
the "town·dwellers" who were blind to the sufferings of the 
"semi~starved masses": 

Little do they know that their miserable comfort represents 
the brokerage they get for the work they do ror the foreign 
exploiter. that tbe profits and the brokerage are sucked from 
the masses. little do they realize that the Government esta .. 
blished by law in British India is carried on for this exploita­
tion of the masses. No sophistry. no jugglery in figures can 
explain away the evidence that the skeletons in many villages 
present to the naked eye. I have no dOUbt whatsoever that 
both England and the town~dwellers of India will have to 
answer, if there is a God above, for this crime against humanity 
which is perllaps unequalled in hi!;tory. 

As for the legitimacy of the law by which the Government 
was said to havc been established and under which it was sus­
tained, he was scathing. He said: 

The law itself, in this country has been used to serve the 
foreign exploiter. My unbiased ex..1.minalion of the Punjab 
Martial Law cases has led me to believe that ... ill nine out 
of every tcn cases the condemned men were totally innocent. 
Their crime consisted in the love of their country. In ninety~ 
nine cases out of hundred. justit.-e hac;; been denied to Indians 
as against Europeans in the Courts of India. This is not an 
exaggerated picture. It is the experience of almost every 



386 INDIAN NATIO!'iAl CONGRi?SS 

lndian who has had anything tu du with such cases, In my 
opinion. the administration of the law is thus prostituted 
consciously or unconsciously for the benelit of Ihe exploiter. 

The tmgcdy. he argued, was "that Englishmen and their 
Jndian associates ill the administration of the country do not know 
that they are engaged in the crime I have altempted to describe." 
He was. aware that many English nnu Inuian officials were 
convinced that the system of administration which they operated 
\\I1S "one of the best systems devised in the world and that India 
is making steady though slow progress. They do Ilot know that 
a subtle but efi'cctive system of terrorism and an organized display 
of force on the one hand, and the deprivation of ull powers of 
retaliatil1n or selr~defcnce on the other, have emasculated the 
people and induced in them Ihe habit of~imulalion, This awful 
habit has added to the ignorance and the sclf~d.:ception of the 
administrators." 

Coming down from the general to the concrete particular, 
Gandhi nicely characterised Seolion 12+A under which he 
and his friend Shankerlal Banker were being charged as "per~ 
haps the prince among: the political sections of the Indian Penal 
Code designed to suppress the liberty of the citizen." "Affection", 
he said, "cannot be manufactured or regulated by law." And he 
made the point that "jf one has no affection for a person or 
system. one should be frce to give the fullest expression to this 
disaffection, S(J long as he docs n01 contemplate, promote or 
incite to violence." They~tha.t is Gandhi and Banker-he said 
were charged unuer a section under which "mere promotion of 
disaffection is. a crime." He had studied some of the cases tried 
under it and knew "that some of tile most loved of India's patriots 
have been convicted under it." He would himself regard it as 
"a privilege, therefore, to be charged under it" not because he 
had any personal ill will against any single administrator. much 
less lowards the King's person, but because he held "it to be 
a virtue to be disaffected towards a Government which in its 
totality has done more harm 10 India than any previous system." 

In fact, he contended. he had rendered a s.ervice to India and 
England by writing the articles. which were produced as evidence 
against him. By so doing he had shown "in non~cooperation the 
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way out of the unnatural state in which botb are living." And 
he added: 

In my humble opinion, non-cooperation with evil is as much 
a duty as is co-operation with good. But, in the past, non~ 
~oopcration has been deliberately ex.pressed in violence to 
the evil-doer_ I am endeavouring to show to my countrymen 
Ihat viuient non-coopcf"J.lion only multiplies evil and that, 
as evil can only be sustained by violence, withdrawal of 
support of evil requires complete abstention from violence. 
Non-violence implies voluntary submission to the penalty 
for non-cooperation with evil. I am here, therefore, to invite 
and submit cheerfully to the highest penalty that can be 
inflicted upon me for what in law is a deHberate crime and 
what appears to me to be the highest duty of a citizen. 

And he concluded by repealing what he had said at the 
bC'ginning in his introductory remarks. The only course open to 
tbe Judge was either to resign his post and dissociate himself 
from evil if he fell that the law he was called upon to administer 
was an evil "and that in realilY 1 am innm:ent:' If, on the other 
hand. he believed that the system <lnd the laws he was "assisting 
to administer are good for the people of this. country and that 
my activity is, therefore, injurious to the public weal" to inflict 
"the severest penalty" upon bim (Gandhi). 

As Gandhi bad himself said in his preliminary remarks he 
did not expocl the District and Sessions Judge of Ahmedabad to 
undergo an instant conversion and announce his resignation. 
Indeed. Broomfield did not even follow Pontius Pilate's example 
Who. because he could not find any "fault" in the man arraigned 
before him, had washed his hands oft· the whole affair by allowing 
them tt) choose Barabas "who was a thief" to be freed instead of 
Jesus, Instead, with the "pragmatism" of the British, he duly 
adminis.tercd the law Which he was paid to administer and at 
the S<lrnc lime said very nice things about the Mahatma which 
he knew would please Indians and, in fact, did please them as we 
can judge by the comments of Sarojini Naidu and lawaharlal 
Nehru on Broomfield's conduct at the trial which (to quote 
Nehru) was characterised by "dignity and feeling." 

For after formally asking Gandhi's co-accused, Shankerlal 
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Danker. whether he wished to say anything to the Court regarding 
the sentence and who merely said that he had the "privilege of 
printing" the offending articles and pleaded guilty to the charge. 
Broomfield pronounced his brief verdict which fell into two 
ptlrts, the first being, as it were, the argument for his decision 
and the second the actual term of sentence and the precedent for 
it. He said to Gandhi: 

You have made my task easy in one way by pleading guilty 
to the charge. Nevertheless what remains, namely, the deter· 
mination of a just sentence, is perhaps as difficult a proposi~ 
tion as a judge in this country could have to face. The law is 
no respecter of persons, Nevertheless, it wilt be impossible to 
ignore the fact that yOll are in a different category from any 
person I have ever tried or am likely to have to try. [t would 
be impossible to ignore the fact that, in the eyes of millions 
of your countrymen, you are a great patriot and a great 
leader. Even those who differ from yOll in politics look upon 
you as a man of high ideals and of noble and of even saintly 
life.l have to deal with you in one character only. It is not my 
duty and I do not presume to judge or criticize you in any 
other character. It is my duty to judge you as a man subject 
10 the law, who has by his own admission btokcn the law 
and committed what to an ordinary Olan must appear to be 
grave offences against the State. 1 do not fOlget that you 
have constantly preached against violence and that you have 
on many occasions, as I am willing to believe, done much 
to prevent violence, but having regard to the nature of your 
political tcaching: and the nature of many of those to whom 
it is addressed, how you eQuId have continued to believe that 
violence would not be the inevitable consequence it passes 
my capacity to understand. 

All this was well put and was logical and consistent with tIle 
position Broomlield occupied and the law he had to administer. 
He was equally fulicitolls in phrasing tIle second part of his 
judgement which relnted to the question of sentence. He invoked 
a parallel which Gandhi found flattering even if Tilak was a man 
of very different temperament and philosophy to his own. After 
remarking that "there afC probably few people in India who do 
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'_Dot sincerely regret that you should have made it impossible for 
any Government to leave you at liberty," he said: 

But it is so. ] am trying to balance what is due to you against 
what appears to me to be necessary in the interests of the 
public, and I propose, in passing sentence, to follow the 
precedent of a case, in many respects similar to this case, 
that was decided some 12 years ago, I mean the case agaim.t 
Mr. Bal Gangadhar Tilak under this same section. The 
sentence that was passed upon him as it finally stood was a 
sentence of simple imprisonment for six years. You will not 
consider it unreasonable, I think~ that you should be classed 
with Mr. Tilak, and that is the sentence, two years, simple 
imprisonment on each count of the charge, Le., six yean in 
all, which I feel it my duty 10 pass upon you and 1 should like 
to say in doing so that, if the course of events in India should 
make it possible for the Government to reduce the period 
and release you, no oue will be better pleased than L 

And turning to Banker, he said, that he assumed that to 
,a large extent he (that is Banker) had been "under the influence" 
of his chief and, therefore, the sentence he proposed to pass 
upon him on the first two counts was simple imprisonment 
for six months-that is simple imprisonment for one year-and 
a fine of a thousand rupees on the third count, with six months' 
simple imprisonment in default. 

It is not known whether the Advocate-General of Bombay 
Was satisfied that the punishment was adequate. But Gandhi 
certainly was highly gmtified that the Judge in sentencing him 
"had looked back to TiJnk's case and thought him worthy of an 
idenlicuJ term of imprisonment. He had the last word at the 
lrial: 

I would say one word. Since you have done me the honour of 
recalling the trial of the late Lokamanya Bal Gangadh~r 
Tilak. r just want to say that I consider it to be the proudest 
privilege and honour to be associated with his name. So far 
as the Sl!ntence itself is concerned, I cl!rtainly consider that it 
is as light as any judge would innict 011 me, and so far as the 
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whole proceedings are concerned. I must say that I could 
not have expected greater courtesy. 

The Judge then left the COUli and it was all over. As Sarojini 
Naidu was to write in her reportage of "The Great Trial": 

The strange trial proceeded and as 1 listened to the immortal 
words that flowed with prophetic fervour from the lips of 
my beloved master my thoughts sped across the centurie~ to 
a different land and different age .... 1 realised now that 
the lowly Jesus. of Nazareth, cradled in a manger, furnished 
the only paraliel in hi~tory to this invincible apostle of [ndian 
liberty who loved humanity with unsurpassed compassion, 
and to use his own beautiful phrase, "approached the poor 
with the mind of the poor." 

The most epic event of modern times ended quickly. The 
pent up emotion of the people burst in u storm of sorrow as a 
long slow procession moved towards him in a mournful 
pilgrimage of farewell. clinging to the hand that had toiled 
incessantly. bowing over the feet that journeyed so contin­
uously in the service of the country. In the midst of all this 
poignant scene of many-voiced and myriad-hearted grief he 
stood, untroubled, in all his transcendent simplicity, the 
embodied symbol of the Indian Nation-its living sacrifice 
and sacrament in one. 

Her poetic description of the scene is endorsed by other less 
poetic accounts including one by K. Sanlanam in the Tribune of 
March 23, 1922, and another in Young India of the same date. 
K. Santanam reported that it was nearly h.alf an hour or three­
quarters before all theJeave~takings were over after the Court 
had risen and Gandhi came out to be dri ... ·en away in a motot 
car to Sabarmali Jail by the police which had remained in the 
background during the prolonged farewell scene. It seems that 
neither his friends nor even Kasturba had realised after his arrest 
that there was going to be a long period of separation, partly 
because during the nine days between his arrest and the sentence 
when he was lodged in Sabarmati prison his vi~itors had been 
allowed full and almost unfettered access to him and restraints 
on him were minimal if not non-existent. Now the painful reality 
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dawned upon them with full immediacy that the freedom which 
they and Gandhi had been allowed while awaiting his trial was 
abruptly to cease and that his imprisonment was going to be for 
real. Their distress at this realisation was also for real and expres~ 
sed itself in sobs and tears. Young India reported soberly: 

Then the friends of Mr. Gandhi crowded round him ... and 
fell at his feeL There was much sobbing on the part of both 
men and women. But all the while Mr. Gandhi was smiling 
and cool and giving encouragement to everybody who came 
to him. Mr. Banker also was smiling and taking this in a 
light·hcarted way. After all his friends had taken leave of him, 
Mr. Gandhi was taken out of the Court to the Sabannatl 
Jail. 

And then, for the first though not the last time during his 
life in India, the gates of the prison~house really closed UpOD 
him ...• 



CHAPTER XIV 

AT THE CROSS ROADS 

The reaction to Gandhi's arrest and conviction was rather 
muted-and on both sides of the great and basic political divide. 
Even the more Blimpish section of the non~official European 
opinion in India was. surprised at tht: timing of rhe action taken 
by the Government against the Mahatma and more than a little 
nervous about its possible consequences whith might be bad for 
business. The StaTesman, reflecting this anxiety, had editorially 
described the arre~t as a "ma~terpicce of ineptitude" and found 
the reasons for Lord Reading's decision "inscrutable," It bad 
feared that it might prove a shot-in-tll!.:-arm for what it diagnosed 
as a "sickly movement:' However. on the morrow of Gandhi's 
sentencing it was suflkicntly comforted to write editorially, 
"A widespread belief was created among the masses that he 
[Gandhil was sacrosanct and could not and would not be treated 
as an ordinary criminal. Suddenly this illusion is dhpelled." 
It even thought that the sentencing of Gandhi "may encourage 
the hope that Government has at last made up its mind to enforce 
the law without feat or favour." 

This was pretty mild. But so, too, by and large was the com· 
ment in the Indian nationalh.t Press. An editorial in the Tribune 
of Lahore which had the hallmark of Kalinath Roy's style in 
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,which prolixity tended to be the soul of wit, said that the sentence 
passed on the Mahatma was no surprise, lndeed, it was "a fore­
gone conclusion." The leaderwritcr chose to sound a valedictory 
rather than denunciatory note, but made boJd to remark that 
"the hands of the clock cannot be put back permanently or 
indefinitely, and the goals of the movement must be reached," 
Meanwhile. he wanted to pay his "last tribute to Mahatma 
Gandhi," and did so in a fine conduding flourish about a column 
,or more later: "Six years' imprisonment was exactly the 
thing that was needed to put the seal of completion on his charac­
ter and his nature for have not 'the great prophets of humanity 
all been martyrs'." 

The popular response in the country was also generally 
subdued. To be sure there were hartals. or stoppages of work 
and business in many cities and lowns; bonfires of foreign cloth 
were lit; but there was no great eruption of mass protest. The 
Congress leadership was inclined even to be gratified by the 
calm way in which the people had responded to the provocative 
act of the Government in incarcerating the Mahatma. The 
Congress Working Committee held an "emergent" meeting at 
Ahmedabad on March 17 and 18. 1922. and managed to get 
through a considerable amount of resolutiolls-eightcen in all 
to be exact. Of these the fir:;t sixteen concerned organisational 
matters, the programme of constructive work and above all 
,promotion of khaddar or the home~spun cloth and were taken 
up before the actual trial at the Circuit House. that is on March 
_17. But the second-and the longest-resolution had a bearing 
di«!ctly 011 the neuralgic question of Gandhi's arrest and what 
it expected the people and the Congress organisations 10 do about 
it. After congratulating "the country upon the exemplary self­
l"Cstraint and peace observed throughout the length and breadth 
of the land on and since the arrest of Mahatma Gandhi" and 
trusting "that the same dignified restraint wi!! be continued dUTi ng 
the trying times to which the people must look forward," it said: 

The Working Committee is of opinion thal observance of 
perfect peace in the country at this moment of supreme trial 
is a striking proof of the progress of non-violence and is 
further of opinion that Mahatma Gandhi's arrest and tbe 
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restraint oost!rved by the country have considerably advanced 
the cause of the Khilalllt. the Punjab and Swaraj. 

This was by no mean~ self·evident and must have seemed to 
any di~passionate observer an exercise in CoueiSni. However, the 
crucial part of the resolution came in the third paragraph which 
was a stern admonition to Provincial Congress Committees that 
Gandhi's arrest had made "no change in the programme recently 
laid down in the Bardoli~Delhi resolutions" and called upon 
"all Congre~s organisations to devote themselves to the prosecu­
tion ofth~ constructive programme laid down therein:' It warned 
"the Provincial Committees against any hasty use of the power~ 
conferred upon them in respect of individual civil disobedience 
whether defensive or aggressive." Andit urged aU Congress and 
Khilafat organisations to propagate "the universal adoption of 
the spinning wheel and of the consequent use of hand~spun 
and hand·woven khaddar which was "essential for the attainment 
of the country'~ goal." Why? Because, it argued: 

In as much as the use of khaddar apart from its great and 
undoubted political value is bound to give to millions of 
fndia's homes a steady cottage industry needed for the 
nation's spare hours and is calculated to supplement the 
slender resources of millions of half-starved poor people and 
is thus bound to establish a link between classes and masses. 
the Working Committee hopes that men aod women of all 
parties and races inhabiting India, irrespective of poJiticat 
colour, will lend their hearty support and co-operation to the 
movement, and to that end authorises Mian Mahomed Haji 
Jan Mahomed Chholanj and Syt. lamnalal Bajaj to interview 
capitalists and others in order to put the growing national 
cottage industry on a sound economic basis. 

All this was true; the khaddar cau"e was a worthy cause; and 
the distinction drawn between "classes and masses" though 
meant ostensibly to link them through the magic of hand~spun 
and hand~woven cloth, had at least the merit of originality even 
if it verged on tautology. But it was hardly the stuff to prepare 
them psychologically for the struggle, admittt.-dly a non-violent 
one, against a powerful empire or even secure from it redress foc 
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the Punjab and Khilafat wrongs. What they needed was not so 
much in. .. tructions as to how they could utilize their' spare hours 
to earn a f\!w more annas to supplement their meagre income but 
some clear direction regarding the mobilization of their energy 
for the nchievcment of freedom. Nor did the two resoludons which 
the Working Committee passed when it mel' on Mare-h J 8 after 
Gandhi had been sentenced and removed to Sabarmali Jail, 
appear designed to release the springs or patriotic fervour among 
the masses or even the "classes." 

The last resolution-number eighteen-was about fixing 
the date for the Committec's next meeting. Obviously, the mem­
bers were playing a waiting game to sec the direction of the 
political winds in the country. For they did not lix the date there 
and then, but left it to the General Secretary to decide after 
consultation with the President of the Congress, Hakim Ajmal 
Khan. But the previous resolution-number seventeen-meant 
to be a comment on the Mahatma's conviction was couch .. d 
in illanguage of resounding piety. It said: 

The Working Committee while rcaH .. tng that Mahatma 
Gandhi's conviction deprives the country of the guidance of 
its universally trusted and beloved leader rejoices that througb 
h'm India delivers to the world, even in her bondage. her 
ancient message of truth and non-violence. 

As for the world at large, it had far too many preoccupations 
to have time or inclination to register India's message of truth 
and non-vIOlence as interpreted and delivered by Gandhi. Indeed. 
for the most part it was bli5sfully unaware of what was going on 
in India, and although news of Gandhi's arrest and conviction 
could not be altogether kept from the outside world, few people 
knew or cared what non~violent non-cooperation was. about and 
why Gandhi had decided suddenly to caU it off. Eve'l among the 
British new~papers the MuncheslN GlI(lrdian was the only news­
paper whose Man was enterprising enough to secure an interview 
(see Appendix V) with the Mahatma while he was stilI in Sabat­
mati prison on the eve of his trial and conviction. It was quite a 
remarkable interview though it barely touched directly on the 
Indo-British litigation and for the most part r'dnged OYer mOlal­
and even metllphysical-issues such as what precisely Christ had 
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.in mind when he said "Render unto Caesar the things which are 
Caesar's," and even such off~bcat conundrums whether or not 
crocodiles, and snakes and scorpions, have souls and ended with 
the M(lnchesrer Guardian's reporter bedging his bets on tile heart 
of the matter by remarking: 

As 1 bade good-bye ... [and] reached the end of lhe verandah. 
J turned for a last look. There was this unassuming looking 
little man, dressed with less ceremony than the meanest coolie. 
squatting cross-legged in front of Ilis charkha. spinning away 
as contentedly as Mohammed's spider. Was he. I wondered. 
spinning a web that was to save the Indian peasant from the 
menace of an industrial system, untinged with even a veneer 
of Christian ethics; Of wa. .. he himself caught in the centre 
of a vast web of illu!;ions, spun ftom his own extraordinary 
brain, into which he had drawn hundreds and thousands of 
his ignorant and emotional countrymen '! 

Gandhi's leasoning, whether right or wrong, grounded in 
reality or illusion, had always a kind of magnificence. But trans~ 

'lated into the vapidJanguag~ ofwell~rnearingpiety by the Working 
Committee it could only cxa~pcrate still further those who had 
accepted the plan of civil disobedience with :-itrong mental re"erva­
lions and. like Lajpa~ R1.1i, regarded the arbitrary decision to 
withdraw the whole campaign after Chauri Chaura, as. Feroz 
Chand tells us, as "almost like a betrayaL" Lajpat Rai, indeed, 
had been so angry that he managed to smuggle a letter to Gandhi 
out of the Lahore Central Iail wh<!re he was then lodg~d. and 
.",hich his friene K. Snntanam had delivered to the Mahatma 
in Delhi who acknowledged it "in a postcard" to Santanam. 
llnd after sharing Lajpat Rai's strictures with friends at an 
informal consultation .. t Dr. Ansari's house on February 24. 1922. 
commented "tlmt people in prison being 'civilly dead' were not 
expected to guide or advise political movements!" He even asked 
the letter not to be put on record because it had been written 
under an "angry impulse" though apparently the "uocument 
.... somehow surviVed." At least that is the version which Feroz 
Chand gives in his biography of Lajpat Rai and it is true 
as far as it goes. But it is not, perhaps. the Whole truth. For it 
seems from Krishnadas' account that Gandhi began Ilis speech 
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at the Working Committee meeting in Delhi by reading the 
many critical communications which had been <'received from 
Non"co0pcrators then in the diff~rent gaols of India" and it is 
hardly likely that he would have omitted reading out the great 
La.la's strongly worded critique of the Bardoli decision to the 
whole Committee. 

However, the criticism of the Mahatma. whether by eminent 
Congress leaders behind the barj or tho5eolU"jde, which hiul been 
welling up was bound 10 ebb after his arrest and conviclion. 
The more so because there was a complete blackout of neWS about 
the whereabouts of the Mahatma more or Jess immediately after 
he was taken away from the Circuit House to Sabarmati Jail. This 
had given rise to wlde"pread anxiety and as for poor Ka::>turba, 
Krishnadas teUs us, she "passed those: days almost in a state of 
living deatll." This may well sound exaggerated. After an she 
had seen her husband imprisoned by the regime in Pretoria. 
Blit the reason for her acute apprehensions is not difficult to 
understand, On March 20 at midnight Gandhi and Banker were 
put in a special train at Sabarmati station and it was flugged off for 
an undisclosed destination. Undisclosed that is. not only to the 
public at large, but to the next of kin. As Broomfield had 
invoked the precedent of Tilak's case in deciding the question 
of Gandhi's sentence. "there was no knowing," to quote Francis 
Watson. "how far the honour of being associated with Tilak 
was to be carried," Removal to Mandalay would have made it 
very dimcult for her or others to visit him on the infrequent 
intervnls when. according to the jail manual. be was entitled to 
receive visitors. 

But nothing quite so drastic was intended by the authorities, 
After two orthree days, it was learnt through "unofficial sources," 
that Gandhi and his fellow-prisoner had been ,akca to and 
lodged in the Central Jail at Yeravda ncar Poana which was to 
be his home on more than one occasion and for fairly long 
stretches each time, There he was to sctlle down to a peri od of 
"quiet and physical rest" which he thought he "deserved" and 
insofur as it was compatible with his rather full prison routine 
of work, Tlti:;, of coursc. included intcn~ive spinning; indeed, 
on arrival at Yeravda Jail on March 21 he had gone on fast till 
his spinni!lg~whecl had been reslored to him in the ewning. But it 
also induded equally inlensive if eclectic reading and even some 
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writing. Theauthorities did not allow him access (athe newspapers 
of the day or even periodicals of a purely literary variety, like the 
Gujarati Vasant. a monthly edited by a titled "loyalist"; and 
when he brought this to the notice of George Lloyd, Governor 
of Bombay, who visited him towards the end of ills term, he got 
the tart reply: "The best way to keep po~tcd in politics is to 
keep out of gaol." However. and paradoxically, the British 
were civilised enough to allow him-and their other eminent 
1ndian prison guests-liberal access to books and Gandhi was 
able to catch up with his reading, not only in edifying d~sics 
like the QIl'roll, the Bib!£'. Tulsidas' RamayallaandPro Christo el 
Ecdesiu, but psychologically intriguing minor classics like 
Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde. 

Meanwhile. outside the prison walls the Congress was drifting, 
Gandhi's arrest had left it without a helmsman and almost rud­
derlcs.~. Whether mistaken or right, the Mahatma gencmlly knew 
ills mind which he often identified with the mind of Indian 
humanity, Bm the Indian National Congress as a collectivity 
was even at its best a coalition of many minds covering a wide 
spectrum of political and social impulse!> and trends. The coali­
tion held together best under some overwhelming challenge and 
similitude 01 purpose. But after the wiLhdrawal of its challenge 
to the Raj WiLh the Bardoli resolution endorsed by the A.l.C,C. 
at Delhi, the differences which had been submerged by the wave 
of enthusiasm for the mass civil disobedience programme at 
Ahmedabad surfaced once again. Dr. Pattabhi Sitaramayya 
in his own inimitable style acknowledges as much. He writes: 

The fact is that in this world, whenever there is a failure in 
business or death. of the head of a family, the ca.lamity is 
followed by an immediate bu!'.tie and excitement incidental 
to readjustment, which in tUIn gives rise to a feeling of void 
and vacuum. Into this void and vacuum. there is a rush of 
multiple thoughts and divided counsels ending in some 
confusion. Even so was the conviction of Gandh.i followed 
by three months of readjustment of affairs., payment of 
money, collection of dues. interplctation ofterms, appointment 
of committees. reassertion of principles, statement of polici~. 
filling of casual vacancies, recording of services and such 
other things. 
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In plainer. k~s circumJocutory terms Lhis mcallt that (he chief 
executive body of the Congress. while it carried 011 with the 
normal and purely routine organi~(ional fUllctions. and even 
addressed ibdf to the task of creating proper instruments for the 
implementation of the "constructive programmes"-promotion 
of khnddar. propaganda and systematic grasstoot activities for 
the eradication of unlouchabili~y, definition ora framework for 
national education and ,So forth·~~eemed to be rcLuctarlt to turn 
its eyes and mind to its principal objective, the attainment of 
Swaraj because it was at a Loss and without any sense of dir0ction. 

This is abundao:l1ly ck:ar from the busincs);, it transacted over 
the next few months_ It met at Calcutta for three days from 
April 20 to 22,1922 and passed nineteen re~Qlutions, The nr~t of 
these concerned the venue of the next plenary scs':>ion of the Con­
gresi>. Invitations had been received from Ilihar. Andhra. Ajmer, 
Gujarat and Kamataka. T. Parkasam was prc$cnt in p~rson to 
convey the ilwitation from Andhra. Rajcndnl Prasad, destined' 
to be the fir'>{ Prc~idcnt of the Indian Republic. plc;1dcd 'he case 
lor Bihar. And he won the day and it wa~ dccidcd th:\t the next 
Congress be held at Gaya~thc historic site associated with the 
enlightenment of Gautama, Bud.dha almo~t two and a half millen­
nia eat tier- as the Bihar Provincial Congl'es~ Committee wished 
in its invitation. 

The Working Commiltee rea.s"embled a monlll later. thL~ 
tIme at Bombay_It had even a larger agenda to chew over which 
took it four full days---from May 12 to 15. The number of 
resoJuliolls it passed wa~ even larger than at Calcl.ltta, twenty­
:'''even. They were important resolutions, like the adoption of a 
scheme involving a budget of Rs. 17 lac~ for stimulating the 
prodm;tion aud consumption of "hand-s.pun and hand-woven 
khadwlr on a sound organized bu:>is" under the dircctio 1. of 
Jamnalal Bajaj; the s..:tting up of a high-power committee consis­
ting of Hakim Ajmal Khan, Dr. M.A. Ansari, S. Srinlvasa 
IYengar and Principal A.T. Gidwani "to prepare a scheme for 
nr!1aniling and financing natioaal education in the country and 
for tllut purpose to ntiw funds, prepare a budget and su':lln:t 
the proposals at the next meeting of rlus Committee;" and yet 
another committee was conjured up. chaired by Faix B. Tyabji 
and two members---S. Srinivasa Iyengar and C. Abdul Hakim~ 
"for investigating and reporting to the All India Congress 
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Committee" the causes which htl.d led to the outbreak of the 
Moplah rebellion, tllC extent of the outbreak, the measures 
adopted by the Government for suppressing it such as decla.ration 
of Martial Law and other relevant questions. 

However, it was inclined to skirt the heart of the matter. 
namely tllC political line of action which the Congress movement 
was to adopt after the decision to suspend "aggressive" civil 
disobedience programme. It approached it, but very gingerly and 
then only indirectly and obliquely. It passed a Tesolution~number 
two on the agenda-requesting "the Central Khilafa.t Committee 
and Jamait-uI-UJema ... to call meetings of their respective 
Working Committees on the day and at the place of the next 
meeting of this Committee in order to enable the three bodies too 
confer together, if necessary." It obviously did not intend to­
take a decision on its own responsibility. 

Indeed. it did not want to take a decision at all as regards 
what Dr. Sitaramayya, hitting the nail for once on the head, caUs 
·'fundamentals." It wanted to leave the onus and responsibility 
of re~assessing <;the theory and practice" and reviewing "the 
science and <'.rt of Non-cooperation. Passive Resistance and Civil 
Disobedience" to the supreme deliberative body of the Congress­
the All-India Congress Committee. It. therefore. resolved (in 
resolution seven) "that the General Secretary be requested to take 
steps to convene the next meeting of the All India Congress 
Committee on Wednesday the 7th June at Lucknow." And this 
request was duly complied with and the A.Lee. met on the day 
and the place it desircd. 

The Working Committee. however, met at Lucknow a day 
ahead of the A.l.e.C meeting-June 6----but only to adjourn 
after meeting the next day till June 10, 1922. But it was on June 
6--7 that it discussed and passed the main resolution which was 
taken up at the A.LeC. mee-ting. The resolution, number one 
on its list, recommendcd to the A.I.C.C. that it should pass the 
following resolution: 

Whereas repression in a most severe form has been resorted 
to by the Government in several province.'> of the country 
in spite of the suspension of all aggressive activities. t.his 
Committee is of opinion (1) That civil disobedience will have 
to be undertaken to enable the country to cllforce its demands, 
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and accordingly calls upon aU Provincial Committees to make 
greater efforts in working the constructive programme by the 
30th September 1922, when the situation will be considered 
by this Committee and the question of launching civil dis· 
obedience will be finally determined. (2) Thal the President 
be requested to nominate and authorize a few gentlemen to 
tour round the country and report on the situation by the 
J 5th of September, 

A footnote to this resolution, however, added thai it did nor 
affect "the powers given to the provinces by the resolution passed 
at Delhi" on February 25 by the A,LC.e. which had modified 
tbe Bardoli resolution of the Working Commiuee by allowing 
a degree of latitude to the Provincial Committees to initiate 
"individual civil disobedience whether of a defensive or aggressive 
character" in particular places and against particulnr Jaws, 
provided the conditions laid down by the Congress and the 
A.I.C.e. were "strictly fulfilled:' 

The AIIMlndia Congress Committee duly met on June 7 and 
for two succeeding days. It was chaired by Hakim AjmaJ Khan 
and passed five resolutions. The first one was an exercise in formal 
piety, though a sincere onc, The Committee placed "on record'­
Gandhi's "services to the cause of humanity by his messllge of 
peace and truth" and reiterated "its faith in the principle of 
NonNiolent NonMCooperation inaugurated by him for the 
enforcement of the righls of people of India," This could not 
have taken long. Nor the second one which filled the vacancies 
caused by the arrest of the Mahatma, "Deshbhakta" K. Yen· 
katappayya and Sardar Kharak Singh. It elected J.M, Sen-Gupta, 
T. Prakasam and Lahl. Dunichand (a leading lawyer of Ambala. 
then part of the undivided Punjab) in their place. The tbird resolu­
tion approving the recommendation of Lhe Working Committee 
reducing the provincial contributions to the A.l.C.e. from 25 to 
5 per cent of the donations subscribed may have been debaled 
at some length since il concerned financial resources at the 
disposal of the CommitLee, but probably not at great length. 
And t.he fourth resolution whereby a Committee "consisting of 
SwamI Shraddhanand. Mrs, Sarojini Naidu. and MeSH;; G.B. 
Desh?ande and LK, Yajnik to formulate a scheme emhotlying 
practical measures to be adopted for bettering the condition 
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(>f the so-called "Untouchables" throughout the country, and 
place it for consideration before the next meeting of the Working 
Committee" was appointed; and Rs. five lacs set as the target to 
be raised for the ~cheme, obviously, was not one to excite much 
controversy or beat and did not take much time to discuss before 
being passed. 

The AJ.C.C. then turned to the general political situation ill 
the counlry. Signifkantly, we learn from an oRida! summary of 
its transactions, that "at this stage the House went into Com­
mittee." Presumably this was done in order 10 give members 
freedom to say what was really in their minds and give their 
assessment of the conditions obtaining in their provinces. J.M. 
Sen-Gupta, K. Sanlanam, H.N, Misra, S.K. Som and Sunderlal 
sp(lke on the situation in Bengal, the Punjab, Hindustani-speaking 
part (f the c.P .• Assam and the U.P. respectively. The Committee 
then adjourned for the day to meet again on June 8. 

Before resuming the debate. it had a pleasant duty to perform 
10 \ .... e1come Matila! Nehru who had been released from Naini 
Tal Jail after ha .... ing served his term and although, as we know 
from Jawaharlal Nehru's statement on his release early in March. 
he !nl.d been troubled by asthma in prison and was not in the be'St 
of health. resumed his duties as General Secretary of the Con­
gress immediately on arrival in Lucknow. It was he who raised 
the question whether or not press representatives should be 
admitted to the proceedings. After some discussion it was decided 
that reporters should be admitted but on condition "that theit 
reports should be submitted to one of the General Secretaries 
for approval before being published. " 

Motilal Nehru also moved the main Working Committee 
resolution. It was seconded by Dr. Ansari and its discussion took 
the rest of June 8 and 9. It was passed but after being 
considerably amended, or rather re-phrased. by Madan Mohan 
Malaviya. The changes in the draft. lhough seemingly just 
terminological, did imply a shift of emphasis, especi<.\.Uy in the 
second paragraph which read: 

The Committee has taken note of the wide-spread feeling: that 
in view of the extremely unfair manner in which the policy of 
repression is being carded out [sic] by the Government the 
country should be advised to resort to some form of civil 
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disobedience to eompel the Government to abandon their 
present policy and to agree to concede the triple demand of 
the Congress. But the Committee is of opinion that the 
carrying oui of the constructive programme will be the best 
preparation for even mass civil disobedience while it will 
also be the most effective means of furthering the object of 
the Congress. The Committee therefore earnestly appeals 
to the country to concentrate all its efforts upon carrying out 
the constructing programme to the fuUest extent and to 
endeavour to complete it within the shortest period possible. 

The strong stress on gelling on with the constructive pro~ 
,gramme and completing it with the maximum possible speed 
was reas.onable enough, even very necessary, if it did not conceal 
a certain oblique shift away from the commitment to civil dis­
obedience. This suspicion seemed to find some confirmation 
in the next paragraph which hinted at the possibility of some 
('\.Iternalive to non-violent non-cooperation. It said "that the 
further consideration of the question whether civil disobedience 
in some form or some other measure of CI similar (·haraclef {OUT 

emphasis) should be adopted. should be taken up at the next 
meeting of the Committee to be held ut Calcutta on the 15th 
of August next. ,. 

However, the Committee accepted the Working Committee's 
proposal that the President be requested to nominate and 
authorize It few gentlemen to tour round the country and report 
on the situation to the nex.t meeting. This indeed was done. 
Hakim Ajmul Khan, after consulting members of the A.I.CC .• 
"nominated himself" and the fonowing gentlemen on the Com~ 
mittce to tour round the country and report on the situation: 
Pandit Motiial Nehru. Dr. M.A, Ansari, Sjt. V-l. Patel, Seth 
Jamnalal Bajaj, Sjt C. Rajagopnlachnri and Seth M.M.H.J.M. 
ChotanL But lamnalal Sajaj had enough on his plate wiih the 
khaddilr promotion work and instead Sarojini Naidu was asked 
to take his place. But she could not accept "owing to iII·health" 
and finally S. Kasturiranga Iyengar agreed to fill tbe breach. 
As fl)r Chhotani he was "unable to join in the tOUT or take part 
in the meetings of the Committee" for some unstated rea.,>on. 

The A.l.e.C. was being oversanguine when it fixed its next 
meeting for A.ugust 15, hoping that by that Lime it would have all 
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the data at hand for considering the question of what options 
were open to the Congress. August came and went; and September 
and October, too, without the meeting being possible. Of course, 
in the meanwhile the Working Committee met several times­
briefiy in Delhi on June 30, again on July 18-19 at Bombay; 
then on September 17-18 in Amritsar continuing its deliberations 
in Multan on September 21. But at nonc of these meetings 
it grappled with the main issue which was the focus of political 
attention and even anxiety: what the Congre~s intended to do 
next in order to achieve the objectives it had set itself. 1t passed 
many resoiutions. Some of them were important. like the onc at 
its meeting in Amritsar in September after having had a meeting 
with the Working Committee of the Shiroman! Gurdwara 
Prabandhak Committee-a symbol of the close link that then 
existed between the Congress and the Akali movement engaged 
in a grim struggle on two-fronts-with the Malw/lfs and the 
Government~for the democratic control of the Sikh shrines. 

The resolution, of course. condemned "the brutalities per­
petrated by the police on unresisting and non~violent Akalis." 
But it went further than just condemnation. It appointed a 
committee "to enquire into the whole matter and submit a report 
to the All India Congress Committee before the end of October." 
The Committee consisted of S. Sriniv3sa Iyengar. M.R. Jayakar 
(who was unable to take part in its work because of an accident 
and his place was taken by M.V. Abhyankar, a lawyer of Nagpur). 
1.M. Sen-Gupta, S.E. Stokes, Mohammad Taqi, and Professor 
Ruehl Ram Sahni. 

However, there was THirdly a word in the resolutions it passed 
between June and September-and it was not to meet again till 
the second hHlf or November in Ca1cuttH-which gave an inkling 
as to the future political strategy of the Congress. The reason 
for this reticence was not difficult to guess. The Congress. not for 
tIle first or last lime, was a house divided. The consensus reached 
at Ahmedabad had been fmcturcd and the cracks WC'T(" all too 
visible to lhe naked eye. Dr. Sitaramayya, not putting too fine a 
point 011 it. reveals it all with a flourish of rather outlandish 
metaphors and similes which delight even as they baffle. <'We 
need not make an unnecessary secret of the simple fact," he 
writes, "that top~notch politicians notably Deshbandhu Das and 
Vitl1albJlai J. Patel and Motilal WIlD were reluctant converts 
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but warm apo,tlc:" of Non-cooperation, were in favour of changing 
faith on ils orthodox. lines and professing ,t protestant en'cd thal 
would carry Non~eooperatiotl into the very aisles and chancel 
of the Bureaucratic Church. They wanted to beard the lion ill its 
own den and carry Non~cooperation into the very citadels of 
Provincial Governments." In other and simpler words, many 
were keen to jettison the programme of boycott of Councils set 
up under the Montagu-Chelmsford "reforms" but without giving 
the impression of a volte face. 

rn the absence of any clarity of purpose or polic.,v at the top, 
uncertainties were multiplying among the ranks of the Congress 
and divisions were surfacing among the leadership. On the other 
side of the divide, the Government, pleasantly surprised by the 
mildness of reaction in the country to Gandhi's incarceration, 
had not only recovered its self-confidence but also the arrogance 
of power. It was reflected in the distinctly provocative, if not 
insolent. speech made that summer by the British Prime Minister, 
Lloyd Geor~e. who, having dispensed with the fig-leaf of Mon­
tagu's reputation for pro-Indian sympathies, seemed to be un~ 
aware that the coalition oyer which he presided was beading 
towards an ignominious collapse and that the Liberal Party itself 
was soon going to pass from the historic scene leaving only an 
abject rump behind. Presumably to encourage the bureaucratic 
establishment in India in its good work, he declared: 

I can see no period when the Indians can dispense with the 
small nucleus of British race .... They arc the steel frame of 
the whole structure. This is one institution which we shall 
never cripple. There is one institution which we wit\ not 
deprive of it<; functions or ils privileges and that is the institu­
tion which built up the British Raj-the civil service in India. 

Not that the bureaucratic despotism which the cosmetic 
dyarchy system at the provincial level had done little to curtail 
and contain. needed much encouragement. As the A.l.C.C. 
resolution had bemoaned "repression in a most severe form" and 
carried out in an "extremely unfair manner"-as if there could 
be a fair manner of carrying out repression-was the order of the 
day. Dr. Sitaramayya in his history of the Congress remarks 
without any exaggeration: "The reign of Law reduced itself to 
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the reign of Sections 108 and 144. The Indian Members of the 
Executive Council [of the Viceroy and at the provincial level} 
el'pressed helplessness as the Collectors [Deputy Commissioners} 
were ali·powerful in the matter. and only a Judicial appeal­
which the non-cooperators would not resort t{}---Could 
remedy the obvious wrong:" 

Indeed, the non-cooperators-and despite the Congress 
reluctance to sanction any civil disobedic!lCe even by individuals 
a number of movements had erupted in variou~ parts of the 
country over' diverse issue~, like the hoisting of National Flag in 
Andhra, the Lawrence Statue (il rather provocative piece or 
imperialist civic statuary with a post-1857 British proconsul 
standing wilh sword in one hand and pen in the other. asking 
the Indian people which of the two lhey would be ruled by) and 
the Akali struggle which was still in progress-were under im,lruc­
tions not to defend themselves at aU as a part of their satyagrah:1 
pledge. This is prcd .. e1y what happened when Jawaharlal was 
re~arrested barely two months after his release from Lucknow 
Jail. 

The arrest took place in rather curious circums.tances on May 
11,1922. He had gone to see his father. Motilal Nehru, then in 
Lucknow Jail. He was inside the prison when he was arrested and 
brought to Allahabad the same night and lodged in the Districl 
Jai where he was tried by K.N. Knox, District Magistrate of 
Allahabad, on May 17 and :.enlenccd on May 19. For good. 
measure. he was charged on three counts, two of them rather 
intriguing--criminal intimidation and attempted extortion 
under Seclions 117j506 and 385/116 of the Indian Penal Code­
and the third a staple one, of sedition underSectioll 124~A. was 
kc_pr in reserve. He did not defend himself. But. unlike Gandhi. 
he refused [0 plead either guilty or not guilty as we learn from 
the statement he made to explain his position which was con~ 
siderably longer than Gandhi's statement at his trial: 

T have refused to plead guilty or not guilty and I have declined 
to participate in this trial by cross-examination of witnes5c'>­
or otherwise. 1 have done so because I do not recognise this 
court as a COUft where justice is administered. I mean Ill~ 

disrespect to the presiding officer when I say thai so f<lr its 
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political offences arc concerned. the courts in India merely 
register the decrees of the executive, 

This wab true, Nehru then went on to give some biographic~d 
details: oflww he had returned to India arter ten years in Enp:land 
and having imbibed most of the prejudices of Harrow and Cam­
hridge so th!1t he and his "likes and dislike~" were more that of 
"an Englishman than an Indian." "1 looked upon (he world," 
he said. "almost from an Englishman's "tand-point." But. he 
added, "today, ten years later, 1 stand here in the dOt:k charged 
with two oO'ences and with a third hovering in the backgroLlnd~ 
<In ex-convict who has been to jail once already for a political 
offence, and a rebel against the present system or Government in 
India. That is the change which the years have wrought in me." 
He did not think it was necessary for him to give the reasons for 
this change since "every Jndian knows them .. " Today sedition 
against the presenl Government in India has become the crecd of 
the Indian people, .. ," 

As for the chllrg~ against him, he wondered whether they 
were seriously meant. They bore "no relation to the facts even as 
disclosed by the prosecution evidence." "Does anyone believe," 
he asked. '·that we could achieve success ... by criminal intimida­
tion and extortion?" On the contrary, their picketing had been 
"perfectly peaceful, perfectly courteous." At all events, picketing 
was not a crime even under the law in British India, But he Wll<; 

glad that he was being tried for picketing because his trial would 
bring "the question of the boycott of foreign cloth even more to 
the front." He had no grievance against the cloth dealers who had 
given evidence for the prosecution in the case. Indeed. he would 
"suffer most gladly any imprisonment" if he knew that thereby 
he had "touched their hearts and won them over to the great 
cause :' 

In fact. he said towards lhe end of his statement, he would 
"go to jail most willingly and joyfully." Jail had become "a 
heaven for us, a holy place of pilgrimage" since their "'saintly 
and beloved (eader was sentenced," One felt "almost lonely 
outsidc the jail. and selfishness prompts It quick return," And he 
concluded his statement on a very emotional-somc might say 
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almost sentimental~note: 

I have said many hard things about the Britis.h Government 
For one thing however I mUi>t offer it my grateful thanks. It 
has give11 us a chance of fighting in this most glorious of 
struggle~. Surely few people have had such an opportunity ... _ 
And the greater our mfrering, the mOTC difficult the lest we 
have to pass, the more splendid will be the future of India. 
India has not survived through thousands of years to go down 
now. India has not sent twenty-five thousand of her noblesl 
and best sons to the jails to give up the struggle. India's future 
is assured. Some of us, men and women of little faith, doubt 
and hesitate occasionally. But those who have vision can 
;:I.1most see the glory that is to be India. 

J marvel at my good fortune. To serve India in the battle 
of freedom is honour enough. To serve her under a leader 
like Mahatma Gandhi is doubly fortunate. But to sulfer for 
the dear country. what greater good fortune could befall an 
Indian unless it be death for the cause or the full realisation 
of our glorious dream. 

He did not get six years' simple imprisonment. He was senten­
ced to eighteen month's imprisonment on each CQunt. tn addition 
he was fined Rs. 100 and in lieu three months additional impn­
sonment. But the sentences were to run concurrently so that it 
meant a total sentence of onc year and nine months. Unlike in the 
case of Gandhi, however, his was to be rigorous imprisonment 
as the "lail History Ticket" duly recorded. listing him with 
exquisite ambiguity as a "first class misdemeanant" while leaving 
blank the space provided in the Ticket for entering the educational 
qualifications of the convict. The omission was probably a ca:.e 
of absentmindedness although it would be nice to think that it 
was an act of calculated delicacy on the part of his jailers who 
did not wish to associate the fair names of Harrow and Cambridge 
with a "first class misdemeanant." It must be added, however, 
that Harrow and Cambridge never disowned him as Gandhi was 
disowned and disbarred by the Inner Temple Bench "at a Parlia­
ment holden on Friday, the 10th day of November )922" by 
issuing an order which ran as follows: 

Whereas at a Bench Table holden on the 9th day of November 
1922 the treasurer having reported that he had received a 
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certified copy of the conviction and sentence to six years' 
jmpri~:,anment of Moh:.mdus Karamchand Gandhi. a barrister 
of this Inn. at the Court of the Sessions Judge, Ahmedabad, 
India. on the 18th March. 1922, far sedition. 

It wa~ ordered that the said Mahandas Karamchund Gandhi, 
having been convicted by a competent tribuna! of an offence 
which. in thc opinion of the Bench, disqualifies him from 
continuing a member of the Inn, should have hi:; name removed 
from the books. 

And at the same Bench Table it was further ordered that at 
the Parliament to be holden on Friday 10th November, 1922, 
the said Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi should be disbarred 
and his name removed from the Books of the Society .... 

In his statement at his trial in the District Jail at Allahabad 
.on May 12, lawaharlal Nehru had spoken of ' 'men and women of 
little faith"' who "doubt and hesitate occasionatly." Was he 
thinking of anybody in particular'! Certainly, he was not referring 
to his father. True, Motilal Nehru had had his doubts about the 
efficacy of non.cooperation but at the Calcutta Congress he had 
tbrown in his tot with Gandhi. partly, as. we know, because of his 
'Son's persuasion. And he was a mall. once he took up a position, 
not easily persuaded to abandon it. He was very critical of the 
Mahatma's decision to call oIT the civil disobedience campaign 
that was to be launched at BardolL Nor is there any reason to 
suppose that he had changed his mind in the four month.s between 
February and early June when he was released from Naini Tal 
Jail to which he had been moved from Lucknow Jail before his 
release. If anything, the arrest of lawaharlal Nehru in Lucknow 
Jail where he had gone to see him and conviction the next day with 
a sentence of 21 months' rigorous imprisonment was hardly 
likely to induce a change of his political stand. And, indeed, there 
was little indication of any such shift when he moved the Working 
Committee's main resolution in the All-India Congress 
Committee at Lucknow on the resumption of his duties as 
General Secretary of the Congress. This resolution contained a 
distinct hint if not warning that civil disobedience "will have to 
be undertaken" if the Government's policy ofrepress.ion continued 
at the level at which it was being pursued and even set a deadline 
for the Provincja1 Committees to complete the constructive 



410 INDIAN NATIONAL CO'>;GRESS 

programme-September 30. 1922. True, the resolution a~ it was 
finally passed by !.he A.J .c.c. was considerably wate-feu down 
and set no deadline for completing lhe constructive programme­
except the vague phrase "within the shortest period pm_sible" 
which could be the Greek calends. But that was owed \0 the dral"· 
ting genius of Madan Mohan Ma!aviya. 

But what of Lajpat Rai and c.R. Oas. representing: two sensi­
live and importll.nt provinces. the Punjab and Bengal, where they 
wielded enormous influence? Did lawaharla1 have them vaguely 
in mind when he spoke o/" Doubling Thomases? Both of them 
were in jail at the time when he made the statement. But he knew 
something ortheir political views. It was known th ... ! at the Special 
Session of the Congress at Calcutta Lajp.t[ Rai had doubts about 
the efficacy of non-cooperation. Later he was to admit ·'that 
after aU Mahatmaji was right." He had seconded the Non­
cooperation resolution at Nagpur Congress which, it is well to 
recall. had been moved by none other than CR. D:I.'>_ However, 
Da.<; had his mental reservations and he disapproved of Gandhi 
not gmsping the seeming olive branch which Reading. had held 
out in the form of a "Round Table" get together towards the end 
of 1921 to ensure that there was a warm welcome fl)r the heir to 
tIle British throne in Calcutta and elsewlll!-re. He thought that 
the Mahatma had missed an opportunity for wringing conce~sions 
from the British Government by insisting on the release of the 
so-calledfatwu prisoners and the participation l1fthe Ali Brothers 
in any parleys with Ihe representative of British pmver in India. 

At the back of Da.'1' mind there was a deeper reservation. He 
was opposed to one particular item in the Non~co()pcrrriion pro~ 
gramme particular1y~fhe boycott of Councils. A distinguished 
lawyer. he commanded no mean oratorical talent. Uke other 
brilliant lawyers-and they abounded in the old Congress as well 
as the new one which Gandhi was trying to mould into shape-be 
believed that the critique of argument, especially when pressed 
inside the Council Clmmber rather Ihan outside, would itself 
suffice to bring down the Jericho of imperialism and bure;lucratic 
despotism foisted on India. At least he wanted to !Iive it a trial 
and had made op his mind to bring about a radical ~hange in the 
Congress tactics and even strategy when he got his ticket of 
release from the jail. 

This happened about a month after MOlihl Nehru was 
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icleased-in July 1922. Even without him the number of Con­
gress leaders who wanted a change of policy was growing although 
the arrest and conviction of Gandhi and the intensification of 
repression by the Government had made it difficult for them to 
come out openly and demand changes. In a sense, however, the 
appointment of a committee to tour the country and report on the 
siluation was recognition of the strong undertow for a cbange. 
Now that c.R. Da:~ was able to move about the country and not 
only consult with likcminded Congress leaders, but to speak in 
publk in favour of his alternative programme, it mean! a great 
accession of strength to the revisionists. After all he was to have 
presided oyer the Ahmedabad Congress session and was almost 
certain to be elected President of its 37th session a! Gaya at the 
cnd of I he year. 

He visited the Punjab, lor instance, where the Congress was. 
not altogel her on the Gandhian wavclength~and for reasoJlS 
which had more to do with its confess-ional balance mtller than 
political philosophy. He expected fertj]e soil for his ideas. even 
though he was wholly free from any confessional bias himself. 
And, indeed, there was warm welcome for him from nearly 
everybody, including the "Lion of the Punjab", Lajpat Rai, who 
was still caged. As his biographer Feroz Chand tells us, though 
he was not allowed to see him by the authorities, he received a letter 
from Lajpat Rai extending him '"a most hearty welcome to the 
Land of (he Five Rivers and a salaam of love and respect from 
your admirer and fellow·labourer." The Ictter purported to be a 
statement of "tentative opinions and the tendencies of one':i 
thoughts" and tried to give a balanced assessment of the loss 
and gain of the movement sim."C the Non-cooperation programme 
had been adopted. He had no regrets as far as the propaganda 
side was concerned. '"It has," he wrote, "completely changed the 
psychology of Qur people. and has brought ahout a. transformation 
in their political views, ideas and ideals." This was largely true. 
He added, however, that there were mistakes. The programme 
that had been drawn up was "excellent fOT a one-year drive" 
but now something lor a longer haul and therefore less intense 
was needed. He wanted suppleness of tactics and Gandhi Jucked 
that at limes: 

The real mistake which j am inclined to regret was the 
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inflexibility of Mahatmaji in December and January [1921-
1922J. Tn politics 1 think one- may be(orrather must be) inflexible 
in principles, but not in strategy and methods. Please do not 
misunderstand me; by 'strategy' (do not mean 'stratagem', 
Under no circumstant'es will 1 sacrifice honesly and truth 
at the altar of expediency. Yet 1 cannot bring myself to believe 
that strategy and expediency can be safely and totally banished 
from a politiC'di campaign. In my judgement Mahatmaji 
missed the opportunity of ordering an honourable suspension 
of hostilities which the Viceroy gave him in December. Then 
again his inflexible attitude at the Malaviya Conference, and 
his ultimatum were grave slips .... 

All this must have sounded like sweet music to Da.... But he 
was above all interested in one thing-removal of the ban on 
'Council entry. But Lajpat Rai, who seemed otherwise his natural 
ally on many points, was in some difficulty over giving Das 
satisfaction on the question of going into legislatures such as they 
were. As his biogmpher observes, it "had originated with himself 
[Lajpat RaiJ", adding. quite unfairly if not petty~mindedly, "appro­
priated by the author of non-co~operation," meaning Gandhi 
which was wholly untrue (whatever his other failings, Gandhi 
never "appropriated" anybody else's ideas without publicly 
-declaring it). Lajpat Rai, therefore, could not oblige Das by 
repudiating his own idea of an embargo on Council enlry. He 
wrote: 

After careful consideration, 1 am disposed to think (telltat­
Ively) that it will be a mistake to go into the councils either 
for co-operation or for obstruction. The terms "responsive 
co-operation" and "responsive non-cooperation" are mere 
phrases which mean nothing. The best we can do is to follow 
the Sinn Fein plan-the attempt to set up a rival Government. 
A rival assembly and rival councils elected on Government 
franchise will be a great moral victory .... 

Whatever the merits or demerits of following the Sinn Fein 
plan which was not quite what Lajpat Rai made it out to be, 
CR. Das had his own ideas on ,going into the Councils which were 
-different as, indeed. on other crucial mallers, like the question of 
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a firm political entente between the majority and minority com­
munities which wa .. universally recognised as an essential condi­
tion for presenting a solid common front to the entrenched British 
power. On this la.<;t issue Das, though. according to Jawaharlal 
Nehru, he had a religious temperament, was far more secular 
in his understanding than Lajpat Raj who, despite the many years 
he spent in England and America and contacts with radical left­
wing circles there, had imperceptibly lapsed into something of 
that siege mentality which obtained in the milieu in which he 
moved. lived and had. his being, especially because the plague of 
confessional bigotry and intolerance of which the communal 
troubles in Multan in the summer of 1922 were a symptom, was 
to become endemic in the Punjab. 

But if C.R. Das could not have much effective change from 
Lajpat Rai on the issue of entry into the legjslatures~and, in allY 
case, being behind prison bars even though he did not accept 
Gandhi's odd doctrine that people in jails were "civilly dead," he 
could not be of much practical help to Das in securing a change 
of policy from the Congress-he hud better chance of converting 
Molilnl Nehru, who was no longer in jail, to his way of thinking. 
Oas may have been temperamentally different from the elder 
Nehru. as Jawaharlal Nehru says in his autobiography, but 
intellectually the two men were very close to each other in their 
liberal outlook. Jawaharlal Nehru writes in his autobiography 
speaking of the period between 1923-25: "'During Ihis period 
there grew up a close friendship between my father and Mr. C.R. 
Oas. It was something much more than political camaraderie. 
There was a warmth and intimacy in it that 1 was not a little 
surprised to notice. since intimate friendships are perhaps rarely 
formed at advanced ages." 

Perhaps, their friendship went even further back, possibly ic) 

1920 when they were both appearing in a zamindari case in Arrah 
in the Biha.r though on opposite sides of the legal battlefield. 
And although MotHaI Nehru had sided with Gandhi on the non­
cooperation issue at the special Calcutta session of the Congress. 
he was not what may be called a natural non-cooperator and Das' 
task in weaning him away from the policy of boycott of Councils 
was not ali that difficult, particularly in the climate of disenchant~ 
ment that prevailed after Gandhi's decision to abandon his plan 
for mass civil disobedience. 
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Moreover, during the summer and autumn of 1922 the tide 
was defmitely on the turn and flowing in the direction in which 
Das and others of his mind wanted the Congr<!ss to go. The 
AJ.C.C was to have mel ilt the middle of August. But tllOugh that 
meeting was never held, Dr. Sitaramayya tells liS, "private 
discu!lsions took place about the lime when some of the prominent 
men of India met in Calcutta in connc(...'1.ion with the wedding 
of Deshbandhu Da..,,· second daughter. It was then. we were told 
at the time, that Pandit Matilal Nehru was weaned away from 
Civil Disobedience and converted to Council-entry." QUltc 
apart from this private conclave on the happy occasion of the 
marriage of Das' second daughter~which only underlines how in 
India in those days, though not only in those days, private and 
public affairs tended to get enmeshed~lhe Committee set up in 
the first week of June at Lueknow to tour the country and report 
on the general political situation and whether it was ripe for 
starting general mass civil disobedience, had finished their labours 
and the report was ready. 

But the A.I.Ce. did not meet till the last week of November 
for some reason and the committee's 1indings could ItOt be con~ 
sidered till then. Its first recommendation wal> prediCL.1.ble, indeed, 
inevitable. It was: 

(a) The country is not prepared at pre5ent to embark upon 
general ma% civil disobedience, but in view of the fact 
that a situation may arise in any part of the country 
demanding an immediate resort to mass civil disobedience 
of a limited character, for which the people are ready 
c.g., the breaking of a particular law or order or the non~ 
payment of a ))<'lrticular tax, this committee authorises 
Provincial Committees to sanction such limited mass 
civil disobedience on their own responsibility if the 
conditions laid down by this Committee in its resolution 
No.2 dated the 4th November 1921 are fuHiUed: 

(b) That resolution No.2 passed by this Committee at Delhi 
on the 4th November [1921] whil!h gives Provincial 
Committees all the powers necessary to determine upon 
a resort to civil disobedience of nny kind whatever, be 
restored and resolution 1 clause 1 passed on the 24th 
February [1922] to the extent it conflicts witit that 
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resolution be cancelled; provided that general mass civil 
disobedience is not permissible. 

This was, if not a case of one step forward and two ~tcps back, 
at least an exercise taking away with one hand what was given 
with the other. lts second recommendation rdated to entry into 
legislatures. It also marked a barely camouflaged retreat from 
total boycott 10 a policy of resistance and obstruction from 
within. The Congress and the Khilafat Conference wcre urged to 
declare at their Gayn. session that, "in view of the fact thttt the 
working of the Legislative Councils during their first term has, 
besides, proving a great obstacle to the redress of the Khilafat 
and the Punjab wrongs and the speedy attainment of Swarajya, 
caused great misery and hardship to the people, it is. desirable 
tlmt the following steps. should be taken in strict accordance with 
the principles. of l1on~violent Non-cooperation to avoid the 
recurrence of the evil: 

t. Non-co-operators. should contest the election on the 
issue of the redress of the Punjab and Khilafat wrongs 
and immediate Swarajya, and make every endeavour to 
be returned in a m~ority. 

2. If the Non~cooperators are returned in a majority large 
enough to prevent tt quorum, they should after taking their 
seats leave the Council Chamber in a body und take no 
part in the proceedings for the rest orthe term. They should 
attend the Councils occasionally, Dilly for the purpose of 
preventing vacancies. 

3. If Non-cooperators arc returned in a majority which is 
not large enough to prevent a quorum, they should oppose 
every measure of the Government including the budget, 
and only move resolutions for lhe redress of the aforesaid 
wrongs and the immediate attainment or Swarajya. 

4. If the Non-cooperators arc returned in a minority they 
should act as pointed out in No.2; and thus materially 
reduce the strength of the Council. 

However, as the new Councils were not scheduled 10 meet 
till the first week of January, 1924, the Committee suggested that 
the plenary session of Ule Congress for 1923 should be brought 
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forward to the first week of December iQStcatl of being held in the 
last and i~we of final mandate by the Congress in view of the 
election should be decided there. MeanwhiJe there should not 
be any change of the Congress programme regarding the boycott 
of the Councils, On cOlltesling the elections for the local bodies, 
it was less ambivalent and more positive. There were aho five 
other recommendations reiating to the boycott of Government 
educational institutions, courts by litigants and lawyer,;, organisa~ 
tion of labour as envisaged in the Nllgpur resolution, right of 
private defence and boycott of British goods which were accepted 
in principle, but the question "referred to a committee of experts 
for a fult report to be submitted before the Congress meets." It 
waf> added, a~ a cautionary admonition it mu~t be supposed, 
that while "there is no objection to the collection and examination 
of facts by experts ... the acceptance of the principle by the AU 
India Congrcs), Committee would mislead the Nation and injure 
the movement." Little wonder that C. Rujagopalachari. at the 
time a fUlldamentalist among the Non-cooperators, r.:corded his 
dissent 011 the issue of acceptance "in principle" of the boycon 
of British goods but its rejection for all practical purposes. 

Despite the relative unanimity by which the Civil Disobedience 
Committee adopted its main recommendation, thi~ did not 
reflect accurately the opinion among the Congres<, rank", in the 
country. There was a feeling that in Gandhi's abscn.:e in jail 
forces of revisionism-some even termed it reddivism~werc 
trying to gailt control of the policy~making organs of tne Con­
gress and intended to take it back to tne path of ineffective 
"constitutionalism." As Dr. Paltabhi Sitaramayya, an ardent 
Gandhian, puts it: 

The diversion of the national mind-be it even of a .,cclion~ 
from the dynamic and destructive programme of boycott 
and the offensives of Civil Disobedience to the milder spheres 
of Local Self-Government and Legislatures is perhaps like 
a diversion from the firing line of the battle-field. to the chess­
board of the drawing-room. Yet, the fact must be recognized 
that by the winter of 1922, there was a schism whieh it wa .. 
no longer possible to conceal, and which was destined to' 

develop into a split at the Gaya Congress. 
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In November, however, that wa~ still the future that was to 
be. When the Working Committee met at Calcutta on the 18th 
and 19th of November it accepted virtually all the recommenda­
tions of the Civil Disobedience Committee though heTe and there 
it entered a reservation or qualificaljon. For instance, it stated 
explicitly that the recommenru.ltion of the Civil Disobedience 
Committee on the question of the boycott of British goods 
should not alfect the Congress programme regarding khaddar 
and the boycott of all foreign cloth. Again. on the boycott of 
courts by litigants and lawyers alike, it laid much stress on 
creating an alternative system of dispensing justice through the 
establishment of "Panchayats" and cultiYating "a strong pUblic 
opinion in their favour," 

But in the All~lndia Congress Committee, a larger and more 
representative body. the balance of opinion was not so one-sided 
as in the Working Committee. If anything:, it was tilted rather 
against sounding a general reh"eat from the position taken up at 
th_c Ahmedabad session on the programme of non-cooperation, 
The session lasted for five days. beginning on November 20 and 
ending on November 24. Yet it had not many resolutions to 
debate; indeed, no more than six. Of these last three were nOll­

contrOversial: One of them congratulated "the Turkish Natio!l 
on their recent victories" and recorded "the emphatic opinion" 
of the AJ.C.C. "thal unless the demands of the Angora Govern­
ment nre satisfkd in regard to the restitution of the Turks to full 
and unhampered freedom in their homelands in Asia and Europe" 
and unless the Jazirar-lif-Arab are freed from all non-Moslem 
conlrol, there can not bepcaccundcontentmcnt in India." Another 
recorded "the grateful appreciation" of the Committee for "the 
services rendered to the nation during the critical juncture in 
hs affairs by the members of the Civil Disobedience Enquiry 
Committee who have di~charged their duties with devotion, 
with untiring energy and at a sacrifice hard to appraise." And 
the final resolution requested the General Secretary "to authorise 
the Natal Indian Congress to send dcJegates to the Congi"e~~ to 
be held at Gaya in anticipation of affiliation:' 

These three resolutions could not IUlVe delayed the members 
very long f({)m grappling with the matter that was upr.:rmo~t i(t 

their mind and which was covered by thcthreccarJierrcsolutlon.,­
number one to thrce-. The debate on those was not only to take 
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mo~1 of the time of the Committee but was impassioned and even 
heated. Dr. Sitaramayya gives a graphic account of it in his 
hIstory of the Congres~: 

The Congress discussions in Calcutta were like a tournament 
in which the rounds were aU weJl marked out, and pairs of 
()ppo~ing speakers were carefully selected. The first day's 
sittings were held in the Indian Association Rooms, but 
the atmosphere was suffocating and the next four' days were 
spent under a shamiono lhat was erected for the occa."ion 
on the premises of 148, Russa Road, Bhawanipore. the 
magnificent residence of Mr. C.R. Oas, which was bearing on 
its forehead the mark often months' neglect [while Das was in 
prison]. Nor could it be said that the Calcutta performance 
was a mere feat of intellect ural levity. 

Certainty, it was no laughing matter, intellectually or other­
wise, involving as it did a major decision on whether or not to 
bea! a strategic retreat. The speakers were, therefore. allowed to 
have th~jr say without having to look at the hands of the clock. 
Dr, Sitaramayya tells us that no time~limit was sct for those who 
took pari in the debate whether for or against entering the CouncilS 
though the issue was not put quite so bluntly: 

Although towering personalities like Nehru, the elder. and 
Das were supporting the Council programme and were 
briskly aided by their old ally, Maharashtra, yet the recent 
incarceration of Gandhi and the spirit of loyalty and reverence 
which his following always bore towards him, thcattractivenes$ 
of a programme of revolt, the absence of a programme of 
equal attractiveness, the proximity of the goal in sight, in 
spite of the crags and chasms that intervened but were hidden 
from view by the carpet green of tree·tops, and above all, 
the crossing of the Rubicon and the burning of the boalS 
by most Non~cooperators,-all these constituted a formidable 
opposition which could not be overawed cither by the intellec­
tual eminence of Motlla! or the dominating personality tlf 

Das. 

Allowing for the engaging mixing of mefaphors drawn freely 
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and almost surrealistically from land and water which came with 
great facility to the historian of the Congress, Dr. Sitaramayya's 
version of the balance of argument as the debate developed at 
what he describes as the "gnJa session" orthe A.l ,c.c. at Calcutta 
at the end of November is probably accurate. At any rate, the 
A.LCC.. although it accepted the Civil Disobedience Committee's 
finding after touring the country-an exercise which Dr. Sitara~ 
mayya does not fail to mention had cost the Congress the sizeable 
sum of Rs. 16.000-that the country was not prepared at the 
time to embark upon general mass civil disobedience. did not 
take upon itself the responsibility of taking a decision on other 
related and crucial matters but left them for the plenary Congress 
session at Gaya in a month's lime to decide. Dr. Sitaramayya 
writes: 

At the end of five days' analysis. niticism, invective and 
diatribe, the Committee resolved that the country was not 
prepared for mass Disobedience but it authorized p.ecs. 
to sanction on their own responsibility limited Civil Dis~ 

obedience that may be demanded by any situation, subject 
to the fulfilment of the conditions laid down in thal behalf. 
The harder question of Council-entry was held over till Gaya. 
and likewise were postponed the questions of Boycoll of 
British goods, the recommendation of entry into Local 
Bodies with a view to facilitating the constructive programme, 
the boycott of schoo\<; and colleges and Law Courts, and the 
right of private defence within the limits of Law except when 
carrying on Congress work, Thus ended the deliberations of 
the Civil Disobedience Committee which cost the Congress 
Rs. 16.000. 

Apart from the cost, what the A.l.C.C. meeting at Calcutta 
proclaimed to [ndia and the world was that the main decision­
making body of the Congress was caught up in the division 
between the fundamentalists and the revisionists ......... 1 situation 
which was time and again to repeat itself in the COI1grcss story, 
Curiously. unlike the Al.eC the Khilafat Committee which 
hud abo appointed a Committee to report on the general situation 
was not faced with a crisis or indecision, Its special Committee 
had come out more firmly for ad bering to the Council Boycott 
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than the Civil Disobedience Committee set up by the A.Lee. 
at Lucknow. 

And so to Gaya, a name associated with a distant and rno),t 
remarkable enlightenment, and even in 1922 only a vestigial 
memory, though not so vestigial as today; and both the Chairman 
of the Reception Committee, Braj Kishore Prasad, in his addre~s 
of welcome delivered in Hindufi.tani. and C.R. Das in his pre.siden­
tial address in English reminded the morc than ten thOllsand dele­
gates and visitors who were there to attend the Thirty-seventh 
Session of the Indian National Congress held between December 
26 and 31, 1922, of it. They could hardly have failed 10 do so. For 
the Panda} at Swarajyapuri as the site of the Congress session 
was named on the bank of the Phalgu was barely three miles from 
"the hallowed !ipot," as Braj Kishore Prasad noted at the very 
outset of his speech of welcome. "where Buddha attained his. 
supreme enlightenment and by which reason it has come to be 
known as Budh Gaya." 

It was at Ahmedabad in December 1921, when "a large 
number of delegates from Bihar" attended the Congress session, 
that an invitation to the Congress to hold its next session in that 
Province-the Ii.rst time Bihar had the honour of providing a 
venue for the Congress session had been in 19\2 at Bankipore 
and that was at a time when the Congress had reached its nadir 
and the sessinn had been a lack-lustre affair-had been extended. 
But it was not until towards the end of April that the Working 
Committee accepted the invitation, Early in May the Provincial 
Congress Committee of Bihar met at Gaya with Deep Narayan 
Singh in the chair and decided on Gaya. A reception Committee 
was duly set up with Braj Kishore Prasad as its chairman and the 
work of collecting: funds for the enterprise began soon after, 

Apparently. it did not proceed very smoothly. And for two 
reasons-one beyond human control and the other man-made. 
Then as now Bihar attracted either excess of rain or none or very 
ilttlc. The monsoon that year set in carly and lasted much longer 
and, we are told, not "much progres<:. was. ,. made until OCLober." 
The man~madc reason was the Government repression 
and intimidation. "The myrmidons of the bureaucracy." the 
official report says, "did all they could ... to prevent rich 
people from giving recuniary aid to the Reception Committee." 
At one time it was so short of money that it had to borrow 
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Rs. 50,000 on the persona! responsibility of its members to get 
on with the work. 

However, despite these difficulties. in mid~Oc!obcr the 
foundation stone or "the Panda! and Swarajyapuri ... was laid 
by Maulvi Haji Syed Khurshed Husnan and Babu Rajcndra 
Prasad," it seems, "with duc Muslim and Hindu ceremonies." 
Altogether it was a triumph of improvisation. especially as dec· 
tricity. water and conservancy services had to be provided llnd 
Gaya, a relatively poor town even in a poor region. had not the 
resources and facilities which metropolitan and other major 
cities hosting Congress sessions had. Nevertheless, the Guya 
Municipality was cooperative and agreed to supply water to 
Swurajyapuri free of charge and eventually a township of huts 
and tents to accommodate the Congress and Khilafat camps 
emerged on the bank of the Phalgu riYer well in time for the 
Congress to be held as scheduled. And not only the Congress. 
but also for the Khaddar Exhibition to be held simultaneously 
as the principal sideshow meant to demonstrate "aU the processes 
of preparing silk, woollen and cotton Khaddar of all descriptions, 
Coarse as well as finc," including the process of dyeing 
khaddar. The latter, it is interesting to recall, had Yolunteers from 
Prarulla Chandra Ray's (who had won international recognition 
in the scientific community for his researches on mercury and 
nitric add and their interaction) science faculty at Calcutta to 
demonstrate it for the visitors to the Exhibition. 

The Panda!, where the Congress met, was a wooden and 
bamboo structure "covered entirely with khaddar." Tt was, 
according to the official report, ·'elliptical in shape and the 
extreme length and the breadth of the ellipse were 370 ft. and 255 
ft. respectively., .. A life~size portrait of Mahatma Gandhi, 
especially painted for the occasion by Mr. C. Nageshwar Raa, 
and [incongruou~ly enough] another of Rana Pratap Singh were 
also hung in two Yery prominent places on the platform. The 
main entrance to the Pandal was a gate after the pattern of the 
Buddhistic gate of Sanchi and a round pHlar standing in the 
middle with a !ion as its capital was an imitation of one of 
Ashoka's Pillars in which the Province abounds .... Just behind 
the main gate was a beautifully laid out garden with four marble 
fountains." And there were all other amenilies, like the hall for 
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the meetings of the Subjects Committee and even a printing 
press to turn out Congress documents and literature. 

Altogether 3,848 delegates had registered, but since some 
of them had registered after the deadline for registration, only 
3,248 were officially admitted as delegates which was 1,500 less 
than the delegates to the Ahmedabad session. The late-comers 
attended as visitors among whom, we are told, were "ex-prisoners, 
the AkaHs [whose movement for the reform of Sikh shrines was 
supported morally and materially by the CongressJ, the Sadhus. 
the Ulema and the agriculturists." More: about 250 persons 
from the tribal region of Chota Nagpur had walked all the way 
ufrom the interior of the district of Ranchi, with their own rice. 
fuel aod earthern cooking pots to have sight of the great national 
assembly." ft seems they were wholly self-reliant in the matter 
of food and "were quite content to live in an orchard reserved 
for them and to squat on the passage floor in the Congress 
Pandal:' 

The Bihar Provincial Congress Committee, in those day~ 
representing the avant-garde of Gandhian thoughl and practice 
and not the rear, had taken great pains to ensure that the Gaya 
session, in so far as the arrangements for the creature comforts 
of the delegates and visitors were concerned. should be as good 
as human effort could make them. A special effort had been 
made to encourage the women of Bihar to join the Reception 
Committee and actively participate in the preparatory work. 
This was easier said than done. For Purdah was still the rule 
rather than the exception in Bihar, especially among the middle 
and better-off sections ill both urban and rural areas. The success 
of the attempt to draw in women was at best mediocre. Out of 
2,666 members of the Reception Committee there were only 
28 women. However. a much larger body of women-"not Jess 
than 500" according to the official report-took part in the 
work of the liession either as delegates. volunteers or visitors. 

A Working Committee meeting was held rOUf days before the 
opening of the Thirty-seventh se~sion.lt passed three resolutions, 
none of them having any direct bearing on the main issue before 
the Congress and the country. As already related. in the late 
summer of 1922 there had been recrudescence of HinduvMuslim 
tension and one rather serious outbreak or communal violence 
at Mullan in the Punjab. The WorkiLlg Committee resolved. 
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"that a Board consisting of the President [C.R. DasJ. Pandit 
Madan Mohan Malaviya, Hakim Ajmal Kh3n and a Mohamma~ 
dan gentleman nominated by Hakim Ajmal Khan be appointed 
to prepare a scheme for the settlement of Hindu-Muslim diff­
erences. to be placed before the Subjects Committee." The 
other two resolutions it passed concerned organisational matters. 
Strangely. however, there is 110 mention of any scheme for .;eHiing 
Hindu-Muslim differences which the four-man Board appointed 
by the Working Committee was to prepare and place before the 
Subjects Committee in the resolutions passed by the Congress 
at Gaya. 

There was the usual "flourish of trumpets, sounding of bugles 
and marching of volunteers and Congre~s Boy Scouts" to mark 
the arrival of the President "in a procession composed of ex­
Presidents" in the Panda! at 1.30 P.M. on Boxing Day, December 
26. This was followed by the singing of Ballde Mararaln "hy 
" choir of Bl!ngali girls led by Professor Brajendra Nath Ganguli 
followed by the Majestic voice of Prof. Vishnu Digambar of 
Gandharva Mahavidyalaya, the sou(~stjrring: song of Miss Tyabji 
{presumably in Urdul and songs in vernacular." Then at two in 
the afternoon the Chairman of the Reception Committee read 
his address in Hindustani which took forty-five minutes. after 
which he "'formally invited Deshbandhu Chittaranjan Das to 
take the Chair of the Thirty-seventh fndi3n National Congress 
and deliver his Presidential address." And with it began the trial 
ofstrC'ngth between those who came to be known as "NoChan~ 
gets" and tho~e who wanted a radical change of tactics at' non~ 
cooperation to achieve the same end-Swaraj. 

The battle-lines, in any case, had been clearly drawn in the 
months leading up to the crunch that was expected to be reached 
on the banks of the Phalgu at Gaya. 01. Sitaramayya argues that 
"the fight at Guya was really a tripartite one," though curiously 
he does not identify which the third party was, mentioning only 
"those that raised politics to a spiritual level and those Hull 
worked politics on the intellectual and the material plane:" 
Presumably. he h..'lU in mind the undivided middle, the feJlce~ 
l>itten; and the attemisrs who either had not made up their minds 
or were waiting to see which side the battle was going before 
taking sides, For as the A.1.C.c' debate at Calcutta had shown. 
despite the intellectual eminence of MoWn! Nehru and the 
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resonant oratory of C.R. Das, it was by no means certain that they 
would carry the day. They themsdvcs were not sure of the 
outcome. That is why. perhaps. as Dr. Sitnramayya claims 
"D{'~hba!ldhu Das reany had two precious documents in hi.:; 
pocket when he presided over the Gaya Congress,---onc was the 
Presidential AddreS$ and the other his resignation oflhe Prc~ident­
ship, together with a con~litution of the Swaraj Party," 

From the wOl'll go the issue became clearly and sharply 
delined in the ~peech of welcome by Braj Kishore Prasad and the 
presidential uddrcs:. of C. R. Das. The Chairman of the Reception 
Committee was frankly a committed Gandhian who attributed 
"the lntroduction of the element of punty and :;pirituaHty in 
our political life" to the Mahatma and wanted Lhem to reject 
"the di~tinction that was ~ought to be drawn between private 
and public character" and continue their faith in Gandhi who 
had shown them "the right path", Hecame to deal with the central 
point of dispute pretty early in his speech which was by no means 
unduly long. He said that there were two aspects to the non· 
-cooperation programme-a positive and constructive pro­
gramme and a negative or destructive one, The latter included 
··the boycott of Councib, boycott of law courts by lawyers and 
litigants, boycott of Goventment and Goventment aided schools 
and colleges and the boycott of foreign cloth." He dealt with 
the boycott of Councih-he described them as "sham institu4 

tions"-at some length, realising no doubt that was the real bone 
of contention, 

He developed his argument in a civilised manner of which 
the Mahatma would have wholly approved, Instead of attacking 
tho!\e who wanted the policy on Council entry to be reversed, he 
began by castigating those who were seemingly on the side of 
boycott angels but had been left "untouched" by "the purifying 
infiuence of this movement" and had "completely failed to 
imbibe the message of Mahatma Gandhi." He added: 

1 had heard in Calcutta and the perusal of daily newspapers 
only serves to confirm the information, that some gentlemen 
who are opposed to council entry, have taken to vilifying 
our leaders and other workers, who hold dilTerent views 
on this question. For myself, I cannot conceive of a more 
abominable conduct. Friends, do not Batter yourselves that 
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you continue to be great patriots, while they have proved 
faithless to the best interests of the I;OUlltI'Y ... , r would also 
avail myself of the opportt11lity to emphasise that our attitude 
even towards those who are avowedly opposed to ouf move~ 
ment should be one of love and esteem. Honesty. truth 
and wisdom are not the monopoly of non~cooperation .... 

However, his admonition to those believing in the boycott 
-of Councils to be tolerant to those who thought otherwise did 
not mean that he was any the less I;onvinced of the rightness of 
the boycott policy. He dealt politely but effectively with all the 
arguments of the opponents of the boycott thesis and, indeed. 
his views on the pitfalls of going into the Councils and contesting 

elections were to prove prophetic. Not the least among the dangers 
was the possibility of conflict among Congressmen themselves. 
He said: 

There is every likelihood that council elections may breed 
strife in the ranks of Congressmen themselves. So many 
will otTer themselves for election that one may be pardoned for 
entertaining a genuine apprehension that they may ultimately 
begin to fight among themselves. The Congress committees 
are not yet strong enough to enforce rigorous discipline 
among the members. You know how people begin to quarrel 
and go to the length of forming factions even in matters of 
election to the offices of the president, vice~president. sec~ 
retanes of the various Congress committees as also in the 
election to the All India Congress Committee .... 

This was undeniable and remains so till this day. But the 
danger was compounded under condition.", of alien rule and 
Braj Kishore Prasad did not fail to point it out. "The British," 
he said, "are a most diplomatic people." And in any situation 
they assume "the role of the sole custodian of the interests of 
humanity and dvilization." They are, therefore, able to intrude 
"upon the parties and whichever of them may win or lose," the 
British never fail to make out :>omething for themselves by way 
of brokerage. The Councils, as they were constituted, he argued, 
would give the Government ample scope for pursuing this type 
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of political game: 

Almost all the highest officials of the land arc members of 
it. All their endeavours are directed towards one end ... to 
do anything to keep its hold on the country. By throwing the 
tempting baits of Government offices, Executive Councillor~ 
ship. Ministership, Presidclltship of the Councils, Secretaryship. 
Judgeship of the High Court, District Court Judgeship and 
other offices, high and low and even by holding out pro~pects 
of appointments to their friends and relations. they try to 
entrap our countrymen. This process goe,; on from day to day 
and yet we knowingly allow ourselves 10 be caught in the 
mesh .... 

This was perfectly true. All Governments usc patronage. not 
as a trust as idealistic Benthamitesthought it should be. but as 
an instrument of bribery and corruption. The British in India 
used patronage unashamedly to enlarge the base of Quislillgism­
an essential factor in securing and perpetuating their :.tranglehold 
over India. He did not blame them for it. but he did not want 
Indians-and particularly Congressmen-to be led into tempta­
tion. It is advisable. he counselled. to avoid "points of contact. 
as far as practicable." Nor was Ite impressed by the argument 
advanced by Jayakar at Calcutta that the rcason why the Councils 
had been ineffective hitherto was because only unrl!presl!l1tutive 
nonentities had gone into them, and that if the real leaders ofth.e 
people, like MatHai Nehru alld C.R. Das, were elected they 
would be able to "dictate thl!ir terms." Braj Kislwre Prasad. 
however, thought this argument to be fallacious. 

Swaraj, he maintained, was impossible so long as the Congress 
failed to take lhe masses with it for which they had "to work the 
constructive programme." And fairly early in his speech he had 
outlined a programme of establishing what would have been 
virtually a parallel or alternative administration if not govern­
ment, involving the setting up of village committees or Pan­
chayats which would look after the affHirs of each village, such 
as: "(I) Education, (2) Health and Cleanliness of the village. 
(.3) Settlement orlocal disputes, (4) Spread of Charkha. Khaddar 
and Swadeshi. (5) Fostering and development of unity among 
Hindus, Mohammcdam and other communities, (6) Uplifting of 
the suppressed or depressed classes, and (7) Raising of necessary 
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funds for these purposes through the system of Muthia or in any 
other way." 

For him the "real foundation of the edifice of Swaraj" was­
the village Panchayat or committee. He wanted other committees 
at various other levels-"Sub-divisional, ialuk, District :tnd 
Provincial, .. ," It was almost a system of Soviets, but built from 
the ground upwards not the other way round. As. he put it, 

"Make your Congress Committees, from the village panchayat 
upwards to the All India Congres~ Committee, living, working 
and powerful institutions. That is the real work to be done for 
the attainment of Swaraj. Therefore. let this controversy about 
COllncib cease to distract our thoughts and energies .... Otherwise, 
all that has been done so far will be spoiled and $waraj will 
begin to recede from our vision. and we shall be relegated to the 
position rrom where we had slarted." Above all, he pleaded, 
they should listen to the arguments on either side "with respect 
and attention," without showing "discourtesy to anyone," or 
indulging in "noisy deroon."trations," and, finally, whatcver 
decision the Congress reached "must be ungrudgingly and un­
reservedly accepted ...... 

This was a counsel of perfection, but, again, let us not anlici. 
patc. The Chairman of the Reccption Committee having had his 
say and welcomed the delegates and apologised "for the many 
deficiencies in our arrangements," garlanded the President and put 
on him the President's star and led C.R. Das to the rostrum "amid 
deafening shouts of 'Mahatma Gandhi-ki-jai'." the President 
then read out his address which, we are told, covered twenty-fivc 
printed foolscap pages "in bold and clear voice." 1t took him two 
hours and a quarter and he was listened to "mid pindrop silence 
broken only at intervals by cries 'hear, hear' and lusty cheers." 
Whether the applause at the end was as loud and unanimous as 
it was at the beginning, we do not know. But the addres~ was a 
remarkable perrormancc by any standards. Indeed, nothing 
like it had been heard at any Congress session since Annie Besant's 
address to the Calcutta Congress in 1917. 

It was quite unlike the ralher sententious address which he 
was to have delivered at the Ahmedabad Congress but which he 
was unable to deliver because the authorities had locked him ur 
in AHpore Jail only two weeks before the Ahmedabad session 
although this did not prevent Gandhi, whom Da:; had sent a copy 
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of his addre~s, from publi~hing the. text in Young II/dia. Obvious.ly. 
while in his prison ceJl he had. given deep thol/ghL to the pro­
blems of Indian polity, both in their historical perspective and 
their immediate actuality, and come to certain firm condusiof1~ 
which he tried to work with much care into his presidential 
address to the Gaya session. The result was not just a lawycr'-s 
clever brief. or a small-time politician's tawdry platitudes, but a 
docllment fit to hand down to posterity as his political testament 
as it was, unhappily, to turn out to be. There were hardly any dull 
passages in it and there were parts of it which not only can be 
read with profit nearly seven decade~ after, but seem to have the 
immortal touch. 

This is certainly true of the beginning and the end. He began 
by ex-pressing hi!) "!)ense of overwhelming lo!)s" which he was sure 
was "uppermost in the minds" ofaHand everyone assembled at 
Gaya. He was, of course. referring to the imprisonment of 
Gandhi which had deprived them of his guidance. "But," 
he said, "there is inspiration for all of us in the last stand which he 
made in the citadel of the enemy, in the Jast defiance which he 
hurled at the agents of the Bureaucracy:' He could only think 
of one parallel. The thought was not original to him. It had 
occurred to Kris.hlUldas when he helped Gandhi to have his bath 
before the trial. Sarojini Naldu had invoked it in her description 
of the trial in her own poetic fashion. It had haunted even George 
Lloyd, the Governor of Bombay, though he tried hard to 
exorcise it from his mind and minds of his interlocutors, like Drew 
Pearson. Das said: "To read a story equal in pathos, in dignity, 
a.nd in sublimity. you have to go back over two thou.. .. andyears 
when Jesus of Nazareth, as 'one that perverted the people' 
stood to take his trial bet are a foreign tribunaL" And he quoted 
the relevant verses from Chapter twenty seven of the Gospel 
a.ccording to SL Matthew: 

And Jesus stood before the Governor; and the Governor 
asked him, saying: 
Art thou the king of the Jews? And Jesus said unto him. 
Thou sayest. 
And when he was accused of the chief priests and elders, he 
answered nothing. 
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Then said Pilate unto him: Hearest thou not how many 
things they witness against thee'! 
And he answered him to never a word; in so much that the 
Governor marvelled greatly, 

But Dus, unlike some others who had thought of and used the 
analogy. was aware of the difference, loo, Jesus had refused 
to incriminate himself, almost as if he was invoking the Fifth 
Amendment. Gandhi, he added. "took a different course, He 
admitted that he was guilty and he pointed out to the Public 
Prosecutor that his guilt was greater than he, the Prosecutor, 
had alleged, , " If I may hazard a guess, the Judge who tried 
him and who passed a sentence of imprisonment on him was 
filled with the same feeling of marvel as Pontius Pilate had 
been," This was by no means certain, For Pontius Pilate was not 

an Englishman, But that question apart, Das' problem wa.s how to 
make the transition in his address from the sublime to the 
mundane but agonising problems facing the Congress, 

He managed it rather well by likening the "Bureaucracy" 
and its apologists-and even the "Moderates"-who argued that 
"if you cannot actively co·opcrate in the maintenance of 'lhe 
Law oftbe land',. , it is your duty as a responsible citizen to obey 
it pa.'iSively," to "Scribes and Pharisees of the days of ChriM." 
And, then in a wide historical sweep, he described how the 
doctrine of the "law and order" had given rise to the counter· 
vailing concept of "independency of Parliament," "individual 
liberty. the right to resist, and the right to compel abdication :md 
~ecure deposition of the Crown in a word, they stood for Ma.n 
against (he coercive powers of Ihe Stat.e," 

He had no difficulty in proving by quoting chapter and 
verse from British history~and not only British history-"that 
it is. not by acquiescence in the doctrine of law and order thai the 
English people have obtained the recognition of their fundamental 
rights," But, having started with the Christ analogy, he could 
not get aw:.ty from the Bible. or rather the New Testament, and 
referred to the way in which Jes.us had dealt with the law ''''hen 
some of his hungry disciples had gone into a corn·ficld on the 
Sabbath day and had begun to pluck ears of corn and 10 cal them, 
much to the horror of the Pharisees, and Jesus' argument that the 
Sabbath was made for man and not man for the Sabbath. 
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Even so, said Das, "the truth is. that law and order is for Man, 
and not Man for Law and Order:' He thought it was an encoura­
ging sign that the baHIe-.cry of law and order was being raised by 
the bureaucracy and its friends. "r ask my countrymen," he 
observed. "to he patient and to press the charge. Freedom ha.~ 
already advanced when the alarm of law and order is sounded; 
that is the history of Bureaucracies aU over the world. In the 
mc<tntime it is OUf duty to keep our ideal steadfast .... -. 

But what ideal was [ndia to set before itself? He wa.'> quile 
dear about it. "The first and foremost," he said, "is the ideal of 
nationalism. Now what is nationalism 1" He was quile clear on 
thai question, too: "It is, I conceive, a process through which 
a nation expresses itself and finds itself, not in isolation from 
other nations, not in opposition to other nations. but as part 
of a grcat schemc by which, in seeking its own c);pression and 
therefore its own identity, it materially assists the self-expression 
amI self-realisation of other nations as well: Diversity is as 
reat as unity." He did not want, and quite rightly, the nationalism 
of countries like India struggling for freedom and "sclf~expression 
and self~realisation" to be confused with "the conception of 
nationality as it exists in Europe to~day," in other words of 
advanced colonialist countries: 

Nationalism in Europe is an aggressive nationalism. a self~ 
ish nationalism, a commercial nationalism, of gain and loss. 
The gain of France is the loss of Germany and the gail1 of 
Germany is the loss of France. Therefore, French nationa.lism 
is nUrlured on the hatred of Germany, and German nation~ 
alism is nurtured on the hatred of France. It is not yet 
realised that you cannot hurt Germany without hurting 
Humanity, and in consequence hurting France; and that you 
cannot hurt France without hUTting Humanity, and in con~ 
sequence hurting Germany, That is European ruttionalism: 
that is not the nationalism oj' which 1 am speaking to you 
to-day. 

Was he simplifying things too much? Not at aU. What he 
'Said has to be judged in the context of post~VersaiJlcs Europe 
and the characterisation fits. Equally, what he went on Lo say, 
despite a tendency to see India's past in an idyllic framework. 
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was sufficiently close to the historical truth as to possess a 
residual validity that cannot be denied. For he saw Indian 
nationhood. not as an otT~the~peg, readymade and prefabricated 
structure, as it were; but a process, "Movement after movement," 
he argued,"has swept over this vast cQuntry, apparently creating 
hostile forces, but in reality stimulating the vitality and moulding 
the life of the people into one great nationality." He referred to the 
interaction of Aryans and non-Aryans and to the rise of Buddhism 
as a protest against Brahmanism which succeeded "not only in 
broadening the hasis of Indian unity, but in creating, what is 
perhaps nOI less important. the greater India beyond the Hima~ 
Jayas and beyond the seas, so much so that the sacred CilY where 
we bave met [Gaya} may be regarded as a place of pilgrimage 
of millions and millions of people of Asiatic races." 

He spoke of the advent of Islam in India with the coming 
of "Mahomedans of diverse races, but with one culture which 
was their common heritage" and "for a time it looked as if here 
was a disintegrating force. an enemy to the growth of Indian 
nationalism. but the Mahomeduns made their home in India, 
and. while they brought a new outlook and a wonderful vitality 
to the Indian life, with intinite wisdom. they did as little as possi­
ble to disturb the growth of life in the villages where India really 
lives. This: new outlook was necessary for India; and if the two 
sister streams met, it was only to fulfil themselves ...... Into 
this somewhat romantic mode of historical exegesis~and its 
legitimacy is at least equal if not superior to the "Suhaltern" 
SChool_he fitted in the British impact on India by rcmarking: 
"Then came the English with their alien culture, their foreign 
methOds. delivering a rude shock ... but the shock has. only 
~ompletcd the unifying process so that the purpose of history 
IS practically fulfilled. The great Indian nationality is in sight," 
In sight, but not fully realised. For that to be possible "the path 
of Swaraj" was necessary s.ince "Swaraj is the natural expres.sion 
of the national mind, ... The question of all questions in India 
to~day is the attainment of Swaraj." 

But bow was it to be attained and by what method? Das 
had no doubt that it could only be attained through non-violent 
~on~cooperation. Yes, he admitted. "Doubt has .. ,been expressed 
I~ Some quarters about the soundness of the principle of non~ 
Violence." He was aware of tile history of revolutions-in France, 
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io England even, in Italy and in Russja~ of Danton and 
Robespierre; of Jacobins and Girondists; of Mazz.io!. 
Gadbaldi and Cavour; of Karl Marx; of Cromwell (though he 
did not name him). "I believe in reyo!utions;' he declared. "but I 
repeat, violence defeats freedom. The revolution of noo·violence 
is. slower but surer." This was what Gandhi also believed. though 
the assertion in either case had to be taken on trust and Oas' 
quotations from Carlyle, however convincing they may have 
sounded to his audience at Gaya, could hardly be taken as a 
conclusive and impartial evidence of the French Revolution 
having been nothing but expense of spirit and toil and blood in 
a waste of futility which had merely replaced "Aristocracy of 
Feudal Parchment" by the shoddy "Aristocracy of the Money­
bag." 

He was aware that many minds were agitatcd by the question 
as to whether "we have succeeded in our work of non-violent 
non-cooperation"; aware too, that the Moderates were accu~ing 
the Congress of "having corrupted the youth of the country" 
and of "preaching the gospel of hatred" while having "love on 
our lips." On the first count, he almost accepted that there was a 
si£nHicant deficit in achievement and that "the work of destruc­
tion and creation" had to be pursued '"mnre vigorously," Bul he 
said to thc critics of the Congress that while he admitted it had 
failed "in many directions," they. for their part. should acknow­
ledge where it had succeeded. To the second charge his. unswer 
was that the Christ himself had been accused of having corrupted 
tlle people and had furnished an anticipatory defence by declaring 
"Think not thai I am come to send peace on earth: I come 
not 10 send peace, but u. sword." And as regards hypocrisy, he 
described the charge as. "a vile slander." but insofar a.. .. they had 
failed to live up to their ideal.s it was only a proof of their weak­
ne~s and imperfection. "Judge us by our ideals," he ~id, "not 
by what we have achieved." 

He dealt with other neuralgic problems, like tbe Hindu­
Muslim question and the rights of different communities generally. 
He wanted the Lucknow Pact to be emphatically confirmed and 
a clear dechuation of the rights of minority communities such 
as the Sikhs, the Christians and the Parsecs \-..-hom the Hindus and 
the Muslims. should give in the Swaraj administration "more than 
tbeir proporlionaJ share." He was also for ending "the policy 
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of exclusiveness'" and keeping in touch "with world movements" 
by establishing Congress agencies in America and in every 
European country and communicating "with the lovers of 
freedom all over the world,'" More: he envisioned the emergence 
of "the great Asiatic Federation" and had no doubt that "the 
Pan~Islamic movement" would outgrow its limilations and 
develop into "the great Fedenltion of an Asiatic people .. ,the 
union of the oppressed nationalities of Asia." He could not 
conceive of Inuia remaining outside such a union, 

Why? Because "no nation on the face of the earth can be 
really free when other mtions are in bondage," They had been 
concentrating on achieving Swaraj in the cour:;c of a year which 
made a certain self·absorption necessary, But they llad now to 
think in terms of "a broader sympathy and a wider outlook," 
He saw the world "on the eve of great changes" and thought 
Kamal Pasha's victory had "broken the bonds of Asia" which 
was now "all astir with life," And having begun with a Biblical 
theme. he now introduced an inspiring image drawn from Greek 
mythology-Prometheus. "It is Prometheus," he claimed, "who 
'spoke within her' [meaning Asia] and her 'thoughts are like 
the many forcsts of vale through which the might of whirlwind 
and of rain had passed'," He also noted "the stir within every 
European country for the real freedom of the people," 

All this necessitated rethinking and restatement of the national 
demands, including those regarding the Punjab wrongs some of 
which had been redressed as well as Khilafat on which be wa. .. 
sanguine that most of lhem would be realised by the time the 
Lausanne Commission had completed its labours, What is more, 
t~\.e demand for Swaraj "must now be presented in a more prac­
heal shape." And a.lthough he did not think that it walt "within 
the provincc" of his address "10 deal with any detailed scheme," 
he could not allow the opportunity "to pass without giving" the 
Congress delegates an expression of his opinion as to the character 
()f the system of Government he could equate with Swaraj: 

No system of Government which is not f("lr the people and by 
the people can ever be regarded as the true foundation of 
Swaraj. 1 am firmly convinced that a Parliamentary Govern_ 
nlcnl is not a G{wcrnmenl by the people, Many of us believe 
tbat the Middle Class must win Swaraj for the masses,.,. 
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I do not believe that the Middle Class [having won power) 
will then part with their power .... My ideal of Swaraj will 
never be satisfied unless the people co-operate with us in its 
attainment. Any otller attempt will inevitably lead to what 
European Socialists call the "Bourgeois" Government ... , 

And a truer-or more prophetic-word had never been heard 
from the mouth or any of his. predecessors in (he Presidemia.l 
chair at the Congress sessions. But apart from a vague notion of 
~'autonomy of small local centres" and quoting an anonymous 
European woman writer in support of devolution of power down 
to the base, all he could think of was to suggest "!hat the Con­
gress should appoint a Committee to draw up a scheme of 
Government which 'would be acceptable to the na.tion," and 
moreover "suggest means by which the scheme can be put in 
opemlion a.t once." 

Having traversed a vast trajectory of~eductive generalisations, 
historical and even metaphysical evocations-at one point he 
spoke, for instance. of God revealing his Lee/a. or play (though 
jeu d' esprit would express the idea bener) of which Individual. 
Society, Nation, Humanity are but aspects, in history-he came 
down to the brass tacks of Indian politics at the time-the 
question of boycott of Councils on which everybody was all :lgOg 
to know his position though they had some nOlion of what he 
was going to say. He said it, of course, with some subtlety and 
sophistication, "Unhappily,'- he remarked, "the question 
has become part of the controversy of Change or No~change. 
To my mind the whole controversy proceeds on a some­
what erroneous assumption, The question is not so much as to 
whether there ~hould be a change in the programme of the 
work~ the real question is whether iE is not necessary now to 
change the direction of our activities in certain respects for the 
success of the very movement which we hold so dear:' 

This sounded reasonable enough, but was he not already 
in some degree begging the question? The hair~splitting analysis 
of the Bardoli Resolution that followed rather suggested that he 
was, He endorsed the finding of the Enquiry Committee that 
~'Civil Disobedience on a large scale is out of question because 
the people are not prepared for it." At the same time he boldly 
suggested that "the restrictions which have been put upon the 
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practical adoption of any system of civil disobedience" should 
be abolished by the Congress, He said he had not been able to 
understand why "to enable a people to civilly disobey particular 
laws, it should be necessary that at least 80 per cent of them 
should be clad in pure 'Khadi'," Indeed, he seemed to argue in 
fovour of attempts to offer disobedience to laws which are 
"eminently unlawfuL" "What hope is there for a nation," he 
u'lked, "so dead to the sense of truth as not to rebel against 
lawless l..1.ws. against regulations which injure their national 
heing and hamper their national development?" 

But this was an ingenious ploy to disarm no-changers, a case 
{reversing the famous French adage) of sauter pour mieux reculer, 
He was for reconsidering in the light ofcircUOls.tances the question 
of the boycott of Councils which was. agitating the country, 
For him there was "no opposition in idea" between such civil 
disobedience as he had mentioned and "the entry into the 
Councils for the purpose, and with the avowed object of either 
emling or mending them:' This was a marvellously deceptive 
phrase which not only seemed to carrycrcdibility overthenext few 
)'ears with a substantial segment of the Congress inteUigentia, 
but could-and did-deceive the man who coined it, 

This is clear from the rather involved arguments that he 
developed in the rest of his speech, He was not, he said, "against 
the boycott of Councils." Indeed, he did not believe them to be 
Worth entering: 

I am simply of opinion that the system of the Reformed 
Councils with their steel frame of the Indian Civil Service 
covered over by a dyarcby of deadlocks and departments, is 
absolutely unsuitable to the nature and genius of the Indian 
nation, It is. an attempt of the British Parliament to force a 
foreign system upon the Indian people. India bas unhesitatingly 
refused to recognise this foreign system as a real foundation for 
Swaraj, With me, as J have often said, it is not a question of 
more or tess: [ am always pl'cpared to sacrifice much for a 
real basis of Swaraj. nor do I attach any importance to the 
question as to whether the attainment of full and complete 
independence will be a matter of 7 years or 10 years or 
20 years. A few years is nothing in the life history of a nation. 
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Then why was he in favour of entering the Councils? He 
gave two reasom, each plausible but fallacious. The first was to 
show them up for the sham and fraud they were. He argued: 

It should be the duty of the Congress to boycott the Counci'-~ 
more em:ctively from within. Reformed Councils are really 
a mask which the Bureaucracy has put on. J conceive it to be 
our clear duty to tear this mask from ofr their face .... The 
only successful boycott ofthese Councils is either to mend them 
in a manner suilable to the attainment of Swamj or to end 
them comp!etely. That is the way in which [ advise the nation 
to boycott the Councils. 

But was there not a contradiction embedded right at the 
heart of his argument summed up in the phrase "mend or end"? 
For jf the Councils were capable of being mended, they could not 
be described as wholly frauduleJlt'~ He was too intelligent and 
perceptive not to realise that there was a contradiction even as 
he was trying to make the phrases "mending or cnding" and 
"boycott from within" the popular currency of debate on the 
issue. For he obliquely admitted as much. "The people of India," 
he went on to add, "do not like these Reforms. but let us not 
forget that the Bureaucracy does not like lhem either. Because 
it is the result of two contending forces pulling in dilTerent direc­
lions, the Refonns have assumed a tortured shape." 

This was a true and dialectically accurate analysis of the 
anatomy of Montagu-ChcJmsJord reforms. As for the charge that 
entry into Councils was inconsistent with the ideal of non-co­
operation. he pointed out, "SL1rely the charge of inconsistency 
must depend on the object of the entry." And as was often to 
happen with the Congress leadership committed to Gandhian 
non-violence. including Gandhi himself in his unguarded mo­
ments, Dus drew an analogy from the battlefield. "An advancing 
army," he said, "does not co~opera[e with the enemy when it 
marches into the enemy's territory." And he rightly added. 
"Entry into the Council to cooperate with the Government and 
entry into the Council to non-cooperate with the Government 
Are two terms and two different propositions:- Nor did the oath 
or allegiance to the Crown which those entering the Councils 
were required to take, present any difficulty for him though he 
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admitted that it might for those abiding by the "dictates of any 
particular religion." "The oath is a constitutional one," he 
claimed. "The King stands for the constitution. Great changes 
in constitution have taken place in England under that very 
oath." 

This was rather misleading. For the Councils, unlike Parlia­
ment in Britain, were not sovereign bodies and it was somewhat 
disingenuous to labour an analogy which was unreal. But, then. 
a strain of disingenuousness was inherent in the posilion he and 
those or his mind had taken up and the case which they were 
trying to make, brusbing aside the arguments of tbeir opponents 
which, though naive to a degree, had an undeniable com,istcncy­
or would have had if they had stuck to them and had not yielded 
to the temptation of opportunism as some were to do in the 
coming months and year3. 

In the concluding part of his address. Das dealt briefly and 
almost in passing with a number of other ntatter~ which were on 
the agenda of the Congress scs:>ion at Gaya-the need to take up 
work of labour and peasant organisations which he wa~ sorry 
had not been takcn up; boycott of schools; boycott of Law 
Courts on whkh he preferred a pragmatic rather than strictly 
dogmatic approach by laying down "rules which wlU cover 
all the circumstances which may arise in particular cases;" and 
khaddar which he stressed was "one or the most important 
questions" before them. Why? Not because he agreed wilh those 
who said thal khaddaralone would bringSwaraj which he did not 
consider a serious proposition. But he did accept the imporlance 
of khaddar in "one sense only:' "Wc must regard Khaddar," 
he said. "as the symbol of Swarnj. As the Khaddar makes us sclf~ 
contained with regard to a very large department of our national 
life so it i" hoped that the in'iplration of Kh:\ddar will m:lke the 
Whole or our national life sdf·contained and independent. This 
is the meaning ofrhc symboL" 

And then came the conclusion. He called il "a last message of 
hope and confluence." And so it was and more; a magnificent 
Coda, as it w<!rc, of 3- composition which had a symphonic struc~ 
turc and which nol merely rounded it oIT exquisitely, but had 
about it what Marcus Aurelius would have recognised as "the 
accent of heroic truth." No apology is needed to quote it almost 



43& INDIAN NATIONAL CONGRf.S$ 

in full. For nothing like it was to be heard at a Congress session 
for many a year if ever: 

There is no royal road to Freedom, and dark and difficult 
will be the path leading to it. . .. Do not make the mistake 
of confusing achievement with success. Achievement is lin 
appearance and appearances are often deceptive. I contend 
that, though we cannot point to a great deal as the solid 
achievement of the movement, the success of it is assured .... 
But though the ultimate success of the movement is assured, 
I warn you that the issue depends wholly on you, and on how 
you conduct yourselves in meeting the forces that are arrayed 
against you, Christianity rose triumphant when Jesus of 
Nazareth offered himself as a sacrifice to the excessive worship 
of law and order by the Scribes and the Pharisees. The forces 
that are arrayed against you are the forces, not only of the 
Bureaucracy, but of the modern Scribes and Pharisees whose 
interest iUs to maintain the Bureaucracy in all its pristine glory, 
Be it yours to offer yourselves as sacrifices in the interest of 
truth and justice, so that yourchHdren's children may have the 
fruit of your sufferings. Be it yours to wage a spiritual warfare 
so that the victory. when it comes, docs not debase you, nor 
tempt you to retain the power of Government in your own 
hands.. But if yours is to be a spiritual warfare, your weapons 
must be those oftbe spiritual soldier. Anger is not for you. 
hatred is not for you nor for you is pettiness, meanness or 
falsehood, For you is the hope of dawn and the confidence of 
the morning .... 

This was rhetoric; it connected but fitfully and tenuously 
with the political reality in India-and the Congress-evctt 
in those days. But words have a magic that induces a willing 
suspension of disbelief and can cast a ~pell that, momentarily 
at least, makes the ideal real. Chittaranjan Das made the spell 
even more powerful when he told his audience that fOT them 
was "the song that was sung of Titan. chained and imprisoned. 
but the Champion of Man. in the Greek fable;" and he went on 
to quote the most poignant and revolutionary utterance by 
Shelley~the lines which the poet puts in the mouth of Demogor· 



AT THE CROSS ROADS 

gon at the end of Prometh/!us Unbound: 

To suffer woes which Hope thinks infinite; 
To forgive wrongs darker than death or night; 
To defy Power which seems omnipotent; 
To love, and bear; 
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to hope till Hope creates From its own wreck the thing it 
contemplates; 

Neither to change, nor falter, nOf repent; 
This, like thy glory. Titan is to be Good. great and joyous, 

beautirul and free; . 
This is alone Ufe, Joy, Empire and Victory. 



CHAPTER XV 

REHEARSALS OF DISCOMPOSURE 

The speech of welcome delivereu by the Chairman oflhe Recep­
tion Committee had stated thccase for the boycott of the so~called 
reformed legislatures as well and as civilly as it could be stated. 
The presidential address had made the case against boycott, or 
rather for entering the Councils with the declared purpose of 
mending them Of ending them. with the utmost persuasivenc$ 
and great eloquence. Thus the point and counterpoint of the 
theme which was to be the principal focus of discussion both in 
the Subjects Committee and the plenary sessions of the Con~ 
gre~~ at Gaya had been intoned cogently and lucidly. CR. Das' 
presidential address. indeed, seemed to scale heights not just of 
spellw binding political rhetoric, but at points attains nn intensity 
and poignancy of utterance for which what followed during the 
next four days could only be a d('S.cent and falling away asit turned 
out to be. 

The agenda before the Congress was fairly heavy, though by 
no means as heavy as at some of the previous sessions. Altogether 
it adopted seventeen resolutions. But quite a number of them were 
non-controversial or dealt with routine organisational matters, 
like the last three. One of these---number fifteen-placed on 
record "its grateful thanks for the valuabte services" of the 
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outgoing General Secretaries, namely Motilal Nehru, Dr. M. A. 
Ansari and C. Rajagopalachari while appointing M. MOazzalO 
Ali. Vallabhbhai J. Patel and Rajendra Prasad in their place. 
The next resolution ,Innounccd lhcre·appointment of Jamnala! 
Bajaj and M.M.H.J.M. Chotani as Congress Treasurers for the 
coming year. And the final resolution fixed the venue for the next 
session which was to be held "in Andhrn Desha" thougb the 
place where it was going to be held was not specified, being 
left for latter decision in consultation with the Andhra Congress 
Committee. 

As always. the Congress began with mourning its dead. 
Since the Ahmedabad session two of its veterans, representing 
the link with its Founding Fathers who began the long march to 
freedom through a difficult and almost unnegotiable terrain, 
had died. One of them was Ambica Charan Mazumdar who had 
presided at the Lucknow Session in 1916 at which thcCongress~ 
Muslim League concordat was forged and endorsed. The other 
was MatHai Ghose, the pioneer of nationalist press and journalism 
in India, who founded the Amrira Bazar Patrika which had been 
a thorn in the flesh of the bureaucratic establishment and was on 
occasions to earn its extreme disfavour and even suffer for it. 

The Congress also had to acknowledge its debt of gratitude to 
the living-and above all to the man who was not there but 
behind prison bars at Yeravda ncar Poona even though Gandhi. 
for his part, regarded himself and other prh;oners of conscience 
as. '·civilly dead:' The second resolution it passed placed on 
record "its gmteful ~lppreciatiol1 of the services of Mahatma 
Gdndhi to the cause of India and humanity by his messag.e of 
Peace and Truth:' It took the opportunity also to reiterate "its 
faith in the principle of non·violent non-cooperation inaugurated 
by him ft)r the enfMcement of the rights of the pe(}plc of India." 
In those days it remembered not only its. gre,tl leaders who had 
3erved to make it what it was, but also the thousands of anony­
m()US. but bmve men and women who had answered its. call and 
gone to prison. And the third resolution recorded: 

' .. profound appreciation of the services rcrtdered to the na~ 
tional eause by ail those brave citizens. who have sulTered ill 

. pursuance of the programme of voluntary suffering and who in 
accordance with the Congress advice, without o!lering any 
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defence or bail, served or are serving various periods of 
imprisonment. and calls upon the nation to keep alive this 
spirit of sacrifice and to maintain unbroken the struggle for 
freedom. 

This was followed by a resolution recording "with pride 
and admiration its appreciation of the unexampled bravery of the 
Akali martyrs and the great and nobleexampleofnon~violcnceset 
by them for the benefit of the whole nation:' This resolution 
may sound strange and ironical against the background of more 
recent history of Punjab and the relations between the Congress 
and the Akali Party and its various factions. But in the early 19203 
and for a decade and eYen more, despite the reservations which 
the Punjab Provincial Congress Committee may have entertained 
about the AkaH movement for the control of Sikh shrines from 
the generally corrupt Mahants or Priests, the All-India Congress 
leadership saw, and Tightly, in the Akali struggle not only a 
movement of reformation within Sikhism, but as a tributary 
stream of the movement of national liberation. 

Next came a resolution expressing the solidarity of the 
Congress with the new Turkey emerging under the leadership 
of Ghazj Mustafa Kamal Pasha and congratulating him and the 
Turkish nation "on their recent successes" and furlher recording 
"the determination of the people of India to carryon the 
struggle till the British Government has. done all in its power and 
remo'Ved all its own obstades to the restoration of the Turkish 
nation to free and independent status, and the conditions neces· 
sary for unhampered national life and effective guardianship of 
Islam, and the Jazirat-ul-Arab, freed from all non-Muslim 
control." This resolution fitted in fairly well with the increasingly 
overt anti-imperialist tone of the Congress pronouncements 
on international affairs. But it seemed somewhat incongruous 
with another resolution-number nil1e~whieh it passed and 
which related to the situation in the Near Ea&t. II read: 

In view of the serious situation in the Near East which 
threatens the intc-grity of the Khilafat and the Turkish GOY­
ernment and in view of the determination of the Hindus. 
Muslialmans and all other peoples of India to prevent any 
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such injury. this Congress resolves that the Working Com~ 
mince do take steps in consultation with the Khilafat Working 
Committee in order LO secure united action by the Hindus, 
Mussalmans and others, to prevent exploitation of India 
for any such unjust cause and to deal with the situation. 

There was, undoubtedly, an antj~imperjalist content in the 
resolution. The Turkish people needed the support and solidarity 
of other ASian nations and anti~imperialist forces generally l() 

withstand tlte pressures to which they were being subjected by 
imperialist powers, principally Britain and France. The Lausanne 
Conference was still in session. and although the contradictory 
pulls within British policy relating to Turkey and the Near 
East had already led to the resignation of Lloyd George in 
October 1922 and the accession to premiership of Bonar Law, 
it was still not certain how far the new Turkish Government 
would be able to hold its ground at Lausanne. But the Khila.fat 
issue as such was soon to become obsolete. This should have 
been clear to any moderately well·informed observer. But the 
Congress leadership did not wanl to get out of step with the 
Khilafat movement although the latter's programme had little 
relevance to the new situation in the Near East with the rise of 
Kamal Pasha in Turkey who was to build a modern, secular 
Turkish Republic on the ruins of the old Ottoman Empire and 
finally lay the ghost of the doctrine of Caliphate. 

Another resolution towards the end of the agenda dealt with 
the question of affiliations of a number of kindred organisations 
outside India with the Congress. It had been rather wary of 
allQwing such organisations, some of them evoking its name in 
their own nomenclature, freely to affiliate with it, partly because 
it could not be sure of who would control them and what policies. 
they might pursue. Its experience even in the ca.se of the British 
Committee of [ndian National Congress towards the end had 
been rather unhappy and discouraging. However at Gaya it 
seemed (0 be in a liberal mood on this issue and resolved: 

... that the Natal Indian Congress Committee, Durban, the 
British Indian Association, Johannesburg. the British Jndia 
League. Capetown, and the Point .Indian Association, Durban~ 
be affiliated. with power to send ten delegates-this number 
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to be allotted amongst themselves by agreement to be reported 
to the All India Congress Committee ... that the Kabul 
Congress Committee be affiliated. with power to scnd two 
delegates. 

The resolution immediately preceding it deah with a more 
important matter, It was two years eartier-at Nagpur~that for 
the first time the Congress had given thought to the need for 
organising Indian Labour "with a view to promote their well· 
being and secure their just rights," and to prevent its "ex.ploita~ 
tion, .. by foreign agencies," But as C.R, Das in his presidential 
address said, it "had remained a paper resolution" and he had 
rightly diagnosed the rcason for the Congress failure to act upon 
it. But at Gaya it not only reiterated the Nagpur resolution and 
amplified it, but set up a committee to ceeperate with the An~ 
lndia Trade Union Congress. The resolution number thirteen 
said: 

Whereas this Congress is of opinion that Indian labour 
should be organised ... it is resolved that this Congress. 
while welcoming the move made by the All India Trade 
Union Congress and various Kisan Sabhas in organising 
the workers ef India. hereby appoints the following Com­
mittee with power to. co.-opt, to. assist the Executive Council 
of the All India Trade Union Congress for the organiSttlion 
of Indian labour, both agricultural and industrial; (I) C.F. 
Andrews. (2) j,M. Sen Gupta. (3) S.N. Haldar. (4) Swami 
Dinanath. (5) Dr. D.O. Sathaye. (6) M. SingarveJu Chettiar. 

Singarvclu Chcttiar who. seconded the resolution provided 
unwittingly. perhaps, the fare cemic reHef l)f the session. He was 
so ca.rried away with elation at the prospect. a .. he saw it, of the 
ferment among the workers "in Russia, Australia and America," 
and his own impassioned eloquence in a worthy cause, that the 
audience could not quite take it. As. he was warning the bour­
geoisie and asking them .. to hearken. hearken" to him and calling 
upon "yc richmen. ,.ye big men" to beware because "Ute Labour of 
India, the Cinderella oflhe East" was "wideawakc" and "coming 
up and up," there were repeated interruptions and eric;; of "stop, 
stop" from the floor of ihe House so that his dire anu prophetic 
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warnings could not be heard. But, of course, he was knocking 
at an open door and the resolutioll was put to vote and passed. 

There had been no plenary session of the Congress on Decem­
ber 27 becJ;Luse the Subjects Committee had taken the whole day 
in discussing the resolutions. One of them which it passed, but 
WIlich is not mentioned in Tlte EltC)'Clopacdia of the btdio/f Natio­
nal Congress, Vol. 8. presumably because it was rejected by the 
Congress at its plenary session on December 28. concerned the 
boycott. not just of foreign cloth, but foreign goods. It was 
moved by S. Satyamurti who described it as "a very modest 
and a very practical one." But it was opposed by no less a person 
than C. Vijiaraghavachariar, who had presided over the Nagpur 
Congress. He considered it "impractical and undesirable" 
because "it would displease t1le Labour organisation and the 
Labour movement in England." His opposition was reinforced 
by C. Rajagopalachnri and amidst some confusion the President 
declared the resolution to be lost. 

However, these were only preliminary skirmishes. The real 
"battle royal," as Dr. Sitaramayya nicely describes it, was joined 
on the question of Council entry. The resolution on the issue was 
moved bye. Rajagopalachari, in those days a fundamentalist on 
non·cooperation; it was seconded by Dr. M.A. Ansari; and among 
those who spoke in its favour was Sarojini Naidu who described 
herself as one of the "five earliest disciples" of the Mahatma. 
An amendment was moved by S. Srinivasa Iyengar which pro· 
posed that the Congres.~ candidates should contest the elections 
and, if eh.."Cted, should rermin from taking their seats. Another 
amendment was proposed by Matilal Nehru and supported by 
JamnaJal Bajaj and Madan Mohan Malaviya. It was also for 
going into the Councils.----for the paradoxical reason of securing 
Gandhi's reJease which the Mahatma would not have relished. 
C. R,ljagopalachari replied to the deba.te. The amendment$ 
were rejected and for the voting on the Council boycott resolu· 
tion the PUllda/was cle.ued ofal! but the delegates. The resolution 
as finally adopted read: 

Whereas the boycott of Councils carried out during the 
ele<:tions held in 1920 has deslroyed the moral strength of the 
institutions through which Government sought to consolidate 
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its power and carry on its irresponsible rule [this was a refe­
rence to the low level of voters' participation even on a f'estri~ 
cted franchise 1: 

And whereas it is necessary again for the people of lndia to 
withhold participation in the elections of the next year as an 
essential programme of non-violent non-co-operation: 

This Congress resolves. to advise that all voters shall abstain 
from standing as cantlidates for any of the Councils and from 
voting for any candidate offering himself as such in disregard 
of this advice, a.nd to signify the abstention ill such manner 
as the All India Congress Committee may instruct in that 
behalf. 

The next resolution connected whh a long-standing grievance 
of Ihe Congress over military expenditure and its economic 
I.'(msequences. But it linked the old complaint with the constitu~ 
tional confidence trick which, in its judgement, the "Reformed" 
Councils amounted to: 

Whereas. by reason of unjustifia.ble military expenditure and 
other extravagance, the Government has brought the national 
indebtedness to a limit beyond recovery; and whereas. the 
Government stit! pursues the same policy of extravagance 
under cover of the authority of the so-called representative 
assemblies constituted without the suffrage of a ma.jority or 
any substantial fraction of the voters and despite their decla­
red repudiation of the authority of such assemblies 10 rep­
resent the people: 

And whereas if the Government is permitted to continue 
this policy, it will become impossible for the people of India 
ever to carrYon their own affairs with due regard to the 
honour and happiness of the people and it has therefore 
become necessary to stop the career of irresponsibility: 

This Congress hereby repudiates the authority of the legisla­
tures that have been or may be formed by the Government 
in spite of the national boycott of the said institutions in future 
to raise any loans or to incur any liabilities on behalf of the 
nation, and notifies to the world that on the attainment of 
Swarajya the people of India though holding themselves 
liable for all debts and liabilities rightly or wrongly incurred 
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hitherto by the Government will not hold themselves bound 
to repay any loans or discharge any liabilities incurred on and 
after this date on the authority or sanction of the so-called 
legi~Jalures brought into existence in spite of the national 
boycott. 

This was by far the most radical and defiant statemcnt of 
policy the Congress had ever made, challenging the legitimacy 
of the Raj and aU its. instrumentalities and proclaiming to the 
world at large that the Indian people repudiated in advancc any 
commitments and liabilities assumed on their behalf by the 
Government in London or Delhi even if they had behind them the 
sanction of the legislatures conjured up under the Montagu­
Chelmsford ··Reforms". However. the question might well have 
been asked by neutral and even friendly observers that while it 
was. easy to make defiant statements, what really mattered was 
the clout which the Congress could invoke in order to be taken 
seriollsly by the imperiali::;t power and the world, It was all 
very wcll for it to rcaffirm in the next resolution its "opinion 
that civil disobedience is the only civilized and effective substitute 
for an armed rebellion when every other remedy for preventing 
the arbitrary. tyrannical and emasculating use of authority has 
been tried" and go on in two other resolutions-number ten and 
eleven-to rciterate that the boycott of Government and Govern­
ment-aided and affiliated educational institutions as well as law 
courts by lawyers and Iitigmlts must be maintained. But the 
authorities were not likely to be impressed by such reaffirmutions 
-and reiterations. especially as the Civil Disobedience Inquiry 
Committee had already announced that the country was not 
ready for rnass civil disobedience and the All-India Congress 
Committee had endorsed that lindillg and Congress was divided 
on the- question of the boycott of Councils. 

Significantly, the operative part of the resolution on civil 
di"obedience-number eight-was worded more subtly and 
even more positively. There was no gratuitous admission about 
the country not being "prepared at present to embark upon 
general mass civil disobedience" which was almost tantamount 
to confeS',ion of defeat and invitation to the Government to do 
what it wanted without fear of any resistance from the principal 
political organisation of the Indian people. Instcad what it 
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'~tJe"sed was tile ne'cd. for gettmg rcady for the trial of strength 
through civil disobedience at the earliest: 

... in view of the wide-spread awakening or the people ((I a 
sense or the urgent need for Swarajya and the general demand 
and necessilY for civil disobedience in order that the naliolUl\ 
goal may be speedily attained. and in view of the fact that the 
necessary atmosphere of non-violence has been preserved 
in spite of all provocation: 

This Congress calls. upon all C ongres;; workers to complete 
the preparations for offering civil disobedience by strengthen­
ing and expanding the National Organisation and to take 
immediate steps for the collection of at least Rs. 25 lakbs 
for the Tilak Swarajya Fund and the enrolment of alleast 
50,000 voJunteer~ satisfying the conditions of the Ahmedabad 
pledge by a date to be fixed by the All India Congress Com­
mittee at Gaya; and empowers the Committee to issue 
necessary instructions for carrying this resolution into practi­
cal effect. 

A Footnote to the resolution once again said that the powers 
orthe Provincial Committees under the resolution of the A.I.C.C. 
passed at Calcutta on November 20. 1922, shaH not be affected 
by this resolution. But this note merely showed that the Con­
gress leadership in those days was very mindful of the susceptib­
ilities of the P.C.Cs. It did not imply any qualification of the 
seemingly positive thrust of the resolution. Rather, and unlike 
the A.l.C.C. and the Working Committee pronouncements. at 
Calcutta in November, the resolution adopted by the Congress 
at Gaya sounded as if it were a prelude to an imminent offensive 
rather than rationalisation of a retreat conceived in a defeatist 
mood, 

To all appearance, therefore, at Gaya the fundamentalists in 
the Congress had prevailed over the "revisionists", in spite of 
the wealth of debating talent which the latter commanded. 
Above aU this signified that the line of policy which the President 
had outlined in his address had been rejected by the Congres,S. 
This placed him in a very invidious position and whether or not 
he had carried in his pocket two documents-one his presidential 
uddress and the other his letter of resignation-the-categorical 
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rejection of Council entry by the plenary Session of the Congress 
left him no option but to tender his resignation from the pre~iden~ 
cy. And this he did as soon as the Congress session was over. 

At any rate, it was in the hands of the A.I.C.C. which met 
in Gaya on January \, 1923. It had a number of routine but 
necessary items to deal with, induding the election of the new 
Working Committee in which, under the circumstances, there 
was a preponderance of No-changers as the names in the list 
indicate. These were: Maulana Abut Kalam Azad, Dr. M. A. 
Ansari, Mrs. Sarojini Naidu, G.B. Deshpande, T. Prakasam. 
C. Rajagopalnchari, Dunichand. Braj Kishore Prasad. Teja 
Singh Samllndri. MauJana Abu! KaJam Azad was still in jail on 
the New Year Day, but it must have been known that he was due 
to be released three days later-on january 4, 1923. 

The A.Lee was in considerable difiiculty. The Gaya 
Congress, far from clarifying the situation, had tended to confuse 
still further an already confused situation. Consequently, on 
many of the resolutions before it-nine in all-it adopted a 
waiting posture, either referring the matters to the Working 
Committee or to its own next meeting the date and place of 
which was to be fixed by the Secretaries. This included the ques­
tion of the President's resignation and the National Pact-a kind 
of redefined Congress~League concordat-which Dr. AnsarI­
had been requested to prepare and place before the Working 
Committee. 

The two resolutions which it passed without hedging its hets 
or waiting on events were, firstly, its endorsement of the Gaya 
Congress' caB for collection of funds and enrolment of 50,000 
volunteers to which it set a deadline-April 30, 1923-and. 
secondly, an earnest appeal for efforts to intensify the boycott 
of foreign cloth. It also authorised the Working Com~ 
mittee "to act under the Congress resolution regarding the 
Turkish situation without reference to the date fixed above 
[April 301 and to relax any of the Delhi conditions for civil 
disobedience, in order to meet any grave emergency that may 
arise out of the Turkish situation." This was obviously a gesture 
towards Muslim opinion in India and outside and in order to 
strengthen the position of the Turkish delegation at the Lausanne 
Conference. 
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However, the victory of the No-changers at Gaya was soon to 
prove pyrrhic-or as Dr. Sitaramayya has it "short-lived"'. As 
J1a~ often happened in the history of the Indian National Congress. 
the revisionists who wanted to enter the Councils "to mend orend 
them" did not accept the rejection of their tine of policy by the 
Guya Congres~ and abide by its decision-or even wait and work 
pHticl1lly for their essays in persuasion to succeed in bringing 
about a reversal of the decision on Council boycott at the next 
Congress session. They had evidently made up their mind to go 
otf at a tangent of their own preference, ignoring the collective 
decision of the Congress. They were determined to contest the 
elections in the autumn of 1923 and to storm and capture the 
bureaucratic citadel from within without cven the services.ofa 
Trojan Horse and relying only on the power of their rhetoric 
and debating skill. Even before the AlI·Jndia Congress Committee 
or the Congress Working Committee could con~ider C.R. Das' 
resignation-and both of them could only decide to postpone the 
decision on it till their next meeting-he announced the formation 
or a new party 10 be called the "Congress KhilaJat Swarnjya 
Party" and issued its manifesto (see Appendix VI). 

It was signed by 110 members of the Al.C.C. which was a 
substantial minority, but still a minority. The signatories includ.ed. 
apart from C.R. Oas and Motilal Nehru, Hakim Ajmal Khan, 
V.J. Patel (Sardar's brother), N.C. Kelkar, M.R. Jayakar and 
A, Rangaswami Iyengar. The Working Committee of the Con~ 
grcss was to authorbe C. Rajagopalachari and Rajendra 
Prasad who had been appointed the Working General Secretaries 
to draft a statement in reply to Das' statement. but it made no 
difference to the resolve of Das and the leading lights of the new 
Party. Thus, not for the first time, a section of the Congress 
leadership had broken ranks. Indeed, the example of indiscipline 
was being set, not by the fank and file, but men at the top and 
this was in time to develop into a reflex which has continued to 
dog the Congress to this day. 

It is true, of course, the new Party had retained both the 
name of the Congress and Khilarat movements in the label 
under which it proposed to conduct its businc%. It seemed parti~ 
cularly anxious to dispel tbe jmprc~sion thai it was a breakaway 
group hell bent on splitting the Indian National Congress, The 
detailed programme of the Party that it issued after its meeting at 
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AHahabad in February 1923. in the very first paragraph 
prodai med : 

Whereas this rarty within the Congress was formed and con­
stituted at Gaya on the 31st December 1922. and whereru; by 
its manife:>.to bearing the said date it accepted the creed of the 
Congress, viz" the attainment of Swaraj by ulilegitimate and 
peaceful means, and whereas by the said manifesto it further 
accepted the principle of Non-Vio!ent Non-Cooperation as 
guiding and shaping its activity, but with a determination to 
apply it rationally to prevent the said principle from degenerat­
ing into a lireless dogma. 

Now this Party declares that that policy of Non-Violent 
Non-Coopcration shall include on the onc hand all such 
activity which tends to create an atmosphere of resistance 
making Government by bureaucracy impossible with a view 
to enforce our national claim and vindicate our national 
honour, and. on the other hand, it shall include all steps 
necessary for the gradual withdrawal of that cooperation 
by the people of this country without which it is impossible 
for the bureaucracy to maintaill itself. 

This sounded eminemly reasonable. Bul Das and his coll­
eagues were aware that what the Congress rank and file wanted 
to know was their attitude to Civil Disobedience. After all thou­
sands of them were still in jails all over India fOT having obeyed 
the Congress call to offer it on an individual basis and had 
not cared LO defend themselves when hauled up before the courts, 
The manifesto and programme, therefore, went 011 to say: 

And whereas it is further necessary to define the attitude 
of this Party to the question of Civil Disobedience. 

Now this party makes the following declaration: Ulat at 
present Civil Disobedience is not a quc:>.tion of practical poli~ 
tics and that it canllot be artificially organized; that whilst 
fully accepting the same as a lcgitimate weapon which must 
be used and applied whcn the country is prepared and occasion 
demands, it recognises that such disobedience can only be 
based on lhe obligation to obey a higher law, and determines 
that the application of Civil Disobedience must depend on the 
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vivid realization of such duty by tbe people of the country 
and the attitude of the bureaucracy with regard LO such 
realization, and that, therefore, it is impossible to fix any time 
or date for starting it, but that in the course of the work of 
this Party, according to the programme which is hereinafter 
set out, whenever such occasions would arise, this party would 
conceive it to be its duty to resort to such Civil Disobedience 
as circumstances may then demand. 

This was a rarery from the closing Hncs orShelley~T Prometheus 
Unbound with which Das had concluded his Presidential Addres~. 
Even charitable critics could not help feeling that it was a smoke~ 
screen of pompous verbalism. full of weasel words and weasel 
phrases, meant. not just to conceal the retreat from civil djsobe~ 
dience-that retreat Gandhi himself had announced andjustjiled~ 
but almost a subtle way of justirying return to constitUlionalism 
and collaborationist politics. In the eleven~point programme tbat 
the manifesto went on to outline, the Party's intention to set up 
"Nationalist candidates throughout the country to contest and 
secure seats in the Legislative Councils and the Assembly at the 
forthcoming general elections on the rollowing basis" was spell 
out in unmistakable terms: 

(a) They will, when they are elected, present on behaJf of 
the country its legitimate demands as rormulated by 
the party as soon as elections are over and ask for their 
acceptance and the fulfilment within a reasonable time by 
Government. 

(b) If the demands are not granted to the satisfaction of the 
party, occasion wiH then arise for the elected members 
belonging to the party to adopt a policy of uniform 
continuous and consisif'llf obs/rI/('tion within the Co(tnclls 
with a view to make GOI'(!rnme1!1 through Councils jmpossi~ 

hie [emphasis as in the origina..l text]. But before adopting 
such a policy, representatives of the party in the Council~ 
will, if necessary, strengthen themselves by obtaining an 
express mandate of the electorates in thh behalf. 

(c) Detailed instructions in this behalf will be given by the 
party after the elections are over. 

(d) In no case will any member of the party ac.:ept office. 
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The remaining ten points covered such questions as election 
to the local and municipal bodies; organisation of agricultural and 
industdallabour; boycott of selected British goods; full support 
for the constructive programme all along the line: promotion of 
the Indian National Pact by means of which "aU reasonable 
communal claims may be guaranteed and disputes and differences 
may be settled;" initiating moves to ensure India's participation in 
the formation of ., Federatiofl of AsiaTic countries and nationalities 
{emphasis as in the original text];" organis,ltion of foreign 
propaganda for Indian affairs '·with special reference to the 
dissemination of accurate information and the securing of the 
sympathy nnd support of foreign countries in this country's 
struggle for Swaraj.'· 

The "1St point of the programme concerned "the scheme of 
Swaraj prepared by Sjt. Chittaranjan Das and Babu Bhagwan 
Da1;" which the new party wanted to ··be circulated" and on 
which it uinvited" opinions and even asked for the appointment 
of a Committee to collect opinions and eventually submit a 
"scheme of Swaraj after a futl consideration of such opinion" 
within six months to the Congress Khilafat Swarajya Party, 
The blueprint for Swaraj, which C.R. Dns and Bhagwan Das 
had drawn up, was one of those platonic exercises in building 
utopian constitutional models which for the next decade and a 
half were to become a popular pastime with Indian politicians 
of varying hues. The blueprint was laid before a meeting of the 
leading members of the new party at Bombay on January 29, 
1923, but could not be discussed because of paucity ofHme though 
it was claimed that members of all the major Provincial Congress 
Committees who were present at the gathering ex.pressed approval 
in general but that some reserved their judgement. It was agreed, 
however. that the Swarajist scheme ~hould be brought to the 
attention of the Indian people through the medium of the Press 
and suggestions and criticism invited. 

The scheme was based 011 the idyllic notion of a democratic 
structure built from the base upward~, starting with the village 
panchayat and going up through the town, the district and the 
provincial units to the All-India Panchnyat. Whether such a plan 
of governance would have worked in a world moving rapidly 
towards mass production and macro-systems must remain a 
matter for guessing. Nor is it really relevant to this chronicle 
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except insofar as it had any impact on the mainstream Congress 
opinion before it came to be superseded by other, if equally 
notional, schemes conjured up by the Congress and other political 
parties and no less by the constitutional experts of the Raj which 
held al1lhe levers of power. 

Over the next six months or mOTe the Congress leadership 
was to bepreoccupicd with the problem of resolving the differences 
between the two factions. The Congress Khilafal Swarajya p.trly 
met at Allahabad on February 20 six days before the meeting 
there of the Congress Working Committee which was to be 
followed by the meeting of the A.1!+Jndia Congress. Committee 
on February 27. It appointed a committee authori<>ing it to agree 
on the party's behalf to such terms of settlement as they might 
approve after discussing with the Working Committee. Apparently 
four sets of proposals for a compromise were in the tidd. two of 
them implying "suspension" of the resolution regarding the 
boycott of tile Council elections without reference to any fresh 
Congress session. Of the other two, one was Maulana Azad's 
proposals "a~ modified and added to by Das." The SecOltd 

envisaged. (1) Suspension of Council propaganda on both sides 
till the 30til of April; (2) Both parties to be at liberty to work in 
the remaining items of their respective programme in the interval 
without interfering with each other; (3) Each party to adopt such 
course after the 30th April as it may be advised; (4) No special 
Congress. 

The new party, however, made all the four sets of proposals 
subject to one condition, the condition being that there was nO 
dissolution of the existing Councils in any of the Provinces leading 
to anticipated elections whlch it thought might be sprung on the 
country to forestall its campaign to mobilize the electorate. The 
Working Committee amended the Azad·Das text in some impor· 
tant respects. It also formulated an alternative set of proposals. 
It was the laller that the Congress Khilafat Swarajya Party 
finally approved and they were placed before the A.LC.C. at 
Allahabad on February 27 under the presidentship of C.R. Das 
whose resignation had still not been accepted. The A.LCe. for 
its parl accepted the compromise. The only other business it 
transacted was to pass a resolution to record its "grateful thanks.,. 
for the services rendered by Maulana Abul Kalam Azad and 
Pt. JawaharlaJ Nehru in effecting the settlement." lawaharlal 
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Nehru had been released before the expiry of his full tenn of 
imprisonment together with other "politicals" from Lucknow 
District Jail, as he tells us, "on the last day of January 1923," 
apparently because for once the Provincial Government in the 
U.P. had heeded a resolution passed by the legislative Council 
"favouring a political amnesty." 

As he writes in his autobiography, hi.,. own "inclination W<l.~ 
wholly agailtst Council entry, because this seemed to lead inevi­
tably to compromising tactics and to a continuous. wate~ing 
down of our objective~." Neverthelesf> he wa...; anxious for the 
Congress unity to be preserved and was active with Maulana 
Azad in drafting the compromise formula. As finally approved 
by the Al.C.C. and the new party it read: 

I. Susperu.ion of Council propaganda on both sides till the 
30th April. 

2. Both parties to be at liberty to work the remaining items 
of their respective programme~ in the interval without 
interference with each other. 

3. The majority party will be at liberty to carryon their 
propaganda in accordance with the Gaya programme 
about money and volunteers. 

4. The minority party wilt co-operate with the majority 
party in uppealillg for and raising such funds and enlis­
ting such workers as may be necessary for the constructive 
programme and also in working the constructive pro­
gramme and other common matters. 

5. Each party to adopt such course after the 30th April as it 
may be advised. 

Thus the minority group favouring the Council entry seemed 
to be anxious, as The Indian Anflual Register 1923 noted: 

'. ,to give a free Held and a full chance to the majority who 
had proclaimed their intention to launch civil disobedience 
carly in May when their collection of funds and volunteers 
would be completed. If any civil disobedience worthy of the 
country was going to be launched, Mr Das said that he and 
Pt. Matila! [Nehru] would be the first to take part in it. 
Civil Disobedience, such as was carried out in December 
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1921, or even vaster than that, alone could be effective. If. 
however, civil di~obedlence on a large scale could not be 
carried out within the period the majority party had them­
~elve~ fixed, his party would then carry 00 its Councif.entry 
propaganda. It might not then be said of the Swarajya. Party 
that they hindered the carrying out of civil disobedience. 

No doubt the Swarajists, as they came later to be popularly 
known, were perfcctly sincere in making the offer to take part 
in any civil disobedience movement launched within the time limit 
which the Majority group had set. They were anxious to pi ave 
beyond all reiL<;onable doubt that they wcrc as good Congressmen 
as the fundamentalists. Nevertheless, shrewd men of the world 
as mo!>t ofthem were, they must have known that they were taking 
on a sure bet. There was litHe prospect of any general civil dis~ 
obedience movement being launched by the deadline that had 
been set or even much later that year. For one thing. with Gandhi 
still in jail in Yeravda-the amnesty for political prisoners. 
applied only to the United Provinces-there was nobody to lead 
it. For another, the communal tensions had been mouotingever 
since the withdrawal of the No-tax campaign at Bardoli the 
previous spring and the riots in Multan in the summer of 1922 
had been followed by general deterioration of the relations 
between lhe two major communities which led to Hindu-Muslim 
Tiots in Amritsar on April 1 I-just two days before the anniversary 
or the JaUianwula Bagh massacre where Hindus and Muslims 
together had fallen to General Dyer's bullets. 

The Congress Working Committee met at Poona on April 
17. It does n01 seem to have been well allended,judging from the 
reference in the second resolution it passed, to a telegram '"from 
Messrs. Das. Nehru [presumably the elder]. Ajmal Khan, and 
Azad and Mrs. Naidu suggesting a meeting of the Working 
Committee at Allahabad on the 20th or 21st of April to consider 
the Punjab situation and possibilities of united action in future 
Congress work:' The suggestion by the absentees was turned 
down. The resolution went on to say: 

The Committee, in view of the importance of pulling forth 
all effort to fulfil the Gaya Congress programme within the 
time fixed and in view further of the fact that any meeting 
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of the Working Committee before the 30th of April [the 
deadline set for completing the Gaya programme] will dis­
locate all work in the country in that direction by withdrawing 
members. from their respective provinces, authorises Mr. C. 
RajagopaJachariar to proceed to the Punjab and. in consulta­
tion with other members of the Working Committee and 
1eaders present there, to take such steps as may be considered 
necessary in view of the situation .... 

But the resolution insisted that any steps taken shouldnot be 
~'inconsistent with any resolution of the Congress, and if any 
further consultation with the Working Committee be necessary, 
to consult it by circulation or to call a special ml..'Cting of the 
Working Committee, if unavoidable." 

The Majority evidently had hardened its position. This is 
underlined by the lirst resolution which turned down another 
proposal made by no less a person than CR. Das which C. 
Rajagopalachari and Rajendra Prasad had brought with them 
after their conversations at lahore with the President of the 
Congress. The proposal related to creating separate departments 
for the work of the Congress in the field of National Education, 
election to Local Bodies and Councils, promotil)n of Khaddar, 
Foreign Propaganda, Civil Disobedience. labour, Removal of 
Untouchability and the like; raising of a fund of Rs. 5 ttl 6 crores 
to finance the various departments so created: and thus a 
common platform should be created for all. The No-changers 
probably suspected that this was the thin end of the wedge~and 
not so thin either~and calculated to lead to the bureaucratisation 
of the Congress in the long run. The Committee, therefore. 
resolved unanimously that it could nol "recommend this proposal 
to the All-India Congrcs); Committee. as it i); impracticable. and 
in regard to the abandonment of the boycott \If the Councils, 
contrary 10 the decisions of the Congress." 

A climate of mistrust was dearly gathering within (he Cong· 
ress, souring tempers and straining relations between old COOl­

rades, and eventually generating an ambient sense of disorienta­
tion and discomposure throughout the movement. Jawnharlal 
Nehru describes it well in his autobiography when he tells us of 
how, when he and his fellow-prisoners were released from 
Lucknow Jail, they had "felt exhilarated, but thi!t was a passing 
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sensation. for the st.\tc of Congress politics \vas discouraging 
enough. In the place of ideals there were intrigues, and various 
diques wcre trying to capture the Congress machinery by the 
llSUal methods which have made politics a hateful word to those 
who aTC at all sensitive," 

The responsibility, as usual, for this degeneration of atmo!;;~ 
phere within the Congress was equally sh:trcd by the two faclions. 
Certainly, immediately after the Gaya Congress session CR. 
Das and Molilal Nehru had not waited to convert the majority to 
lheir line of politics which inVl)]ved capture of the representative 
institutions. however limited their effectiveness. Instead they had 
announced the formation of a party within the party-tlte Con­
gress Khilafat Swarajya Party and thus set a bad examp\e. But in 
accepting the compromise formula which A7.ad and the younger 
Nehru had worked out they had in some measure expiated their 
sin of indiscipline. And it was now the turn of No~changers or 
fundamentalists to exacerbate the situation and general confusion 
by their intransigence. 

This intransigence was partly due to a basic weakness in 
their position. They had the majority stil! with them, but it was 
a wasting asset in the absence of any programme of political action 
in the foreseeablc futurc. The construclive programme was all 
right as far as it went. As lawaharlal Nehru says: ··The no­
changers l<lid stress on a ·constructive programme: \vhich in 
effect was a programme of social rcform. and its chief merit was 
that it brought our workers in touch with the masses. This WM 
not likely to satisfy those who believed in political action .....• 
Even as a preparation for evcntual political action it had not been 
t..'Onspicuously effective. Their appeals for men and money for the 
cause had at best produced mediocre response in the six weeks 
since the Allahabad meeting of the A.LC.e. a.nd the remaining 
fortnight before the deadline was to expire was unlikely to work 
the miracle. Politics by deadlines, which Gandhi had introduced 
into the Congress methodology of struggle, had its advaOlages. 
It created a climate of urgency and stimulated public resp1;mse. 
But serious politics concerned with ends that matter, more often 
than not, involves the long rather than the short haul. This 
rules out deadlines. Particulnrly, this applied to the politics. of 
anti·imperialism during the years between (he wa.rs and especially 
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in India. where British imperialism still had considerable room for 
manoeuvre and not inconsiderable musculature. 

Their annoyance with the revisionists increased in direct ratio 
to their apparent in:Lbility to mobilize sullicient popular backing 
ror their policy of confronting the Government. It is true that 
there was a strong undercurrent of discontent with and resentment 
ag(linst it and the slightest incident or provocation on ils part 
tended to bring it to surface. This was demonstrated at Jabal pur 
only f(lur days before the Working Committee met at Poana 
and which was to be the subject matter of tViD of its resolulions. 
A number of young Congressmen had lilaged a rather original 
demonstration on i3 April I 923-the anniversary 0fthe Jallian~ 
wala Bagh MassaCre-at Jabalpur. They had climbed up the 
municipal building and hoisted the National Flag. The autlHl!"i­
ties were furious and the police hauled down the flag and allegedly 
trampled upon it. The Deputy Commissioner-a Britisher 
(though an Indian would have acted in the same way}-who was 
(!x~oJlid() chairman of the Municipality blew ,,'cry hot which led 
to the resignation of the non-official members in a body. The 
JabaJpur Congress Committee launched a satyagraha on the 
issue. The agitation soon spread to Nagpur, the provincial 
capital, and the Provincial Congress Committee took on the 
responsibility for the struggle. It opened a satyagraha camp. 
collected funds, and enrolled volunteers who. like their com­
rades in Jabalpur, courted arrest, beatings, humiliations, in facl. 
as The Indian Anllual Register whose Editor was not panicuh\rly 
sympathetic to the Congress. and least of all (0 the No-changers, 
put iI, "all sufferring unto death to vjndicate the honour of the 
Nalional Flag." 

At the time of the Poona meeting of the Working Committee 
which did not fail to commend the Flag Satyagraha, the agitation 
was still in its very early stage and had not gathered the momen­
tuOl that it was to during the next two months and when the 
AJ.C.C. nol only blessed it. but declared that the Gandhi Day, 
observed on the 18th of each month, should also be observed as 
the Flag Day. calling upon all Provincial Congress Committees 
to organise flag processions on the day, The agitation was to 
end in a partial victory for the Congress Satyagraha, The Gov­
ernment, it seemed. did nol want to gel involved in a trial of 
strength on an emotive issue with the Congress-and that, too, 
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within a few months of the second elections to the "Reformed" 
Councils. It could afford a partial tactical retreat on the Flag 
question in the interest of its larger strategic objective which was. 
twofold~the fostering of a process of fission inside the Congresl> 
and then ensuring an electoral discomfiture of the new party 
which seemed perfectly feasible considering the built-in handicaps 
of the electoral system and franchise. 

The Fundamentalists almost certainly felt encouraged by the 
response to the Flag Salyagraha. But many of them wcrecxperien­
ced politicians and they must have known that Satyagraha on a 
single issue was no substitute for the kind of civil disobedience 
which had been envisaged in the resolution of the Gaya Congress 
as '·the only civilized and eff«:tive substitute for an armed 
rebellion." They were also aware that once the idea of contesting 
elections and entering the Councils had been pUl in circulation 
even if by a minority in the Congress, it could not but set up 
ripples of ambivalence, especially among the Congress intelli· 
gemia. Thai, indeed, was onc of their grounds of complaint 
against the advocates of Council entry. 

And it was a legitimate complaint. When lhe deadline was 
reached and stililhere was· no early prospect of the Gaya resolu· 
tion being implemented, there was. a distinct drift away of opinion 
in favour of the Swarajists who knew that they had the wind in 
their sails. The General Secretary of the Party, Motllal Nehru, 
lost no time in issuing a circular to all members of the AIl·lndia 
Congress Committee and the Provincial Congress Committees 
on May I s1. It was very plausibly. even subtly phrased. In the vcry 
first paragraph. for instance, while referring to "the intensive 
propaganda" which "the No·Clmnge Party" had carried out 
~'to complete their preparations for Civil Disobedience aC1;:ording 
to their own conception." he said that he hoped they would 
believe him that he was "sincerely sorry that they" had "O(1t met 
with the success they deserved." But this was largely a ploy to 
make out a case for the al!ernative strategy which the Congress 
Khijafat Swanyya Party bad put before the Congress. If (lnly, 
11e argued, the energy and endeavour to prepare for civil disobed~ 
ience had been diverted to the capturing of Councils. most of the 
Councils in the country "would tooday have been at the feet of 
the Congress to be dealt with, as the Congress pleased." 
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This was pitching the claim rather high. But he could invoke 
"the result of the recent Municipal elections in the U.P. achieved 
by a minimum of joint effort" to underscore his argument. He 
had evidently little hope of any compromise being reached with 
the No~change raction. In fact, he thought it to be a time-wasting. 
devjee and pointed out that the efforts made at Delhi in informal 
talks recently to arrive at an understanding and the basis for it 
announced in the Press had served no purpose since C Raja­
gopalacbari had wired to Dns from Ahmedabad that it "was 
unacceptable to Mr. Vallabhbhai Patel and Seth lamnalal Baj.lj:' 
This was true and there was wme force in his argument thal 
wasting time in search of a compromise was really playing into 
the hands of "the moderates and hangers~on of the Bureaucracy" 
who were "puning fonh strenuou.~ efforts to give the country 
another three years of Government by mock parliaments:' 

However, there was a strong, almost irreducible element of 
disingenuousness at the root of the arguments marshalled in 
Mottlal Nehru's "circular" which could not be wholly cloaked by 
the debating points he managed to score against the No~changers. 
The new party wanted to be all things to all Congressmen, Right. 
Left and Centre. It also wanted to be in the Congress-for the 
label had considerable electoral mileage-and yet not abide by 
the majority Congress decision. This was very much Ilke having 
its cake and eating it, too. Nor eQuid it really explain how the 
mere fact of its candidates winning and entering the Councils 
would transform them from being "mot'k parliaments" into 
real oncs. After aU. even the existing elected membership of the 
Central Assembly and the Legislative Councils in the Provinces 
had been able to inflict crucial defeats on the bureaucracy without 
seriously inconveniencing it because the Viceroy and the Gover~ 
nors could c<lsily by~pass voting in the Council Chamber by the 
virtually unlimited power of certification vested in them. The 
circular also betrayed a certain wilfulness, if not truculence. in 
announcing thal neither he nor Hakim Ajrnal Khan intended 
attending the meeting of the A.T.C.C called at Bombay on 
May 25. 

The No-changers had been no less prompt than the Revisioni~ 
in issuing their manifesto. But. unfortunately, il rather spoilt a 
good case by its dogmatism and even self·righteousness. H was 
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drafted by C. RajagopaJachari who as.sumed that he was preach­
ing only 10 the converted. He not only made out that there was 
nothing more to discuss at the meeting of the AJ.C.C. than to 
decide upon civil disobedience, but also that "without a pro­
gramme of suffering" the "apathy and dissensions" which were 
plaguing public Ilfe could not be overcome. This line of reasoning 
was considered counter-productive by some of the No-changers 
especiully from Bombay, and there was even talk of removing 
him from the party leadership. These cross-currents within the 
majority faction led to some accession of strength to the Swara· 
jim. 

This became clear as soon as the A.I.Cc. met in Bombay on 
May 25. The meeting was well.attended, and although MOliial 
Nehru and Hakim Ajmal Khan were conspicuous by their 
absence, CR. Das was very much there and presided over its 
deliberations which lasted unlil May 28. In his opening speech \ 
J1C showed himself to be far less truculent than Matilnl Nehru in 
his circular. He said that he and his party had come to the 
A.1.C.C with a genuine desire 10 reach a compromise and adjust 
<lifferenccs in an honourable way, and without either group having 
to abandon their essential positions. Ir such a satisfactory com· 
promise could be arrived at he would withdraw his resignation. 
But he opposed the suggestion which the Working Committee. 
starting its work two days before the A.I.C.e. meeting, had 
made. This was for the A.LCe. to authorise it to convene "a 
-special session of the Indian National Congress to consider the 
present political :;ituation provided that Deshbandhu Da<J :lnd 
his party agree to abide by the decision arrived at therein. , _ ... 

The reason he gave for his rejection of the propo~al to hold 
a Special Congress Session sounded eminently sensible. As the 
elections were very close. to ask them to wait for the Special 
Congress before launching their election campaign wastantamount 
to asking them "to withdraw their special electioneering pro­
gramme." But. of course, the unstated reason for his rejection 
was that he and his friends were not sure of getting a majority 
for their policy in the plenary Congress session and he, therefore, 
refu~ed to give an undertaking that his party would abide by the 
decision of the Special Congress that might be convened. It was a 
measure of the shift in the opinion among the Congress leadership 
since the A.I.C.e. meeting at Allahabad that Das had his way 
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and the Working Committee resolution proposing a Special 
Congress Session was withdrawn. 

In fact, more. The first resolution passed by the A.I.Ce. 
registered a distinct. even if only by implication, a succc!>s for the 
new Party headed by Oas and Motilal Nehru. Jt was partly an 
appeal for unity among Congressmen and women, but it was also 
virtually a call to the Congress workers not to do anything to 
queer the pitch for the election campaign of those who favoured 
Council~enlry and indirectly calculated to put the Gaya resolution 
in cold storage for the time being. At least the fundamentalists 
were quick to interpret it as such. It said; 

In view of the fact that there is a strong body of opinion 
within the Congress in favour of contesting elections to 
official councils .\Od that (he existing division amongst cong~ 
ressmen has already led to a lessening or the influence of 
the Congress. this committee deems it absolutely necessary 
that Congressmen should close up their ranks and present a 
united front, and it therefore directs that no propaganda 
be carried on amongst voters in furtherance of resolution of 
the Gayu Congress relating to the boycott of councils. 

The resolution in question, it may be recalled, called upon all 
Voters to abstain both from contesting the elections and voting. 
Little wonder that {he No~changers were incensed at what they 
regarded, with some justice. as a volte~face- by the A.LCe. 
Apparently there was an adjournment and when the Committee 
re~assembled the next day CR. Oas from the chair read out a 
letter addressed to him by the No-change members of the Workin!! 
Committee of the Congress. "In view of the deeislon of the AU 
India Congress Committee adopting a resolution or vital impor­
tance on which we hold aconlrary opinion and which runs CO linter 
to the resolution of the Congress," they wrote. "we consider it 
our duty to resign our seats on the Working Cl')mmittee and such 
offices as we hold therein which we humblv do." The collective 
letter of resignation was signed by C. Rajagopulachari, Vallabh~ 
bhai Patel (Secretary), Rajendra Prasad (Secretary), Braj Kishore 
Prasad, O.B. Dcshpande, Jamnalal Bajaj (Treasurer). 

The A.LCe was now in a fine mess, It already had with it 
the letter of resignation of the President on which it had deferred 



464 INDIAN NATIONAL CONGRESS 

a decision. It (lOW had a collective teller of re:,;ignation by the two 
General Secretaries, the Treasurer and Olher leading members of 
the Working Committee. C.R. Das asked the signatories of the 
letter of resignation to reconsider their decision and Jawaharlal 
Nehru who, logether with Azad. had earlier been active in work­
ing out a basis of truce between the two factions, moved a 
resolution saying that the Committee "docs not accept" the 
resignations that had been alTered and "expresses its confidence" 
in the signatories of the Jetter and "requests them to reconsider 
their resignation," lawaharlal Nehru's resolution was duly 
carried and the Committee once again adjourned to allow efforts 
at private persuasion La heal the fracture. But in vain. For not 
only did the ~ignatories of the original letter of resignations could 
not be persuaded to withdraw their resignations, but the third 
General Secretary, Moazzam Ali, who had been absent the day 
before. also tendered his resignation. 

The Committee, therefore. had no other option but to accept 
all the resignations. including that of the President, CR. Das., 
and elect a new Working Committee and its chairm.m to fill the 
breach and shore something up against the ruins of the Congress 
policy decided at Gaya. The new President was to be Dr. Ansari. 
The three General Secretarie~ were T. Prakasam. Dr. Syed 
Mahmud. and Jawaharlal Nehru who was to be the Working 
General Secretary, Other members of the Working Committee as 
reconstituted at Bombay were: Sarojini Naidu, Teja Singh 
Samundari. Maulana Abu! Ka!am Azad, Purushottamdas 
Tandon, Virumal Begraj, K. Santanam, Velji L. Nappoo, Umar 
Sobhani. Anugrah Narayan Singh Vardarajalu Naidu and 

t Khwaja Abdul Majid Saheb.lt seems no treasurer was appointed 
to replace lamnalal Bajaj, prc!>umably because no suitable person 
was available. 

The Committee then transacted the rest of the business on 
the agenda as best as it could under the circumstances. Apart from 
congratulating ··the volunteers of the Central Provinces on their 
Satyagraha in defence of the National Flag at Nagpur" and 
calling upon "all volunteers throughout Tndia to be ready to 
join in the struggle when required." the Committee resolved 
to refer the National Pact to tile Working Committee "for C()m~ 
pieting the draft and circulating the same when completed among 
members of the A.LC,C." The Working Committee was also 
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entrusted the tusk of going into the question of the conditions of 
the untouchables and taking the necessary action. 

There was no meeting either of the Working Committee or 
the A.LCe. till the first week of July . .Both Commiltees mel at 
Nagpur-the Working Committee beginning its discussion a day 
ahead ofthe meeting oCthcA.lCC. on July~. Evidentlyconfusion 
and indiscipline in the Congress bad grown in lhe intervening 
weeks because of lhe divisions at the top. jUdging from ,I re"olu~ 
tion tilat the Working Committee passed at Nagpur. This dep­
lored ··the attitude of some Provincial Congress Committees in 
defying the authority of the All India Congress Committee by 
passing resolutions expressing their intention to disobey the 
Bombay resolution of the All India [Congress] COllllJ1inee." It 
described ··this attitude" as "not only subversive of all discipline 
but ... calculated to break up the Congre~s organisation and, if 
persisted in, will compel the Committee to take di~ciplinurr 
action." 

In the encircling gloom the only ray of hope was the. Flag 
Satyagraha which was being well sustained in Nagpur ano i1S 
environs. The Working Committee and the A.LC.C. clutched at 
it and both Committees passed resolutions recording their deep 
appreciation of "the steadfast and determined resistance" of 
the brave satyagrahis. They did more. The Working COlllllliltee­
recommended and the AJ.C.C. endorsed a cal! to aU the Provill­
cial Committees of the Congress to observe the next Gandhi 
Day-that is. July 18th~as the Flag Day and instructed them tt ..... 

organise Flag processions and public displays of the flag by the 
people. 

The Provincial administration in the United Provinces may 
have heeded the Council's resolution on amnesty for political 
prisoners. But the Punjab administration which carried on with 
the tradition of repression even if in a somewhat diluted form 
under O'Dwyer's successor, Edward Madagen; and muny 
Congress leaders, including Lajpat Rai, were still in jail. Lajpat 
~ai, in particular, was keeping very bad health~with a con~ 
tmuous low fever and incipient dyspepsia which the prison diet 
(some time curlier the well known Indian journalis.t. St. Nihal 
Singh, who had accompanied the pre;o;smen who came with the 
Prince of Wales, had seen Lalaji in jail and taken a piece of the 
bread given to prisoners to show Montagu) did not improve 
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his condition. His condition became sufficiently serious to cause 
anxiety to prison doctors who did not want an eminent political 
leader to die in jail. As a result he was removed from Lahore to 
Dharamsala in the Kangra valley. But that had not assuaged 
public anxiety about the health of the "Lion of Punjab" and both 
the Working Committee and the A.I.e.c. passed resolutions 
expressing their deep concern at his illness and associated them· 
selves wih the people of the Punjab in observing July 9 as the 
Lajpat Rai Day (who, incidentally was released five weeks later. 
on August 16. 1923). 

However, the essential focus of attention at Nagpur was 
on the question of holding a Special Session of the Congre.<;s to 
consider once agt~in the issue of boycott of the Councils. It was 
(0 discuss this controvetsial issue which had sharply divided the 
Congress into fiercely opposing self-righteous camps that the 
A.LeC. meeting had been "requisitioned." This was at the very 
outset to lead to a procedural wrangle and imparl a certain heat 
even during debate on what one would have thought would be 
regarded by both sides as non-controvetsial matters, like the 
Flag Satyagraha which was going on. As indeed it did when a. 
number of amendments were moved to the resolution on the 
subject. 

At one point lawaharlal Nehru charged the members of 
"light-heartcdness" in treating the question which could only 
hamper the campaign. It was, apparently, in the course of this 
debate that Das accused the younger Nehru of being "cold­
blooded" (as JawahaI'lal records in his autobiography) though, 
it seems, somewhat obliquely while explaining his. position on the 
Flag Satyagraha which, he said, did not appeal to lum precisely 
because it was a "cold-blooded movement." This wa" a somewhat 
strange charge, but in the mood in which he was he believed that 
the Flag Satyagraha had been engineered to undermine the 
new party's electoral campaign and he and his group were to 
abstain from voting on the flag resolution. 

Predictably, therefore, when T. Prakasant moved a resolution 
proposing the holdiJlg of a Special Scs"ion of the Congres~ to 
comider the question of Council boycott, Subha.<; Chandra BO$(! 
rahed a point of order on the ground that "no notice had been 
giycn of the motion." The point of order was overruled. Tho 
debate that followed generated morc heat than light. There were 



REHEARSALS OF DISCOMPOSURE 467 

mutual recriminations and charges of bad faith and going back 
on the earlier compromise solution. But, as hwaharlal Nehru 
was to argue, it was possible that even a Special Congress might 
not settle the question once for ali, but "at least most part of the 
country" would have an opportunity todecide it, All members 
of the Working Commiltee, he said, had aU along favoured a 
Special Session as the only solution of t11e difficulties, "Are you 
going to keep the Congress intact or let it go to pieces" he asked. 
Jf he had been a member of the Swarajya Party he would have 
tried to capture the Congress and work turough it. 

But this wa.'> a counsel of perfection and the new party was 
jn something of a hurry and was seeking a short cut. This was 
dear from the strong and vehement term~ in which C.R. Das 
opposed the resolution. He wanted to settle the dispute thel'e 
and then. he said, like "businessmen. at this very minute and 
afterwards, if necessary. caU a Special Session to give effect to 
it." If he disobeyed the Congress resolution, it was because 
everything within him caJled him to disobey. At the same time 
he was pl'cpared to give up sometiting if they (meaning the 
No-changer,,) were willing lo give up something to arrive at an 
agreement. "If they," he asked. "had not the coutage to make 
that sacrifice, to give up something to achieve unity. how could 
they call a Special Congl'css?" 

There was something in his argument and it might have carried 
some weight if the atmosphere within the Congl'css had not 
become so embittered as to turn the whole debate into a dialogue 
of the deaf. The resolution was put to vote and cal'l'ied by 76 votes 
to 66. But M,V. Abhyankal' called for a division and the result 
was 80 yotes for and 67 against the resolution whlch empowered 
the Working Committee to take alt necessary action 10 convene a 
Special Session of the Congress at Bombay about the middle 
of August. But it was to be a new Working Committee. For the 
next day-July 10-1he Working Committee elected aL the 
Bombay meeting of the A.I.e.C. resigned in a body. 

This new drama-though contretemps would be a more 
accurate descriplion~hau resulted from alwthcr I'esolution which 
the WOl'king Committee had passed and which it had recommen~ 
ded to the A.I.e.C. This took certain ProYincial Congress 
Committees to task for ignoring the resolution passed by the 
A.I.C.C. at its session in Bombtty at the end of May and even 
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hinted that, if they persisted in such acts of indiscipline, disdpli~ 
nary action might be taken against them. The Working Committee 
resolution was moved on July 10 in the A.I.C.e. by lawaharlnl 
Nehru who stressed the need for discipline. He said that the 
resolution was not a "slur" on anybody and should not be 
construed as a vote of censure. "'But," he added, "constitution 
is cOllstitution and it must be res peeled," Unfortunately, however, 
the mood in which the various Congress factions were at Nagpur 
in July it was easy for them to get at cross-purposes. The Working 
Conunittee resolution was narrowly defeated~by 65 votes 
against and 63 for-after a heated and confused debate. 

This in tum made the position of the old Working Commiuee 
very invidious and they decided to resign elf masse. The res.ig:na~ 

tion letter was handed in by the President, Dr. Ansari, as soon 
as the A.I.C.C. reassembled the next day, July II. It was signed 
by aU the members of the Working Committee except four who 
were abscnC Dr. Ansari explained to the Committee [hat although 
the resolution had been defeated by a very narrow vote they 
could not "con:;istently with their position continue to be the 
executive ofa body which was unable to prolect its own honour." 
An attempt was made by V.J. Patel, after Dr, Ansari had brt the 
meeting and C.R. Das was. elected President to carryon tbe 
unfinished business of the A.l.C.C., to move a rather ambiguou· 
sly phrased re~olution which he said might make it pos5ible for 
the Working Committee to reconsider their re!'.ignations. The 
resolution was carried with but one dissenting vote. But C. 
Rajagopalachari and his supporters had abstained from voting 
and, in any ca~, Dr. At1..<;ari and his colleagues Wer~ adamant 
in their refusallo reconsider their resignation". If anything. V.J. 
Patel's attempt made lhe mes~y situation even more messy. 

Nor did the passing of the resolution calling a Special Con~ 
gre% at Bombay in the middle of August settle anything, The 
Bombay Congress Committee. for a variety or rather involved re­
a~ons, was not very keen to Imve thchonourofhoslingthis particu­
lar Special Congress. This became abundantly dear at the A.I.C.C. 
meeting held at Vizagapatam on August 3, with K. Venkatappayya. 
who headed the Working Committee elected at Nugpur to replace 
Dr. Ansari and his colleagues, presiding. That A.LCe. session 
itself was to become lL matte,' of rather acrimonious controvcrliY. 
!thad been "requisitioned" immediately after the Nagpur meeting 
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by C.s. Ranga lyer and 30 other member;,; of the A.l.eC from 
Madras, Bihar. Bengal. the V.P., and the Punjab. The requisi­
tioni::;ts, we learn from The indilln AnI/rial Register for J923, 
wanted the meeting to be held at Bombay or Calcutta. But 
the President. Kanda Venkatappa:yya, preferred the VCltue to be 
in. h.is own Province. This angered the requisioni:';ts who refused 
to attend. In fact, only 45 members, most of them from the South 
and Andhra, turned up: a majority of them were C. Rajagopaln­
chari's followers. 

To make an already confused situation even more confused. 
the day before the session the requisilionists withdrew their 
requisition. But the meeting was held nonetheless. It had only 
one resolution before it which it passed. The resolution merely 
said that "the Special Ses.<.ion ... decided on at Nagpur" ~hould 
"be held as carly as possible in September in Bombay. If there 
be any difficulty with regard to the venue the President is autho­
rised to arrange for the special session being held in any other 
place." The last sentence or the resolution was an oblique admis­
sion that Bombay might not be available as a venue. Sarojini 
Naidu. President of the Bombay Congress Committee at the time. 
both before and at lhe Vizagapatam meeting of the A.I.C.C., had 
told them that the Bombay Committee was not keen on serving 
as the host and she had remained lirm on this point. But :-ohe also 
told lhem that since Delhi Provincial Committee had issued a 
cordial invitation on condition that Bombay Committee glanted 
belhi a loan of R~. 25,000, Bombay was prepared to help Delhi 
out if the Working Committee of the Congress so recommended. 
So Venkat.appayya had no alternative but to accept Delhi'~ invi­
tation and fix September 15 as the date for the Special Session. 

It is well at this point to consider briefly what was happening 
on the other side of the hill, so to speak, and in the country 
generally while the Congress was caught up in the toih of its 
internal differences and quarrels of the chapels over the question 
of Council entry. The Government was fairly weI! informed on 
~he state oftlle battle raging inside the Congrc~s aJ1d had a shrewd 
tdea that, with Gandhi in jail, Ihe No-changer;; could not possibly 
muster enough moral strength to prevent those who wanted to 
get into the parliamentary fraycven if to ob;;truct the machinery 
of the "Reformed" Councils from within the Council Chamber. 
The bureaucratic establishment and the India Office in LOlldon 
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saw this prospect as both a triumph of their policy and a danger 
to their design: triumph insofar as it had succeeded in dividing 
the forces of the Congress which they had long since 
come to recognise as the main challenger to the authority of the 
Raj, and danger because they could not ignore the fact that influx 
of Congressmen into the legishttures, however toothless they 
were, could and in all probability would transform them into a 
serious source of embarrassment and Ilulsance to the administra· 
tion. And this because they could guess that under the powerful 
leadership of mcn like MoLilal Nehru and CR. Das the Congrells 
was likely to emerge as the largest party in many of the Province$. 
and that its gains would be, given the elecforal system, at the 
expense of the Liberals and the Moderates who, even if they had 
not been altogether pliable tools, had served as a convenient 
decorative fig-leaf for the bureaucratic despotism which the 
system of dyafchy brought in under the Montagu-Chelmsford 
"Reform!:i" in the Provinces, had left virtually intact, 

However, the Liberals or the Moderates, as. they were called 
ringing changes of nomenclature, were shrewd politicians. 
They knew they had to cultivate their Indian constituenCles, 
such as they were, to carry any credibility with the Government, 
This, inevitably, set up a dichotomy of calculation and 
conduct at the root of their political motivation. The 
anxiety to he "constructive" to please the ruling establishment 
was intersected at many points by the desire to demonstrate 
their independence of judgement and that they could not be 
taken for granted. This led on occasions to fits of recalcitrance 
and even resistance to official acts and desigllS. There had been 
a number of such symptomatic constitutional acts of defiance 
in the early part of 1923. Unrepresentative and toothless as the 
provincial legislatures were, on some occasions their elected 
membership had shown that they could bite as well as bark, In 
Madras, in the United Provillces and the C.P. the Government 
had seen its plans go awry. Official motions were either defea­
ted or unofficial resolutions h:ld been carried in the teeth of 
official opposition. 

The crowning humiliation for the Government came in the 
second half of March. On March 20th, the Legislative As-scm­
bly in Delhi passed T. Rangach.1.ri's motion on a sensitive 
subject because it concemed. increased taxation on an item of 
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absolute necessity to the poor-SuIt-which had figured and wa~ 
to figure again in India's political hislory, Hi:> motion against 
the doubling of the Salt Tax was carried by 59 votes to 44, Lc"s 
than a week later-on March 26-the Assembly threw out the 
Finance Bill by 58 voles to 47. It did not inconvenience the 
administration overmuch. The Viceroy could and did certify 
the jllcrea~e in the Salt Tax and the Finance Bill. But it was 
something of an embarrassment, the more acute because it had 
repercussions at Westminster where questions were asked and 
later. in June, c.P. Trevelyan, tried to move a cul in the India 
Ollke Estimates which was supported by the Lnbour Party and 
several Liberals. though the debate on it was postponed till 
July 5 and the motion was predictably defeated by 213 votef- to 
74. 

What is more, these parliamentary ripples of protest had 
generated enough public interest and even concern ovcr the 
state of India for tile Labour Party in cooperation with Indian 
resident;; in Britain to hold a meeting at the Queen's Hull. 
london. on June 26, at which Ramsay MacDonald, by now 
leader of His Majesty's Loyal Opposition, presided. The 
speakers induded C.P. Trevelyan, grandson of Sir Charles 
Trevelyan (brother·in·law of Macaulay and author of the 
Educa/;oll of the People l!f illdia) and an M.P .. Srinivasa Su:.tri, 
and lamnadas Dwarkadas. Srinivasa Sastri made an llilra 
loyalist speech though much of it was devoted to the continued 
iniquities of the White minority regimes in Southern and East 
Africa against Indians. Nor did Ramsay MacDonald really 
come to a point in defining any distinctive Labour policy 011 
India beyond saying that the British should be true to their 
pledges to India, especially those made during the late war. 
However. it was reported in [ndia, rather generous.ly, as his: 
support for Dominion Status for India. 

The moderate politicians, moreover. were looking to the 
future and the future was soon to be upon them with the e1ec· 
tioO!; due in November. They knew that the pro-Council entry 
party would prevail in the Congress and would, in any case, 
conlest the eJections whatever the Special Congress may decide. 
They knew what :.t formidable challelll!e this would constitute 
to their OWll prospects of being retur;;:-cd. Thev were anxious. 
therefore, to refurbish what in ~ur day would be called their 
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"image" though in those days image-making was not yet 
in vogue and no profe!>sional image-makers had yet entered 
the political market. It was, perhaps, partly for that reason 
tha( Dr. Tej Bahadur Sapru had resigned from the Law Mem~ 
ber~hir of the Viceroy's Council in early January, though the 
rcason given was ill health. 

No ill health. however, accounted for the resignations of 
c.Y. Chinlamani, Pandit Jagat Narayan (both holding "minis~ 
teria!" portfolios in the U.P. Government). and Chimanial 
Setahad in Bombay. On the contrary, Chintamani's resigna­
tion \vas c:tllsed by an act of insubordination on the part of the 
official Vice-Chancellor of the Allahabad University. Sir 
Claude De La Fosse. against whom certain allegations of shady 
deals had been made by some members of the University SCllate 
(among them Iqbal Narain Gurtu and Nanak Chand Sham13) 
and who had not taken clearance from the Minister of Educa­
tion before tHing a defamation case against Gurtu and Sharma 
as he should have under the rules of conduct laid down by the 
Government. Jagat Narayan resigned as Minister in sympathy 
with Chintamani. On the other hand, Setalvad gave an avowe­
dly political reason for hi" quitting the office early in June. In 
his letter of resignation he merely said that he felt "very "ttongly 
that in the present state of politics in the country and looking 
to the needs of hi::; party with the general elections imminent," 
it was "his imperative Juty to resign office and seek re-election." 

Certainly. th.e need for campaigning for his Liberal Party 
was an element in the reasons which prompted his resignation 
as was also the need to cultivate his constituency more vigoro· 
us.!),. But rumour had it that he was being reticent and there 
were other reasons tao; that although Dyarchy had worked well 
in Bombay, without ministerial decisions being ostentatiously 
sabotaged by the bureaucracy, especially its British companellt. 
Setalvad was aware of a certain discreet passive re~istance to 
ministerial policies at various levels of the administrative strue. 
tures. This was not surprising. However liberal the Britis.h. 
officials of the Bombay Presidency cadre may have been, they 
could not be wholly immune to the climate of opinion among: 
the British members of the administration in the rest of India 
which was generally hostile to any reforms and representative 
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institullons as had been shown by their resentment at Montagu's 
mission to India. 

If anything, lheir opinion had hardened against the reforms 
after Iheir experience of the functioning of the system of Dyar~ 
chy in the Provinces, since 1920, This was abundantly proved 
by the inspired campaign which the Lonlioll Times launched 
on their behalf at the beginning of 1923. with Montagu. despera~ 
tely anxious to work his passage back to the favours of the estab­
lishment after his faU from grace the previous year, contribut­
ing two articles on the demands of the Covenanted Service. or 
the Indian Civil Servants who were often neither Indian, nor 
Civil. and behaved more like Lords and Ma~ters rather than 
servants. They had their way. With Peel as the Secretary of 
State ror India and Lord Winterton, a dyed-in-the-wool Tory, 
as his understudy. it could hardly be otherwise. A Royal Com~ 
mission was appointed to go into their grievances. despite 
strong: opposition from Indians, both Congressmen and Mode­
rates. 

No such alacrity of positive response was witnessed when it 
came to Indian pleadings for revision of reforms with a view 
to amplifying them in the direction of greater dcmoL'I'acy and 
earlier than the date stipulated under the Montagu-Chelms­
ford scheme. As early as September 1921. the Legislative Ass­
embly had carried a motion urging the accele'ration of the pace 
of constitutional reforms and. in view of the progress, bring 
forward the date Hxed for the revision of the cons.titution-that 
is. to an earlier date than 1929. Montagu had sat on this 
resolution which the Governor-General had duly forwarded to 
him. Early in February 1922 he had given some indication of 
how his mind was working on the issue in ~l debate 01\ the add· 
ress in the Commons, and a fortnight later, ill answer to a 
question, he said that he intended to send a despatch to the 
Viceroy on the subject. But that despatch was doomed never to 
be written. He had to quit office a little more than a week ,lfler 
his reply in the House of Commons. 

His successor, a Tory. wali in no hurry to keep Montagu's 
word. It was not until November 1922 that he could find time 
and the inclination to take up his- pen to write n despatch on 
the subjec-t. partly because the "Legislators" in Delhi were 
Showing signs of increasing impatience at the way Whitehall 
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was rewarding their virtue in saving the Montagu-Chdmsford 
Reforms from ending in a fiasco with nobody among the Indian 
political parties willing to buy them. His dc!\patch was the 
common stuff of officiaiese, a mixture of delicate prevarication 
and procrasilnation, the argument being that it was too ~oon 
for the po;,sibilities of the new constitution to have been tried 
out and exhausted. Peel asked the Viceroy to place the de.;patch 
on the table of both the Chambers of the Indian Legislature. 
meaning the Council of State and the Legislative Assembly. 
But it was not until early in January 1923 that the despa.tch was 
published. It was not particularly palatable to the Liberals 
whose credibility in public eyes it did little to reinforce and 
much to reduce. 

There were other reasons for disenchantment with the re­
forms and British policy generally. Early in 1913 the White 
settlers in Kenya, inspired by what was happening further 
South in Africa, were on the war path. They threatened rebellion 
if Indians were placed on common etectoral rolls with them and 
there was any intrusion by Indians on their Highlands preserve. 
The Govemment of India did put up a show of defence of 
Indian interests, but ultimately yielded to the pressure of the 
Colonial Office in accepting the "compromise" settlement it 
had worked out. This was to prompt Tej Bahadur Sapru who. 
with the Maharaja of Alwar, an ambiguous but amiable 
Prince, had the distinction of representing India at the Impe­
rial Conference held in London in the I1r"t week of October, 
to declare: "Let me tell you frankly, as a ~ubjc:ct of King 
George, that I fight for a place in his household, and 1 will not 
be content with a place in his stable," He was referring speci~ 
fie-ally to the treatment of In.dians in various parts of the Empire 
and especially in Africa. 

However, it was not just a question of how Indians were 
being treated in some of the Dominions and colonies. like South 
Africa and Kenya. What was even morc relevant, though the 
eminent Liberal leader did not say anything about it, was the 
question of how Tndians were being treated in their own country, 
For all the ringing rhetoric of Queen Victoria's declaration of 
1858, they had the status of only ~econd cl<t% citizens. if thaI, 
in India. It is true that in the session of the Legislative Assem~ 
bly that began early in February 1923, the Home Member. 
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Sir Malcolm Hailey, an upwardly mobile Civil Servant if ever 
there was one, sought leave formally to move it Bill embody­
ing some of the recommendations of the Racial Distinctions­
Committee. He was eloquent in applauding the Bill and amr~ 
ming that it was an earnest of e:.t:tblis.b.ing racial equality in 
British India and that it breathed the spirit of compromise and 
goodwill. "Capture it," he exclaimed, "while you can." That 
phruse "while you can" spoke volumes. In <my case, even the 
moderate opinion wa~ far from being pleased with the pr<lVj~ 
slons of the Bill. 

While this engaging ebb and flow of argument was going 
on between the collabor.itionist school of politicians and the 
higher rcaches of the bureaucratic establishment and theLr 
principals in London, the general policy of the Governmcnt was 
a mixture as before of use of the carrot and the stick, or as: Dr. 
Judith Brown might put it, balance of conciliation and repres­
sioll. Undoubtcdly there were conciliatory moves. Early ill 
January the Government of tne U.P. withdrew the provi~ion$ 
of the Criminal Law Amendment Act throughout the province 
which made it possible for them to release Jawaharlal Neltru 
and serveral other leading Congressmen. Later in Ihe year 
quite It number of other leaders were let Qut of jails. either on 
the termination of their terms or for olher reasons like health. 
These included men like Shyam Sunder Chakravarty, President 
of Bengal Congress Committee, L'\ipat Rai who was ill and 
soon after his release from Dharamsala went to Solon to recup­
erate, Mohamed Ali and other Fcltwa prisoner:;. There was, 
perhaps, a pattern or calculation about these releases which 
had some bearing on the fiuctuatillg balance of forces as between 
the main warring factions in the adversary's camp although it 
would need further investigation to prove it. What is not in 
doubt, however, is that statements made by some of the released. 
Congress and Khilafat leaders like, for instance, Mohamed 
Ali on the eve of the Spccial Session or the Congress at Delhi 
who talked of "a bird whispering in his ear" that the Mahatma 
himself would not oppose Council entry under tlte changed 
circumstances-could not but influence the course of the battle 
between the Fundamentalists and the Revisionists at D.::Jhi. 
and later at Cocanada. 
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The carrot seemed real enough. But the stick that was 
wielded wa'S no less real. On January 9, a mass trial ended in 
mas" death sentences. Of the 225 persons commilted for trial 
before H,E. Holmes. Sessions ludge at Gorakhpur, in [he Chauri 
Chaura case, 170 were sentenced to death~probably a record 
in the history of British ju&ticc in India. And this in a trial 
where most of the ~mbstantive evidence had come from the 
teSLJIDony ot' tile two "approvers" which Shahid Amin has 
-analysed in his article in Subaltem Studies V (edited by Runajit 
Guha) headed "Approver'::; Testimony, Judicial Discourse 
the case of Chauri Chuura." True, a higher judicial authority 
commuted the death sentences on all but 19 of the accused, but 
most of them landed up in the Andamans with tife sentences. 
This case of justice with a vengeance, however, had no reper­
cussions in any Congress deliberations, although a few Con~ 
gre~s leaders including Madan Mohall Malaviya. it must be 
said to their credit, did interest themselves in helping to orga­
nise the defence ot those implicated in the Chauri Chaura case. 

But while it was possible for the Congress to take its d_ls­
tance from the Chauri Chaura accused, it could not disilltercst 
itself from the Aka!i struggle and the cat-and-mouse game which 
the Government was playing with them ever since the AkaH 
movement for securing democratic control of the whole com~ 
munity over the Sikh shrines which the Mahants or Pri ~sts had 
for generations been trealing as their private property. Thou~ 
sands of Akalis had courted arrest and were in jail ever since 
the Nankana Sahib massacre. In March [923 in response to a 
resolution in the Punjab Legislative CounCil, some of them had 
been released in batches. though in some cases only to be 
roughly handled by the authorities soon after being let out, as 
happened at Rawalpindi where police. military and even caval­
ry were called in to disperse a batch of 170 Akalis who had 
been released. Despite the reservations which the Punjab 
Provincial Congress Committee for onc reason or another 
entertained regarding the Akali movement. the AU-india 
leadership of the Congress- had from the start looked upon it 
as a kindred movement and extended to it its moral support 
underlined by Gandhi's visit to Nankana Sahib soon after the 
massacre. Later it was also to extend material support to the 
AkaJi struggle and set up early in 1924 a Committee called the 
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Akali Sahayak Bureau which organised financial aS$istanc.: to 
Akali victims of repression and their families. For a time the 
Committee or Bureau worked under the supervision of Acharya 
A.T. Gidwani and later K.M. Panikkar served on it as a pubh­
city adviser and liai~on man. 

Partly as a resutt of the sympathy which the Congress had 
ror the Akali struggle, the Congress extended support to the 
Mahnraja of Nnbha, Ripudaman Singh, in his litigation with 
the Government. Rare among the so-called Ruling Prince"!; of 
India, he had shown ever since his accession to the Radcli, or 
"thronc" impressive but eccenlric independence of spirit and 
even mild nationalist leanings. He was also sympathetic tl.) the 
Akali movement. There had long been a kind of rivalry bet­
ween the rulers. of Nabha and the neighbouring State of Patiala·­
a much larger shlte whose Maharaja at the lime was an ultra 
'"loyalist" of the Raj. This had led to increasing tension and 
several border incidents. The Paramount Power, that is the 
Government of India, intervened in the dispute by appointing 
a British judge, Mr. Justice Stuart, to go into charges and 
counter.charges, who, predictably, gave his verdict against 
the ruler of Nabha. 

This was in May 1923. For the next two months or more, 
the Political Department of the Government of India through 
the Political Agent, a certain CoL Minchin, engaged in a heries 
of arnHwisting exercises in order 10 persuade Ripudaman 
Singh, "voluntarily"' to abdicate which could not be fL"Conciled 
with any notion of fairness. Subjected to humiliating pressures: 
the hapless Maharaja was forced to abdicate on July 9 and taken 
away from the palace by military guards in the early hours of 
the morning~in the l1r.;t instance to Dehra Dun and eventually 
Kadaikanal, a small hill station in the Eastern Ghats-to life­
long exile. 

As irony would have it, earlier in the year Royal Assent 
had been given to the notorious Princes Protection against 
Disaffection Act passed at the Viceroy's bidding by the Council 
of State in 1922. The Act imposed rigorous censorship to sti­
fle criticism in the Press of acts of gross maladministration and 
injustice in the Princely States, The legislalion to provide the 
Indian Princes protection against "disam."Clion" had been 
thrown out by the new Legislative Assembly and had needed 

• 
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the Viceroy's power of certification to enact it. It was also La 
be debated in the House of Commons on a motion by Col. 
Josiah Woog"iVood (Labour) that the Royal Assent to the Act 
be withheld. The motion was rejected by 279 votes to J20, 
but the debate had its moments: first when CoL Wedgwood said 
that even subjects of Henry VIII and Louis XIV had the right 
of rebeJlion which the lndian Government was denying to the 
su~fects of Indian Princes by providing the latter the protection 
of "British bayonets;" and secondly. when Saklatvala inter­
vened with a speech which tried to widen the scope of the 
debate by stressing the "barbarity" of "political imperialism" 
on which the system of governance in India was based, and went 
all to say: 

There i~ a danger in this sort of Debate having, perhaps, 
a misguiding effect By our very effort to save the Govern­
ment from rushing into a mad act we are liable here on 
the Labour benches to be surreptitiously drawn into an 
Imperial policy, as if we wllnted Imperialism to be run 
more correctly than they desire, ... There is also a danger, 
on the part of our Indian friends Ihat, by this kind of stru­
ggle, by tbis kind artug-or-war with tbe Imperialist, foreign, 
dominating power, they are tacitly accepting the right of 
this country to send a Viceroy at all. 

There was something in the paradoxical point he made 
even if it trailed clouds of revolutionary perfectionism. Inevit­
ably the enforced abdication of the Maharaja of Nabha had 
led to further alienation of the Sikhs from the British Govern­
ment. As a statement of the Shiromaoi Gurdwara Parbandhak 
Committee put it: "The venom of the old political regime of 
Sir Mkhael O'Dwyer's time has combined with the venom of 
the new regime to bring about rhe Maharaja's ruin on the 
convenient and opportune basis of the inter-state dispute," 
There was a widespread movement of protest against the act 
among the Sikh community which was indirectly to involve 
Jawuharlal Nehru in the Nabha alTairs and land him in Nabh;j 
Jall with Gidwani and K. Suntanam for a time, the story of 
which he tells with an enguging sen,;e of humour in his auto­
biography in a brief chapter headed: "An Interlude At Nabha," 
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There were other preoccupations even morc worrying than 
the continuing repression tempered with calculated acts of 
selective clemency by the Government. The consensus at the 
top among the two great communities-Hindu and Muslim­
still held. But lit the popular level not only the sense of frater­
nity generated by the common struggle and sufrering had largely 
been dissipated, but the endemic confessional tensions had 
acquired an epidemic character in Northern India. In April and 
M.lY there had been communal riots in several cities and lowns 
in the Punjab, like Amritsar and Mullan, and the U.P., Nawab­
shah near Hyderabad (Sind) and elsewhere. Then there was 
a temporary lull. But ill August the troubles erupted again 
at Saharan pur and Agra where fircarms were used by the rival 
groups. The troubles were often the result of accumulated 
local irritations and grievances accentuated by mnfia elements 
masquerading as religious zealots. But the responsibility for 
the deterioration in the inter~coml1lunity relutions was widely 
shared and by a section of the leadership on each side. 

Thus the movement of militant defensiveness which called 
itself the Sallgath(ln~or unity-movement among Ihe Hindus 
combined with the launching of a proselytising campaign which 
styled itself as the Shuddhi, or purification, movement by Swami 
Shraddhanand and other Arya Samaj leaders was hardly well­
conceived. It certainly did not improve the climnte of comm­
unal harmony when Pandit Madan Mohan Malaviya presiding 
at the Kashi session of the Hindu Mahasabha in the second 
half of August pronounced his benediction on the Shuddhi 
campaign, Equnlly, with the KhiJafat Issue having lost its 
imparlance with the success of Kamal Pasha (the future Ata­
turk) and the signing of the Treaty of Lausanne. which was 
seen as a triumph ror the Turks. a section or the Muslim leader~ 
ship no longer felt the need for cullivating Hindu support or 
even respecting Hindu susceptibilities and licnsitivilies. 

Such was the murky backdrop to the Special Session of the 
Congress which opened at Delhi on September 15. It was 
attellded by under 2,000 delegates and some 3.000 visitors. 
The session had been preceded by a number of informal meet­
ings among the leaders to bring about a meeting of the minds on 
the two major issues which were preoccupying political India 
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and were to dominate the ses~ion's debates-between the No­
changers and those who favoured Council.entry and relations 
between the two major communities. If anything the tatter 
problem, which touched the whole future of the nation. took 
up much of the time at preliminary meetings beginning on 
September 11. Both sides were allowed to air their grievances. 
The Muslim case was presented, among others. by Ahmad 
Said. Secretary Ulema' (learned men's) Conference and severa.l 
other Ulema halling from the Deoband Seminary. Tbe Hindu 
spokesman was none other than Madan Mohan Malaviya who 
a fortnight kiter was 10 preside over the !.cssion of the Hindu 
Mahasabha at Kash!. No significant progress wa:'> made in 
these preliminary discussions although a number of suggestions. 
emerged and Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, who was to be 
President of the Special Session of the Congress, proposed that 
a sub-committee be formed to go into the various suggestions 
and report before September 15. This was accepted. Similarly 
on the question of Council~entry Maulana Mohamed Ali and 
Motilal Nehru drafted a resolution ..... hich would aHow contesl­
ing of elections and Council-entry but subject to conditions and 
terms determined by a committee to be set up for the purpose. 

Both the No-changers and the protagonists of the new 
party within the Party had tried to muster their rom~s for tbe 
Special Session to the full. On the face of things. given the 
actions of the Government, No-changcrs ought to have been 
more successful than the Swarajists, But the reverse turned 
out to be the case, partly because one of the most eminent 
among them. C. Rajagopalachari, was inclined to be too dog­
matic and had not yet acquired the flexibility of statesmanship 
which later came to be associated with him and which at times 
verged on seeing the adversary's viewpoint to the detriment of 
his own side. 

But views in the party favouring Coum::it~entry were by no 
means unanimous, For instance. Lajpat Rai did not atlend 
either the Special Session or the preliminary talks to work out 
a compromise formula on the two issues facing the country 
which were interlocking. MatHai Nehru had wired him at Solon: 
"Doctors permitting your presence at Delhi when preliminary 
conference held 10th September will be invaluable will arrange 
your stay at Qutab only select parties seeing you there. Wire .. ,," 
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But, as his biographer, Feroz Chand, writes. "LaJaji had to 
keep away from lhe preliminary meeting as well as from Ihe 
session itself." This was perfectly intelligible on health grounds. 
He was not at all well and it would have strained his reserves 
of strength to the breaking point to get involved in exhausting 
political discussions even though the elder Nehru promised to 
allow only "select parties" access. to him. But, in the light of 
his subsequent political evolution, it is safe to surmise that he 
did not sec eye to eye with either party and, moreover, was 
"rethinking" his whole position and role in Indian politics-not 
necessarily for the better. 

The pattern of the Special Session differed in no way from 
that of the ordinary annual session. It opened with a speech 
by the Chairman of the Reception Committee, Dr. M.A. An!>uri. 
which was followed by the address of the President, Maulana 
Abul Kalam Azad. Both were men of deep culture and human. 
istic to the core. Both speeches, therefore, reflected anguish at 
the state of Indian polity and divisions within the Congress. 
Referring to the problem of unity between the two major com~ 
munities, Dr. Ansari said: 

The basic condition for Swaraj is inter~communal unity. We 
are being torn by communal strifes. Complete Hindu~Mus~ 
lim Unity which ought to have been a settled fact today is 
conspicuous by its absente. Years of hard work in various 
fields have failed not only to make unity a perman.ent and 
solid factor of civic life but even to check the present recru­
des.cence of communal discord. the neglected disease, which 
now threatens the very existence of Indian Nationalism. 

He was not, he said, suggesting that complete communal 
understanding was not attainable, but he was making a painful 
co?fessiol1 tbat they had failed in their duty. "Misled by super. 
ficlal appearances," he went on, "we became content with what 
really was. but n courteous entente. As if the neglC1:t itself was 
not most deplorable, there arose differences in the Congress 
an~ drove this vital necessity of national life out of our minds." 
Tflls was. Iru:. And he pleaded with both parties to consider 
the questIOn 10 a non·partisan spirit <lnd "to make sacrifices for 
the higher purpose of attaining unity .... " 
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The President spoke in much the same vein. Azad's wa<; 
a longer speech in which he referred to the decision regarding 
Kenya by the Colonial Office which had "disillusioned. the 
Moderates." He spoke of Turkey which had grown "strong in 
l.pitc of British intrigues and designs" and of the Near and 
Middle East and North Africa whose fate was linked with that 
of India. Turning to the situation in India, he was. not pessi­
mistic but historically philosophical. "The lightning which has 
stricken us," he said. "is one of the ordinary :lccidents of this 
venture .... There are rises and falls, We make a mistake in 
interpreting a faU as a cessation and Tise as a new birth .... 
Thus our struggle suffered by suspension at Bardoli, ... " He 
argued that the rupture of Hindu~Mus[jm unity was "the nat­
ural results of the Bardoli shock" and seemed to interpret 
Reading's speech offering talks at the end of 1921 as proof 
"that the course of Non-cooperation was effective and uner­
ring. But the Bardoli mistake brought a reaction and a 
fall," he maintained, "which was aggravated by undue import­
ance being attached to the Council controversy." 

Thus Maulana Abul Kalam Azad seemed to be taking his 
distance both from Gandhi and C.R. Das and Motilal Nehru. 
The question to consider, be said, was whether the difference 
about Councils was one of principles or details, because where 
a policy was involved each was entitled to hold his opinion but 
in the matter of details the discipline of the organisation and its 
mandate must be observed. He considered that "the Council 
issue was really not one oftheprinciplc of Non-cooperation., .. 
Freedom is our goal and non-violence and Non-coopernlion 
our principle .... We cannot change the creed or renounce the 
principle, but we can change our tactics any moment at will." 
He was sorry that so much energy had been wasted on the Coun­
cil-entry controversy. He chided both sides in the controversy­
the No-changers for their "total inertia" and those who wanted 
to go into the Councils to non-cooperate from within for rujning 
the discipline of the organisation for the sake of a minor diff. 
erence. 

This was, perhaps. a simplification. But, for his. part. the 
principal focus of his concern was the need for Hindu--Mu51itn 
unity which llad been fractured and "without which freedom of 
India must remain a dream," Therefore. towards the end of 
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his presidential address he reverted to the question, tracing 
it!> history from t912 onwards, and ending with a fervent appeal: 

Today in the name of our common Motherland rrom this 
platform, the cradle of United 1ndian Nationalism, I appeal 
to both communities not to trample so cruelly upon the 
national aspirations and hopes. Today we can achieve the 
greatest possible success but the greatest possible failure 
may fall to our lot. Our determination. our courage, our 
patriotism are under a very great trial. Come, let us succeed 
in Ollr task by devoting ourselves to the building up of our 
common destiny. 

From this high plane of edificatory and exhortatory rhet~ 
oric there could only be a falling away during the next three 
days when the resolutions on the crucial issues were debated. 
Altogether there- were nineteen resolutions on the agenda. though 
as usual quite a few of them concerned organisational matters. 
Others were non-controversial. like the onc appealing 10 the 
press that there was "exlreme nece-ssity of exercising great res~ 
traint when dealing with matters likely to a.ffect intercommunal 
relations, and also in reporting events and incidents rclating to 
inter-communal dissensions and commenting on them:' There 
was a resolution congratulating the Akalis on thcir courageous 
stand against repression to which tbey were being subjected; 
another congratulating the Turkish people and their leader 
Kamal Pasha on their victory. There was condemnation of the 
Government "in bringing aboul the forced abdicalion" of the 
Maharaja of Nabha which was seen as ··unconstitutional and 
establishing a very dangerous precedent:' There was a reso­
lution conveying deep sorrow of the people of India to the 
people of Japan "at the terrible catastrophe" which had befal­
len them (meaning the ea.rthquake) and an appeal to the Indian 
people to contribute "their mite" towards the mitigation of the 
sutfering of the Japanese people. Nearer home lt~ere were re­
s.olutions congratulating the organisers of the Flag Sat}'agraha 
movement at Nagpur; welcoming back Lajpat Raj, Maulana 
Mo.harned Ali and other prisoners released from jail; and con­
doling t~e death of a veteran Punjab Congress leader, Pandit 
RambhuJ Dutt Chaudhry, "who served the motherland nobly 


